
 

 
 
 

 
Agenda 
Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management 
Board 
 

Wednesday, 29 March 2023 at 6.00 pm 
In the Council Chamber - Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 

 
  
1   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
2   Declarations of Interest and Party Whip 

 
Members to declare any interests and party whip 
matters in relation to the agenda. 
 

 

 
3   Minutes 

 
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 1 
March 2023. 
 

5 - 8 

 
4   Additional Items of Business 

 
To determine whether there are any additional 
items of business to be considered as a matter of 
urgency. 
 

 

 
5   Improvement Plan Progress, Phase 2 Refresh 

and External Follow-up Reviews 
 
To consider and comment upon the progress of 
the Improvement Plan up to 2 February 2023. 
 

9 - 360 

 
6   Performance Management Framework - Q3 

Monitoring 
361 - 466 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
To consider and comment upon the progress and 
further development of the Corporate Performance 
Management Framework and the Q3 monitoring 
reports. 
  

7   SEND Transport Performance Update 
 
To consider and comment upon the SEND 
Transport Performance Update. 
 

467 - 546 

 
8   Tracking and Monitoring of Scrutiny 

Recommendations 
 
To receive and comment on the progress on 
recommendations referred since the Board’s last 
meeting. 
 

547 - 558 

 
Shokat Lal 
Chief Executive 
Sandwell Council House 
Freeth Street 
Oldbury 
West Midlands 
 
 
 
 
Distribution 
Councillor Moore (Chair) 
Councillors Anandou, Fenton, E M Giles, Simms, Trumpeter, Akhtar, 
H Bhullar, Hinchliff, Taylor and Chidley 
 
Contact: democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 
 
Information about meetings in Sandwell 
 

 
 

If you are attending the meeting and require assistance to 
access the venue, please contact Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk). 
 

Page 2

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
 

If the fire alarm sounds, please follow the instructions of the 
officers present and leave the building by the nearest exit. 
 

 
 

Only people invited to speak at a meeting may do so.  
Everyone at the meeting is expected to be respectful and listen 
to the discussion. 

 
 

Agendas with reports with exempt information should be 
treated as private and confidential.  It is your responsibility to 
ensure that any such reports are kept secure.  After the 
meeting confidential papers should be disposed of in a secure 
way. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be recorded and broadcast on the Internet.  
If this is the case, it will be confirmed at the meeting and 
further information will be provided.  
 
 

 
 

You are allowed to use devices for the purposes of recording 
or reporting during the public session of the meeting.  When 
using your devices they must not disrupt the meeting – please 
ensure they are set to silent. 
 

 
 

Members who cannot attend the meeting should submit 
apologies by contacting Democratic Services 
(democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk) 
 

 

All agenda, reports, minutes for Sandwell Council’s meetings, 
councillor details and more are available from our website 

 

Page 3

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 

Minutes of,   
Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management 
Board 

 
Wednesday, 1 March 2023 at 6.00 pm 

In Council Chamber at Sandwell Council House, Oldbury 
 
Present: Councillor Moore (Chair); 
 Councillors Chidley, Fenton, Hinchliff and Taylor. 
 
In attendance:   Simone Hines (Director of Finance – Section 151 Officer), 

Rebecca Maher (Assistant Director of Finance), Comie 
Campbell (Head of Financial Business Partnering – Place), 
Surjit Tour (Director of Legal Services, Monitoring Officer),  
Suky Suthi-Nagra (Democratic Services Manager, Statutory 
Scrutiny Officer) and Anthony Lloyd (Democratic Services 
Officer). 

 
 
19/23 Apologies for Absence 
 

Apologies were received from Councillors Anandou, Bhullar, Giles 
and Trumpeter. 

 
 
20/23  Declarations of Interest 
 
  There were no declarations of interest made. 
 
 
  

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



21/23  Minutes 
 

 Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 2 
February 2023 be approved as a correct record. 

 
 
22/23 Improvement Plan Progress, Phase 2 Refresh and External 

Follow-up Reviews 
 

It was agreed that this item be deferred to a future meeting of the 
Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. 
 
 

23/23 Q3 Budget Monitoring 
 
On 15 February 2023, the Cabinet considered the 2022/23 Budget 
Monitoring report for Quarter 3 and referred the report to the 
Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board for 
consideration and comment. 
 
The overall projected outturn position for the General Fund was an 
underspend of £1.824m. The previous forecast at Qtr 2 was an 
overall net overspend of £1.9m. The main reason for the 
movement between the period was a change in the Council’s 
Minimum Revenue Provision Policy, which set out how the Council 
repaid debt. 
 
The cost of living crisis, inflation pressures and the increased 
agreed pay award had a significant impact across the council’s 
finances.  
 
The projected variance against the budget for Children’s Services 
was an overspend of £6.750m due to a significant increase in the 
projected overspend on SEND transport, the pay award for the 
service and Sandwell Children’s Trust, placement pressures and 
the cost of exit packages as a result of restructuring within the 
directorate. Campaigns were underway to obtain more foster 
carers to help address the significant placement costs. 
 
Day-to-day controls were already in place to monitor areas with 
significant overspends. It was stated that local SEND provision 
could help with the rising costs of SEND transport.  

  

Page 6



It was also highlighted that the Children’s Services and Education 
Scrutiny Board would be looking at how the Council could provide 
residential spaces within the borough as part of their work 
programme within the next municipal year. 

 
Following the request for clarification in relation to how the 
contingency budget figure was calculated, it was confirmed that the 
figure was calculated by making prudent and reasonable 
estimates. The contingency figure was a provision for pay awards 
and was not given to individual directorates as the exact costs 
would not be known in the first instance. Financial planning 
reserves were in place to protect the Council against any 
unexpected fluctuations in costs.  
 
Concerns were raised around the lack of information available to 
residents on the Council’s website detailing the procedures for 
renting commercial properties. Members were worried that the 
Council’s website was not regularly updated to display available 
properties and therefore, the potential to obtain income was not 
being capitalised upon. 

 
Assurance was sought on the effectiveness of the procedures in 
place to utilise Section 106 money within the allotted timescales. 
As a result, it was agreed that a spotlight session should be 
scheduled to discuss the issue. 
 
Regarding Oracle Fusion, reassurance was provided on the use of 
reserves to fund the project; it was made clear by officers that this 
was not an overspend. The contract with the previous 
implementation partner had been terminated and a new partner 
had been procured. The first phase of the project had been 
completed and an augmentation plan was in place to ensure that 
the requirements and desires were clear and achievable. 
Benchmarking exercises had been taken to learn lessons from 
other authorities who had undertaken the same journey. It was 
hoped that the system would be implemented in time for April 
2024. 
 

Agreed that Cabinet be requested to:- 
 

(1) ensure that Directors review and update any pages 
they hold on the Council’s website, in particular, the 
webpage where the Council have facilities/offices to 
rent;  

Page 7



(2) authorise the Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Resources and the Director for Finance to consider the 
introduction of additional financial controls on general 
spend, in particular, matters relating to recruitment and 
day to day spend where necessary’ 
 

(3) authorise the Director of Children’s Services, Director 
of Adult Social Care and Director of Finance, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Services, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources to explore 
the feasibility of providing in house care for young 
people in care, SEND placements and adult social care 
placements.   

 
 
24/23 Cabinet Forward Plan 

 
After consideration by members of the Board, no items within the 
forward plan were considered for pre-decision scrutiny. 
 
 

25/23 Budget & Corporate Scrutiny Management Board Work 
Programme 
 
The work programme for the year 2022/23 was noted. 
 
 

Meeting ended at 6.55pm.  
 

Contact:  democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk 

Page 8

mailto:democratic_services@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 
 
 

Report to Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 
Management Board 
 
 

29 March 2023 
 

Subject: Improvement Plan Progress, Phase 2 Refresh 
and External Follow-up Reviews 

Director: Chief Executive 

Shokat Lal 

Contact Officer: Strategic Lead – Service Improvement 
Kate Ashley 
Kate1_ashley@sandwell.gov.uk  
 
Senior Lead Officer – Service Improvement 
Rebecca Jenkins 
Rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk  
 
Democratic and Member Services Manager 
Suky Suthi-Nagra 
Suky_Suthinagra@sandwell.gov.uk 
 

 
1. Recommendations 

 

1.1. That the Board considers and comments upon the progress of the 
Improvement Plan up to 2 February 2023. 

 
1.2. That the Board considers Grant Thornton’s reissued Value for Money 

Governance Review Report, the Grant Thornton Follow Up Review 
Report, the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Progress Review and the 
CIPFA FM Model Re-assessment Report. 

 
1.3. That any recommendations or comments in relation to 1.1 or 1.2 above 

are reported to Cabinet for their consideration. 
 
1.4. That the Board considers any additional areas of focus for its work plan. 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Kate1_ashley@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Rebecca_jenkins@sandwell.gov.uk
mailto:Suky_Suthinagra@sandwell.gov.uk


 

 

 
2. Reasons for Recommendations  
 
2.1 This report provides a quarterly update on progress against the 

Improvement Plan agreed by Council on 7 June 2022. The Improvement 
Plan incorporates all recommendations from the Grant Thornton 
Governance Review, the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge and the CIPFA 
Financial Management Review, as well as the Statutory Directions from 
the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities.  

 
2.2 On 22 September 2022, Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management 

Board received the Improvement Plan and requested regular updates on 
progress. This report is the third quarterly progress report to Budget and 
Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. 

 
2.3 As part of the governance and assurance arrangements for the 

Improvement Plan, Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and Budget 
and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board review progress of the 
Improvement Plan and utilise the plan for work programming purposes. 
Both Committees are due to consider progress at their meetings in 
March and any recommendations or comments will be presented for 
Cabinet’s consideration. 
 

2.4 As part of the council’s assurance framework for the Improvement Plan, 
the LGA, Grant Thornton and CIPFA conducted follow-up reviews in 
Autumn 2022 to evaluate the council’s progress on implementing the 
specific recommendations from those individual reviews. 

 
2.5 The findings from the follow-up visits from Grant Thornton and LGA are 

incorporated into a refresh of the Improvement Plan which has been 
managed through the established change control process. The actions 
to respond to the CIPFA FM Model Re-assessment Report will be 
incorporated in the next update to the Improvement Plan. 
 

2.6 Scrutiny’s consideration of progress of the Improvement Plan and 
scrutiny of specific areas within the plan contributes to creating an 
effective scrutiny function. 
 
 
  

3. How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  

Page 10



 

 
3.1 Sandwell Council’s Improvement Plan focuses on the governance 

arrangements of the council and areas of improvement across the 
organisation. The underpinning objective of the Improvement Plan is to 
ensure that the council is able to deliver on the aims and priorities as set 
out in the Corporate Plan. The deliverables set out in this Improvement 
Plan will achieve long-term sustainable improvements in how the council 
operates and is able to make effective decisions focused on improving 
outcomes for residents and experiences of service users. Therefore, this 
impacts on the council’s ability to deliver all the objectives in the 
Corporate Plan.   

 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 

 

People live well and age well 

 

Strong resilient communities 

 

Quality homes in thriving neighbourhoods 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  

 

4 Context and Key Issues 
 

4.1 Background 
 

4.1.1 A single Improvement Plan was agreed by Council on 7 June 2022 to 
address recommendations from a Value for Money Review into the 
council’s governance arrangements, a CIPFA financial management 
review, an LGA Corporate Peer Challenge, and Statutory Directions from 
the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. The 
single Improvement Plan replaced the Governance Review Improvement 
Plan which was approved in January 2022. 

Page 11



 

 
4.1.2 To ensure that senior officers and members have oversight of delivery 

against the Improvement Plan, Council approved that progress will be 
monitored by Leadership Team monthly and reported to Cabinet 
quarterly. This will continue until all actions have been completed, or 
changes have been embedded into business as usual. 

 

4.1.3 This report is the third quarterly update to Scrutiny on progress of the 
Improvement Plan. 

 

4.2 Improvement Plan Progress  
 

4.2.1 Over this quarter, significant progress has continued to be made to 
deliver the actions within the Improvement Plan. This includes the 
completion of the Phase 1 Governance Review with changes to the 
Constitution agreed, preparations for the new Chief Executive taking up 
post on 6 February, approval of the Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
the completion of the reviews of the Serco and Sandwell Children’s Trust 
(SCT) contracts. 

 

4.2.2 A comprehensive monitoring tool has been developed to include both a 
risk rating for each main action within the Improvement Plan and a 
progress status rating for all actions. The monitoring tool provides quick 
reference around which actions are on track for delivery, as well as 
highlighting areas that may require remedial action or additional levels of 
assurance. The Improvement Plan Monitoring Tool is included at 
Appendix 1.   

 

4.2.3 Progress against each theme of Improvement Plan is contained within 
Appendix 2. This includes a description of workstream progress 
including progress against milestones and achievements, and any 
progress issues. A summary by theme is provided below. 

 

4.2.4 Organisational Culture Theme 
 

4.2.4.1 Achievements this quarter: 

• Regular meetings of Commissioners, Monitoring Officer, Section 151 

Officer, and Chief Whips has commenced 

• Mentoring Programme with LGA in place and ongoing  

• Initial data gathering has taken place to identify the options for an 

employee recognition scheme.  

Page 12



 

• Preparations for the new Chief Executive taking up post on 6 

February  

 

4.2.4.2 Organisational Culture Progress Issues: 

 

• Workforce Strategy  

• Slippage from original delivery date of March 2023 to May 2023 

due to slippage in the One Team Framework. The One Team 

Framework will be approved in March. 

• Scope and drafting have commenced. Many priority 

workstreams are already in progress. Working towards Cabinet 

sign off in May 

 

• Effective Decision-Making Training (also reported in the Decision 

Making theme) 

• Slippage from original date due to a revised approach to 
training delivery. 

• The revised programme will involve roll out through to the end 
of this Municipal Year.  

• The impact of the training delivered to date is evidenced by 
feedback on how Council meetings and Committee meetings 
are running. 

 
4.2.5 Corporate Oversight Theme 

 

4.2.5.1 Achievements this quarter 

• Q2 Performance Management report considered by Cabinet and 
Scrutiny. Preparations underway for Q3 Performance Management 
Report to Cabinet 

• External training provided to corporate finance staff Realignment to 

create Corporate Transformation PMO has commenced 

 

4.2.5.2 Corporate Oversight Progress Issues: 
 

• Customer Journey Programme Board in place and regular 
meetings scheduled 
o Slippage against original timescales due to resources.  

Page 13



 

o Board members are being confirmed, and future board dates will 
be scheduled commencing in Feb 2023. Project Manager will be 
confirmed prior to February board.  

 

• Performance Management Framework (PMF) - Review of KPIs  
o Slippage against original timescales due to need for alignment with 

workforce strategy approval, alignment with customer journey 
programme and resources. 

o KPIs for organisational health need to be updated to reflect 
workforce strategy. The Workforce Strategy is in development and 
is due for approval in May.  

o KPIs for customer experience need to be updated to reflect the 
customer journey programme. 

o Review of the KPIs will commence from March 2023 
 

• Programme and Project Management System Implementation 
o Slippage occurred due to resources  
o Implementation is now underway supported by Corporate 

Transformation Team. Implementation end date to be confirmed. 
 
 

4.2.6 Strategic Direction Theme 

 

4.2.6.1 Achievements this quarter 

• Approval of the Corporate Asset Management Strategy, Equality 

Policy, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Capital Strategy 

• Progress of the Regeneration Strategy and Pipeline reported 

• Phase 1 of the new Asset Database implemented  

• EDI Workforce action plan review complete 

• Review of Council EDI decision making process complete 

• Proposal approved for the next phase of resident consultation and 

engagement and budget consultation. 

 

4.2.6.2 Strategic Direction Progress Issues 
 

• Commercial Strategy: Business Cases 

• Slippage against original timescale of January 2023 due to work 
taking longer than expected 

• Strategic Business Cases have been prepared and are being 
reviewed by Leadership Team  

Page 14



 

 

• Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion 

• Issues being encountered due to resources focusing on 
responding to reporting of historic EDI issues, and these issues 
having an impact of the effectiveness of staff networks. 

• Revised plan for EDI strand is in place with re-profiled timescales, 
and a proposal around staff networks is being prepared 

 

• Customer Journey Strategy  

• Slippage against original timescale of August 2023 due to 
resources 

• Work is underway to develop the strategy with Cabinet holding 
priority focus sessions in December 2022 and February 2023. 

• Next steps are for engagement sessions to be held to capture 
Customer/Resident feedback to shape the strategy. 

 
4.2.7 Decision Making Theme 

 

4.2.7.1 Achievements this quarter 

• All major milestones in this theme have been achieved 

• Phase 1 of the Governance Review complete with agreement this 
quarter to the revised Council Procedure rules and revised Scheme of 
Delegations agreed 

 

4.2.7.2 Decision Making Progress Issues 
 

• Effective Decision-Making Training (as reported in the 

Organisational Culture Theme) 

• Slippage from original date due to a revised approach to 
training delivery. 

• The revised programme will involve training being delivered 
over a longer period and through to the end of this Municipal 
Year.  

• The impact of the training delivered to date is evidenced by 
feedback on how Council meetings and Committee meetings 
are running. 

 
 
4.2.8 Procurement and Commercial Theme 

 

Page 15



 

4.2.8.1 Achievements this quarter 

• Implementation of Phase 1 of Asset Management System   

• Review of Serco Contract Complete  

• Street Cleansing revised plan approved at Waste Board. 

• Lion Farm statement of facts agreed  

• Chief Officer for Local Authority Trading Company (LATC) has 

started, and a clear project plan is in place. 

• SEND lessons learnt capture reported to Leadership Team 

 

4.2.8.2 Procurement and Commercial Progress Issues: 
 

• Lion Farm Options Agreement  
o Issues encountered 
o Delivery timescales for the Expert Determination process are being 

decided by a third party.  
o The anticipated date for resolution is 24 March 2023 

 
4.2.9 Partnerships and Relationships Theme 

 

4.2.9.1 Achievements this quarter 

• Delivery of the Early Help and Corporate Parenting Strategies has 

continued across partners. 

• KPI suite for Sandwell Children's Trust reviewed. 

• SCT Review of contract has concluded. 

• Attendance and participation with key regional and sub-regional 

groups (including WMCA, ABCA, and BCLEP) has continued 

• VCS Strategy Development has commenced, and engagement 

sessions have been held. This work builds on positive relationships 

fostered between the council and VCS around the Warm Spaces 

programme. 

 
4.2.9.2 Partnerships and Relationships Progress Issues 
 

• Partnership structures in relation to transition from children’s to 
adults’ services 

o Slippage in timescales due to recruitment difficulties for this project 
o Two unsuccessful attempts at recruitment for a project manager. 

The approach will be reviewed. 

Page 16



 

o Work is progressing without this capacity being in place. Draft PID 
is in place, agreement has been reached to engage with key 
external stakeholders and the Trust's sign-off process has been 
incorporated into the project governance structure. 

o Next steps are for PID to be completed and approved and monthly 
project meetings established. 

 
4.3 Statutory Recommendations  
4.3.1 The Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review, 2021 

included three statutory recommendations that the council has a legal 
obligation to respond to. These recommendations are incorporated into 
the single Improvement Plan and are embedded across each of the six 
themes.   

 
4.3.2 In their follow up review 2022, Grant Thornton recognised progress 

against all three statutory recommendations.   
 
4.3.3 To provide an overview of progress against these three specific 

recommendations, Appendix 3 extracts the key actions that respond to 
each of the recommendations and they are summarised below. 
 

4.3.4 Statutory Recommendation 1 - It is imperative that senior officers and 
senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing service 
issues highlighted by the findings in this report (including SLT, SCT, the 
waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and prioritise corporate 
effort in managing the issues identified and embed the solutions into the 
Council. 

 
Progress update: 

• Continuing to implement strategies to address the service issues 
highlighted in the Grant Thornton report.  

• SLT – progressing the approach agreed by Cabinet in June 2022 
to transfer services to a Local Authority Trading Company. 

• SCT – Governance arrangements remain in place. Joint work in 

place with SCT in relation to corporate parenting and early help. 

Revised contract will commence in April 2023 

• Waste Contract – Contract Monitoring framework progressing well 

and embedded in PMF reporting. Review of the Contract is 

complete.  

Page 17



 

• ERP (Oracle Fusion) – support provider in place and 

implementation commenced. Project Management and 

Governance arrangements are in place.  

• Lion Farm – expert determination process has commenced, 

anticipated date for resolution of 24 March 2023. Formal document 

detailing the respective roles and responsibilities of Council and 

the developer complete.  

• Regeneration Strategy and Pipeline to underpin significant 

regeneration in Sandwell approved by Cabinet 23 March 2022. 

First monitoring provided to Cabinet in November. 

 
4.3.5 Statutory Recommendation 2 - The Council must ensure that the 

learning in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and contract 
management highlighted in this report are understood through the 
organisation. 
 
Progress Update 

• The first phase of the Governance Review has completed with 
approval granted to the revised Procurement and Contract 
Procedure Rules, thresholds for decisions, Sale of Land and 
Buildings Protocol, Scheme of delegations and refresh  

• Corporate Governance Training - Programme of training and 

development commenced in September 2022 on effective 

decision-making, good governance, and revised contract 

procedure rules. Next phase of Corporate Governance 

Development is being planned for roll out during 2023-2024. 

• Commercial Strategy in draft and due to be considered by Cabinet 

in March 2023.  

• Corporate Asset Management Strategy approved by Cabinet in 

November 2023. 

 

4.3.6 Statutory Recommendation 3 - Senior leadership, both officers and 
members, must demonstrate that they can continue to work together 
effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s values, codes, 
policies and procedures, and that there is zero tolerance to inappropriate 
behaviours. This includes changing the organisational culture in relation 
to complaints so that they restore balance and proportionality. 
 

Page 18



 

 
Progress Update 

• Member Development – New Member induction complete and 
Member Development Programme is being delivered and regularly 
reviewed by Ethical Standards and Member Development 
Committee. Next update to the Member Development Programme 
is due to be agreed in March which will incorporate analysis of 
Members’ Personal Development Plans. 

• Officer Development – A consolidated programme of fundamental 

training for managers on Corporate Governance matters has 

commenced. A broader Management Development Programme 

will be rolled out in 2023 following the approval of the Workforce 

Strategy. 

• Organisational Culture – Extensive engagement held and in final 

stages of developing the One Team Framework (Values and 

Behaviours). Due for approval in March 2023. 

• Meeting structures to facilitate Cabinet Member and Leadership 

Team cross-working in place and meeting needs. 

 

4.4 Specific Recommendations from External Reviews relating to 
Scrutiny   
 

4.4.1 The Statutory Directions set out that the Council must secure 
improvement in relation to the proper functioning of the scrutiny and 
associated audit functions.  
 

4.4.2 In the original Value for Money Governance Review (2021) Grant 
Thornton set out 3 recommendations that relate to scrutiny. In their 
follow up review in Autumn 2022, Grant Thornton commented that 
‘positive progress has been made to improve the culture and 
professionalism of key Council committees, with the scrutiny function 
making particular progress.’ The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Follow 
up review also found that scrutiny is ‘going from strength to strength’. 
 

4.4.3 No further improvement recommendations relating to the role and 
function of scrutiny were made by CIPFA, Grant Thornton or the LGA in 
their follow-up reviews of Autumn 2022. Further details around the 
external review follow up findings is provided at section 4.6 of this report. 
 

Page 19



 

4.4.4 Appendix 4 provides an overview of progress against the original 
recommendations relating to scrutiny, along with related findings from 
the Grant Thornton and LGA follow-up visits. 
 

4.5 Scrutiny Work Programme  
 

4.5.1 Budget & Corporate Scrutiny Management Board have included regular 
reports on overall progress of the Improvement Plan on their work 
programme.  
 

4.5.2 Scrutiny’s consideration of overall progress of the Improvement Plan and 
of specific areas within the plan contributes to creating an effective 
scrutiny function. This will also assist scrutiny to identify any additional 
work planning items linked to the Improvement Plan. Several elements 
of the Improvement Plan feature on the work programmes of scrutiny 
boards. 

 

4.5.3 Following consideration of the first quarterly progress report on the 

Improvement Plan, further reports were requested by Budget and 

Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. An update on these is provided 

below. 

 

Work Programme Item 
Requested 

Update  

Council Culture and how 
we engage with hard to 
reach staff  

Discussion held on 6 December 2022. 
Further consideration at Scrutiny on 12 
January 2023. The Board are keen that 
conversations around the One Team 
Framework continue to help embed the 
new values. 

Combined Authority To be scheduled 

Procurement Processes 
followed to achieve goals 

SEND Transport Update to Children’s 
Services and Education Scrutiny Board 
to be considered on 29 March. Regular 
updates provided through scrutiny action 
tracker 

Customer Journey and 
public engagement 

Scrutiny review currently being 

conducted by a working group and its 

findings and recommendations to be fed 

back to the Board and Cabinet.  

Page 20



 

 
4.6 External Reviews - Follow up reports 

 
4.6.1 External assurance continues to play a part in our improvement journey. 

The council invited Grant Thornton, LGA and CIPFA in Autumn 2022 to 
monitor our progress in addressing the recommendations in their 
previous reviews.  
 

4.6.2 An outline of the context for each of these reviews and the findings is set 
out in appendix 5 with the review reports included at appendix 5a-5d. A 
summary of their findings is set out below. 

 
4.6.3 Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review Follow-up 

Report 2022: The Grant Thornton follow-up review found that the 
council had continued to build on the initial improvements recognised by 
Grant Thornton in their original report and has made significant progress 
on a number of their recommendations.  
 

4.6.4 Grant Thornton recognise that challenges remain for the council on its 
improvement journey, and that building on the foundations laid over the 
last 12 months will be vital. Grant Thornton raised a further four Key 
Recommendations and a series of improvement recommendations.  
 

4.6.5 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Report February 2022: The feedback 
report from the LGA, recognises the significant progress that has been 
made in a number of key areas to the good governance and 
management of the council. The LGA also stressed that the council is on 
a journey that will take time and there is still a long way to go to embed 
the improvements required. The LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Report 
included a series of improvement points for the council’s consideration. 

4.6.6 CIPFA Financial Management Model Re-assessment Review: The 
CIPFA Financial Management Model Re-assessment Report sets out 
that Sandwell has improved from a progressive two star rating to a three 
star rating. CIPFA commented that positive progress was evident and 
represents a step change in under a year, which is to be commended. 
CIPFA raised a series of areas for the council to continue to focus on 

Page 21



 

4.6.7 Responses to Follow up Reviews from Grant Thornton and the LGA 

4.6.7.1 Grant Thornton and the LGA raised a series of recommendations and 
improvement points which have been considered. Responses to the 
recommendations are set out in Appendix 6.  

4.6.7.2 Grant Thornton did not issue any new statutory recommendations in 
their follow-up review. They issued 4 new key recommendations. A 
summary of the response to these is outlined below: 

 

• Key Recommendation 1 - The Council must conclude the design of 

Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan, which will focus on organisational 

culture, values and behaviours required to deliver change, and 

introduce a “golden thread” aligning corporate KPIs to individual’s 

performance objectives, so that planned improvements and changes 

become embedded across the organisation. The Council must also 

use the improvement building blocks now in place to bring a greater 

focus on service user responsiveness and outcomes. 

 
Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan will include milestones around 
organisational culture and the actions to embed a golden thread 
including refreshing Vision 2030 and finalising Directorate level 
business plans. The response also sets out that a greater focus on 
outcomes for residents is being reflected in the One Team Framework 
and Workforce Strategy. These are reflected through the January 
changes to the Improvement Plan. 

 

• Key Recommendation 2 - The Council needs to ensure that the new 
corporate PMO remains appropriately resourced, integrates all 
transformation and change activity being undertaken across the 
Council, and has access to appropriate data sources to be able to 
effectively monitor the delivery. 

 
The establishment of the Corporate PMO is being progressed with 
support from Local Partnerships to ensure that we draw on best 
practice. The Corporate Transformation Office has been established 
and there is an agreed framework to integrate all transformation and 
change activity. 

 

• Key Recommendation 3 - The Council should progress and finalise 
outstanding actions relating to our previous recommendations, in 
particular introducing a commercial strategy and an asset 

Page 22



 

management strategy and conclude the service based actions arising 
from our previous recommendations including finalising the 
outstanding Service Delivery Contract with Serco, and the creation of 
the new leisure services company. The Leadership Team needs to 
ensure there is appropriate corporate focus on medium term financial 
planning and financial statement production. 

 
The council continues to have oversight of the progress against the 
service issues raised in the 2021 Grant Thornton review. The 
commercial strategy is in its final stages of preparation, the asset 
management strategy has been approved, good progress is being 
made in relation to the contract with SERCO and the establishment of 
the LATC. Leadership Team retains a robust corporate focus on 
medium term financial planning. 

 

• Key Recommendation 4 - Once all the planned revisions to the 
Constitution have been agreed, the Council will need to embed these 
changes and demonstrate sustainable improvements in governance 
and scrutiny of decision making. 

 
Work has already commenced to embed the revisions to the 
Constitution in working practice. Phase 2 of the Governance Review 
focuses on embedding changes and the next milestone is to agree 
the project plans.  

 

4.6.7.3 The responses to all the recommendations from Grant Thornton and 

the LGA are incorporated into a refresh of the Improvement Plan 

which has been managed through the established change control 

process. The changes are referenced in appendix 6 and included 

within section 4.8 of this report. Due to the date of receiving the 

CIPFA report, the actions to respond to the CIPFA FM Model Re-

assessment Report will be incorporated in the next update to the 

Improvement Plan. 

 

4.7 Risk Management 
 

4.7.1 The Improvement Plan Risk Register underpins the council’s strategic risk 
relating to the council’s Improvement Plan (59a 02/22) and is currently 
rated as an overall Amber risk. The risk register is reported monthly to 
Leadership Team and quarterly to Cabinet and Audit & Risk Assurance 
Committee.  
 

Page 23



 

4.7.2 The current risk register is attached as Appendix 7. The main risks are 
associated with: 

• Resources – for delivery of key components of the plan including 
the performance management framework, asset management 
system implementation and culture change programme. The 
financial resources required have been identified and were 
approved by Council in June.  

• Organisational Culture – If the organisational culture doesn’t 
change, this will limit the improvements that can be made. A theme 
within the Improvement Plan focuses on organisational culture. A 
comprehensive engagement programme with staff has taken place 
and the resulting One Team Framework is due for approval in 
March. External reviews have provided assurance around the 
positive changes to the Member and Officer relationship.  

• Communication – to ensure everyone is aware of their respective 
roles and responsibilities. Communication is taking place through a 
range of methods including briefings, live events, and regular 
messages.    

• Performance Management Framework – to ensure that we can 
effectively monitor progress and evidence improvement. Each 
theme includes an outline of how success will be evidenced. 
Processes for monitoring progress are in place 

• Investment and Financial Resources – to ensure financial 
resources are made available resource gaps/ pressures associated 
with the Improvement Plan have been identified 

• Programme Management Arrangements- to ensure appropriate 
programme management arrangements are in place existing 
experienced resource is being used. Governance arrangements in 
place for the Improvement Plan 

• Constitutional Changes (new risk)- If key governance changes 
(agreed during 2022) are not embedded throughout the 
organisation then opportunities will be missed. First round of 
training has been delivered along with revised templates and 
guidance. Phase 2 of the Corporate Governance Review is 
underway and this will focus on embedding the constitutional 
changes  

 

4.8 Changes to the Improvement Plan and Monitoring Method – Phase 
2 Refresh  
 

Page 24



 

4.8.1 The Improvement Plan is intended to be a live document updated to take 
account of progress and relevant changes.  
 

4.8.2 The Improvement Plan report to Council in June 2022 set out that 
changes (which may include the addition of new workstreams or 
objectives, or the amendment of timescales for delivery of actions) will 
be tracked through programme management mechanisms and that 
Cabinet will retain oversight of changes through regular formal 
reporting.  
 

4.8.3 This refresh to the Improvement Plan includes the responses to the 
Grant Thornton and LGA follow up reviews. The refresh reflects that the 
majority of key milestones outlined in June 2022 have been delivered 
and an increasing focus is being taken on embedding and sustaining 
changes. As such, the refresh is referred to as the Phase 2 Improvement 
Plan.  
 

4.8.4 The list of all changes is provided in Appendix 8. Where new actions 
have been added to the Improvement Plan, these are displayed within 
the monitoring tool with red font colour. Changes as a result of the Grant 
Thornton and LGA follow up reviews are also referenced within 
Appendix 6. 
 

4.8.5 The changes made are summarised below.  

• 4 new workstreams have been added/amended 

• 5 main actions, 26 sub-actions, and 1 assurance action have been 
added  

• 32 changes made to action delivery timescales, and milestones (4 of 
which are of more than 3 months) 

• 16 changes to replace/move actions/milestones 

• 6 changes made to descriptions of actions 

• 1 change to delivery lead throughout the plan (from Director – 
Business Strategy and Change to relevant Director/lead)  

• 11 actions have been closed as the activity is complete  
 

4.8.6 The monitoring method that provides an overview of the progress of the 
Improvement Plan has been in place since June 2022. It has involved 
actions being attributed with a risk rating and a ‘progress against plan’ 
status rating. These ratings have been combined to form an overall 
theme status rating to provide Leadership Team with oversight of 
progress and delivery issues. 
 

Page 25



 

4.8.7 As part of this Phase 2 refresh to the Improvement Plan, the monitoring 
method has been reviewed to ensure it remains fit for purpose. The 
review included consideration of some queries raised around the theme 
status ratings and the approach to attribute all actions a risk rating due to 
duplication with Directorate Risk Registers, Strategic Risk Register, and 
project risk registers 

 

4.8.8 Following the review, the changes made to the monitoring method are 
for action risk ratings to be replaced by a focus rating (to express areas 
of the plan that are a current delivery focus for leadership team), and for 
theme status ratings to no longer be used within the monitoring method. 
 

4.9 Reporting Framework and Governance 
 
4.9.1 To ensure that senior officers and members have oversight of delivery, 

Council approved the reporting mechanism for the Improvement Plan in 
June 2022. This set out that progress will be monitored by Leadership 
Team monthly and reported to Cabinet quarterly until all actions have 
been completed, or changes have been embedded into business as 
usual. The diagram included at Appendix 9 sets out the governance 
framework. 

 
4.9.2 The Government Directions require reporting on the delivery of the 

Improvement Plan at six monthly intervals to the Secretary of State from 
the council and the Commissioners. The last report was made in 
December 2022. The next report is due June 2023 

 
4.9.3 Member-led committees, such as the Governance & Constitution Review 

Committee, Audit & Risk Assurance Committee and Scrutiny 
Committees, are used for providing a steer and maintaining oversight of 
the actions and implementation of the Improvement Plan.  

 
4.9.4 The Governance & Constitution Review Committee and cross-party 

Working Group have been integral to the development and review of the 
governance documents, ahead of decisions taken by Council last year. 
 

4.9.5 Audit & Risk Assurance Committee receive quarterly updates on the 
Improvement Plan and the Improvement Plan Risk Register and they 
received the external follow up reviews in January 2023. The Committee 
are due to consider this quarterly progress update on 16 March 2023. 

 

Page 26



 

4.9.6 Budget & Corporate Scrutiny Management Board has included several 
elements of the Improvement Plan on their work programme as well as 
regular reports on overall progress. This has included a ‘deep dive’ focus 
on the work under the Organisational Culture theme and engagement 
with the workforce. This report is the third quarterly update to scrutiny.  

 
4.9.7 Any recommendations or comments from Audit & Risk Assurance 

Committee and Budget & Corporate Scrutiny Management Board will be 
reported to Cabinet.   

 
5 Implications 
 

Resources: The monitoring of the Improvement Plan is being 

carried out within existing resources. Council’s 

approval of the single Improvement Plan included 

allocation of resources to ensure delivery of the 

Improvement Plan. These resources are monitored 

regularly by the Programme Management Office and 

Leadership Team. 

 

Legal and 
Governance: 

 On 22 March 2022, The Secretary of State for 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities issued 

Directions under Section 15(5) and (6) of the Local 

Government Act 1999 (the 1999 Act) in order to 

ensure that the council can comply with the 

requirements of Part 1 of the 1999 Act. Failure to 

comply with these Directions may lead to further 

intervention measures for the council.   

  

The delivery of actions within the Plan agreed by 

Council in June 2022, as well as any subsequently 

identified actions, will support the council to achieve 

sustainable improvement. This will support the end of 

government intervention.    

 

Ultimately, the changes made through the 

Improvement Plan will enable the council to effectively 

Page 27



 

deliver its strategic priorities and ensure it is delivering 

value for money for Sandwell.   

 

Risk: If the Council fails to take appropriate action to meet 

the requirements set out in the government Direction, 

or the Commissioners appointed by the Secretary of 

State do not have sufficient confidence that 

appropriate actions are being taken to implement and 

sustain the required improvements, then the council 

risks not having appropriate arrangements in place to 

comply with its best value duty under Part 1 of the 

1999 Act. This could lead to further government 

intervention, increased costs and damage to 

reputation.   

  

A risk register is in place and will be maintained for 

the duration of the Improvement Plan which will 

underpin the council’s strategic risk relating to the 

council’s Improvement Plan (59a 02/22). This will be 

reported monthly to Leadership Team, quarterly to 

Cabinet and will be regularly reported to Audit and 

Risk Assurance Committee. 

 

Equality: The successful delivery of this Improvement Plan will 

require the development and review of many of the 

council’s policies and procedures. These changes will 

build in consideration of the impact on equalities 

throughout the development and will include an 

Equality Impact Assessment where appropriate. 

 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The underpinning objective of the Improvement Plan 
is to ensure the council is able to achieve the strategic 
priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan. These 
priorities focus on improving the health and wellbeing 
of our residents and tackling health inequalities in a 

Page 28



 

multi-faceted way. Therefore, any improvements to 
the council’s governance structures will strengthen the 
council’s ability to deliver services that will improve 
the health and wellbeing of Sandwell. 

Social Value Within the Improvement Plan, the council is 

committed to developing the Social Value Policy in 

conjunction with the refresh of the Procurement & 

Contract Procedure Rules. Through strengthening our 

asks of contractors through this Social Value Policy 

and linking them to the Corporate Plan objectives, the 

council will be able to maximise its social value 

return.  

 

Climate 

Change 

The underpinning objective of the Improvement Plan 

is to ensure the council is able to achieve the strategic 

priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan. Green in 

everything we do is one of the Fairer Sandwell 

principles running throughout the Corporate Plan. Any 

improvements to the council’s governance structures 

will strengthen the council’s ability to embed this 

principle and further the climate change agenda.  

 
6 Appendices 
 

1. Improvement Plan Monitoring Tool January 2023 
2. Improvement Plan Theme Progress Summary January 2023 
3. Statutory Recommendations Reporting January 2023 
4. Scrutiny Recommendations Reporting January 2023 
5. Summary of External Review Reports 

a. Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review December 
2021 – reissued October 2022 

b. Grant Thornton Value for Money Governance Review Follow-Up 
Report December 2022 

c. LGA Corporate Peer Challenge Progress Review November 2022 
d. CIPFA FM Model Re-assessment Report January 2023 

6. Responses to External Review Reports 
7. Improvement Plan Risk Register January 2023 
8. Changes to the Improvement Plan January 2023 
9. Improvement Plan Governance Diagram 

 

Page 29



 

 
 
 
7 Background Papers 

 

• Sandwell Council Improvement Plan  

• Approval of Sandwell Council Improvement Plan Report to Council 7 
June 2022 

• Improvement Plan Progress Reports:   

• To Council: 13 December 2022  

• To Cabinet: 
▪ 7 December 2022 including LGA Corporate Peer 

Challenge Progress Review Report Nov 2022 
▪ September 2022 

• To Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
▪ January 2023 (External Review Reports) 
▪ November 2022  
▪ September 2022  
▪ June 2022  

• To Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 
▪ November 2022  
▪ September 2022 

 
   
 
 

Page 30

https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s8819/07f%20-%20Appendix%206%20-%20Sandwell%20Improvement%20Plan%207%20June%202022%20Council.pdf
https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=2309#mgDocuments
https://sandwellintranet.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=2309#mgDocuments
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12261/08%20-%20Sandwell%20Council%20Improvement%20Plan.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12008/12%20-%20Improvement%20Plan%20Cabinet%20Report%2007.12.22.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10807/14%20-%20Improvement%20Plan%20Progress.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12532/Improvement%20Plan%20-%20External%20Review%20Reports%20ARAC.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s11609/Improvement%20Plan%20Progress%20Report%20to%20ARAC.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10865/08%20-%20Improvement%20Plan%20Progress%20Report%20to%20ARAC%2022.09.22.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s9490/05%20-%20Council%20Improvement%20Plan.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s11872/Budget%20and%20Corporate%20Scrutiny%20Management%20Board%20-%20Improvement%20Plan%20Progress%2029.11.22.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10678/06%20-%20Budget%20and%20Corporate%20Scrutiny%20Management%20Board%20-%20Improvement%20Plan%20Progress.pdf


Progress against Plan Status Rating Definition Leadership Team Action as a result

On Track

Progress against the action is in line with the delivery date with 

no or minor (of less than a month) actual/projected slippage 

that does not impact on any dependencies

Leadership Team note progress and seek assurance that on 

track

Medium progress

Progress on the action is being made but there is 

actual/projected slippage of between 1-2 months, or any minor 

slippage presents a risk to dependencies

Leadership Team watching brief and review impact on 

dependencies

Significant issues / slippage

Progress on the action is or projected to be behind schedule by 

more than 2 months, or any slippage (actual or projected) 

presents a risk to critical milestones

Leadership Team review and remedy

Not due to start Work on the action is not due to start N/a

Complete
Action is complete N/a

Closed
Action is complete and there is evidence that the measures of 

success have been fulfilled
Evidence to be provided

N/A Update not required at this time
N/a

On hold
Action placed on hold due to different approach being 

considered

Action Risk Score (Use Corporate Risk Matrix)

Page 31



Theme 1 -Organisational Culture
January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads Update Owner (if different) Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(December 

22)
Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A1.0
Establish the desired organisational culture 

for Sandwell Council  
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Head of HR

 May 2022 Dec 2022  Low Risk
Failure to agree desired organisational 

culture
N/A N/A N/A N/A

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A1.2 Phase 2  Engagement: Determining Desired 

Culture 
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Head of HR Aug 2022  Dec 2022  N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Outcome of listening exercise agreed by 

Leadership Team November and 

framework approach agreed December.  

Now in final stages of engagement and 

approval

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A1.3
Approval of document setting out the desired 

organisational culture 
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Head of HR

Autumn 

2022 
23-Jan N/A N/A Do not update this month

Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months

Framework agreed with Leadership 

Team and engagement has been 

undertaken and continues with wider 

stakeholders.  Due for Cabinet sign off 

15 March

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A2.0
Create the right environment for that 

organisational culture to thrive 
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Medium Risk

Lack of engagement to embed desired 

culture 
N/A N/A N/A N/A

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A2.1 Workforce Strategy approved Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Head of HR 22-Dec 23-Mar N/A N/A Do not update this month
Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months

Scope and drafting has commenced. 

Many priority workstreams are already 

in progress. Working towards Cabinet 

sign off in May. 

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A2.2
Other actions as a result of engagement 

phases 
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Head of HR TBC TBC  N/A N/A Not due to start not due to start Not due to start not due to start

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A2.3 New action: Roll out of One Team framework Chief Exec Deputy Leader Head of HR TBC TBC N/A N/A New Action Added new action New Action Added new action

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC. B1.0
(close/Move) Design and deliver Corporate 

Governance Training for Officers
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance   
Low Risk

Failure to deliver required training 

within agreed timescales
N/A N/A N/A N/A

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.2 (close/move)Revision of Corporate Induction Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader
Director- Law & 

Governance  

Head of HR

Autumn 

2022 
Feb-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Draft report completed outlining 

current induction process and 

induction resources and 

recommendations to make 

improvements to induction and 

onboarding experience. 

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.3 (close/move) Effective decision-making 

training
Director - Law & Governance Deputy Leader

Director – 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change 

Jul-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A
Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

Guidance delivered. Following 

constitutional approvals there is a 

need for a series of developmental 

work and training with Officers 

through the operational lens e.g. 

report writing. Training and 

development currently being scoped 

and intention to commence ahead of 

the Christmas break and will be 

delivered through to the end of the 

Municipal Year. Will require a change 

of due date to reflect programme 

delivery to end of Municipal Year.

Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

Action Plan being developed detailing all 

requisite actions to embed the 

Constitutional changes. Plan will be 

completed by 31 Jan 2023. This includes 

changes to executive decision making 

and delegated decision making. 

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.5
(close/ move)Delivery of Corporate 

Governance Training
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Director- Law & 

Governance  

Autumn 

2022
Dec-22 N/A N/A

Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months

Sessions with Officers are being 

arranged for after Christmas. Focus 

has been on Member training.

Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months

Corporate Governance Training: 

Member and Officer training delivered 

by LGA. Next phase of training 

programme to be scoped by Law & 

Governance & Finance and agree 

support required by L&D. 

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.6 (close/move) Annual Refresher of Corporate 

Governance Training
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader Director- Law & 

Governance  
TBC 2023 TBC 2023 N/A N/A Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start

Main Action RiskDatesStatic data Owners

P
age 32



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads Update Owner (if different) Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(December 

22)
Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

Main Action RiskDatesStatic data Owners

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.7 (close/move)Delivery of Directorships and 

Trusteeships Training

Director - Law & Governance Deputy Leader

Director – 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change 

Nov-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A Do not update this month
Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months

Training for members has been 

undertaken. Further training is being 

arranged for officers. Training will again 

be delivered after Annual Council to 

members who are appointed to Outside 

Bodies as Directors/Trustees. 

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.0
Develop a clear programme of management 

development
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  
Low Risk

Lack of engagement from managers 

with the programme 
N/A N/a N/A N/a

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.1 Management and Development Programme 

Scope, Content and Budget Agreed
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  

Director - 

Head of HR

HR Team Manager 

L&D/OD

Oct-22 April 23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Management Development: 

Management Development in scoping 

phase which will include;

Manager Fundamentals 

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.4
Management Development Programme 

Delivery
Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  
23-Apr tbc N/A N/A Not due to start

Not due to start
Not due to start

Not due to start

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC. B3.0 Officer Learning and Development Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader
Director- Law & 

Governance   
Low Risk

Failure to deliver required training 

within agreed timescales

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B3.1 New action: Revision of Corporate Induction Director – Business Strategy and Change Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  

Head of HR

Autumn 

2022 
Feb-23 N/A New Action Added New Action Added

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C1.0 Continue regular weekly meetings between 

Cabinet Members and Leadership Team 
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council

Director- Law 

& Governance 

Chief 

Executive 

Leader 

Cabinet 

Members 

Leadership 

Team  

Low Risk

If formalised meeting structures aren't 

in place, opportunities may be missed 

for issues to be discussed. Other regular 

meetings are taking place. 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C1.1
Regular meetings of Commissioners, 

Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and 

Chief Whips commence 

Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance 

Chief Executive 

Leader 

Cabinet 

Members 

Leadership 

Team  

May 2022  22-Nov N/A N/A
Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

Finding time in diaries an issue – 

meeting will take place in Jan 2023
Complete

Meetings with Group Leaders/Chief 

Whips and Statutory Officers have 

commenced and regular meetings 

diarised.

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C3.0

Engage LGA to support Officers and Members 

to develop the relationship going forward 

including continuation of LGA Cabinet 

Member mentoring programme 

Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council  May 2022  Dec 2022 Medium Risk

If cultural and behavioural historic 

issues that have affected the Council's 

ability to deliver could return if the 

relationship between Officers and 

Members is not addressed.

Do not update this month Complete

Complete. Mentoring Programme is 

ongoing

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C4.0 New action: Assurance Activity to sustain 

positive Officer and Member Relationship
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Jan-23 Low Risk

If insight is not collated/ regularly 

review around the health of the Officer 

and Member Relationship then 

opportunities will be missed to address 

issues and continuously improve 

New Action Added

new action

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C4.1
Identify mechanisms for ongoing insight and 

assurance around the Officer and Member 

Relationship

Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Jan-23 N/A New Action Added

new action

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.0 Design and deliver Corporate Governance 

Training for Members
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Director- Finance Medium Risk

If there is insufficient understanding of 

corporate governance arrangements, 

this will leave the Council open to 

reputational and potential legal 

challenge.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.2 Effective decision-making training Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Director- Finance Jul-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A

Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

2 sessions held 22/11 focusing on 

code of corporate governance. 

Training around constitutional 

changes approved in November will 

be scoped and arranged as part of 

continuous improvement and 

delivered as part of Member 

Development Programme.  Impact of 

training to date is evidenced by 

feedback on how Council meetings 

and Committee meetings are running 

and their improvement in 

effectiveness.- (Will require a change 

of date to reflect programme 

delivery to end of Municipal Year.))

Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

As per last month's update. Training will 

be rolled out through to end of 

Municipal Year. Change required to 

reflect delivery to end of Municipal 

Year.

Impact of training delivered so far is 

evidenced by feedback on how Council 

meetings and Committee meetings are 

running.

P
age 33



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads Update Owner (if different) Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(December 

22)
Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

Main Action RiskDatesStatic data Owners

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.4 Delivery of Corporate Governance Training Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Director- Finance Autumn 22 Dec-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.5

Annual Refresher and inclusion in new 

Member induction
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Director- Finance Mar-23 summer 23 N/A N/A Not due to start due mar 23 Not due to start due mar 23

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D3.0

Continue forward plan for all Member briefings 

based on themes of work / areas for 

development

Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Low Risk

Risk relates to insufficient forward 

planning leading to missed 

opportunities 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D3.2

Leadership Team Review of All Member 

Briefings to ensure they are meeting needs
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Mar-22 Ongoing N/A N/A Do not update this month

Briefing note to be scheduled as a 

closure report for .

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D4.0

Induction training for Leader and Cabinet 

Members on appropriate processes relating to 

the employment of Chief Officers, and in 

particular Statutory Officers 

Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Jun-22 Jul-22 Low Risk

If there is insufficient knowledge and 

training for Chief Officers Terms and 

Conditions Committee, then 

recruitment and selection may result in 

an unsuitable appointment.

On Track- little or no slippage

Training delivered ahead of 

interviews for CEx. Discussion have 

taken place with HR and it has been 

agreed that training will form part of 

the induction training programme for 

Committees at the start of the 

Municipal Year

On Track- little or no slippage

Training delivered ahead of interviews 

for CEx. Discussion have taken place 

with HR and it has been agreed that 

training will form part of the induction 

training programme for Committees at 

the start of the Municipal Year

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D5.0 Main action: Member development programme Director - Law & Governance New Action Added new action New Action Added new action added

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D5.1

New sub action: Approval of next iteration of 

MDP that includes actions as a result of 

Member PDP analysis

Director - Law & Governance

Ethical Standards and 

Member Development 

Committee

Mar-23 23-Mar N/A New Action Added new action New Action Added new action added

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.0 Deliver the communications strategy to assist 

with more effective internal communications

Director – Business Strategy and Change  

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Feb-22 Ongoing Low Risk Failure to deliver against strategy N/A N/A N/A N/A

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.1

Internal comms channels used to deliver comms 

messages on an ongoing basis including:

- All staff briefing

- Team Talk Leadership Updates

- Member bulletin

- Director live events

- Bostin People e-bulletin (New)

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Ongoing

Monthly 

updates 

through IP

N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Internal comms activity is including 

Team Talk, Weekly comms and director 

live events . Preparations underway for 

final all staff briefing from KBD and 

preparations for first briefing from SL.

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.2 Chief Executive's Comms Plan launch

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council

Spring 2023 

TBC
TBC N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Draft comms approach prepared 

outlining roles and responsibilities to 

aid understanding around the 

handover from KBD to SL. Wider 

discussion to follow re 

internal/external comms approach  

around handover.

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.3

Develop proposal for all staff conference 

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council

TBC

Aligned to 

CEX 100 

day plan

TBC N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Preparations underway for SL first live 

event. Plans for a staff conference will 

be discussed with SL. 

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.4 Formal Employee Recognition Scheme - approach 

and resources identified

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council

TBC

Aligned to 

CEX 100 

day plan

TBC N/A N/A Not due to start
Not due to start

On Track- little or no slippage

Initial data gathering has taken place to 

identify the options for Formal 

employee recognition Scheme. A 

questionnaire will be developed and 

shared with council employees to 

gather feedback to steer the package 

development. 

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.5

Continuous feedback on effectiveness of internal 

comms

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Ongoing

Quarterly 

Reporting

Jan, Apr, 

July, Oct

N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Discussion takes place monthly with 

Directors at IPRM. Kept under ongoing 

review by comms team.

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.6

New sub action : Regular comms activity around 

the scale of financial activities and how the 

organisation is addressing them.

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Jan-23 ongoing N/A N/a New Action Added new action added

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.7

New sub action: Review social media policy and 

create guidance/ protocol for working with MPs

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Jan-23 23-Aug N/A n/a New Action Added new action added

Internal 

Communications
OC.E2.8

New sub action: regular comms activity around the 

golden thread

Director – Business Strategy and Change 

(Chief Executive)
Leader of the Council Jan-23 ongoing N/A N/A New Action Added new action added

Chief Executive 

Recruitment
OC.F2.0

Recruitment of Chief Executive
Commissioner Leader of the Council

By Sept 

2023
Medium Risk

Failure to recruit a suitable candidate 

leading to prolonged intervention
N/A N/A

Chief Executive 

Recruitment
OC.F2.2 Recruitment process takes place Commissioner Leader of the Council Head of HR

Dates TBC 

following 

Autumn 

decision

Dates TBC 

following 

Autumn 

decision

N/A N/A Complete complete Complete complete

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.0 New main action: Governance review Phase 2 Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council Jan-23 TBC N/A N/A New Action Added new action added

P
age 34



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads Update Owner (if different) Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(December 

22)
Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

Main Action RiskDatesStatic data Owners

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.1
New sub action: Agree project plans relating to 

each of the changes within the constitution
Director - Law & Governance Leader of the Council 23-Jan 23-Feb

New Action Added new action added

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.2 New sub action: Effective decision-making training Director - Law & Governance
Leader of the Council Jan-23 May-23

New Action Added new action added

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.3
New sub action: Delivery of Corporate 

Governance Development Programme
Director - Law & Governance

Leader of the Council Director-Finance Jan-23 May-24

New Action Added new action added

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.4
New sub action: Annual Refresher of 

Corporate Governance Training
Director - Law & Governance

Leader of the Council

TBC

tbc

New Action Added new action added

Embedding 

Constitutional 

Changes

OC.G1.5 New action: Delivery of Directorships and 

Trusteeships Training

Director - Law & Governance Deputy Leader Jan 23 Jul-23 New Action Added new action added

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

OC.H1.0
New action: Assurance Activity to ensure 

effective contribution of Scrutiny and Audit is 

sustained

Director - Law & Governance

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit OC.H1.1

Confirm mechanisms for ongoing insight and 

assurance around the effectiveness of Scrutiny 

and Audit Director - Law & Governance

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit OC.H1.2

Quarterly survey of Member and Officers participating 

in Scrutiny and Audit meetings

Director - Law & Governance

P
age 35



Theme 2- Corporate Oversight
January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads

Update 

Owner (if 

different)

Start date Due date
Main Action 

Risk
Description Status (December 2022) Update (Initial and Date)(December 22) Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

ERP CO.A1.0
Implement Oracle Fusion

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy & 

Change

Director- Law

Apr-24
Medium 

Risk

Implementation date 

depends on Support 

Implementor contract and 

mobilisation. Likely to be 

at least 12 month 

implementation from 

mobilisation of new SI 

contract. 22/11 Risk needs 

to be updated

N/A N/A N/A N/A

ERP CO.A1.8 New sub action: Completion of discovery phase Director- Finance

Deputy Leader

Jan-23 Feb-23 N/A New Action Added
on track for completion. formal programme 

board for sign off is due 14 feb 23.

CO.A1.9 New sub action: completion of the modelling phase Director- Finance Deputy Leader Feb-23 Jun-23

ERP CO.A1.10 New sub action: Go live Director- Finance Deputy Leader Apr-24 Apr-24 N/A New Action Added

ERP CO.A1.11

New assurance action: Programme benefits will be defined 

during the duration of the programme and agreed with the 

programme board

-a process will be agreed for monitoring and reporting the 

benefits

-benefit realisation will take place post go live.

Director- Finance Deputy Leader Feb-23 quarterly N/A N/a Do not update this month Assurance Action

Performance 

Management
CO.C2.0 Budget Monitoring Director- Finance Deputy Leader Mar-22 Ongoing Low Risk

Risk of untimely 

monitoring or lack of 

corporate oversight of the 

budget position impacting 

on effective decision 

making

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Performance Management CO.C2.4
Assurance action: 

Quarterly Budget Monitoring Reports made to Leadership Team, 

Cabinet and Scrutiny

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Ongoing 

action- 

start 

date 

required

Quarterly 

monitoring to 

ensure approach 

embedded

N/A Assurance Action quarterly monitoring Assurance Action

Budget Monitoring reported monthly to LT and 

quarterly to Cabinet and Scrutiny. This process 

is now embedded. 

Performance Management CO.C2.5

Assurance action:

Where budget pressures identified, assurance provided that 

action has/is being taken (monthly summary comment from S151 

Officer / raise issues)  

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Ongoing 

action

Monthly 

monitoring
N/A Assurance Action Assurance Action

Leadership Team continue to receive monthly 

budget monitoring reports. Spending controls 

have been in place since October and will 

continue to the end of the financial year. 

Further savings identified in treasury 

management which will bring the 23/24 to a 

balanced position. 

Performance Management CO.C2.6
New sub action: Embed financial benchmarking in budget 

planning
Director- Finance Deputy Leader tbc tbc N/A New Action Added new action New Action Added new action

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D.2.0 Embedding Finance Business Partner role Director- Finance Deputy Leader Jan-22 Aug-22 Low Risk

Risk relating to missed 

opportunities and 

inefficiency

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D2.3
Workforce development plan implemented for financial services 

section
Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Finance Improvement 

Manager

Finance 

Improvement 

Manager

Nov-22 N/A N/A
Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Cr 16.12.22 See previous comments around 

specific external training already identified and 

either undertaken or scheduled for January 

2023. Staff survey of current skills / experience 

now completed mid December. Results to be 

shared with Team Heads for review / sense 

check before Christmas to enable incorporation 

into individual / team plans for development in 

January

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

External training provided to a number of 

corporate finance staff at the start of January.                                                                                                                                                                   

Review of Staff Survey development needs 

taken place by Interim Finance Heads Dec/Jan. 

First draft of key training needs for each team 

planned for completion by end of January

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D2.5
Assurance Action:

Performance against KPIs for financial services section
Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Finance Improvement 

Manager

Finance 

Improvement 

Manager

Ongoing- 

start date 

required

Quarterly N/A N/a Assurance Action quarterly monitoring Assurance Action
First review of KPI performance will be 

undertaken at the end of January 2023

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.0 Reduction of financial transactional activity Director- Finance Deputy Leader Jan-22 Mar-23 Low Risk

risk relating to missed 

opportunities and 

inefficiency

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.3 Review of corporate debt recovery processes completed Director- Finance Deputy Leader Dec-22 N/A N/A
Significant issues / 

actual/projected slippage- 

more than 2 months

This has not progressed as business analyst 

support is working on customer journey full 

time, Sonia from C.co will now support the 

review and meeting taking place on 16.12.22

Significant issues / 

actual/projected slippage- 

more than 2 months

Review underway but significant slippage due to 

resources being directed to the Customer 

Journey programme. Review due to be 

complete by end of February but 

recommendations will then need to be 

implemented. 

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.4 Programme of end to end process reviews Director- Finance Deputy Leader May-22 Mar-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage Project Plan in place and milestones being met. 

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

P
age 36



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads

Update 

Owner (if 

different)

Start date Due date
Main Action 

Risk
Description Status (December 2022) Update (Initial and Date)(December 22) Status (January 2023) Update (Initial and Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.5
Implementation of Recommendations from CIPFa in relation to 

internal charges Director- Finance Deputy Leader Oct-22

TBC (once Date 

is know this can 

be added to the 

IP monitoring 

tool)

N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Review making signficant progress with external 

support. Workshop held 18th Jan to consider 

recommendations and next steps. Completion 

date 31st March 2023 so new process is in place 

for 2023/24 financial year. 

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.0
Resolve issues relating to the completion and sign off of final 

accounts.
Director- Finance Deputy Leader Jan-22 May-22

Medium 

Risk
Some progress made N/A N/A N/A N/A

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.4
Assurance Action:

GT sign-off of 2020/21 Accounts (assurance that previous issues raised 

have been resolved)

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

TBC

one-off 

monitorin

g

TBC N/A N/A Assurance Action
update same as November- accounts still not 

signed - aim is to sign off in January.
Assurance Action

Outstanding issues are being resolved and draft 

Audit Committee date set for 28th February for 

approval of 2020/21 accounts. 

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.5
Assurance Action:

Preparation of Draft Accounts for 2021/2022 (assurance that approach 

to completion and sign-off of final accounts is becoming embedded)

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

TBC

one-off 

monitorin

g

TBC N/A N/A Assurance Action
update same as November- accounts still not 

signed - aim is to sign off in January.
Assurance Action

Aiming for completion of draft accounts by end 

of March 2023, subject to above. 

P
age 37



Theme 4 - Decision Making
January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member
Other 

Leads

Update Owner (if 

different)
Start date Due date

Main 

Action 

Risk

Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

4 Yearly Election 

Cycle

DM.A1.0 Implement 4-yearly election cycle
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council May-22 Sep-23

Medium 

Risk

If we don't reach a 

decision in October, then 

there will be a reputational 

risk associated with 

delaying making a decision

N/A N/A N/A N/A

4 Yearly Election 

Cycle
DM.A1.1 Options Paper to Leadership Team

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Jun-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

4 Yearly Election 

Cycle

DM.A1.2 Council Decision to implement
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Nov-22 N/A N/A Complete complete Complete complete

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.0
In-depth review and revision to Corporate Governance 

Documents

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Dec-21 Oct-22

Medium 

Risk

If Corporate Governance 

Documents are not 

updated, then other 

improvement work with 

Members and Officers will 

be adversely impacted. N/A N/A N/A N/A

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.1 (close/ move)Effective Decision Making Training
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Jul-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A

Significant issues / 

actual/projected slippage- 

more than 2 months

Repeat of OC.b1.3 Guidance 

delivered. Following 

constitutional approvals there 

is a need for a programme of 

developmental work and 

training with Officers through 

the operational lens e.g. 

report writing. Scoping for 

training and development 

currently being scoped and 

intention to commence ahead 

of the Christmas break and will 

be delivered through to the 

end of the Municipal Year.

Significant issues / 

actual/projected slippage- 

more than 2 months

As per last month's update. 

Training will be rolled out 

through to end of Municipal 

Year. Change required to 

reflect delivery to end of 

Municipal Year.

Impact of training delivered so 

far is evidenced by feedback 

on how Council meetings and 

Committee meetings are 

running.

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.3 Revised Financial Regs agreed
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Dec-22 N/A N/A Do not update this month Completed Complete

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.4 Revised Council Procedure Rules
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Nov-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

P
age 38



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member
Other 

Leads

Update Owner (if 

different)
Start date Due date

Main 

Action 

Risk

Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.6 Revised Scheme of Delegations agreed
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Nov-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C1.0
Refresh decision making-arrangements including the role 

of Scrutiny

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Dec-21 Jul-22

Medium 

Risk

If there isn't an effective 

overview and scrutiny 

function in place, then the 

Council decision-making 

will not be as effective as it 

can be.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Role and Function of 

Scrutiny and Audit

DM.C1.1 Review of scrutiny arrangements
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Nov-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Role and Function of 

Scrutiny and Audit

DM.C1.2 Scrutiny Work Planning event
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Jun-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Role and Function of 

Scrutiny and Audit

DM.C1.3 Approval of any changes to scrutiny (if required following review)
Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council Oct-22

2023  

(specific 

timescal

e for 

impleme

ntation 

will be 

determin

ed once 

review 

conclud

ed)

N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C.2.0 Implementation of Scrutiny Recommendations relating to key issues
Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader Dec-21 Sep-22

Medium 

Risk

If we don't implement 

scrutiny 

recommendations, this 

undermines the Council's 

decision making and 

leaves the Council open to 

risk and challenge

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Role and Function of 

Scrutiny and Audit

DM.C2.1
SEND Transport recommendations relating to procurement 

concluded
Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Director- 

Children 

& 

Education 

Scrutiny

Early 2022 Sep-22 N/A N/A Complete Complete Complete Complete

Role and Function of 

Scrutiny and Audit

DM.C2.2 Recommendations relating to Waste Contract concluded
Director- Borough 

Economy
Deputy Leader

Director- 

Law and 

Governan

ce

Dec-22 N/A N/A Complete

Cabinet Member Briefing on 

final recommendation update 

13/12/22.  Update provided to 

Chair of Scrutiny 

(Environment) also 

Complete Complete

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C3.0 Manage position on historic issues through work with ARAC chair
Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader Dec-21

Ongoin

g
Low Risk

Risk of historic issues 

resurfacing through ARAC 
Do not update this month

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Draft response is being 

prepared for the Leader [likely 

to be able to update as closed 

ahead of IPRM on 2nd Feb]

P
age 39



Theme 3 -Strategic Direction
January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.0 Regen Pipeline Development and Delivery

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and 

Growth

Autumn 

2021
Apr-27 Low Risk

Clear 

progress 

on key 

Pipeline 

projects; 

governan

ce 

arrangem

ents 

being 

finalised.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.2 Pipeline projects monitored on a 6-monthly basis

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth
Ongoing N/A N/A Complete closed Complete closed

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.2b
Assurance Action-  Pipeline projects  updated to IPRM on a 6-monthly 

basis

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth
22-Dec

6 monthly 

update
N/A N/A

Assuranc

e Action
Due December 22 Assurance Action

November 22 cabinet 

covering (April to sept). 

Showing progress over the 6 

month period covering the 66 

projects in the pipeline

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.3 Internal infrastructure established for delivery:

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth
Mar-22 Mar-23 N/A N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

The options for procuring a 

strategic delivery partner are 

being actively explored. 

Discussions are being held 

with Shropshire and Bristol 

City Council. 

Financial scoping yet to be 

completed.

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

The options for procuring a 

strategic delivery partner are 

being actively explored. 

Waiting for information from 

Shropshire.

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.3b o Programme Management Software Procurement

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth
Apr-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

Implementation phase has 

started, now that 

procurement has been 

complete.

Pilot involving ASC and BSC 

alongside R&G.

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.0 Corporate Asset Management Strategy Development

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and 

Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic 

Asset & 

Land

Autumn 

2021
Sep-22

Medium 

Risk

If 

timescale

s are not 

met, 

there will 

be a 

period 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.3 Transforming Local Services

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic Asset 

& Land

x N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.6 Asset Review

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic Asset 

& Land

x N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

P
age 40



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.8 Implementation of new Asset Database

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic Asset 

& Land

May-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A

On Track- 

little or 

no 

slippage

Phase 1 of the new Asset 

Database Go Live was 16 

December . The TF project has 

reached an important mile-

stone in its plan, which means 

Atrium data is now no longer 

live or usable and links to our 

current finance system tests 

have gone well. Those that 

required new user names and 

passwords for the system 

have been contacted.

Resourcing has been an issue 

for this project due to short 

term contracts meaning 

recruitment was a problem. 

To meet the deadline this 

project has been prioritised. 

Phase 2 will start in January 

2023

Complete

 phase 1 -16th Dec- complete- 

data has been taken out of 

atrium and transferred into 

the new system or in 

protected spreadsheets.

Phase 2 - kick off meeting 

Thursday - agree 

workstreams, leads and 

timescales- end of march. 

Involving modules e.g. 

asbestos module 

implementation, room 

booking, capital accounting, 

fixed asset register, help desk.

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.9 Surplus Assets & commercial estate
Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic Asset 

& Land

N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.11 Corporate Asset Management Strategy Approved
Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service 

Manager- 

Strategic Asset 

& Land

Nov-22 N/A N/A Complete complete Complete complete

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A3.0 Communications and Corporate Affairs Strategy Development and Delivery

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Leader of the Council
Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Low Risk

Failure to 

deliver 

against 

strategy 

Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Strategy development is 

ongoing with a focus on the 

core narrative. Aiming to 

bring in external support to 

assist with the core narrative 

development. Next step is to 

put external support in place. 

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.0 Refresh and embed the Corporate Procurement Strategy Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Interim 

Procurement 

Strategy 

Manager

Autumn 

2021
Jul-22 Low Risk N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.3 Training delivered Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Interim 

Procurement 

Strategy 

Manager

Autumn 22 Dec-22 N/A N/A Complete Closed

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.4 New actions to be added Director- Finance Deputy Leader N/A

P
age 41



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A5.0
Develop and Implement the Commercial Strategy

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Autumn 

2021
Jul-22

Medium 

Risk

Strategy 

has been 

drafted 

but 

limited 

opportun

ities for 

business 

streams 

have 

emerged. 

Training 

to be 

undertak

en as 

next step 

to give 

relevant 

officers 

the 

appropria

te skills 

and 

knowledg

e to 

review 

opportun

ities 

N/A N/a N/A N/a

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A5.1 Commercial Strategy Approved Director- Finance Deputy Leader Jan-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Strategy approved by LT but 

still awaiting Cabinet approval 

- planned for March. 

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A5.2 Business Cases Presented for commercial workstreams Director- Finance Deputy Leader TBC Jan-23 N/A N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

Strategic Business Cases to be 

completed by Christmas but 

this is dependent on 

engagement from service 

areas.

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Strategic Business Cases 

prepared and awaiting review 

by D of F and LT.

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.0 HRA 30 year Business Plan Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing

Assistant Directors - 

Housing Management 

and Asset 

Management

Autumn 

2021
Apr-23 Low Risk

Plan is 

necessar

y for long 

term 

planning 

but 

delivery 

of asset 

improve

ments 

still 

continues 

without 

the plan

N/A N/A N/A N/A

P
age 42



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.2 HRA Business Plan developed Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing
ADs May-22 Mar-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

HRA Business Plan was taken 

to Safer Neighbourhoods and 

Active Communities (SNAC) 

Scrutiny Board on 10th Jan 

and is on the forward plan to 

seek approval at Cabinet on 

15th February.

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.3 HRA Business Plan approved (in line with budget approval 2023-24) Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing
Apr-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage as above

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.4 Procurement of stock condition surveys Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing
Jun-23 N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

Aiming for a go live on 

procurement Jan 23.

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A7.0 Refresh the Early Help Strategy
Director- Children

& Education
Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Autumn 

2021
Mar-22 Low Risk

The 

strategy 

has been 

refreshed 

ahead of 

the 

launch in 

March 

2022. 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A7.2 Early Help Strategy to be reviewed annually at the early help partnership board
Director- Children

& Education
Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Apr-23 Annually N/A

Assuranc

e Action
Due April 23 Assurance Action Due April 23

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A8.0 Refresh Corporate Parenting Strategy
Director- Children

& Education
Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Jan-22 Sep-22

Medium 

Risk

The 

Corporat

e 

Parenting 

Strategy 

Board are 

consideri

ng the 

refresh of 

the 

current 

strategy 

ahead of 

the 

impleme

ntation in 

Septemb

er 2022. 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A8.3
Corporate Parenting Strategy - yearly assurances provided to the Corporate 

Parenting Board

Director- Children

& Education
Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Sep-23 Annually N/A

Assuranc

e Action
Due September 23 Assurance Action Due September 23

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.0 Equality and Diversity

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing

Medium 

Risk

If the 

Council 

does not 

comply 

with the 

Equality 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

P
age 43



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.1

(close/move) Continue to embed Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) staff 

networks

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Ongoing Ongoing N/A N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

Work ongoing to identify 

underlying issues. Issues 

being raised is a positive. 

Report to be taken to 

Leadership Team once 

analysis completed. 

Consultancy support being 

sought to help support the roll 

out of the LGA Equalities 

Framework

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Report to be considered by 

Leadership Team on 31 Jan 

2023 on moving Staff 

Networks forward

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.2 (close/move) Establish Women’s network and Faith & Belief staff network

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Jun-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

Linked to above

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Linked to SD.B1.1 above

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.3 (close/move) Continue to deliver on Equalities Commission Board priorities

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Ongoing Ongoing N/A N/A

Medium 

Progress- 

actual/ 

projected 

slippage 

of 1-2 

months

LINKED to SD.B1.1 – 

Additional consultancy 

support is being sought.

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Consultant anticipated to be 

appointed by end of Feb 2023. 

Matter is being reported to LT 

on 31 Jan 2023

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.5 Equality Policy approved

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Jul-22 Oct-22 N/A N/A Complete complete Complete complete

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.6 EDI Workforce action plan review

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Jun-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

Review has been completed 

. HR are taking forward the 

next workforce strategy 

iteration. 

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.7 (close/move) Approval of EDI Workforce plan

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Mar-23 Mar-23 N/A N/A

Not due 

to start
Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.9 Review of Council EDI decision making process

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Summer 

2022
Autumn 2023 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

This work will form part of 

the decision-making 

refresh. The EIA Guidance 

and template has been 

updated.

P
age 44



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.10 (close/move) Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy approved

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Autumn 

2022
Autumn 2023 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

EDI project strategy timeline 

has been developed and work 

has started on the 

consultation with other 

council to benchmark working 

with EDI consultants.

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.11

Embed equalities, diversity and inclusion within Member and Officer 

Development Programmes

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council Early 2023 Mar-24 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

EDI eLearning module 

released in august 22 as 

part of MDP.

Equality and 

Diversity SD.B1.12

New sub action- Refresh staff network-

-Package of Corporate commitment

-Identify network chairs

-Established United Networks meeting

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

 

Manager, 

Equality, 

Diversity and 

Inclusion 

Team Feb-23 Jul-23

N/A New Action Added new action

Equality and 

Diversity SD.B1.13

New sub action-

Refresh Equalities Commission Board 

Renew  terms of reference

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

 

Manager, 

Equality, 

Diversity and 

Inclusion 

Team Feb-23 Apr-23

N/A New Action Added new action

Equality and 

Diversity SD.B1.14

New sub action-Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy developed
Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

 

Manager, 

Equality, 

Diversity and 

Inclusion 

Team Feb-23 Jun-24

N/A Not due to start new action

Equality and 

Diversity SD.B1.15

New sub action-Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy approved and 

publication

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

 

Manager, 

Equality, 

Diversity and 

Inclusion 

Team Jun-24 Sep-24

N/A New Action Added new action

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.0

Fundamental review of the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and Capital 

Strategy
Director- Finance Deputy Leader Jan-22 Autumn 2022 Low Risk

Risk of 

missed 

opportun

ities and 

inefficien

cies

N/A N/A N/A N/A

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.2 Approval of MTFP and Capital Strategy Director- Finance Deputy Leader Nov-22 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.3 New Assurance Action (strategy implemented through budget plans): Budget 

Report to Cabinet (2023-2026) reflects funding gaps identified in MTFP 

Director- Finance Deputy Leader Feb-23
and annually 

thereafter
N/A

Assuranc

e Action
Due Feb 2023 Assurance Action Due Feb 2023

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.4 New Assurance Action (embedding the approach): MTFP and Capital Strategy 

refreshed and approved in October each year

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
October 

2023

and annually 

thereafter
N/A

Assuranc

e Action
Due October 2023 Assurance Action Due October 2023

Performance 

Management
SD.D1.5 New sub action: Approval of updated MTFS Director- Finance Deputy Leader 23-Jan Feb-23 N/A

New 

Action 

Added

New Action Added new action

P
age 45



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E1.0 Public Consultation to be carried out as part of budget process for 2023/24 Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director Business 

Strategy and Change
Jan-22 Autumn 2022 Low Risk

Risk that 

budget 

decisions 

do not 

give 

considera

tion to 

residents 

views 

and 

priorities

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E1.3 Public Consultation outcomes inform budget setting Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director Business 

Strategy and Change
Feb-22 N/A N/A Complete complete Complete complete

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.0

Incorporate Public Consultation Results into Performance Management 

Framework

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief 

Exec)

Leader of the Council
Autumn 

2022
May-23

Medium 

Risk

Unable to 

secure 

represent

ative 

sample of 

residents 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.3

Survey results embedded within PMF and used to inform insight into how the 

Council is performing

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief Exec)

Leader of the Council
Autumn 

2022
May-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage

Resident's Survey report was 

included in Q2 Performance 

Report and outcomes shared 

at all staff briefing 02/11. 

Intelligence has been 

incorporated within business 

planning process for 2023 

onwards and being used to 

shape budget.

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.4 Proposal approved for the next phase of resident consultation and 

engagement and budget consultation 

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief Exec)

Strategic Lead  - 

Service 

Improvement

October 

2022
November 2022 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

LT agreement to consultation 

framework including regular 

budget and residents 

consultation and creation of 

Citizens' space platform. 

Currently in procurement 

phase. 

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.5 Focus Groups held to explore responses to key areas raised in Residents 

Survey, Shape survey and budget consultation. 

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief Exec)

Strategic Lead  - 

Service 

Improvement

Autumn 2022 Dec-22 N/A N/A Do not update this month Complete

Focus groups held and 

feedback report being used to 

shape next stages of customer 

journey work; and work 

around social isolation and 

loneliness (including scrutiny 

review).

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.6 New sub action: Procurement of Consultant to deliver regular residents' survey, budget consultation and Citizens' Space

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief Exec)

Strategic Lead  - 

Service 

Improvement

N/A New Action Added new action

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.7 New sub action: Consultation and Engagement Framework produced

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change (Chief Exec)

Strategic Lead  - 

Service 

Improvement

N/A New Action Added new action

P
age 46



January Update Due

Progress 

against 
Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date

Main Action 

Risk

Descripti

on

Status 

(Decemb

er 2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Customer Journey SD.F1.0
New Main Action:

Customer Journey Strategy

Director - Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Deputy Leader Director Business Strategy and Change
Strategic Lead - 

Customer
Oct-22 Aug-23 Medium Risk

Reputatio

nal 

damage if 

Customer 

Experienc

e isn't 

improved 

and the 

Council 

fails to 

meet 

Customer 

need & 

demand

Do not update this month

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 

months

Cabinet Priority Focus Session 

re: CJ in December 2022, next 

one due 7/2/23 and Cabinet 

have been surveyed re: 

feedback on Constituent 

experience, draft 

Commitments & Objectives.  

Next steps is for engagement 

sessions to be organised to 

ensure we capture 

Customer/Resident feedback 

to help us shape the Strategy.

P
age 47



Theme 5- Procurement & Commercial
January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Status (December 

2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Waste Contract

PC.A1.0 Introduction of a more focused framework for contract monitoring
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Autumn 2021 Aug-22 Medium Risk

Risk of service delivery 

being of a poor quality for 

waste collection / street 

cleansing.  Risk that 

contract monitoring does 

not drive service 

performance

Complete assurance actions in place Complete assurance actions in place

Waste Contract PC.A1.3
Assurance Action- Report provided to Officer Leadership on a quarterly basis. Regular 

reporting through PMF

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Feb-23 quarterly N/A N/a Assurance Action Due feb 23 Assurance Action Due feb 23

Waste Contract PC.A1.4
Assurance Action- Annual report on leisure and waste contracts going through to 

cabinet member

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Nov-22 annually N/A N/a Assurance Action Report made Nov 22 Assurance Action Due Nov 23

Waste Contract PC.A1.5
Assurance Action- The large contracts in BE for waste/street cleansing, and both 

leisure providers will be added to the Intend contract management module.

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
monthly N/A N/a Assurance Action Do not update this month Assurance Action

Work has started and is 

procured with Intend 

colleagues to complete full 

upload. 

Waste Contract

PC.A2.0
Review of the contract to refocus our communications and contract monitoring in 

areas of poor performance and to ensure the council receives the full provisions 

within the contract from Serco 

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Autumn 2021 Jan-23 Low Risk

Service capacity to 

procure and manage 

contract review.  

Mitigated by appointment 

of interim waste manager 

from 11th July 2022

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Waste Contract

PC.A2.3 Recommendations reviewed
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Oct-22 N/A N/A

On Track- little or no 

slippage

Ongoing contract analysis being 

undertaken by Friths
Complete

Final report received from 

Friths. LT briefing date tbc. 

Completed the review of 

recommendations

Waste Contract

PC.A2.4 Recommendations adopted, as appropriate
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Jan-23 N/A N/A Not due to start Not due to start

On Track- little or no 

slippage

Report received and LT briefing 

date due by mid Feb.

Waste Contract
PC.A2.5 Delivery of recommendations – as appropriate

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
TBC N/A N/A Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start

Waste Contract

PC.A3.0 Waste and Recycling Recovery Plan – completion and implementation
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Low Risk

Risk that Serco did not 

improve
N/A N/A N/A N/A

Waste Contract

PC.A4.0 Street Cleansing Recovery Plan – completion and implementation
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Autumn 2021 Mar-23 Medium Risk

Although an increase in 

complaints would be likely 

if performance for street 

cleansing is not improved, 

this would not have 

further more serious 

impact.

N/A N/A

Waste Contract

PC.A4.2 Recovery plan implemented
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
22-Oct Mar-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month

On Track- little or no 

slippage

In progress. No issues to report 

and on track for March 

completion

Waste Contract PC.A4.3
Assurance Action- Senior management meeting - annual plans requested- service delivery plan 

from SERCO is contractually compliant and includes elements of street cleansing.

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
22-Nov

quarterly (from 

Nov)

Nov

Feb

May

Aug

N/A n/a Assurance Action Due feb 23 Assurance Action Due feb 23

Waste Contract

PC.A5.0
Manage the delayed Serco Fleet replacement programme in line with the 

requirements of the contract

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Autumn 2021 Mid 2023 Medium Risk

May lead to some loss of 

service due to fleet 

unavailability

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Waste Contract PC.A5.2 Fleet replacement complete
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
Mid 2023 N/A N/A Do not update this month

On Track- little or no 

slippage

Fleet replacement plan in 

place. Next 42 street cleanings 

vehicles are due in following EV 

charging infrastructure. 10 RCV 

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

P
age 48



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Status (December 

2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Waste Contract PC.A5.3
Assurance Action- Monthly fleet steering group taking place where the  documentation 

considered by the group is contractually compliant.

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services
22-Nov quarterly N/A N/A Assurance Action Next update February 2023 Assurance Action Next update February 2023

SEND Transport PC.B1.0
Plan in place to ensure new contract commences prior to expiry of current arrangements and 

appropriate records in place
Director- Finance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – Children

& Education
Jan-22 Sep-22 Low Risk

Contracts commenced. 

Residual risk relates to 

contract monitoring 

arrangements.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

SEND Transport PC.B1.6 Contract Monitoring Arrangements in Place Director- Finance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Director – Children

& Education
Jan-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month

Medium Progress- 

actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 

months

Resources being identified for 

contract management support 

pending the creation of a 

corporate CM team. 

SEND Transport PC.B3.0
Procurement of 2024 SEND Transport Contract

Director - Children 

and Education
Nov-22 Sep-24 Low Risk

If SEND 2024 procurement 

does not adopt continuous 

improvement and apply 

learning from SEND 2 then 

there may be reputational 

damage and failure to 

maximise improvement 

opportunities

N/A n/a N/A n/a

SEND Transport PC.B3.1 Leadership review of lessons learnt from SEND 2
Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for 

Children and Education

Dept Leader

Director - Law & 

Governance

Director - Finance Group Head - 

Education

Sep-22 Nov-22 N/A
On Track- little or no 

slippage

A lessons learnt review meeting 

took place 6.12.22, the capture 

and report will be tabled at the 

Leadership Team in january 

2023.

Complete

Lessons learnt review has been 

completed and will be 

presented to IPRM 2nd Feb 

2023

SEND Transport PC.B3.2 Mobilise project team and establish project governance
Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for 

Children and Education

Dept Leader

Director - Law & 

Governance

Director - Finance Group Head - 

Education

Feb 2023 April 2023 N/A Not due to start not due to start Not due to start not due to start

SEND Transport PC.B3.3 Commence Procurement
Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for 

Children and Education

Dept Leader

Director - Law & 

Governance

Director - Finance
Group Head - 

Education

Spring 2023 Sep 2024 N/A Not due to start not due to start Not due to start not due to start

SEND Transport PC.B3.4 new sub action: Contract Monitoring Arrangements in Place Director- Finance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Director – Children

& Education
N/A New Action Added new action New Action Added new action

New System 

Procurement
PC.C1.0 Explore implementation of a corporate performance management system

Director- Business

Strategy & Change 

(Chied Exec)

Deputy Leader Jun-21 Low Risk

Not having the 

appropriate resource, both 

financial and employees, 

to support the 

implementation of new 

system

N/A N/A N/A N/A

New System 

Procurement
PC.C1.1 Options Appraisal

Director- Business

Strategy & Change 

(Chied Exec)

Deputy Leader

Strategic Lead - 

Service 

Improvement

Mar-23 N/A N/A

Medium Progress- 

actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 

months

Demonstration with a further 

provider took place in 

November. Verto capabilities 

are also being explored. Project 

to be scoped and specification 

drawn up.

Medium Progress- 

actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 

months

Additional capacity being 

secured to draw up project 

scope and specification from 

February 2023. This will build 

on soft market testing and 

exploration of Verto

New System 

Procurement
PC.C1.2 Business Case and Implementation Plan Considered

Director- Business

Strategy & Change 

(Chied Exec)

Deputy Leader

Strategic Lead - 

Service 

Improvement

TBC based on 

selected option
N/A N/A Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start Not due to start

New System 

Procurement
PC.C2.0 Procurement of new asset management system

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Autumn 2021 Dec-22 Low Risk
Procurement is on track 

but timetable is tight
N/A N/A N/A N/A

P
age 49



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner 

(if different)
Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Status (December 

2022)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and 

Date)(January 23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

New System 

Procurement
PC.C2.3 Implementation

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Mar-23 N/A N/A
On Track- little or no 

slippage

Phase 1 of the new Asset 

Database Go Live was 16 

December . The TF project has 

reached an important mile-

stone in its plan, which means 

Atrium data is now no longer 

live or usable and links to our 

current finance system tests 

have gone well. Those that 

required new user names and 

passwords for the system have 

been contacted.

Resourcing has been an issue 

for this project due to short 

term contracts meaning 

recruitment was a problem. To 

meet the deadline this project 

has been prioritised. Phase 2 

will start in January 2023

On Track- little or no 

slippage

Phase 2 tech Forge will look at 

the development of modules 

such as capital accounting, 

asbestos, fixed asset register 

etc. Kick off meeting to be held 

Thursday 19 January 2023 to 

identify workstreams, leads 

and timescales. Current 

completion date is 31 March 

2023

Lion farm PC.D1.0 Action plan to agree way forward and resolve matter

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Dec-21 Dec-23 Medium Risk

Medium Risk as the issues 

are subject to an external 

Expert Determination 

Process on the Lion Farm 

Option Agreement

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Lion farm PC.D1.4 Implement approved way forward

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and Growth
Feb-22 In progress N/A N/A

Medium Progress- 

actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 

months

Work is still being carried out 

by the Independent Expert, 

that has been appointed under 

the terms of the agreement. 

Directions have been issued, 

and in accordance with those 

directions, the anticipated date 

for resolution is 24th March 

2023. The council is preparing 

for a number of different 

scenarios dependant on 

outcome of the Expert 

determination process.

Medium Progress- 

actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 

months

Statement of facts were agreed 

19 December.

Each parties secondary option 

agreement due 27 January 23.

The anticipated date for 

resolution is 24th March 2023. 

Leisure Contract PC.E1.0
Governance arrangements to manage, develop and support the current and future delivery of 

leisure services across the borough, including the new Aquatic Centre

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism
Autumn 2021 May-23 Medium Risk

Some risks remain pending 

the fully established new 

LATC to manage the 

leisure facilities. Financial 

risks remain in relation to 

utilities in particular

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Leisure Contract PC.E1.5 Arrangement in place for future delivery of leisure facilities
Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism
May-23 N/A N/A Do not update this month

On Track- little or no 

slippage

Chief Officer has started. Clear 

project plan in place. Next 

milestone is Cabinet report due 

March 2023. Risk remains over 

utility contracts. Counsel advice 

received and being progressed 

with options for Members to 

consider.

Leisure Contract PC.E1.6 Add new action: Aquatic Centre Handover
Director - Borough 

Economy
Jul-23 N/A New Action Added new action

Asset Management PC.F1.0 New main action: Asset Management

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

23-Jan N/A n New Action Added

Asset Management PC.F1.1 New sub action: Implementation of Phase 2 Tech Forge

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

May-23 N/A N/a new action New Action Added new action

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

PC.F1.2 New sub action: Corporate Asset Management Strategy delivery plan in place
Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth
23-Jan  ongoing N/A N/A New Action Added New Action Added new action

P
age 50



Theme 6-Partnerships & Relationships
January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)
Start date Due date

Main 

Action 

Risk

Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and Date)(January 

23)

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.0

Continue with robust governance arrangements in place 

ensuring the accountability of SCT to deliver improved 

outcomes for children and young people in Sandwell in line 

with the contract

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Autumn 2021 Ongoing

Medium 

Risk

This is identified as a 

Corporate Risk - the contract 

between SCT and the Council 

is subject to review, the 

Council are embarking on a 

mid-point contract review 

with the Trust and the DfE - 

this will include revision on 

Key Performance indicators 

(KPIs) in line with approved 

government arrangements

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.2 KPI Suite reviewed

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Mar-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A On Track- little or no slippage As November update Complete KPI suite reviewed. 

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.3 Revised KPI suite agreed

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Summer 2022 Dec-22 N/A N/A On Track- little or no slippage As November update On Track- little or no slippage

14 of the 15 KPIs are agreed and 

the final KPI will be confirmed by 

the end of January 2023

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.4 Review of Contract concludes

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Dec-22 N/A N/A On Track- little or no slippage As November update Complete
Completed and submitted to the 

DfE. 

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.5 Contract Review with DfE

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Director – Finance Spring 23 N/A N/A Do not update this month On Track- little or no slippage
Review scheduled for 17 January 

2023

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.6

Contract commences

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Apr-23 Apr-23 N/A Not due to start due April 23 Not due to start due April 23

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A1.7

New KPIs reported through PMF

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Aug-23 Sep-23 N/A Not due to start due Sept 23 Not due to start due Sept 23

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A2.0

Establish and maintain positive relationship between SMBC 

and SCT at senior officer and member level

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Autumn 2021 Ongoing Low Risk

The introduction of monthly 4 

way meetings with the CE of 

the Trust, the Chair of the 

Trust, the Lead Cabinet 

Member and the DCS - this is 

supporting the further 

strengthening of the 

relationship between the 

Council and the Trust. 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A2.3

Assurance action:

Feedback provided on a 6 monthly basis on the continuation of 

regular cross - SMBC/SCT leadership team meetings.

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Jan

6 monthly

Jan 

July

N/A Assurance Action Next update due January 2023. Assurance Action

These meetings are scheduled in 

calendars and operate against a 

previously devised Terms of 

Reference

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

P
age 51



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)
Start date Due date

Main 

Action 

Risk

Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and Date)(January 

23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A3.0

Establish corporate approach to working with SCT on shared issues, 

such as corporate parenting and delivery of Early Help service

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education
Autumn 2021 Ongoing

Medium 

Risk

The  realignment of the new 

Children & Families Strategic 

Partnership (CaFSP) has 

enabled shared priorities to 

be developed and integrated 

across the wider children's 

partnership - this has led to an 

improved understanding of 

strategic planning including, 

though not limited to, the 

launch of the Early Help and 

Corporate Parenting 

Strategies.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Sandwell Children's 

Trust
PR.A3.3 Assurance action- Twice yearly performance reports tabled at 

Children and Education Scrutiny Board

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and 

Education

Apr-23 6 monthly N/A Assurance Action Due Apr 23 Assurance Action Due Apr 23

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.0 Continue to develop the relationship with and actively participate in 

regional and sub-regional bodies (e.g. WM Combined Authority, Black 

Country LEP) to maximise opportunities for Sandwell

Director- 

Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive
Jan-22

Medium 

Risk

Member input into key WMCA 

meetings needs to increase 

which is expected to with new 

Cabinet Member.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.6

Assurance Action: Update provided on a 6 monthly  basis by 

Director of Regen and Growth to confirm representation at key 

meetings continues and brings benefit to the council. Key 

meetings for Members to attend at sub regional and regional level 

are: ABCA Leaders; WMCA Board; WMCA Economic Growth 

Board; WMCA Housing and Land Board.

Director- 

Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council 

/

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Mar-23
6 monthly 

update
N/A N/A New Action Added Due Mar 23 Assurance Action Due Mar 23

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.0 Review partnership structures within the ‘People’s sphere’

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education 

/

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director-Adult Social 

Care

Director- Public Health

Medium 

Risk

Work is underway to review 

the governance 

arrangements. The children's 

safeguarding arrangements 

have been refreshed and 

discussions are underway in 

relation to aligning children 

and adults safeguarding 

arrangements. Further 

consideration is being given to 

the strategic connection 

across the 5 Board 

governance arrangements.

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.1

Partnership structures in relation to transition from children’s to 

adults in place

New action wording: Initiation of Project to review and remodel 

the pathway between children’s and adults’ services

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education /

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director-Adult Social 

Care

Director- Public Health

Dec-22 N/A N/A On Track- little or no slippage

The next planning meeting is 

scheduled in the spring - the 

group meets quarterly. 

Medium Progress- actual/ 

projected slippage of 1-2 months

RB: Initial meeting went ahead in 

December. PID reviewed and 

amendments being captured. 

Agreement reached to engage 

with key external stakeholders. 

The Trust's sign-off process 

incorporated into the Project 

Governance Structure.

The project manager 

appointment was delayed and 

the post re-advertised. Closing 

date 6 Jan.

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.2 b To broaden scope of partnership structures to explore the integration 

of adult services where appropriate

Director - Children 

and Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education /

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Feb-23 TBC N/A Not due to start Due Feb 23 Not due to start Due Feb 23

P
age 52



January Update Due

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Workstream Ref Action Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)
Start date Due date

Main 

Action 

Risk

Description Status (December 2022)
Update (Initial and 

Date)(December 22)
Status (January 2023)

Update (Initial and Date)(January 

23)

Dates Main Action RiskStatic data Owners

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.5

Assurance action: link to PC.C1.4

Receive a quarterly update from DPH and DAS to provide assurance 

that governance remains in place to test adequacy of partnerships 

through system-wide thematic deep dives and that any issues are 

being addressed by the partnership.

Director - Public 

Health

Director - Adult Social 

Care
Quarterly

Jan 23

Apr 23

July 23

Oct 23

N/A N/a Assurance Action Due Jan 23 Assurance Action Update required

VCS Relationships PR.D1.0
Relationship with Voluntary & Community Sector (VCS) and Funding 

to Voluntary & Community Sector.
Leadership Team

Cabinet Member for

Communities
Mar-22 Jul-23

Medium 

Risk

Missed opportunities around 

partnership and value for 

money: If the future 

relationship and the funding 

approach between the Council 

N/A N/A N/A N/A

VCS Relationships PR.D1.2 VCS Strategy formation commences Leadership Team
Cabinet Member for

Communities
Director - Housing 2023 2023 N/A N/A On Track- little or no slippage

Paper to VCS Strategy group 

being presented 16/12/22. Focus 

groups have been held and 

preparation of draft strategy has 

started.

Update required

P
age 53



RAG- action risk

RAG- progress against 

plan

Change 

Control 

input 

required Status

Low Risk On Track- little or no slippage Yes Open

Medium Risk Medium Progress- actual/ projected slippage of 1-2 monthsNo Closed

High Risk Significant issues / actual/projected slippage- more than 2 months

Complete Complete

Not due to start Not due to start

Closed Closed

N/A N/A

New Action Added

Assurance Action

Change to action description

Duplicate/ link to another action

Action on Hold

Look up page- do not use

Page 54



Theme decision Type of change

Organisational Culture Approve

Change of Delivery 

Lead(s) 

Corporate Oversight Reject

Change to delivery 

timescales (actions 

and milestones) 

Strategic Decision Defer

Change to resource / 

extra resource 

Decision Making

Changes to objectives 

and deliverables 

Procurement & Commercial Add - New Sub Actions

Partnership & Relationships Add- New Assurance Action

Add- New Main Action

Change to action description

Mistake on Document

Look up page- do not use

Page 55



Workstream Ref Action

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A1.0
Establish the desired organisational culture for 

Sandwell Council  

Establishing 

Organisational 

Culture

OC.A1.1
Phase 1  Engagement: Starting the 

Conversation  

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC. B1.0
Design and deliver Corporate Governance 

Training for Officers

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.1

Scope of Corporate Governance Training for 

Officers approved (including comprehensive 

finance and governance training tailored to those 

with different levels of financial responsibility)

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B1.4
Procurement of Delivery Partner (corporate 

governance training)

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.0
Develop a clear programme of management 

development

Theme 1 -Organisational Culture

Static data

Page 56



Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.2 Budget Holder Role Profile Approved

Officer

Learning and

Development

OC.B2.3
Incorporate training on company roles and 

responsibilities in senior officer development plan

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C1.0
Continue regular weekly meetings between 

Cabinet Members and Leadership Team 

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C1.2
Meeting structures to support regular dialogue 

between Senior Leadership (Officer and 

Member) confirmed for new Municipal Year 

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C2.0

Continue to adopt star chamber approach for 

Cabinet Members and Chief Officers as part of 

budget setting approach 

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C4.0 Ward and Casework Management 

Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C4.1
Process and approach review –completed as 

part of customer feedback review 

Page 57



Officer and 

Member 

Relationship 

OC.C4.2

Leadership Team conversation to identify 

mechanisms to embed and sustain the required 

approach and process forward and casework 

(linked to desired organisational culture)

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D1.0

Deliver Member Development Programme 

including Finance Training Programme

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D1.1 Service Showcase

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D1.2 New Member Induction

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D1.3 Approval of Member Development Programme

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D1.4 Deliver Member Development Programme

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.0

Design and deliver Corporate Governance 

Training for Members

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.1

Scope of Corporate Governance Training for 

Members approved

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D2.3

Procurement of delivery partner (for Corporate 

Governance Training)

Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D3.0

Continue forward plan for all Member briefings 

based on themes of work / areas for 

development

Page 58



Member Learning 

and Development
OC.D3.1

Forward Plan for All Member Briefings in place 

for new Municipal Year

Internal 

Communications
OC.E1.0

A clear and joint message from Chief 

Executive and Leader regarding

Officer and Elected Member relationship 

delivered

Employee 

Engagement
OC.F1.0

Actions to respond to employee survey 

outcomes to be identified and embedded in 

improvement plan

Chief Executive 

Recruitment
OC.F2.0

Recruitment of Chief Executive

Chief Executive 

Recruitment
OC.F2.1

Decision on the timescale to go out for advert for 

the permanent Chief Executive

Workstream Ref Action

Static data

Theme 2- Corporate Oversight

Page 59



ERP CO.A1.0

Implement Oracle Fusion

Simone - Harvinder is providing some high 

level milestones for inclusion in this section.

ERP CO.A1.1
Cabinet approval for action plan to continue 

implementation of Oracle Fusion

ERP CO.A1.2
Terminate implementation partner contract with 

InoApps

ERP CO.A1.3
Implement robust project management 

arrangements

ERP CO.A1.4
Review operational team to ensure there are 

appropriate resources in place during 

implementation phase

ERP CO.A1.5
Project management training for all of project 

team, including Project Sponsors

ERP CO.A1.6
Procure new support provider to deliver Oracle 

Fusion

ERP CO.A1.7
Support provider in place and delivery 

commences

Improvement 

Planning, 
CO.B1.0 Single Improvement Plan Phase 1

Improvement 

Planning, 

Monitoring and 

Learning

CO.B1.1 Council approval of Improvement Plan

Page 60



Improvement 

Planning, 

Monitoring and 

Learning

CO.B1.2 Commissioners Report prepared

Improvement 

Planning, 

Monitoring and 

Learning

CO.B1.3 Commissioners Report to Secretary of State

Performance 

Management
CO.C1.0 Performance Management Framework (PMF)

Performance 

Management
CO.C1.1 Council approval of PMF

Performance 

Management
CO.C1.2 Q1 performance report

Performance 

Management
CO.C2.0 Budget Monitoring

Performance 

Management
CO.C2.1 Report format agreed by Leadership Team

Performance 

Management
CO.C2.2 Q1 budget report to Leadership Team, Cabinet and Scrutiny

Performance 

Management
CO.C2.3 Monthly Budget monitoring

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D.2.0 Embedding Finance Business Partner role

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D2.1
Restructure of financial services section to provide a 

greater focus on business partnering completed

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D2.2 Expectations on financial services section established

Page 61



Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D2.4
KPIs and standards developed for financial services 

section

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.0 Reduction of financial transactional activity

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.1 Business process re-engineering resources approved

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D3.2 Review of internal charges

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.0
Resolve issues relating to the completion and sign off 

of final accounts.

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D.4.1 External review of 2020/21 Statement of Accounts

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.2
New suite of working papers to support the 2021/22 

year-end process agreed

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D.4.2 Additional resources in place for 2021/22 year-end process

Organisational

Structure

and Enabling

Corporate Core

CO.D4.3 Training for key members of the Finance Team complete

Programme and 

Project 

Management

CO.E1.0 Programme and Project Management

Programme and 

Project 

Management

CO.E1.1 Agree a Corporate approach to Project Management, including requirement of full business cases for major projects

Programme and 

Project 

Management

CO.E1.2 Suite of Programme and Project Documentation Agreed

Page 62



Customer Journey CO.F5.0
Customer Journey Programme 

Customer Journey CO.F5.1 Structure and Governance for Customer Experience 

Programme approved

Workstream Ref Action

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.0 Regen Pipeline Development and Delivery

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.1
Cabinet Approval of Regen Strategy and Pipeline 

2022-27

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.2 Pipeline projects monitored on a 6-monthly basis

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.3a
o Programme and Project Management 

Structures in place

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.3c o Project Management Software procurement

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A1.3d
o Microsite creation for information around 

priority projects for stakeholders

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.0
Corporate Asset Management Strategy 

Development

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.1 Work Place Vision

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.2
Confirmation of funding for remaining 

Workplace Vision components

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.3 Transforming Local Services

Static data

Theme 3 -Strategic Direction

Page 63



Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.4 Cabinet Workshop to provide steer

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.5 Options for hub locations identified

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.6 Asset Review

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.7 Procurement of asset database

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.9 Surplus Assets & commercial estate

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A2.10
Maximising Value out of surplus assets portfolio – 

Cabinet report

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A3.0
Communications and Corporate Affairs Strategy 

Development and Delivery

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A3.1 Corporate Communications Strategy approved

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A3.2

Communications Team restructure concluded to 

focus resources on key workstreams of 

Communications Strategy

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.0 Refresh and embed the Corporate Procurement Strategy

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.1 Procurement & Contract Procedure Rules approved

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A4.2 Training developed

Page 64



Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.0 HRA 30 year Business Plan

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A6.1 Review of compliance and stock data

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A8.0 Refresh Corporate Parenting Strategy

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A8.1 Re-focusing of strategic priorities

Strategy 

development and 

refresh

SD.A8.2 Corporate Parenting Strategy approved

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.0 Equality and Diversity

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.4 Equality Policy reviewed

Equality and 

Diversity
SD.B1.8 Review approach to Equality Impact Assessments

Locality

Working
SD.C1.0 Developing a model for locality working

Locality

Working
SD.C1.1 Cabinet Workshop to provide steer on community hubs model

Locality

Working
SD.C1.2 Pilot of Town Co-ordinator role commences

Page 65



Locality

Working
SD.C1.3

Customer Access Strategy Development Commences

Action to become main action SD.F1.0 within 

Customer Journey Workstream 'Customer Journey 

Strategy Approved'

Locality

Working
SD.C1.4 Business Cases for hub locations progressed, as appropriate

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.0

Fundamental review of the Medium Term Financial 

Plan (MTFP) and Capital Strategy

MTFP & Capital 

Strategy
SD.D1.1 Review concluded

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E1.0

Public Consultation to be carried out as part of 

budget process for 2023/24

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E1.1

Procurement concluded to provide capacity for a 

regular Resident’s Survey

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E1.2 Public Consultation undertaken

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.0

Incorporate Public Consultation Results into 

Performance Management Framework

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.1 First Resident’s Survey conducted

Consultation and 

Engagement
SD.E2.2 First report from Resident’s Survey

Workstream Ref Action

Static data

Theme 4 - Decision Making

Page 66



4 Yearly Election 

Cycle

DM.A1.0 Implement 4-yearly election cycle

4 Yearly Election 

Cycle
DM.A1.1 Options Paper to Leadership Team

4 Yearly Election 

Cycle

DM.A1.2 Council Decision to implement

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.0
In-depth review and revision to Corporate 

Governance Documents

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.2
Revised Procurement and Contract Procedure 

Rules agreed

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.4 Revised Council Procedure Rules

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.5 Revised Sale of Land and Buildings Protocol

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B1.6 Revised Scheme of Delegations agreed

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B2.0
Refresh existing arrangements for arms-

length companies

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B2.1
Identify existing arms-length companies, 

company directors and company administration

Page 67



Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B2.2
Conduct review to ensure appropriate resources 

are allocated to these organisations

Constitution and 

Governance 

Framework

DM.B2.3 Implement annual reporting arrangements

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C1.0
Refresh decision making-arrangements 

including the role of Scrutiny

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C1.1 Review of scrutiny arrangements

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C1.2 Scrutiny Work Planning event

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C1.3
Approval of any changes to scrutiny (if required 

following review)

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C.2.0
Implementation of Scrutiny Recommendations 

relating to key issues

Role and Function 

of Scrutiny and 

Audit

DM.C2.1
SEND Transport recommendations relating to 

procurement concluded

Workstream Ref Action

Theme 5- Procurement & Commercial

Static data

Page 68



Waste Contract

PC.A1.0
Introduction of a more focused framework for 

contract monitoring

Waste Contract PC.A1.1 Contract Monitoring Framework agreed

Waste Contract PC.A1.2
Contract Management framework in place and 

embedded in PMF reporting – (in line with Q1)

Waste Contract

PC.A2.0

Review of the contract to refocus our 

communications and contract monitoring in 

areas of poor performance and to ensure the 

council receives the full provisions within the 

contract from Serco 

Waste Contract
PC.A2.1 Procurement of support to review contract

Waste Contract PC.A2.2 Review of contract completed

Waste Contract

PC.A3.0
Waste and Recycling Recovery Plan – 

completion and implementation

Waste Contract PC.A3.1 Implementation Complete

Waste Contract

PC.A4.0
Street Cleansing Recovery Plan – completion 

and implementation

Waste Contract

PC.A4.1
Recovery Plan approved by Waste Management 

Board

Waste Contract

PC.A5.0

Manage the delayed Serco Fleet replacement 

programme in line with the requirements of the 

contract

Waste Contract
PC.A5.1 Fleet replacement schedule in place

SEND Transport PC.B1.0

Plan in place to ensure new contract commences 

prior to expiry of current arrangements and 

appropriate records in place

SEND Transport PC.B1.1 Cabinet approval

Page 69



SEND Transport PC.B1.2 Procurement commenced

SEND Transport PC.B1.3 Procurement published for framework

SEND Transport PC.B1.4 Expiry of current arrangements – end of 2021-22 Academic Year

SEND Transport PC.B1.5 New contract in place

SEND Transport PC.B2.0
Implementation of recommendations from Audit and 

Scrutiny in relation to SEND Transport

SEND Transport PC.B2.1
Scrutiny Recommendations embedded in plans for 

new arrangements

SEND Transport PC.B2.2

Update to Education Scrutiny

SEND Transport PC.B2.3
Recommendations related to procurement 

embedded in procurement process

SEND Transport PC.B2.4 ARAC recommendations implemented

New System 

Procurement
PC.C2.0 Procurement of new asset management system

New System 

Procurement
PC.C2.1 Market Research

Page 70



New System 

Procurement
PC.C2.2 Procurement Concluded

Lion farm PC.D1.0 Action plan to agree way forward and resolve matter

Lion farm PC.D1.1 Brief Cabinet on options

Lion farm PC.D1.2 Presentation of proposal by developer to Cabinet

Lion farm PC.D1.3 Options appraisal report to Cabinet for approval of way forward

Lion farm PC.D1.5
Responsibilities of both council and developer 

clarified within action plan

Leisure Contract PC.E1.0

Governance arrangements to manage, develop and 

support the current and future delivery of leisure 

services across the borough, including the new 

Aquatic Centre

Leisure Contract PC.E1.1 Governance arrangements in place

Leisure Contract PC.E1.2 Termination of existing Contract

Leisure Contract PC.E1.3 Step-in provider in place

Leisure Contract PC.E1.4
Option appraisal for future facility management 

options– Cabinet report

Workstream Ref Action

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A1.0

Continue with robust governance 

arrangements in place ensuring the 

accountability of SCT to deliver improved 

outcomes for children and young people in 

Sandwell in line with the contract

Static data

Theme 6-Partnerships & Relationships

Page 71



Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A1.1

Performance reporting embedded within Council 

PMF

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A2.0

Establish and maintain positive relationship 

between SMBC and SCT at senior officer and 

member level

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A2.1

Continuation of regular cross- SMBC/SCT 

Leadership meetings in place (including Chair of 

Trust Board, Lead Member, CEO of the Trust 

and DCS)

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A2.2

Confirm Member participation in Governance 

Arrangements for new Municipal Year

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A3.0

Establish corporate approach to working with SCT on 

shared issues, such as corporate parenting and 

delivery of Early Help service

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A3.1

Continuation of arrangements for strategic 

priorities to be shared across the partnership and 

include a series of joint work. Initial focus areas 

are corporate parenting and early help.

Sandwell 

Children's Trust
PR.A3.2

Assurance that approach to working together is 

effective through regular programme of 

performance reports

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.0

Continue to develop the relationship with and 

actively participate in regional and sub-regional 

bodies (e.g. WM Combined Authority, Black Country 

LEP) to maximise opportunities for Sandwell

Page 72



Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.1

Officer representation agreed to attend key 

meetings and a clear agenda set for each forum

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.2

Sandwell asks of trailblazer devolution deal 

agreed

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.3 Participation in Investor Conference

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.4 CRSTS allocation (transport) approved by CA Board

Regional and Sub-

Regional presence
PR.B1.5

Member representation to attend key meetings 

agreed and agenda for each forum shared

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.0

Review partnership structures within the ‘People’s 

sphere’

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.2

Initial scoping of work with partners around 

partnership structures in the children’s sphere

Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.3

Develop Health & Wellbeing Strategy that builds on 

existing whole system approach to addressing health 

inequalities

Page 73



Effective Local 

Structures
PR.C1.4

Test adequacy of partnerships and integration through 

Health Outcomes Framework and system-wide 

thematic deep dives

VCS Relationships PR.D1.0
Relationship with Voluntary & Community Sector 

(VCS) and Funding to Voluntary & Community Sector.

VCS Relationships PR.D1.1 Corporate review of grant funding

Page 74



Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads Update Owner (if different)

Director – Business 

Strategy and Change 
Deputy Leader

Head of HR

Director – Business 

Strategy and Change 
Deputy Leader Head of HR

Director – Business 

Strategy and Change 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance   

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director – 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change 

Director - 

Finance

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director – 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change 

Director – Business 

Strategy and Change 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  

Theme 1 -Organisational Culture

Owners

Page 75



Director - Finance  Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance  Finance Improvement 

Manager

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Head of HR

HR Team Manager 

L&D/OD

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council

Director- Law 

& Governance 

Chief 

Executive 

Leader 

Cabinet 

Members 

Leadership 

Team  

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance 

Chief Executive 

Leader 

Cabinet 

Members 

Leadership 

Team  

Director - Finance  Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- 

Business Strategy 

& Change

Page 76



Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- 

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council Director- Finance

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council Director- Finance

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council Director- Finance

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council

Page 77



Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance 
Leader of the Council

Head of 

Communications

Director – Business 

Strategy and Change 
Deputy Leader

Commissioner Leader of the Council

Commissioner Leader of the Council Head of HR

Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)

Owners

Theme 2- Corporate Oversight

Page 78



Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business 

Strategy & 

Change

Director- Law

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Director-

Business Strategy 

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Director-

Business Strategy 

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy 

& Change

Director- Law

Leadership Team Leader of the Council

Leadership team Leader of the Council
Strategic Lead: Service 

Improvement

Page 79



Commissioners Leader of the Council
Chief Of Staff- 

Commissioner Team

Commissioners Leader of the Council
Chief Of Staff- 

Commissioner Team

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Strategic Lead: Service 

Improvement

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Strategic Lead: Service 

Improvement

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Page 80



Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Finance 

Improvement 

Manager

Finance Improvement 

Manager

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Page 81



Director-

Business Strategy & Change
Deputy Leader

Transformation 

Programme Manager

Director-

Business Strategy & 

Change

Deputy Leader
Transformation 

Programme Manager

Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and 

Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and 

Growth

Service Manager- 

Strategic Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Owners

Theme 3 -Strategic Direction

Page 82



Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Director -

Housing (update 

required from 

both directors)

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director-

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for 

Regeneration and Growth

Service Manager- Strategic 

Asset & Land

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Interim Procurement 

Strategy Manager

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Interim Procurement 

Strategy Manager

Director- Finance Deputy Leader
Interim Procurement 

Strategy Manager

Page 83



Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing

Assistant 

Directors - 

Housing 

Management 

and Asset 

Management

Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing

AD, Asset 

Management 

and 

Improvement

Director- Children

& Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director- Children

& Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director- Children

& Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law &

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Housing
Cabinet Member for 

Housing

Director – 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Director- Housing Cabinet Member for Housing

Director – 

Business Strategy 

and Change

Director- Housing Cabinet Member for Housing

Director – 

Business Strategy 

and Change

Page 84



Director- Housing Cabinet Member for Housing

Director – 

Business Strategy 

and Change

Director- Housing Cabinet Member for Housing

Director – 

Business Strategy 

and Change

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director 

Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Director- Finance Deputy Leader

Director Business 

Strategy and 

Change

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director - Business 

Strategy and Change
Leader of the Council

Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)

Owners

Theme 4 - Decision Making

Page 85



Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Regeneration & 

Growth
Leader of the Council

Service Manager- 

Strategic Asset & Land

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Governance and 

Business Support 

Principal Lead & 

Solicitor

Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Page 86



Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Leader of the Council

Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Director- Law & 

Governance
Deputy Leader

Director- 

Children & 

Education 

Scrutiny

Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)

Theme 5- Procurement & Commercial

Owners

Page 87



Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for

Environment Services

Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Page 88



Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Finance
Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Law &

Governance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Scrutiny

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Law &

Governance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Scrutiny

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Law &

Governance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Scrutiny

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Law &

Governance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Scrutiny

Director – 

Children

& Education

Director- Law &

Governance

Dept Leader /

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director – 

Children

& Education

ARAC

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Page 89



Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and Growth

Director –

Regeneration &

Growth

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and Growth

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism

Director - Borough 

Economy

Cabinet Member for 

Leisure and Tourism

Director Lead Cabinet Member Other Leads
Update Owner (if 

different)

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Owners

Theme 6-Partnerships & Relationships

Page 90



Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education

Director- Regeneration 

& Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Page 91



Director- Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Director- Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Director- Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Director- Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Director- Regeneration & 

Growth

Leader of the Council /

Cabinet Member for

Regeneration and 

Growth

Cabinet

Chief Executive

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education 

/

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director-Adult 

Social Care

Director- Public 

Health

Director - Children and 

Education

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education /

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director-Adult 

Social Care

Director- Public 

Health

Director-Adult Social Care

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education /

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director- Public 

Health

Page 92



Director-Adult Social Care

Cabinet Member for

Children and Education /

Cabinet Member for

Adults, Social Care and 

Health

Director- Public 

Health

Leadership Team
Cabinet Member for

Communities

Director - Housing
Cabinet Member for

Communities

Page 93



Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

 May 2022 Dec 2022  Low Risk
Failure to agree desired organisational 

culture

Jun 2022  Jul 2022  N/A N/A

Low Risk
Failure to deliver required training 

within agreed timescales

May-22 Jun-22 N/A N/A

Jun-22 Aug-22 N/A N/A

Low Risk
Lack of engagement from managers 

with the programme 

Theme 1 -Organisational Culture

Main Action RiskDates

Page 94



May-22 N/A N/A

Aug-22 Dec-22 N/A N/A

Low Risk

If formalised meeting structures aren't 

in place, opportunities may be missed 

for issues to be discussed. Other regular 

meetings are taking place. 

May 2022  Jun 2022  N/A N/A

 2021 
Summer 

2022 
Low Risk On track

 May 2022 Oct 2022  Medium Risk

Risk relates to reputational harm where 

Members are unable to have their case 

work addressed in a timely manner

Complete N/A N/A

Page 95



N/A N/A

Medium Risk

If we do not ensure Members have the 

required knowledge and skills to 

undertake their roles, the Council is at 

risk of not delivering its priorities and is 

at risk of challenge around decision 

18-May-22 N/A N/A

May-22 Jun-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22 Jul-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22 Mar-23 N/A N/A

Medium Risk

If there is insufficient understanding of 

corporate governance arrangements, 

this will leave the Council open to 

reputational and potential legal 

challenge.

Mar-22 Jun-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22 Sep-22 N/A N/A

Low Risk

Risk relates to insufficient forward 

planning leading to missed 

opportunities 

Page 96



May-22 Jun-22 N/A N/A

Dec-22 Dec-22 Low Risk
Failure to successfully complete the 

action.

May-22 Aug-22 Medium Risk

Lack of engagement from individual 

directorates in identifying required 

actions 

By Sept 

2023
Medium Risk

Failure to recruit a suitable candidate 

leading to prolonged intervention

Autumn 

2022 
N/A N/A

Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Dates Main Action Risk

Theme 2- Corporate Oversight

Page 97



Dec-21

TBC (once 

Date is 

know this 

can be 

added to 

the IP 

monitoring 

tool)

Medium Risk

Implementation date depends on 

Support Implementor contract and 

mobilisation. Likely to be at least 12 

month implementation from 

mobilisation of new SI contract. 

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Jul-22 N/A N/A

Aug-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22

TBC (once 

Date is 

know this 

can be 

added to 

the IP 

monitoring 

tool)

N/A N/A

Mar-22 Jun-22 Low Risk
IP approved by Council in June. 

Remaining risks relate to effective 

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Page 98



by 22 June 

2022
N/A N/A

by 22 June 

2022
N/A N/A

Sep-22 Ongoing High Risk

Risks relate to capacity to embed PMF. 

Council approval of resources in June. 

Recruitment underway.

Complete N/A N/A

Aug-22 N/A N/A

Mar-22 Ongoing Low Risk

Risk of untimely monitoring or lack of 

corporate oversight of the budget 

position impacting on effective decision 

making

Complete N/A N/A

Aug-22 N/A N/A

Ongoing N/A N/A

Jan-22 Aug-22 Low Risk
Risk relating to missed opportunities 

and inefficiency

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Page 99



Oct-22 N/A N/A

Jan-22 Mar-23 Low Risk
risk relating to missed opportunities and 

inefficiency

Complete N/A N/A

Oct-22 N/A N/A

Jan-22 May-22 Medium Risk Some progress made

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Dec-21 Late 2022 Medium Risk

Failure to embed consistent approach 

which provides appropriate oversight of 

all key projects and consistent approach 

to their management

Complete N/A N/A

May-22 N/A N/A

Page 100



Neil: could you please provide a risk 

rating and description for this new 

workstream

22-Sep Oct-22 N/A

Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Autumn 

2021
Apr-27 Low Risk

Clear progress on key Pipeline projects; 

governance arrangements being 

finalised.

Complete N/A N/A

Ongoing N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Nov-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Sep-22 Medium Risk

If timescales are not met, there will be a 

period during which the Council will not 

have a fit-for-purpose asset database

x N/A N/A

Autumn 22 

linked to 

MTFP

N/A N/A

x N/A N/A

Dates Main Action Risk

Theme 3 -Strategic Direction

Page 101



Mar-22 Complete N/A N/A

Jun-22 Sep-22 N/A N/A

x N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

N/A N/A

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Low Risk Failure to deliver against strategy 

Complete N/A N/A

May-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Jul-22 Low Risk

May-22 N/A N/A

Aug-22 Oct-22 N/A N/A

Page 102



Autumn 

2021
Apr-23 Low Risk

Plan is necessary for long term planning 

but delivery of asset improvements still 

continues without the plan

May-22 N/A N/A

Jan-22 Sep-22 Medium Risk

The Corporate Parenting Strategy Board 

are considering the refresh of the 

current strategy ahead of the 

implementation in September 2022. 

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Medium Risk

If the Council does not comply with the 

Equality Act 2010 there is a risk of 

reputational damage.

May-22 Oct-22 N/A N/A

Summer 

2022

Autumn 

2022
N/A N/A

Mar-22 TBC Medium Risk
Locality working model is linked to 

community hubs being progressed.

Complete Complete N/A N/A

Summer 

2022

Summer 

2022
N/A N/A

Page 103



Sep-22 Sep-22 N/A N/A

Sep-22 Spring 2023 N/A N/A

Jan-22
Autumn 

2022
Low Risk

Risk of missed opportunities and 

inefficiencies

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Jan-22
Autumn 

2022
Low Risk

Risk that budget decisions do not give 

consideration to residents views and 

priorities

May-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2022

Autumn 

2022
N/A N/A

Autumn 

2022
May-23 Medium Risk

Unable to secure representative sample 

of residents to respond to consultations 

and survey

Autumn 

2022

Autumn 

2022
N/A N/A

Autumn 

2022

Autumn 

2022
N/A N/A

Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Dates Main Action Risk

Theme 4 - Decision Making

Page 104



May-22 Sep-23 Medium Risk

If we don't reach a decision in October, 

then there will be a reputational risk 

associated with delaying making a 

decision

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Nov-22 N/A N/A

Dec-21 Oct-22 Medium Risk

If Corporate Governance Documents 

are not updated, then other 

improvement work with Members and 

Officers will be adversely impacted.

Jul-22 N/A N/A

Nov-22 N/A N/A

Aug-22 N/A N/A

Nov-22 N/A N/A

Jan-22 Jul-22 Low Risk

If we don't ensure that there is sufficient 

governance and oversight, it can lead to 

significant and/or unintended consequences for 

the organisation e.g. reputational issues, Council 

not discharging legal obligations.

Apr-22 Apr-22 N/A N/A

Page 105



May-22 Jul-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22 N/A N/A

Dec-21 Jul-22 Medium Risk

If there isn't an effective overview and 

scrutiny function in place, then the 

Council decision-making will not be as 

effective as it can be.

Nov-22 N/A N/A

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Oct-22

2023  

(specific 

timescale 

for 

implementa

tion will be 

determined 

once review 

concluded)

N/A N/A

Dec-21 Sep-22 Medium Risk

If we don't implement scrutiny 

recommendations, this undermines the 

Council's decision making and leaves 

the Council open to risk and challenge

Early 2022 Sep-22 N/A N/A

Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Theme 5- Procurement & Commercial

Dates Main Action Risk

Page 106



Autumn 

2021
Aug-22 Medium Risk

Risk of service delivery being of a poor 

quality for waste collection / street 

cleansing.  Risk that contract monitoring 

does not drive service performance

Complete N/A N/A

Aug-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Jan-23 Low Risk

Service capacity to procure and manage 

contract review.  Mitigated by 

appointment of interim waste manager 

from 11th July 2022

May-22 N/A N/A

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Low Risk Risk that Serco did not improve

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Mar-23 Medium Risk

Although an increase in complaints 

would be likely if performance for street 

cleansing is not improved, this would 

not have further more serious impact.

Oct-22 Low Risk

Risk of service delivery being of a poor 

quality for waste collection / street 

cleansing.  Risk that contract monitoring 

does not drive service performance

Autumn 

2021
Mid 2023 Medium Risk

May lead to some loss of service due to 

fleet unavailability

Complete N/A N/A

Jan-22 Sep-22 Low Risk

MJ to review: Contracts commenced.

(Prev risk drafted as follows: On track. 

Tender offer letters have been issued 

(10 day standstill period).

Complete N/A N/A

Page 107



Complete N/A N/A

May-22 N/A N/A

Jul-22 N/A N/A

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Sep-22 Medium Risk

If we don't implement scrutiny and 

ARAC recommendations, this 

undermines the Council's decision 

making and leaves the Council open to 

risk and challenge

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Sep-22 N/A N/A

Oct-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Dec-22 Low Risk

Procurement is on track but timetable is 

tight

Complete N/A N/A

Page 108



Complete N/A N/A

Dec-21 Dec-23 Medium Risk

Medium Risk as the issues are subject to 

an external Expert Determination 

Process on the Lion Farm Option 

Agreement

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Est. Dec 

2022
N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
May-23 Medium Risk

Some risks remain pending the fully 

established new LATC to manage the 

leisure facilities

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Summer 

2022
N/A N/A

Start date Due date Main Action Risk Description

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Medium Risk

This is identified as a Corporate Risk - 

the contract between SCT and the 

Council is subject to review, the Council 

are embarking on a mid-point contract 

review with the Trust and the DfE - this 

will include revision on Key 

Performance indicators (KPIs) in line 

with approved government 

arrangements

Dates Main Action Risk

Theme 6-Partnerships & Relationships

Page 109



Jan-22

Aug 2022 

and then 

quarterly

N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Low Risk

The introduction of monthly 4 way 

meetings with the CE of the Trust, the 

Chair of the Trust, the Lead Cabinet 

Member and the DCS - this is supporting 

the further strengthening of the 

relationship between the Council and 

the Trust. 

Ongoing N/A N/A

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Autumn 

2021
Ongoing Medium Risk

The  realignment of the new Children & 

Families Strategic Partnership (CaFSP) 

has enabled shared priorities to be 

developed and integrated across the 

wider children's partnership - this has 

led to an improved understanding of 

strategic planning including, though not 

limited to, the launch of the Early Help 

and Corporate Parenting Strategies.

Ongoing N/A N/A

Aug 2022 

and then 

ongoing

N/A N/A

Jan-22 Medium Risk

Member input into key WMCA meetings 

needs to increase which is expected to 

with new Cabinet Member.

Page 110



Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Complete N/A N/A

Jun-22 N/A N/A

Medium Risk

Work is underway to review the 

governance arrangements. The 

children's safeguarding arrangements 

have been refreshed and discussions 

are underway in relation to aligning 

children and adults safeguarding 

arrangements. Further consideration is 

being given to the strategic connection 

across the 5 Board governance 

arrangements.

Mar-22 Sep-22 N/A N/A

Apr-22 Jul-22 N/A N/A

Page 111



Apr-22 Jul-22 N/A N/A

Mar-22 Jul-05 Medium Risk

Missed opportunities around 

partnership and value for money: If the 

future relationship and the funding 

approach between the Council and the 

VCS is not determined, there will be 

missed opportunities to harness the 

strengths of the VCS in support of 

Council priorities and/or missed 

opportunities to deliver value for 

money and a consistent approach 

through grants/commissioned VCS 

services

Mar-22 Sep-22 N/A N/A

Page 112



Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

N/A N/A

Complete

Phase 1 marked as complete. Phase 1 

included the initial scoping of the 

approach to be taken to determining 

the desired organisational culture 

and initial communication and 

engagement with staff ahead of 

Phase 2 (detailed engagement). 

Phase 2 commenced with the 

listening group exercises.

N/A N/A

Complete

Scope of training agreed and being 

delivered as an ongoing programme 

linked to constitutional approvals.

Complete

Beth Evans Consulting will be 

delivering training Nov/Dec. Date to 

be confirmed. PMO comment: Action 

marked as complete as procurement 

took place within timescale. New 

action proposed to reflect the 

delivery of training (see OC.B1.7)

N/A N/a

Theme 1 -Organisational Culture

Page 113



Complete complete

Complete

Due diligence work carried out 

between L&D and Democratic 

Services/External legal provider to 

identify current Directors with 

company roles - none currently are in 

scope as Company directors. the 

training is currently for Members 

only (DS 17.10.22) In future, in the 

event that any officers are 

appointed, training will be offered at 

this point.

N/A N/A

Complete
In place for Municipal Year and no 

issues arising. 

Complete

Star Chambers all completed by 28th 

September. PMO note: proposed 

closure of main action. Added to 

Change control

N/a

Main action around ward and 

casework management to be 

incorporated within new 

workstream focusing on customer 

experience- noted on change 

control

Complete Complete

Page 114



Complete

This sub-action is to be closed. Main 

action around ward and casework 

management to be incorporated 

within new workstream focusing on 

customer journey

N/a N/A

Complete Complete

Complete complete

Complete Complete

Complete

This has moved into regular business 

of the Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee. They 

review the MDP. Immediate 

requirements have been met for the 

purposes of the IP. ES&MDC review 

on a regular basis. Evidence base is 

the minutes of the committee.

N/A N/A

Complete complete

Complete
Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

are providing training in Nov.

N/A N/A

Page 115



Complete

Latest briefing took place 18/10. 

Forward plan in place. No issues 

arising. 

Complete

Comms messages have taken place 

and training sessions held have 

reinforced the messages around the 

relationship. Approach to action has 

been different to how drafted. 

Attendance records and engagement 

with training help demonstrate that 

Complete

Leadership Team considered action 

plan in response to Employee 

Engagement Survey 18/10. Series of 

actions to respond already included 

within Organisational Culture Theme. 

EES specific action plan in place 

containing corporate actions and 

Directorate-specific actions. Actions 

around staff conference and formal 

employee recognition scheme have 

been added to OC.E2 above. EES 

Action plan will be monitored twice a 

year. New action added (Corporate 

Oversight: CO.B3) to ensure 

monitoring is taking place.

N/A

Complete
Roll out to advert. Closing date 12 

September.Apllications received

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

Theme 2- Corporate Oversight

Page 116



N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Page 117



Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete

RJ 17.10.22: Q1 report considered by 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 

Management Board 13/10/22. All 

Member briefing on Q1 report held 

18/10/22. Preparations underway for 

Q2 report to Cabinet in December. 

New action required to capture 

ongoing quarterly reporting. 

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Page 118



Complete

Agreed timetable for distribution of 

monitoring reports, new standard 

format for reports to budget holders 

from month 7 as per AD Finance 

email to leadership team on 20.10.22

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Page 119



N/A

New Action Added

Action added retrospectively and is 

complete. Governance and Structure 

agreed by Leadership Team 18/10

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

On Track- little or no slippage

April- September update due. First 

update report across the 63 projects 

in the pipeline. Aiming for scrutiny 

and Cabinet in November/December 

Complete complete

Complete complete

Complete

Website launched on 31 October 

after by-election ad featured in the 

Message to All Council Staff as an 

item. 

N/A N/A

N/A N/A

Complete

Workplace vision has been closed. 

New corporate asset management 

strategy sets out the  priorities. 

N/A N/A

Theme 3 -Strategic Direction

Page 120



Complete Complete

Duplicate/ link to another action

The locations have been identified 

and agreed as per the Cabinet 

Workshop; report setting out this 

detail will formally be approved at 16 

November Cabinet when this action 

can then be closed off.

Action has now been incorporated 

within the Customer Journey 

Workstream and will be progressed 

through that programme (CO.D5)

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

N/A

Closed

The surplus assets report is 

incorporated within the Corporate 

Asset Management Strategy. (Action 

below) 

On Track- little or no slippage

Proposals from LT paper 20/09 

progressing. Milestones around 

internal comms added to OCE.2

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete complete

Complete

Page 121



N/A N/A

closed closed

N/A N/A

Complete

The strategy has been circulated and 

agreed by corporate parenting board 

members

Complete

The strategy has been circulated and 

agreed by corporate parenting board 

members- assurance action to be 

added to the Improvement plan

N/A N/A

Complete complete

Complete

Review completed. Guidance on 

EIAs has been updated on the 

intranet.

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Action on Hold

Pilot of town co-ordinator role was 

unsuccessful. Approach to locality 

working is now being considered by 

Cabinet and Leadership Team in 

conjunction with the Customer First 

priority. A set of new actions has 

been included within the new 

customer journey workstream within 

corporate oversight theme 

Page 122



On Track- little or no slippage

The development of the customer 

journey strategy has commenced and 

is incorporated within the customer 

journey programme (within 

Corporate Oversight theme). This 

action to be amended to become a 

main action 'Customer Journey 

Strategy'. Milestones tbc.

Duplicate/ link to another action

Not going to Cabinet in November as  

more work needs to be done as part 

of the customer journey programme. 

PMO comment: Incorporated within 

Customer Journey Workstream in 

Corporate Oversight Theme

N/A N/A

Complete

 On track to go to November Cabinet - 

LT reviewed draft today - review 

complete. 

N/A N/A

Complete complete

Complete

N/A N/A

Complete

Complete complete

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

Theme 4 - Decision Making

Page 123



N/A N/A

Complete Complete

On Track- little or no slippage On track for Nov Council. 

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Significant issues / actual/projected 

slippage- more than 2 months

On track for Nov Council. 

Note: July commentary and update 

was not correct (incorrectly stated 

that council procedure rules were 

approved at Council in July). Should 

have been included in August Change 

Control as a change from July to 

October. NB Action will therefore flag 

as red progress due to July date. 

Further impacted by by-election

Complete complete

Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months
On track for Nov Council. 

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Page 124



Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Medium Progress- actual/ projected 

slippage of 1-2 months
On track for Nov Council. 

Complete Complete

On Track- little or no slippage Will follow DM.C1.1 

N/A N/A

On Track- little or no slippage

The recommendations from C&E 

Scrutiny Board are being monitored 

and will be updated at the next 

Scrutiny Board 14 November 2022. 

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

Theme 5- Procurement & Commercial

Page 125



Complete complete

Complete complete

Complete complete

N/A N/A

Complete complete

Complete
Initial review report received end 

sept 22 

N/A N/A

Complete complete

N/A

Complete

Revised plan following SMBC 

feedback to be presented to Waste 

Board 19 Oct  2022

N/A

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Page 126



Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete

All new contracts issued and 

accepted by operators new 

framework commenced 1.9.22

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete

The recommendations from C&E 

Scrutiny Board are being monitored 

and will be updated at the next 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 

Management Board meeting.

Complete

Procurement concluded. When 

subsequent internal audit report into 

SEND Transport Procurement is 

conducted (March 2023), this will be 

reported to ARAC as part of BAU 

reporting on audit work programme.

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Page 127



Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete complete

N/A N/A

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Progress against plan Evidence of status rating

Status (October 2022)
Update (Initial and Date)(October 

22)

N/A N/A

Theme 6-Partnerships & Relationships

Page 128



Complete

Completed - included in the PMF.

N/A N/A

Complete

Meetings scheduled with Trust, 

SMBC and Councillor Hackett - Lead 

Member. Assurance action to be 

added to Improvement plan

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete

All strategic priorities agreed and 

monitored through Children and 

Families strategic partnership

Complete

This assurance is in place as part of 

the governance arrangements (as 

part of the contract) and include the 

Operational Partnership Board, 

Strategic Partnership Board, SCT 

Improvement Board and twice yearly 

updates to Children and Education 

Scrutiny Board.

N/A N/A

Page 129



Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

Complete Complete

N/A N/A

Complete

Initial discussions with partnership 

has been completed. Now looking to 

extend discussion to include adults. -

new action to be added- PR.C1.5

Complete

Corporate Plan Monitoring within 

PMF is providing progress updates 

and is tracking outcomes achieved 

relating to health inequalities.  

Page 130



Improvement Plan Theme Progress Summary January 2023 
 
 
 

    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

Organisational 
Culture  
 

 
 
 

Summary Statement:  
 
Slippage is being experienced in two area that are classed as 
medium risk. 1 sub action is rated medium slippage and the 
other sub action is rated significant slippage. 
 
Of the 12 main action areas, there are: 

• zero main actions with a red risk rating,  

• 7 main actions with an amber risk rating,  

• 4 main actions with a green risk rating. 
 
Of the 5 actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 1 live sub-actions to deliver the action ison track 
 

• 1 sub-action has or will experience medium slippage 
or issues. This relates to: 

 
Workforce Strategy approved (dates to be re-profiled to 

May). 

o  Scope and drafting have commenced. Many priority 

workstreams are already in progress. Working 

towards Cabinet sign off in May 

 

January  

• Regular meetings of 
Commissioners, 
Monitoring Officer, 
Section 151 Officer, 
and Chief Whips 
commence  

• Mentoring 
Programme with 
LGA is ongoing 

 
November  

• New Chief Exec 
recruited- start date 
6th February 2023 

• Corporate parenting 
training held- 
November 2022 

 
October 

• Member 
Development 

• Phase 2 
engagement to  
determine desired 
culture – in final 
stages 

• Corporate 
Governance 
Training Delivery - 
Autumn 2022 -
Commenced   

• Approval of 
document / 
statement setting 
out desired 
organisational 
culture – Due at 
Cabinet in March 
2023   

• Workforce Strategy 
– due May 2023 

   
 

Complete:  

P
age 131



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• 1 sub-actions have or will experience significant 

slippage or issues 
 

Design and Deliver Corporate Governance Training: 
Effective Decision Making Training (due to a revised 
approach to training delivery). Nb. Also reported in 
Decision Making 

o As per last month's update. Training will be rolled 
out through to end of Municipal Year. Change 
required to reflect delivery to end of Municipal Year. 

o Impact of training delivered so far is evidenced 
by feedback on how Council meetings and 
Committee meetings are running. 

o All other sub actions have been completed. 
 

 

Completed Actions: 

2 sub-actions have been marked completed this month. 
These actions relate to: 

• Engage LGA to support Officers and Members to 

develop the relationship going forward including 

continuation of LGA Cabinet Member mentoring 

programme -mentoring programme with LGA is 

ongoing. 

2 sub-actions are not yet due to commence 
 

 
Assurance Action(s) 

programme part of 
BAU 

• Final interview for 
CEx taken place 
 

September: 

• CEx long-list 
interviews 
undertaken 

• 4 sessions between 
Members and 
Officers with LGA 
have taken place 

 
August: 

• CEx recruitment out 
to advert 

• Training provider in 
place for 
Directorship and 
Trusteeship Training 

• Organisational 
Culture Champion 
training commenced 

• Listening groups 
scheduled and 

• Appointment of 
Permanent Chief 
Executive  

• Budget Holder Role 
Profile Approved  

• Employee 
Engagement Survey 
Report  

• New Member 
Induction  

• Employee 
Engagement Survey 
Results  

• Meeting structures 
to support regular 
dialogue between 
Senior Leadership 
(Officer and 
Member) confirmed 
for new   

• Municipal Year-   

• Part 1 Engagement 
– Starting the 
Conversation 

• Scope of Corporate 
Governance 
Training approved   

P
age 132



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

Zero assurance actions to report this month. 
 

 
 
 

invites to 460 
employees issued 
 

• Member 
Development 
Programme 
approved  

• Corporate 
Governance 
Training – 
Procurement for 
delivery partner  

 
 

Organisational Culture Workstream Updates 
 
Establishing Organisational Culture 

• Phase 2 engagement to determine desired culture- listening exercise agreed by Leadership Team November 
and framework approach agreed December. Now in final stages of engagement and approval  

• Framework agreed with Leadership Team and engagement had been undertaken and continues with wider 
stakeholders. Approval of document setting out the desired organisational culture due to cabinet sign off 15 
March 23. 

• Scope and drafting have commenced for Workforce Strategy. Many priority workstreams are already in 
progress. Working towards Cabinet sign off in May. 

 
Officer Learning and Development 

• Draft report of Corporate Induction has been completed, outlining current induction process and induction 
resources and recommendations to make improvements to induction and onboarding experience. 

P
age 133



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Action Plan being developed for decision-making training, detailing all requisite actions to embed the 
Constitutional changes. Plan will be completed by 31 Jan 2023. This includes changes to executive decision 
making and delegated decision making. 

• Corporate Governance Training: Member and Officer training delivered by LGA. Next phase of training 
programme to be scoped by Law & Governance & Finance and agree support required by L&D. 

• Delivery of Directorships and Trusteeships Training for members has been undertaken. Further training is 
being arranged for officers. Training will again be delivered after Annual Council to members who are 
appointed to Outside Bodies as Directors/Trustees. 

• Management Development in scoping phase which will include; Manager Fundamentals, Compulsory learning, 
and manager skills development 

 
Officer and Member Relationship 

• Meetings with Group Leaders/Chief Whips and Statutory Officers have commenced, and regular meetings 
diarised. 

• Mentoring Programme with LGA is ongoing. 

• Training will be rolled out through to end of Municipal Year. Change required to reflect delivery to end of 
Municipal Year. Impact of training delivered so far is evidenced by feedback on how Council meetings and 
Committee meetings are running. 

 
Member Learning and Development 

• Training delivered ahead of interviews for CEx. Discussion have taken place with HR and it has been agreed 
that training will form part of the induction training programme for Committees at the start of the Municipal Year 

• Leadership Team Review of All Member Briefings - Briefing note to be scheduled as a closure report  
 
Internal Communications-  

• A comms approach outlining Chief executive handover has been drafted. 

P
age 134



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Initial data gathering has taken place to identify the options for Formal employee recognition Scheme. A 
questionnaire will be developed and shared with council employees to gather feedback to steer the package 
development. 

 
Recruitment of Chief Executive 

• New Chief executive appointed with a start date of 6 February 2023. 
 

Corporate 
Oversight  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary Statement: 
Progress is being made across all workstreams. 1 main 
action rated red risk has 1 sub action rated amber progress. 
2 main actions have 3 sub actions rated amber progress. 1 
green rated risk has 1 sub action rated red progress.  
 
Of the 13 main actions there is  

• 1 main action with a red risk rating (customer journey)  

• 5 main actions with an amber risk rating  

• 7 actions with a green risk rating. 
 
Of the 1 main action with a red risk rating - Customer 
Journey Programme: 

• 1 sub action has or will experience medium slippage.  

• This relates to: Customer Journey Programme 
Board in place and regular meetings scheduled: 
Board members to be confirmed, future board dates to 
be scheduled (commencing Feb 2023) and circulated. 
PM to be confirmed prior to Feb board. 

 

December 

• 6 monthly report to 
Secretary of State 
submitted. 

• Q2 Performance 
Management Report made 
to Cabinet 

 
November 

• CTO and Governance 
Framework agreed 

• Structure and Governance 
for Customer Experience 
Programme approved  

 
October: 

• Q1 Performance 
Management Report made 
to Scrutiny and at an All 
Member Briefing. 

• All Directorate-
level 
restructuring 
completed- On 
hold pending 
arrival of new 
Chief Executive. 

• Oracle Fusion 
Implemented- In 
progress 

 

• Complete: 

• Establish 
Performance 
Management 
Framework  

• Improvement 
Plan approved 

• Procure new 
support provider 

P
age 135



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

Of the 5 main actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 2 sub-actions to deliver the action are on track 

• 3 sub-actions have or will experience medium 
slippage or issues. These relate to: 

 

• Performance Management Framework (PMF) - 
Timescales need to be re-aligned. 

• Review Corporate KPIs for organisational health to 
reflect workforce strategy:  Workforce Strategy in 
development. Need to ensure timescales for this 
action align with development of Workforce Strategy 

• Review Corporate KPIs for customer experience to 
reflect customer experience programme- Aligned to 
Customer Journey Programme. Will be focus of new 
Corporate Performance Manager to build into the PMF 
when they start end Feb 2023 

 

• Programme and Project Management System 
Implementation – slippage due to resources Due to 
capacity within the CT PMO initial design and build 
was delayed, this is now underway.  

 

• 1 sub action has been placed on hold 

• Restructuring – activity on hold pending arrival of 
new Chief Exec: 

• Directorate Level restructuring- Transfer of Directorate 
project support to Transformation team is complete. 

 
September: 

• Q1 Performance 
Management Report made 
to Cabinet 

• ERP Contract signing and 
mobilisation 

• Project Management 
training rolled out to key 
project members for Oracle 
Fusion 

 
August:  

• ERP Contract Awarded 

• Financial Services new 
structure in place 
 

July: 

• Business process re-
engineering resources have 
been approved. 

 
 
 
 
 

to deliver Oracle 
Fusion 

• First 
Performance 
Management 
Report 

  
 
 
 
 

P
age 136



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

Further Directorate restructuring now on hold following 
departure of the Director of BSC, pending arrival of the 
new Chief Executive 

 
Assurance Action(s) 

• Performance Management Framework (PMF): 
Preparations in place for Q3 Report to Cabinet in 
March. Q2 report considered by Cabinet in December 
and Scrutiny in January. 

• Budget Monitoring & Budget Pressures: Quarterly 
reporting has taken place and process is now 
embedded. Where budget pressures identified, LT 
continue to receive monthly budget monitoring reports. 
Spending controls have been in place since October 
and will continue to the end of the financial year. 
Further savings identified in treasury management 
which will bring the 23/24 to a balanced position. 

• Embedding Finance Business Partner role: 
Performance against KPIs for financial services 
section- First review of KPI performance will be 
undertaken at the end of January 2023 

• Resolve issues relating to the completion and sign 
off of final accounts: Outstanding issues are being 
resolved and draft Audit Committee date set for 28th 
February for approval of 2020/21 accounts. Aiming to 
complete draft accounts for 2021/22 by end March 
2023. 

P
age 137



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

 

Corporate Oversight Workstream Updates 
 
ERP 

• Detailed planning has taken place with System Integration Partner to outline high level milestones ahead of the 
April 2024 Go Live date. 

• Approach to Benefits realisation in place 
 
Improvement Planning, Monitoring, and Learning 

• Regular reporting on IP in place. Next quarterly report being prepared for Cabinet, ARAC and Scrutiny in 
March including response to external review follow-up reports. 

• Report to Secretary of State- December report submitted. Next report due June 2022. 

• Refresh of Improvement Plan underway following receipt of external review follow up reports and conclusion of 
listening exercise with staff. Changes to the IP to be reported to Cabinet in March 2023.  

• Initial scoping of Continuous Improvement Plan is taking place 
 
Performance Management 

• Preparations in place for Q3 Report to Cabinet in March.  

• Q2 report considered by Cabinet in December and Scrutiny in January. 

• KPI review – need to ensure timescales align with Workforce Strategy development and Customer Journey 
Programme. Will be focus of new Corporate Performance Manager to build into the PMF when they start end 
Feb 2023 

• Budget Monitoring reported monthly to LT and quarterly to Cabinet and Scrutiny. This process is now 
embedded. 

P
age 138



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

 
Organisational Structure and Enabling Corporate Core 

• External training provided to a number of corporate finance staff at the start of January and first draft of key 
training needs for each team planned for completion by end of January 

• First review of KPI performance for financial services section will be undertaken at the end of January 2023 

• Review underway around corporate debt recovery processes but significant slippage due to resources being 
directed to the Customer Journey programme. Review due to be complete by end of February but 
recommendations will then need to be implemented. 

• Internal charges review making significant progress with external support. Workshop held 18th Jan to consider 
recommendations and next steps. Completion date 31st March 2023 so new process is in place for 2023/24 
financial year. 

• Completion of 2020/21 accounts: outstanding issues are being resolved and draft Audit Committee date set for 
28th February for approval of 2020/21 accounts. Aiming for completion of 2021/22 draft accounts by end of 
March 2023, subject to above. 

 
Programme and Project management. 

• Realignment to create Corporate Transformation PMO underway and next step is a skills gap analysis. 

• Corporate Transformation Board - TOR to be finalised, membership to be confirmed and board dates to be 
circulated in Feb 2023 for the 1st board in March 2023 (This action has been re-opened) 

• Programme & Project Management System - Due to capacity within the CT PMO initial design and build was 
delayed, this is now underway. Localised templates with agreed methodologies in accordance with P3M 
framework are currently being built into Verto. 

 
Customer Journey 

• Workstream plans to be agreed at February Board meeting 

• Programme Board membership to be confirmed, and future board dates to be scheduled (commencing Feb). 
PM to be confirmed prior to Feb board. 

P
age 139



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

 
 

Strategic 
Direction 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Summary Statement:  
Progress is being made; however, 3 areas are experiencing 
medium levels of slippage and issues. 
 
Of the 13 main action areas, there are: 

• zero actions with a red risk rating,  

• 6 actions with an amber risk rating,  

• 7 actions with a green risk rating. 
 
Of the 6 main actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 3 live sub-actions to deliver the action are on track 

• 3 sub-actions are encountering areas of medium 
slippage or issues. These relate to: 

 
Develop and Implement the Commercial Strategy 
(timescale slippage) 

• Business Cases Presented for commercial 
workstreams - Strategic Business Cases prepared and 
awaiting review by DofF and LT.- change control 
required. 

 
Equality and Diversity (impact on resources and timescales 

due to reporting of EDI issues):  

January 

• MTFP and Capital 
Strategy approved 

• Implemented new 
Asset Database- 

phase 1 complete 

• EDI Workforce 
action plan review 
complete 

• Review of Council 
EDI decision making 
process complete 

• Programme 
management 
software procured 

 
November 

• Corporate Asset 
Management 
Strategy Approved 

• Equality Policy 
approved 

• Corporate 
Procurement 
Strategy – 
Commenced 

• Commercial 
Strategy – Approval 
due March 2023 

• Regular Resident 
Survey in place- 
Approach agreed - 
In procurement 
phase 

• Equality, Diversity, 
and Inclusion 
Strategy approved- 
Due early 2024  

• HRA 30 Year 
Business Plan 
approved- On track 
for Spring 2023 

 
Complete: 

• Approval of 
Medium-Term 

P
age 140



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Reporting of historic EDI issues is continuing to impact 

on timescales for EDI work due to resources and 

effectiveness of staff network. Report due at LT in 

January around staff networks.  

 

Customer Journey Strategy (new delivery date required)- 

•  Progress being made with Cabinet Priority Focus 

Session held in December 2022 with the next one to 

follow in Feb. Cabinet have provided feedback on 

Constituent experience, draft Commitments & 

Objectives. Next steps are for engagement sessions 

to be organised to ensure we capture 

Customer/Resident feedback to help us shape the 

Strategy. 

 

• Zero sub-actions have or will experience significant 
slippage or issues.  

 
5 sub-actions have been marked complete this month 

o Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
Development: Implementation of new Asset 
Database 

o Equality and Diversity: EDI Workforce action 
plan review, Review of Council EDI decision 
making process (EqIA guidance and templates 
published) and Embed equalities, diversity and 

• Review of Council 
EDI decision making 
process  

October 

• Corporate Parenting 
Strategy Approved 

• Review of MTFP 
concluded 

• Microsite creation for 
information around 
priority projects for 
stakeholders 
launched 

 
September: 

• Equality policy 
review complete 

• First Resident’s 
Survey completed 

• Budget Consultation 
Completed 

July: 

• Corporate 
Procurement 
Strategy approved 

 

Financial Plan and 
Capital Strategy 

•  Equalities Policy 
approved  

• Corporate Asset 
Management 
Strategy Approved 

• Approval of 
Communications 
and Corporate 
Affairs Strategy 

• Approval of 
Regeneration 
Strategy and 
Pipeline- 

• Early Help Strategy 
approved and 
launched  

• Public Consultation 
to be carried out as 
part of budget 
process  

• Corporate Parenting 
Strategy Refresh 
Approved 

 
 

P
age 141



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

inclusion within Member and Officer 
Development Programmes 

o Incorporate Public Consultation Results into 
Performance Management Framework: 
Proposal approved for the next phase of 
resident consultation and engagement and 
budget consultation, and Focus Groups held . 

 

• 1 sub-action is not yet due to commence 
 
Assurance Action(s) 
1 assurance action due this month 

• Regen Pipeline Development and Delivery: 
Pipeline projects updated to IPRM on a 6-monthly 
basis- Report taken to Cabinet in November 22 
covering (April to Sept). Showing progress over the 6-
month period covering the 66 projects in the pipeline 

 

• Budget Consultation 
Launched  

 
 
 

 

Strategic Direction Workstream Updates 
 
Strategy Development and Refresh 

• Regen Strategy and Pipeline:  
o First update report across the 63 projects in the pipeline taken to scrutiny and Cabinet in November 

2022 
o The options for procuring a strategic delivery partner are being actively explored. Awaiting 

information from Shropshire. 

P
age 142



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

o Programme Management Software Procurement- Implementation phase has started now that 
procurement has been complete. The pilot involves Adult Social Care, Business Strategy & Change 
and Regeneration & Growth. 

• Corporate Asset Management Strategy:  Phase 1 of the Asset database has been complete in Dec 22. 
Phase 2 timelines are being scoped. 

• Commercial Strategy: Strategy approved by LT and Cabinet approval planned for March 23. Strategic 
Business Cases prepared and awaiting review by DofF and LT. 

• Corporate Parenting: yearly assurances provided to the Corporate Parenting Board due September 23. 

• HRA Business Plan: Plan considered by Scrutiny Board 1/11/22. Consultation with key stakeholders is 
underway. Procurement of stock condition surveys due to go to tender January 23. 

 
Equality and Diversity 

• Report to be considered by Leadership Team on 31 Jan 2023 on moving Staff Networks forward 

• Consultant anticipated to be appointed by end of Feb 2023.  

• EDI Workforce Action Plan Review has been completed. HR are taking forward through the workforce 
strategy 

• Review of EDI decision making has taken place and new EqIA Guidance and template has been issued. 
 
Medium Term Financial Plan & Capital Strategy 

• MTFP and Capital Strategy approved 
 

Consultation and Engagement 

• Resident's Survey reported within Q2 Performance Report and outcomes shared at all staff briefing 02/11. 
Intelligence is being incorporated within business planning process for 2023 onwards and being used to 
shape budget.  

• Focus groups now completed. 

P
age 143



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Approval to consultation framework including regular budget and residents’ consultation and creation of 
Citizens’ space platform. Currently in procurement phase.  

 
Customer Journey 

• Cabinet Priority Focus Session held re: Customer Journey in December 2022, the next one is due 7/2/23 
and Cabinet have been surveyed re: feedback on Constituent experience, draft Commitments & Objectives. 
Next steps are for engagement sessions to be organised to ensure we capture Customer/Resident 
feedback to help us shape the Strategy. 
 

Decision 
Making 
 

 

Summary Statement:  
Progress is being made across all workstreams. All key 
milestones within this theme have now been delivered.  
 
 
Of the 5 main actions there are: 

• zero main actions with a red risk rating,  

• 4 main actions with an amber risk rating,  

• 1 main actions with a green risk rating. 
 
Of the 4 main actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 1 sub-actions have or will experience significant 
slippage or issues. (Also reported in organisational 
culture).  

In-depth review and revision to Corporate Governance 
Documents: Effective Decision Making Training (due to a 
revised approach to training delivery). Nb. Also reported in 
Organisational Culture 

December 

• Revised financial 
regs agreed 

 
November 

• Council decision on 
4 yearly election 
cycle made 

• Revised Council 
Procedure rules 

• Revised Scheme of 
Delegations agreed 

• Review of scrutiny 
arrangements 
complete 

• Council approved 
changes to scrutiny 

October: 

All key milestones in 
this theme complete 

 
Complete: 

• Revised Financial 
Regulations agreed 

• Review of scrutiny 
arrangements 
Revised scheme of 
Delegations agreed 

• Approval of any 
changes to scrutiny 
(if required following 
review) 

• Council Decision on 
options for 
alternative election 
cycle 

P
age 144



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• As per last month's update. Training will be rolled out 
through to end of Municipal Year. Change required to 
reflect delivery to end of Municipal Year. 

• Impact of training delivered so far is evidenced by 
feedback on how Council meetings and Committee 
meetings are running. 

• All other sub actions have been completed. 
 

 
Completed actions: 

• 1 sub-action has been marked complete this month.  
• In-depth review and revision to Corporate Governance 

Documents: Revised Financial Regs agreed 

 
 

 Assurance Action(s) 
No Assurance actions due this month 

▪ Completion of report and 
recommendations 
 

• zero sub-actions are not yet due to commence 
 

  

• ARAC 
recommendations 
and report into 
SEND transport 
complete 

September: 

• SEND procurement 
exercise undertaken 
in line with contract 
procurement rules 

• Contracts now live 
 
August: 

• Consultation 
launched re 4-yearly 
election cycle 

 
 

 

• Options Paper to 
Leadership Team 
for 4 yearly election 
cycle 

• Scrutiny work 
planning event 

• Revised 
Procurement and 
Contract Procedure 
Rules agreed 

• Revised Council 
Procedure Rules 

• Revised Sale of 
Land and Buildings 
Protocol 

• Implementation of 
Scrutiny 
Recommendations 
for SEND (Special 
Educational Needs 
and Disability) 
Transport and 
Waste  

• Completion of 
ARAC report and 
recommendations in 
relation to 

P
age 145



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

governance issues 
raised (SEND 
Transport, Waste 
Contract) 
 

 

Decision Making Workstream Summary 
 

4 Yearly Election Cycle 
• All actions complete 

 
Constitution and Governance Framework 

• Effective decision-making training will be rolled out through to the end of the Municipal year. Impact of 
training delivered so far is evidenced by feedback on how Council meetings and Committee meetings are 
running. 

• Revised financial regulations agreed. 
 

Role and function of Scrutiny and Audit 

• Cabinet Member Briefing on final recommendation in relation to Waste Contract update 13/12/22. Update 
provided to Chair of Scrutiny (Environment) also. 

• Quarterly report on Scrutiny and Audit survey presented January 23 to IPRM and shared with Democratic 
Services for action. 

• Next step is to embed mechanisms for continuous improvement which will include the survey. 
 
 
 

 

P
age 146



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

Procurement & 
Commercial 
 
 

 
 
 

Summary Statement:  
Progress is being made across all workstreams.  
 
Of the 11 main actions there are: 

• zero actions with a red risk rating,  

• 5 actions with an amber risk rating,  

• 6 actions with a green risk rating 
 
Of the actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 3 live sub actions are on track 

• 1 sub-actions have or will experience medium 
slippage or issues: 

 
Lion Farm- Action plan to agree way forward and resolve 
matter:  

• Statement of facts were agreed 19 December. 

• Each parties secondary option agreement due 27 
January 23. 

• The anticipated date for resolution is 24th March 2023. 
 

• Zero sub actions have been completed this month.  

• Zero sub actions are not due to start 
 

Assurance action(s) 
The large contracts in BE for waste/street cleansing, 
and both leisure providers will be added to the Intend 
contract management module: Work has started and is 
procured with Intend colleagues to complete full upload. 

December 

• Implementation of 
Phase 1 of Asset 
Management 
System  

 
October: 

• Review of Serco 
Contract Complete 

• Street Cleansing 
revised plan 
approved at Waste 
Board. 

• LATC Chief Officer 
recruitment 
underway 
 

September: 

• Lion Farm: 
Responsibilities of 
both council and 
developer clarified 
within formal 
documentation 

• SEND Transport 
Contract has gone 
live 

• SEND Transport 
Contract Monitoring 
arrangements in 
place- Due in 
January 

• Arrangement in 
place for future 
delivery of leisure 
services- May 2023 

• Fleet replacement 
complete- Mid 2023 

• Lion Farm report to 
Cabinet on 
determination of 
position of 
developer-  date tbc 
as part of the ED 
process 
 

 
Complete: 

• Implementation of 
Asset Management 
System  

• Termination notice 
for SLT contract 
approved by Cabinet 

P
age 147



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

 
July: 

• SEND contract 
awarded 

 

• Cabinet decision on 
future delivery of 
leisure services  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• Revised contract 
governance 
arrangements in 
place for Serco 
contract  

• Asset Management 
System Procured 

• SEND Transport 
procurement 
published 

• Waste and 
Recycling recovery 
plan implementation   

• Option appraisal for 
future leisure 
management 
options  

• Street Cleansing 
Recovery Plan 
Approved 

• Serco contract 
performance 
reporting embedded 
in PMF  

• Review of Serco 
contract completed 

P
age 148



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• New SEND 
Transport contract in 
place 
 

Procurement and Commercial Workstream Summary 
 
Waste Contract:  

• Work has started and is being procured with Intend colleagues to complete full upload to the Intend contract 
management module 

• Re review of the contract - report has been received from Frith and LT briefing date due by mid Feb. 

• Street cleansing recovery plan implemented and on track for March completion 

• Fleet replacement programme is in delivery phase with dates into 2023. 
 

SEND Transport: 

• Lessons learnt Capture for SEND procurement has been completed and presentation is due at IPRM 
February 2023. 
  

New System Procurement: 

• Re Performance Management: Additional capacity being secured to draw up project scope and 
specification from February 2023. This will build on soft market testing and exploration of Verto 

• Phase 1 Asset Management was implemented in December 2023. Phase 2 tech Forge will look at the 
development of modules such as capital accounting, asbestos, fixed asset register etc. Kick off meeting to 
be held Thursday 19 January 2023 to identify workstreams, leads and timescales.  
 

Lion Farm: 

• Statement of facts were agreed 19 December. 

• Each parties secondary option agreement due 27 January 23. 

P
age 149



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• The anticipated date for resolution is 24th March 2023.  
 

Leisure Contract: 

• Chief Officer has started. Clear project plan in place.  

• Next milestone is Cabinet report due March 2023. 

• Risk remains over utility contracts. Counsel advice received and being progressed with options for 
Members to consider. 

Partnerships & 
Relationships 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Summary Statement:  
Progress is being made across workstreams with no 
exception reports to raise. 
 
6 sub actions have been closed this month 
 
Of the 6 main action areas, there are: 

• zero actions with a red risk rating,  

• 5 actions with an amber risk rating,  

• 1 action with a green risk rating. 
 
Of the 5 actions with an amber risk rating: 

• 2 live sub-actions to deliver the action are on track 

• 1 sub-actions have or will experience medium 
slippage or issues: 

 
Review partnership structures within the ‘People’s 
sphere’: Partnership structures in relation to transition from 
children’s to adults in place 

January 

• SCT KPI suite 
reviewed 

• Review of contract 
(SCT) concluded 

 
October 

• SCT contract 
performance 
embedded within 
PMF 

 
September: 

• Strategic Priorities 
form part of the 
Children & Families 
Strategic Partnership  
(CaFSP) work 
programme. 

• VCS Strategy 
Approved – date tbc 
 
Complete: 

• Review of SCT 
Contract concludes 

• Regular cross-
SMBC/SCT 
Leadership 
meetings  

• City Region 
Sustainable 
Transport Scheme 
approved by CA 
Board 

• Sandwell asks of 
trailblazer devolution 
deal agreed 

• Officer & Member 
representation 

P
age 150



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Initial meeting went ahead in December. PID reviewed 
and amendments being captured. Agreement reached 
to engage with key external stakeholders. The Trust's 
sign-off process incorporated into the Project 
Governance Structure. 

• The project manager appointment was delayed, and 
the post re-advertised. Closing date 6 Jan. 

• Next steps are for PID to be completed and approved 
and monthly project meetings established. 

 

• 2 sub-actions have been completed this month 
o Continue with robust governance 

arrangements in place ensuring the 
accountability of SCT to deliver improved 
outcomes for children and young people in 
Sandwell in line with the contract:  

▪ KPI Suite reviewed 
▪ Review of Contract concludes 

• 3 sub-actions are not yet due to commence 

• 1 sub-action is not rated this month 
o Relationship with Voluntary & Community 

Sector (VCS) and Funding to Voluntary & 
Community Sector: VCS Strategy formation 
commences. Assumption made that update and 
status are as per last month. 

 

Assurance Action(s): 

• Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 
approved 

• Review of Grants 
completed 
 

 

agreed to key 
regional and sub-
regional meetings 
and clear  

• VCS Grants review 
update report to 
Leadership Team 

• Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy  

• SCT Contract 
performance 
reporting embedded 
within Council PMF-  

• Quarterly system-
wide deep dives 
conducted for health 
inequality 

• VCS Strategy 
formation 
commences  

 

P
age 151



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• Assurance action due and update required:  
• Receive a quarterly update from DPH and DAS to provide 

assurance that governance remains in place to test 
adequacy of partnerships through system-wide thematic 
deep dives and that any issues are being addressed by the 
partnership. 
 

Partnerships and Relationships Workstream Summary 
 
Sandwell Children’s Trust 

• KPI Suite reviewed. 14 of the 15 KPIs are agreed and the final KPI will be confirmed by the end of January 
2023. 

• Review of contract complete and submitted to DfE. 
 
 
Regional and Sub Regional Presence 

• Attendance at and engagement within agenda issues at WMCA, ABCA and BCLEP is much improved and 
ongoing.  

• Assurance action in place to provide an update on a 6 monthly basis. Next update to IPRM due in March 
 
Effective Local Structures 

• Transition from children’s to adults: Initial meeting went ahead in December. PID reviewed and 
amendments being captured. Agreement reached to engage with key external stakeholders. The Trust's 
sign-off process incorporated into the Project Governance Structure.  

• The project manager appointment was delayed, and the post re-advertised. Closing date 6 Jan. 

• Next steps are for PID to be completed and approved and monthly project meetings established.  
 
VCS (Voluntary and Community Sector) Relationship 

P
age 152



    

Theme 
 

Summary Achievements this 
period  

Key Milestones 

• SCVO and the council have facilitated a series of face to face focus groups with cross sections of 
Sandwell's VCS to explore a series of key themes. These will be used to draft the main elements of the 
strategy. 

• Focus group pilot approach was held in September.  

• Focus Groups due to take place from October onwards 

• January progress update pending  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 153



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 – Statutory Recommendation Status Summary December 2022 & January 2023  
 

Statutory 
Recommendation  
  

Summary  Achievements 
this month  

Milestones 

S1 - It is imperative 
that senior officers 
and senior members 
take effective 
corporate grip of 
long-standing 
service issues 
highlighted by the 
findings in this report 
(including SLT, SCT, 
the waste service, 
the ERP system, 
and Lion Farm) and 
prioritise corporate 
effort in managing 
the issues identified 
and embed the 
solutions into the 
Council  

Organisational Culture  
No actions in this theme  
  
Corporate Oversight  
ERP  

• Detailed planning has taken place with System Integration Partner to 
outline high level milestones ahead of the April 2024 Go Live date. 

 
Strategic Direction  
Strategy Development and Refresh  

• Regen Strategy and Pipeline: Update report across all the projects 
covering April- September was presented at November Cabinet. The 
options for procuring a strategic delivery partner are being actively 
explored. Waiting for information from Shropshire. VERTO- Procurement 
complete and implementation phase has commenced. A pilot project is 
being run with Adult Social Care, Business, Strategy and Change 
alongside Regeneration and Growth.  

  
Decision Making  
Role and function of Scrutiny and Audit  

• Survey to Scrutiny and Audit Members, and Officers attending 
Committees is being carried out on an ongoing basis. Findings were 
reported to IPRM in January 2023. The information has also been shared 
with Democratic Services and Members.  
• Cabinet Member briefing on final recommendations relating to Waste 
Contract updated December 2022. Update provided to Chair of Scrutiny 
as well. 

• Pipeline 
update report 
presented to 
Cabinet. 

• Verto 
procurement 
complete 

• Frith report 
(Serco 
contract) 
finalised 

• Lessons 
Learnt from 
SEND 2 
complete 

 
 
 

• Oracle Fusion 
Implemented- In 
progress 

 
 
Completed milestones: 

• Review of SCT 
Contract concludes- 
Complete ready for 
commencement from 
April 2023. 

• Review of scrutiny 
arrangements- 
Complete.  

• Approval of any 
changes to scrutiny (if 
required following 
review)- Complete 

• Termination notice for 
SLT contract approved 
by Cabinet- complete 

• Revised contract 
governance 
arrangements in place 
for Serco contract- 
complete 

P
age 155



• Next step is to embed mechanisms for continuous improvement which 
will include the survey. 

  
Procurement & Commercial  
Waste Contract:   

• Review of Contract -final report received from Friths. Leadership team 
to be briefed by mid-February 23.  
• Street cleansing recovery plan in progress. No issues to report and on 
track for March completion. 
• Fleet replacement plan in place. Next 42 street cleanings vehicles are 
due following EV charging infrastructure. 10 RCV vehicles to be 
confirmed for chassis build and being progressed as a priority. 

  
SEND Transport:  

• Contracts are being monitored. Resources being identified for contract 
management support pending the creation of a corporate CM team. 
• Lessons Learnt from SEND Transport procurement 2 have been 
captured and shared at IPRM in February 23.  

  
New System Procurement:  

• Performance Management System- Additional capacity being secured 
to draw up project scope and specification from February 2023. This 
will build on soft market testing and exploration of Verto. 

• Asset Management System phase 1 has been implemented in 
December. Phase 2 project (Tech Forge) will look at the development 
of modules such as capital accounting, asbestos, fixed asset register 
etc. Kick off meeting to be held Thursday 19 January 2023 to identify 
workstreams, leads and timescales.    

Lion Farm:  

• Statement of facts were agreed 19 December. 

• Each party’s secondary option agreement due 27 January 23. 

• Waste and Recycling 
Recovery Plan 
Implementation - 
Complete 

• Street Cleansing 
Recovery Plan 
approval – 
Resubmission to 
Waste Management 
Board in - Complete 

• SERCO contract 
performance reporting 
embedded in 
Performance 
Management 
Framework - 
Complete 

• Option appraisal for 
future leisure 
management options 
– Complete  

• Scrutiny work 
Planning event - 
Complete  

• Procure new support 
provider to deliver 
Oracle Fusion-
complete 

• Approval of 
Regeneration Strategy 
and Pipeline- 
Complete 

P
age 156



• The anticipated date for resolution is 24th March 2023.  

Leisure Contract:  
• The Chief Officer has started and there is a clear project plan in place. 
• Next milestone is Cabinet report due March 2023.  
• Risk remains over utility contracts. Counsel advice received and being 
progressed with options for Members to consider. 
 

Partnerships & Relationships  
Sandwell Children’s Trust  

• The KPI suite has been reviewed and 14 of the 15 KPIs are agreed. 
The final KPI will be confirmed by the end of January 2023. 
• The review of the contract has been completed and submitted to the 
DfE. 
•  The contract review with DfE is scheduled for 17 January 2023. 

• Early Help Strategy 
approved and 
launched- Complete 

• Corporate Parenting 
Strategy Refresh 
Approved- Complete 

• SEND Transport 
procurement 
published- complete 

• SMBC/SCT 
Leadership meetings - 
Complete  

• SCT Contract 
performance reporting 
embedded within 
Council PMF-
Complete   

 

S2 - The Council 
must ensure that the 
learning in relation to 
commercial 
decisions, 
procurement and 
contract 
management 
highlighted in this 
report are 
understood through 
the organisation  

Organisational Culture  
Officer Learning and Development  

• Induction: Draft report completed outlining current induction process 

and induction resources and recommendations to make improvements 

to induction and onboarding experience. 

• Constitutional Changes: Action Plan being developed detailing all 

requisite actions to embed the Constitutional changes. Plan will be 

completed by 31 Jan 2023. This includes changes to executive 

decision making and delegated decision making. 

• Member and Officer training delivered by LGA. Next phase of training 

programme to be scoped by Law & Governance & Finance and agree 

support required by L&D. 

• Phase 1 Asset 
database 
implemented  

 

• Regular Resident 
Survey in place – in 
procurement 

• Commercial Strategy 
approved – Due 
March 

• Corporate 
Governance Training 
Delivery -Commenced 

• HRA 30 Year 
Business Plan 
approved- On track for 
Spring 2023 
 

P
age 157



• Directorship and Trusteeship: Training for members has been 

undertaken. Further training is being arranged for officers. Training will 

again be delivered after Annual Council to members who are 

appointed to Outside Bodies as Directors/Trustees. 

• Management Development: Management Development in scoping 

phase which will include; Manager Fundamentals Compulsory learning 

and manager skills development. 

 
Member Learning and Development  

• Meetings with Group Leaders/Chief Whips and Statutory Officers have 
commenced, and regular meetings diarised.   

• LGA Mentoring Programme is ongoing 
  
  
Corporate Oversight  
 
 
Performance Management  

• Preparations in place for Q3 Report to Cabinet in March. Q2 report 
considered by Cabinet in December and Scrutiny in January.  

• Review of KPIs relating to customer and organisational health - will be 
focus of new Corporate Performance Manager to build into the PMF 
when they start end Feb 2023  

• Budget Monitoring reported monthly to LT and quarterly to Cabinet 
and Scrutiny. This process is now embedded. 

• Leadership Team continue to receive monthly budget monitoring 
reports. Spending controls have been in place since October and will 
continue to the end of the financial year. Further savings identified in 
treasury management which will bring the 23/24 to a balanced position 

 

 

 
Completed milestones 
• Revised Financial Regs 

- approved 

• Implementation of 
Asset Management 
System -phase 1 
complete 

• Revised Scheme of 
Delegation – approved 

• Corporate Asset 
Management Strategy 
Approved- Approved 

• Budget Holder Role 
Profile agreed - 
Complete 

• Establish Performance 
Management 
Framework – 
Complete 

• First Performance 
Management Report - 
- Complete 

• Revised PCR, and 
Sale of Land and 
Buildings Protocol – 
Complete 

• New Member 
Induction- Complete 

• Member Development 
Programme - 
Complete and BAU 

P
age 158



Strategic Direction  
  
Strategy Development and Refresh  

• Corporate Asset Management Strategy: New asset database (Tech 
Forge) implemented December 23. Phase 2 tech Forge will look at the 
development of modules such as capital accounting, asbestos, fixed 
asset register etc. Kick off meeting to be held Thursday 19 January 
2023 to identify workstreams, leads and timescales. 

• Commercial Strategy: Commercial Strategy approved by LT but still 
awaiting Cabinet approval - planned for March. 

• Strategic Business Cases prepared and awaiting review. 

• HRA Business Plan: HRA Business Plan was taken to Safer 
Neighbourhoods and Active Communities (SNAC) Scrutiny Board on 
10th Jan and is on the forward plan to seek approval at Cabinet on 
15th February. 

  
Decision Making  
Constitution and Governance Framework  

• Decision Making Training will be rolled out through to end of Municipal 
Year.  

• Financial regulations agreed at Council in December.  
  
Procurement & Commercial  
New System Procurement:  

• New asset database (Tech Forge) implemented December 23. Phase 
2 tech Forge will look at the development of modules such as capital 
accounting, asbestos, fixed asset register etc. Kick off meeting to be 
held Thursday 19 January 2023 to identify workstreams, leads and 
timescales. 
. 

  
Partnerships & Relationships  

• Asset Management 
System Procured- 
complete 

 
 

 

P
age 159



No actions in this theme  
  

S3 - Senior 
leadership, both 
officers and 
members, must 
demonstrate that 
they can continue to 
work together 
effectively, that they 
operate in line with 
the Council’s values, 
codes, policies, and 
procedures, and that 
there is zero 
tolerance to 
inappropriate 
behaviours. This 
includes changing 
the organisational 
culture in relation to 
complaints so that 
they restore balance 
and proportionality.  

Organisational Culture  
Establishing Organisational Culture  

• Outcome of listening exercise agreed by Leadership Team November 
and framework approach agreed December. Now in final stages of 
engagement and approval of One Team Framework (values and 
behaviours). Due for Cabinet sign off 15 March 23.  
 

Officer Learning and Development  
• Induction: Draft report completed outlining current induction process 
and induction resources and recommendations to make improvements to 
induction and onboarding. 
• Constitutional Changes: Action Plan being developed detailing all 
requisite actions to embed the Constitutional changes. Plan will be 
completed by 31 Jan 2023. This includes changes to executive decision 
making and delegated decision making. 
• Member and Officer training delivered by LGA. Next phase of training 
programme to be scoped by Law & Governance & Finance and agree 
support required by L&D. 
  

Officer and Member Relationship  

• Meetings with Group Leaders/Chief Whips and Statutory Officers have 
commenced, and regular meetings diarised.  

• LGA mentoring programme ongoing to support Cabinet Members. 
 

Member Learning and Development  

• Group 
Leaders/Chief 
Whips and 
Statutory 
Officers 
meetings have 
commenced 

• Member and 
Officer training 
delivered by 
LGA 

• Ongoing LGA 
mentoring 
programme 
started 

 

• Organisational Culture 
- Part 2 engagement – 
determining desired 
culture -  Commenced 

• Approval of document 
/ statement setting out 
desired organisational 
culture – ‘Our Values: 
Our Behaviours’- On 
track for Jan 2023 

• Organisational 
Development Strategy 
and Plan Approved – 
On track for March 
2023 

 

Completed milestones 

• Organisational Culture 
- Part 1 Engagement – 
Starting the 
Conversation- 
Complete 

• New Member 
Induction - Complete  

P
age 160



• Corporate Governance training will be rolled out through to end of 
Municipal Year. Change required to reflect delivery to end of Municipal 
Year. 

• Impact of training delivered so far is evidenced by feedback on how 
Council meetings and Committee meetings are running. 

• Statutory Officers: Training delivered ahead of interviews for CEx.Will 
form part of the induction training programme for Committees at the start 
of the Municipal Year.   
• Leadership Team Review of All Member Briefings - Briefing note to be 
scheduled as a closure report for January  

  

  
Corporate Oversight  
No Actions in Theme  
  
Strategic Direction  
No actions in Theme  
  
Decision Making  
No actions in Theme  
  
Procurement & Commercial  
No actions in Theme  
  
Partnerships & Relationships  
No actions in Theme  
  

• Meeting structures to 
support Senior 
Leadership (Officer 
and Member) – 
Complete 

• Member Development 
Programme approved- 
Complete 

 

  
 

P
age 161



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   
 

   
 

Appendix  – Scrutiny Recommendation Status Summary January 2023 
 

Grant Thornton Key Recommendation 7 (2021): Members in key statutory roles, in particular in relation to Cabinet, scrutiny, 
standards and audit, need to be provided with effective development training and support. The Member Development Programme 
should be reviewed to ensure corporate governance forms part of the training for members with governance roles  
 

External 
Follow-up 
Reviews 2022 
Findings  

Grant Thornton acknowledged the progress of the Member Development Programme and noted that it has 
been augmented with additional training sessions delivered by the LGA focusing on the Member and Officer 
Relationships, and in delivering a development programme for Cabinet. 
 
In their follow-up review, Grant Thornton made a further recommendation in relation to the Member 
Development Programme as a whole, but did not make any points around learning and development in 
relation to scrutiny specifically, as they acknowledged the improvements made.  
 
The recommendation made by Grant Thornton relating to the MDP was:  

Improvement Rec 19 (2022): The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member 
development and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member PDPs and take 
further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in SRA roles. 

 
The LGA commented on the council’s commitment to review the member development programme at regular 
intervals and set out that it is important to ensure that the pace of delivery is made to feel sustainable. The 
LGA follow-up review acknowledged that the improvements to scrutiny have been supplemented with a range 
of training. 
 

Summary of 
activity and 
next steps 
 

Within the current MDP, clear pathways have been included for succession planning. The Improvement Plan 
contains a milestone around the reporting of the next iteration of the MDP to Ethical Standards and 
Development Committee in March and this will contain the response to the Member Personal Development 
Plan analysis. 
 
Scrutiny Members’ learning needs remain under review by the Chairs of Scrutiny Boards together with 
supporting Officers. Scrutiny Chairs are also receiving coaching and mentoring training from external 
providers.  In addition, the regular survey to Audit and Scrutiny Members and Officers attending includes 

P
age 163



   
 

   
 

questions around Learning and Development received and any new needs arising to help ensure that the 
Member Development Programme is flexible to meet emerging needs. 
 

 

Grant Thornton Improvement Recommendation I4 (2021): Officer and Member Relationships – the forward plan of the 
Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning  

External 
Follow-up 
Reviews 2022 
Findings  

Grant Thornton acknowledged that the ‘forward plan of Cabinet business has been made available to all 
members to improve awareness and transparency 

Summary of 
activity and 
next steps 
 

The forward plan is shared with all scrutiny boards (in so far as it relates to that respective scrutiny board) at 
every meeting to assist with the Committee’s work planning. This will continue. 
 

 

Grant Thornton Improvement Recommendation 12 (2021): Officer and Member Relationships – There is a need to ensure 
that members of scrutiny and audit committees are aware of their governance roles including how to interrogate reports 
and ask the right questions  

External 
Follow-up 
Reviews 2022 
Findings  

Positive feedback was received about scrutiny in the follow up reviews. 
 
In their follow up review Autumn 2022, Grant Thornton set out that ‘There is a more mature engagement 
between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs and senior officers, supporting good planning and work 
programming across the different committees across different Council committees and a greater level of 
professionalism in how business is conducted by these committees.’... and ‘Overall, positive progress has 
been made to improve the culture and professionalism of key Council committees, with the scrutiny function 
making particular progress.’ 
 
The LGA commented that ‘it is clear from the people we spoke to that this key strand of the council’s 
governance arrangements [scrutiny] is going from strength to strength’. And commented on scrutiny’s 
‘renewed sense of energy and drive’. 
 
Grant Thornton did not make any further recommendations around the role of scrutiny. 

P
age 164



   
 

   
 

 
 

Summary of 
activity and 
next steps 
 

Ongoing activity is in place to ensure that scrutiny continues to make an effective contribution to the Council’s 
governance arrangements.  
 
This includes the regular meetings to develop and nurture strong, healthy working relationships with members 
and officers. Chairs of scrutiny boards have regular agenda setting meetings with Directors and officers to be 
clear what the expectation is on reports coming to Scrutiny to enable a debate and not just information 
sharing.  Scrutiny Board chairs collectively are meeting regularly, whether it is a pre-meeting or prior to 
Cabinet to agree lines of questioning in advance. Audit are also now having pre meetings and work is ongoing 
to ensure shared learning and cross cutting areas are discussed at regular meetings between the overarching 
Chair of Scrutiny and the Audit Chair as well as regular meetings with the Chair of Audit and the Section 151 
Officer. 
 
The regular survey of Officers and Members attending scrutiny and audit is in place and it continues to provide 
insight into scrutiny’s and audit’s development and learning to enable continuous improvement. 
 
Job roles and a framework to guide the way scrutiny works has been agreed and is in place. A learning and 
development plan for audit members is currently being drafted to ensure that key skills needed for the role is 
clear.  
 
These arrangements will continue into the next Municipal Year. To ensure that the effective contribution of 
scrutiny and audit is sustained, the refreshed Improvement Plan includes an action to confirm the mechanisms 
for ongoing insight and assurance. 
 

 

  
  
 
 

P
age 165



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 

Appendix – Summary of External Review 
Follow up Reports  
 
 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 
1 March 2023 

 

1. Context 

1.1 In Autumn 2022, Grant Thornton, the LGA and CIPFA conducted follow 
up reviews. This paper sets out the context for each review and the key 
findings. 

2. Grant Thornton Governance Review – Background and Scope 

2.1 Grant Thornton’s Value for Money Governance Review was conducted 
in the Autumn of 2021. The scope of the review covered seventeen key 
lines of enquiry, split into two categories: 

• Services and Management; and 

• Meetings, Complaints and Relationships. 

 
2.2 In their original report, Grant Thornton made a series of 45 

recommendations, made up of:  

• 3 Statutory Recommendations 

• 5 Key Recommendations 

• 37 Improvement Recommendations 
 

2.3 These recommendations, along with those from the LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge and CIPFA’s Financial Management Review, were 
incorporated into the council’s single overarching Improvement Plan. 
 

2.4 At the time of publishing the original report in late November 2021, Grant 
Thornton had not completed their investigation into the line of enquiry 
relating to the ‘Governance and Legal Support to Director of Public 
Health’. This line of enquiry was concluded in Autumn 2022, and Grant 

 

Page 167



 

Thornton have reissued their full report to include their findings, 
conclusions and recommendations for the council.  
 

2.5 Grant Thornton have conducted a follow-up review in Autumn 2022 to 
understand how the council has improved its governance arrangements 
that were the focus of their 2021 review. Particular focus was on 
progress made against the recommendations that had been 
incorporated into the council’s Improvement Plan. Grant Thornton also 
considered how the council uses community engagement to inform its 
strategic planning and decision-making processes. The follow-up review 
did not include that key line of enquiry referred to in paragraph 2.4 as it 
had not concluded at the time.  
 

2.6 Governance Review - Key Findings and recommendations 
 

2.7 In the reissued full report (Appendix 1), Grant Thornton set out their 
findings, conclusions and recommendations with regards to the 
‘governance and legal support to the Director of Public Health’. These 
have not made an impact on the overarching findings of the original 
report or on the statutory recommendations made to the council in 
December 2021. Grant Thornton have made four additional 
improvement recommendations to the council in response to their 
findings on this matter.   
 

2.8 The follow-up review (Appendix 2) found that the council had continued 
to build on the initial improvements recognised by Grant Thornton in their 
original report, and has made significant progress on a number of their 
recommendations: 
 

• Statutory Recommendation 1 - It is imperative that senior officers 
and senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing 
service issues highlighted by the findings in this report (including 
SLT, SCT, the waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and 
prioritise corporate effort in managing the issues identified and 
embed the solutions into the Council.: 

o The Council has greater corporate grip over improvement, 
performance and decision making 

o Cabinet is demonstrating a commitment to making tough decisions 
o Skills and capacity gaps in relation to key priorities have been 

recognised and steps taken to manage them 
o Evidence of greater senior officer involvement in key service 

challenges 

Page 168



 

 

• Statutory Recommendation 2 - The Council must ensure that the 
learning in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and 
contract management highlighted in this report are understood 
through the organisation.: 

o Clear evidence that the council is making better procurement and 
commercial decisions 

o Significant progress made on the ERP systems replacement  
o Review of key elements of the Constitution completed 
o Evidence of improved corporate ownership and working 

relationships between the council and key partners, along with 
focus on service quality and improved outcomes. 
 

• Statutory Recommendation 3 - Senior leadership, both officers and 
members, must demonstrate that they can continue to work 
together effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s 
values, codes, policies and procedures, and that there is zero 
tolerance to inappropriate behaviours. This includes changing the 
organisational culture in relation to complaints so that they restore 
balance and proportionality: 

o Greater stability at political and senior officer level, with positive 
working relationships between Cabinet and Leadership Team 

o Mature engagement between Leader, Cabinet, Committees and 
senior officers leading to good planning and work programming 
across committees, and commitment to the council’s improvement 
journey 

o Evidence of improved focus and engagement with regional and 
national bodies 

 

2.9 Grant Thornton recognise that challenges remain for the council on its 
improvement journey, and that building on the foundations laid over the 
last 12 months will be vital. The refresh of the Improvement Plan to 
incorporate the findings of this review and the results of the 
organisational culture values and behaviours work will be key to 
ensuring sustainable improvement. 
 

2.10 A further four Key Recommendations have been identified from the 
Follow-up Review. Along with the new Improvement Recommendations 
from the reissued original report, these will be incorporated into the 
refresh of the Improvement Plan and will provide further direction for the 
next stage of the council’s improvement journey. 

 

Page 169



 

3. LGA Corporate Peer Challenge – Background and Scope 
 

3.1 The LGA’s Corporate Peer Challenge was conducted in late 
January/early February 2022 and focused around five areas which are 
recognised as critical to councils’ performance and improvement: 

• Local priorities and outcomes 

• Organisational and place leadership 

• Governance and culture 

• Financial planning and management; and 

• Capacity for improvement 
 

3.2 The Peer Challenge Team also took an in-depth look at children’s 
services and the place agenda. 

 
3.3 The Peer Challenge report included nine recommendations, and a raised 

a series of improvement points for longer term consideration. As with the 
recommendations of the other reviews, these have been incorporated 
into the development of the Improvement Plan. 
 

3.4 The LGA conducted a follow-up review in October 2022 with particular 
focus on the progress against their recommendations. 
 

3.5 LGA Corporate Peer Challenge – Key Findings  
 
3.6 The feedback report from the LGA, recognises the significant progress 

that has been made in a number of key areas to the good governance 
and management of the council. The LGA also stressed that the council 
is on a journey that will take time and there is still a long way to go to 
embed the improvements required.  

 
3.7 The LGA have not made any new recommendations, but have raised a 

series of improvement actions which will be incorporated into the refresh 
of the Improvement Plan. 

 
3.8 The main points raised by the LGA are aligned to the Improvement Plan 

themes and are summarised below: 
 
3.9 Key points raised by the LGA in relation to Corporate Oversight and 

Strategic Direction were that: 

• Much greater stability can now be seen both politically and 

managerially 

Page 170



 

• Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well together 

• Praise for the Leaders’ and Chief Executives’ styles and approaches 

• Staff feel much better communicated with from the corporate level 

• There is an absence of a whole organisation view of the scale of the 

financial challenge facing the council 

• External partners are seeing the council now being much better 

engaged  

• Cabinet is building a track record of taking difficult decisions and are 

showing a commitment and willingness to face the further tough 

decisions 

• The injection of additional capacity in key areas has helped to drive 

improvement 

• There needs to be a stocktake around the level of available resource, 

pace and capacity going forward. 

 

3.10 Key points raised by the LGA in relation to Governance and Decision-

Making were that: 

• An inclusive process has taken place to develop the changes to the 

Constitution 

• One of the most noticeable changes in recent months is a much-

improved set of relationships between officers and elected Members. 

• There is an emerging risk around the organisational responsiveness 

to the customer and to casework issues brought forward by Elected 

Members 

• Members have valued the training offered through the Member 

Development Programme 

• Scrutiny is going from strength to strength 

• Mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and officers is providing for good planning and work programming 

across the different committees 

• There is a sense of a ‘maturing politics’ within the council 

 

3.11 Key points raised by the LGA in relation to Customer Journey and 

Organisational Culture were that: 

• There is a long way to go in the work on the customer journey and 

organisational culture 

• The customer journey, Equalities Diversity and Inclusion, and 

organisational culture are major pieces of inter-related work that are 

Page 171



 

fundamental to future success. They require a clear plan and sense of 

deliverability. 

 

4. CIPFA Review – Background and Scope 

 

4.1 CIPFA were commissioned by the council to undertake a review of the 

financial management and governance arrangements using the 

Financial Management Model to contribute to the development of the 

council’s financial management operation and arrangements. It 

assessed the council’s financial management capability, its internal 

processes, and operations. It also examined how the council plans its 

future financial management. 

 

4.2 The report from CIPFA received in January 2022 set out that the council 

was financially stable and in recent years has been able to contribute 

towards reserves through achieving a balanced budget or an 

underspend, but that the authority has previously lacked ambition and 

innovation and has a very traditional approach to financial management. 

 

4.3 The scoring process generated an overall star rating between one and 

five, five being the highest. Sandwell achieved an overall rating of two 

stars and was considered to be a progressive two-star authority with an 

encouraging direction of travel. CIPFA made 14 recommendations which 

were incorporated into the single Improvement Plan. 

 

4.4 CIPFA completed a Financial Management Model Re-assessment 

Review in December 2022. The report is included at Appendix 4. 

 

4.5 CIPFA Financial Management Model Re-assessment Review – Key 

findings 

 

4.6 The CIPFA Financial Management Model Re-assessment Report sets 

out that Sandwell has improved from a progressive 2* rating to a 3* 

rating.  

 

4.7 Findings are arranged within the report according to CIPFA’s model topic 

headings: Leadership, People, Processes and Stakeholders.  All of 

these topic headings received increased individual scores.  

 

Page 172



 

4.8 Key points raised were that: 

 

• Positive progress was evident and represents a step change in under a 

year, which is to be commended 

• Finance is seen as a key function and priority and there is a positive 

commitment to the finance improvement programme 

• The Director of Finance is well-respected 

• The MTFS is now much stronger 

• The budgetary process has improved 

• The emphasis on business partnering has been broadly welcomed 

• There is a coherent agenda and programme of financial reform  

• There is clearer evidence of strategic and operational awareness 

 

4.9 CIPFA raised a series of areas for the council to continue to focus on. 

These will be incorporated into a subsequent refresh of the Improvement 

Plan. 

Page 173



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council: Value for Money Governance 

Review 

Year ended 31 March 2021

17 October 2022

This report was originally published on 3 December 2021. It has been 

updated to include the findings relating to KLOE A8. 

P
age 175



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Key Findings 6

3. Statutory and Key Recommendations 11

4. Detailed Findings 13

Appendix

A. Improvement Recommendations 61

B. The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money arrangements 68

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of completing

our work under the NAO Code and related guidance. Our audit is not designed to test all arrangements in respect of value for money. However, where, as part of our testing, we

identify significant weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in

arrangements that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting

on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members

is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Mark Stocks

Audit Partner

T: 0121 232 5437

E: mark.c.stocks@uk.gt.com

Guy Clifton

Director

020 7728 2903
E: guy.clifton@uk.gt.com

P
age 176



P
age 177



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

4

Under the NAO Code, we are required to consider whether the Council has put in place

proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of

resources. The auditor is no longer required to give a binary qualified / unqualified VfM

conclusion. Instead, auditors report in more detail on the Council’s overall

arrangements, as well as key recommendations on any significant weaknesses in

arrangements identified during the audit.

The purpose of this work has been to draw conclusions on the key lines of

enquiry (KLOEs) identified as part of our scope, and if necessary determine the extent

to which further action is required by the Council. This review, along with other VfM

related activity, has been undertaken in order for us to consider whether there are any

significant weaknesses in the Council's arrangements.

As already noted, our work is undertaken in accordance with the Local Audit and

Accountability Act 2014, sections 20 and 24 and may result in Statutory

Recommendations or a Public Interest Report.

Overview of the scope 

Determining how much work to undertake on arrangements to secure VfM is a matter of 

auditor judgement. The focus of our review has been on the effectiveness of the 

Council’s governance arrangements and how they are impacted  by the matters 

detailed above. 

We have identified  seventeen KLOEs to assess the Council’s governance 

arrangements, which are set out in the table below.

Whilst the focus of this review is on governance arrangements, where appropriate we 

will highlight findings in relation to the two other reporting areas set out in the Code.

Context to our VFM approach

Sections 20 and 21 of the Local Audit and Accountably Act 2014 (the Act)  require auditors 

to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money 

(VFM) conclusion. 

Our VfM work is carried out in line with the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) which is 

prepared  by the National Audit Office (NAO) under the Act, and its supporting statutory 

guidance: Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

A revised Code came into force on 1 April 2020, after being approved by Parliament. The 

Code requires auditors to structure their VfM commentary on arrangements under three 

specified reporting criteria: 

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Council uses information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its 

services;

• Governance: how the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and

• Financial sustainability: how the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it 

can continue to deliver its services.

Background to this review

In our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report we noted that a number of governance issues had 

come to our attention during 2021. We considered that there was insufficient evidence to 

confirm that these matters impacted 2019/20 and as such noted that they will be dealt with 

as part of the 2020/21 audit.

We have continued to monitor Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council’s (the Council) 

ongoing governance arrangements, including member-officer relationships and have 

become increasingly concerned at the Council’s ability to look forward and manage the 

challenges and opportunities that all local authorities currently face.

There is an increasing perception of poor progress in resolving service and governance 

issues, a lack of trust between key individuals charged with governance, of a significant 

amount of time being spent responding to allegations and complaints, and of reviews being 

reopened, such as the reopening of previous standards reviews. We feel that until these 

significant issues are resolved that the Council is at risk of not having adequate 

governance arrangements in place to ensure that it can effectively discharge its statutory 

responsibilities and maintain its financial sustainability.

Context, background and scope of the review

SERVICES & MANAGEMENT

A1 The Children’s Trust

A2 Sandwell Leisure Trust  

A3 Providence Place

A4 Special Educational Needs Transport

A5 Sandwell Land and Property Company 

A6 MADE festival

A7 Waste service 

A8 Governance and legal support re DPH 

A9 Lion Farm

A10 Introduction of new ERP system (Oracle) 

P
age 178



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

5

.

Our approach
Overview of the scope (cont’d)

Our approach

Our work in relation to this review  was undertaken between August and October 2021.

Stage 1 – Review of key documents

We submitted an information request for key documents and then undertook a desk top 

review to reach an initial conclusion on the nature of further work required.

Stage 2 – Further Analysis and Clarifications

We then undertook interviews with key stakeholders in relation to each KLOE to clarity 

issues identified during stage one and to undertake more detailed analysis in relation to 

specific KLOEs. A total of 75 stakeholder interviews have been undertaken, representing a 

total of 122 discussions on individual KLOEs. 

Our approach is designed to assess:

• Governance arrangements in place in relation to our scope;

• Council performance against these arrangements; and

• Identify any significant weaknesses and risks.

CfGS Governance Risk and Resilience Framework

We have drawn on the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Governance Risk and 

Resilience Framework, published in March 2021, to structure our work in relation to KLOE 

B4  - officer and member relationships. This Framework includes seven characteristics of 

good governance that have a particular focus on behaviours.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the 

assistance provided by council officers, council members, and external 

stakeholders with whom we have engaged during the course of our review.

Additional VfM Code Work

As already noted, we have identified governance arrangements as an audit 

risk. This requires additional work to inform our auditor’s judgement on VfM. 

The work has been undertaken in line with the requirements of the Code and 

associated auditor guidance. This review helps us discharge our 

responsibilities under the Code and will include the reporting of any significant 

weaknesses in arrangements and other points for improvement identified 

during the review. Any fee variation is subject to approval from Public Sector 

Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) which is responsible for appointing auditors 

and setting audit fees for relevant authorities that have chosen to opt into its 

national scheme of auditor appointments.

MEETINGS, COMPLAINTS & RELATIONSHIPS

B1 Chief Officers

B2 Senior Leadership

B3 Complaints

B4 Officers and members relationships

B5 Standards Committee

B6 Audit Committee

B7 Financial Reporting  

P
age 179



P
age 180



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

7

Overview

Overview

The Council has seen deteriorating senior officer and senior member relationships over 

a number of years. This has resulted in a breakdown in trust, respect and confidence 

between those holding governance roles. This has limited the Council’s ability to look 

forward and manage the challenges and opportunities it faces. This breakdown in 

relationships between senior officers and senior members is central to the governance 

issues identified by this review.

There has been poor progress in resolving service and governance issues, with a 

significant amount of time being spent responding to internal allegations and complaints. 

There is evidence of reviews and issues being reopened. This has impacted on the 

Council's ability to focus on service improvement.

The Council has been insular and siloed. Its focus has been on responding to external 

service-based challenges as well as managing the fallout from previous decisions or 

investigations. Senior officers and senior members have historically been unable to 

make the changes required to move away from this organisational culture and focus.

We note that since the appointment of the interim Chief Executive in August 2021, 

working with the then new Leader of the Council, that many of these matters are being 

resolved. The Council’s senior leadership team, the majority of whom are recent external 

appointments, recognise the challenges and issues set out in this report and are 

supporting the interim Chief Executive on an improvement journey.

These 'green shoots' are positive and we have tried to reflect the improvements in this 

report. Without these changes we would have had concerns with regard to the Council's 

ability to manage and govern itself, and intervention by the Government may have been 

necessary.

Inevitably these changes are not yet embedded, and the Council will need to manage 

the transition to a permanent Chief Executive well, alongside maintaining continuity and 

stability of the wider leadership team, so that the new Chief Executive, working with the 

leadership team, continues to support the service and cultural changes that are being 

put in place and that momentum is maintained. 

Due to the issues identified we have determined that it is appropriate to raise the 

following statutory recommendations under Section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act:

Statutory recommendations

We have made a number of statutory and key recommendations which are set out page 

12. Other improvement recommendations are made throughout the detailed findings of 

this report and are summarised in the Appendix.

Our statutory recommendations are:

• It is imperative that senior officers and senior members take effective 

corporate grip of long-standing service issues highlighted by the findings in 

this report (including SLT, SCT, the waste service, the ERP system, and Lion 

Farm) and prioritise corporate effort in managing the issues identified, and 

embed the solutions into the Council.

• The Council must ensure that the learning in relation to commercial decisions, 

procurement and contract management highlighted in this report are 

understood through the organisation.

• Senior leadership, both officers and members,  must demonstrate that they 

can continue to work together effectively, that they operate in line with the 

Council’s values, codes, policies and procedures, and that there is zero 

tolerance to inappropriate behaviours.  This includes changing the 

organisational culture in relation to complaints so that they restore balance 

and proportionality.

P
age 181



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

8

Key findings

KEY FINDINGS

Corporate grip

Understandably COVID-19 has significantly impacted the leadership and 

organisational focus of all local authorities over the past eighteen months. Even taking 

account of this impact we consider that until recently the Council has failed to take an 

effective corporate grip on key issues facing the Council.

We note that it is hindered in taking a corporate grip by the lack of a clear 

performance management framework and agreed key corporate indicators, although we 

note recent progress has been made on this. This has impacted on the ability of the 

Leadership Team and Cabinet to have a single line of sight and single version of the 

truth. This has contributed to a culture of silo working, resulting in a lack of corporate 

ownership and accountability. This has, in turn, resulted in a lack of ownership and grip on 

key challenges and issues and an absence of intervention and decision making.

In failing to take ownership and seeking resolution, lessons have not been 

learned. This has resulted in a number of instances whereby the Council has repeated 

actions leading to similar outcomes. For example, the Wragge report continues to be an 

area of mistrust between members and between officers and members.

Procurement and commercial decision making

Our review has identified repeated instances where commercial decisions 

or procurement decisions have contributed to a number of key legacy challenges facing the 

Council, which have not been resolved.

These included legacy property related decisions such as those relating to 

Lion Farm, Providence Place and Sandwell Land and Property Company where there was 

either a lack of appropriate expertise and advice or failure to consider all appropriate 

options.

There are also more recent examples of poor procurement decisions relating 

to waste management and recycling, the Council’s enterprise and resource 

planning (ERP) system and SEND Transport. In each case the procurements have 

either been poorly specified, did not provide adequate timescales, or those responsible 

for decision making have not been fully aware of the context and detail.

These property transactions and procurement decisions have created future 

service or delivery challenges. In some cases, they have impacted negatively on 

the Council's reputation. In each instance, until recently, the decisions have not 

had effective corporate ownership to allow appropriate management or resolution.

Contract management

Our review identified a number of key contracts having been impacted by either poor 

specification during procurement, a lack of clear contract management responsibility, or 

poorly defined approaches to contract management. These related to Sandwell Leisure 

Trust (SLT) , Serco, Inoapps and Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) and we note that the 

interim Chief Executive has recently commenced more effective engagement with these 

key suppliers and partners.

At varying times relationships between the Council and these key partners have been 

fraught with the lack of senior leadership grip significantly contributing to a deterioration of 

these relationships. A lack of clear corporate ownership has meant that issues with these 

contracts have not been resolved in a timely manner. This is particularly the case for SLT, 

Serco and Inoapps.

We also note that some key contracts such as SLT and SCT, have not previously had key 

performance indicators reviewed since the contracts were let, whilst others have not had 

appropriate focus on service quality (such as SEND Transport) or outcomes (such as SLT 

and Serco).

OTHER THEMES

Lack of longer-term planning

The insularity and short-term focus previously noted has meant that the Council has not 

had the necessary time and space to consider the long-term. Recent changes to the 

Council’s leadership have seen a re-emphasis on longer-term planning, with time invested 

in a refresh of the Corporate Plan, which has now been approved by full Council. 

However, as mentioned earlier, the lack of a corporate performance framework has meant 

that the Council has not received management information on key corporate indicators. We 

also note that the Leadership Team had not been receiving regular monthly budget 

monitoring reports and have not been effectively engaged in the budget setting process or 

medium-term financial planning. We understand that processes are being put in place to 

resolve these issues.

P
age 182



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

9

Key findings (cont’d)

Officer empowerment and decision making

The scheme of delegation and the involvement of senior members in key decision making 

has resulted in a lack of empowerment of officers in decision making and the agility of the 

Council to make, where necessary, prompt decisions. An example of which is the delay to 

taking a decision in relation to the rescheduled MADE Festival, which had been due to take 

place in August 2021. We consider that this reflects the lack of trust between senior 

members and senior officers at the time.

Capacity, experience and skills

The prevalence of interim and acting up arrangements in senior officer roles has in some 

places not seen effective back-fill arrangements put in place, resulting in capacity 

challenges for some key officers and teams such as Finance. These temporary 

arrangements have contributed to confusion over some key roles and responsibilities, such 

as those in relation to SLT and Oracle Fusion, impacting on effective contract 

management.

More generally, the lack of corporate ownership, again already discussed, has left some 

officers exposed in managing key service challenges and relationships without appropriate 

senior officer support and direction.

The impact of changes to senior officers and members

The Council has been through a period of significant change to its leadership, both in terms 

of senior officers and senior members. Following the local elections in May 2021 a new 

Leader was elected, who appointed a new Cabinet with effect from June 2021. Many of 

these Cabinet members had not previously held a Cabinet role, and some were fairly new 

to the role of councillor.  There was a further change to the Council Leader in late 

November 2021, as we were finalising this report.

An interim Chief Executive has been in role since August 2021 and there has been 

significant changes to chief officers over the past year, with vacancies being filled by either 

external interims, or Council officers in acting up roles. These changes were driven in large 

part by a senior management review which concluded in October 2020, although we note 

that some chief officer departures were caused by unrelated circumstances.

Other than the Chief Executive there are currently ten chief officer roles, of these four are 

recent external appointments, and two other external appointments have been made with 

these officers starting in November 2021. Three officers remain from the previous 

leadership team, two in the same role and one appointed to one of the new roles created 

by the review.

Two roles remain vacant: the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive, with the 

recruitment of the former recently initiated. The Council has decided to not recruit the Deputy 

Chief Executive and to review the need for this role. In addition there is a Director of HR, 

which is not a permanent role and is being held by an external interim.

The impact of this recent period of change has been instability and uncertainty for the 

organisation. Whilst external interims are recognised positively for the experience they bring 

from working with other councils and having a “fresh pair of eyes” on some of the service 

challenges being faced, the wider organisation considers the use of interims as maintaining 

a holding pattern before permanent chief officers join. The Council will reach the position of 

having all roles filled by a permanent officers during November 2021, other than the two 

vacancies noted above.

The changes to key senior roles have led to a loss of corporate knowledge and history 

among senior officers and senior members. The has contributed to historic issues 

resurfacing and senior members making the initial decision to progress a major project or 

initiative not being the same group of members taking further decisions during the project’s 

implementation, such as the SEND Transport procurement.

The current position

The themes set out in this section illustrate how the Council’s recent behaviours and legacy 

issues impact on good governance and decision making.

The recent widespread changes at chief officer level and the election a new Leader and 

appointment of a new Cabinet, provide a significant opportunity for the Council to move 

away from this position. Indeed, there is a consensus that senior officers and members are 

in a much stronger, more effective and constructive position than in the recent past. There is 

also a clear desire to make the improvements required, and a greater understanding of roles 

and responsibilities.

The current Leader and interim Chief Executive have a positive working relationship and 

between them have introduced changes to manage some of the legacy issues noted above. 

These include the Leadership Team attending informal Cabinet, the introduction of “star 

chambers” as part of the budget setting process, enhancing the training programme for 

members, and a review of the Council’s constitution including the scheme of 

delegation. Other changes are planned.

P
age 183



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

10

Key findings (cont’d)

The current position (cont’d)

Many of these changes took place during the course of this review so it is too soon 

to judge if they are yet embedded. Key stakeholders we met during this review 

recognised that the Council is at the start of a necessary improvement journey.

Failure to maintain and embed current and planned changes will have a significant 

impact on the Council being able to realise its strategic ambitions and provide 

effective governance.

Whilst we recognise that recent changes have been positive, we remain concerned 

about the lack of trust across the wider organisation and continuing poor 

behaviours, for example, the leaking of the review into the Wragge report to local 

media in October 2021. It will take time for the wider organisation to regain trust in 

the senior leadership, see the stability required, and believe in the changes that 

have begun.

There was a change to the Council’s Leader as we were finalising this report. This 

has highlighted the need for stability and continuity. The new Leader must  use the 

platform for improvement which has been created to ensure a strong and positive 

working relationship both with the current Interim Chief Executive and the 

subsequent permanent Chief Executive.

The direction of travel is a necessary and positive one, but there is no quick fix for 

the challenges facing the Council. For these “green shoots” to deliver the 

widespread transformation and changes required, the Council’s leadership needs 

be relentless in its focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change, and use 

its past history as a reference point when focusing on improvement.

Recommendations and detailed findings

We now set out our statutory and key recommendations, followed by the detailed 

findings in relation to each individual KLOE.

We consider that these matters represent significant weaknesses in the Council's 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages 

its risks. We have also identified several improvement recommendations, which are 

summarised at Appendix A.  Further details on the types of recommendations we 

make are set out at Appendix B.

. 

P
age 184



P
age 185



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

12

Statutory and key recommendations

Improvement recommendations are made throughout this report and these are summarised in the Appendix.   Our statutory and key recommendations are summarised 

below. 

# Recommendation

Statutory recommendations

1. It is imperative that senior officers and senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing service issues highlighted by the findings in this report: 

(including SLT, SCT, the waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and prioritise corporate effort in managing the issues identified, and embed the solutions 

into the Council.

2. The Council must ensure that the learning in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and contract management  highlighted in this report are understood 

through the organisation.

3. Senior leadership, both officers and members,  must demonstrate that they can continue to work together effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s 

values, codes, policies and procedures, and that there is zero tolerance to inappropriate behaviours.  This includes changing the organisational culture in relation to 

complaints so that they restore balance and proportionality.

Key recommendations

4. The Council’s leadership needs be relentless in its focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change, and use its past history as a reference point when 

focusing on improvement. 

5. Critical to embedding the transformation and change required will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief Executive. The Council must ensure an effective 

recruitment process, including attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. 

6. The Council should ensure that a corporate performance framework is agreed so that the implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored, and 

there is collective corporate responsibility rather than silo working.

7. Members in key statutory roles, in particular in relation to Cabinet, scrutiny, standards and audit, need to be provided with effective induction and ongoing 

development, training and support.  The member development programme should be reviewed to ensure corporate governance forms part of the training for 

members with governance roles.

8. The Council  should develop and agree an action plan in relation to the statutory, key and improvement recommendations included in this report, ensuring that they 

are specific, measurable, attainable, realistic and time-bound.

Management responses to these and the improvement recommendations are included in a separate Council report.

P
age 186



P
age 187



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

14

Introduction 

We have set out our findings in relation to this KLOE before any of the other KLOEs 

due to the overarching importance of senior officer and senior member relationships 

for the discharging of effective governance and decision making.

We have drawn on the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny’s (CfGS) Governance Risk 

and Resilience Framework, published in March 2021. The framework is designed to 

promote good governance practice and:

• recognises good governance is everyone’s responsibility, and whatever their role, 

officers and councillors are likely to carry out work that intersects with the Council’s 

governance framework every day;

• considers roles and responsibilities including those of the Council’s statutory 

officers and political leadership

• includes a focus on behaviours;

• sets out seven characteristics for considering governance risk and management, 

designed to reflect and supplement the broader CIPFA/SOLACE: "Delivering good 

governance in local government" framework (2016).

We have structured our findings by the seven characteristics, which are:

• The extent of recognition of individual and collective responsibility for good 

governance;

• Awareness of political dynamics;

• How the council looks to the future to set its decision-making priorities;

• Officer and councillor roles;

• How the Council’s real situation compares to its sense of itself;

• Quality of local / external relationships; and

• The state of member oversight through scrutiny and audit.

Twenty-five meetings were held with individual senior officers and senior members of 

the Council in relation to this KLOE, and our findings are based on our judgement of 

these key stakeholders’ observations.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

The extent of recognition of individual and collective responsibility for good governance

The Council is coming out of a period where there has been a breakdown in the trust, 

confidence and respect between senior officers and senior members, which has been 

characterised by:

• a perceived blame culture contributing to the siloed approach to directorates, with senior 

officers protecting their areas of responsibility and a lack of peer challenge within the 

Leadership Team and a risk of not giving bad news to members.

• a lack of collective responsibility and accountability in the absence of a corporate focus on 

key performance indicators and risks, weak corporate involvement in strategic financial 

planning, budget monitoring, and transparency.

• a lack of clarity on roles and responsibilities between officers and members.

• an inconsistent approach to the Council’s scheme of delegation, including relatively low 

spending thresholds, and an overly bureaucratic approach to decision making, leading to 

unnecessary delays.

The characteristics set out above are a significant risk to good governance. However, we note 

that there have been recent improvements. We discuss these below.

The recent widespread changes at chief officer level and the election of a new Leader and 

appointment of a new Cabinet, provide a significant opportunity for the Council to move away 

from this position. Indeed, there is consensus that senior officers and members are in a much 

stronger, more effective and constructive position than in the recent past. There is a clear 

desire to make the improvements required, and greater understanding of roles and 

responsibilities.

The current officer and member leadership team have introduced changes to manage the 

legacy issues noted above, including the Leadership Team attending informal Cabinet, the 

introduction of “star chambers” as part of the budget setting process, enhancing the training 

programme for members, and a review of the Council’s constitution including the scheme of 

delegation. All of these are positive actions.

Embedding the changes that have been made and that are planned will be critical if the 

Council is to realise its strategic ambition and provide effective governance. Whilst early 

indications are positive, the test of whether these changes  become effectively embedded will 

be how the council’s senior leadership manage legacy issues should they surface, and that 

they continue the work of the interim Chief Executive through the appointment of a high quality 

permanent Chief Executive.

An enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including on 

local government finance and their governance roles is recommended.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

P
age 188



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

15

Awareness of political dynamics

The Council has recently updated its Code of Member Conduct, incorporating updates to the 

Local Government Association (LGA) Model Code of Conduct. A member development 

programme is ongoing in relation to the Code and related areas such as gifts and hospitality, 

and arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code. The Council has also 

commissioned the LGA to provide a mentoring programme for senior members.

There was consensus from our interviews that senior officers fully understood the need to 

act with neutrality when operating in a political environment. However, the recent history of 

the Council means that some senior officers remain impacted by the blame culture which 

was perceived to be place. This, for example, has manifested itself in senior officers taking 

personally criticism of their service area, impacting on behaviours in meetings.

Whilst having in place effective codes, policies and procedures is good practice, it will be 

behaviours that determine whether the Council is able to successfully move away from its 

recent history. However, as already noted, the senior officers and members of the Council 

believe that there has been significant progress made in relation to how they operate and 

work together.

These changes in behaviour are recent and will need to be sustained to become embedded, 

so that the wider organisation - and external stakeholders - see and have confidence in this 

change.

The Council should consider how it provides appropriate support to those Chief Officers who 

were in role prior to the recent changes to senior officers, Leader and Cabinet. The Council 

should also ensure that corporate governance training is provided to members of the 

Cabinet and other members in governance related roles.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

How the council looks to the future to set its decision-making priorities

There was consensus that the Council has not provided appropriate time and space to think 

clearly about the long-term, to horizon scan and undertake the strategic thinking required.

It was recognised that this was because the Council has spent recent years “fire-fighting” 

both in terms of managing day-to-day operational issues, as well as having an insular focus 

responding to internal allegations and complaints. There is also evidence of reviews and 

issues being reopened.

A Corporate Plan (Vision 2030) has been in place but there has been a lack of clarity about 

how the Plan’s ambitions, priorities and outcomes should be delivered. This has been 

recognised, and the Council has recently invested significant leadership time in a refresh of 

the Corporate Plan, including external consultation. More work needs to be done including 

the establishment of Directorate Plans and Service Plans which will set out how corporate 

priorities will be delivered, including KPIs. The Leader has recently restructured Cabinet 

portfolios to better reflect the updated Corporate Plan.

The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the implementation 

of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored.

The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and 

Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning.

There has been an ineffective approach to budget monitoring and budget setting with:

- monthly budget reports not being reported to the Cabinet or the Leadership Team, and

- Directors and Portfolio Holders not being effectively engaged in budget setting 

discussions.

This has been recognised and star chambers for Cabinet members and chief officers have 

been introduced to support the budget setting process. The Director of Finance has 

also introduced regular Cabinet briefings and monthly budget reporting to Cabinet.

The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and 

principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin the 

budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, contingency 

and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

P
age 189



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

16

Officer and councillor roles

As already noted there has been a breakdown in trust and mutual respect between senior 

officers and members in recent years, which is recognised by those in senior officer and 

senior member roles. However, in general, those in these roles felt that working 

relationships, including trust and respect, had improved in recent months and were 

currently no cause for concern. Nonetheless it was also recognised that a cultural shift 

needs to become firmly embedded, and that stability and continuity is required from those 

in these roles.

The Council has agreed the following values to define how people do things and are 

reflected in the way people behave: 

• Trust – show respect, make personal impact, being open and honest.

• Unity – focusing on customers, working with a team, communicating effectively.

• Progress – being open to change, focusing on performance, getting team results.

Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone 

from the top” consistently reflects these values and behaviours. This is critical in 

ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and 

that all people are confident in adopting these values and behaviours. This should 

build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff 

engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and monitor progress on the 

organisation’s wellbeing.

As with all councils, it was recognised that members come from different backgrounds, 

bringing different skills and capabilities. A member development programme is in place, 

with the Council being supported by the Local Government Association (LGA) in its update 

and delivery, and member personal development plans have been introduced, which is 

good practice. 

The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme 

is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members with special 

responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession 

planning for these roles.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

How the council’s real situation compares to its sense of self 

It was felt that Members have a good understanding of their communities’ needs and what 

outcomes are required to meet these needs, particularly in relation to their wards. However,

it was recognised – as already mentioned – that the Council needs to ensure that these 

needs and outcomes are reflected in corporate priorities and outcomes and delivery is 

effectively monitored. Similarly, while improvements are being made in relation to public 

consultation on the Corporate Plan there remains no visible consultation on the Council’s 

budget setting priorities.

A key area of weakness is the lack of a performance management framework to manage 

corporate progress against key performance indicators. More also needs to be done 

to change the siloed approach to managing service delivery. We note that there has not 

been a structured or effective “early warning” system in place for the Council’s Leadership 

Team to identify key risks and issues.

This has been recognised and arrangements are being put in place so that the Leadership 

Team reviews strategic risks, budget monitoring and other performance data. However, 

further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework 

and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to collectively 

manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and set 

out clear lines of accountability, responsibility, and delegated authority. 

The Council has not had a consistent approach to financial benchmarking and so has had 

an absence of unit costs and financial trend data. The new Director of Finance has recently 

introduced financial benchmarking, which is good practice. This will need to be sustained 

to create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours are 

performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements. 

The recent restructuring of Council departments has resulted in a lack of clarity as to which 

department some services sit in, with the architects of the restructuring no longer working for 

the Council. Finance and services are currently working through such service allocations, 

but until this work is completed, financial reporting will not be fully aligned to departmental 

structures.

More generally there is good evidence that many senior officers are engaged in their 

respective professional bodies, which includes sharing learning, and that the Council is 

corporately engaged with the LGA.

P
age 190



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

17

Quality of local / external relationships

The quality of local / external relationships is mixed. The Council works with a variety of 

local public, private and third sector bodies, and these relationships vary by service. It is 

recognised that the pandemic has enhanced relationships with some local public sector 

organisations, such as the NHS and police, and with local voluntary and community 

organisations, and that the Council should ensure that these gains are maintained.

However, the Council has had an insularity in recent years, which in particular has 

impacted its engagement with businesses, and sub-regional bodies such as the LEP and 

the West Midlands Combined Authority. This is recognised by the current political 

leadership of the Council and there are signs of a move to more active participation in key 

sub-regional bodies. Rebuilding these key strategic relationships will take time for the 

Council to realise any benefits and “punch at its weight” as the 34th largest council in 

England. It will be important that this more outward looking approach is sustained.

The insularity of the Council has also meant that its communications to external 

organisations has been weak, for example resulting in a lack of external clarity on the 

Council’s key strategic priorities. This is also reflected in a passive approach to 

communicating to local residents and businesses. This too has been recognised and the 

Council is investing in its central communications team and aims to be more proactive in 

managing the narrative on the Council, including greater communication of positive news 

stories.

When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an 

opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, including with back-

bench members. 

The Council has a number of key external partners for the delivery of services such as 

waste and recycling, children’s social care, and leisure. These relationships are covered in 

separate KLOEs.

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

The state of member oversight through scrutiny and audit

The role that scrutiny and audit should play in holding a council’s decision-makers to 

account makes these roles fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 

democracy and good governance. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of 

public services and can drive improvements within the Council. Conversely, poor scrutiny 

can be indicative of wider governance, leadership and service failure.

The effectiveness of the Scrutiny Boards and the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee were 

viewed as needing improvement by those interviewed and, in particular, by senior officers.

The Labour Party has been in control of the Council since 1979 and for many years had not 

had an official opposition. The position changed at the May 2021 local elections when the 

Conservative Party gained nine seats (having previously held no seats). From a governance 

perspective this was welcomed by both the senior officers and senior members who we met 

during the course of our review.

However, whilst areas of effective activity were recognised, the long period of having no 

opposition has meant that the audit and scrutiny functions have not always effectively held 

key decision makers to account. This was a widely held view amongst officers we 

interviewed.

There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are aware of 

their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask the right 

questions. This is recognised by the Council who are working with the LGA to develop and 

provide a member training programme for members with scrutiny and audit roles.

P
age 191



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

18

Background

Following an inadequate / requires improvement Ofsted inspection in June 2015, at its 

meeting on 19 October 2016, Cabinet was advised of the Government’s Statutory 

Direction (under Section 479A of the Education Act 1996) to set up a new arrangement 

in the form of a children’s trust to deliver children’s social care services. As a result, 

Sandwell Children’s Trust (SCT) started operating on 1 April 2018. Any alternative to 

the current arrangement must be agreed by the Secretary of State for Education.

A 10-year service delivery contract (SDC) between the Council and SCT commenced 1 

April 2018, setting out the requirements for the provision of children’s social care. The 

SDC obligation was to reach an Ofsted judgement of ‘Requires Improvement’ by 2020 

and to secure an Ofsted judgement of ‘Good’ by 2022. However, due to the impact of 

COVID-19 and the cessation of full inspections by Ofsted in 2020, a full Ofsted 

inspection may not take place in 2021 but is more likely to be in early 2022.

The Ofsted Inspection carried out in November 2017 and reported in January 2018 

noted that most of the recommendations from the Ofsted 2015 inspection had not been 

fully met and some services have declined in effectiveness.

Our Audit Findings Report for 2019/20 noted that we had completed a risk-based review 

of the Council’s value for money arrangements and concluded that the Council had 

proper arrangements in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources except for its arrangements around children’s services which have been 

rated as ‘inadequate’ by Ofsted.

We concluded that there were weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for delivering 

services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after and care 

leavers. These matters were considered evidence of weaknesses in proper 

arrangements for understanding and using appropriate and reliable financial and 

performance information to support informed decision making and performance 

management. This led to a qualified ‘except for’ value for money conclusion for 

2019/20.

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

KEY FINDINGS

Governance arrangements

There is a robust governance framework in place for the Council and other stakeholders to 

monitor the performance of  SCT. 

The contract requires that the Director of Children’s Services, together with Council senior 

officers from finance and legal services, and the Chief Executive of the Trust meet on at 

least a monthly basis to consider performance and operational matters at an Operational 

Partnership Board (OPB).  The Council’s Lead Member for Children’s Services and the 

Chief Executive meet quarterly with the Chair of the Trust Board and the Chief Executive of 

the Trust, at a Strategic Partnership Board (SPB).

The contract also requires the Trust to provide a comprehensive annual review for 

consideration by the OPB and the SPB and then by the Cabinet. Progress against the 

performance indicators for the period 1 April to 31 March is set out in an Annual Review, 

together with information about financial, workforce, and other performance areas.

On behalf of the Council, the Trust has developed an Improvement Plan in response to the 

Ofsted inspection findings published in January 2018. This plan was presented to Cabinet 

in September 2018 and covered a three-year period. The Trust has undertaken a refresh of 

the Improvement Plan. The delivery of the improvement plan is overseen by an 

Improvement Board, which is independently chaired, with representatives from the Council, 

Trust and Department for Education attending.

DfE appoint the Chair of the SCT Board, carry out six-monthly monitoring visits, are invited 

to attend OPB and meet regularly with the Chair and CEO of the Trust. They also attend 

the Improvement Board and have provided approximately £7m of improvement funding to 

the Trust over the past three years, to address specific improvement areas. 

The Trust is required to report to the Council’s Scrutiny Board twice each year as part of 

the obligations set out in the SDC. At the meeting of 23 August 2021, reports in respect of 

the annual review, the improvement plan, the pandemic response and the adoption service 

were presented to the Children’s Services and Education Scrutiny Board. The Council’s 

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee and Cabinet also received reports on the Trust, and 

the Cabinet approves the Trust’s business plan.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.P
age 192



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

19

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (cont’d)

Governance arrangements (cont’d)

In addition to the above, SCT activity also features in wider children’s services governance 

arrangements, the Children’s Safeguarding Partnership and the Children and Young People 

Commissioning Partnership. 

In summary, there are comprehensive governance arrangements in place relating to 

SCT. Given the complexity of these governance arrangements we recommend a review to 

ensure that officers and members with roles on the various governance bodies are clear on 

their responsibilities, to avoid duplication and ensure effective communication between those 

holding governance roles and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of 

SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

Contract management

The SDC includes a set of 15  Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which are monitored by 

the Council. We have been advised that when the SDC initially went live that this KPIs were 

not agreed, rather they were agreed during the first quarter of the Trust’s operation. They 

have not been revised subsequently. 

An officer with formal responsibility for managing the SDC was not appointed until Spring 

2021, previously this role was spread across a number of different officers.

As part of contract management arrangements there is provision to negotiate the Council’s 

annual funding with SCT (the contract sum) which feeds into Council’s annual budget setting 

process. 

The SDC sets out the steps and timing of the negotiation of the contract sum, which includes 

reviews by OPB, SPB, and the Council’s Cabinet and Scrutiny Board.

The following contract sums have been agreed: 

• 2018/19: £58,229,695

• 2019/20: £64,043,000

• 2020/21: £65,828,000

• 2021/22: £68,028,000

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

A request for additional £500,000 has been made by SCT during this financial year, 

which the Cabinet has approved and is being funded via a COVID-19 reserve. This 

will form a contract variation to the 2021/22 contract sum.  

The Council has sought to reduce the contract sum since the creation of the Trust, 

seeking improvement and transformation from SCT. This has not happened and has 

negatively impacted on relationships during some annual contract sum negotiations. 

This was particularly the case during 2020 when the Council and SCT were unable 

to agree the contract sum. As a result, DfE became involved and the then Children’s 

Minister supported mediation. DfE funded specialist financial support to provide 

assurances to the Council that SCT’s contract sum request was reasonable. This led 

to the Council approving the contract sum. Such an impasse has not happened 

subsequently.

SCT financial performance

SCT has a track record of annual overspends and not achieving planned savings 

targets. The overspend in 2020/21 was approximately £2m, however one-off 

government COVID-19 funding resulted in the final outturn being an underspend. 

The Council has worked with SCT to re-profile the Trust’s underlying overspend over 

the three years of the Council’s current Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP).

Children’s social care has significant demand pressures nationally, which have been 

exacerbated by COVID-19, and SCT has seen increased costs such as for 

placements for looked after children. 

SCT did not deliver £250k of their planned savings target in 2020/21.  SCT has a 

savings target of £1.8m in 2021/22. We have been advised that £1.3m of the 

planned £1.8m savings are on target to be achieved, with plans in place to deliver 

the remaining £500k. The savings primarily relate to staffing and placement costs, 

with the latter sensitive to increased demand.  

SCT has Service Level Agreements (SLAs) to buy back services from the Council for 

specified back-office services. These SLAs total £2.1m for 2021/22 and represent an 

income to the Council. 

P
age 193



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

20

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

Council management of financial risks

The Council’s main source of monitoring the financial performance of SCT is via SCT reports 

to monthly meetings of OPB and quarterly meetings of SPB. SCT provides updates on 

forecast overspends and mitigations. 

Given the financial pressures on SCT, the Council has set aside the following reserves and 

contingencies:

• High-cost placements reserve of £1m (£500k for 2022/23 and £500k for 2023/24) with 

SCT having to submit evidence should they claim for an additional contract sum.

• Earmarked COVID-19 reserve of £1.9m for 20201/22 which SCT claims against on a 

quarterly basis by demonstrating need. The additional £500k contract sum already 

mentioned was funded via this reserve.

• General contingency of £1.6m for 2021/22

Leadership and relationships

The CEO of SCT and the Council’s Director of Children’s Services (DCS) are key roles and 

their working relationship is critical to the effectiveness of SCT delivery. There had been 

stability in both roles until this year, with the Council’s DCS leaving in August and a change 

to the SCT CEO in March. Since the DCS left the Council in August, an officer is acting up in 

the role of DCS, supported by an external interim. A new, permanent DCS is due to start in 

November 2021. The working relationship of the CEO of SCT and the Council’s new 

permanent DCS will be critical going forward

This is particularly the case as the Council did not transfer all children’s services to SCT, 

retaining direct provision of services such as education, SEND transport and children’s 

centres. The Council is also responsible for other services such as housing and has a key 

role in supporting SCT in relation to early intervention and prevention, and in reducing 

demand for children’s social care. This includes how the Council and SCT work with children 

and families and other local agencies such as the police. We note that the Children and 

Young People Strategic Partnership has not yet agreed an early help plan and associated 

performance framework. The role of the DCS will be critical in collaborating with partner 

organisations to reach agreement on this plan.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

SCT workforce

There have been a number of changes to SCT senior management including the 

Finance Director role and a restructure which reduced the number of Directors from 

three to two. However, the key workforce issue for SCT relates to operational roles 

with significant recruitment and retention challenges with social workers. SCT has 

invested in a recruitment campaign called 12 reasons to work in Sandwell but this 

has not been effective in resolving recruitment and retention issues, which we note is 

an issue for the West Midlands and children’s social care nationally. The workforce 

are also initiative weary, which reflects the actions resulting from repeated Ofsted 

reviews.

Nonetheless, the use of agency staff to cover vacant roles, and staff sickness levels,  

pose a significant risk to the continuity and quality of service delivery, along with 

increasing costs for the Trust, which in turn is likely to impact on Council budgets.

Risk management

The Council has SCT on its strategic risk register, and updates on this are provided 

to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee. SCT is also included in the Children’s 

Services departmental risk register.

SCT have adopted  a risk management framework and maintain a risk register which 

is reviewed quarterly and is reported to the Trust’s Audit Committee. SCT 

management report to OPB on key risks facing the trust such as those relating to 

financial, performance and quality risks. SCT management discuss key risks with 

Council management outside the monthly OPB meetings. However, SCT does not 

share its full risk register with the Council.

P
age 194



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

21

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (cont’d)

Outcomes for children

Ofsted inspections were suspended during COVID-19. The most recent focused visit was 

undertaken by Ofsted was in March 2021 which was reported in May 2021, which noted:

• Both the Council and SCT have risen to the challenge of the COVID-19 pandemic.

• The impact of the third lockdown and rising COVID-19 rates have had a significant 

impact on staffing, with increased staff turnover and sickness.

• The Trust continues to have serious weaknesses in some areas identified in previous 

inspections. Decisions that help to secure the living arrangements of children on a long-

term basis are not timely, and placements are not always well matched. There is a lack 

of effective oversight and challenge to poor practice from team managers and 

independent reviewing officers. Support services to meet the mental health needs of care 

leavers are still not routinely in place.

• In some practice areas, not all managers have fully understood the full breadth of the 

issues, and this has impacted on the progress and pace of improvement. Many of the 

identified areas of weakness are longstanding and pre-date the pandemic. An 

understanding of practice deficits has not led to timely improvements and solutions for 

many children. The leadership team has plans in place to drive the required changes but 

has been slow to implement these successfully, and there is little evidence of impact.

During our review, in August 2021, Ofsted reviewed the fostering service which was rated 

Good.  This was the first Good rating received by SCT and indicates positive progress is 

being made in relation to this service area. It also provides SCT with an opportunity of 

moving the narrative on its improvement trajectory, for example in relation to recruitment and 

retention issues.

Conclusion and recommendations

Whilst the recent Ofsted rating of fostering services demonstrates some positive progress, it 

is clear from the March 2021 Ofsted focus visit that some areas of significant improvement 

are still required. Staff turnover and quality of practice remain a risk to safeguarding children 

and the quality of their outcomes.

It is positive that Ofsted have reported the success of SCT and the Council’s response to 

COVID-19, and we note that demand led pressures and recruitment and retention 

challenges are not unique to Sandwell.  

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

However, during its time of operation SCT has struggled to move away from day-to-

day firefighting and has not been able to invest in early intervention and prevention, 

or improve and transform to the extent required by the Council. Looked after children 

numbers and social worker caseloads, whilst both are reducing, remain high.

The statutory responsibly for children’s social care sits with the Council via the role of 

the DCS. As such there is joint accountability for the successful delivery of services 

and outcomes for children. Relationships between the Council and SCT have on 

occasion been an “us and them” culture with a lack of collaborative approach and 

joint accountability.

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise 

corporate effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure it 

remains on its improvement trajectory. This should include: 

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and 

prevention strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team 

in place to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current 

circumstances. 

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, 

and take a realistic and pragmatic view on the level of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT 

so that they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure 

effective communication and that there is a collective understanding of the 

performance of SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

P
age 195



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

22

Background

Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) was formed by the Council in 2004 due to underperformance 

of the in-house leisure service. SLT was contracted via a Management and Funding 

Agreement (MFA) for a 30-year period: 2004 to 2034, and SLT is currently in the 18th 

contract year (1 April 2021 – 30 March 2022). SLT manage all Council leisure facilities apart 

from one site, for which the Council has contracted with Places Leisure.

Funding for SLT was agreed for the first five years of the contract, which was extended in 

2009 and 2011. Thereafter the annual management fee paid to SLT has been based on the 

approval of a rolling three-year business plan. The Council remains responsible for 

maintaining and investing in the leisure assets managed by SLT.

When SLT was created Council staff transferred to the Trust under the Transfer of 

Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE). A deed of variation 

was agreed in 2013 which permitted SLT to implement a separate single status agreement 

and move their staff from council terms and conditions of employment.

A deed of variation was agreed in 2016 that in the event of a new leisure facility being built in 

Smethwick to replace existing Smethwick facilities, SLT would be the operator. To that end 

SLT have been working with the Council as the assumed operator of the forthcoming 

Sandwell Aquatics Centre, which is being constructed as a venue for the 2022 

Commonwealth Games.

OUR FINDINGS

Contract management

The MFA requires SLT to provide quarterly monitoring reports to the Council which is 

followed by a contract review meeting. The MFA sets out the KPIs for monitoring the 

contract. There have been attempts by the Council to update the KPIs during the delivery of 

the contract, for example to include outcomes such as contribution to the health outcomes in 

the borough, which has largely been unsuccessful. The key performance indicators are 

based on throughputs, such as the total number of visits, with a target to increase visits by 

1% each year of the contract.

The contract with SLT stipulates an authorised officer from the Council should manage the 

contract and make decisions relating to the delivery of the contract. The long-standing officer 

in this role was seconded in January 2018 and a more junior officer was seconded to the 

authorised officer role. This has led to confusion within the Council and with SLT as to who 

is in the authorised officer role, due to more senior officers supporting the officer in the 

authorised role. This in turn has impacted on the agility of decision making by the Council 

and its effective working relationship with SLT.

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust 

SLT Business Plan

The MFA sets out that SLT should have at any one time a business plan agreed for a three-

year period, which the Council agrees on a rolling annual basis. The business plan for 

2021/22 has been agreed, but the Council has not yet agreed the business plan covering 

2022/23 to 2023/24, which should have been approved by end of March 2021.

If the Council and SLT fail to agree a business plan the contract resolution approach is 

instigated. The Council is currently seeking external legal advice to clarity the resolution 

process. If resolution can’t be reached either party can terminate the contract.

The current impasse has resulted from the Council wanting, over a number of years, to 

significantly reduce the management fee for the contract, in the context of ongoing funding 

reductions to the Council, and the Trust demonstrating progress towards achieving financial 

sustainability and less reliance on Council funding. The Council and SLT have not been 

able to agree the level of funding for 2022/23 and 2023/24.

As part of this process the Council has sought various clarifications on the draft business 

plan submitted by SLT and has engaged, via Sport England, a consultant to review the 

Trust’s financial position. A feature of recent business plan discussions has been the Council 

seeking details and clarifications from SLT relating to its financial position, such as the 

Trust’s financial and management accounts, and the Trust’s approach membership data and 

marketing plans. Both the Council and SLT feel there have been delays in the 

responsiveness from the other party during this period.

On 2 August 2021 SLT sent the Council an early warning letter highlighting financial 

concerns and a £750k worse than expected financial position for 2021/22 and 2022/23. SLT 

suggested that the impact of any changes were likely to increase the management fee 

requested for 2021/22.

The Council management met SLT management on 11 August 2021and the Council 

confirmed areas of outstanding information and clarification. The Trust advised that their 

audited 2020/21 accounts would be presented to the SLT Board on 14 September 2021, 

and thereafter be shared with the Council. SLT management also advised that by reprofiling 

their budgets the £750k was no longer being sought.

At the time of concluding this review the business plan and funding agreement for 2022/23 

and 2023/24 had not been approved. Typically, the process for negotiating the 2024/25 

business plan would have recently started, to conclude by the end of March 2022.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

P
age 196



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

23

Industrial relations 

SLT, in line with the 2013 deed of variation with the Council, went through a process of 

withdrawal from the National Joint Council (NJC) staff pay and conditions, which are those 

used by the Council, and which had transferred with staff when they TUPEd to SLT from the 

Council in 2014. 

This decision was taken in November 2020,  with staff needing to agree to the new terms 

and conditions. Council management have reported they felt they were not involved in this 

decision, whilst SLT management have advised the decision was taken to reduce costs, an 

issue which formed part of business plan negotiations. 

SLT management negotiated with trade unions and the Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration 

Service (ACAS) were brought in by SLT to help mediate. The trade unions sought industrial 

action to reverse the decision, which has led to two episodes of strike action during 2021.

GMB have ceased industrial action, whilst Unison have continued. 16 Unison members have 

taken strike action out of a total SLT workforce of over 400, and the most recent Unison 

ballot for strike action was due to conclude on 13 October 2021. 

We understand that all SLT staff have now agreed to the new terms and conditions, which 

SLT management have confirmed will not be reviewed until April 2022.

The strike action has seen one leisure facility close on one occasion, with some services 

impacted at other leisure facilities. 

Conclusion and recommendation

The Council has sought over many years, via the annual business planning and funding 

agreement process, for SLT to become more commercially innovative in its operations, and 

to reduce its reliance on Council funding. This has not been successful, and relationships 

between the Council and SLT have now broken down, reflected in the significant delays in 

approving the 2022/23 to 2023/34 business plan and associated funding agreement.

The ultimate responsibility for the operation of leisure services sits with the Council as the 

commissioner of SLT and, as with SCT, the Council has at times appeared to lose sight of 

this joint responsibility and an “us and them” culture has been in evidence. 

At the time of finalising our report the Council has triggered the contract escalation 

procedure and written to SLT management for the Leader of the Council and the CEO of 

SLT to meet and agree a definitive timescale for resolution. 

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

The Senior Leadership  - both officer and member - must take ownership of this 

issue, prioritise corporate effort and take urgent steps to either resolve the current 

position with SLT or consider the options for alternative provision should either 

party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the continuity of future 

leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

P
age 197



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

24

Background

In 2007 the Council signed a 15-year Strategic Partnership Agreement with BT for the 

provision of various support services. As part of this arrangement BT agreed a pre-let from 

a company called Stofords, the long-leaseholders of  1 Providence Place (Providence Place) 

for a term of 15 years at a rent of £1.2m per annum. Following the demise of this Strategic 

Partner Agreement the Council decided to take an assignment of this lease, thereby 

becoming tenants and inheriting the lease obligations. Simultaneously the Council sub-let 

part ground, first and fourth floors to BT on flexible terms (with breaks) at a rent starting at 

£605k ore annum (with uplifts).

In July 2014, Cabinet subsequently approved the purchase of the long leasehold interest in 

Providence Place at a cost of £23.558m. This purchase price was supported by an open-

market valuation by DTZ of the long leasehold interest. The valuation reflected the 

guaranteed income stream.

In June 2019, the Department for Education (DfE) approved the provision of a new, 750 

place secondary free school in West Bromwich, to be delivered in partnership with Shireland

Academy and the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra (CBSO). It was proposed that 

the Council sell the freehold interest of Providence Place with vacant possession, along with 

a development plot to the DfE. DfE would invest up to £17m in converting the building into a 

school, with a provisional completion date of September 2023. The Council considered that 

the building of the Academy and the basing of the CBSO in the area would have significant 

economic and cultural benefits.

The Council undertook an assessment of its property needs, reviewing its office estate and 

space requirement for office workers. It was decided that the Council no longer required the 

capacity offered by Providence Place and on 22 July 2020, the Cabinet approved that 

Providence Place was surplus to the Council’s office accommodation requirements.

A receipt of £8.46m was generated from the sale of Providence Place to DfE, which was 

significantly below the acquisition price of £23.558m in 2014. This is because the building 

is being sold with vacant possession, without the benefit of a secure income stream. The 

sale price is based on a valuation report by Lambert Smith Hampton dated 17th March 

2020. It is possible that the Council could have achieved the acquisition price if it had sold 

with a long-term tenant. The Council is still committed to making the loan and interest 

payments related to the initial purchase. The total remaining loan and interest (for the 

period 2021 to 2055) are £31.69m.

KLOE A3: Providence Place

As part of our 2019/20 financial statements audit we considered the actions taken by the 

Council in both 2014 and 2020. When viewed separately the actions do not appear 

unreasonable. The 2014 decision to purchase the asset with a long leasehold interest was 

based on external valuations at market value. Similarly, the sale to DfE was at the current 

market value based on there being no long leasehold in place.

However, when viewed together it is clear that the Council made a significant loss on the 

basis of these decisions. We estimated that the direct loss against the 2014 purchase 

price of Providence Place was c. £15m (Purchase price £23m, sale price £8.46m). We 

also noted that future loan and interest payments of £31m need to be made (against which 

only the capital receipt arising from the sale of £8.46m can be set). In effect the total loss 

to the Council is c£22.5m. This is a significant loss. We note that the Council has received 

rents from BT totalling £5.386m and it has also had beneficial occupation of part ground, 

second and third floors since 2014. However, it would also have incurred maintenance and 

running costs for the building.

Our 2019/20 audit findings report (AFR) considered the reasons for such a significant loss. 

Whilst difficult to determine we considered that:

• greater challenge should have been applied to the original purchase price, especially 

as the price paid appears to reflect a long leasehold period but break clauses existed in 

the leases.

• the original purchase was intended to support the Council’s Office Accommodation 

Strategy. It was envisaged that by 2017, the Council’s workforce would reduce by 20-

30% and the premises could then be used to accommodate more staff from less 

efficient buildings, thereby rationalising the use of council assets. The later change in 

the estates strategy with Providence Place being considered to be surplus has 

significantly undermined the original basis on which it was purchased.

We noted that, as Providence Place was being sold at its current market value and the 

decision to purchase it was made in 2014 we do not consider that the sale impacts on our 

2019/20 VfM conclusion. However, due to the significance of the loss we have raised this 

matter with the Chief Executive to ensure that future purchases or sales of land and property 

are clearly aligned with a long-term estate strategy. Our AFR recommended that 

management should ensure that all purchases and sales of assets are clearly aligned with 

the Council’s accommodation strategy.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  P
age 198



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

25

KEY FINDINGS

The purchase and disposal of Providence Place went through the Council’s governance and 

decision-making processes in place at these times, drawing on external property 

consultants and valuations advice.

Following the approach by DfE, and the Council determining there was no longer a use for 

Providence Place for office accommodation, an options appraisal was undertaken which was 

reported to Cabinet and Scrutiny. This options appraisal considered options in relation to 

Providence Place such as disposing of the site on the open market, retaining and leasing the 

property, and the Council funding the school instead of DfE.

The Council has a statutory duty to provide appropriate levels of school places, but the 

options appraisal did not consider alternative options for the location of the Academy outside 

of West Bromwich. Similarly, the options appraisal also did not represent a formal cost-

benefit-analysis between alternate sites outside of West Bromwich. We note that other sites 

suggested by the DfE within West Bromwich would have impacted the highway network and 

/ or led to financial loss by the Council.

We note that if an alternative site was approved, the Council could have continued to utilise 

the building or alternatively may have been able to lease the building on a long-term basis 

thereby reducing the loss incurred.

The Council’s post pandemic workplace vision and strategy supported the Council’s decision 

that it no longer had a use for Providence Place for office accommodation. Providence Place 

would then become solely a commercial property investment, and it is not clear how the 

decision taken to dispose of Providence Place formed part of the Council’s property strategy 

including an asset disposal strategy.

British Telecom Lease

The Council agreed to dispose of Providence Place in August 2020 and contracts were 

exchanged with DfE provided that the Council agreed to the surrender of BT’s lease by 30 

June 2021 in order to vacate the building. BT held the lease until 2026 and had no 

contractual obligation to move. On 6 June 2021 Cabinet agreed to the terms of BT 

surrendering their lease at Providence Place.

KLOE A3: Providence Place (cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  

These terms included the Council having no obligation to provide BT with 

alternative accommodation, the Council would pay BT a surrender premium equivalent 

to one year’s rent of £446.4k + VAT, BT would be waived liability for dilapidation and 

decommissioning works and the Council would be liable for BT’s legal costs for 

surrender. Contracts would be exchanged by the end of June 2021 and BT’s surrender 

date be 31 December 2021 to satisfy the Council’s obligations with DfE. The costs to 

the Council would be funded via a sinking fund for Providence Place to cover 

unforeseen costs.

Conclusions and recommendations

As stated as part of our 2019/20 financial statements audit we considered the action 

taken by the Council in both 2014 and 2020. Viewed separately the actions do not 

appear unreasonable. The 2014 decision to purchase the asset with a long leasehold 

interest was based on external valuations at market value. Similarly, the sale to DfE 

was at the current market value based on there being no long leasehold in place. 

However, when viewed together it is clear that the Council made a significant loss on 

the basis of these decisions.

Property transactions such as those relating to Providence Place are complex. Where 

the Council considers similar transactions in future, those charged with making 

decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the detail of the 

options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a responsibility 

to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully understood these 

complexities and risks.

The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and 

disposals are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies.

P
age 199



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

26

Background 

The Council’s Special Education Needs and Disabilities Passenger Transport (SEND 

Transport) contract expired at the end of August 2021. Currently 19 operators deliver 122 

contracts which are in place to meet the Council’s statutory duty under Section 508B and 

Schedule 35B of the Education Act 1996, whereby local authorities are under a statutory 

duty to provide free school transport to eligible children.

The Council’s budget for the provision of SEND Transport was significantly under pressure 

with a forecast spend of £6.1m in 2020/21 against a budget of £2.5m. This was caused by a 

combination of factors, in particular increasing demand.

The Council undertook a procurement exercise, pursuant to its Procurement and Contract 

Procurement Procedure Rules in relation to a new SEND Transport Contract for 2021-25 

(the new Contract) to award a new contract – at a potential total cost of £22m over four 

years. The Council sought to achieve greater economies of scale and value for money 

alongside addressing new and emerging issues within the sector including the risk of 

modern-day slavery, and improving the overall delivery of the service .

In August 2020, the Council’s Cabinet approved the establishing of a new Dynamic 

Purchasing System (DPS) for the new Contract. A DPS was used for the existing SEND 

Transport contract. Following stage one of the new DPS, a closed bidder tender process 

was undertaken as stage 2 in March and April 2021. An evaluation of the proposals took 

place and a Cabinet Report was prepared setting out the conclusion of the evaluation, and 

the recommended awarding passenger transport related contracts via the new DPS effective 

as from 1 September 2021.

The Council’s Cabinet, at its meeting on 16 June 2021, considered the award of four lots as 

the outcome of the procurement, which would have provided a £300k saving on the previous 

contract as well as improving service quality.  The Cabinet deferred the matter following 

various concerns being raised over the process which had been raised following the 

publication of Cabinet papers prior to the meeting taking place. 

An internal audit fact finding exercise regarding the proposed award of the SEND Transport 

Contracts for 2021-25 was then undertaken. 

The Council took external legal advice on the options available, and an emergency Cabinet 

meeting took place on 21 July 2021 which agreed to continue to use the existing contracts 

with providers for the continued provision of SEND transport until 23rd February 2022, in 

order that the Council meets its statutory duties. 

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

KEY FINDINGS

Internal Audit review

Internal Audit undertook a review, reporting in June 2021, which examined the 

background to and decision making relating to the 2021-25 contracts, compliance 

with the Council’s procurement and contract rules, the approach adopted to supplier 

inclusion to DPS and the associated tender, how the outcome of the tender 

evaluation was reported to Members, and considered if any inappropriate or 

fraudulent activity had taken place. This report noted:

• Some of the concerns raised related to the identity of the owner of the two 

companies initially selected as the successful bidders, and the fact he was a 

former employee of the Council and the son of a former Deputy Leader, who 

was investigated into a series of land sales involving the Council (known as the 

Wragge report). As neither individual had any known current role or association 

with the Council they did not form part of the scope of the review.

• Many of the concerns were raised by current suppliers of this service to the 

Council that have not been successful in the latest procurement exercise, so 

there would be an element of potential disappointment and disgruntlement 

behind parts of them. However, each of the concerns were dealt with objectively, 

and in certain cases they were found not to be fully accurate in their 

interpretation. For example, a number of officers from both procurement and the 

service area were involved in the assessment process.

The internal audit report concluded:

• The procurement was undertaken with the correct intentions.

• Some concerns and issues raised have an element of substance.

• A number of issues regarding the quality of certain information provided by 

bidders in support of their applications

• A number of key Council processes were not followed. In particular the need for 

officers involved in the exercise to formally declare if they have any potential 

conflict of interests, the completion of a Starting a Procurement form which 

captures key information from the outset, and to respond to bidder’s applications 

within agreed timescales. However, while internal procedures within service 

areas had not always been followed, none of these were in themselves a direct 

breach of the Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules.

P
age 200



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

27

KEY FINDINGS (cont’d) 

• Sufficient documented consideration does not appear to have been given to both 

financial modelling and the risks, particularly around resilience, associated with the 

potential placing of all four large contracts with just two companies, who in themselves 

come under the ownership of one individual.

• None of the officers interviewed indicated that they had been placed under any pressure 

by any other officer or elected member as part of the procurement exercise. 

• While the significant reduction in lots would see a subsequent reduction in the number of 

companies the Council would be contracting with, from the evidence available to them, 

Internal Audit found nothing to suggest that the reduction of competition was undertaken 

with the sole aim of benefitting two particular companies. Similarly, they came across no 

evidence to suggest that any inappropriate or fraudulent activity had taken place.

The Internal Audit report concluded that the issues identified in the review in all likelihood will 

necessitate a need to revisit the procurement exercise. In particular the way in which use 

was made of the DPS including restricting the number of lots available, how initial decision 

making was considered, agreed and recorded, and how information and the lack of detail 

thereof, was relayed back to the Cabinet in order for them, and later Scrutiny, to make an 

informed decision, on what is in effect a £20m contract award.

Other reviews

The Council’s Corporate and Budget Scrutiny Board and the Children’s Services and 

Education Board have agreed to jointly examine existing and proposed arrangements for 

SEND transport provision. The Council’s Audit and Risk Assurance Committee Chair is 

undertaking a fact-finding exercise into the original procurement exercise. Both activities had 

not been concluded during the course of our review. 

The Council sought to commission an independent review of the original procurement. This 

review planned to assess the compliance and probity of the original procurement, including 

re-running the evaluation stage This did not proceed due there being only one bidder, and 

the cost being deemed not best value.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

Financial management

Since 2018 the overall cost of providing travel assistance including parent mileage, 

travel passes and more recently the offer of personal travel budgets has increased 

by 45% from £3m in 2018/19 to a projected cost of £6.4m for 2021/22. Over the 

same period SEND pupils requiring travel assistance has increased from 680 to 850 

with the average cost per pupil increasing from £5.1k pa to £7.6k pa. This situation 

is not unique to the Council.

The pressure on the SEND Transport budget has been managed over recent years 

by using carried forward underspends in the Education Directorate budget or using 

one off contributions  from reserves. These were fully utilised by the end of March 

2021 and the Council agreed additional funding for 2021/22 with the budget 

increased to £5.6m.  A projected budget pressure of £800k remains, which excludes  

the impact of continuing with the existing DPS framework from September 2021 to 

February 2022.

The Council’s approach to managing the overspends prior to 2021/22 mean that the 

base budget for SEND Transport did not reflect the true cost of providing the 

service. This led to some of the criticisms in relation to the value of the planned 

procurement award.

The extension of the original DPS contract by six months has seen an increase in 

forecast costs for the service 

Delegation and communication

Cabinet approved the procurement approach at its meeting in August 2020, 

delegating the detailed design, including lot structure, to the Travel Assistance 

Service team, working with the procurement and legal teams, with the procurement 

team managing the overall procurement process

A key change to the existing DPS framework, which focused on costs, was to 

introduce a greater focus on quality in the new DPS framework, in relation to 

children’s safeguarding, and employment practices.

P
age 201



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

28

Delegation and communication (cont’d)

Whilst the teams involved in developing the new contract design were aware of the planned 

service quality benefits, such as improved safety standards, reliability and quality of the 

service, more could have been done to ensure key decision makers were aware of the 

reasons for the change and the planned benefits when the new procurement approach was 

discussed and agreed in August 2020, and prior to the planned approval in June 2021, 

noting the significant changes to members of the Cabinet between these two dates.

A comparison between providers used on the current contract with those who were being 

proposed to be awarded contracts via the new DBS framework may have also helped 

managed a more effective contract award discussion.

The publication of the proposed award

The Council chose to include the recommendations for the award of the new DPS contracts 

on the public part of the agenda papers for the Cabinet meeting on 16 June 2021, including 

the results of the evaluation. This was the direct cause of challenges being made to 

members of Cabinet prior to the meeting taking place.  It is unusual for such potentially 

commercially sensitive information being made public in advance of a decision being made 

on the award of a major contract. 

The outcome of the June Cabinet meeting has significantly impacted on the Council’s 

reputation, including the matter being raised in Parliament, and has further impacted on the 

relationship between officers and members including levels of trust. The pausing of the 

procurement has also increased the level of expenditure on the services placing further 

pressure on the Council’s budget, and creates risks for the Council such as accusations of 

suppliers canvassing members during the intervening period.

Conclusion of the procurement

The procurement of the contract was initially paused, pending the outcome of the various 

reviews being undertaken. However, in order to not have to further extend the current DPS 

contract, work has been undertaken, including obtaining external legal advice, to review the 

structuring of the lots, and to consider whether the new DPS framework will be used. A 

report is planned to be presented to Cabinet on 3 November 2021 to agree how to proceed.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

Conclusions and recommendations

The focus of service quality in the new DPS framework represents important and 

positive progress for the Council in managing a major contract of this 

type. However, weaknesses have been identified by Internal Audit in some aspects 

of the procurement approach, although these did not represent a breach of the 

Council’s Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules.

The manner of the pausing of the procurement has damaged the Council’s 

reputation, put further strain on officer and member relationships, and created 

uncertainty and risks over how the conclusion of the procurement will be viewed 

and opened the Council up to potential legal challenges.

The Council already uses a DPS for commissioning travel assistance services, so 

has familiarity with the approach, as do providers. Whilst not the only procurement 

option, DPS is considered an appropriate procurement approach for a public sector 

organisation procuring services of this type. Operators can bid to be appointed to 

lots on the framework, and if unsuccessful continue to try do so by meeting the 

Council’s service standards. When the Council requires a service, operators on the 

DPS framework are asked to tender for the work.

This was a major and complex procurement. An Invitation to Tender was 

advertised on 12 March 2021, with a closing date of 2 April 2021, for the contract to 

go live on 1 September 2021. This time frame was inadequate for such a large and 

complex contract.

The Council’s senior leadership – both officers and members – must place 

priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport procurement 

exercise to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should 

include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s 

focus on service quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer 

teams with responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and 

oversight of the personal transport market.

P
age 202



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

29

Recommendations (cont’d)

For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major 

procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council 

policies and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate 

procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high 

quality bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, scrutiny and 

decision making. This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the 

procurement for the council to undertake the necessary strategic thinking and 

planning required, and mitigate the risk of not making an award in the planned 

timescale

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

P
age 203



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

30

Background

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) was incorporated on 14 January 2011 as a limited 

company. SLaP was established by the Council as a vehicle for protecting the freehold of 

the Council’s schools and related sites. SLaP is a non trading company and has no 

employees.

The Council is the sole shareholder of the company. SLaP is the freeholder of 99 education 

assets and leases them to the Council for a nominal sum of £1 per year in the form of 

ground rent, with the Council responsible for the maintenance of the assets as a condition of 

the lease.

Our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report noted that we have had extensive discussions with 

officers around the accounting for SLaP property and around the history and purpose 

of the company.

We agreed with management’s view that the company should be wound up as soon 

as possible and that Council representatives should discuss with the Directors of the 

company the ongoing purpose of the company and whether it could continue in its 

current form. We requested additional assurances around the security of schools’ 

assets should the company be wound up before a decision is made on the future of 

the company, with the company expected to be wound up during 2021/22.

KEY FINDINGS

Reason for creating the company

At the time of establishing SLaP, the Council understood that new legislation relating to 

academy schools created a risk that schools converting to academy status could take over 

the freehold of the Council’s education assets. On taking external legal advice after 

establishing SLaP it was confirmed the freehold of education assets would not pass to 

academies.

Given the cost and additional complexity of managing an arm’s length company 

arrangement, it is unclear why the Council has not sought to take education assets back in 

house sooner.

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

KEY FINDINGS

Compliance with legislation

The company and its Directors are governed by Company Acts law. There is 

evidence that the Directors of the company were not familiar with their legal 

responsibilities in relation to proper record keeping and failing to meet statutory 

deadlines for example submitting company accounts.

A number of Council members and officers have been appointed to company 

Director roles during the period of the company’s operation, with one Director in 

place at the time of this review.

SLaP has never formally appointed a company secretary. A former Council Chief 

Executive, when a Director of the company, undertook the company secretary role 

informally. When they left their Director role in January 2019 it has been unclear who 

has subsequently delivered this role.

The administration of the company’s business has been undertaken by officers of the 

Council, such as legal and finance, supporting members in company director roles, 

including an understanding of their company roles and obligations. We have not 

been able to confirm if formal guidance and training has ever been provided to 

company Directors. This has created a risk that Directors have not fully understood 

their legal responsibilities, including the distinction between the Council as 

shareholder and leaseholder, and SLaP as freeholder of the education assets.

The company was created without secretary of state consent, the Council has 

subsequently sought counsel advice that broadly indicated that if no government 

challenge had arisen, it was not likely to occur.

The company’s accounts have been qualified in relation to asset valuations and 

ownership. We note that shares in the company were not issued in accordance with 

the relevant legislation.

Council’s governance arrangements

SLaP is a risk on the Education Service risk register, but has not had a profile with 

the Council’s senior leadership, and nor has there been a senior individual, since the 

former Chief Executive left the Council, with effective understanding and 

organisational oversight of the company.

P
age 204



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

31

Current position

The Council has appointed external legal advisors to advise on the winding up of the 

company. The legal advisors are advising both the Council as shareholder and leaseholder, 

and the company in the form of the company director.

In October 2021 the Cabinet acting as shareholder of the company approved instruction to 

the SLaP director to pursue voluntary liquidation. An insolvency practitioner has been 

engaged to administer the winding up of the company. The insolvency practitioner has 

appointed a tax advisor to advise on any tax implications and has advised the Council that 

due to the nature of the company and the company’s assets, they are able to transfer the 

assets to the Council on the basis of their indemnity as liquidator, ensuring they are not 

responsible for any liabilities identified during the winding up process.

The Council’s legal team is reviewing the legal title and beneficial interests of each asset to 

ensure the Council will have legal title when transferred from SLaP, and whether beneficial 

interests sit with the Council or, for example if this should be transferred to another body 

such a governing body of a school. Should such examples be identified, the beneficial 

interests should have been transferred prior to the asset being transferred to SLaP.

The winding up process had not concluded at the time of our review.

Conclusions and recommendation

The Council has incurred additional costs to set up, administer and wind up SLaP when the 

purpose of establishing the company proved to be unnecessary.

There has been significant weaknesses in the understanding of roles and responsibilities, 

between those acting on behalf of the Council and those acting on behalf of the company. 

There has been a lack of consistent senior leadership oversight of the company, highlighted 

by delays in progressing its winding up. There are a number of instances where the relevant 

legislation has not been followed, such as the issue of shares.

The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length 

company in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those officers / 

members of the Council in company director roles are clear of their role and 

responsibilities in relation to that company.

Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that 

company directors fully understand their company roles and responsibilities, that the 

company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to 

company directors. The purpose of the company should be revisited on a regular 

basis to determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

, 

.

P
age 205



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

32

Background 

The Council was approached by the organisers of the MADE music festival, for the potential 

to use Sandwell Valley, a Council owned site, as the venue for the festival, to be held in 

August 2020. MADE festival was established in 2014 with aims of celebrating West Midlands 

contemporary music, creative arts and street food. 

The Council agreed to host the event, recognising its alignment to the Council’s ambition to  

strengthen Sandwell Valley’s identity as a ‘destination gateway’ into the Sandwell / West 

Midlands region, and as part of the wider proposals for establishing Sandwell Valley as 

future major festival site. The event would generate income for the Council of £18,000-

£20,000 for hosting the festival.

Due to the subsequent outbreak of COVID-19 the festival was postponed in 2020, to take 

place on 31 July and 1 August 2021. The ongoing pandemic during 2021 and uncertainty 

regarding the timing of changes to government guidelines led to a late decision not to allow 

the festival to take place on the rescheduled dates. This led to a breakdown in relationship 

with the festival promoter, who considered legal action against the Council, a situation which 

was resolved with the festival ultimately taking place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

KEY FINDINGS

The original decision to host the festival was made by the then Leader of the Council on 15 

January 2020. The Council’s events team managed the planning for the event, including 

liaising with other relevant statutory bodies such as the police, via the Council’s Statutory 

Advisory Group (SAG). SAG also had a role to ensure the Council’s statutory responsibilities 

were met in relation to issues such as safety, traffic management and licencing 

permissions.

In the months and weeks prior to the rescheduled 2021 event taking place SAG received 

updates on all events due to take place in the borough, those hosted by the Council and 

those hosted by other bodies. During this period there remained uncertainty over the timing 

and nature of the government’s four stage road map for easing COVID-19 lockdown 

restrictions, and because of this there were delays in formally approving that the MADE 

festival could take place as planned, with government delaying until 19 July when all legal 

limits on social contact in England would be removed.

The Council’s Strategic Incident Management Team (SIMT) which was set up to consider 

various COVID-19 related activities, considered the viability of the rescheduled 2021 event. 

This included infection rates and vaccine take up in the borough, and the risks associated 

with the high level of visitor numbers expected to attend the event . SIMT comprised the 

majority of Directors on the Council’s Leadership Team and relevant Heads of Service. 

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

SIMT raised concerns about the viability of holding the event on 31 July and 1 

August which were shared with event organisers and promoter at a meeting on 23 

June 2021.

The event promoter advised the Council that should restrictions lift on 19 July 2021 

and the event was not permitted to go ahead it would have serious consequences on 

the future sustainability of the event.

On 30 June at a further meeting the Council advised the organisers that the Council 

was not able to grant permission for the event to proceed as scheduled, until the 

Council had seen and interpreted the revised government regulations and guidance 

after 19 July 2021 and assess the COVID-19 safety of the event. The Council 

advised the organisers that these timescales meant it would be unwise for them to 

advance their current plans and a later date should be considered for the event.

The Council received a COVID-19 risk assessment from the organisers on 6 July 

which was reviewed by the Director of Public Health and discussed with the portfolio 

holder for Strong and Resilient Communities. Both raised concerns about holding 

the event on the planned days. The organisers requested the opportunity to submit a 

revised proposal for the event to take place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

On 13 July the Council became aware that tickets were being advertised by the 

promoter for the event on the planned event days and queried with the organisers 

why the event was being promoted. The Council then received a letter from the 

promotor’s solicitors seeking Council justification for the decision to postpone, 

believing the Council had approved the event booking. The Council sought counsel 

advice, as the event booking form had a disclaimer in relation to COVID-19 and, in 

its view, the organisers had not provided all relevant documentation, for example, in 

relation to road closures.

The organisers also undertook negotiations with an alternative site outside of the 

borough which proved unsuccessful. The promoter advised the Council that the 

financial impact of not holding the event as planned could result in bankruptcy and 

he would consider taking legal action against the Council seeking recovery of costs.

The Council met the organisers on 22 July to discuss alternate September dates and 

the promoter announced the postponement of the event the following day.

P
age 206



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

33

KLOE A6: MADE Festival (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

KEY FINDINGS (cont’d)

SAG met on 26 July to consider the alternate September dates and confirmed with the 

organisers on 29 July approval for the new dates, subject to satisfactory finalisation of all 

relevant plans and compliance with terms and conditions of booking.

The event took place on 18 and 19 September 2021.

Conclusions and recommendations

There was uncertainty on the timing and detail of government regulations relating to the 

staged removal of lockdown restrictions being faced by all organisations and individuals 

during this period. However, the Council demonstrated a lack of decisiveness and clarity of 

decision making with the organisers of the event, with the governance around this decision 

making unclear.

The strategic reason for originally making the decision to host what was planned to be an 

annual event was its alignment to the Council’s ambition to strengthen Sandwell Valley’s 

identity as a ‘destination gateway’ into the Sandwell / West Midlands region, and as part of 

the wider proposals for establishing Sandwell Valley as future major festival site. We note 

that the Council’s relationship with the organisers has been negatively impacted by how 

the decision making process was managed. There is a risk that the organisers may not 

seek the borough as a venue for future events.

As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure 

that there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the governance 

arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

P
age 207



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

34

Background

The Council chose to outsource its waste and recycling service and in November 2010, 

following a procurement exercise, the Council confirmed the appointment of a consortium 

led by Serco to deliver a 25 year, £650m integrated waste and recycling services contract. 

Council staff were transferred to Serco under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 

Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE).

Serco are responsible for the collection of household food and garden waste and recycling, 

street cleansing, the associated vehicle fleet, and the household recycling centre (HRC).

During the course of COVID-19 the Council has become increasingly concerned about the 

performance of a number of aspects relating to the delivery of the contract.

Service delivery has also been impacted by industrial action from some of the Serco 

workforce.

KEY FINDINGS

Contract management

The contract includes 34 Key Output Targets (KOTs) which are the basis for contract 

performance management. The contract is self-monitoring and Serco provide the Council 

with monthly performance data. Penalty points are accrued for failure to meet KOTs 

and these are reviewed each month by the Council, with financial penalties based on penalty 

points accrued each month. Failure to regularly meet KOTs over a twelve-month period can 

trigger a contractual default. There have been no defaults during the contract to date.

There had been formal contract monitoring meetings every six months between the Council 

and Serco in the form of a Waste Management Board. The Council Leader and relevant 

portfolio holder attend these board meetings and the Board is the formal decision making 

body. The Board meetings were suspended as a result of the onset of COVID-19 but have 

been subsequently re-introduced on a three-monthly basis.

The KOT in relation to recycling rates sets out a sliding scale of annual improved rates, with 

60% being the target for 2021 and the actual rate being 32%. This is calculated on the 

tonnage of recycling against refuse collected. Serco have failed to meet these annual targets 

and may incur financial penalties of up to £1.2m per year. The reasons for under 

achievement of the target are considered to be household behaviour and weekly collections, 

the latter forming part of the original contract specification. The Council has provided Serco 

with a letter of comfort reducing this target and reducing the annual financial penalty.

KLOE A7: Waste service
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

The Serco contract was the first major outsourcing of its type undertaken by the 

Council. There is a perception that the approach to managing the contract did not 

adequately change from the way these services were managed when the Council 

operated a direct labour organisation model. Over the past ten years of the contract 

there have been a limited number of contract variations and requests made for 

additional services were not effectively specified. 

The KOTs are considered well defined, but they are generally based on annual 

quantity rather than frequency and service quality. The Council is intending to 

engage an external consultant to review the KOTs to determine whether these 

contract specifications can be amended.

The vehicle workshop is operated by the Council and the Council maintains the 

vehicles through a separate maintenance contract with Serco. The contract terms 

meant that Serco were to replace fleet vehicles after 8 years of the contract (five 

years for smaller vehicles) which did not happen. This was identified during 2018 

and discussions were held between the Council and Serco on whether the Council 

would borrow to fund the capital expenditure. The Council took external legal advice 

which confirmed such an action would represent state aid. A Fleet Board was 

introduced in May 2021 for Serco and the Council to progress a fleet replacement 

programme and Serco have committed to replace 18 refuse collection vehicles with 

delivery due in December 2021, as well as investing in mixed domestic recycling 

trucks.  Serco have also hired newer sweeper vehicles, pending their replacement.

Financial management

Serco submit a monthly bill in line with the contract payment mechanism.

In recent years the Council’s budgets for waste management has underspent and an 

underspend is forecast for 2021/22. The underspend is a result of financial penalties 

incurred by Serco, and income the Council receives from recyclate sales. The prices 

for the latter are dependent on market fluctuations. The underspend is used to 

maintain a reserve, currently £3.5m, which is used to manage fluctuations in disposal 

market rates and contract fees.  

P
age 208



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

35

Service performance

COVID-19 impacted on service delivery – which was common across the sector – as the 

workforce were impacted by absences, for example due to self-isolation via shielding or 

because of other COVID-19 regulations, as well as social distancing measures introduced 

for those who were at work. Garden and food waste collection were suspended during the 

first lockdown and the HRC was closed.  Serco is still not operating a full service in particular 

food waste collection.

The pandemic has impacted on both waste collection and street cleansing, with street 

cleansing staff backfilling waste collection roles.  Vehicle reliability has also contributed to 

service performance.  

The pandemic shone a light on working practices and performance at Serco, contributing to 

service performance issues. During 2021 Council management have taken action to work 

with Serco to ensure necessary improvements are introduced. We understand, that as a 

result Serco’s performance management of poor performing crews has improved, which has 

led to suspension of some staff and others leaving. This has contributed to industrial 

relations issues. 

In early October the 100% in-day completion of waste collection rounds was achieved for the 

first time in approximately 9 months. 

Serco have developed  a waste and recycling recovery plan, and a recovery plan for street 

cleansing. At the time of this review they were being appraised by Council officers and 

were to be approved by the Waste Management Board. 

Industrial relations

Council staff were TUPE’d to Serco on the council’s terms and conditions for the first ten 

years of the contract.  Industrial relations issues arose in May 2021 when trade unions 

(Unite, Unison and GMB) raised issues with Serco management in relation to staff 

grievances, salary benchmarking, health and safety concerns and staff complaints relating to 

bullying.  

We understand that Serco management have investigated the complaints and have 

concluded that the staff complaints related to management seeking to improve working 

practices and did not represent bullying. Serco management have also investigated staff 

grievances and health safety concerns and believe these to be  resolved. Unite and Unison 

agree, but GMB  believe they remain unresolved.

KLOE A7: Waste service (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

The Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (ACAS) are involved in arbitration 

with GMB. At the time of this review strike action was planned and GMB introduced a 

2-month overtime ban for their members. 120 of the 300 workforce are GMB 

members. Serco’s senior management continue to engage GMB to try to bring 

resolution to the dispute.

Leadership and staff continuity

There have been changes to the senior officers at the Council with the relevant 

Executive Director and Director leaving in the past twelve months. An interim 

Director has been in role since May 2021 with a permanent Director due to start in 

November 2021.  Until the interim Director was in role there was inadequate senior 

officer involvement in relation to the contract at  time when this was needed to 

manage Serco’s contract performance during the pandemic. The interim Director has 

brought focus to the situation including engaging with senior management of Serco. 

The Council’s contract manager has been in role for seven years. There had been 

similar stability in this role at Serco until there were changes  in early 2020. More 

generally there have been a high number of management changes at Serco over the 

past year including the regional manager, regional managing director, operations 

manger and the senior contract manager. These changes have led to a lack of 

continuity in relationships with the Council and impacted on effective partnership 

working. In August 2021 a new senior contract manager and operations manager 

started but both left in September.  The Serco managing director has introduced a 

new structure responding to concerns raised by the Council, and has instigated a 

programme of staff engagement.  Serco are also taking steps to better manage poor 

performing staff, which is also leading to some further staff changes. 

As noted elsewhere in this report, the Council’s Leadership Team has not received 

effective corporate monitoring information on key council service indicators, which 

includes the Serco contract. This has been recognised and changes are being made 

to address the situation.

P
age 209



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

36

Other findings

The performance issues associated with the Serco contract have seen an increase in 

complaints from residents, and increased enquiries to the Council’s contact centre. Fly 

tipping has increased in the borough and the closure of, and then waiting time delays at, the 

household recycling centre are considered a contributory factor.

There is a need to review enforcement of public realm issues so the Council is clearer if 

the ownership sits with Serco or Council services such as parks, housing and grounds 

maintenance.

On 22 July 2021 the Council’s Economy Skills Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board 

agreed to carry out a review of Waste Services and the Cleanliness of the Borough. The 

working group undertaking the review had not reported at the time of producing this report

Conclusions and recommendations

Serco have not brought the innovation and investment expected by the Council, and the 

culture of the workforce has impacted on Serco’s ability to deliver the contract. Whilst there 

are issues relating to Serco management, it is only recently that Council management have 

taken a robust approach to managing poor contract performance, which has led to some 

performance improvement. Serco remains on an improvement journey.

The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are 

approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to monitoring their 

effective delivery.

The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, 

and review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to ensure they are 

line with Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring 

of contract outcomes.

The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco 

are made, such as a new vehicle fleet.

KLOE A7: Waste service (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

P
age 210



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

37

With their local council and statutory partners (such as NHS, police and fire bodies) the 

DPH needs to be able to take responsibility for the oversight of their council’s public 

health services, with professional responsibility and accountability for their 

effectiveness, availability and value for money.

The DPH at Sandwell, as has been the case for DPHs in other localities, has had an 

increased profile during the COVID-19 pandemic. This has included interviews with 

national and regional media

The DPH, in their role to promote the Council’s public health response to the pandemic, 

also used social media to provide updates and to engage with the local community. In 

addition, the Council’s central social media accounts and website also provided key 

public health messaging relating to the pandemic during the period relevant to our 

review.

Politically Restricted Roles

Senior local government officers, such as the DPH,  are employed in what are termed 

politically restricted roles. 

This relates to the Local Government Officers (Political Restrictions) Regulations 1990, 

a Statutory Instrument created under the powers of the Local Government and Housing 

Act 1989. Officers in a politically restricted role should not , for example, canvass on 

behalf of a political party, nor “speak to the public at large or to a section of the public 

with the apparent intention of affecting public support for a political party”. 

These restrictions take the form of terms and conditions that are deemed to be 

incorporated into relevant officers' terms of appointment and conditions of employment.

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the Director 

of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and changes to 

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Introduction

Unlike the other KLOEs, KLOE A8 has a particular focus on the governance arrangements 

relating to one director of the Council, and it is important to first set out the background to 

this director role. We note that senior and statutory officers can expect a greater degree of 

scrutiny than other officers, which relates to the role rather than the individual.

The Role of the Director of Public Health

The Director of Public Health (DPH) is employed solely by the Council, but is a joint 

appointment by the Council and the Secretary of State of the Department of Health and 

Social Care (DHSC) or a by a representative from a relevant departmental Arm’s Length 

Body (ALB). During the timescale covered by this review the relevant ALB was Public Health 

England (PHE). 

The DPH is a chief statutory officer of the council, a status defined by section 2(6)(zb) of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989, inserted by Schedule 5 of the Health and Social 

Care Act 2012.

“Directors of Public Health in Local Government – Roles, Responsibilities and Context” was 

published by DHSC and PHE in January 2020 under section 73A(7) of the NHS Act 2006 

and of which local authorities must have regard. This guidance document set out the role of 

a DPH which includes:

• Being an independent advocate for the health of the local population and provide 

leadership for its improvement and protection.

• Being the person who elected members and senior officers look to for expertise and 

advice on a range of public health issues, from outbreaks of disease and emergency 

preparedness through to improving local people’s health and access to health services;

• Improving population health by understanding the factors that determine health and ill 

health, how to change behaviour and promote both health and wellbeing in ways that 

also reduce inequalities in health;

• Providing the public with expert, objective advice on health matters.

.

P
age 211



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

38

The Council did not have a formal policy in relation to senior officers providing 

interviews or otherwise engaging with regional or national media. From the interviews 

we have undertaken there appears to have been an expectation that any such requests 

would be discussed with the Council’s communications team and where appropriate 

the Chief Executive and other relevant senior officers. 

The Council at the time offered training for senior officers who engaged with regional or 

national media.

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the Director 

of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and changes to 

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Media and Social Media Policies

Due to aspects of this KLOE relating to media and social media coverage it is helpful to set 

out the Council’s policies and arrangements  in place at the time period covered by this 

review. 

The Council introduced a Social Media Policy for officers in March 2017, and the policy 

related to both personal and professional /  business social media accounts, and for usage 

whether during working hours or otherwise.  The policy included the following:

• Social media should never be used in a way that breaches any of Sandwell Council’s 

other policies, procedures or guidance, including but not limited to: officer code of 

conduct, disciplinary procedure.

• Inappropriate use of social media can pose legal risks as well as reputational risks.  

Every employee therefore has a responsibility to maintain high professional standards of 

online behaviour. 

• Great care should be taken when making a comment, post or blog, or ‘liking’ a post as it 

has the potential to be widely read / seen and re-distributed.  Communications can be 

misinterpreted, taken out of context and are open to abuse.  Any sensitive, emotive or 

political content could damage reputation whether it was intentional or otherwise.

• Sandwell Council employees are encouraged, where relevant, to use social media via 

established council accounts, as a means to inform the public and foster openness and 

engagement with local communities, as well as to promote council activities or inform the 

public of service disruptions

• If employees see any inappropriate content about Sandwell Council, its staff, partners or 

customers, or content that could bring the Council into disrepute, it is their duty in the first 

instance to bring this to the attention of their line manager or contact human resources 

front line for assistance.

• Never post anything which may be considered as unlawful, libellous or defamatory, 

threatening, harassing or abusive, racially offensive, harmful, obscene or of a sexual 

nature.

• Employees who fail to observe the standards of conduct set out in this policy may be 

subject to disciplinary action.

• If an employee becomes a victim of cyberbullying in relation to their employment they 

should bring this to the attention of their line manager…for further advice.

P
age 212



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

39

Alleged Harassment Case: Background

In June 2020 the Council’s DPH contributed a video to support Mental Health 

Awareness Week, speaking out about their personal mental health history, as part 

of a wider Council campaign to reduce the stigma around mental health. The video 

was used on the Council’s internal intranet, and the Council also broadcast the 

video on their You Tube channel and posted it on the Council Facebook page. The 

DPH posted the video on their personal Facebook page.

The video led to a local blogger posting a series of blogs and comments on social 

media over an extended period relating to the DPH,  which  the DPH considered 

were abusive, constituted harassment, and had a negative impact on their mental 

health. Other individuals also contributed similar posts on social media. 

In January 2021 the DPH raised the issue with their line manager, the then Chief 

Executive, and asked for the Council's support. Advice was taken from a QC who 

advised that the threshold for legal action was met and was confident an injunction 

could be achieved.

The Council had previously taken external legal advice, in October 2018, 

confirming the Council could indemnify individual employees under the Local 

Authorities (Indemnities for Members and Officers) Order 2004 for costs of 

proceedings they may bring in connection to their roles as officers excluding 

defamation claims.

On 24 February 2021 the then Deputy Leader approved that the Council would 

support the DPH in taking legal action on the basis that the Council had a duty of 

care to their employee. Under the Protection from Harassment Act 1997, the 

Council could not be a claimant, only an individual could claim. The then Deputy 

Leader also agreed to indemnify the DPH against legal costs.

A claim was served on the blogger for the harassment of the DPH on 3 March 

2021. The blogger did not agree to the consent order for the Council to cease legal 

action. On 9 April 2021 the blogger made an application to have the claim struck 

out.

On 16 July 2021 the judge struck out the claim.

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the 

Director of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and  

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Alleged Harassment Case: Key Findings

The 2004 Order allowed for the Council’s Executive to make the decision in relation to 

indemnifying an officer. The Council  has a “strong leader” governance model which means 

that the executive powers are vested in the Leader of the Council. At the time the decision 

was made the then Leader was suspended by their political party, and in their absence, the 

then Deputy Leader had the full powers of the Leader to make the decisions in relation to 

supporting a legal case and indemnifying the DPH.

The Council had spent significant time in 2018 understanding the legal framework and 

2004 Order in relation to a similar case, including obtaining counsel opinion. In February 

2021 key Council officers concerned felt that the 2018 advice and associated legal 

framework could be applied to the situation of the DPH and the legal framework had not 

materially changed. Following the decision being made, the Council sought retrospective 

counsel advice, which  was received on 25 May 2021, following receipt of initial advice on  

27 April 2021, stating that the decision to indemnify the DPH was legally robust.

The outcome of the judgment was based on the judge’s view that the blogger’s right of 

freedom of expression (including the protection of journalistic expression) outweighed the 

DPH’s interests, including circumstances where the DPH had spoken publicly about their 

mental health, and that the blogger was deemed to have not been aware that their actions 

constituted harassment.

The judge noted that the judgement did not imply that criticisms made of the DPH by the 

blogger were justified, nor did it cast doubt on the impact of the comments on the DPH.

The Council  officers involved were surprised at the outcome of the case based on the 

legal advice received and management have written to the barrister expressing 

disappointment. Mental health charities and commentary in the local government media 

has expressed concern around the judgment and that the bar for demonstrating 

harassment is too high for high profile public figures.

The total legal costs incurred by the Council relating to this action were £96,332 + VAT. 

This includes the legal costs of the defendant / blogger which represent over 40% of the 

total costs. The Council  challenged the blogger’s initial cost submission which was 

significantly reduced.

P
age 213



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

40

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the 

Director of Public Health by an external blogger, and  the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and  

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Alleged Harassment Case: Key Findings (Cont’d)

The blogger  removed blogs and social media postings when the claim was served. 

Following the claim being struck out social media postings restarted, being made by 

the blogger and others.

The blogger entered into correspondence with Grant Thornton in July 2021 stating 

that the Council should not pay for the legal costs of the DPH, and that the indemnity 

was unlawful. Grant Thornton asked the blogger to clarify why the Council’s actions 

were not lawful and that Grant Thornton had been provided with no evidence that the 

2004 order does not apply to the actions undertaken by the Council. Grant Thornton 

has not received a reply from the blogger.

Grant Thornton has engaged Bates Wells to provide independent legal advice on the 

actions taken by the Council in indemnifying the DPH.  Bates Wells did not identify 

any obvious grounds on which the granting of the indemnity could be said to be 

unlawful and noted that the reasons given for granting the indemnity appear to be 

rational, and take into account relevant factors. 

Whilst the DPH is a joint appointment between the Council and Secretary of State for 

DHSC, the DPH is an employee of the Council, and we are content that it was the 

Council’s decision to make in relation to the indemnity.

Alleged Harassment Case: Conclusions and Recommendations

The issues relating to the DPH occurred during the COVID-19 pandemic when the 

DPH had a critical and high-profile role locally.  Given the legal advice received by 

the Council and senior officer recommendations it is unsurprising that the Deputy 

Leader agreed to support the DPH in taking forward legal action.  

We are satisfied that the Council had the legal powers to indemnify the DPH, and 

that the Deputy Leader had delegated powers to make this decision. 

Should the Council find itself in a similar scenario in the future, it would be prudent to 

obtain external legal advice on the specific circumstances under consideration, 

before any final decision on an indemnity is made.

P
age 214



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

41

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the Director 

of Public Health by an external blogger, and  the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and changes to 

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Local Contact Tracing Service: Background

The national NHS Test and Trace service was launched on 28 May 2020 to form a central 

part of the government’s COVID-19 recovery strategy. The service was established to test 

anyone with symptoms of the virus. Anyone who tested positive would then be contacted to 

share information on recent interactions. The service would then contact these individuals to 

make them aware that they had to isolate for the then requirement of 14 days due to having 

had close contact with someone who tested positive. The service’s aim was to help control 

the rate of reproduction and reduce the spread of the virus.

In late July 2020  the national service was successfully reaching approximately 65% of 

contacts in Sandwell.  This was considered to be  too low by the Council, with the reason 

due to  particular demographic and socio-economic characteristics of Sandwell such as 

cultural diversity (including the level of English of some residents) and employment 

situations for some residents for example working in processing industries, factories and 

warehouses who were at greater risk of being exposed to the virus.

The purpose for introducing the local service was to utilise public health and other 

employees of the council, in particular those employees who were able to speak languages 

other than English, to:

• increase the successful number of contacts with people who had tested positive to 

reiterate public health advice to the individuals concerned, and

• to ascertain other persons that they had been in contact with so that they too could be 

also be contacted and given advice.

The local service was piloted on 29 July 2020 and went live the following day.

Sandwell was one of the first councils to set up a local contract tracing service and received 

regional and national media interest as a result, including requests for interviews with the 

DPH.  

The media focus led to some individuals making criticisms of the council and the DPH  

relating to the introduction of the service. These criticisms were covered by local media and 

featured on some social media platforms.

Local Contact Tracing Service: Governance Arrangements

“Sandwell COVID-19 Stay Safe in Sandwell”  is the Council’s COVID-19 emergency plan 

(the Plan). The Plan notes that in response to the continuing community transmission of 

COVID-19  both local and central government are able to enforce local restrictions on an 

area in the country if it is considered that the number of daily new cases, or local 

outbreaks, is too high. These restrictions are decided by DHSC based on advice from PHE 

and the Joint Biosecurity Centre. 

The Plan, which was endorsed by the Council’s Emergency Committee on 31 July 2020, 

notes that the COVID-19 Framework, produced by DHSC, set out how national and local 

partners would work with the public at a local level to prevent, contain and manage 

outbreaks. “Successful management of local outbreaks is key to breaking  the chains of 

COVID-19 transmission to enable people to return to and maintain a more normal way of 

life”. The Council published its COVID-19 Local Outbreak Plan in line with the DHSC 

framework.

The Plan provided an overview of the interim governance arrangements established in 

relation to pandemic management:

P
age 215



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

42

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the 

Director of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and  

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Local Contact Tracing Service: Governance Arrangements (Cont’d)

The Plan recognised that good communication and engagement with 

communities and businesses would be key throughout the management of 

COVID-19 in the borough; both to support prevention of outbreaks, but also 

during any outbreak or additional measures put in place by central 

government. The Council’s communications team would take a key role in co-

ordinating communications,  working with PHE and the Council’s Public 

Health team. 

Local Contact Tracing Service Governance Arrangements: Key 

Findings

The roles undertaken by PHE were replaced by the UK Health Security 

Agency (UKHSA) and Office for Health Improvement and Disparities 

following a review by the then Secretary of State in August 2020. Health 

protection responsibilities transferred  from PHE to UKHSA on 1 October 

2021, with PHE formally ceasing to exist on 1 April 2022.  The Emergency 

Plan still refers to PHE and the Council should review the Plan to ensure that 

changes following the demise of PHE are reflected.

We have been unable to locate a document setting out formal membership of 

the Incident Management Team (IMT) which received updates on 27 and 28 

July 2020 on progress in setting up the local contract tracing service and an 

update was presented to the Emergency Committee on 31 July 2020 to 

endorse the decision to introduce the service. The decision to proceed with 

the local service was the responsibility of IMT, however the minutes of IMT 

on 27 and 28 July 2020 do not make reference to approval to proceed with 

the local service. However, on the basis of our interviews we are satisfied 

that the decision to proceed with track and trace had the full support of the 

leadership team.

Local Contact Tracing Service: other key findings

On 31 July PHE named Sandwell  as an area of concern on its watchlist following a rise in the 

number of COVID-19 cases. Sandwell's rate of infection rose to 28.1 per 100,000 people in the 

week up to 27 July 2020, up from 26.9 the previous week. The PHE  watchlist was based on the 

weekly rate of COVID-19 cases in local areas, as well as the trend of whether infections were 

rising or falling. There were three categories into which local council areas could be placed on the 

watchlist at that time: areas of concern, areas for enhanced support, and areas of intervention.  

An area of concern was one of those areas with the highest prevalence of COVID-19 but where 

local officials were taking targeted actions to reduce the number of infections.

PHE actively encouraged councils to find solutions to manage their response to the pandemic, 

based on a council’s understanding of their locality. Senior regional representatives of PHE and 

DHSC were aware and supportive of the Council’s plans to establish a local contact tracing 

service, recognising that at the time, it was imperative to break the chain of transmission with 

more rapid contact tracing.

The Council worked directly with  national NHS Test and Trace when establishing Sandwell’s 

local service. This included being provided with access to the Contact Tracing and Advisory 

Service (CTAS) database. This database was created by NHS Test and Trace to record 

information about people who had been in contact with someone who had tested positive for 

COVID-19.

The local contract tracing service successfully managed to reach local residents identified by 

NHS Test and Trace to encourage them to self-isolate. As at 21 February 2022, 96% of contacts 

were being made in Sandwell, which according to UK Health Security Agency (UK HSA) data, 

was the highest rate of relevant local authority areas in the West Midlands.

When looking at the number of average confirmed COVID-19 infections during the week 

immediately prior to the local service, and the same UK HSA data for a month later, infections 

increased by 10.1% compared to an increase of 88.1% for the West Midlands, and an increase of 

78.4% for England.

The Council was one of the first in the country to establish a local contract tracing service and 

was therefore one of the forerunners of what became the model on which many other councils 

introduced their own local contact tracing service. 

The Council’s local contact tracing service was recognised by the Local Government Association 

(LGA) in October 2020 as one of a number of examples of good practice.

P
age 216



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

43

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the Director 

of Public Health by an external blogger, and  the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and changes to 

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Local Contact Tracing Service: Media Coverage

In late July 2020 the Council received coverage in  local media (radio and newspapers) 

and from a national news broadcaster relating to the introduction of the Council’s local 

contact tracing service. In early August a number of criticisms from local politicians (not 

elected members of the Council) were made that were covered by local media and 

appeared on social media platforms.  Individuals were reported in local media on 1 

August 2020 as having said:

• The Council’s contact tracing service was a "publicity stunt“.

• If “officers stopped playing at being politicians and concentrated on their day jobs 

Sandwell’s results would have been better and complaining about [national] track 

and trace”.

• “Saying that the Government's track and trace system is not working and that we 

have to set up our own, is I’m afraid, scaremongering.”

One local MP, referring to the 1 August 2020 article, posted on social media the 

following day:

• The Council is “backtracking from” claims that they have set up a local track and 

trace system, and the claims are “simply not true.” 

We understand that the context for this last comment was made because the DPH had 

made a public statement that the local service “was  dovetailing with the government’s 

service” (ie national NHS Test and Trace). 

The Council’s then Chief Executive initiated a lessons learned review which included a 

fact finding exercise in relation to the above. This review included obtaining the view of 

the Association of Directors of Public Health (ADPH) as to whether the DPH’s comments 

were political in nature. The ADPH, which is the professional body of DPHs, concluded 

that the DPH’s comments were not a criticism of the government and that they did not 

make a political statement, and that their actions were in line with the role of a DPH.

As part of the Grant Thornton  review we have sought our own evidence in relation to 

the above comments and are satisfied that the local contract tracing service was in 

place at the time the above comments were made, although it had recently commenced. 

We have found no evidence that the DPH or Council were scaremongering about the 

reason to introduce a local service, nor that the DPH was making party political 

comments.

However we do note that the DPH’s comments were robust where they felt they needed to 

correct inaccuracies, and recognise that some individuals may have perceived them as being 

critical of the government, even though this was not the intent.

The Council had in place a social media policy that was good practice and set out clearly the 

responsibilities of officers. We note that, as per the findings in KLOE B6, that the Council has a 

separate social media policy in place for elected Members which was reviewed and updated 

during 2021 with associated training being offered.

The Council acknowledges that directors in public facing roles have a role to play in delivering 

key messages and engaging with the public / local community. 

We note that the DPH did not always discuss with the then Chief Executive or the 

communications team the messaging in advance of having a media interview. The DPH had 

received media training but under the Council's policies and guidance at the time there was no 

requirement to consult with senior colleagues or the communication team. We consider that 

such consultations would have been helpful, but acknowledge that they may not have led to a 

different outcome in terms of the media perception of the DPH and the Council. We consider 

that the Council should make clear in its policies and guidance when consultation is necessary.

The DPH used their personal social media accounts (Facebook and Twitter) to promote public 

health messages and engage with the community. There is evidence that such a personal 

approach leads to better community engagement than via a corporate (ie the Council’s own) 

social media account. Use of a personal social media account can create the risk 

of cyberbullying, which is recognised in the Council’s social media policy.

The then Chief Executive sought to rebut the statements made in the media by local 

politicians, but rightly wanted assurances on the facts before doing so. The fact finding 

exercise that took place at the time was not able to access call logs to fully validate the data 

provided, which caused some delays in the finalisation of the report. Once finalised we 

understand that effective rebuttals never took place. We note that this exercise was 

undertaken in the context of Council resource being focussed on pandemic response and 

management, but consider that a formal comment by the Council could have removed any 

misunderstanding between the Council and external parties.

We note that the fact finding exercise also incorporated a lessons learned review in relation to 

the local contact tracing service and issues relating to shielding covered separately in this 

report. This review was concluded without the draft or final report being shared with the DPH, 

and the current interim Chief Executive has issued an apology to the DPH on behalf of the 

Council, noting that the approach taken was not appropriate and should have been more 

collaborative and transparent. 

P
age 217



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

44

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH 
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the 

Director of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and  

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

Engagement with MPs

The Council’s then Leader and then Chief Executive met weekly with local MPs during 

the timescale relating to this review, to provide updates on and respond to clarifications 

relating to the pandemic. 

Given the context of the pandemic at least two local MPs requested on a number of 

occasions between April and July 2020 that the DPH and Director of Adult Social Care 

attended these meetings. However, the then Leader and then Chief Executive took an 

approach that council directors would not attend meetings with local MPs. Rather that  

the Leader and Chief Executive would obtain clarifications from directors, as required, 

to report back to local MPs. 

One local MP was quoted in local media on 1 August 2020 expressing their frustration 

at not being able to meet Sandwell public health officials. We are aware that this 

frustration was compounded by the DPH making themselves available for media 

interviews, whilst the then Leader and Chief Executive of the Council were not 

permitting direct contact between the DPH and local MPs. 

On or around the 3 August 2020 the same local MP used Facebook to message the 

DPH to mention they had been trying to request a meeting with them via the Leader 

and Chief Executive since the start of the pandemic, requests which had been refused. 

The MP also noted that two weeks previously the DPH had told the MP they were “too 

busy” to meet, and further noting they had a meeting with the DPH the following day.

The DPH used Facebook to reply that it was not true that they told the MP they were 

too busy, referred to an email dated 29 July 2020 which would be produced as 

evidence, that this was the first email received, and that the DPH would seek legal 

advice on “these public allegations.”

The DPH has confirmed that she consulted with the then Chief Executive prior to 

responding to the Facebook posting by the MP. We have sought to confirm this, but 

have been unable to obtain a record of this meeting, and the then Chief Executive was 

unable to respond to our query due to the lack of access to his notes. We have 

accepted the DPHs statement. 

The MP had their first meeting with the DPH on 4 August 2020.  The DPH has 

subsequently been involved in meetings with local MPs 

Reviewing this Facebook exchange, we are satisfied that the office of the local MP 

contacted the DPH by email on 23 July 2020 to request a meeting, and sent a chase 

email on 29 July 2020. It is the latter email that the DPH referred to in the Facebook 

exchange, and the former which was referred to by the MP in the Facebook exchange. 

The DPH replied by email to the MP on 29 July 2020 stating “Sorry – just seen this. 

We are absolutely flat out right now on our acute response. Have you put this request 

in through the CEO and Dept Leader? I haven’t heard from them about it?”. It was this 

response that the MP summarised as being “too busy” in the Facebook posting.

This exchange led the MP to contact the then Chief Executive on 4 August 2020 to 

clarify if the DPH was planning to take legal action. The MP chased the then Chief 

Executive on 6 October 2020 after having not received a response. We are not aware 

that a response was made.

The ADPH has also provided comment on this Facebook exchange. Their view is that 

DPH comments “are entirely consistent with the prevailing interpretation of good 

practice by a DPH” and that “correcting such a statement…is an act to maintain public 

trust, remain compliant with the role of the DPH and as such…retain confidence of the 

public.” Further that it is “established custom and practice as well as clearly implied in 

guidance” that a DPH has “the right to provide a corrective response to a mistaken or 

erroneous statement as publicly as the statement was made”. 

We accept the ADPHs comments regarding the exchange but question whether 

making the public comment on taking legal advice in public was an appropriate action. 

We are aware that the MP concerned contacted the Special Advisor for the then 

Secretary of State for DHSC in early August 2020 with concerns about the DPH’s 

conduct. We understand that the then Secretary of State contacted the NHS National 

Test and Trace Director who was due to call the Council’s then Chief Executive on this 

issue, as the Secretary of State was “exercised” over the DPH’s comments on the 

national system and lack of engagement with local MPs. We have not been able to 

clarity if the then Chief Executive received this contact.

P
age 218



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

45

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the 

Director of Public Health by an external blogger, and the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and  

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

.

Conclusions and recommendations

From our work we are consider that:

• A local contact tracing service was established and that this added to the national system 

and improved contact tracing

• The service was not established for a political purpose. While we have not been able to 

locate a record in the minutes of IMT approving the establishment of the service our 

interviews indicate that the decision to establish the service had the support of the 

leadership team.

• The DPH complied with the Council's social media policy. We note that the use of 

personal social media led to cyber bullying and that this has had a significant impact on 

the DPH’s well being

• The DPHs comments in the media and social media were largely appropriate. We do not 

consider that the comment regarding taking legal advice should have been made in public.

• The Council's decision that the DPH should not meet with local MPs resulted in an 

inaccurate perception that the DPH’s comments were political. This is aligned to other 

comments in this report about the insularity of the Council at this time. We consider that 

this significantly contributed to the negative comments made with regard to the Council 

and the DPH.

We consider that the Council should make the following changes to its management 

arrangements. The Council should:

• Ensure that senior Council officers in public roles who use social media for their 

public role are aware of the risks of using social media and their responsibilities in 

relation to the Council’s social media policy. We recommend that these senior 

officers liaise with and seek advice from the Council’s communications team in 

relation to their social media activity.

• Engage the Council’s communications team in a review of the social media policy 

to consider if any updates are required, for example, to reflect the changed 

circumstances brought about by increased home working, and whether the social 

media policy should stipulate that social media accounts being used by officers 

clearly state that these accounts relate to their Council role.

• Ensure that where the Council identifies use of social media that could be 

contentious or considered by others as inappropriate, that this is reviewed by 

management and appropriate action is taken.

• Ensure the decision to attend media interviews should be made jointly by the Chief 

Executive, Senior Officers, and Communications Team.

• When establishing and implementing high profile and / or significant project or 

initiatives, ensure a better record of the decision-making and supporting 

information and evidence must be kept.

• Establish a clear policy for working with local MPs to ensure that they are 

appropriately informed.

• Ensure that all relevant COVID-19 communications from local MPs and DHSC 

should be promptly forwarded to the DPH should it be evident that the DPH has 

not received them directly.

• Review the  Emergency Plan to ensure that changes following the demise of PHE 

are reflected.

• Ensure that decisions made to introduce new services, or materially changing 

existing services, are properly reflected in the minutes of the body responsible for 

making such decisions. 

• Any future lessons learned reviews undertaken by the Council should be 

undertaken in a collaborative and transparent way with the key stakeholders 

concerned. 

P
age 219



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

46

Shielding arrangements: background

As part of the initial emergency response to COVID-19 the government introduced a policy 

of shielding for individuals considered to be clinically extremely vulnerable (CEV) and at high 

risk of infection. On 22 June 2020 the Secretary of State for DHSC announced that shielding 

for CEV individuals would end on 1 August 2020 as part of a wider series of changes being 

made as rules were relaxed in England as the country came out of the first national 

lockdown.  The Council’s emergency planning and response to the pandemic was a 

corporate responsibility, with the DPH having a key role alongside other senior officers 

including the then Chief Executive and the then Director for Adult Social Care. 

A letter dated 30 July from the Deputy Chief Medical Officer was sent to councils setting out 

that the decision to end shielding for CEV individuals rested with government Minsters on 

the advice of the Chief Medical Officer (CMO) and that the reintroduction of shielding in a 

local area is a decision that must be taken by Ministers on the advice of the CMO.

The council did not update its shielding advice on its website until 7 August 2020 after being 

approached by DHSC who raised the issue of the council’s  website advice on shielding 

appearing to contradict national guidance. 

Shielding arrangements: key findings

A number of councils, including Sandwell, made the assessment that people who were 

shielding were still very vulnerable to serious illness and death due to high COVID-19 case 

rates locally. The Council, with approval from the COVID-19 Emergency Committee, issued 

communication to this effect via its webpage on 31 July 2020 including a downloadable 

letter. 

On 3 August 2020, the Council’s then Director for Adult Social Care received an email from 

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG)  which had followed 

a conversation about  Sandwell’s appearance on PHE’s COVID-19  watch list and the risk of 

local lockdown. The email included the letter from the Deputy Chief Medical Officer on behalf 

of the Department of Health & Social Care, dated 30 July 2020. The letter outlined the 

process of re-introducing shielding and the fact that such a decision was for Ministers on the 

advice of the Chief Medical Officer. The letter also identified the implications of re-

introducing shielding, both from a medical/wellbeing perspective and the funding 

implications, such as Statutory Sick Pay paid by employers. The letter was shared with the 

DPH by the then Chief Executive on 4 August 2020.

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to the DPH
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance and decision making arrangements relating to the alleged harassment of the Director 

of Public Health by an external blogger, and  the governance arrangements relating to the introduction of a local contact tracing service and changes to 

shielding arrangement during Summer 2020.

.

Discussions took place during 4 August between various senior Council officers, 

including the DPH, about updating shielding guidance on the Council’s website. The 

same day the then Director for Adult Social Care received a further email from 

MHCLG asking if the Council’s website had been updated. 

On 5 August the DPH met with representatives from DHSC including the Deputy 

Chief Medical Officer, and received an email from DHSC following the meeting, 

highlighting the aspects of the Council’s website guidance on shielding which 

appeared to contradict national guidance. On 6 August the DPH asked Council public 

health team to update the Council’s guidance and the website was updated the 

following day.

During this period the Council received calls and emails from members of the public 

seeking clarification on the advice being given.

Conclusions and recommendations

The shielding advice being given by the Council was provided in good faith, but for a 

period of several days was in some respects inconsistent with the change in 

government guidance. This led to some confusion with members of the public and 

with some Council officers, which led to time being spent resolving clarifications at a 

time when officers were working considerably long days managing the pandemic 

response.

We have found no evidence that senior Council officers became aware of the Deputy 

Chief Medical Officer’s letter dated 30 July 2020 prior to 3 August 2020.  It is 

regrettable that the Council’s shielding guidance was not updated sooner, but we 

note that once senior officers including the DPH became aware of the updated 

guidance, the error was corrected.

We recommend that the Council should review its processes and decision making 

arrangements following a change in government guidance or policy to ensure that 

local updates are made in a timely manner.

P
age 220



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

47

Background 

Following approval of the Asset Management Land Disposal Cabinet Committee (AMLDCC) 

at its meeting on 19 December 2012, the Council entered into an option agreement with a 

local developer in respect of the proposed development of Lion Farm Playing Fields in 

Oldbury (Lion Farm). The proposed development related to a premium designer outlet 

centre, which could support significant  economic, environmental and social benefits to the 

borough and wider region. The minutes of the AMLDCC were received by Cabinet on 9 

January 2013 and full Council on 5 March 2013. 

An option agreement is a legally biding agreement that gives a potential developer a period 

within which to investigate the development of a site and the owner of the site agrees to sell 

the land to the developer at a future point, Any costs incurred by the developer during the 

option period are at the developer’s risk. 

The option agreement was dated 21 May 2013 and the developer paid the Council an option 

fee of £245k plus a contribution to the Council’s legal costs. The option agreement gave the 

developer the option to acquire the freehold of the Lion Farm site should planning 

permission be granted. 

The agreement gave the developer 12 months to undertake pre-development activity with an 

option to extend for a further 12 months. The agreement also provided for a secondary 

option agreement to be entered into by the Council and the developer.

After the initial 12-month period in 2014 the Council approved the request to extend the 

agreement by a further 12 months. In 2015, before the second 12-month period had 

concluded the Council confirmed that the developer had complied with their obligations and 

the parties began discussing the secondary option agreement.  

In 2017 the developer was made aware of a rival premium designer outlet scheme in 

Cannock that had received full planning permission. The developer approached the Council 

for approval to progress the development. On 15 November 2017 the Cabinet approved 

variation to the existing option agreement with conditions including resident consultation, re-

provision of current football pitches, undertake an economic impact assessment, submit a 

full planning application, and the site should be developed as a premier retail/leisure 

development which will attract high-end outlets.

In 2018 the Council sought counsel advice on whether the options agreement was legal with 

the QC confirming in August 2018 that the options agreement was a legally binding decision. 

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

Governance relating to the original decision

A review by the Council in 2018 identified governance weaknesses in relation to the 

original decision to grant the option agreement and made the following 

recommendations:

• Enhanced member training to improve awareness on declaration of interests.

• The need to ensure resolutions are enacted in a timely way – the original 

AMLDCC decision requested a follow up report on progress which was not 

progressed until 2017 with a report to Cabinet.

• A clearer record of the decision-making process to support recommendations 

being made to members

• A new protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings is 

developed.

External review

The Council engaged a consultancy firm to review the governance and decision 

making in relation to Lion Farm and three unrelated property transactions. They 

reported in January 2020. The report was not made available to us until we 

commenced this review.

We have reviewed the findings of the report but under the terms of its agreement 

with the Council we are unable to quote from this report. We are considering the 

powers available to us under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to require 

the release of the report. However, to ensure the timely release of our report we 

have set out our overall conclusions below.

Current position

The Council’s procurement regulations do not apply to property transactions, and 

so there is no legal requirement to publicly advertise the granting of an option 

to purchase a piece of land.

The principal senior officers and senior members involved in the initial agreement 

are no longer Council employees or a member of the Council. We note that there 

were weaknesses in record keeping, which means the current senior officers do not 

have access to all the information relating to the original decision.

P
age 221



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

48

KLOE A9: Lion Farm (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that 

arrangements are in place so that issues identified in the external review are 

appropriately mitigated and managed.

The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating 

them to include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that best 

value can be achieved.

Current position (cont’d)

The secondary options agreement has not concluded and the developer has not yet 

submitted a planning application.

As a result of the 2013 options agreement, the asset will be valued following 

planning approval, before its disposal.

Conclusions and recommendations

The original sale of the option to develop Lion Farm with a limit of 12 months to put a 

development forward appears reasonable. Subsequent decisions to extend the 

secondary option negotiations without an end date were ill-judged. It has meant that 

the Council has little recourse with the developer.

There has been a lack of recent engagement with the developer and the situation 

has been allowed to drift with the senior leadership of the Council not placing priority 

on seeking to agree resolution and a way forward. We understand that the Interim 

Chief Executive has recently re-started dialogue with the developer and is placing 

priority on resolving the impasse, and an options appraisal is being prepared for the 

Cabinet to consider.

The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer 

results in agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and 

timescale so there is clarity on the responsibilities for the Council and 

developer in order to progress the finalisation of the secondary option 

agreement, or to be clear on the legal process for both parties extricating 

themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

P
age 222



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

49

Background 

The main Enterprise and Resource Planning (ERP) business system currently used by the 

Council is Oracle E-Business Suite (EBS), which provides a range of key functions that 

support various service areas, including Finance, Human Resources, Payroll, and 

Procurement. The Council’s EBS is also used by maintained schools in the borough, 

Sandwell Children’s Trust and the West Midlands Fire Service.  It has been in place since 

2003.

The current version of EBS used by the Council will become unsupported from 31 December 

2021. Remaining on unsupported software is considered an unacceptable risk to the Council 

due to the loss of support patches from Oracle. The Council agreed to replace  EBS in 2019.  

This decision followed an options appraisal, which concluded that a new cloud-based ERP 

system would be the preferred option. 

The Council decided that Oracle Corporation UK Ltd were the only suitable available 

provider – their Oracle Fusion product. An exemption from conducting a formal tender 

process, to allow negotiation with Oracle for purchase of the appropriate licences,  was 

considered permissible under the provision of the Public Contracts Regulation 2015. The 

Council  published  a voluntary ex-ante notice to inform the market of its intention to 

conclude these negotiations with Oracle and meet its obligations for compliance with the 

2015 Regulation.

The Council also agreed to engage an implementation partner on the basis that the Council 

did not have capacity or relevant expertise to transition to the new system. The Crown 

Commercial Services framework was used to identify suitable implementation providers and 

it was determined that only Inoapps could meet all requirements for implementation partner 

services. The Council contracted with Inoapps for this role for £1.2m. Inoapps had provided 

managed services to the Council since July 2016 and were a platinum Oracle partner. The 

appointments of Oracle and Inoapps were approved by Cabinet on 9 October 2019. 

The contract with Oracle was for five years, with an option to extend to seven years at £700k 

per annum.  The overall cost of the project, for the duration of the five-year contract with 

Oracle, including implementation partner costs, was estimated to be £5.64m. 

There have been repeated delays to the implementation with changes to the go live date for 

the new system, which will not now go live before EBS becomes unsupported at the end of 

2021.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

KEY FINDINGS

Business case for change

An options appraisal and financial appraisal were used to make the decision on the 

future of the Council’s ERP system. Whilst these would form part of a business case, 

no outline or full business case for change was developed and approved.  We would 

have expected a business case to have been developed for a project of such 

strategic importance and cost. Failure to do so has impacted on the implementation 

stage of the project.

Transformation potential

The introduction of a new ERP system is typically used to support wider 

organisational transformation, improvement, efficiencies and savings. Indeed, one of 

the reasons for replacing EBS was long-term user dissatisfaction with reference to 

inefficiencies, inadequate reporting functionality and prolonged processes to access 

necessary data, with inefficient “work around” solutions being applied.

The lack of a formal business case has meant that benefits relating to the 

transformation potential of the new system have not been clear and  have not been 

at the forefront of the implementation. This has been compounded by a lack of 

corporate ownership of the project and engagement by services, with the project 

seen as Finance or HR related, and not an enabler for organisational transformation 

and improvement.

Instead a “lift and shift” approach has been adopted minimising the opportunities for 

change and improvement and the use of the functionality of the new system. Once 

the new system has gone live there is an intention to undertake “development 

sprints” to identify transformation opportunities. However, the system will have 

already been implemented by this time, limiting the potential for such improvements 

without incurring additional costs in enhancements to the system. The Council has 

also used funding set aside for these sprints to fund cost overruns during the 

implementation stage. 

P
age 223



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

50

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

Project finances

The options appraisal set out the total costs as follows.

The earmarked reserve of £2.625m was to be used to cover implementation costs 

and included £600k for post go live activity (development sprints) and £363k as 

contingency, in addition to the £123k contingency identified via the original funding 

proposal. 

An additional £605k was added to the reserve from COVID-19 emergency funding to 

fund additional costs incurred due to delays. 

Description

 Costs 

2019/20 to 

2023/24 £000 

EXPENDITURE

Implementaiton Costs

Implementaton Suppprt              1,206 

Development sprints                 600 

Internal project team                 386 

Ongoing Costs

SaaS subsriptions              3,240 

Managed service support partner                   70 

Archiving system                 140 

Total costs              5,642 

FUNDING

 Earmarked reserve              2,625 

 Redirection of budgets for current system costs              2,458 

 Resources revenue budget                 682 

 Total funding              5,765 

 Contingency                 123 

A breakdown of the planned allocation of the earmarked reserve is set out below.

The development sprint, project team / contingency and COVID-19 emergency funding 

are currently over committed by £7.8k. Additional costs have been incurred in relation to 

extension to EBS licences, use of additional support due to the delays to going live, and 

contract variations with Inoapps.

Governance Arrangements

There is a programme board which includes officers from the Council and 

representatives from Inoapps, and a programme team including representatives from 

both organisations. The Council has established a programme management office 

(PMO).

The Board reporting includes risk and issues logs and highlight reports. During the 

pandemic and when renegotiating the contract position with Inoapps and the 

subsequent focus securing clarity from Inoapps on their position, these have not always 

received appropriate focus.

Due to changes in the Council’s senior officers there has not been stability with those 

attending he project board. This includes the chair of the Board, which was 

originally the then Executive Director of Resources, followed by the then Chief 

Executive, and is currently chaired by the Director for Strategy and Change.

The contract includes a statement of works which defines key project roles. Whilst the 

Council has a defined programme lead and programme manger for the project, the 

changes to senior officers involved in the project have created confusion over who is in 

the Senior Responsible Officer role, both within the Council and within Inoapps. It is a 

position which remains unclear.

Oracle Subscriptions 438,000

Inoapps Implementation Contract 1,224,150

Development Sprints (4 x £150k) 600,000

Project Team/Contingency 362,850

Total funded by earmarked reserve 2,625,000

Covid Emergency Funding 605,000

Total Funding 3,230,000

Description £

P
age 224



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

51

Governance arrangements (cont’d)

The Cabinet approved the decision to progress the new ERP system and appoint Oracle 

and Inoapps. There have been limited subsequent updates to Cabinet, with the portfolio 

holder receiving updates via director briefings.

Contract management

The programme manager and PMO, supported by the programme lead, are responsible for 

managing the contract with Inoapps. Where a contract variation is proposed by Inoapps the 

PMO discusses with relevant Council stakeholders and is then passed to the Programme 

Board for approval. The programme lead then completes the change request which 

becomes an addendum to the original contract.

The impact of COVID-19 led to a review of the implementation timetable during Summer 

2020, given its impact on for example system testing and training activity. At the same time 

Inoapps identified the need for significant contract variations, believing they had under-

scoped the resources requite to implement the project. The original contract was awarded 

on a time and materials basis. The Council, in negotiating revised contract terms with 

Inoapps moved to fixed price terms with payment based on Inoapps meeting specified 

milestones, which was agreed in November 2020.

The role of Oracle

Inoapps are a platinum implementation partner to Oracle, and Oracle are the provider of the 

new system being implemented. Having purchased Oracle Fusion the Council has not been 

able to effectively escalate the implementation issues with Oracle, in order for Oracle to 

support a resolution.

Organisational involvement

During the majority of the implementation stage of Oracle Fusion there has been ineffective 

engagement from across directorates and services. This has started to change, with greater 

Director ownership, but as already noted, there remains a need for greater senior leadership 

oversight.

The current position

Since the fixed price contract was agreed, with Inoapps taking a greater commercial risk on 

implementation, and having under-scoped their original bid, there has been increasing 

tensions between the Council and their implementation partner and frustrations from the 

Council at the level of support being provided by Inoapps.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

This has lead to an “us and them” culture rather than a joint implementation focus. At 

the time of this review relationships between the Council and Inoapps had broken 

down, further impacting on the progress of the implementation stage.

The go live date for the new system was deferred from October 2019 to April 2019, 

and subsequently deferred to October 2020. There is currently no go live date 

pending the Council agreeing a way forward with Inoapps. 

Because the go live date will not take place prior to 31 December 2021 when EBS, 

the current system, becomes unsupported, the Council has approached Oracle, who 

also provide the EBS, to negotiate  temporary support from January 2022. Oracle 

are seeking a 12-month extension to EBS which the Council would like to reduce 

due to the impact on unplanned costs, but the lack of a firm go live date is not helpful 

to these negotiations.

We understand that a report is being prepared for Cabinet on 24 November which 

will set out the Council’s options and include a cost benefit analysis of these options.

Conclusions and recommendations

The risk to the Council of having no ERP system available from the 1 January 2022 

is significant.

The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a 

clear resolution on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing 

Successful Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on the 

SRO role and approach to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is 

realistic, given current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as 

costs, and there is organisation wide engagement and ownership of the 

programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and 

approved.

P
age 225



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

52

Background

The Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives of Local Authorities is the 

national negotiating body for the pay and conditions of service of chief executives in 

England and Wales.

The JNC sets out the national conditions of service for chief officers of local authorities, 

which include model procedures in relation to performance management, capability, 

disciplinary and redundancy.

There is a different negating body for pay and conditions for other local government 

workers, the National Joint Council (NJC) for Local Government Services.

KEY FINDINGS

The Council’s former Executive Director of Resources received a complaint in relation to 

certain actions that were believed to be outside Council policies and procedures. The 

actions related to matters over 5 years old and appear to have been precipitated by a 

change in control of the labour group. The then Chief Executive, after undertaking a fact-

finding exercise and reviewing the position, invoked the model JNC disciplinary procedure. 

The Executive Director was suspended in March 2020 and the Council engaged the LGA 

to undertake an independent investigation. Prior to the conclusion of this investigation the 

Council finalised its senior management review which created a new structure for the 

Council’s leadership team, resulting in the deletion of all Executive Director roles and the 

creation of new Director roles. The Executive Director chose not to apply for a new 

Director role, which led to the officer being made redundant by the Council before the 

investigation by the LGA was completed.

The Council’s former Chief Executive departed the Council very quickly in July 2021 as a 

result of the breakdown in their working relationship with the new Leader of the Council. A 

decision was made by the two individuals concerned that the Chief Executive would leave 

the Council my mutual agreement, before the JNC model procedure could be invoked.

Following the decision being made the Council took external legal advice on employment 

law and sought advice from the LGA and various options were retrospectively considered, 

including the Chief Executive remaining in post, the Chief Executive claiming constructive 

dismissal, early retirement and mutual agreement, with the latter being considered the best 

value for money option.

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to the recent departure of certain chief officers. 

The prior to previous Chief Executive also left before the JNC model procedure was 

invoked. The context was a Standards investigation, and the officer chose to resign 

rather than progressing to the formal procedure

Conclusions and recommendations

The Chief Executive and Leader are key roles in any Council, and their working 

relationship is critical to the effective running of the organisation. There are many 

examples in the local government sector where Chief Executives have left councils 

by mutual consent and not followed model procedures, for example, when there is a 

change in Leader.

However, given the context at the Council, the departure of the two previous Chief 

Executives in a similar manner will have contributed to the lack of trust and 

uncertainty in the organisation which is highlighted elsewhere in this report. This has 

been exacerbated by the departure of the Executive Director of Finance through a 

restructure

We also note that the speed of the decision for the former Chief Executive to leave, 

and the lack of other senior officer involvement (such as from the Monitoring Officer 

and Director of HR) and not taking legal advice prior to the decision being made 

created a risk that each party may have had a different interpretation of the outcome 

of the discussion and the decision being made.

The Council needs to consider how it can restore trust between officers and 

members. The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal 

and external advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual 

consent is agreed.

P
age 226



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

53

Background 

The Council has been through a period of significant change to its leadership, both in terms 

of senior officers and senior members. Following the local elections in May 2021 a new 

Leader was elected, who appointed a new Cabinet with effect from June 2021. Many of 

these Cabinet members had not previously held a Cabinet role, and some were fairly new to 

the role of councillor.

An interim Chief Executive has been in role since August 2021 and there has been 

significant changes to chief officers over the past year, with vacancies being filled by either 

external interims, or Council officers in acting up roles. These changes were driven in large 

part by a senior management review which concluded in October 2020, although we note 

that some chief officer departures were caused by unrelated circumstances. The changes 

are summarised in the table below.

KLOE B2: Senior leadership

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to senior leadership changes and the impact of  interim officers in place.

Key findings

Other than the Chief Executive there are currently ten chief officer roles, of these 

four are recent external appointments, and two other external appointments have 

been made with these officers starting in November 2021. Three officers remain from 

the previous leadership team, two in the same role and one appointed to one of the 

new roles created by the review.

Two roles remain vacant: the Chief Executive and the Deputy Chief Executive, with 

the recruitment of the former recently initiated. The Council has decided to 

not recruit the Deputy Chief Executive and to review the need for this role.

In addition there is a Director of HR, which is not a permanent role and is being held 

by an external interim.

The impact of this recent period of change has been instability and uncertainty for 

the organisation. Whilst external interims are recognised positively for the 

experience they bring from working with other councils and having a “fresh pair of 

eyes” on some of the service challenges being faced, the wider organisation 

considers the use of interims as maintaining a holding pattern before permanent 

chief officers join. The Council will reach the position of having all roles filled by a 

permanent officers during November 2021, other than the two vacancies noted 

above.

The leadership of senior members and senior officers is critical to good governance 

and decision making, and more generally for the ability for the Council to deliver its 

services effectively and to progress its medium-to-long-term priorities.

All key stakeholders met during the course of this review recognised that the 

changes to senior officer and members has led to some immediate and positive 

changes. However, it was further recognised that the Council is at the start of a 

necessary improvement journey, and for these “green shoots” to deliver the 

widespread changes required, the Council’s leadership needs be relentless in its 

focus in delivering and embedding sustainable change. We note that these 'green 

shoots' only occurred on appointment of the current interim chief executive and we 

do not consider that they are embedded in the Council.

Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right 

permanent Chief Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective 

recruitment process, including maximising the chances of attracting a pool of 

appropriate candidates. Should the appointment of a permanent Chief 

Executive not be successful the Council should seek to retain the current 

interim Chief Executive and move this to a full time contract.

Chief Executive Jul-21 Chief Executive Exernal interim Aug-21 Vacant n/a

Deputy Chief Executive n/a Deputy Chief Executive Vacant n/a Vacant n/a

Executive Director - Adult Social 

Care, Health & Wellbeing Jul-19

Director - Adult Social Care Dec-20 Director - Adult Social Care Exernal interim Apr-21 In role July 2021

Director - Public Health n/a Director - Public Health n/a n/a No change n/a

Director - Prevention & 

Protection n/a

Executive Director - Resources Sep-20

Director - Law & Governance / 

Monitoring Officer n/a

Director - Law & Governance 

/ Monitoring Officer n/a n/a No change n/a

Director - Finance n/a Director - Finance Acting up Mar-20 In role Aug 2021

Director - Business Strategy and 

Change n/a

Director - Business Strategy 

& Change n/a n/a

Internal 

appointment Dec 2020

Executive Director - 

Neighbourhoods Dec-20

Director - Homes & Mar-21

Director - Housing n/a Director - Housing Exernal interim Apr-21 In role July 2021

Director - Borough Economy n/a Director - Borough Economy Exernal interim Apr-21 Appointed Nov 2021

Director - Regeneration & 

Growth Mar-20

Director - Regeneration & 

Growth Acting up Mar-20 In role Sept 2021

Executive Director - Children's 

Services Aug-21

Director - Education & Skills Apr-21

Director - Children's Services n/a Director - Children's Services

Acting up, 

supported by 

external interim Aug-21 Appointed Nov 2021

Post created

Post deleted

Leaving 

Date

Posts Prior to Senior 

Management Review

Posts following Senior 

Management Review

Interim 

Start Date
Interim Status

Permanent 

status

Permanent 

start date

P
age 227



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

54

Background

The Council has arrangements in place setting out how to make a complaint that an elected 

member has failed to comply with the Council’s Code of Conduct. This is in line with the 

Localism Act 2011 (the Act). The Council’s Monitoring Officer, or in their absence or where 

there is a conflict of interest, the Deputy Monitoring Officer, administers the system for 

dealing with complaints. The arrangements set out the stages of a complaint should be dealt 

with: no further action, local resolution or requires investigation.

The Act requires the Council to appoint at least one Independent Person whose views must 

be sought before it takes a decision on whether an investigation should proceed. The 

Council has agreed to there being three Independent Persons, who attend the Standards 

Committee as observers.

There are separate arrangements in place for complaints against senior officers which 

follow national JNC model procedures, with the Council’s Chief Executive (unless 

conflicted) deciding if the thresholds are met to instigate an investigation.

There are separate procedures for whistleblowing complaints, which do not form part of 

the scope of this review.

KEY FINDINGS

The Council has had a history of complaints against members, many of which were not 

found to be circumstances that were in breach of the Code of Conduct. These complaints 

have been from other members, officers and members of the public.

We note that the Monitoring Officer has been subject to a number of complaints from 

members which have not met the threshold for investigation, and there is a perception that 

at least some of these complaints have been spurious and reflect a blame culture. We note 

that no complaint has been upheld against the monitoring officer. Similarly, in the case of 

other complaints against officers, rather than complaints relating to breaches of Council 

policies and procedures, they are based on the dislike of an individual or of an individual’s 

response or actions during meetings.

This forms part of a wider culture and a deterioration in trust and respect between members, 

and between members and officers. This is arguably also reflected in a culture of written 

communications in relation to member enquiries. For example, in many instances officers 

want to have a written record of their response due to the culture of the organisation.

KLOE B3: Complaints

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of complaints made against senior officers and the responses to these complaints.

Again, due to the organisational culture, there is a perception that historically for 

some officer complaints, investigations have been undertaken due to concern of the 

consequences of deciding no further action was required. 

The level complaints at the Council has been described as a “mini industry” which 

takes up valuable time and resource, should the complaints be spurious. 

At its most recent meeting of the Standards Committee on 11 June 2021 an update 

was provided on live member complaints. There were twelve complaints, which had 

been received between July 2019 and May 2021, all alleging breaches of the 

Member Code of Conduct. Investigations had been invoked for all 12 and of these 7 

had concluded there had been no breach, 2 had recommended local resolution, 2 

could not be progressed (the member was no longer a councillor or the complainant 

did not engage in the process) with the outcome of one complaint outstanding.

There are signs that the new political administration has moved away from this 

culture, but this is not  yet evident across the wider councillor group. 

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to 

change the culture and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to 

restore balance and proportionality.

P
age 228



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

55

Background 

In 2018, the Committee on Standards in Public Life conducted a review of local government 

ethical standards and invited the submission of comments and recommendations from local 

authorities and representative bodies. The Committee published its final report in January 

2019, which included a recommendation that the Local Government Association  (LGA) 

should draft a Model Code of Conduct. 

The LGA Model Code of Conduct was drafted in consultation with representative bodies of 

councillors and officers of the local government. The final Code was published in December 

2020. The LGA published a supplementary guidance document to support the Code in April 

2021.

During the 2020-21 municipal year, the Council’s Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee (the Standards Committee) undertook a wide-ranging review of the 

Members Code of Conduct and associated arrangements. This included the creation of an 

Ethical Standards Working Group which was established to guide improvement in the 

Council’s Ethical Framework. Engagement with members included five engagement 

sessions in December 2020. These sessions covered:

• A review of the Member Code of Conduct, and members were supportive of the adoption 

of the LGA Code of Conduct, subject to an amendment to the interests of family 

members and close associates.

• The Council’s revised social media policy which included ensuring that issues with social 

media were addressed and appropriate support provided to members.

• Members Interests to ensure that members were confident and clear in understanding 

disclosure of interests, their obligations, and how to deal with issues if they emerge. 

Members suggested that greater clarity around the issue of lobbying should be provided. 

Separately and in line with the recommendations within the LGA Model Code of Conduct, 

the  Council’s Gift and Hospitality arrangements were revised, and the limit was lowered 

from £100 to £50.

• Review of the arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code of Conduct –

these were amended to include an assessment criteria and indicative timescales for 

monitoring and clarity purposes, including  reporting  on the progress of the complaint in 

the case of delays.

• Duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct, which focused on raising 

awareness of the role and work of the councillor and promoting high standards, 

particularly on the specifics relevant to individuals in their respective wards, towns and 

across the borough

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of  the work undertaken by the Standards Committee. 

For those members unable to attend these sessions a questionnaire was sent to 

ensure that all members could contribute. The feedback from the sessions was 

collated and presented to members at three further sessions held in February 2021. 

KEY FINDINGS

March 2021 Standards Committee 

At its meeting on 12 March 2021 the Standards Committee recommended the 

approval of :

• The revised Member Code of Conduct, and that these would be reviewed on an 

annual basis, alternating between a desk top review and a more detailed review.

• The revised arrangements for dealing with complaints under the Code

• The revised social media policy and that the Monitoring Officer be authorised to 

make any revisions/updates to the guidance which accompanies the social media 

policy, in consultation with the Chair of Standards Committee.  

• The revised gifts and hospitality guidance

• The protocol for meetings to take place on a regular basis between senior 

officers, political group leaders and chief whips to talk about standards issues.

• The retention policy for Members’ Register of Interests be set for as long as a 

person remains a Councillor, plus three months which represents the relevant 

limitation period for disclosure of information.

• A review of the recruitment process for Independent Persons be undertaken, in 

consultation with the Standards Working Group, and a further report submitted to 

a future meeting of the Standards Committee.

• a further report be submitted to the Ethical Standards and Member Development 

Committee/Standards Working Group in respect of DBS Basic Checks for elected 

Members.

• That a review of the composition of the Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee and operation be undertaken in the new municipal year 

These were subsequently approved by full Council with effect from the 2021/22 

municipal year

P
age 229



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

56

KEY FINDINGS (Cont’d)

The Standards Committee also agreed that the member development programme be 

updated to include training on:

• the Code of Conduct;

• members’ interests;

• gifts and hospitality;

• lobbying;

• arrangements for dealing with complaints;

• use of social media;

• promoting high standards, and

• that the induction programme for new members to be updated to include the same 

training, and to incorporate in member Personal Development Plans (PDPs) for any 

issues on an individual basis.

Progress on actions

The new Code and associated guidance and arrangements have been in place since the 

start of the 2021/22 municipal year. The Monitoring Officer has not yet needed to update the 

social media policy.

The training on the Code of Conduct, lobbying, and gifts and hospitality has been 

completed. A working group of the Standards Committee is updating the member 

development programme and engaging members on their development needs, including 

those members who chair committees and are hold appointments to outside bodies.

The Standards Committee working group has completed its review of the recruitment of 

Independent Persons who attend the Standards Committee as observers. There are 

currently three Independent Person roles, with one currently vacant.

Changes to how complaints were reported were introduced at the 11 June 2021 meeting of 

the Standards Committee, to provide assurance that complaints are being dealt with in a 

timely way and to provide the Committee with updates on progress. Importantly, these 

updates are reported on the basis of anonymity, and allows the Committee to identify trends 

and issues based on the nature of complaints raised

A Standards Committee working group has been established to consider the need for DBS 

checks for members, which has not yet reported to its parent committee

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of actions taken by the Standards Committee. 

Reopening of old complaints

At its meeting on 11 June 2021 a member of the Standards Committee put forward a 

resolution to review all previous cases of complaints, to ensure appropriate 

processes had been followed and to identify any lessons learned.  This was not 

approved due to there being unclear reasons on justifiable cause, and no advice 

having been sought on the implications of reopening cases which had concluded in 

line with the Council’s policies and procedures.  

Conclusions and recommendations

The unsuccessful resolution to reopen closed complaints is an example of the 

challenge the Council has in moving on from the past, and as highlighted in relation 

to KLOE B4, in changing the culture and organisational ethos in relation to 

complaints, to restore balance and proportionality.

More generally, the recent actions being led by the Standards Committee are good 

practice and are important  given the recent history of the Council. More critical than 

approving the updated Code and related arrangements will be member compliance, 

and the member training and development programme must play a key role in 

ensuring members fully understand the expectations and standards relating to 

their role.  It will take time for the wider organisation to believe that change is 

happening and embedded, from observing consistency in member behaviour in line 

with the Code, and that are all respectful of those they work with and of the Council 

as a civic institution. 

No meetings have yet taken place between senior officers, political group leaders 

and chief whips. These meetings should take place to ensure that these 

stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging issues and trends, recognise good 

behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the Code.

P
age 230



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

57

Background

In Autumn 2014 allegations about the then Deputy Leader were made on social media, 

which lead to police involvement, a standards complaint being made against the Deputy 

Leader, which in turn led to an internal audit investigation and senior officers commissioning 

an independent investigation by Wragge and Co Solicitors. During the course of this 

investigation a complaint was made in relation to the solicitor conducting the review, which 

led to the Council engaging a QC to review the investigation.

The report from Wragge and Co (the Wragge report) was eventually finalised in April 2016. 

Following publication further standards complaints, investigation and legal action took place, 

including a judicial review on behalf of the (by then) former Deputy Leader. A further internal 

review was undertaken at the request of the then Leader into the circumstances surrounding 

the Wragge report and issues which subsequently emerged, which reported in June 2020 

(the Cox report).

On the 18 March 2021 the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (the Audit Committee) met 

to discuss the Cox report, based on a report from Audit and Governance Panel, which had 

been established by the Audit Committee Chair with the objective to provide a safe space to 

consider this long-standing governance matter and to make recommendations to the Audit 

Committee with a view to determine if the matter had been addressed sufficiently to enable 

closure, or whether there were further steps or actions necessary to enable the matter to be 

concluded.

The Audit and Governance Panel report recognised:

• that over recent years the Council has dealt with and continues to deal with a number of 

governance concerns and issues. Whilst some are historic in nature, a number have had 

a tendency to resurface periodically sometimes due to concerns over how they may have 

been addressed previously.

• in order to address these issues effectively and enable the council to move on and focus 

on its ambitious objectives as detailed within its corporate plan, considerable time and 

resources have been expended to examine the identified governance issues and related 

concerns.

• a number of matters have reached a point whereby the Council has to either been able to 

identify and address shortcomings, or despite its endeavours, it is unlikely that the 

council will be able to fully understand the history, chronology or be able to restore the 

council to its previous position. This can be for various reasons, such as key individuals 

no longer employed by the council.

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. 

• the Council needs to ensure that its conducts itself legally and consistently with 

recognised good governance principles and practices. The Council is required to 

consider serious allegations in respect of its conduct or behaviours which could 

give rise to action against it, reputational harm, or lost confidence. The Council is 

obliged to consider relevant arrangements in relation to which their legality or 

whether their ongoing continuance could expose the Council to harm or claims. 

However, the consideration of such allegations needs to be proportionate and in 

the public interest.

KEY FINDINGS

The meeting of the Audit Committee on 18 March 2021 lasted almost six hours and 

adjourned before considering the matter in its entirety. The meeting was contentious 

with members being concerned about the late provision of papers and a lack of 

consensus on decisions (with the Audit Committee Chair taking the casting vote on a 

number of decisions). Due to the length of the meeting a decision on the final matter 

under discussion about the Wragge report was deferred. Following the committee 

meeting a complaint was raised against the monitoring officer. This has not yet been 

resolved.

Due to the pre-election period relating to the May local elections, the Audit 

Committee did not reconvene until 24 May 2021, where discussions were able to 

conclude.

The Chair and a number of other members of the Audit Committee changed in June 

2021 for the new municipal year. The Audit Committee met on 24 June of 2021 and 

the minutes of the March and May meetings were presented for approval. However, 

members of the Committee did not approve the minutes as a correct record and 

requested that they be submitted to a future meeting for further consideration, with a 

potential for a further review to be undertaken.

At the next meeting of the Audit Committee on 16 September 2021 the minutes of 

the March and May meetings were approved with the central action to arrange for 

appropriate apologies to be made where this had been agreed as appropriate to 

individuals involved in the original Wragge review, and that the Monitoring Officer 

update the Committee when these apologies have been made.

P
age 231



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

58

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

Conclusions and recommendations

The Wragge and Cox reports concerned significant governance related issues and, as the 

Audit and Governance Panel stated, the Council needs to ensure that it conducts itself 

legally and consistently with recognised good governance principles and practices. 

However, we note that:

• The matters relate to events in 2014.

• The matters have been subject to significant scrutiny since 2014 including a judicial 

review.

• The review in 2020 and the Audit Panel and Committee in 2021 took place when there 

were significant service issues within the Council and used a significant amount of 

member and officer capacity.

• The matters continue to divide opinions and have resulted in a further lengthy process 

to agree a resolution.

Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring 

this long-standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the Audit and 

Governance Panel recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter 

does not resurface, so that it can move on and focus on its corporate objectives.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. P
age 232



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

59

Background

Our 2019/20 Audit Findings Report (AFR) highlighted a number of concerns about the 

Council’s financial reporting in relation to the 2019/20 financial statements, including late 

submission of the draft accounts, incorrect working papers, the basis for provisions, a 

material error between cash and creditors, a material error on the cashflow forecast, and the 

basis for some asset valuations in particular in relation to leisure centres and the Public sixth 

form centre, and the impact of this on the Council’s group accounts.

Our 2019/20 AFR noted that at that time we did not consider that these were sufficient to 

warrant a qualification of the VfM conclusion. However, should these matters reoccur in 

relation to the 2020/21 financial statements audit, we will issue a qualified VfM conclusion on 

financial reporting and consider the use of our wider reporting powers.

KEY FINDINGS

Management created an AFR action plan in response to the recommendations made as part 

of our 2019/20 audit and an associated project team to take forward these actions. As some 

of the key recommendation related to asset valuations, interim resource has been allocated 

to the asset management and valuations teams to progress associated actions.

We have reviewed this action plan which includes an owner and finance lead relating to 

each recommendation. The plan also sets out the actions required, delivery timescale and 

updates on progress.

In total there were 22 recommendations of which 13 were high priority and 9 medium 

priority. The latest version of the action plan reviewed confirms that ten associated actions 

had been completed (five each for high and medium priority) with the remainder in progress, 

with some of these having an inter dependency with the introduction of the new Oracle 

Fusion ERP system. As such, the delays in implementing the Council’s new ERP system 

have an impact on successfully completing some actions

Four of the recommendations did not include required actions in the action plan, and 5 had 

no target date for completion

The Council does not currently have a corporate asset management database, instead 

relying on spreadsheets. The Council is taking steps to procure an asset management 

system, with a report planned to the December Cabinet. This system will take 12 to 18 

months to procure and implement.

Acting up arrangements due to the vacant Director of Finance role until August 2021 has 

contributed to capacity constraints in delivering financial reporting responsibilities.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. 

RELATED FINDINGS

Whilst the focus of this KLOE concerned the Council’s annual financial statements, 

we identified the following in relation to other aspects of financial planning and 

reporting in the Council:

• There is not a comprehensive understanding across services of the make up and 

profile of individual budgets.

• There has not been a culture of undertaking financial benchmarking to help an 

understanding of unit costs.

• Budget management has been based on service bottom line rather than 

individual budgets.

• The Leadership Team has not received regular budget monitoring reports.

• Director and service engagement in the annual budget setting process has 

been limited

The above has been recognised and changes introduced by the new Director of 

Finance and interim Chief Executive, such as the introduction of financial 

benchmarking, “star chambers” for budget setting, and more regular budget 

monitoring by the Leadership Team.

Recommendations

Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and 

completion dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify 

where the new ERP system implementation and the planned asset 

management system could cause delays or impacts on planned actions.

Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting 

and budget management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to 

manage any weaknesses not yet addressed.

Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and 

capacity to manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities.

P
age 233



Appendices

P
age 234



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

61

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

1. Embedding the changes that have been made by the Leadership Team and those that are planned will be critical if the Council is to realise its strategic 

ambition and provide effective governance.

14

2. Enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including on local government finance and their governance roles is recommended. 14

3. The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored. 15

4. The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning. 15

5. The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin 

the budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, contingency and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

15

6. Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone from the top” consistently reflects these va lues and behaviours. This is 

critical in ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and that all people are confident in adopting these values and 

behaviours. This should build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and 

monitor progress on the organisation’s wellbeing.

16

7. The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members 

with special responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession planning for these roles.

16

8. Further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to 

collectively manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and set out clear lines of accountabili ty, responsibility, and 

delegated authority. 

16

9. The recent introduction of financial benchmarking will need to be sustained to create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours 

are performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements

16

P
age 235



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

62

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships (cont’d)

10. The Council should continue its more outward looking approach is sustained and develop key local and sub-regional relationships. 17

11. When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, 

including with back-bench members. 

17

12. There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are aware of their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask 

the right questions. 

17

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

13. The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise corporate effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure 

it  remains on its improvement trajectory. This should include: 

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and prevention strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team in place to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current circumstances. 

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, and take a realistic and pragmatic view on the leve l of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT so that they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure 

effective communication and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

21

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust

14. The Senior Leadership  - both officer and member - must take ownership of this issue, prioritise corporate effort and take urgent steps to either resolve the 

current position with SLT or consider the options for alternative provision should either party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the 

continuity of future leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

23

KLOE A3: Providence Place

15. Where the Council considers similar transactions in future, those charged with making decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the 

detail of the options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a responsibility to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully 

understood these complexities and risks.

25

16. The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and disposals are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies. 25

P
age 236



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

63

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page  

#

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

17. The Council’s senior leadership – both officers and members – must place priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport procurement exercise 

to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s focus on service quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer teams with responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and oversight of the personal transport market.

28

18. For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council policies and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high quality bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, 

scrutiny and decision making. This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the procurement for the council to undertake the necessary 

strategic thinking and planning required, and mitigate the risk of not making an award in the planned timescale

29

KLOE A5:  Sandwell Land and Property

19. The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length company in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those 

officers / members of the Council in company director roles are clear of their role and responsibilities in relation to that company.

31

20. Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that company directors fully understand their company roles and 

responsibilities, that the company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to company directors. The purpose of the 

company should be revisited on a regular basis to determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

31

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

21. As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure that there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the 

governance arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

32

P
age 237



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

64

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A7: Waste Service

22. The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to 

monitoring their effective delivery.

35

23. The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, and review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to 

ensure they are line with Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring of contract outcomes.

35

24. The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco are made, such as a new vehicle fleet. 35

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to DPH

25. Should the Council find itself in a similar scenario in the future, it would be prudent to obtain external legal advice on the specific circumstances under 

consideration, before any final decision on an indemnity is made.

40

26. We consider that the Council should make the following changes to its management arrangements. The Council should: 

• Ensure that senior Council officers in public roles who use social media for their public role are aware of the risks of using social media and their 

responsibilities in relation to the Council’s social media policy. We recommend that these senior officers liaise with and seek advice from the Council’s 

communications team in relation to their social media activity.

• Engage the Council’s communications team in a review of the social media policy to consider if any updates are required, for example, to reflect the 

changed circumstances brought about by increased home working, and whether the social media policy should stipulate that social media accounts 

being used by officers clearly state that these accounts relate to their Council role.

• Ensure that where the Council identifies use of social media that could be contentious or considered by others as inappropriate, that this is reviewed 

by management and appropriate action is taken.

• The decision to attend media interviews should be made jointly by the Chief Executive, Senior Officers, and Communications Team

• When establishing and implementing high profile and / or significant project or initiatives, a better record of the decision-making and supporting 

information and evidence must be kept.

• Establish a clear policy for working with local MPs to ensure that they are appropriately informed.

• Ensure that all relevant COVID-19 communications from local MPs and DHSC should be promptly forwarded to the DPH should it be evident that the 

DPH has not received them directly.

• Review the  Emergency Plan to ensure that changes following the demise of PHE are reflected.

45

P
age 238



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

65

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A8: Governance and Legal Support to DPH (Cont’d)

26. • Ensure that decisions made to introduce new services, or materially changing existing services, are properly reflected in the minutes of the body 

responsible for making such decisions

• Any future lessons learned reviews undertaken by the Council should be undertaken in a collaborative and transparent way with the key stakeholders 

concerned. 

45

27. The Council should review its processes and decision making arrangements following a change in government guidance or policy to ensure that local 

updates are made in a timely manner

46

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

28. The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer results in agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and 

timescale so there is clarity on the responsibilities for the Council and developer in order to progress the finalisation of the secondary option agreement, 

or to be clear on the legal process for both parties extricating themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

48

29. The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that arrangements are in place so that all the issues identified in the external 

review are appropriately mitigated and managed.

48

30. The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating them to include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that 

best value can be achieved.

48

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

31. The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a clear resolution on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing Successful Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on 

the SRO role and approach to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is realistic, given current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as costs, 

and there is organisation wide engagement and ownership of the programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and approved.

51

P
age 239



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

66

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

32. The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal and external advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual 

consent is agreed..

52

KLOE B2: Senior Leadership

33. Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective recruitment 

process, including maximising the chances of attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. Should the appointment of a permanent Chief Executive not be 

successful the Council should seek to retain the current interim Chief Executive and move this to a full time contract.

53

KLOE B3: Complaints

34. The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to change the culture and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to 

restore balance and proportionality.

54

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

35. Member training and development programme must play a key role in ensuring members fully understand the expectations and standards relating to their 

role

56

36. Meetings between senior officers, political group leaders and chief whips should take place to ensure that these stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging 

issues and trends, recognise good behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the Code

56

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

37. Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring this long-standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the 

Audit and Governance Panel recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter does not resurface, so that it can move on and focus on its 

corporate objectives.

58

P
age 240



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

67

Appendix A: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B7: Financial Reporting

35. Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and completion dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify where 

the new ERP system implementation and the planned asset management system could cause delays or impacts on planned actions

59

36. Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting and budget management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to 

manage any weaknesses not yet addressed.

59

37. Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and capacity to manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities. 59

P
age 241



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2020/21

Commercial in confidence

68

Appendix B: The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money 
arrangements 

Revised approach to value for money

work for 2020/21

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 242



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council: Value for Money Governance 

Review – follow up

Year ended 31 March 2022

2 December 2022

P
age 245



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Key Findings 6

3. Detailed Findings 15

Appendix

A. The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money arrangements                                                              55

B. Improvement Recommendations 56

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of completing

our work under the NAO Code and related guidance. Our audit is not designed to test all arrangements in respect of value for money. However, where, as part of our testing, we

identify significant weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in

arrangements that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting

on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members

is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Mark Stocks

Audit Partner

T: 0121 232 5437

E: mark.c.stocks@uk.gt.com

Guy Clifton

Director

020 7728 2903
E: guy.clifton@uk.gt.com

P
age 246



P
age 247



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

4

On 22 March 2022 the Secretary of State for DLUHC issued statutory directions under

section 15(5) and (6) of the Local Government Act 1999. These directions appointed

two Commissioners who will oversee all functions associated with the governance and

scrutiny of strategic decision making by the Council. The directions will be in force until

March 2024, unless the Secretary of State considers it appropriate to amend or revoke

them at an earlier date. These directions are in addition to the ones that led to the

creation of Sandwell Children’s Trust.

The Council has expanded its Improvement Plan developed in response to our

December 2021 governance report to incorporate its response to the findings of the

CIPFA and LGA reviews. Both the Commissioners and the Council provide updates on

progress on delivering the Implementation Plan to the Secretary of State for DLUHC

every six months.

The purpose of our follow up review, which relates to our 2021/22 VfM audit, has been

to draw conclusions on the progress made by the Council against the recommendations

set out in our 3 December 2021 report. This does not represent a review of the

Council’s Improvement Plan which as already noted draws on a wider set of actions

than those relating to the recommendations set out in our December 2021 report.

This review, along with other VfM related activity, has been undertaken in order for us to

consider whether there are any significant weaknesses in the Council's arrangements.

Our overall VfM conclusions for 2021/22 will be set out in a separate Annual Auditor’s

Report.

Our approach

Our work in relation to this review  was undertaken between September and October 

2022.

Stage 1 – Review of key documents

We submitted an information request for key documents and then undertook a desk top 

review to reach an initial conclusion on the nature of further work required.

Stage 2 – Further Analysis and Clarifications

We then undertook interviews with key stakeholders in relation to each recommendation 

to clarity issues identified during stage one and to undertake more detailed analysis A 

total of 33 stakeholders have been met during this follow up review. 

Context to our VFM approach

Sections 20 and 21 of the Local Audit and Accountably Act 2014 (the Act)  require auditors 

to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money 

(VFM) conclusion. 

Our VfM work is carried out in line with the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) which is 

prepared  by the National Audit Office (NAO) under the Act, and its supporting statutory 

guidance: Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

A revised Code came into force on 1 April 2020, after being approved by Parliament. The 

Code requires auditors to structure their VfM commentary on arrangements under three 

specified reporting criteria: 

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Council uses information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its 

services;

• Governance: how the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and

• Financial sustainability: how the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it 

can continue to deliver its services.

Background to this review

On the 3 December 2021 we published our report setting out the findings of our review of 

the Council’s governance arrangements, which formed part of our 2020/21 VfM audit. 

Our report set out significant weaknesses in the Council’s governance arrangements, and 

was presented to full Council on 18 January 2022, along with the Council’s Improvement 

Plan which set out the Council’s response to our recommendations. The Grant Thornton 

report and the Improvement Plan were approved by the Council at this meeting. On the 

same day the then Local Government Minister at the Department for Levelling Up, Homes 

and Communities (DLUHC) announced the government was mindful to intervene in the 

Council because of the findings set out in our governance report.

The Council commissioned the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) to undertake a review of the Council’s financial management and governance 

arrangements using the CIPFA Financial Management Model. CIPFA reported their 

findings and recommendations in January 2022. In addition, the Local Government 

Association (LGA) undertook a Corporate Peer Challenge review for the Council, reporting 

its findings and recommendations in February 2022. 

Context, background and scope of the review

P
age 248



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

5

.

Context, background and scope of the review (Cont’d)

Our Approach (Cont’d)

Our approach is designed to assess:

• Governance arrangements in place in relation to our scope;

• Council performance against these arrangements; and

• Identify any significant weaknesses and risks.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance 

provided by council officers, council members, and external stakeholders with whom we 

have engaged during the course of our review.

Additional VfM Code Work

We have identified governance arrangements as an audit risk. This requires additional work 

to inform our auditor’s judgement on VfM. 

The work has been undertaken in line with the requirements of the Code and associated 

auditor guidance. This review helps us discharge our responsibilities under the Code and will 

include the reporting of any significant weaknesses in arrangements and other points for 

improvement identified during the review. 

Any fee variation is subject to approval from Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) 

which is responsible for appointing auditors and setting audit fees for relevant authorities 

that have chosen to opt into its national scheme of auditor appointments.

P
age 249



P
age 250



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

7

Overview

Introduction

A range of different recommendations can be raised by a council’s auditors as follows: 

• Statutory Recommendations:  written recommendations to the Council under 

Section 24 (Schedule 7) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. A 

recommendation under schedule 7 requires the Council to discuss and respond 

publicly to the report.
• Key Recommendations: the NAO Code of Audit Practice requires that where 

auditors identify significant weaknesses as part of their arrangements to secure value 
for money they should make recommendations setting out the actions that should be 
taken by the Council. We have defined these recommendations as ‘key 
recommendations’.

• Improvement Recommendations: these recommendations, if implemented should 
improve the arrangements in place at the Council, but are not a result of identifying 
significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements.

Further detail on the scope of auditor’s work on VfM arrangements  can be found at 
Appendix A.

Our December 2021 report included the following:

• 3 statutory recommendations,

• 5 key recommendations, and

• 37 improvement recommendations.

In this section we summarise our key findings on the Council’s progress. 

Our detailed findings relating to each Key Line of Enquiry are set out in a separate 

section.

Key Lines of Enquiry

The scope of our original review covered 17 Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs):

Our findings in relation to KLOE A8 were not included in our December 2021 report and 

have not formed part of this follow up review. 

As part of this follow up review we have also considered how the Council engages with 

residents and community stakeholders (KLOE B8).

P
age 251



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

8

Key Findings

The Council has a greater corporate grip over improvement, performance and decision 

making. It has demonstrated progress on a number of areas such as children’s  social 

care and leisure services. The Council’s leadership has taken shared responsibility for 

the oversight of the delivery of the Improvement Plan, and for cascading the plan 

through the organisation.

The introduction of a Performance Management Framework (PMF) provides an 

opportunity to improve evidenced based decision making, and sets out accountabilities 

to drive the delivery of the Corporate Plan. The Council needs to continue to refine how 

data is used to support the monitoring of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

Cabinet is demonstrating a commitment to making the tough decisions that are required, 

such as decisions made in relation to SLT, Lion Farm and SEND Transport. The 

Leadership Team has made good progress in its corporate approach to managing the 

operational issues and challenges raised in our previous report, with significant progress 

made in many areas.  There is more to do and this operational focus needs to continue, 

for example, on waste services, and also needs to expand into other areas, for example, 

medium-term financial planning and financial statement production. 

Skills and capacity gaps in relation to Serco and the ERP System implementation have 

been recognised and steps taken to manage them, including the use of interim and 

external resources. There has been a restructure of the Finance Team to better reflect 

the capacity and skill requirements needed to support the wider organisation. Work has 

been undertaken to better clarify roles and responsibilities, for example in relation to the 

ERP System implementation. 

Key Findings

There is evidence of greater senior officer involvement in areas of key service 

challenges.  A corporate Programme Management Office (PMO) has been created 

which will co-ordinate key change and transformation projects. These changes are 

welcome and necessary but it will take time to evidence their effectiveness. The Council 

needs to ensure there is a structured approach to knowledge transfer when using 

external specialists and that the capacity, skills and resourcing levels of the PMO and of 

key projects remain appropriate,  that the PMO is able to effectively monitor the delivery 

of the Implementation Plan, and the PMO  integrates all transformation and change 

activity being undertaken across the Council.

Key Findings

There is clear evidence that the Council is making better procurement and commercial 

decisions. The SEND Transport procurement approach was reviewed, revised and re-

run and has been successfully concluded. SLaP has been dissolved, and Lion Farm and 

Providence Place are now being managed through to a resolution. Notice has been 

served on SLT with plans to create a new local authority trading company for leisure 

services. The most recent Ofsted inspection of children’s services has seen the rating 

move from inadequate to requires improvement to be good. This represents significant 

improvement.

Significant progress has been made on the ERP systems replacement, including the 

procurement of a new implementation partner. Due to the poor way these had previously 

been managed the Council has faced delays and incurred unnecessary costs. For 

example, in relation to ERP the Council has incurred additional costs of at least £2.2m, 

however we acknowledge that the Council is seeking to mitigate this loss. 

This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

Statutory Recommendation 1: It is imperative that senior officers and 

senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing service 

issues highlighted by the findings in this report: (including SLT, SCT, the 

waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and prioritise corporate 

effort in managing the issues identified, and embed the solutions into the 

Council.

Statutory Recommendation 2: The Council must ensure that the learning 

in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and contract 

management  highlighted in this report are understood through the 

organisation.

P
age 252



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

9

Key Findings: Statutory Recommendation 2 (Cont’d)

The lessons learned from both poor past practice, and the improved practice put in 

place to expedite failings must continue to be used to ensure that future large scale 

procurements and decision making follow good practice. The Council has not yet 

developed and agreed a commercial strategy which remains a key action to resolved 

and ensure there is understanding of the strategy across the organisation.

The Council has reviewed and updated its Contract and Procurement Procedures, 

financial decision thresholds, and the Protocol for the Disposal of Council Owned Land 

and Buildings, which were approved in July 2022.

There is evidence of improved corporate ownership and working relationships between 

the Council and SCT and Serco, helped by greater levels of senior officer 

engagement. Service quality and outcomes have been a feature of improvements made 

in relation to the SEND Transport procurement and form part of ongoing discussions in 

relation to the waste management contract.

As already noted, there remain challenges to progress in some areas, in particular in 

relation to waste services. 

Key Findings

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, and 

the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well both collectively and via 

their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  Hybrid working provides challenges for 

the Council’s leadership,  but there is evidence these changes are starting to be 

recognised across the wider organisation.

Key Findings (Cont’d)
This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

Statutory Recommendation 3: Senior leadership, both officers and 

members,  must demonstrate that they can continue to work together 

effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s values, codes, 

policies and procedures, and that there is zero tolerance to inappropriate 

behaviours.  This includes changing the organisational culture in relation to 

complaints so that they restore balance and proportionality.

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across different 

Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is conducted 

by these committees.  The Leader has an inclusive leadership style, and is working well 

with other Cabinet members and the chairs of key committees, who in turn recognise the 

need for change and are demonstrating their commitment to the Council’s improvement 

journey. 

By taking a grip of many long-standing operational challenges the leadership of the 

Council is starting to create time and space to better consider the long-term. There is 

evidence that the Council is moving away from its insularity with improved focus and 

engagement with regional and national bodies. Changes to financial decision thresholds 

provides an opportunity for Cabinet agendas to focus on issues of strategic priority.

The Performance Management Framework provides the Council leadership with the 

mechanism to monitor progress against Corporate Plan objectives. Further work is 

required for the Council to demonstrate the necessary organisational and cultural 

change, including the introduction of the Phase 2 Improvement Plan, and having in 

place appropriate data to monitor all KPIs.

Budget monitoring and financial benchmarking have been introduced, but further work is 

required before they are being used appropriately by all services. 

The Council approved new financial decision thresholds in July 2022, with an updated 

scheme of delegation approved by the Council on 8 November 2022. These changes 

will need to become embedded so that officers are empowered and decision making 

becomes more agile.

The Current Position

The themes set out  our December 2021 report illustrated how the Council’s recent 

behaviours and legacy issues were impacting on good governance and decision 

making. Our previous report noted that the Council’s leadership had started to make 

some necessary changes and that “green shoots”  were in place to deliver the 

widespread transformation and changes required.   

P
age 253



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

10

Key Findings (Cont’d)

The Current Position (Cont’d)

The Council’s Improvement Plan has been key for creating and maintaining a focus on 

the required improvements, and the Council has made significant progress on many of 

the recommendations made in our previous report, supported by the creation of 

additional capacity in some key areas. The Council has put in place the foundations to 

delver the sustainable improvements that are needed, and significant improvements are 

already being made. Finalising and then delivering the phase 2 Implementation Plan, 

which will focus on organisational culture, values and behaviours required to deliver 

change, will be crucial for ensuring sustainable improvement.

The Council retains a challenging agenda of delivering business as usual alongside 

improvement and transformation and it must maintain the pace of change so that 

progress does not plateau or fall backwards. The Council must not become dependent 

on the Government intervention and the role of the Commissioners and be clear that the 

improvement journey is the responsibility of the Council leadership, both senior 

members and senior officers. In addition, the external environment for all councils 

remains highly uncertain, including the level of future Government funding and potential 

policy changes, alongside the impact of the cost of living crisis on businesses and 

communities and generationally significant levels of inflation.

The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that there is 

clarity on its medium-term financial position including how any funding gaps will be 

managed. The Council must also used the improvement building blocks now in place to 

bring a greater focus on service user responsiveness and outcomes. Once all the 

planned revisions to the Constitution have been agreed, the Council will need to embed 

theses changes and demonstrate sustainable improvements in governance and scrutiny 

of decision making.

Improvement is also needed in the Council's financial processes and its processes for 

the production of its financial statements. At the date of this report the Council has not 

completed the audit of its 2020/21 financial statements. This needs addressing as a 

matter of urgency.

This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

The interim Chief Executive has continued to be central to the improvements that have 

been made to date. The appointment of a new permanent Chief Executive was 

confirmed by the Council on 8 November 2022, with their start date confirmed as 6 

February 2023. The success of this appointment remains critical for the Council’s 

improvement journey.

Recommendations and detailed findings

We now set out the summary of our findings for each KLOE followed by our key 

recommendations.

The detailed findings in relation to each individual KLOE are set out in the following 

section. We have also identified various improvement recommendations, which are 

summarised at Appendix B. 

We consider that these matters represent significant weaknesses in the Council's 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

P
age 254



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

11

KLOEs: Summary Findings 

KLOE Summary Findings

A1: The Children’s 

Trust

The Council has improved its relationships and contract management arrangements with SCT and the most recent Ofsted rating is evidence 

that positive steps have been taken on the Trust’s improvement journey. The Council should continue to work with SCT to ensure there is 

sustainability of continued progress. In particular, it will need to support SCT to mitigate workforce challenges and will need to monitor SCT’s 

ambitious financial plans, including efficiencies and demand management savings.

A2: Sandwell Leisure 

Trust

The Council has taken decisive steps to manage the contractual arrangements with SLT and is making changes to improve the provision of leisure 

services. The Council needs to successfully progress its plans for the local authority trading company.

A3: Providence Place This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place. We note that the Council’s previous 

management of this issue incurred a significant loss

A4: SEND Transport This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place. The Council must ensure that the lessons 

learned are shared across other council services so that this learning becomes embedded across the organisation.

A5: SLaP This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place.

A6: MADE Festival This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place.

A7: Waste Service The Council has made progress in its management of the Serco contract including improving the governance arrangements and introducing 

greater control to the management of the contract. The Council and Serco are moving from what was an adversarial contract management 

relationship towards a more constructive and collaborative partnership approach. There is greater engagement at most levels between the Council 

and Serco and relationships have improved to those being experienced during the time of our previous review. However, many changes now in 

train need to be completed and the more collaborative approach needs to become fully embedded and progress is still required including to finalise 

all associated plans and schedules, and formally agree the  replacement timescales for the waste fleet and  the financing of replacement costs and 

supplier lead in times with Serco. Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in relation to the Council’s accounts.

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 255



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

12

KLOEs: Summary Findings (Cont’d)

KLOE Summary Findings

A9: Lion Farm The Council has taken all possible actions to resolve this matter and has a clear way forward, although we note that the process is by its nature 

slow. The Council has also improved arrangements with the updated protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings.

A10: Introduction of 

new ERP System

The Council has taken significant steps to correct what was a floundering system implementation and undertaken a significant amount of work 

since our previous review.  The Council has introduced more robust and appropriate governance arrangements, appointed a new implementation 

partner, scaled up the resources to implement the programme, introduced a programme management approach, engaged specialist external 

support and capacity, and corrected skills and experience gaps. The programme is now on a much more sound footing and the Council leadership 

now recognises that the introduction of a new ERP System is an enabler for transformation and has moved from a “lift and shift” approach to 

managing the implementation as a change programme.  The increase in costs to manage the implementation more effectively should increase the 

chances of a successful implementation and for the Council to realise the planned benefits. However, the way the original implementation was 

managed has incurred significant and unnecessary costs and delays for the Council, which remains a key learning reference point for future large-

scale change projects and programmes.

B1: Chief Officers Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. 

B2: Senior Leadership Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The success of the appointment of the new permanent Chief Executive  remains critical for the Council if it is to 

successfully continue on its improvement journey.

B3: Complaints Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. 

B4: Office and Member 

Relationships

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, and the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly 

well both collectively and via their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  This is being recognised across the wider organisation. There is a 

more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming 

across different Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is conducted by these committees. The introduction of 

a PMF is evidence of an improvement in consolidated reporting and provides the Council’s leadership with an opportunity for improved evidenced 

based decision making and monitoring the delivery of the Corporate Plan and Improvement Plan. The Council recognises that the PMF approach 

requires ongoing refinement to improve how key indicators can be effectively measured. 

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 256



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

13

KLOEs: Summary Findings (Cont’d)

KLOE Summary Findings

B5: Standards 

Committee

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The Council must ensure that the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to monitor and take prompt 

action whenever inappropriate behaviour is identified.

B6: Audit Committee Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. A final decision needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered formally closed.

B7: Financial Reporting The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy 

issues from prior years, dating back to the previous accounts, that are undermining the quality of the financial statements. We consider that this 

needs to be an area of priority for the Council. Until these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over the Council's financial 

position.

The other improvements that are in train will take time to embed, and improvements are not likely to be seen until the production of the 2021/22 

accounts. The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to timescale, ensure all key finance roles have 

permanent appointments, and prioritise the recruitment to, and the training and development of, the Finance Team so that the role and 

behaviour changes planned become embedded.

B8: Engagement with 

Residents and 

Community Groups

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this engagement supports improved 

corporate focus on service quality and customer outcomes.

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 257



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2021/22 - DRAFT

Commercial in confidence

14

Key recommendations

Improvement recommendations are made throughout this report and these are summarised in Appendix B.   Our key recommendations are summarised below. 

# Key Recommendation

1. The Council must conclude the design of Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan, which will focus on organisational culture, values and behaviours required to deliver 

change,  and introduce a “golden thread” aligning corporate KPIs to individuals performance objectives, so that planned improvements and changes become 

embedded across the organisation. The Council must also use the improvement building blocks now in place to bring a greater focus on service user 

responsiveness and outcomes.

2. The Council needs to ensure that the new corporate PMO remains appropriately resourced, integrates all transformation and change activity being undertaken 

across the Council, and has access to appropriate data sources to be able to effectively monitor the delivery.

3. The Council should progress and finalise outstanding actions relating to our previous recommendations, in particular introducing a commercial strategy and an asset 

management strategy and conclude the service based actions arising from our previous recommendations, including improvements in the management of the waste 

contract and the creation of the new leisure services company. The Leadership Team needs to ensure there is appropriate corporate focus on medium term 

financial planning and financial statement production.

4. Once all the planned revisions to the Constitution have been agreed, the Council will need to embed theses changes and demonstrate sustainable improvements in 

governance and scrutiny of decision making.

Management responses to these and the improvement recommendations are included in a separate Council report.

P
age 258



P
age 259



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

16

Governance Review

The Council has instigated a review of its governance arrangements  following issues 

identified by our original VfM governance review, the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 

review and the CIPFA Financial Management review. These reviews identified the need 

for the Council to address underlying constitutional and procedural deficiencies that 

directly and indirectly undermine or hinder the Council’s governance arrangements, 

decision making ability and key working relationships.

The Governance Review has been established to refresh the Council’s decision-making 

mechanisms and update constitutional arrangements to enable the achievement of the 

Council’s strategic direction and ambition. In particular: 

• efficient and effective decision-making; 

• a more open, transparent and accountable Council; 

• greater engagement with residents, communities and stakeholders in relation to 

democratic functions; 

• more effective support to elected members to enable them to be confident and 

successful in their various roles;

• corporate governance documentation, policies and procedures to be updated and 

revised so that they are consistent with national guidance, align to best practice and 

are fit for purpose;

• strong and healthy relationships between elected members and officers.

An Officer Governance Project Team was established to help coordinate and oversee 

the delivery of the Governance Review. Support has also been provided by the LGA, the  

Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS), CIPFA, and the Government appointed 

Commissioners. 

On 27 May 2022 the Governance and Constitution Review Committee established a 

cross-party Member Working Group to oversee the coordination of constitution revisions 

and proposals. The Working Group has considered a series of draft constitution 

proposals and worked with other committees, boards and groups to ensure proposed 

change are joined up, for example, any development and training needs are being fed 

into the Member Development Programme as training and development needs are 

identified.

Key Corporate Actions 

The review has been designed to be delivered in three phases:

• Phase 1:  Revisions to the Contract and Procurement Procedure, financial decision 

thresholds, and Protocol for the Disposal of Council Owned Land and Buildings. 

These were approved by the Council in July 2022. 

• Phase 2:  Revisions  were agreed by full Council on 8 November 2022 in relation to: 

the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, Council Procedure Rules, Executive 

Procedure Rules, Access to Information Rules,  Officer Employment Procedure 

Rules, Protocol Member and Employee Relations, and Officers’ Code of Conduct. 

• Phase 3: Proposed changes are due to be presented to full Council on 13 December 

2022 in relation to: Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, Financial 

Regulations and Procedure Rules, Remaining Articles, and Responsibility for 

Functions.

An annual review of the Constitution has been agreed following the conclusion of the 

current review. 

We refer, where appropriate, to this governance review during the detailed findings set 

out in this report.

Improvement Plan

The Council developed an improvement plan in response to our original VfM 

Governance review which, as already noted, has been expanded to incorporate the 

recommendations from the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge review and the CIPFA 

Financial Management review. It has also been developed in line with the Secretary of 

State for DLUHC’s Statutory Direction. This single Improvement Plan was agreed by full 

Council on 7 June 2022 and structured around the following six themes: 

• Organisational Culture

• Corporate Oversight 

• Strategic Direction

• Decision Making

• Procurement and Commercial

• Partnership and Relationships

Each theme has a clear set of deliverables, milestones and responsibilities which will be 

used to track our progress against expected timescales

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 260



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

17

The Improvement Plan (Cont’d)

In developing the Improvement Plan staff and elected members were engaged including 

via a co-production staff network and a staff panel. The Plan was also discussed with 

local MPs.  

The Council recognises that the June 2022 version of the Improvement Plan as phase 1, 

with an updated Improvement Plan to include any additional areas of improvement that 

are identified during phase 1 activity. 

Further staff and member engagement is planned through June to December 2022 to 

help shape the development of phase 2, which is due to go to Cabinet in January 2023. 

This engagement is due to focus on organisational change and to determine the desired 

culture of the Council.  

In his Directions to the Council, the Secretary of State for DLUHC appointed  two 

Commissioners with powers to make sure that the Council “has made sufficient 

improvement within the next two years to be able to comply with its best value duty on a 

sustainable basis”. These roles are:

• Managing Director Commissioner:  whose responsibilities include giving direction 

and leadership to deliver improvements that the Council is required to take; and

• Assistant Commissioner: one of whose responsibilities is overseeing the cultural 

change necessary at the Council.

The Commissioners will be providing six-monthly reports to the Secretary of State on the 

Council’s progress in addressing the matters highlighted by the external reviews. The 

first of these was made in June 2022 and at the time of our review there had not been a 

response from the Secretary of State. The next Commissioner report will be made in 

December 2022.

There are several factors that will inform any decision by the Secretary of State to end 

the period of Government intervention at the Council, and this decision will be based on 

reports received from the Commissioners. Some of these factors include:

• That the council can demonstrate sustainable improvements in governance and 

scrutiny of decision making.

• That a permanent Chief Executive has been successfully appointed.

• The Council has reached a decision on implementing a four-yearly election cycle.

Progress on the Implementation Plan is monitored by Leadership Team on a monthly 

basis using RAG ratings and exception reporting.   

Key Corporate Actions (Cont’d)

Terms of reference have been agreed and the Managing Director Commissioner will 

chair this meeting, with the Assistant Commissioner in attendance as an observer.

Members will have oversight of progress through monthly informal reporting and formal 

reporting to Cabinet quarterly. Progress is reported to the Audit and Risk Assurance 

Committee and the Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. 

Monitoring will continue until all actions have been completed and Government 

intervention has been lifted. Member-led committees will be used for decision making 

and to maintain oversight of implementation of the actions within the Improvement Plan. 

These will include Governance and & Constitution Review Committee, Audit & Risk 

Assurance Committee and Scrutiny Committees.

The Council already has in place an existing Statutory Direction from the Department for 

Education (DfE) in relation to Children’s Social Care. This Statutory Direction included 

the establishment of an  independently chaired Improvement Board and these 

arrangements will continue to run alongside the council-wide interventions. There will be 

scheduled updates between Sandwell Children’s Trust and the Commissioners through 

quarterly meetings with the independently appointed Chair of the Trust Improvement 

Board.

A dedicated team has been established to manage the development and delivery of the 

Implementation Plan via a programme management office (PMO). The PMO will identify 

variances to the agreed deliverables and work with lead officers to ensure mitigating 

action is designed and implemented as appropriate. The PMO aims to draw on key skills 

and expertise available across the Council as necessary, such as communications, 

organisational development, employee engagement, risk management, democratic 

services, financial management and internal audit. 

We refer, where appropriate, to the Improvement Plan during the detailed findings set 

out in this report.

Review of the Council’s election cycle

At its meeting on 26 July 2022, the Council approved arrangements for a public 

consultation in connection with the possible change of the election cycle from the current 

system of ‘election by thirds’ to ‘whole council elections’ occurring once every four years. 

This followed Directions by the Secretary of State for DLUHC that the Council reviews 

its current elections cycle. The Council undertook public consultation during August and 

September 2022. Of the total number of consultation responses received, 69% voted to 

retain the current electoral cycle of electing “by thirds”. At  full Council on 8 November 

2022 the decision was taken to maintain  the current cycle of elections “by thirds”.

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 261



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

18

Key Corporate Actions (Cont’d)

Performance Management Framework

The Council approved a refreshed Corporate Plan (Vision 2030) in October 2021 

which did not include any corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Through the 

development of directorate business plans during Autumn and Winter 2021/22 key 

metrics were identified to track progress and measures the success of the Council’s 

actions towards the delivery of the Corporate Plan.

On 12 April 2022  the Council approved  a Corporate Performance Management 

Framework (PMF) to monitor delivery of the Corporate Plan. The PMF is designed to:

• Track progress on delivering strategic outcomes in the Corporate Plan.

• Develop collective responsibility for delivering the Corporate Plan, across elected 

members, the Leadership Team and Council staff. 

• Help improve services and outcomes by identifying poor performance and sharing 

good practice.

• Motivate staff by having clear objectives and targets, and hot staff accountable for 

delivery whilst providing cross-council support to address issues and achieve 

priorities.

• Celebrate the achievements of the Council whilst also identifying risks to achieving 

strategic outcomes and enable the Leadership Team and elected members to put 

in place mitigations in a timely manner.

• Provide a strong evidence based for improved decision making and the efficient 

use of resources.

The PMF is structured across four components as set out in Figure 1 on the right. A 

series of KPIs have been agreed for each area of the framework.  Performance 

information has been identified to support each KPI  be used to monitor progress, 

including benchmarking information where available. 

The Council has developed a service planning framework that seeks to understand the 

needs of communities, identified priorities and sets out actions to deliver and measure 

progress and impact. This sets out the purpose of and relationship between the 

following plans: 

• The Corporate plan sets out the strategic priorities and ambition for the borough

• The Improvement Plan sets out actions to respond to the Grant Thornton 

Governance Review, the LGA Peer Review and the CIPFA FM Review.  

Figure 1: Summary of the Performance Management Framework 

• The Corporate Plan and Improvement Plan set the priorities for directorate and 

service level plans.

• The Corporate Plan, Improvement Plan and Directorate Plans feed into the 

development of the Corporate Transformation Plan.

• The Corporate Transformation Plan is to ensure service improvements and 

transformation projects are delivered in line with the Corporate Plan and Medium-

Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

We refer, where appropriate, to the PMF as part of our detailed findings set out in this 

report. 

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 262



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

19

Background

The Service Delivery Contract (SDC) between the Council and Sandwell Children’s 

Trust (SCT) went live on 1 April 2018. The total contract period was for 10 years with an 

option to exercise a break after 5 years of operation.

Our December 2021 report recommended the following:

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise corporate 

effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure it remains on its 

improvement trajectory. This should include:

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and prevention 

strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team in place 

to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current circumstances.

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, and take a 

realistic and pragmatic view on the level of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT so that 

they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure effective 

communication and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of 

SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

KEY FINDINGS

Ofsted inspection

In May 2022 Ofsted undertook their latest inspection of Children’s Services at Sandwell. 

The report, which was published on 5 July 2022, rated services as 'require improvement 

to be good'. The previous inspection by Ofsted, conducted in November 2017, rated 

services as inadequate. This previous inspection led to the creation of SCT in April 

2018.

Ofsted reported that the pace and trajectory of improvement had increased over the 

year preceding the inspection, underpinned by stronger strategic leadership and 

changes to service delivery such as the move to a locality model, the introduction of an 

early help strategy, a social work career pathway and high quality specialist services. 

Ofsted also noted effective collaboration by social workers with partners in other 

services.

However, Ofsted also reported that not all children experience effective social work 

practice due to staff turnover, workload pressures and variation in management 

oversight and support and effectiveness of partnership working.

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

Children’s Services in Sandwell have been rated inadequate for over a decade, so this 

latest inspection reflects a positive direction of travel. However, Ofsted noted that 

COVID-19 had slowed the improvement journey and there is still much more to do for 

services to be consistently good.

When a service comes out of inadequate the Department for Education (DfE) will take a 

measured judgement on any changes to their terms of intervention. The current 

statutory direction will remain in place until DfE is assured on the long term  trajectory of 

sustainable improvement. However, following the most recent Ofsted inspection results 

the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families acknowledged the 

improvements that Sandwell has made and advised that Sandwell will now  enter a 

period of ‘transition from intervention’. There will continue to be ongoing support and 

supervision from the DfE until it is clear there is a ‘sustainability of continued progress’.

The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this 

improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including sharing good 

practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

Muti-agency early intervention and prevention strategy

The Council, working with SCT and the voluntary and community sector, has developed 

a multi-agency early help strategy, which focuses on early intervention and prevention 

across the early help system. It was launched on 17 March 2022 and there have been a 

number of  events with partner organisations, such as the police and schools, to 

promote the strategy. The strategy seeks to ensure that needs are identified at the 

earliest possible point and early interventions prevent needs from escalating, reducing 

the need for more costly service provision. 

The Council has approved invest to save funding for a strategic lead  to drive the 

implementation of the strategy.  Whilst the strategy is now being implemented it will take 

time to embed across all the organisations involved, and will require cultural, behaviour 

and practice change from the organisations involved to be successful. 

The SCT Improvement Board monitors progress on the implementation of the strategy 

and the Children and Families Strategic Partnership has refreshed its strategic priorities 

to include early help and this body along with the Safeguarding Board provides system-

wide governance for the new strategy.  

It is envisaged that the strategy will take 18 months to embed across the early help 

system, and the Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of 

the early help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised.

P
age 263



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

20

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)

SCT Workforce challenges

Workforce challenges, relating to recruitment and retention remain a significant issue for 

SCT, with 25% of roles unfilled or covered by agency staff significantly impacting on 

capacity.  The Council and SCT have a clear understanding of how this impacts on 

performance and SCT has developed a workforce strategy. There is a Key Performance 

Indicator (KPI) in place on social worker vacancy rates which is regularly monitored  by 

the Operational Partnership Board (OPB), which has been in contract failure zone for last 

six months.

Social care is facing significant workforce pressures across the West Midlands, and 

indeed nationally,  with the reputation of Sandwell considered a contributory factor to 

current challenges, alongside a number of councils in the region actively competing with 

each other for scarce resources. SCT has been using the recent improved Ofsted rating 

as part of recruitment messaging to try and address any labour market perceptions.

In 2018 SCT in consultation with the Council introduced a market supplement to be paid 

to social workers of £2.5k with a total value of £150k included in the 208/19 contract sum 

and to be retained for the following three years of the contract. 

In March 2022 SCT’s remuneration committee undertook a benchmarking exercise 

comparing the pay of children’s social workers in Sandwell and the 13 West Midlands 

councils and identified that some roles at SCT provided competitive pay rates. However, 

a number of West Midlands councils have introduced financial incentives such as “golden 

handshakes” of between £2k and £10k. 

When comparing SCT’s social worker pay to the benchmarked group, SCT’s pay 

bandings were generally lower than half the other councils. In March 2022 the Council’s 

Cabinet agreed to continue the market supplement of £2.5k per annum which equates to 

£582k for 2022/23, of which £150k is already included in the contract sum. This is a 

maximum cost based on all 168 social worker posts being permanently employed. If this 

were the case the reduction in the cost of agency staff would offset the cost of the market 

supplement.  

The Council have taken positive actions in supporting SCT manage its operational and 

financial challenges. The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce 

the level of vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated 

KPI  does not lead to contract failure.

Placement costs

The average cost of residential placements for Sandwell has been increasing since April 

2018, with seven placements costing over £6k per week during 2021/22. The rise in 

placement costs is offset by the lower than average number of children in residential care 

(6% in Sandwell compared to the England average of 14%). This relatively low number of 

children in residential care suggests that SCT has been able to support children with high 

needs in foster placements. The children in care peaked at 56 in December 2018 and 

had reduced to 51 in February 2022. 

The Head of Strategic Commissioning, an invest to save role, provides additional 

capacity and expertise to increase the potential for joint commissioning and ensure 

stronger strategic planning at an individual case level with key partners including the NHS 

and schools.  The Head of Strategic Commissioning also provides challenge to children’s 

placement activity including costs and the appropriateness of placements for the child, to 

support the drive for efficiencies. A saving of £87k has been reported during 2022/23 

relating to complex placements.  Nonetheless, the Council is forecasting an overspend 

during 2022/23 of £750k due to SCT needing to bring in managed social work teams to 

cover vacancies. The Council also has a £500k contingency for high cost replacements. 

SCT has a board led by SCT’s Director of Resources which monitors placements. At the 

time of our review a number of market events were planned with providers. The 

sufficiency of placements is discussed regularly at management and contract 

management meetings between the Council and SCT and by the SCT Improvement 

Board. 

Invest to Save

The contract between the Council and SCT allows SCT to make invest to save proposals 

to increase the contract sum in the short term, to be paid back to the Council via a 

reduction in a future contract sum. SCT has submitted two invest to save proposals which 

the Council approved in September 2021. 

These related to Early Help and Strategic Commissioning and total £287.5k investment in 

2021/22 and 2022/23 with this amount being returned to the council  by SCT in 2023/24 

and 2024/25 by a reduction in the contract sum.

The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to save 

activities to ensure that SCT is able to meet its financial plans and  generate the 

ambitious savings and efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced. 

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.P
age 264



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

21

Contract review

The SDC includes a requirement for SCT to produce an annual review  and a contract 

review at the end of year four of operation. There is a joint requirement on the Council to 

also review the contract at the end of its first four contract years (April 2018 to March 

2022). Unlike the annual review, the contact review is undertaken by both parties and 

the SDC sets out what this review should cover.

On the completion of the contract review process a recommendation must be made to 

the Secretary of State on whether a break notice should be served, and children’s social 

care functions brought back under the direct management of the Council. The Secretary 

of State will make the final decision on the serving of the break notice, considering the 

recommendations of both the Council and SCT.

At its meeting on 28 September 2022 the Council’s Cabinet agreed to not recommend to 

the Secretary of State that the break clause be invoked.

The funding provided by the Council to SCT during 2022/23 will be £71.7m and was 

determined by the contract sum negotiation process and change controls agreed by 

Cabinet. This amount is higher than the annual budget when the Trust was set up in 

2018.  There have been several financial pressures on the Trust linked to demand, the 

cost of placements and significant staff recruitment and retention issues that have 

underpinned the need for additional funding. SCT has detailed how it will reduce the 

total spend on service provision, through efficiencies and demand management, so that 

by 2024/25 the annual budget will be, after inflation and pay awards, over £2m a year 

lower than the 2021/22 budget.

The expectation when SCT was set up was that services would move from being 

‘inadequate’ to ‘good’ within four years. The Council has accepted that the impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the delivery of children’s services 

and Cabinet agreed at its meeting on 28 September 2022  to revise the timeline for 

achieving a judgement of ‘Good’ to March 2025, which also recognised that the next 

Ofsted inspection is likely to take place in three years. 

SCT overspent their budget by £6.567m in 2018/19 and the Council allocated £5m 

towards this deficit from reserves. SCT overspent by £4.332m in 2019/20 but did not 

request additional funding, instead agreeing that this overspend would be recovered by 

the end of 2020/21. SCT had a cumulative deficit by the end of 2020/21 but is expected 

to recover their position by the end of 2023/24, based on information provided to the 

Council as part of the 2022/23 contract negotiations. 

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

The service delivery contract between the Council and SCT sets out 15 Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) agreed in July 2018. These were based on key areas of 

service improvement against areas identified by Ofsted, and are monitored by OPB and 

the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). We note that the SCT Board uses a performance 

management framework that is broader than these 15 contractual KPIs. 

The Council and SCT agreed to review the contractual KPIs to ensure they are 

appropriate for current circumstances, with the new set of KPIs to be used from 1 April 

2023 contract period. This review of KPIs was ongoing at the time of our review. 

Benchmarking

The Council commissioned LG Futures to undertake financial benchmarking including   

analysis of children’s social care in Sandwell. Children’s social care spend in Sandwell 

based on  head of population was lower than the average spend of statistical nearest 

neighbours over the period 2018/19 to 2020/21. The Council’s Cabinet is aware that 

SCT does not represent above average unit costs when compared to the benchmarking 

group, and the Council  has taken this into account as part of their contract negotiations 

including savings options for 2022/23 and 2023/24. This benchmarking analysis 

indicates a challenging context  for SCT to achieve the efficiencies and demand 

management savings that are planned for the contract sum to be reduced.

SCT’s Director of Finance has regular dialogue with the Council’s senior finance officers 

and DCS, and SCT’s financial plan is scrutinised by the Trust’s Board.  

Review of governance roles

The Council appointed a new Lead Member for Children’s Services in May 2022, who 

had been in this role at the time that SCT was established. 

Formal governance arrangements between the Council and SCT have not been 

changed. The Director of Children’s Services, together with Council senior officers from 

finance and legal services, and the Chief Executive of the Trust meet on at least a 

monthly basis to consider performance and operational matters OPB. The Council’s 

Lead Member for Children and Education and Director of Children’s Services meet 

quarterly with the Chair of the Trust Board and the Chief Executive of the Trust, at a 

Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). SPB is chaired by the Chief Executive of the Council 

and considers risks and issues escalated by OPB, such as workforce challenges. The 

Improvement Board of the Trust is chaired by an independent consultant appointed by 

DfE. 

P
age 265



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

22

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

Review of governance arrangements (Cont’d)

The main governance related change since our previous review is that there is more 

regular informal meetings between senior representatives of the Council and SCT, 

including the Chair and Chief Executive of SCT and the Director of Children’s Services 

and the Lead Member for Children and Education, as well as meetings including the  

Director of Finance of the Council. There are also regular meetings between the Chief 

Executive and Director of Finance of the Trust and the Director of Finance and Director 

of Children’s Services of the Council.

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council has improved its relationships and contract management arrangements 

with SCT and the most recent Ofsted rating  is evidence that  positive steps have been 

taken on the Trust’s improvement journey. We have identified the following improvement 

recommendations:

• The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this 

improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including sharing good 

practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

• The Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of the early 

help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised.

• The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce the level of 

vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated KPI  does 

not lead to contract failure.

• The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to 

save activities to ensure that SCT is able to meet its financial plans and generate the 

ambitious savings and efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced

P
age 266



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

23

Background

Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) was formed by the Council in 2004 due to underperformance 

of the in-house leisure service. SLT was contracted via a Management and Funding 

Agreement (MFA) for a 30-year period: 2004 to 2034.

Our December 2021 report recommended  that the Senior Leadership of the Council  - both 

officer and member - must take ownership and prioritise corporate effort  and take urgent 

steps to either resolve the current position with SLT or consider the options for alternative 

provision should either party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the 

continuity of future leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

KEY FINDINGS

Contingency planning

As at  2022 there were 12 years left to run on the Council’s  leisure contract with SLT, under 

which the Council agrees a rolling three-year business plan with SLT each year.  The 

Council continued to be unable to agree a business plan and management fee with SLT for 

the next three-year period (2021-2024). The key issues for the Council related to the 

sustainability and value for money of SLT’s  business plan including the legacy operation of 

the Sandwell Aquatics Centre from June 2023, and the sharing of financial and key 

performance information. 

The Council undertook contingency planning to ensure continuity of service which included 

commissioning Continuum Leisure to undertake an options appraisal for the future 

management of leisure services.  Eight options were considered and the results of the 

appraisal were reported to Cabinet on 9 February 2022. Two options were identified by the 

consultants should agreement with SLT on their business plan not be reached:

• the creation of a local authority controlled trading company (LATC) or

• the outsourcing of the services.

Both of these options are projected to generate management fee savings when compared to 

the projected costs of the SLT contract based on SLT’s most recent business plan and also 

when compared to  bringing the services back in house.

The Senior Leadership Team were asked to undertake further detailed appraisal of these 

two options plus in-house provision.

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust 
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

At the same February 2022 meeting Cabinet agreed to serve reasonable notice of 

termination of the contract with SLT due to the Council and SLT not being able to agree a 

business plan and payment for 2021-2024,  with SLT ceasing to deliver services by 2 May 

2023.

Local Authority Trading Company

Detailed consideration of the three options for the future management of SLT’s  portfolio of 

leisure facilities was undertaken, including the changes planned  in 2023 with the opening of 

the Sandwell Aquatic Centre and associated closure of Smethwick and Langley facilities.

The findings from this options appraisal were set out in a report to Cabinet on 22 June 2022 

which focussed on the delivery model for 9 of the Council’s 10 leisure centres (one  is 

operated by Places Leisure and was not part of the scope of the options appraisal). Cabinet 

agreed to progress  the LATC option. 

The Council tested the market for a step-in provider, should SLT have decided to not work to 

the Council’s transition timescales, but a step-in provider has not been required, with SLT 

demonstrating that they want to work with the Council to support an appropriate handover to 

the new LATC. This includes SLT’s Chair attending the Council’s monthly operational 

meetings on the transition of the service and supporting the planned TUPE process of SLT 

staff to the new company. 

The Council has no recent experience of setting up a LATC and have engaged various 

suppliers to support the process. The Council is managing the transition to the new delivery 

model and is being supported by Bevan Brittan providing legal advice on the  structure of the 

LATC, Trowers and Hamlin advising on TUPE,  Strategic Leisure drafting the service 

specification, and Penna are being engaged to help recruit the Chief Operating Officer of the 

new company. The Council is drawing on Sport England models of performance 

management for leisure services, and researching good practice from the local government 

sector on leisure services LATCs, to utilise and adapt notable practice. 

The Council plans to use this change in delivery model to improve service quality, such as 

opening hours and expanding the service offering with a greater focus on wellbeing. At the 

time of our review the LATC had not been incorporated and the  governance arrangements 

had not been finalised, including whether Non Executive Directors (NEDs) will be recruited 

to sit on the new company board. 

P
age 267



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

24

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust (Cont’d) 
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

Local Authority Trading Company (Cont’d)

Whatever the legal structure of the new LATC, it will be a subsidiary to the Council who will 

retain the trading and operating risks of the new company and the Council will need to:

• ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so that there is a clear 

financial case for the commercial viability of the new arms length company.

• be clear how it  effectively discharges its role whilst allowing the company the freedoms 

and flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial and service benefits.

Sandwell Aquatics Centre

Following the hosting of the Commonwealth Games during the Summer of 2022, the Council 

is responsible for adapting the Aquatics Centre before it is transferred to the new LATC in 

June 2023 when it will become open to public use. This forms part of the Commonwealth 

Games legacy arrangements. 

The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so that it is 

operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear business case which sets out 

how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and provide financial returns 

to the Council as part of the leisure LATC arrangements.  

The Council is in the process of developing a commercial strategy to set out how the Council 

will identify, manage, and maximise new commercial opportunities.  The new LATC will seek 

to generate income and provide the Council as sole shareholder a dividend and as such will 

form part of the commercial strategy.  

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council has taken decisive steps to manage the contractual arrangements with SLT and 

is  making changes to improve the provision of leisure services.  The Council needs to 

successfully progress its plans for alternate delivery arrangements and we have identified 

the following improvement recommendations: 

• The Council will need ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so 

that there is a clear financial case for the commercial viability of the new arms length 

company

• The Council will need to be clear how it  effectively discharges its shareholder role in 

relation to the planned leisure LATC whilst allowing the company the freedoms and 

flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial and service benefits.

• The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so 

that it is operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear business case 

which sets out how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and 

provide financial returns to the Council as part of the leisure LATC arrangements. 

P
age 268



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

25

Background

Our original review considered issues arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.

In our December 2021 report we recommended:

• Where the Council considers similar transactions (to Providence Place) in future, those 

charged with making decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the 

detail of the options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a 

responsibility to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully understood 

these complexities and risks.

• The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and disposals 

are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies.

KEY FINDINGS

Protocol for the Disposal of Land and Buildings

The Council has updated its protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings 

which forms part of the Council’s Financial Regulations. It applies to all property interests 

owned by the Council, and applies to every Member and officer of the Council and anyone 

acting on the Council’s behalf.

The new protocol was approved by the Cabinet in July 2022 and clearly sets out the roles 

and responsibilities of individuals and bodies within the Council, and the scheme of 

delegation for approving asset disposals.

The protocol also sets out the risks and mitigations in relation to options agreements 

(such as used for Lion Farm) where the Council choses to encourage and promote 

property development in order to promote regeneration and renewal, or to contribute to 

strategic targets such as housing numbers.

The Council has been undertaking a review of its asset portfolio to identify any surplus 

assets. This work had not concluded at the time of our follow up review. Once concluded 

the new protocol will be applied should there be agreement on any asset disposals. 

Whilst the Council has not seen the circumstances to yet apply the new protocol, we have 

been advised that it has been used to provide a framework in relation to the acquisition of 

a shopping centre in West Bromwich town centre. 

KLOE A3: Providence Place
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  

Asset Management Strategy

The Council has been developing an asset management strategy with a report due to go 

to Cabinet in October 2022.  This is expected to identify assets to rationalise and reduce 

asset related costs. The Council has also appointed Technology Forge to support the 

development of a new asset management database. 

The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy and 

asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio including asset 

disposals.

The Future of Providence Place

On 23 December 2021 the Council agreed to the disposed of the Providence Place site to 

the Department for Education.

The Council’s Planning Committee on 10 January 2022 approved the change of use of 

the Providence Place site from an office block to education, with external alterations and 

the erection of an associated school sports building and hard surfaced sports court.

On 30 March 2022 the Council’s Planning Committee approved planning permission for 

the creation of an 870 place secondary school with sixth form (Shireland Collegiate 

Academy Trust) on the site of Providence Place. The school will operate in partnership 

with the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra, with the school  due to open in 

September 2023.

The Council signed a pre-emption agreement with the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities (DLUHC) on 8 July 2022. This agreement allows the Council to 

buy the property should DLUHC decide to dispose of it during the period of the 

agreement, with the pre-emption period ending on 8 July 2047.

Conclusion and recommendations

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance 

arrangements in place. We note that the Council’s previous management of this issue 

incurred a significant loss. We have identified the following improvement 

recommendation:

• The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy 

and asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio including asset 

disposals.

P
age 269



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

26

Background

The Council’s Special Education Needs and Disabilities Passenger Transport (SEND 

Transport) contract expired at the end of August 2021 and the decision on the new contract 

award was deferred by the Council’s Cabinet at its meeting on 16 June 2021.

Our December 2021 report recommended that the Council’s senior leadership – both 

officers and members – must place priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport 

procurement exercise to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should 

include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s focus on service 

quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer teams with 

responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and oversight of 

the personal transport market.

For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major 

procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council policies 

and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate 

procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high quality 

bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, scrutiny and decision making. 

This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the procurement for the 

council to undertake the necessary strategic thinking and planning required, and mitigate 

the risk of not making an award in the planned timescale.

KEY FINDINGS

SEND Transport procurement

Following the Cabinet’s decision on 16 June 2021 to defer a decision on the outcome of the 

Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) procurement, the Council extended the exiting SEND 

transport contract until the February 2022 half term.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

At its meeting of 12 January 2022 the Cabinet agreed to abandon the DPS approach to 

procurement and extended existing contracts until 21 July 2022 to ensure continuity of 

service was maintained whilst an alternate procurement was undertaken, with the outcome 

of this new procurement to provide new SEND Transport provision from September 2022.

The Cabinet agreed  that an alternate procurement approach be developed to reflect the 

findings and recommendations of the Internal audit review of the DPS procurement, the 

Grant Thornton governance review and the review undertaken by the Council’s Childrens 

Services and Education Scrutiny Board. In particular an approach that increased the number 

of lots, improved the quality of provision, encouraged greater competition and provide 

resilience in service delivery. 

A Programme Board was established comprising the Director of Children’s Services, 

Monitoring Officer and Director of Finance, to provide Director oversight of the procurement.  

A separate Implementation Group was established to develop and manage the procurement 

process, with this group including representatives from procurement, finance, legal, internal 

audit and the education support team. The Council appointed Bevan Brittan to provide legal 

advice and brought in two interim procurement staff to provide additional capacity and 

experience. 

A project plan was agreed which included key delivery milestones to ensure that the 

procurement timescale was clear and that there was adequate time for suppliers and for the 

Council to manage the procurement process  for the new service to go live on 1 September 

2022.  Delivery against the plan was scrutinised by the Programme Board. 

The new procurement framework was structured to encourage smaller operators to bid and 

to create resilience of supply. The framework consisted of 13 lots with operators limited to 

the award of 1 contract per lot.  The evaluation approach for compliance, finance and quality 

were reviewed and enhanced as was the pricing structure for tender submissions. 

The service specification for operators was also reviewed and updated to ensure service 

quality requirements were met. Steps were included in the procurement to mitigate the risk 

of operators colluding.  We have been advised that a new procurement template was 

created which included a link to the Council’s declarations of interest form, which had to be 

completed by all people involved in the procurement exercise. 

P
age 270



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

27

SEND Transport procurement (Cont’d)

19 operators responded to the invitation to tender. Following evaluation 9 operators were 

appointed to the new framework, with others failing the technical or quality part of the 

evaluation. The Council then ran a mini competition for those operators appointed to the 

framework based on price. 6 operators were offered between 1 and 3 contracts each. 

The budget for SEND Transport is  £7.521m and contracts awarded total £7m resulting in an 

underspend in contract costs at the time of our review.

Post procurement activity

The new contracts went live on 1 September 2022.  During the first week of the new contract 

an operator pulled out due to not having sufficient drivers available and were unable to meet 

the contract quality standards. The structure of the new framework meant that the Council 

was able to allocate an alternate operator – the next lowest priced tender - the same day to 

ensure continuity of service.

Contract monitoring arrangements for the new contracts include quarterly reviews with all 

operators to review their performance. These meetings are due to include senior officers of 

the Council. At the time of our review the Council was in the process of collecting 

performance information from operators. 

Also at the time of our review the Council were undertaking a lessons learned review of the 

procurement, and exploring procurement approaches used by other councils,  as part of a 

continuous improvement approach The results of this work are due to be shared to support 

other similar Council procurement exercises, for example by providing a checklist of key 

considerations,  including the next SEND Transport procurement. The procurement for 

SEND Transport contracts which will commence in September 2024 is due to start in Spring 

2023. The lessons learned outcomes will be included in an update to the Scrutiny Board.

Conclusion and recommendations

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements 

in place, 

The Council must ensure that the lessons learned from the SEND Transport procurement 

are shared across other council services so that this learning becomes embedded across 

the organisation. 

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

P
age 271



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

28

Background

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) was incorporated on 14 January 2011 as a limited 

company, and was established by the Council as a vehicle for protecting the freehold of the 

Council’s schools and related sites. The Council was in the process of winding up the 

company at the time of our previous review. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length company 

in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those officers / members of the 

Council in company director roles are clear of their role and responsibilities in relation to 

that company.

• Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that 

company directors fully understand their company roles and responsibilities, that the 

company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to 

company directors. The purpose of the company should be revisited on a regular basis to 

determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

KEY FINDINGS

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) has been dissolved and  no longer exists as a 

company.

A review of arms length companies has been undertaken, which reported to the Council’s 

Leadership Team on 1 August 2022, concluding that only one body, Sandwell Children’s 

Trust, met the relevant criteria for an arms length company (as defined by the Local 

Government Act 1989), due to being a subsidiary of the Council and the Council being the 

sole subscriber.  Due to the Trust being well established with reporting and governance 

arrangements already in place, no changes were recommended. 

This review considered the following bodies, concluding that they didn’t meet the relevant 

criteria:

• SIPS Education: the Council does not  have direct control over the society. 

• Sandwell Leisure Trust: the Council has a contractual relationship with SLT. 

As noted in section KLOE A2 of this report, a leisure services LATC is being created, and 

the Council is obtaining external legal advice on the appointment of the company directors, 

board members, and representatives of the planned shareholder committee,  their roles and 

responsibilities and training requirements. 

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

This will be informed by lessons learned in relation to SLaP and SCT. 

Conclusion

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements 

in place, 

We have made an improvement recommendation in relation to the planned leisure 

company in the section on KLOE A2 of this report.

P
age 272



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

29

Background 

Our original review considered the governance arrangements and decision making relating 

to hosting the MADE Festival. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure that 

there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the governance 

arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

KEY FINDINGS

Events Governance Framework

The Council has developed an Events Governance Framework, which was reported to the 

Leadership Team on 23 February 2022. This followed a review of how the Council manages 

events. The Framework includes:

• Defines events as activities that take place on Council owned land or property.

• Set out responsibilities for managing events and event decision making categories.

• Classification of event types and event organisers and associated fees to be charged by 

the Council.

• Event decision making process and decision making thresholds including delegated 

authorities

• Measures to ensure adequate consideration of resident impacts of an event.

• The purpose and  role of the Safety Advisory Group in the events governance process

• A revised event booking process, decision making timescales and document 

requirements.

• Event marketing and promotion.

• Criteria for banned events. 

The Event Governance Framework draws on  what other local authorities are doing in 

relation to event governance and management, incorporating feedback received from the 

Local Authority Event Organising Group (LAEOG) the association of events organisers 

working for local authorities in the UK.

Following Cabinet Portfolio Holder approval the Framework went live on 28 February 2022 

and will  be reviewed annually by the Director of Borough Economy.

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

Other Findings

The new framework has been communicated internally to all Senior Managers and other 

relevant officers and an events page has been created on the Council’s intranet.

The new framework has been communicated externally to event bookers to provide an 

update on changes made. The Council’s external website has new content:

• Event Governance Framework

• Event Application Information for Event Providers and Organisers

• Event funding opportunities (to sign post event organisers to external funding for their 

events) 

• ‘What’s on’ list of approved events 

• Resident Impact Assessment Form

• Resources and support (inc. FAQs) for event organisers / applications

In addition the Council has procured Event software that it is now using on the external 

website and is the channel for all internal and external event bookings to be made. An initial  

review has been undertaken of the app  and content has been enhanced in relation to traffic 

management plans for public park venues.

Events management responsibility has been consolidated with the management of the Parks 

Service and a range of training has been provided to the events team. 

New protocols have been created for the Council’s work with friends of park groups, 

clarifying event booking arrangements, including holding a workshop with these groups on 

the new ways of working. 

Quarterly reviews of event performance and lessons learned will be undertaken by the 

events manager, service manager, Director of Borough of Economy, and other internal 

stakeholders, depending on the nature of the event.  

Events during 2022 have included those relating the Platinum Jubilee and the Summer 2022 

events programme including events relating the Commonwealth Games such as the baton 

relay.  The Council was undertaking a review of events managed by the Council at the time 

of this review.  

Conclusion

This matter has been resolved and improved governance arrangements are now in place.

P
age 273



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

30

Background

The waste and street cleansing contract was awarded to Serco in November 2010 for a 

period of 25 years. The  Council’s current net expenditure on the contract is £29.5m per 

annum. Contract standards are performance based and measured against 34 Key Outcome 

Targets (KOTs). 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are 

approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to monitoring their 

effective delivery.

• The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, and 

review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to ensure they are line with 

Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring of contract 

outcomes

• The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco are 

made, such as a new vehicle fleet.

KEY FINDINGS

Annual plans

A review of the Serco contract was undertaken by the Council in December 2021, and a 

refreshed approach was developed to ensure contractual requirements are being met.  Prior 

to January 2022 the Council had not been pro-active in requesting the delivery plans 

required within the contract with Serco. Arrangements have now been put in place to request  

these plans for the Council to review and adopt.  Delivery against plans now forms part of 

the Council’s monitoring approach. The 2022/23 Quarter 1 update on plans was as follows:

• Service Delivery Plan:  not yet approved

• Communication Plan – approved in May 2022

• Education Plan – draft received June 2022

• Fleet Replacement Plan – approved in April 2022

• Street Cleansing Plan – being redrafted by Serco

• Weed Spraying Schedule – approved in May 2022

• Leaf Collection Schedule – Serco to provide in August 2022

KLOE A7: Waste service
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

In addition a waste and recycling recovery plan has been agreed. 

A six-month street cleansing recovery plan was agreed between the Council and Serco 

which resulted in Serco investing in deep street cleansing activity across all wards. Serco 

have been redesigning street cleansing improvement plans, including a programme to 

replace aging street cleansing sweeper vehicles and equipment. At the time of our review 

the revised plan had not been finalised and agreed. 

An annual review of Serco’s Service Delivery Plan (SDP) forms part of the output 

specification of the contract between the Council and Serco. In March 2022 Serco submitted 

their draft SDP to the Council for the period April 2022 to March 2023.  

The Council reviewed the SDP and other plans received and raised a number of issues with 

Serco focussing on the need for greater transformation and improvement in relation to street 

cleansing, waste collection and bin replacement, improvement of recycling and food waste 

collection rates, alignment of fleet replacement with the Council’s green agenda, and 

improvements to the education plan. A revised deadline of the end of October 2022 was 

informally agreed to finalise the SDP, and  the revised SDP was approved at the Waste 

Partnership Board on 19 October 2022.

The Council must work with Serco to finalise all associated plans and schedules.

Governance Arrangements

The governance arrangements for the monitoring of the Serco contract with the Council is 

managed by the following groups:

• Waste Partnership Board. Council representatives are the Leader, Portfolio Holder for 

the Environment, Director of Borough Economy and Head of Service for Waste, Street 

Cleansing and Fleet. Serco representatives are their Contract Manager, Operations 

Manager and Transformation Manager. The Board meets monthly and provides the 

principal level of oversight on contract performance and improvement plans.

• Senior Contract Management Group. This meeting is attended by the Director of 

Borough Economy and the Waste and Fleet Service Manager from the Council,  and the 

Regional Director, Senior Contract and Contract Manager from Serco. The group 

oversee performance targets, health and safety, key projects, contract milestones, 

staff/union issues, finance, improvement areas, and any outstanding issues from the 

operational performance meeting. The group meets monthly. 

P
age 274



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

31

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Governance Arrangements (cont’d)

• Operational Management Group. This meeting is attended by the Waste Client Team 

from the Council and the Contract Manager, Street Cleaning Manager & Waste 

Collection Manager from Serco. The purpose of the group is to review customer 

complaints, street cleansing performance, waste collection performance, IT 

configurations and their applicability, KOT performance data and investigate detailed 

problem areas. It meets fortnightly. 

• Fleet Management Group. This group is attended by the Assistant Director (Contracts, 

Strategy and Policy), the Fleet Manger and Fleet Officer from the Council.  Serco 

attendees are the Director of Fleet, Regional Fleet Manager, Senior Contract Manager 

and Contract Manager. The purpose of this group is to ensure the fleet replacement 

programme is reviewed / considered / updated, replacement vehicles are ordered in a 

timely manner, vehicles are fit for purpose on the contract and there is oversight and 

review of the contractual maintenance requirements. It meets monthly. 

Governance arrangements were reviewed during Spring 2022 which resulted in updates to 

the terms of reference of the Waste Board, updates of the data provided by Serco to the 

Waste Board, a refresh of standard agendas and action logs for all meetings. 

Contract Monitoring

A review of the Performance and Management of the Waste Partnership Contract was

undertaken by the Council’s Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board 

which completed in December 2021, making 14 recommendations which were reported to 

Cabinet on 23rd February 2022.

The Council commissioned Frith Consulting to undertake an independent review of the 

waste and street cleaning contract to consider quality, performance and VfM. The final report 

was not available at the time of our review. At the time of our review Internal Audit were 

undertaking a review of the Council’s contract monitoring arrangements of the Serco 

contract. 

The Council has introduced the Intend module on contract management to improve the 

sharing of contract monitoring information between Serco and the Council.

A new framework for monitoring the Serco contract was introduced in April 2022 which 

set out the different Council bodies with a monitoring role, what each body should 

monitor, the frequency of monitoring and associated responsibilities. The Council has 

undertaken wider research into ssupplier relationship management and the monitoring of 

large contracts, including application of contract management tools such as those 

recommended by the Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply (CIPS) contract 

management tools.  The monitoring framework for the Serco contract may be further 

refined following the conclusion of this wider review.

A refreshed approach to the management of stakeholders has been developed including 

an associated communication plan. 

Due to continued concerns and issues with the delivery and quality of street cleansing 

and recognised capacity challenges in the Council team, the Council has increased its 

monitoring of street cleansing to include three additional Performance Officers being 

retained on temporary fixed term contracts to ensure that there is daily monitoring and 

where the standard is short of what is required the issuing of rectification notices. 

The Council’s contract management role has seen changes in personnel during 2022, 

including an Interim Service Manager (Waste and Fleet) and a new Assistant Director 

joining in early October 2022 with responsibility for waste service contract management. 

The Council has reviewed the need for a contract manager role for the waste service, and 

has restructured the senior management team in Borough Economy to establish the role 

of Assistant Director Borough Economy (Contracts, strategy, policy) with responsibility for 

the waste contract. 

The Council’s Director for Borough Economy meets the Serco Managing Director 

responsible for Environmental Services and Serco Regional Director each quarter, 

providing an opportunity to discuss escalated performance issues  relating to the contract

The Council has reviewed the information used to monitor KOTs and other Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) and ensure that contract rectification is improved so that it 

is more clearly aligned to the Council’s service and contract requirements. New KPIs are 

being considered for contract monitoring to provide a focus to areas of concern, for 

example missed assisted bin collections and gulley cleaning. 

As part of the new corporate Performance Management Framework there is a quarterly 

report to the Councils Leadership Team and Cabinet on major contracts, including the 

Serco contract. 

P
age 275



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

32

Contractual Investments

The Fleet Management Group monitors progress on Serco’s fleet replacement plan to 

improve the reliability of the fleet. The plan has been developed to provide oversight to 

the Council following delays by Serco in meeting contractual obligations to replace 

vehicles when over eight years old. Delays in replacement timescales have been 

compounded by disagreement between the Council and Serco on the financing of 

replacement costs and supplier lead in times to provide new vehicles, which need to be 

formally agreed.  There is a lack of clarity as to whether previous capital payments 

have been used to replace the fleet and whether the Council is able to recover these 

payments (due to poor contract management in prior years).

The first 18 vehicles were replaced in January 2022, with a phased replacement plan 

during 2022 and for future years, with other new vehicles on order to replace the oldest 

vehicles in the fleet.

Following the reintroduced food waste collection, Serco are utilising food waste trucks. 

More generally the make up of the fleet needs to align to the Council’s policy on 

collections. Serco has modelled potential changes and expressed the need for certainty 

on whether the Council will alter collection policy (for example introducing alternative 

weekly collection for waste and recycling) leading to delays in the progress to aspects 

of the fleet replacement plan. The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be 

changes to the waste and recycling or garden waste collection policies.

Serco are replacing diesel street tipper vans with electric vehicles and the Council have 

agreed to fund the provision of electric vehicle charging points at the Serco depot, to 

support the Council’s carbon neutral agenda. Updates on Serco fleet replacement are 

made to the Council’s Climate Change Programme Board.

The Council is responsible for the maintenance of the Serco fleet at its Waterfall Lane 

workshop, with Serco paying approximately £1.2m per annum to the Council for this 

service as part of contract arrangements. Serco would like greater transparency on the 

pricing approach used by the Council, and the Council should take steps to 

demonstrate to Serco how the service provides value for money.

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Contract performance

The waste and recycling recover plan saw an improvement in the number of missed 

collections during 2022 until July and August, which saw an increase in late and missed 

collections. Reasons given by Serco included high levels of COVID-19 related absences, 

high turnover of agency staff, mismanagement of leave, impact of pay negotiations on 

employee engagement, high levels of emergency and annual leave, reduced desire to do 

overtime due to good weather. In addition the fleet suffered as a result of hot weather with 

two vehicle fires and case of vehicles overheating and parts failing with an average of 15 

vehicles not available each day in July and 13 a day in August (out of 62 vehicles).

Recycling performance has been improving but is still significantly below the contract target 

of 60.5%. A re-invigorated drive to improve food waste participation (currently at 4.5%)  is 

planned to improve Serco’s recycling performance.

Contractual penalty points are accrued for failing to achieve the specific KOT and each KOT 

has a different weighted penalty point deduction. Some KOTs from the original contract with 

Serco appear unachievable,  such as the recycling rate which specifies recycling of 60.5% 

per annum. However this rate has never been higher than the 45%, which has resulted in a 

financial penalty of between £500k and £1m per annum. This income to the Council is 

allocated to a waste reserve which totalled £3.8m as at March 2022.  The financial penalty 

for 2021/22 was £974k.

There are 126,0000 properties in Sandwell and only approximately 5,000 households have 

signed up to food waste collection, impacting on Serco’s ability to meet the recycling target. 

Due to Serco being unable to achieve the recycling rates they have been  in default of the 

contract. In 2014 the Council provided a letter of comfort to Serco, which gave Serco 

indemnity against default for failing to achieve the recycling rates and discounts to the 

recycling rate to enable them to close the gap on the actual recycling rate. This letter expired 

in March 2021 and the Council had verbally agreed to extend the letter for a further year 

pending a joint review the contract conditions, but due to management changes on both 

sides and a continual performance issue the review did not take place in this timescale.  A 

further letter of comfort was then provided by the Council to Serco dated 5 August  2022 and 

the Council concluded its review of Serco’s recycling performance, confirming financial 

penalties in relation to 2020/21 and 2021/22 annual recycling targets on 15 September 

2022.

P
age 276



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

33

Industrial Relations

For the period of the Commonwealth Games in the Summer of 2022 the Council 

contracted with a Ramora, via a separate tender process, to undertake street cleaning 

around the site of the Aquatics Centre to mitigate industrial relations risks at Serco and 

reflecting the additional street cleaning required during the period of the Games. Costs 

were met via the Games budget.  In the eventuality there was no strike action called by 

the Serco workforce. 

During 2022 Serco management have undertaken pay negotiations and reached 

agreement with their workforce. Serco changed bank holiday working arrangements as 

part of these pay negotiations and as already noted saw a high level of absences 

during July and August, but no strike action has taken place.  The Council have sought 

assurances from Serco that bin collections will not be impacted in a similar way during 

the Christmas 2022 or Summer 2023 holiday periods.

Other findings

The Council is working with Serco to improve transparency and engagement with 

residents and businesses via improved investment in IT. This includes:

• Serco using their new software for gulley cleansing and obtaining a licence so that 

the gulley cleansing schedule can be viewed on-line by the public.  

• Serco are making changes to their back-office system (White Space) and are 

considering moving introducing a texts service to residents, and are also 

considering the introduction of a residents app. 

• Serco are introducing electronic monitory of bin conditions via waste collection 

operative phones. 

The Council has recently established an Enforcement Liaison Group, with officers 

represented from services including public protection, planning, highways, waste and 

housing. This group will develop waste related policies – that are not currently in place 

– to have clarity on what residents need to do such as managing bins left on streets. 

Once agreed the Council will communicate these policies to residents and community 

leaders. The Council is considering in-sourcing the waste enforcement officers 

currently employed via the Serco contract to enforce these new policies. 

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Conclusions and Recommendations

The Council has made progress in its management of the Serco contract including improving 

the governance arrangements and introducing greater control to the management of the 

contract.

The Council and Serco are moving from what was an adversarial contract management 

relationship towards a more constructive and collaborative partnership approach. There is 

greater engagement at most levels between the Council and Serco and relationships have 

improved to those being experienced during the time of our previous review. However, many 

changes now in train need to be completed and the more collaborative approach needs to 

become fully embedded.

Progress is still required and  we have the following improvement recommendations:

• The Council must work with Serco to all associated plans and schedules.

• The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be changes to the waste and 

recycling or garden waste collection policies.

• The Council should resolve the delays and formally agree replacement timescales for the 

waste fleet and the financing of replacement costs and supplier lead in times with Serco. 

Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in the relation to the 

Council’s accounts.

• The Council should take steps to demonstrate to Serco how the fleet maintenance 

service provides value for money.

P
age 277



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

34

Background 

Our original review considered the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making 

in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer results in 

agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and timescale so there is clarity 

on the responsibilities for the Council and developer in order to progress the finalisation 

of the secondary option agreement, or to be clear on the legal process for both parties 

extricating themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

• The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that 

arrangements are in place so that all the issues identified in the external review are 

appropriately mitigated and managed.

• The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating them to 

include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that best value can be 

achieved.

KEY FINDINGS

Developer secondary option

The Council was unable to reach agreement with the developer on a clear way forward in 

relation the secondary option agreement.  The Council’s Cabinet agreed  at its meeting on 

11 January 2022 to give notice to the developer that the Council would refer the issue for 

determination by an expert, in line with the appropriate clause in the original options 

agreement between the Council and the developer dated 21 May 2013.  Notice to the 

developer was made on 13 January 2022. 

On 24 January 2022 the developer and Council agreed the expert to be a partner from CMS 

Cameron McKenna Nabarro Olswang LLP.  The terms of the expert’s appointment were 

then agreed by the Council and the developer, as well as agreeing the procedure to follow.

The Council has engaged a QC  and Trowers and Hamlin to support them during the 

determination process. 

The Council drafted a Statement of Agreed Facts in June 2022 and at the time of our review 

was seeking to agree this Statement with the developer  Once agreed the Statement will be 

shared with the expert for the expert to make their determination.

There have been some delays to the expected timescale including working through potential 

conflicts of interest of the proposed expert and in agreeing the Statement of Agreed Facts

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

The Council has taken external legal advice on unilaterally proceeding but the referral is 

preferable to be made jointly.

Once the Statement has been agreed and provided to the expert the Council will have no 

influence over the timescale but hopes that the determination on the secondary agreement 

will be confirmed by December 2022.

Once a determination has been made and should it release the Council from the developer 

agreement, the Council will need to consider the options for re-marketing the site and 

engaging with commercial developers.

Other findings

As already noted in the section of this report on KLOE A3, the Council has updated its 

protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings and forms part of the Council’s 

Financial Regulations. The new protocol was approved by Cabinet in July 2022. The 

protocol applies to all property interests owned by the Council and applies to every Member 

and officer of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf.

The protocol clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of individuals and bodies within 

the Council, and the scheme of delegation for approving asset disposals. It also introduces a 

requirement that the value of any asset being proposed for disposal or acquisition is set out 

in reports to members.

The protocol also sets out the approach in relation to complex contractual arrangements, 

which are defined as contracts which commit the Council to dispose of land but where the 

receipt of purchase monies is delayed and/or is conditional on a future event. Such 

arrangements include option agreements which give a developer the right to acquire land at 

a future date, either at a pre-agreed price, a price to be fixed by a formula (such as a 

development appraisal) or a price to be fixed by independent valuation.

The protocol sets out the circumstances in which options agreements or conditional 

contracts are appropriate, and sets out the risks the Council should avoid when entering into

such contracts and how these should be mitigated.

The protocol seeks to manage any potential confusion that previously existed on the 

difference between the sale of a property and the purchase of services.

Conclusion

The Council has taken all possible actions to resolve this matter and has a clear way 

forward, although we note that the process is by its nature is slow. The Council has also 

improved arrangements with the updated protocol for the disposal of Council owned land 

and buildings.

P
age 278



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

35

Background 

The Council is replacing its main Enterprise and Resource Planning (ERP) system. The 

current ERP is Oracle E-Business Suite (EBS) which is being replaced by Oracle Fusion. 

There have been significant delays to the implementation and go live date for the 

introduction of the new system. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a clear resolution 

on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing Successful 

Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on the SRO role and approach 

to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is realistic, given 

current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as costs, and there is organisation 

wide engagement and ownership of the programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and approved.

KEY FINDINGS

EBS Continuity

The Council has agreed with Oracle to extend licences and associated support by twelve 

months for EBS due to the delays in implementing Oracle Fusion and to ensure business 

continuity.  There are two separate licence agreements in place, one has been extended to 

December 2022 and another until April 2023. They will need to be extended again given the 

current Oracle Fusion implementation timescale. 

Implementation Support

The Council’s Leadership Team at its meeting held on 27 October 2021 reaffirmed the 

Council’s commitment to migrate to Oracle Fusion confirming that all of the organisational 

benefits identified in the original report to Cabinet, 9 October 2019 were still valid.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

The Council engaged Evosys and Version One to review the current status of the 

implementation of the new system.

On 15 December 2021 the Council’s Cabinet considered an options appraisal in relation to 

the new ERP system including:

• The Council terminates the contract with Inoapps and revert to using EBS, the current 

system.

• The Council terminate the contract with Inoapps and look to use a new system (Oracle 

Fusion).

• The Council continues to implement the new system (Oracle Fusion) with Inoapps.

• The Council continues to implement the new system (Oracle Fusion) with an alternate 

implementation partner.

The Cabinet agreed to serve notice of termination of the implementation partner contract 

being delivered by Inoapps. Inoapps remain a support partner to the Council for the existing 

system.

The report to Cabinet on 9 October 2019 identified an ear-marked reserve to the value of 

£2.6m which at the time was deemed sufficient to fund all estimated costs of the 

implementation of the new system, and included more than 10% contingency. The additional 

costs incurred through extending the scope of the project and delays to the project has 

resulted in costs exceeding the ear-marked reserve.

These implementation costs included those relating to the implementation partner. The 

original contract sum with Inoapps to implement Oracle Fusion was £1.2m. Several change 

requests were agreed to incorporate work outside of the original scope of the project and to 

accommodate delays in the project, revising the contract sum to £1.6m.

At its meeting of 15 December 2021 Cabinet were advised that implementation costs 

needed to increase by £2.2m whether the Council remained with Inoapps or procured an 

alternative implementation partner.

P
age 279



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

36

Implementation support (Cont’d)

The additional costs incurred through extending the scope of the project and delays to the 

project exceed the ear-marked reserve.

The total budget for the new ERP was revised to £5m, reflecting the increase in resources 

required to implement the new system effectively, requiring the use of £4.3m from reserves. 

At the time of our review the Council was engaged in steps to mitigate its loss.

On 12 August 2022 the Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Finance and Resources, agreed to the appointment of Infosys Limited as the Council’s new 

Oracle Fusion implementation partner.  This decision was taken under delegated authority 

agreed by the Cabinet at its meeting of 15 December 2021 following a competitive 

procurement process, via an appropriate Crown Commercial Service’s Framework which 

was undertaken during May and June 2022.

The contract duration will be 18 months, with an option to extend up to a further 12 months.  

The maximum contract value over the full contract period will be £2.37 million. At the time of 

our review Infosys were mobilising to commence  contract delivery.  

Governance Arrangements

The Council commissioned the Society for Innovation, Technology and Modernisation 

(SOCITM) in March 2022 to support an assurance review of the governance and resource 

arrangements for the ERP system implementation. SOCITM were appointed due to their  

experience working with a number of other councils implementing Oracle Fusion.

There have been significant changes and improvements made to the governance 

arrangements:

• The Programme Board meets weekly to monitor progress, with the Director of Finance 

now being the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO).

• A Business Design group meets fortnightly to monitor the outcomes and benefits from 

the programme

• A Business Readiness Group meets fortnightly which has oversight on the 

implementation plan activity

• An Implementation Board meets weekly to monitor progress on delivery of programme 

workstreams

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

• Four work stream groups meet weekly focusing on HR and Payroll, Finance and 

Procurement, IT and Technical, and Commercial. 

• A Programme Management Office has been established and is utilising good practice 

programme management approaches. 

• There are also cross-cutting working groups on change management, reporting, data 

cleansing and migration, and implementation planning. 

The membership and roles the Board and each group have been defined.

SOCITM have worked with the Council to produce key programme documents which were 

not previously in place,  including a programme vision, programme scope, programme 

change management strategy, programme benefits framework and programme design 

principles.  A change readiness assessment and review of benefits realisation was 

concluding at the time of our review. SOCITM have also provided the Council with advice on 

the procurement of the new implementation partner and implementation process. 

A risk escalation process has been established, and at the time of our review work was 

ongoing to confirm key risk decision makers and risk tolerances, and defining and agreeing 

change control processes. 

Also at the time of our review the  corporate PMO  was in the process of being established 

and a review of programme documentation and reporting tools was in progress. 

The SRO provides regular updates to the Council’s Leadership Team. There are weekly 

programme and project board meetings and a fortnightly business design board. 

Engagement sessions with wider Council stakeholders have also been introduced for 

example on the design principles of the new system. 

Organisation engagement

A programme narrative has been created to share  consistent messages across the Council 

to effectively communicate what is planned and the benefits to be realised. Services directly 

impacted by the change such as finance, HR and payroll have been engaged to better 

understand how the new system will create process efficiencies. 

A programme communications manager role has been created and resourced.

The Council recognises that more work is required on organisational-wide engagement and 

is planning more engagement events for people who will be affected by the change

P
age 280



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

37

Resourcing and Implementation Timescale

SOICITM have provided the Council with a good practice resource planning approach. An 

organisation matrix has been develop that clearly sets out all internal and external resource 

involved in the implementation and governance of the programme.  A resource model has 

been developed setting out inputs, roles and timescales for each individual role involved in 

the programme. Resource profiles have been developed that set out what is required from a 

capacity and capability perspective. 

By moving to treat the system implementation as a change programme the Council has 

recognised the need for additional resource roles such as in relation to change 

management, business analysis and communication.  The Council has recently appointed 

an interim Transformation Director who has recent experience of implementing Oracle 

Fusion at another council. In addition, SOCITIM have provided the Council with interim pre-

implementation programme management resource. 

Infosys, the new implementation support partner,  in their tender submission indicated a go 

live date of October 2023 for the new system, other than payroll which would go live in 

December 2023 or January 2024. These timescales are aligned to SOCITM’s advice to the 

Council. The Council was in the process of confirming go live dates with Infosys at the time 

of our review. 

In September 2022 the Council agreed to extend the contract with SOCITM to continue to 

provide support until the new system goes live. This includes involvement in programme 

management, change management and test management.

Benefits realisation

A programme benefits framework has been produced and the strategic priorities for benefits 

have been agreed. 

The Council is revisiting the original “business case” and baselining existing and known 

future costs on business support staff across the Council as well as relevant third party 

spend. This baseline will then be used to identify  cashable and non-cashable benefits that 

should be created by introducing the new system. This had not concluded at the time of our 

review.  The Council has approached Oracle to determine if Oracle can provide a value 

proposition assessment to support the Council’s benefits planning. 

The Council has commissioned C.Co (a consulting company owned by CIPFA) to review 

business support functions to identify any areas of activity that can be consolidated 

alongside system implementation.  DXE have been commissioned by the Council to review 

supplier spend.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

Further consideration is required by the Council on how the new system can support the 

Council’s performance appraisal process, leave booking, and reporting real time financial 

information. 

The Council must ensure that all expected benefits are defined, and that governance 

arrangements, including assigning accountabilities, are in place to ensure benefits are 

realised.

Future Major projects

The introduction of Oracle Fusion will support improved management information including 

data that can be used to support the KPIs in the Performance Management Framework, 

such as vacancy levels and sickness absence.

The Capital Asset Management Board, which oversees  projects which include capital 

expenditure, has adapted its programme templates and governance arrangements, learning 

from the ERP systems implementation. 

The Council is procuring a corporate Programme and Project Management (PPM) System 

and at the time the specification for this new system had not been finalised, with the Council 

working through an understanding of the requirements of different services. Market testing 

had been initiated. 

The ERP system implementation programme as reconstituted and resourced (a blend of 

council officers and external providers) provides an opportunity for the Council to develop it’s 

in-house transformation capacity. To do this there will need to be knowledge transfer from 

external providers such as SCOCITM which it can then use of wider transformation and 

change activity. 

A new central team is being established to manage the Council’s Corporate Transformation 

Plan, At the time of our review this new team was finalising governance arrangements and 

associated guidance, including requirements for business case approval for all new change 

projects. The Council should ensure that the central transformation team is appropriately 

resourced and integrates all transformation and change activity being undertaken across the 

Council. 

Furthermore, the Council must ensure that the ERP System implementation programme 

becomes aligned to other improvement and change initiatives being undertaken or planned 

by the Council, so that synergies and economies in delivery can be identified and duplication 

removed. 

.

P
age 281



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

38

Conclusion and recommendations

It is acknowledged by the Council that its governance of this project has been poor. We 

estimate that the minimum additional cost to the Council due to its poor oversight is £2.2m.

The Council has taken significant steps to correct what was a floundering system 

implementation and undertaken a significant amount of work since our previous review. 

The Council has introduced more robust and appropriate governance arrangements, 

appointed a new implementation partner, scaled up the resources to implement the 

programme, introduced a programme management approach, engaged specialist external

support and capacity, and corrected skills and experience gaps. 

The programme is now on a much more sound footing and the Council leadership now 

recognises that the introduction of a new ERP System is an enabler for transformation and 

has moved from a “lift and shift” approach to managing the implementation as a change 

programme.  

The increase in costs to manage the implementation more effectively should increase the 

chances of a successful implementation and for the Council to realise the planned benefits. 

However, the way the original implementation was managed has incurred significant and 

unnecessary costs and delays for the Council, which remains a key learning reference point 

for future large-scale change projects and programmes.

The Council must ensure that: 

• all expected benefits are defined, and that governance arrangements, including 

assigning accountabilities, are in place to ensure benefits are realised.

• the central transformation team is appropriately resourced and integrates all 

transformation and change activity being undertaken across the Council

• the ERP System implementation programme becomes aligned to other improvement and 

change initiatives being undertaken or planned by the Council, so that synergies and 

economies in delivery can be identified and duplication removed. 

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

P
age 282



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

39

Background

Our original review considered the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to 

the departure of certain chief officers. Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal and external 

advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual consent is agreed.

KEY FINDINGS

There have been no chief officer departures since our 2021 review. 

Following our original review the Council engaged Eversheds to undertake a retrospective 

review of the most recent chief officer departures (the former Chief Executive and Director 

of Resources) which were the focus of our original review. This legal advice determined 

that the Council followed model statutory procedures. 

As part of the Council’s ongoing review of its constitution, the Council’s legal and 

democratic services teams are reviewing employment procedure rules to ensure they 

appropriately reference statutory procedures relating to the dismissal of chief officers. At 

the time of our review updates were being drafted but had not been approved. 

The Council’s Chief Offer Terms and Conditions Committee will have a clearly defined role 

where statutory procedures are required to be followed in relation to the departure of a 

chief officer.  

The Council has advised that they would take legal advice in advance of any future 

decision relating to unplanned departure of a chief officer.

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to the recent departure of certain chief officers. P
age 283



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

40

Background 

Our original review considered the background to senior leadership changes and the impact 

of interim officers in place.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief 

Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective recruitment process, including 

maximising the chances of attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. Should the 

appointment of a permanent Chief Executive not be successful the Council should seek to 

retain the current interim Chief Executive and move this to a full-time contract

KEY FINDINGS

The Council’s most recent restructure created ten senior leadership roles. The eight director 

roles all had a permanent appointment in role by November 2021. The Chief Executive and 

Deputy Chief Executive roles remain vacant.  In addition, a Director of HR role has been 

approved as a permanent role and was filled in March 2022. 

The Council’s Interim Chief Executive has agreed with the Council to continue in role until 

approximately six months after the appointment of a permanent Chief Executive. 

The interim Chief Executive was appointed by the Secretary of State for DLUHC as the 

Managing Director Commissioner in March 2022, one of two Commissioners appointed to 

oversee the Council’s Improvement Plan as part of the government’s intervention in the 

Council. This dual role is uncommon in local government, with one current other example, 

until recently, at Slough Borough Council. We consider that in the circumstances  the 

decision was appropriate.  

At the time of our review the Council was in the process of recruiting to the permanent role 

of Chief Executive. The Council has appointed Penna, via a competitive tender process, to 

support this recruitment. 

The Council’s Chief Officer Terms and Conditions Committee have agreed the recruitment 

process and timescales for the new Chief Executive.  The closing date for the advert was 12 

September 2022, and 17 applications were received. The Chief Executive of the LGA has 

been supporting the candidate technical assessment process. 

The Council approved the appointment of a new permanent Chief Executive on 8 November 

2022, with their start date confirmed as 6 February 2023. 

KLOE B2: Senior leadership

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to senior leadership changes and the impact of  interim officers in place.

The new permanent Chief Executive will have nine Directors reporting to them, and as 

with many Chief Executives new to role may consider changes to the Council’s 

organisational structure. It will be important that any changes made do not adversely 

impact on organisational stability, or on the pace and success of the Council’s ongoing 

improvement journey.

Conclusion and recommendations

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

The success of the appointment of the new permanent Chief Executive  remains critical 

for the Council if it is to successfully continue on its improvement journey.

P
age 284



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

41

Background

Our original review considered the appropriateness of complaints made against senior 

officers and members and the responses to these complaints.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to change the culture 

and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to restore balance and proportionality.

KEY FINDINGS

A new Chair was appointed to the Ethical Standards and Member Development Committee 

in May 2022 and an agreed work programme is in place for the Committee’s meetings in 

June, November and December 2022 and in March 2023. An update on complaints is 

programmed for each of these meetings.

The Committee received an update on complaints at its most meeting on 21 June 2022. Six 

complaints were reported, with these complaints having been received between 22 October 

2021 and 12 April 2022. Three complaints were from members of the public, two from 

officers and one from an elected member. All alleged breaches of the member code of 

conduct.

Five of the complaints were reported as having been resolved: two via member training, one 

via a written apology and two were judged to have had insufficient evidence to be a breach 

of the member code of conduct. Of the six only one was referred for investigation, the 

conclusion of which had not been reported at the time of our review.

At the equivalent meeting of the Committee in June 2021 there were twelve complaints 

reported, indicating a reduction in the level of complaints received to a more manageable 

level. This can be seen as a proxy measure for wider improvements in the culture and 

governance of the Council.

The revised Member Code of Conduct, approved in March 2021, is still in place. The Code is 

reviewed via alternating annual light touch and in-depth reviews. A light touch review is 

planned for the end of 2022.

Arrangements for dealing with complaints, which forms part of the Council’s ethical 

framework, is also reviewed annually, following the same approach as the Member Code of 

Conduct.

KLOE B3: Complaints

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of complaints made against senior officers and the responses to these complaints.

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks. 

P
age 285



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

42

• The recent introduction of financial benchmarking will need to be sustained to 

create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours are 

performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements

• The Council should continue its more outward looking approach is sustained and 

develop key local and sub-regional relationships.

• When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an 

opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, including with back-

bench members. 

• There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are 

aware of their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask the 

right questions. 

Due to the nature of the recommendations arising from our original review we have 

structured the key findings from our follow up review as follows:

• KLOE 4a: Member and officer relationships

• KLOE Bb: Performance management and other matters.

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Background

Our original review considered the relationships between senior officers and senior 

members and whether they were appropriate in supporting good governance.

Our December 2021 report made a series of recommendations relating to senior 

officers and members and related recommended

• Embedding the changes that have been made by the Leadership Team and those 

that are planned will be critical if the Council is to realise its strategic ambition and 

provide effective governance.

• Enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including 

on local government finance and their governance roles is recommended.

• The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the 

implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored.

• The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and 

Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning.

• The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and 

principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin the 

budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, 

contingency and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).
• Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone 

from the top” consistently reflects these values and behaviours. This is critical in 

ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and 

that all people are confident in adopting these values and behaviours. This should 

build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff 

engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and monitor progress on the 

organisation’s wellbeing.

• The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme 

is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members with special 

responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession 

planning for these roles.

• Further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework 

and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to collectively 

manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and 

set out clear lines of accountability, responsibility, and delegated authority. 

P
age 286



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

43

Two sessions have been planned for members and two for officers. The training 

programme was in the process of being delivered at the time of our review and we 

have been advised that  there has been positive feedback from those who have so far 

participated. The LGA  will provide the Council with a summary of their experiences of 

delivering the programme following the final session which is due in November 2022.

The Director of Finance is providing training for the Cabinet and members of the 

Opposition on budget setting and local government finance, to support the 2023/24 

budget setting process.  

Member induction

The LGA has also been engaged to deliver a development programme for new 

members of the Cabinet, as well as training for the Cabinet collectively. This 

programme was ongoing at the time of our review. 

The Council also delivered a training programme during May and June 2022 for all 

newly elected members.  This included the Code of Member Conduct, Internal Audit, 

Counter Fraud and Risk Management, the scrutiny function,  local government finance, 

and planning. 

Forward Plan

A forward plan of Cabinet business has been made available to all members to 

improve awareness and transparency. The changes to the Council’s scheme of 

delegation, approved by Cabinet in July 2022, is expected to see a reduction in the 

number of reports to Cabinet making agenda planning more straightforward and 

allowing Cabinet a greater focus on strategic priorities and issues. 

Work is underway to extend the forward plan from four to twelve months, and to work 

with Scrutiny Boards and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee to use the forward plan 

to inform their work programmes. 

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Review of member development programme

The Member Development Programme (MDP) has been reviewed and introduced for 

2022/23. The programme covers preparing candidates who may become newly 

elected members, new member induction and then a programme of development for 

all members. The programme includes planned  monitoring, evaluation and review to 

ensure candidates, newly elected members and established members receive 

appropriate and targeted learning and support matched to their current and future 

needs.

This revised MDP will build on what has been learned over the past four years plans to  

develop members who are in positions of special responsibility or are aspiring to be.  

Personal Development Plans (PDPs) will be created for all members to ensure their 

development is bespoke to their individual needs. The development of PDPs 

commenced in July 2022  and are due to be reviewed at the end of the current 

municipal year. 

The member development programme has been augmented with additional training 

sessions being delivered by the LGA, as already noted. An update on progress is due 

to be reported to the Standards Committee at its October 2022 meeting.  The MDP 

was being delivered at the time of our review and includes training on public speaking 

and chairing meetings and has received positive feedback from participating members.

There have been a number of changes to the chairing arrangements of some 

committees and boards for the 2022/23 municipal year. Initial conversations have 

taken place with the Council Leader on succession planning and the criteria used to 

identify individual members for Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) roles, but this 

work has not yet concluded. 

The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development and 

conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member PDPs and take 

further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in SRA 

roles.

New training programmes

The Council has engaged the Local Government Association (LGA) to provide training 

on effective officer and member relationships.  The training is designed to improve 

understanding of respective roles and what good relationships look like. 

P
age 287



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

44

ionImproved outward looking approach

The Cabinet and senior officers, have been proactive in reconnecting with regional and 

national bodies, such as the West Midlands Combined Authority and the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

The Leaders Office is being restructured to better support the Leader and Cabinet in 

attending external meetings and their associated external responsibilities.  

TThe Council must continue its proactive approach in working with regional and national 

bodies, and obtain structured evidence of progress being made and identify where 

further engagement supports the Corporate Plan.

Tone from the top and internal communication

The Council has introduced a number of initiatives to try and improve communication 

between senior officers and the rest of the organisation, in the context of post 

pandemic hybrid working arrangements.  These include:

• The trialling of video updates and sessions with the leadership team, alongside the 

staff briefings that had already been in place.

• Listening champions are being introduced so that senior officers can obtain a 

“bottom up” view from the organisation. 

• A Co-Production Network of officers has been used to help develop the 

Improvement Plan.

• An employee engagement survey was undertaken in Spring 2022, which had a 

61% response rate.  This was the first such survey since 2018. The results have 

been widely shared, including via the listening champions. The results are being 

used to inform discussions and thinking at directorate and team levels. Regular 

“pulse” surveys are planned. 

The LGA’s  Peer Review follow up visit in October 2022 reported that Council staff are 

feeling much better communicated with from the corporate level,

Member briefings take place approximately every three months where key issues and 

topics are discussed, based on members declared areas of interest. These sessions 

provide back bench members with an opportunity to ask senior officers questions. 

A new Head of Communications has been appointed with the brief to increase the 

level of internal and external communications. A Communications Strategy was agreed 

by the Leadership Team on 20 September 2022. 

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Scrutiny Board and Audit Committee Governance Roles

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across the 

different committees.

In May 2022 new Chairs were appointed to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 

and the Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. For both committees 

relationships have been reset and improvements made. 

Scrutiny training and development for members and officers was introduced in June 

2022, alongside improvements in relation to scrutiny work programming.  A Scrutiny 

Improvement Plan has been developed which sets out a longer-term training plan for 

scrutiny members and greater clarity on roles and protocols for scrutiny committees 

and protocols on how scrutiny works with the Executive and Chief Officers, which were 

approved by full Council on 8 November 2022. 

Improvements have already been introduced by the Scrutiny Board Chair including 

formal pre-meetings, forward plans have been reviewed to improve agenda setting, 

and  Chairs and Vice Chairs have agenda setting meetings for all scrutiny committees.

The Scrutiny Improvement Plan includes further actions including: an annual report of 

the impact of scrutiny to full Council, peer support and mentoring from the LGA and 

Centre for Governance and Scrutiny, creation of job roles for scrutiny members, the 

introduction of a protocol clarifying the relationship between scrutiny and the 

Executive, and the introduction of feedback to support continuous improvement. 

Training has been provided to members on the Audit Committee and more generally 

all  members are participating in the MDP previously discussed.  

The Council had its first scrutiny call-in for 13 years, which was in relation to the future 

of the Brandhall Golf Course site, which is an indication of the progress being made. 

Following the meeting the Chair has asked officers to consider examples of call-in 

approaches from other councils to identify any improvements that can be made by the 

Council.

Overall, positive progress has been made to improve the culture and professionalism 

of key Council committees, with the scrutiny function making particular  progress. The 

Scrutiny Improvement Plan must be approved so that this positive direction of travel is 

maintained. 

P
age 288



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

45

KLOE B4b: Performance management and other matters
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good governance.

Performance Management Framework and Corporate KPIs 

The Improvement Plan and MPF, alongside the refreshed Corporate Plan provides the 

Council with an opportunity to improve evidenced based decision making. Accountability 

has been improved with objectives aligned to Directors, Associate Directors and Service 

Managers, but  not below this level.

At the time of our review Quarter 1 performance monitoring had been undertaken, and 

reported to Cabinet on 28 September 2022. The report included updates on:

• Budget monitoring

• KPIs for key contracts (SCT and Serco)

• Organisational health

• Workforce composition (Equality, Diversity and Inclusion)

• Sickness absence

• Employee engagement

• Health and safety

• Corporate Plan delivery

• Improvement Plan delivery

• Strategic risk register

• Customer experience

This reporting framework represents a major step forward in providing the Leadership 

Team and Cabinet with a consolidated approach to performance and risk reporting. Due 

to the approach being recently introduced the Council plans to undertake  reviews of the 

MPF and reporting approach, We note the following:

• KPIs selected for the PMF include data that is available quarterly, annually, biannually 

and in some cases termly. This provides a challenge for the quarter 1 report because 

not all data is available for this period. Quarter 1 reporting was therefore partial, with 

the expectation that additional data will be available for future quarterly reports.

• Organisational health indicators do not currently include targets.

• Data quality is expected to improve to support some indicators once Oracle Fusion 

has been implemented, in particular workforce data.

• Further work is required to ensure there are clearly defined customer outcomes to 

better measure data in relation to customer experience (channel shift, call centre 

performance and complaints).

The Council needs to ensure that the Corporate Plan, Improvement Plan and MPF and 

how they inter-relate are clearly communicated across the whole organisation to avoid 

potential confusion impacting on the delivery of these plans, and support the planned work 

on phase 2 of the Improvement Plan on organisational culture and behaviours.   The 

Council should consider aligning individual performance objectives of staff to these Plans 

to create a  “golden thread” throughout the organisation, as part of the Council’s annual 

performance appraisal process.

The quarter 2 performance report, covering the period July to September 2022, and due to 

be presented to Cabinet on 7 December 2022,  summarised key Corporate Plan actions as 

follows:

• 258 on track (252 in quarter 1)

• 91 medium issues/risks/slippage (85 in quarter 1)

• 9 significant issues/risks/slippage (7 in quarter 1)

• 53 no data available (66 in quarter 1).

Significant issues reported were: 

• Alignment of governance arrangements and budgets of the VCS grants programme to 

corporate objectives.

• Strategic Plan to feed into the Black Country Plan, review of the Black Country Plan 

policy base.

• Deliver 2022/23 capital programme of annual maintenance for highways

• Refresh the Council’s storage area network

• Development of the Corporate Data Strategy to define and deliver approach to 

business intelligence.

• Delivery of income generated from chargeable garden waste

• Replacing high energy street lighting.

It is positive that the Council is now able to monitor Corporate Plan progress, but we note 

that delays to the Corporate Data Strategy, due to organisational capacity. The Council 

should ensure appropriate capacity is in place so that data gaps relating to KPIs can 

be resolved. 

P
age 289



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

46

KLOE B4b: Performance management and other matters (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good governance.

Medium term financial objectives and principles 

The Council’s Leadership Team have more regular discussions on budget related 

issues including a dedicated leadership team session, led by the Director of Finance, 

on budget setting.  The Leadership Team is seen to have greater corporate ownership 

of financial issues but there is further work to do before all Directors take a collegiate 

and strategic view at all times, rather than a departmental perspective. This will be 

supported by the Leadership Team agreeing key financial objectives and principles, 

which has not yet been concluded.

Star chambers continue to be used to support budget setting and more progress is 

required for this to generate innovative and transformational proposals. There is an 

absence of a whole organisation view of the scale of the financial challenge facing the 

Council for 2023/24 and in the medium-term, and how these challenges will be 

addressed

The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and 

principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions and ensure that 

there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the 

Council in the medium term and how these are going to be addressed.

Financial benchmarking

LG Futures have been commissioned by the Council to provide financial benchmarking 

data which is shared by Finance Team with Directorates.  

Because there hadn’t been a culture of using financial benchmarking in recent years, 

developing an understanding in services of factors such as unit costs and how they 

compare to statistical nearest neighbours remains a work in progress. The use of 

benchmarking has been variable across services.

It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data to 

support the service and financial planning process, in particular to help identify 

opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

P
age 290



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

47

KLOE B4: Conclusions and recommendations
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Conclusions and recommendations

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, 

and the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well both collectively 

and via their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  This is being recognised 

across the wider organisation.

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across different 

Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is 

conducted by these committees. 

The introduction of a PMF is evidence of an improvement in consolidated reporting 

and provides the Council’s leadership with an opportunity for improved evidenced 

based decision making and monitoring the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 

Improvement Plan. The Council recognises that the PMF approach requires ongoing 

refinement to improve how key indicators can be effectively measured and must 

ensure capacity is created to resolved KPI data gaps. 

The Leadership Team  has progressed in its corporate approach to managing key 

issues and challenges but on medium-term financial planning there remains work to 

do.

Whilst positive progress has been made, the Council remains on an improvement 

journey and we have identified the following improvement recommendations:

• The Council should consider creating a “golden thread” throughout the 

organisation, linking the Corporate Plan  and other Plan objectives, through to the 

objectives set for each individual member of staff, as part of the Council’s annual 

performance appraisal process.

• The Council should  ensure that capacity is in place to  resolve KPI data gaps.. 

• The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and 

principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions and ensure that 

there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the 

Council in the medium term and how these are going to be addressed.

• The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development 

and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member PDPs and 

take further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in 

SRA roles.

• It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data 

to support the service and financial planning process, in particular to help identify 

opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

P
age 291



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

48

Background 

Our original review considered the appropriateness of the work undertaken by the Ethical 

Standards and Development Committee. Our December 2021 report recommended:

• Member training and development programme must play a key role in ensuring members 

fully understand the expectations and standards relating to their role

• Meetings between senior officers, political group leaders and chief whips should take 

place to ensure that these stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging issues and trends, 

recognise good behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the 

Code

KEY FINDINGS

An update on the review of the Member Development Programme (MDP) has been provided 

in our key findings in relation to KLOE B4.

The MDP which is being delivered during 2022 includes  content relating to the role of 

members on committees and the role of these committees.

The Monitoring Officer, the interim Chief Executive and the Leader were introducing at the 

time of our review arrangements to meet the political group leaders and chief whips to create 

a safe space to discuss any behavioural issues that are not in line with the Code of Member 

Conduct that have been identified. 

This arrangement is being put in place to identify emerging issues and trends and agree any 

actions required to manage inappropriate behaviours. These meetings are also seen as an 

opportunity to recognise positive examples of member behaviours. 

Conclusion and recommendations

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks. 

The Council must ensure that  the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to 

monitor and take prompt action whenever inappropriate behaviour is identified.

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of  the work undertaken by the Standards Committee. P
age 292



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

49

Background

Our original review considered the long-standing issues relating to the Wragge and Cox 

reports.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring this long-

standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the Audit and Governance Panel 

recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter does not resurface, so that 

it can move on and focus on its corporate objectives.

KEY FINDINGS

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, at its March 2022 meeting, resolved to refer to 

the Council’s Executive the decision on whether a further review was required into the 

Wragge report or Cox report. A new Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee was 

appointed in May 2022 at the start of the new municipal year. We understand that the new 

Chair of the Committee’s position is that they do not seek to re-open the matter. At the 

meetings of the Committee in May and June the issue of the Wragge or Cox report did not 

get raised and is not the subject of further review by the Committee.

The Audit Committee has continued to operate throughout the year in an operate manner 

focussing on significant governance matters.

The Council’s Improvement Plan includes actions, such as member training, which have 

been progressing during 2022, which include content on appropriate behaviour of elected 

members, their roles and responsibilities.

The Council’s Leader will confirm the Executive’s position on any further review by the end 

of December 2022.

Conclusion and recommendation

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

A final decision needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered 

formally closed.

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. P
age 293



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

50

Background

Our original review considered the Council’s responses to recommendations raised in our 

2019/20 Audit Findings Report (AFR) and further issues identified by our governance review.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and completion 

dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify where the new ERP 

system implementation and the planned asset management system could cause delays 

or impacts on planned actions

• Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting and budget 

management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to manage any 

weaknesses not yet addressed.

• Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and capacity to 

manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities.

KEY FINDINGS

Financial statement audit

The audit of the 2020/21 financial statements is still in progress as at November 2022. The 

audit has been significantly delayed due to the quality of the financial statements and 

working papers presented for audit. The audit is drawing to a conclusion and a draft report 

will be issued to the Council in December 2022. Issues include:

• material errors in the valuation of property plant and equipment and pension fund

• material errors in cash balances and other areas of the financial statements

• uncertainty with regard to credit loss allowances, recognition of payables, and assets and 

liabilities relating to the SERCO waste contract.

We have not been able to draw a conclusion on a number of these areas and it is uncertain 

whether they will impact on the reserves available to the Council. It is possible that we will 

issue a modified opinion on the 2020/21 financial statements.

We have been unable to commence the audit of the 2021/22 financial statements due to the 

delays in the 2020/21 audit.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. 

Financial systems and finance team

The Council is introducing a new corporate asset management system which is expected 

to improve fixed asset accounting and therefore mitigate issues relating to the closure 

of accounts. The new system is due to be in place by the time of the 2022/23 closure 

of accounts. Additional technical accountant resources have been brought in to support 

the accounts backlog.

The Finance Team has been restructured with the new structure going live in August 

2022. This restructure has been undertaken to provide greater focus on finance 

business partnering by introducing more finance business partners so that each Director 

has their own business partner supported by an assistant business partner. Business 

partners should provide improved focus in supporting departmental and service change 

and transformation.

There have been some changes in personnel, in particular the financial reporting team 

and a new post has been created relating to fixed assets. Not all new posts have 

permanent appointments, for example the new head of technical finance is being filled via 

an interim, who started in September 2022.

Training for members of the Finance Team was undertaken in February and March 

2022, prior to the restructure with a focus on accounts closedown. A skills gap analysis 

was being undertaken at the time of our review to identify the training needs of members 

of the restructured Finance Team. 

The actions taken so far will take time to complete and successfully embed the necessary 

changes.

Budget setting and monitoring

The Council’s Leadership Team continues to receive a monthly budget morning report. 

The Cabinet and Scrutiny Board receive budget monitoring reports each quarter.

The star chamber approach introduced during Autumn 2021 for 2022/23 budget setting is 

being retained for 2023/24 budget setting. Star chambers are to be held for each 

Directorate with the Director of Resources, the relevant finance business partner, the 

relevant service director and one of the Commissioners providing challenge on budget 

pressures and savings proposals. 

P
age 294



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

51

Budget setting and monitoring (Cont’d)

Financial benchmarking continues to be used and the Council has engaged LG Futures to 

provide ongoing support in this area. In addition, Grant Thornton have provided 

some financial benchmarking from the CFO Insight benchmarking tool.

The Council’s Cabinet continues to be engaged with a number of budget planning sessions 

having taken place by the time of our review, with plans in place to provide a session for the 

Labour Group.

The Council commissioned Eventure Research to undertake a public consultation exercise 

on the Council’s budget. The results, which were based on a survey completed by 1,070 

residents, were reported in September 2022. This was the first such consultation exercise 

for several years. The consultation has provided the Council with representative views on 

areas such as: the most valued services, options for closing the budget gap, service 

provision, the level of Council Tax, and access to services on-line. The results of this 

exercise are being used as part of the 2023/24 budget setting process.

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant 

improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy issues from prior 

years that continue to have an impact on the timeliness and accuracy of the accounts and 

are undermining the quality of the financial statements. Whilst we note that actions have 

been taken over the past twelve months to address these issues, improvements are not 

likely to start to be seen until the 2021/22 accounts. We consider that this needs to be an 

area of priority for the Council, including managing the recruitment challenges that have 

been experienced. Until these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over 

the Council's financial position.

The other improvements that are in train will take time to embed, reflecting the lack of 

a corporate asset management system and an appropriately resourced and skilled 

finance team, which had not received appropriate development and training in prior years.

The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to 

timescale, ensure all key finance roles have permanent appointments, and prioritise the 

recruitment to, and  training and development of ,the Finance Team so that the role and 

behaviour changes planned become embedded.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. P
age 295



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

52

Background

Whilst not a key line of enquiry for our original review we have agreed with the Council’s 

management to consider how the Council engages with residents and community groups to 

supplement our understanding of the Council’s improvement journey. 

This has included a sample of two community consultations:

• West Bromwich Masterplan.

• Walker Grange, an extra care facility owned by the Council. 

We have also considered wider resident engagement surveys.

KEY FINDINGS

Resident engagement

The Council has introduced an annual residents survey and are considering additional 

mechanisms to improve resident engagement, such as resident panels and focus groups.  

Eventure Research were commissioned by the Council to undertake a resident and 

wellbeing survey. A survey was conducted with 1,062 respondents throughout the borough, 

with quotas set on age group, gender, disability, ethnic group and area of the borough. The 

survey was conducted in July and August 2022. Some of the questions are also asked by 

the LGA in their national tracker survey, allowing national comparisons. The results included:

• 78% of respondents are satisfied with their local area as a place to live.

• Just over a quarter (27%) of respondents had been in contact with Sandwell Council 

recently. 

• Housing, missed bin collections, reporting anti-social behaviour, and council tax queries 

are the most common reasons for contacting the Council.

• Satisfaction with the Council is slightly higher than the national average (66% compared 

to 62%),

• Three in five (60%) think Sandwell Council acts on the concerns of local residents, 

compared with 52% nationally. 

• Three in five (60%) think Sandwell Council keeps residents informed about services and 

benefits it provides, compared with 57% nationally 

• Trust in the Council is higher amongst Sandwell residents than nationally (67% and 58% 

respectively) 

KLOE B8: Engagement with residents and community stakeholders

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider how the Council engages with residents and community stakeholders. 

• Council services receiving higher than national satisfaction ratings were waste, street 

cleaning, road and pavement maintenance, sport and leisure services and services to 

support children and young people. 

• Services where satisfaction is lower than national satisfaction ratings are library 

services, services to support older people and parks and open spaces.

• Respondents are most concerned about the cost of living increases and inflation, NHS 

waiting lists and having a family that is healthy.

The Council  also commissioned Eventure Research to undertake a public consultation 

exercise on the Council’s budget, which is discussed in the section on KLOE B7. The 

Council has also undertaken a public consultation on the electoral cycle.

Undertaking this resident engagement survey is a positive step for the Council, and the 

results will need to be used to inform service and financial planning.  The changes being 

made via the  Improvement Plan and the corporate Performance Management Framework 

the Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this 

engagement supports  greater corporate focus on service quality and customer outcomes. 

Community consultation: West Bromwich Masterplan

The 5 February 2020 Cabinet approved the development of the masterplan to provide a 

vision for the future of the town centre, including the need for public consultation to support 

the masterplaninng process.  In November 2020 the Council commissioned Savills as the 

lead consultant which included a community consultation role. Mott MacDonald were 

engaged to undertake viability work, and Benoy to lead on the design.  

In March 2020 the Council discussed their vision for West Bromwich with the Government’s 

High Street Task Force, which identified the need  for more effective community 

engagement.

A consultation and engagement plan was developed in April 2021, to support the Towns 

Fund deal for West Bromwich, and this was used for the masterplan consultation.

P
age 296



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

53

Community consultation: West Bromwich Masterplan (Cont’d)

Consultation was then undertaken with various groups and organisations including  regional 

stakeholders such as the LEP, West Midlands Combined Authority,  the West Midlands 

Growth Company, West Midlands Police, West Bromwich Town Members Board, West 

Bromwich Town Deal Board, Sandwell College and Lyng Primary School.

Workshops were then held with the Council’s Cabinet in June 2021 to discuss findings 

before a four-week public consultation exercise was undertaken with residents, local 

businesses and landowners during July and August 2021. This included physical events and 

virtual events, and the use of the website questionnaire. 

The consultation responses were fed back to the external consultants in a consultation 

outcome plan which was also reported to Cabinet on 9 February 2022. The Cabinet 

approved  the West Bromwich Interim Planning Statement and West Bromwich Masterplan 

at this meeting.  Consultation feedback was used to inform changes to the masterplan and 

these changes were highlighted in the Cabinet report. Some issues raised by the 

consultation could not be met by the masterplan, such as crime and anti-social behaviour 

and these responses were shared with the police. 

This in an example of a well-structured approach to community consultation. The Council 

believe that the consultation process has significantly improved and strengthened 

relationships with local business and community groups.  

Community Consultation: Walker Grange

Walker Grange is an extra care supported housing accommodation for people aged 55 

years or above who require care and/or support to live independently. The facility, which has  

capacity for 39 residents, is owned by the Council and was built in the 1980s. It  was proving 

unsuitable to meet the changing care and support needs of some individuals and the Council 

was considering its closure and the transfer of residents to other extra care accommodation 

in the borough.

On 1 September 2021 the Council’s Cabinet agreed to a consultation exercise in advance of 

taking  decision on the future of the facility. A twelve-week consultation period was approved 

for consultation with stakeholders including tenants, their families and carers, day care 

users, staff of the facility and trade unions

KLOE B8: Engagement with residents and community stakeholders 
(Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider how the Council engages with residents and community stakeholders. 

The consultation received a lot of interest locally, on social media and from ward 

councillors and local MPs, in part due to a view that the Council had already taken a 

decision to close the facility. 

From the consultation, a clear message from tenants, their families and staff were that they 

valued and wanted Walker Grange to continue to provide services to the current cohort of 

people and potentially develop and promote the service further. During the consultation 

period it became clear that further investment, rather than purely maintenance, could 

potentially provide the Council with a resource to provide additional support to vulnerable 

adults through extra care provision. 

The Cabinet considered the consultation outcomes at its meeting on 18 November 2021 

alongside three options for the future of Walker Grange:

• Do nothing: continue to provide Extra Care Housing at Walker Grange. 

• Look at the closure of Walker Grange & the transfer of Tenants to other suitable Extra 

Care Housing provision

• look at upgrading Walker Grange building to ensure it is fit for purpose to provide Extra 

Care Housing.

The Cabinet agreed to the third option of investing in the current facility to ensure that it is 

fit for purpose.  This is an example of where the Council has engaged with and listened to 

the views of local residents and stakeholders to improve its decision making. 

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. We have identified one improvement recommendation: 

• The Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this 

engagement supports greater corporate focus on service quality and customer 

outcomes. 

. 

P
age 297



Appendices

P
age 298



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

55

Appendix A: The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money 
arrangements 

Revised approach to value for money

work for 2020/21 onwards

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 299



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

56

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations 
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

1 The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including 

sharing good practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

22

2 The Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of the early help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised. 22

3 The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce the level of vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated 

KPI  does not lead to contract failure.

22

4 The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to save activities to ensure that SCT is able to generate the savings and 

efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced. 

22

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust

5 The Council will need to:

• ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so that there is a clear financial case for the commercial viabil ity of the new arms length 

company.

• be clear how it  effectively discharges its role whilst allowing the company the freedoms and flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial 

and service benefits.

24

6 The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so that it is operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear 

business case which sets out how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and provide financial returns to the Council as part of the 
leisure LATC arrangements. 

24

P
age 300



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

57

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page  

#

KLOE A3: Providence Place

7 The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy and asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio 

including asset disposals.

25

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

8 The Council must ensure that the lessons learned from the SEND Transport procurement are shared across other council services so that this learning 

becomes embedded across the organisation. 

27

KLOE A A7: Waste Service

9 The Council must work with Serco to urgently finalise all associated plans and schedules which remain outstanding. 33

10 The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be changes to the waste and recycling  or garden waste collection  policies. 33

11 The Council should resolve the delays and formally agree replacement timescales for the waste fleet and the financing of replacement costs and supplier 

lead in times with SERCO. Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in relation to the Council’s accounts.

33

12 The Council should take steps to demonstrate to Serco how the fleet maintenance service provides value for money. 33

P
age 301



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

58

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

13 The Council must ensure that all expected benefits are defined, and that governance arrangements, including assigning accountabilities, are in place to 

ensure benefits are realised.

38

14 The Council must ensure that the central transformation team is appropriately resourced and integrates all transformation and change activity being 

undertaken across the Council.

38

15 The Council must ensure that the ERP System implementation programme becomes aligned to other improvement and change initiatives being 

undertaken or planned by the Council, so that synergies and economies in delivery can be identified and duplication removed. 

38

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

16 The Council should consider creating a “golden thread” throughout the organisation, linking the Corporate Plan  and other Plan objectives, through to the 

objectives set for each individual member of staff, as part of the Council’s annual performance appraisal process.

47

17 The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions 

and ensure that there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the Council in the medium term and how these are going 

to be addressed.

47

18 The Council should  ensure that capacity is in place to  resolve KPI data gaps. 47

19 The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member 

PDPs and take further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in SRA roles.

47

20 It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data to support the service and financial planning process, in particular to 

help identify opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

47

P
age 302



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

59

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

21 The Council must ensure that  the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to monitor and take prompt action whenever inappropriate 

behaviour is identified.

48

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

22 A final decision on the Cox report needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered formally closed. 49

KLOE B7: Financial Reporting

23 The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy issues 

from prior years that are undermining the quality of the financial statements. We consider that this needs to be an area of priority for the Council. Until 

these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over the Council's financial position

51

24 The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to timescale, ensure all key finance roles have permanent 

appointments, and prioritise the training and development of the Finance Team so that the role and behaviour changes planned become embedded. 

51

KLOE B6: Engagement with residents and the community

25 The Council needs to ensure that it continues to better engage with residents and that this engagement supports greater corporate focus on service quality 

and customer outcomes. 

53

P
age 303



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 304



 

 

 

LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge – Progress 
Review  
 

 

Sandwell Council 
 
26th and 27th October 2022 

 
Feedback  
 

  

 

 

  

Page 305



 

2 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 3 

2. Summary of the approach .................................................................................... 3 

3. Progress review – feedback ................................................................................. 4 

4. Final thoughts and next steps ............................................................................ 13 

 
 
 
  

Page 306

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

3 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

1. Introduction 
 

The council undertook a Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer 

Challenge (CPC) across the four days from 31st January to 3rd February 2022.  The 

council published the related report on 7th June 2022, with this forming part of a wider 

report to Full Council on the council’s Improvement Plan which was produced in 

response to the statutory direction of the Secretary of State and the findings from the 

various forms of external challenge that the council has undertaken over the last year 

or so.   

 

The progress review that the peer team has undertaken now is an integral part of the 

peer challenge process.  It is designed to provide the opportunity for the council to: 

 

• Update peers on the progress made in relation to the recommendations made 

by the peer team and to receive feedback on this 

  

• Consider the peers’ reflections on any new opportunities or challenges that 

may have arisen since the peer team were on-site, including any further 

support needs 

 

• Discuss impact and learning from the progress made to date  

 

The LGA would like to thank Sandwell Council for their commitment to sector led 

improvement.  This progress review was the next step in an ongoing, open and close 

relationship that the council has with the LGA and sector-led support. 

2. Summary of the approach 

The progress review at Sandwell Council took place across the two days of 

Wednesday 26th and Thursday 27th October.  The following individuals, drawn from 

the original peer team, were involved:   

• Kath O’Dwyer, Chief Executive, St Helens Council 

• Councillor Chris Read, Leader, Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

Page 307

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

4 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

• Viv Geary, LGA Associate with a background in governance and a former 

Monitoring Officer 

• Helen Murray, Principal Adviser (West Midlands), LGA 

• Chris Bowron, Peer Challenge Manager, Local Government Association 

 

The following written feedback is provided using a framework that reflects a number 

of the key themes in the council’s Improvement Plan. 

3. Progress Review - Feedback 
 

Strategic Direction, Corporate Oversight and Partnership 
and Relationships 
 

Much greater stability can now be seen in the council, both politically and 

managerially.  There were a number of changes at Cabinet level in May this year, 

following the elections, with these involving a combination of new appointments and 

people having a change in their portfolio.  The recently recruited Director team are 

now well settled in their roles. 

 

The Leader received glowing endorsements during our discussions with stakeholders 

both internally and externally.  People particularly highlighted her inclusive and 

supportive approach.  She is seen to be a Leader for Sandwell who is engaged in all 

the right places – internally, locally, sub-regionally and nationally.   

 

People really value the Managing Director’s style and what he has brought to the 

council and to the borough.  He will be a tough act to follow but there is excitement at 

the impending permanent Chief Executive appointment.  Whilst this transition will 

represent change in the short term it will add to the sense of stability in due course.    

External partners we spoke to within the sub-region are seeing the council now being 

much better engaged at that level, with a notable difference made in just a few short 

months.  Sandwell’s voice is now being heard more widely and the council and its 

leadership is felt to be making an effective contribution.  The political leadership has 

also demonstrated a willingness to give a ‘contra view’ where, on a limited number of 

occasions, that has been appropriate as it has sought to act in the best interests of 

Page 308

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

5 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

the borough. There is appropriate and consistent council representation in key 

strategic fora, although Sandwell remains less visible below Leader, Cabinet, Chief 

Executive and Director level in networks and bodies at more of a working group and 

networking level.   

 

Cabinet is forming well following the recent changes and in meeting them they 

demonstrated a strong sense of ‘team’, appropriately balancing the respecting of 

individuals’ areas of responsibility with ensuring collective understanding, 

responsibility and decision-making.  The managerial Leadership Team has settled 

following its’ completion but now has to become central to a ‘One Council, One Team’ 

approach and driving key organisational-wide agendas.  These include improving 

customer service and establishing the desired organisational culture.   

 

The leadership stability that now exists has enabled a clearer approach to internal 

communications to be established.  As a result of this and the communications 

channels that have been put in place, staff are feeling much better communicated 

with from the senior leadership level – albeit with a recognition that moving to more 

two-way communication will be beneficial. 

 

Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well at both a bilateral and 

collective level.  At the heart of this sits a ‘no surprises’ principle.  Cabinet members 

outlined to us that they now feel much better appraised of emerging issues and 

senior officers indicated a greater confidence in drawing elected members’ attention 

to challenging issues. 

 

The officers and elected members that we met are open about the need for 

continued change and improvement in the way the organisation functions and are 

committed to delivering it.  A single Improvement Plan has been developed 

responding to the statutory direction of the Secretary of State and the findings from 

the various forms of external challenge that the council has undertaken over the last 

year or so.  The Plan was approved at the Full Council meeting on 7th June this year 

and is designed to provide the organisation with a clear direction for its improvement 

journey and aid the continued delivery of the council’s strategic priorities reflected in 

the Corporate Plan 2021-2025.  Governance mechanisms to oversee the delivery of 

the Improvement Plan are outlined within it.  Reporting on progress against the Plan 

is reassuring Cabinet, whilst officers that we met from a range of levels within the 

Page 309

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

6 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

organisation believe the changes that are being seen will be sustained this time 

around, contrasting with what has been experienced previously. 

 

A new performance management framework has been established, with this having 

been approved by Full Council on 12th April this year.  It is enabling a much better 

understanding of how the council is performing.  This links to the ‘no surprises’ 

principle and Cabinet reflected that they are now gaining insights to issues more, and 

at an earlier stage, compared with before.  Quarterly reporting to Cabinet on the four 

key components within the framework commenced last month.  These components 

are ‘Improvement’ (including delivery of the Corporate Plan), ‘Customer Experience’, 

‘Financial Performance’ and ‘Organisational Health’.  The quarterly report additionally 

features the council’s Strategic Risk Register.  The framework, and the information 

and insights it provides, act as a prime example of the way in which an increased 

evidence-base for decision-making can be seen in the council.  It also provides the 

basis for a ‘golden thread’ that enables the links to be made between the council’s 

strategic objectives and the plans at directorate and service level.  This thread can be 

articulated at Director, Assistant Director and Service Manager level but not yet 

below that. 

 

Key achievements across the council in recent months include: 

 

• Children’s Services progressing to ‘Requires Improvement’ 

• The relationship between the council and the Children’s Trust being 

seen to have continued to progress and the contract having been 

extended 

• The delivery on time and budget of the Sandwell Aquatic Centre and 

the contribution of the borough and the council to the success of the 

2022 Commonwealth Games – with this positively impacting on 

reputation and confidence 

• The smooth letting of the special educational needs and disabilities 

(SEND) transport contract, capitalising on learning from before  

• Improved management of the council’s waste contract 

• Plans developing for a shift to leisure facilities and related services 

being delivered through a local authority trading company 

Page 310

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

7 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

• The creation of an integrated health and care facility (Harvest View) – 

within a broader picture of good relationships with health, including 

positive engagement with NHS ‘place’ arrangements 

• Coping with everything that has been thrown at the organisation, 

including supporting communities and businesses during the pandemic 

and the growing cost of living crisis; responding to the Ukrainian 

refugee situation; and managing the implications of the economic 

challenges for the council’s finances  

 

The council commissioned a residents’ survey this year and there are a number of 

positive findings that the organisation will hope to see repeated in future years.  This 

includes satisfaction with the council being slightly higher than the national average 

(66% compared to 62%); trust in the council standing at 67% compared to a national 

average of 58%; and 60% of respondents indicating they feel the council acts on the 

concerns of local residents compared to 52% nationally.  Satisfaction with waste 

services; street cleaning; maintenance of both roads and pavements; sport and 

leisure services; and services and support for children and young people were all 

higher than the national average although the reverse was true for library services; 

services and support for older people; and parks and open spaces. 

  

An employee engagement survey has also been undertaken this year, following that 

from 2018 and with 61% of staff responding to it.  The results have been widely 

shared and are being used to inform discussions and thinking at directorate and team 

levels and there has been a corporate response to them.  The latter includes placing 

‘organisational culture’ at the heart of the Improvement Plan and the enhancing of 

internal communications, as touched on earlier.  Both the residents’ survey and the 

employee survey will be built on through ‘pulse’ surveys – a brief and regular set of 

questions posed to people – being undertaken going forward. 

 

Cabinet is building a track record of taking difficult decisions.  A prime example is that 

of approving plans for the building of a primary school, 190 homes and a public park 

on the site of the former Brandhall Golf Course which is currently being scrutinised as 

part of a Call-In of the Cabinet decision.  Another example is the introduction of 

charging for the collection of green garden waste which is due to be considered by 

Cabinet in November.  What this approach in recent months reflects is Cabinet 

maintaining a focus on ‘doing the right thing’ as it sees it, even when the going gets 

Page 311

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

8 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

tough.  This is in contrast with a view that criticism from ‘the loudest voices’ might 

have driven some decisions previously.    

 

Cabinet are showing a commitment and willingness to face the further tough 

decisions that will undoubtedly be required over the coming months and years as the 

financial challenge facing the council continues.  Whilst there is clear recognition 

amongst all those we spoke to that the financial challenge is only likely to worsen 

over the next year and beyond, there is currently an absence of a whole organisation 

view of both the scale of this and how it will be addressed.  Establishing a clear 

shared understanding of the extent of the budget gap (we recognise the fluid 

situation that exists at present makes establishing certainty difficult) will be important 

in focusing effort and attention and identifying and implementing a whole-council 

approach to solutions.  In a context of the ‘One Council, One Team’ philosophy 

acting as a key driver for the organisation, ensuring a corporate and cross-cutting 

approach to addressing the financial challenge will be important in order to avoid 

retrenchment on the part of individual areas functions and services and the resulting 

siloed thinking and action. 

 

As we touched on earlier, people have coped with everything that has been thrown at 

the organisation in recent times.  This has been taking its toll, but the demands on 

the organisation and its people aren’t going to dissipate.  All councils are 

experiencing increased demand around ‘business as usual’ and having to adapt to 

deal with change in what ‘business as usual’ represents and how it is delivered.  

They are also all facing very significant financial challenges.  Sandwell is having to 

cope with all of this but additionally is delivering an extensive Improvement Plan.   

 

The injection of additional capacity in key areas has helped to drive improvement.  

Examples include governance expertise to inform and support Constitutional 

revisions; project and programme management specialists; additional 

communications professionals; and support with the development of the performance 

management framework.  Often in our discussions, people indicated that the injection 

of additional capacity would be the answer to the challenges within their spheres but 

there needs to be a much greater sense of realism around this, given the financial 

picture facing the council.  Thus, in order to make things feel as achievable as 

possible going forward, there needs to be a stocktake of the level of available 

Page 312

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

9 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

resource, the pace and phasing of change that will be required going forward and 

where any additional capacity that can be secured will deliver the greatest impact.  

 

 

Governance and Decision-Making 

A key strand of the council’s Improvement Plan relates to the ‘Constitution and 

Governance Framework’.  An inclusive process developing changes to the 

Constitution, involving cross-party engagement, saw those changes put before Full 

Council in July this year being agreed very smoothly.  This included revisions to the 

Procurement and Contract Procedure Rules; Financial Regulations; and Council 

Procedure Rules.  Things appear on track for further revisions to be agreed through 

Full Council in November and December, including elements relating to the Scheme 

of Delegations; Access to Information Procedure Rules; and the Protocol for 

Member/Employee Relations.  An annual review of the Constitution going forward 

has been agreed in order to enable on-going refinement and adaptation of the way 

the council operates. 

 

One of the most noticeable changes in recent months is the much-improved set of 

relationships between officers and elected members.  The training linked to this has 

been highly valued and has played an important role.  The positive way Cabinet and 

the Leadership Team engage with one other is modelling the way.   

 

There is a note of caution to signal here though, with an emerging risk around the 

poor organisational responsiveness to the customer, and to casework issues brought 

forward by elected members, starting to generate tensions on the part of both 

councillors and officers, thus undermining the good progress that has been made in 

relationships.  This needs to be avoided through on-going and intensive focus on the 

‘Ward and Casework Management’ element of the Improvement Plan and the work 

around the ‘customer journey’ that is being embarked upon. 

 

In the same way that training in respect of officer and elected member relationships 

has been highly valued, the development activity relating to public speaking and 

chairing skills – delivered through an external facilitator – has also gone down very 

well with councillors.  This forms part of a very positive story in relation to elected 

Page 313

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

10 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

member training and development more generally, including the induction 

programme put in place following the elections in May and ‘all member briefings’ on 

key issues.  There is a comprehensive training and development programme now in 

place, informed by personal development plans for councillors.  The programme is 

ensuring increased knowledge and understanding and is injecting external 

perspectives.  Councillors are supplementing this with increasingly getting ‘out and 

about’ to draw in learning, including a recent visit to Leeds to look at customer 

contact centre arrangements there and linking up as Cabinet members with opposite 

numbers in neighbouring boroughs.   

 

The council is committed to reviewing the elected member development programme 

at regular intervals going forward.  It will be important to ensure that the pace of 

delivery is made to feel sustainable, with some councillors the peer team spoke to 

reflecting an intensity to it in recent months that risks being too demanding in terms 

of their time.  

 

A revision of the role of, and approach to, Overview and Scrutiny also represents an 

important element of the council’s Improvement Plan.  This was embarked upon in 

the latter part of last year and it is clear from people we spoke to that this key strand 

of the council’s governance arrangements is going from strength to strength.  

Regular meetings between members of Overview and Scrutiny and the Cabinet, 

along with discussions with senior officers, enables the exploration of opportunities 

for Overview and Scrutiny to help to shape strategy and policy at the pre-decision-

making level.  Recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny are also regularly now 

being considered by Cabinet and flowing into Leadership Team.  The Committee 

Chairs are reporting regularly to Full Council on the work and impact of their 

respective Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  ‘Job roles’ and a framework to guide 

the way Overview and Scrutiny works, at both an individual and Committee level, 

have also been developed and have been supplemented with a range of training. 

 

The renewed sense of energy and drive that is being seen with Overview and 

Scrutiny is replicated across other key committees and the Chairs are integral to this.  

Mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs and officers is 

providing for good planning and work programming across the different committees.  

One example is the mapping of their respective remits between Overview and 

Page 314

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

11 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

Scrutiny and Audit Committee in relation to monitoring progress in the delivery of the 

Improvement Plan.  

 

There is also a sense more widely of a ‘maturing politics’ within the council.  This is 

reflected in the considered approach taken by the Opposition; the cross-party 

working that has been taking place on the revisions to the Constitution; and the way 

in which the Call-In of the Cabinet decision on the Brandhall site was handled by all 

involved.  Standards complaints have dropped significantly, which could be used as a 

proxy indicator of the improvements that have been seen in relation to elected 

member behaviour and governance. 

 

Full Council in November will consider whether there is a shift to a four yearly 

electoral cycle.  A report outlining the key considerations, including the public 

consultation outcome on the matter, will be presented by the Director of Law and 

Governance to inform the thinking and decision-making of elected members.  

 

‘Customer Journey’ and ‘Organisational Culture’ 

The work to be delivered in relation to improving the ‘customer journey’ is being 

widely talked about in the council.  There is a long way to go on this, with 

organisational responsiveness to customers and casework, raised by elected 

members on behalf of residents, still being a major issue.   

 

The message has come through loud and clear that addressing the issues that exist 

is a major priority for the council.  Staff that we spoke to are welcoming of this but 

there is, as yet, a lack of clarity about what this will entail and the way forward.  This 

includes what a ‘whole council’ programme and approach will look like; what the 

expectations on services and directorates are and the roles that they are required to 

play; and who is leading the work and where the related accountability sits.   

 

At a more basic level, there needs to be a quickly established shared understanding 

regarding what the council’s service standards and timescales for responding are 

currently and/or will be going forward.   

 

It is recognised that it is only in recent weeks that the prioritisation of the 

improvement of the ‘customer journey’ has been communicated.  It is important now 

Page 315

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

12 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

to cement the commitment that has been given and capitalise upon the enthusiasm 

that has been generated, by establishing clear leadership of the agenda.   

 

‘Organisational culture’ forms the first theme in the council’s Improvement Plan.  

Activity is already underway in relation to this, including the identification of ‘culture 

champions’ and their involvement in ‘listening events’ which will link to work on 

values and behaviours.  However, things feel very much at the outset in relation to 

this key strand of work and clarity is still required in key respects.  This includes what 

the ‘organisational culture’ change agenda in Sandwell will cover; how it links to the 

work on the ‘customer journey’ – given the inter-related nature of these two key 

strands of work; and the connection with the whole organisation transformation plan 

that the council has indicated it intends to develop. 

 

Currently it is difficult to see what an ‘organisational culture’ change programme does 

or will entail.  Driving forward the ‘One Council, One Team’ philosophy would logically 

form a key component of it.  Another strand might usefully relate to the ‘return to the 

office’ arrangements post-pandemic which require further focus and clarification of 

expectations.  People spoke of the way in which corporate guidelines have been 

provided around the presence of people and teams in the office and some valued the 

freedom they had been given in finding ways to balance meeting these requirements 

with the needs and preferences of their staff, whilst others sought greater clarity on 

expectations and greater equity.  It is, however, clear that approaches are evolving 

and that learning is taking place.  This could all usefully be drawn together to inform a 

further round of corporate guidance to support meeting customer need; maximising 

the effectiveness of the use of office space; and maintaining and enhancing 

relationships within and between teams.  

 

Whether workforce planning constitutes part of the organisational culture change 

programme also needs to be clarified.  The original corporate peer challenge report 

outlined the need for role titles and functions to better describe ‘what they say on the 

tin’ and a requirement for consistency in terminology and managerial spans of control 

and levels of responsibility.  There remains a lack of clarity around this.  Additionally, 

recruitment and retention challenges are biting, as they are everywhere, and there 

are no easy answers, with concerted effort and creativity, possibly encompassing 

other councils and sectors, being required to develop solutions.  There is also an 

Page 316

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk


 

13 
18 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3HZ     www.local.gov.uk      Telephone 020 7664 3000      Email info@local.gov.uk      Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd  

Local Government Association company number 11177145 Improvement and Development Agency for Local Government company number 03675577 

 

 
  

issue of succession planning to be addressed, linked to the age profile of the 

workforce. 

Equality, diversity and inclusion (EDI) represents another key area of work that has 

been identified as an organisational priority.  There is a clear commitment to the EDI 

agenda, reflected in the investment that has been made in creating a team to drive it, 

but things are still very much at the outset.  The EDI agenda must be made integral 

to the work around ‘organisational culture’. 

 

Essentially, the ‘customer journey’, EDI and ‘organisational culture’ are major pieces 

of inter-related work that are fundamental to future success and require a clear plan 

and sense of deliverability. 

 

4. Final thoughts and next steps 

The LGA would like to thank Sandwell Council for its engagement in both the 

corporate peer challenge and the progress review.  We recognise that the senior 

managerial and political leadership of the council will want to reflect on the findings 

and how to utilise them to support the council’s improvement journey. 

 

Under the umbrella of LGA sector-led improvement, there is an on-going offer of 

support to councils. The LGA is well placed to provide additional support, advice and 

guidance on a number of the areas identified for development and improvement and 

we would be happy to discuss this.  Helen Murray (Principal Adviser for the West 

Midlands) is the main point of contact between the authority and the LGA and her e-

mail address is helen.murray@local.gov.uk  

Page 317

http://www.local.gov.uk/
mailto:info@local.gov.uk
mailto:helen.murray@local.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 

Commercial in confidence 

 
 
 
 
 

Sandwell MBC 

CIPFA FM Model Re-assessment 

Final Report 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Report by: 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy  

December 2022 

Au 

Page 319



 

2 

Commercial in confidence 

CIPFA, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, is the professional 

body for people in public finance. CIPFA shows the way in public finance globally, standing 

up for sound public financial management and good governance around the world as the 

leading commentator on managing and accounting for public money. 

  

Further information about CIPFA can be obtained at www.cipfa.org  

 

Any questions arising from this submission should be directed to: 

 

Chris Tidswell FCPFA 
 
CIPFA  
77 Mansell Street 
London 
E1 8AN 
 
Tel: +44 (0)20 7543 5600 
Email: chris.tidswell@cipfa.org 
 

 

gust 2022CIPFA Financial 
Management Model  
 
Sandwell Council: follow-up review  
 

 

 

 

 

er 2022 

Page 320

http://www.cipfa.org/
mailto:chris.tidswell@cipfa


 

3 

Commercial in confidence 

Table of contents 
 

1 Summary .................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 Purpose of the follow-up review .............................................................................. 4 

1.2 Approach adopted ................................................................................................... 4 

1.3 Findings .................................................................................................................. 4 

1.4 Update findings ....................................................................................................... 5 

2 The follow-up review findings ...................................................................................... 6 

2.1 Leadership .......................................................................................................... 6 

2.2 People ................................................................................................................. 8 

2.3 Process ............................................................................................................. 10 

2.4 Stakeholders ..................................................................................................... 14 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 321



 

4 

Commercial in confidence 

1 Summary 

1.1 Purpose of the follow-up review 
 
In late 2021, CIPFA were commissioned to review Sandwell Council’s financial 
management performance, using the CIPFA Five Star FM Model. In that review, on 
which we reported in January 2022, Sandwell achieved a score 1.81 which equates 
to progressive 2* rating. CIPFA have now been asked to review progress throughout 
the year in improving the scoring. This report represents our findings. 

1.2 Approach adopted 
 
We have conducted a range of interviews, supplementing last year’s. These 
interviews have included staff and senior members, who in some cases have joined 
the Council since the last review and importantly, a number that were new in to post 
at the time of the 2021 review. We have also added to our previous document review 
by examining new material, including crucial reports that were not available 
previously. Based on this evidence, we have rescored the Council against the model. 

1.3 Findings 
 
The previous January 2022 scoring is below.  

 

 
 
As indicated above the individual questions and statements score was 1.81 the 
threshold for 2* is 1.99 hence the conclusion of a progressive  2* rating. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



 

5 

Commercial in confidence 

 
Following our re-assessment, the summary scoring matrix is below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The review and scoring indicate improved statement and question scores from the 
previous review and therefore a score of 2.36 which represents a progression to a 3* 
rating (there is a threshold of 2.25 for achieving the 3* rating). Our detailed findings 
are now more positively within the 2* range. Indeed, few further improvements should 
take Sandwell Council towards a strong 3* score. 

1.4 Updated findings 
 
In the remainder of this report, we have set out the original findings.  
 
These are divided into the CIPFA model topic headings – leadership, people, process, 
stakeholders – which are then subdivided into three themes – delivering 
accountability, supporting performance and enabling transformation. We have then 
provided the revised scoring and commentary.   

  

Page 323



 

6 

Commercial in confidence 

 

2 The follow-up review findings 
 

2.1 Leadership 

The section below shows a scoring comparison between the 2021 and 2022 reviews 
along with a commentary on our findings. scoring for leadership was as follows. 

Delivering Accountability 2021 2021  2022 2022   

L1 

Financial capability is regarded as integral to supporting the delivery 

of the organisation’s objectives. The CFO is an active member of 

the board, is at the heart of corporate strategy/business decision 

making and leads a highly visible, influential and supportive finance 

team. 

**** 2.75  **** 3.25 

  

L2 

The organisation has an effective framework of financial 

accountability that is clearly understood and applied throughout, 

from the board through executive and non-executive directors to 

front line service managers. 

** 2.00  **** 2.75 

  

L3 

Within an annual budget setting process the organisation’s 

leadership sets income requirements including tax and allocates 

resources to different activities in order to achieve its objectives. 

The organisation monitors the organisation’s financial and activity 

performance in delivering planned outcomes. 

*** 2.00  *** 2.50 

 
 

Overall    ****    

             
  

Supporting Performance 2021 2021  2022 2022   

L4 

The organisation has a developed financial strategy to underpin 

medium- and longer-term financial health. The organisation 

integrates its business and financial planning so that it aligns 

resources to meet current and future outcome focussed business 

objectives and priorities. 

** 2.00  *** 2.50 

  

L5 
The organisation develops and uses financial/leadership expertise 

in its strategic decision-making and its performance management 

based on an appraisal of the financial environment and cost drivers. 

** 2.00  *** 2.50 

  
Overall    ***    

         

Enabling Transformation 2021 2021  2022 2022   

L6 

The organisation’s leadership integrates financial management into 

its strategies to meet future business needs.  Its financial 

management approach supports the change agenda and a culture 

of customer focus, innovation, improvement and development. 

** 2.00  *** 2.50 

  
Overall    ***    

         
 

  

Page 324



 

7 

Commercial in confidence 

Key areas of Improvement since the last review 

Our fieldwork findings accord broadly with this year’s LGA’s peer review follow-up 

report. This indicates a positive direction and improvement for Sandwell. The Director 

of Finance is well respected. Messages about the Council’s need to get a grip on its 

finances and achieve savings are increasingly robust and heard. The MTFS is now 

much stronger. The positive progress we have encountered is extremely welcome, 

evident, and represents a step change in under a year. It is to be commended. 

We would draw attention to the following areas which indicate key improvements 

since the last review: 

• Finance is seen as a key function and priority from a leadership, financial 

management and financial governance perspective. The development of the 

finance improvement programme and its progression since the last review is 

evidence of the positive commitment and its actions are and will make a 

difference. 

• The impact of finance leadership (from the CFO and team) is improving financial 

planning (including MTFP), improving financial awareness, better quality 

engagement with budget holders. This will contribute to developing a culture of 

ownership and accountability, it is still early days, but the signs are positive. 

• The budget setting process has developed since ethe last review with increased 

rigour.  Training has been delivered on budgeting techniques which will improve 

the quality of budgets in the future. 

• The process for reviewing and developing forecasts has also changed in the 

last year, again this is still developing, but the changed approach will improve 

the engagement with budget holders, develop the role of finance as advisors 

and improve ownership. This is a culture change which takes time, which is 

recognised. 

Key development areas of focus for 2023 

There are still areas for improvement which have been identified through the review 

and these are also recognised by the Council, which provides a good foundation for 

continued development of financial management and governance. The budget 

process for example, while clearly much improved, will need further work and 

refinement. There are a few headline issues which require attention to ensure that the 

improvements in leadership continue. These include: 

• Leadership depth. It has been argued that whenever the Director of Finance is 

absent, messages are less resonantly communicated. 

• Top/down reform. It is perhaps inevitable given the intervention and the 

emphasis on governance, leadership and central ‘grip’ in the reviews to which 

Sandwell has been subject, that its reforms are somewhat top/down in character. 

It is apparent that the commitment to or understanding of the reform agenda 

diminishes the further one gets in the organisation from the leadership. 

• Prioritisation, communication and focus. The Improvement Plan is a 

portmanteau of many initiatives. As such it could be considered unwieldy. The 

further towards the frontline we have ventured, the more likely staff have been 

to suggest that they do not know what initiatives their primary focus should be. 

We understand that work is in progress to prioritise the Improvement Plan, which 

will help. 

Page 325



 

8 

Commercial in confidence 

• Sustainability. The sound narrative in the MTFS should be complemented by 

strong and robust deliverable savings plans. Some interviewees were concerned 

that the drive for savings might mean that undeliverable plans would be accepted 

in the budget process, leading to future overspends and calls on balances. In 

our earlier review work, we noticed some separation of capital, including the use 

of assets and the understanding of liabilities, from revenue matters. This time, 

we have been informed of a more positive and proactive approach to capital and 

asset management. There are also some genuinely innovative uses of physical 

or digital assets to personalise services and achieve efficiency. Going forward, 

we would expect to see a clearer relationship between capital and revenue 

strategies in Sandwell service planning than has been evident previously.  

Nevertheless, the signs on leadership are positive and promising and the matters 
listed above are comparatively straightforward ones to address. 

2.2 People 

The section below shows a scoring comparison between the 2021 and 2022 reviews 
along with a commentary on our findings. scoring for leadership was as follows. 

Delivering Accountability 2021 2021  2022 2022  

P1 
The organisation identifies its financial competency needs and puts 

arrangements in place to meet them. 
* 1.50   *** 2.50 

 

P2 
The organisation has access to sufficient financial skills to meet its 

business needs. 
**** 2.75  **** 3.00 

 
Overall    ****   

        

Supporting Performance 2021 2021  2022 2022  

P3 
The organisation manages its finance function to ensure efficiency 

and effectiveness. 
* 1.00  ** 2.00 

 

P4 
Finance staff provide business partner support by interpreting and 

explaining performance as well as advising and supporting on key 

business decisions. 

* 1.50  *** 2.50 

 

P5 

Managers understand they are responsible for delivering services 

cost effectively and are held accountable for doing so. Financial 

literacy is diffused throughout the organisation so that decision 

takers understand and manage the financial implications of their 

decisions. 

* 1.00  *** 2.25 

 
Overall    ***   

        

Enabling Transformation 2021 2021  2022 2022  

Page 326



 

9 

Commercial in confidence 

P6 
The organisation develops and sustains its financial management 

capacity to help shape and support its transformational programme. 
* 1.50  *** 2.25 

 
Overall    ***   

 

Key areas of Improvement since the last review 

The principal improvement in the people position is the finance restructuring and the 

emphasis on business partnering. With a few exceptions, which we will touch on 

below, the changes have been broadly welcomed and indicate a positive response to 

the issue raised in our previous review. They are plainly part of a coherent agenda 

and programme of financial reform and are linked to the positive leadership position. 

Again, this is real progress and to be commended. 

We would draw attention to the following areas which indicate key improvements 

since the last review: 

• Developing the people aspect of finance across the organisation is a key 

objective of the improvement plan, this a positive step and a driver for change. 

• The restructuring of the finance team with a concentration on alignment of 

function to service requirements (demonstrated through the business partnering 

drive) will help strengthen the role of finance and the overall finance 

environment. 

• Recruitment has been underway during 2022 to strengthen the finance team 

and also reduce the reliance on interim staff.  This will continue into 2023, 

though the market for skilled and qualified accountants is a challenge.  The 

interim staff in place are seen as adding value, transferring learning and adding 

wider local government experience. 

• Training has been delivered and more is planned for both finance and budget 

holders.  This was a weakness in the previous review and now being addressed. 

In addition continued training and development is seen as an element of the 

overall improvement plan. 

Key development areas of focus for 2023 

Our review has highlighted some issues requiring further work so that this progress 

can be maintained and built upon. They include: 

• Implications of the pace of change. The restructure, with associated re-

alignment of responsibility, staff departures, and the slimming down of the 

finance function, have been received in varying ways across the Council. At least 

one senior officer on the business side has spoken of losing a skilled principal 

accountant who (in their opinion) exhibited the behaviours of a business partner, 

and their replacement by a new and interim appointment therefore losing some 

service-related knowledge. Though the same interviewee expressed a broadly 

positive assessment of the quality of finance staff and the information they 

provide, the experience has been unsettling in a mission critical area of the 

business. It will be worth assessing whether pockets of crucial service activity 

needs targeted support as the restructure progresses. 

Page 327



 

10 

Commercial in confidence 

• Sustainability. While the business partnering shift has been welcomed, it has 

been widely observed that new business partners are frequently interims. How 

sustainable that will be, what challenges it will mean for consistency, continuity, 

corporate memory over time, are matters the reform programme should address. 

• Uneven financial management acumen across the wider business. This has 

cultural implications, which we will touch on in the next section. As indicated 

above a programme starting with a budget holder survey has now developed 

into a programme of training for budget holders. More immediately, non-finance 

officers who lack good understanding of finance matters are ill-equipped to make 

the most of new business partnering arrangements. Even supported by strong 

systems, they will struggle to move towards self-service. Instead, they will 

continue in some cases to be excessively dependent on the finance function. 

There has been some initial training, setting out the responsibilities of budget-

holders in the context of the business partnering approach. This should be 

supplemented by a comprehensive development and training programmes 

across the Council, and we are aware that this is part of the improvement plan. 

Nevertheless, these caveats aside, we are happy to report strong intent and good 

progress on people matters. 

2.3 Process 

The section below shows a scoring comparison between the 2021 and 2022 reviews 
along with a commentary on our findings. scoring for leadership was as follows. 

Delivering Accountability 2021 2021  2022 2022  

PR1 Budgets are accrual-based and robustly calculated ** 2.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR2 

The organisation operates financial information systems that 

enable the consistent production of comprehensive, accrual 

based, accurate and up to date data that fully meets users’ 

needs.   

** 2.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR3 
The organisation operates and maintains accurate, timely and 

efficient transactional financial services (e.g., creditor payments, 

income collection, payroll, and pensions' administration). 

* 1.50  *** 2.25 

 

PR4 

The organisation’s treasury management is risk based.  It 

manages its investments and cash flows, its banking, money 

market and capital market transactions, balancing risk and 

financial performance. 

**** 3.00  **** 3.00 

 

PR5 
The organisation actively manages budgets, with effective 

budget monitoring arrangements that ensure ‘no surprises’ and 

trigger responsive action. 

*** 2.50  *** 2.50 

 

PR6 
The organisation maintains processes to ensure that information 

about key assets and liabilities in its balance sheet is a sound 

and current platform for management action.    

* 1.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR7 
Management understands and addresses its risk management 

and internal control governance responsibilities. 
*** 2.25  *** 2.25 

 

Page 328



 

11 

Commercial in confidence 

PR8 
Management is supported by effective assurance arrangements, 

including internal audit, and audit and risk committee(s). 
**** 2.75  **** 2.75 

 

PR9 
The organisation’s financial accounting and reporting are accrual 

based and comply with international standards and meet 

relevant professional and regulatory standards. 

* 1.25  ** 2.00 

 
Overall    ***   

        

Supporting Performance 2021 2021  2022 2022  

PR10 

The organisation’s medium-term financial planning process 

underpins fiscal discipline, is focussed upon the achievement of 

strategic priorities and delivers a dynamic and effective business 

plan. 

** 2.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR11 
Forecasting processes and reporting are well developed and 

supported by accountable operational management. Forecasting 

is insightful and leads to optimal decision making. 

** 2.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR12 
The organisation systematically pursues opportunities to reduce 

costs and improve value for money in its operations. 
* 1.00  ** 2.00 

 

PR13 
The organisation systematically pursues opportunities for 

improved value for money and cost savings through its 

procurement, commissioning and contract management. 

* 1.00  ** 2.00 

 

Overall    **   

        

Enabling Transformation 2021 2021  2022 2022  

PR14 
The organisation continually re-engineers its financial processes 

to ensure delivery of agreed outcomes is optimised. 
* 0.25  * 2.00 

 

PR15 
The organisation’s financial management processes support 

organisational change. 
* 0.50  * 2.00 

 
Overall    **   

 

Key areas of Improvement since the last review 

In both the initial review and in this follow-up, the quality of financial information and 

the nature of financial processes were a major theme. Many officers in service areas 

were complimentary about the willingness and ability of the finance function to provide 

usable financial information. The recent exercise of providing comparatively 

unstructured raw data to the business and anticipating that forecasts could be derived 

from it does is work in progress and a positive step in both increasing ownership by 

budget holders and the engagement with business partners. It prompts better quality 

Page 329



 

12 

Commercial in confidence 

discussions with budget holders and will, in time reduce the reliance on finance and 

increase adoption of the self-serve approach. 

Again, however, there are positive developments to note. Our previous report 

reflected some extremely critical material on procurement and contract management. 

We note that there is now a vigorous and committed reform agenda here. Moreover, 

some of the scoring in this section has improved where we have been able to identify 

clearer of evidence of strategic and operational awareness of issues and the intent to 

action them. 

Overall, Sandwell’s ability to deliver improved financial process will be a function of 

an improved culture. Staff at all levels should understand the relationship between the 

Council’s priorities, the delivery of effective services, and prudent financial 

management. 

We would draw attention to the following areas which indicate key improvements 

since the last review: 

• The Council and the finance team have responded to the weaknesses in 

transactional activities with the commencement of a review of transactional 

finance, debt recovery and business support.  This redesign work has started to 

have an impact and responds to a risk area highlighted in the previous review. 

• The budgetary process has improved during 2022.  There is greater challenge, 

and this has strengthened the overall process. As a consequence, the approach 

to identifying and including savings within the agreed budget has also improved 

where challenge seeks not only to confirm suggestions but seeks alternative or 

additional areas to deliver value for money. 

• The Council, as part of budget setting process for 2023/24 has also carried out 

a review of their Statutory and Discretionary spending which led to discussions 

with the Cabinet about priorities and corporate plan priority gaps. This shows a 

maturing relationship between both officers and members and the relationship 

between funding and demand. 

• The Council has undertaken work to improve procurement and its contribution. 

This has included simplifying the approval process, along with authorisation and 

approval levels. Process have been reviewed and the procurement training 

introduced, all of which will have a positive impact on the service contribution, 

operation and effectiveness. 

• A weak area under process was enabling transformation.  As indicated above 

the use of external reviews and advisors to assess and develop processes is a 

positive step.  As part of the improvement programme additional resource was 

brought in to develop and change the budgeting and forecasting process which 

will help transform the role and value of finance as well as the quality and 

reliability of budget. 

• The operation of the finance system was an issue reported under the last 

review.  There is still work to be done to improve the system, referred to below 

as an area for 2023. What is evident though is the change in thinking and re-

setting the approach to developing the implementation and operation of the 

Oracle Fusion system.  There has been a move away from the adapt culture to 

one of adopt which will reduce the impact of customisation (which can be 

problematic and costly) and hopefully once introduced will deliver the 

improvement necessary. 

Page 330



 

13 

Commercial in confidence 

Key development areas of focus for 2023 

New to this review was the delayed interim external audit for 2020-21. This was critical 

of Sandwell’s governance arrangements. Had it been available to the previous CIPFA 

review, it is likely that the scoring on the relevant sections of the Five Star model would 

have been lower. However, we have also taken into consideration the seriousness 

with which the Authority is engaging with this matter, noted in the peer review follow-

up and as such the score reflect the Councils approach. To improve processes further, 

we would suggest that Sandwell should focus on the following issues: 

• Oracle Fusion: only part of the answer. The widespread expectation is that the 

much-delayed Oracle Fusion implementation will improve budgeting, financial 

information and facilitate financial self-help. It might. But ERP projects are 

littered with failures. To succeed, the Oracle Fusion initiative will require a 

comprehensive training and development programme. It should also be 

accompanied by redoubled efforts to streamline unwieldy processes. It is a 

misconception that new ERP systems remove defective processes. It is noted 

above that the Council’s approach is now to adopt (using the system as it is 

designed) as opposed to adapting (which is customising) and will help improve 

the operation and value of the system. This will help eliminate the need for 

numerous over engineered processes, especially in transactions. 

• Cross-authority alignment on risk. Weak or ineffective financial management 

can create an entirely understandable culture of being risk averse and control 

culture in central finance. This can however reinforce service dependency on 

finance, potentially stifling innovation and adoption of self service and 

ownership. It can also generate cumbersome processes, filled with restrictions 

and permissions, which create as many problems as they solve. As the reforms 

continue – for example in procurement – the relationship between the finance 

function’s risk tolerance and the risk appetite needed to achieve reform across 

the business will need to be examined and balanced. 

• Culture. We mentioned earlier that additional training would be needed to 

ensure that budget-holders were equipped to respond to Sandwell’s financial 

management reforms. We believe this training should be extended to service-

delivery level. It should be accompanied by robust engagement and two-way 

communication with all Sandwell staff on reform priorities and the relationship 

between financial prudence and service delivery. In CIPFA’s experience, many 

of the best innovations in service and efficiency come from staff at the frontline. 

But equally, a relentless focus on efficiency is only achieved when all staff 

understand the relationship between financial management and service delivery. 

It is perhaps unsurprising that the overarching priority for the Council now is 

‘customer journey’. Some interviewees have spoken of a tendency at the 

Sandwell frontline to respond to service demands, even from councillors or the 

community, with the excuse that there is no money. It is important that the 

initiative mentioned above (about discussion on priorities with the Cabinet) on 

how things can be done differently to free resources, how joining up between 

similar service areas might extend the competence individual service units, or 

what might be achieved through pragmatic timetabling should continue to 

develop. The Council can benefit from the thinking from its excellent frontline 

staff. To secure it will require extensive engagement, development and training. 

  

Page 331



 

14 

Commercial in confidence 

 

2.4 Stakeholders 
 

The section below shows a scoring comparison between the 2021 and 2022 reviews 
along with a commentary on our findings. scoring for leadership was as follows. 

Delivering Accountability 2021 2021  2022 2022 

S1 

The organisation provides external stakeholders with evidence 

of the integrity of its financial conduct and performance and 

demonstrates fiscal discipline including compliance with 

statutory/legal/regulatory obligations. 

** 2.00  *** 2.25 

Overall **   ***  

       

Supporting Performance 2021 2021  2022 2022 

S2 
The organisation demonstrates that it achieves value for money 

in the use of its resources. 
*** 2.25  *** 2.25 

Overall ***   ***  

       

Enabling Transformation 2021 2021  2022 2022 

S3 
The organisation is responsive to its operating environment, 

seeking and responding to customer and stakeholder service 

and spending priorities that impact on its financial management. 

**** 3.00  **** 3.00 

Overall ****   ****  

 

Key areas of Improvement since the last review 

We have ended up with an identical set of scores here. We received some new 

evidence in our fieldwork this time concerning historical issues in community 

engagement processes, which might have adversely affected the previous score in 

S3. However, these were comfortably outweighed by the positive intent we 

encountered, such as the Council’s emphasis on customer journey, as well as new 

innovations, such as the budget consultation. 

Key development areas of focus for 2023 

There are a few areas for Sandwell to focus on to improve the service it achieves for 

stakeholders. They include: 

• Satisfying external reviewers. The Council’s ability to provide information in a 

timely and satisfactory manner to external auditors is clearly a work in progress 

and one that will develop as part of the improvement plan. 

• Real-time information. CIPFA reviewers have often found it a useful thought 

experiment to ask officers how swiftly they could answer detailed thematic 

Page 332



 

15 

Commercial in confidence 

questions similar to those that are routine for government departments 

accountable to parliament: for example, ‘how much money do we spend per day 

on measures to help eradicate anti-social behaviour in ward X’ etc. Imagining 

service spend in such thematic and micro terms is a very useful guide to 

considering the effectiveness of systems, processes and the budgetary culture. 

While we have no doubt that Sandwell officers could find such information – which 

would be hugely beneficial to service planning – it would take some effort and as 

such would be subject to priorities and susceptible to human error. As a 

consequence, developing both access and presentation of data and information 

will support challenge, scrutiny and therefore planning and decision. 

• Budget survey. This is a sensible and positive initiative. To maximise its impact, 

Sandwell Council should provide a detailed, honest and thoughtful response. 

Survey findings should be cross-referenced with political priorities and budget 

assumptions. They should also be compared on the one hand to the perspectives 

of community groups and activists, who can often exert significant influence on 

services without always being fully representative, and on the other to actual 

patterns of complaints and casework, which sometimes give a contrasting picture 

of residents’ day-to-day priorities to that found in a survey.  

• Customer journey. The achievement of efficiency is linked to transparency about 

service process. A single complaint about a defective streetlamp, sent to officers, 

the CEO’s office, ward councillors, portfolio holders, MPs, even to the 

Ombudsman, can create a nightmare of repetitive, nugatory work. If the 

complainant knows however from searching service information on the Council’s 

website that the lamp is scheduled to be fixed in a week’s time, they are likely to 

withhold their complaints until at least after that point. Sandwell is moving in the 

right direction on community engagement and transparency. But there are real 

benefits to be derived from going further.

Page 333



 

16 

Commercial in confidence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. Registered with the Charity 

Commissioners of England and Wales No 231060. Registered with the Office of the 

Scottish Charity Regulator No SCO37963. 

77 Mansell Street, London E1 8AN 

+44 (0)20 7543 5600 

CIPFA.org 

Page 334



Review 

Report
KLOE Ref Strand Ref Recommendation Response 

Incorporation within Improvement Plan / 

Other mechanism (Amber shading indicates recs where 

we are not intending to include changes to IP or monitor 

through IP)

IP Change control

Queries

Grant 

Thornton
K1

The Council must conclude the design of Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan, 

which will focus on organisational culture, values and behaviours required 

to deliver change, and introduce a “golden thread” aligning corporate KPIs 

to individuals performance objectives, so that planned improvements and 

changes become embedded across the organisation. The Council must also 

use the improvement building blocks now in place to bring a greater focus 

on service user responsiveness and outcomes.

Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan is due to be approved by Cabinet in March and the update includes the deliverables for progressing the organisational 

culture work strand which are a result of extensive engagement with the workforce. This includes the 'One Team Framework' which contains the values and 

behaviours to foster in the council (due for approval in March 2023) and the workforce strategy.

The Phase 2 Improvement Plan is the result of seven months of delivery and contains new milestones reflecting current and future delivery phases, confirming 

the council's approach to issues, and new priorities (including responses to issues raised through follow up external reviews). There is also an increased focus 

on assurance activity within the Improvement Plan to ensure that changes made are becoming embedded and are sustainable.

In relation to the 'golden thread' of our strategic planning and performance framework, this is being further developed in 2023-24 through:

- refreshing our partnership-wide Vision 2030

- finalising Directorate Business Plans for 2023-2026

- conducting a lessons learnt review of the 2023-24 business planning process

- piloting an approach to service planning and reflecting on lessons learnt 

- refreshing the appraisal process to reflect the One Team Framework which help ensure that staff understand their own performance objectives and how this 

links to the Council's priorities.

-  commencing work on a service planning and performance handbook which will set out 'how we do things here'

- using our internal communications methods to develop understanding across staff

A greater focus on outcomes for residents is reflected in the One Team Framework and Workforce Strategy, and will inform the forthcoming work to refresh 

the appraisal process and communications approach.

Actions to embed the golden thread to be 

incorporated within Corporate Oversight 

theme: Strategic Planning Framework (See ref 

CO.G1), and comms activity (see ref OC.E2.8)

Include actions around embedding 

golden thread in Corporate Oversight 

and Organisational Culture

Grant 

Thornton
K2

The Council needs to ensure that the new corporate PMO remains 

appropriately resourced, integrates all transformation and change activity 

being undertaken across the Council, and has access to appropriate data 

sources to be able to effectively monitor the delivery.

The establishment of a Corporate PMO is being explored with support being provided by Local Partnerships to ensure that we draw on best practice. A scope 

for this work has been agreed and it will commence imminently.

In relation to capacity for corporate transformation, the Corporate Transformation Office has been established and an agreed transformation framework is in 

place.   A reporting tool is currently being implemented to ensure that delivery can be monitored effectively. The reporting tool will provide a consistent 

approach for administering and reporting on transformation projects, and will support the adoption of the transformation framework. 

 The initial approach is for the transformation programme to focus on a 'vital few' transformation programmes which includes Oracle Fusion and Customer 

Journey. As the transformation approach, governance, and resourcing becomes more established, the transformation framework will apply to all areas of 

business change; bringing consistency and effective monitoring of delivery. 

Initial stages of resourcing the Corporate Transformation Office are taking place with a consolidation of existing resources. The focus is on building skills 

around project management, change management, business analysis and project administration. A skills audit is underway and this will lead to a consolidated 

team and, if required, recruitment. This work will include consideration of the resources required for the Corporate PMO following the review.

Incorporation of Corporate Transformation 

Programme and PMO actions within 

Corporate Oversight theme

CO.E1 section retitled and milestones 

updated 

Grant 

Thornton
K3

The Council should progress and finalise outstanding actions relating to 

our previous recommendations, in particular introducing a commercial 

strategy and an asset management strategy and conclude the service 

based actions arising from our previous recommendations including 

finalising the outstanding Service Delivery Contract with Serco, and the 

creation of the new leisure services company. The Leadership Team needs 

to ensure there is appropriate corporate focus on medium term financial 

planning and financial statement production.

The council continues to keep oversight of the progress against the service issues raised in the 2021 Grant Thornton Review. The Improvement Plan is 

monitored on a monthly basis by Leadership Team and Quarterly reports are made to Cabinet, Scrutiny and Audit. On the specific issues raised, all of these are 

monitored through the Improvement Plan. 

In relation to current progress, the commercial strategy is in the final stages of preparation and is due to be presented to Cabinet in March. The asset 

management strategy received approval in November and good progress is being made in relation to the contract with Serco and the creation of the new 

leisure services company.

Leadership Team retains a robust corporate focus on medium term financial planning through monthly budget monitoring discussions and on the financial 

statement production through regular updates from the S151 Officer. 

Not required. All issues raised included within 

IP and IP monthly and quarterly reporting is 

continuing.

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
k4

Once all the planned revisions to the Constitution have been agreed, the 

Council will need to embed theses changes and demonstrate sustainable 

improvements in governance and scrutiny of decision making.

Work has already commenced to embed the revisions to the Constitution in working practice. For example, there is a revised set of guidance and templates in 

place and these are being used to support the changes made around key decisions. 

Phase 2 of the council's governance review has commenced and this focuses on embedding changes. The next milestone is to agree the project plans relating 

to each of the changes within the Constitution. Performance monitoring is being built into the phase 2 work to ensure that changes made are sustainable.

Phase 2 Governance Review to be 

incorporated within Organisational Theme. 

See new workstream OC.G1.0 'Embedding 

Constitutional Changes'.

Milestones for Phase 2 of the 

Governance Review to be included 

within new section and incorporate 

Corporate Governance Training. 

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A1-1 SCT I1

The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on 

this improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, 

including sharing good practice on case work across the various SCT social 

work teams.

We continue to have a robust corporate grip around the SCT improvement trajectory through our established governance arrangements and associated 

reporting (including through the Council's PMF)

We have completed an extensive contract review which has been presented to Cabinet and shared with the SoS for Education, and new KPIs will be in place 

from 1st April 2023. This will continue to provide assurances to the Council around the SCT improvement journey.

Monthly reporting from SCT on quality assurance activity includes details of sharing of good practice.

Transition arrangements have commenced to start the process of ending DfE intervention

Already incorporated within Partnerships & 

Relationships Theme and quarterly 

monitoring of contract in place through PMF 

(in addition to SCT governance).
Include a milestone around transition 

from DfE intervention. 

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A1-2 SCT I2

The Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of 

the early help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are 

realised. 

The Early Help Strategy is monitored through the Children and Families Strategic Partnership which is chaired by the DCS. Regular progress reporting is made 

to the Children's Safeguarding Partnership along with updates to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

A dashboard of KPIs and an Early Help Action Plan have been developed to assist progress monitoring and this will be overseen by a new Early Help Operational 

Group (reporting to the Children and Families Strategic Partnership).

Quarterly reporting is also in place on the Early Help Strategy Implementation through the Council's PMF (Commentary Ref: B15, KPI ref CP16) 

Early Help Strategy approval was included 

within the IP. Ongoing monitoring is taking 

place through the Corporate Plan component 

of the PMF (Commentary Ref: B15, KPI ref 

CP16), and through an assurance action 

within the IP to ensure that the Early Help 

Strategy is reviewed at the early help 

partnership board

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A1-3 SCT I3

The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce the 

level of vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the 

associated KPI does not lead to contract failure.

Issues relating to the Children's social care workforce are a national priority across the children's sector and national work is being spearheaded by the DfE. 

The DfE will be publishing a response to the recommendations arising from the Care Review that was undertaken last year. We expect the response during Feb 

2023. 

The council will continue to work with SCT around workforce issues.

There are interdependencies around the KPIs. 

The established governance arrangements and performance reporting will continue to assist with oversight and assurance around KPIs. This includes quarterly 

reporting through the Council's PMF (SCT Quarterly Contract report (including all Contract KPIs), Corporate Plan Reporting B13 (commentary), and CP7-

CP15(KPIs)).

Quarterly reporting through the Council's 

PMF is in place through the Contract 

Reporting and Corporate Plan Monitoring 

(Ref: SCT Quarterly Contract report (including 

all Contract KPIs), Corporate Plan Reporting 

B13 (commentary), and CP7-CP15(KPIs)).
Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A1-4 SCT I4

The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these 

invest to save activities to ensure that SCT is able to generate the savings 

and efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced.

Any issues arising in Invest to Save activities are picked up through Operational Partnership Board Meetings and the regular formal meetings between SCT 

Chief Exec and Director of Resources, S151 Officer and DCS. 

Q4 Performance Report on the SCT contract will include a general update on Invest to Save Activity.

Action to be added within PMF section of IP 

that Q4 SCT Contract Report is to include 

overview of ITS activity. (CO.C1.7)

Capture within PMF section that Q4 SCT 

Contract Report is to include overview 

of ITS activity.

Responses to Grant Thornton and LGA Follow up Review Reports

P
age 335



Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A2-5 SLT I5

The Council will need to:

•ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so that there 

is a clear financial case for the commercial viability of the new arms length

company.

•be clear how it effectively discharges its shareholder role whilst allowing 

the company the freedoms and flexibilities to operate and to deliver the

planned financial and service benefits.

Work has commenced to develop the business case for the LATC, which includes re-visiting the assumptions contained with the initial business case agreed by 

Cabinet. This is due to conclude in March 2023.

Work on the shareholder role is in process. A specification for services is being developed along with a clear board structure and a set of agreed reserved 

matters. This is due to conclude in January and is planned to be reported to Cabinet in March 2023.

LATC establishment is within IP at PC.E1

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A2-6 SLT I6

The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics 

Centre so that it is operational to the planned times cale and that there is a 

clear business case which sets out how the centre will be managed to 

become commercially viable and provide financial returns to the e C 

council as part of the leisure LATC arrangements.

Work continues to progress the business case for the LATC which includes the detailed business planning for the Aquatic Centre. 

One of the issues being considered through the business case is in relation to the increased cost of utilities. Proposals are being formed to submit to the 

WMCA for consideration against the CG22 underspend of £70m that has been allocated to the region.

There will be a separate mobilisation plan in place to keep things on track from an operational point of view for the planned handover date of June 2023. A 

Project Board is in place to ensure progress and milestones are reported to the Cabinet Member. Safer Neighbourhoods and Active Communities Scrutiny 

Board is also providing oversight of the Aquatics Centre launch plans.

Milestone of Aquatic Centre handover to be 

added to Improvement Plan.

Add milestone of Aquatic Centre 

handover by July 2023. At PC.E1.6

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A3-7 PP I7

The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management 

strategy and asset management database to better manage its asset 

portfolio including asset disposals.

The Asset Management Strategy was approved at Cabinet in November 2022. Cabinet approval included a review of 140 surplus assets and any disposals will 

adhere to the new Land and Buildings protocol. Next steps are for a delivery plan to be put in place, which will be overseen by the Asset Management working 

group, chaired by the Director- Regeneration and Growth. First meeting scheduled early February 2023. 

A permanent appointment has been made to the AD position with responsibility for asset management and they are due to start in February 2023.

In relation to the Property Asset Management Database, Phase 1 of the Tech Forge project was completed in December 2022 with all data removed from 

Atrium. Phase 2 of the project will focus on the implementation of modules such as capital accounting, asbestos, fixed asset register etc. A Phase 2 kick off 

meeting is being held in January to identify workstreams, leads and timescales. Current completion date is 31 March 2023.

Already incorporated within Improvement 

Plan. Milestones to be updated in 

procurement and commercial section to 

cover phase 2 of asset database 

implementation and strategy implementation 
New actions added see PC.F1

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A4-8 SEND I8

The Council must ensure that the lessons learned from the SEND 

Transport procurement are shared across other council services so that 

this learning becomes embedded across the organisation.

SEND Transport Lessons Learnt Report is prepared and will be reported to Leadership Team by early February. It will be shared thereafter with Senior 

Managers and other council services to help embed the learning.

SEND lessons learnt is included within IP. 

Monitoring of the action plan to be included 

in IP

Action plan monitoring to be included 

(CO.B3.3)

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A7-9 waste I9

The Council must work with Serco to urgently finalise all associated plans 

and schedules which remain outstanding

All of the annual plans and scheduled have now been provided to the Council and Waste Partnership Board have accepted these. Complete
Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A7-10 waste I10

The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be changes to the waste 

and recycling or garden waste collection policies. 

In November, Cabinet agreed to introduce garden waste collection as a chargeable service. Waste Partnership Board inputted to the principles of the change 

ahead of Cabinet's decision and Serco has been proactively involved including inputting into the draft contract variation.

A working group across the Council and Serco is in place to consider any potential future changes to the waste service and this will continue.  

Not required. Quarterly reporting on Serco 

contract included within PMF and assurance 

provided through IP.

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A7-11 waste I11

The Council should resolve the delays in replacement timescales for the 

waste fleet and agree the financing of replacement costs and supplier lead 

in times with SERCO. Clarity should be sought over the use of previous 

capital payments

A fleet replacement plan is in place with SERCO which includes the agreement to proceed with 10 vehicles as priority for replacement in early 2023.

Clarity over the use of previous capital payments has been progressed through communications between the Serco accounting team, the Council's auditors, 

and the Council's finance team. 

We are working with Serco with external support to review the finance model which will include the fleet costs.

The fleet requirements are linked to the consideration of alternative collection models and will continue to be discussed with SERCO.

Fleet replacement is captured within 

Improvement and overall performance of 

contract and relationship with Serco is 

reflected in quarterly PMF monitoring (via 

Quarterly Contract report, and Corporate Plan 

PMF).

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A7-12 waste I12

The Council should take steps to demonstrate to Serco how the fleet 

maintenance service provides value for money.

The council will provide Serco with key performance information as required within the contract. The fleet replacement is captured within 

Improvement Plan and overall performance 

of contract and relationship with Serco is 

reflected in quarterly PMF monitoring (via 

Quarterly Contract report, and Corporate Plan 

PMF).

Not required

Ask for contract ref from Ben

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A7-13 ERP I13

The Council must ensure that all expected benefits are defined, and that 

governance arrangements, including assigning accountabilities, are in place 

to ensure benefits are realised.

Following best practice approach Sandwell is at the beginning of a phased programme. We are currently working through the 'Identify' stage where  high level 

benefits have been mapped against strategic benefits and overall vision. The stages to follow are: Define, Plan, Realise, Review and Continuous Improvement.

Sandwell's Strategic benefits have been identified and are arranged as 7 categories and 13 sub categories. Robust Governance arrangements are in place to 

monitor progress,  with Benefits reported to programme board.

 As the programme progresses benefit owners will be identified to ensure ongoing monitoring. This is especially important as many benefits will not be realised 

until after Go-Live date.  There will be a monitoring and maintenance approach as part of handing over from programme team.

Oracle milestones to be included in 

Improvement Plan including the milestones 

around benefits realistion

Oracle Milestones added including 

benefits realisation milestones. Ref 

CO.A1.8-10. 

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A10-14 ERP I14

The Council must ensure that the central transformation team is 

appropriately resourced and integrates all transformation and change 

activity being undertaken across the Council.

Please see response to Key Recommendation 2. -

-

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE A10-15 ERP I15

The Council must ensure that the ERP System implementation programme 

becomes aligned to other improvement and change initiatives being 

undertaken or planned by the Council, so that synergies and economies in 

delivery can be identified and duplication removed.

The Oracle Programme governance is structured with a Programme Board that reports into the Corporate Transformation Board - enabling synergies, 

efficiency and best practice to be shared across transformation activity.

Within the Oracle Programme, the mapping of strategic benefits has taken place and this has enabled Oracle to align with the council's direction of travel and 

the positive working relationship that the council wants to achieve with its partners. This has also enabled the Oracle project team to take an active role in 

areas of synergy. For example, the current review of business support activity is benefitting from collaboration with the Oracle Programme Board. The Oracle 

project team are also engaged with procurement transformation activities and are supporting the service with decisions around system options to help 

achieve the best outcomes. 

Transformation Programme and milestones 

and ERP Milestones to be updated

Ensure transformation programme has 

clear reference in IP

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B4-16

Officer and 

Member 

relationships

I16

The Council should consider creating a “golden thread” throughout the 

organisation, linking the Corporate Plan and other Plan ob jectives, 

through to the objectives set for each individual member of staff, as part 

of the Council’s annual performance appraisal process

See response to K1 -

-

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B4-17

Officer and 

Member 

relationships

I17

The Council’s Leadership Team must agree medium term financial 

objectives and principles to provide a framework for financial planning 

discussions and ensure that there is a whole organization view of the scale 

of the financial challenges facing the Council in the medium term and how 

these are going to be addressed.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy was agreed by Cabinet in November and this sets out medium term financial objectives and principles. A further review of 

the MTFS will be undertaken alongside the final budget report to Cabinet in February, as the current national political and economic climate makes financial 

planning extremely difficult.

To help ensure that there is a whole organisation view of the scale of financial challenges, regular comms activity is planned over forthcoming months which 

will include information around the financial challenges and plans in place to address them as part of Leadership Team's core messages. This will include 

Director live events and the Leadership Team Bulletin. Wider Management Team (direct reports to Directors) have also undertaken collaborative sessions 

which has included sharing business plans to further a shared understanding of priorities and challenges. The Team Talk comms (which is disseminated by 

managers to staff) includes a monthly update on finance and the January Team Talk included information around the budget gap, financial settlement, and 

MTFS.

The processes followed for agreeing the MTFS and budget, and the internal comms to support the process will be repeated in subsequent years so that they 

become business as usual. 

Milestone to be included around MTFS 

Cabinet report in February (ref SD.D1.5)

Inclusion of specific action in internal comms 

section of organisational culture theme 

around scale of financial challenges and how 

council is addressing them (ref OC.E2.6)

Add to Strategic Direction : Milestone 

MTFS approval in Feb 2023.

New action OC.E2.6

P
age 336



Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B4-18

Officer and 

Member 

relationships

I18 The Council should ensure that capacity is in place to resolve KPI data gaps.

Resources have been identified to increase capacity and form a Corporate Performance team. The Senior Lead Officer is due to start in February 2023 with 

further recruitment to the team to follow.

Immediate priorities for this team will be to take stock of the current PMF and put in place plans to address data gaps, refine the monitoring and reporting 

approach to ensure the performance insight is guiding decision making, and identify the next steps to embed a performance culture across the organisation.

Performance Management  section to include 

next set of milestones. (OC.C1.6)

Milestone of 'Corporate Performance 

Team in place'  added to PMF section at 

CO.C1.8

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B4-19

Officer and 

Member 

relationships

I19

The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member 

development and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review 

of member PDPs and take further steps to finalise arrangements on 

succession planning for members in SRA roles.

The MDP for this municipal year is due to be concluded by end March 2023.

PDPs have been reviewed and refreshed for all Members who have taken up the offer of a PDP. The analysis from the PDPs is informing the next iteration of 

the MDP which is due to be reported to Ethical Standards & Member Development Committee in March 2023.

Within the current MDP, clear pathways have been included for succession planning. The Ethical Standards & Member Development Committee have 

requested that individual succession plans be put in place (e.g. to support individual Members' aspirations to become a Committee Chair) and this will be 

included within the next iteration of the MDP.

The MDP remains under ongoing review as a live document. The working group of the Ethical Standards and Member Development Committee meets 

regularly to shape the programme and this will continue. Discussions that are taking place at an informal level with Group Leaders and Whips will also help 

identify any issues that need to be addressed through the MDP.

Following feedback from Members around the intensity of delivery of the MDP in recent months (which has been impacted by the engagement that has taken 

place around the Officer-Member relationship), the MDP for next Municipal Year will be structured to include: New member induction programme;  core, 

essential knowledge for all councillors; strands of learning and development relevant to specific committees and individual progression pathways.  This will 

enable Members to select from a suite of learning and development that best meets their aspirations. 

During next Municipal Year (2023-24), a comprehensive update to the MDP will take place, looking at is structure and composition to support the council's 

continuous improvement and building on the successes of the MDP this year. This will be implemented the following municipal year. 

MDP remains under ongoing review and 

update. Monitored via Directorate Business 

Plan. Milestone included in IP (OC.D5.0) 

around next iteration of MDP which will be 

reported to Ethical Standards and Member 

Development Committee in March and 

contains response to PDP analysis.

Addition of OC.D5.0

Milestone inclusion around March 

approval of next phase of MDP. Check with 

Surjit as we had discussed treating this as 

BAU

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B4-20

Officer and 

Member 

relationships

I20

It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools 

and data to support the service and financial plan ing process, in particular 

to help identify opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service 

improvements.

Elements of the budget planning process are including benchmarking for example the work on fees and charges, supported by LG Futures.

We subscribe to LG Futures benchmarking tool which has been used to inform budget conversations and transformation savings plans.

Comparisons with other LAs takes place looking at CT levels as part of budget planning process.

The intention is to make  benchmarking a more embedded approach to budget planning.  

Performance Management section to include 

financial benchmarking tools to support 

financial planning. (See new action CO.C2.6)

Inclusion of financial benchmarking 

within performance management 

section at CO.C2.6

Grant 

Thornton
KLOe B5-21

Standards 

Committee
I21

The Council must ensure that the new arrangements now in place are used 

effectively to monitor and take prompt action whenever inappropriate 

behaviour is identified.

Regular updates are provided to the Standards Committee on any conduct-related matters (e.g. updates on current cases and any behaviours / themes 

emerging from them). Our number of cases is very low and we benchmark with other LAs. We have gone from having the highest number of cases in the 

region, to the lowest.

The Standards Committee look at broader matters to ensure that they are adding value and helping the council to discharge its duty to maintain high 

standards of conduct amongst Members. The Committee consider matters including register of interests, gifts and hospitality, receiving regular updates on 

the work around standards in public life, and tracking national cases for learning and best practice.  Regular meetings are in place between the Chair of the 

Standards Committee and Officers to keep under review other relevant issues affecting Members e.g. DBS checks.

Continuation of support to Standards 

Committee is within Business as Usual. Metric 

around number of standards cases is being 

used by Commissioners as a proxy indicator. 

Metric to be utilised to aid insight into health 

of Officer-Member relationship and culture.

Mechanism for insight into health of 

Officer-Member relationship at OC.C4

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B6-22

Audit 

Committee
I22

A final decision on the  Cox reports needs to be made by the Leader before 

this matter can be considered formally closed.

Draft decision has been prepared and is due to conclude by end January. Action already included in IP

Not required

Update ahead of IPRM as matter likely 

concluded

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B7-23

Financial 

reporting
I23

The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements 

require significant improvement. We note that there are a number of 

legacy issues from prior years that are undermining the quality of the 

financial statements. We consider that this needs to be an area of p riority 

for the Council. Until these matters are resolved there will remain some 

uncertainty over the Council's financial position

 This is an immediate priority for the Council. We have experienced interim staff who are supporting getting the accounts over the line and resolving the legacy 

issues. 

New issues have been raised January 2023 in the 2020/21 accounts to do with valuations which are being worked on. 

Subject to the above, we are aiming for sign off by the end of March 2023.

Action already included in IP

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B7-24

Financial 

reporting
I24

The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset 

management system to timescale, ensure all key finance roles have 

permanent appointments, and prioritise the training and development of 

the Finance Team so that the role and behaviour changes planned become 

embedded.

Phase 1 of the Tech Forge (Asset management system) project was completed in December 2022 with all data being removed from Atrium and transferred 

either to the new system or a protected worksheet for cleansing. Phase 2 of the project will look at the development of modules such as capital accounting, 

asbestos, fixed asset register etc. A Phase 2 kick off meeting is being held in January to identify workstreams, leads and timescales. Current completion date is 

31 March 2023.

Permanent appointments have been made a number of key finance business partner roles with new staff joining in Spring 2023.

A recruitment partner is supporting us with the recruitment campaign to recruit 3 direct reports to AD. This commenced in Jan 2023 and follows an 

unsuccessful recruitment in late 2022. Interims are currently in place for these roles and will remain in place until the recruitment concludes. 

The finance team have already received training around budget planning and upskilling in technical areas including VAT and collection fund accounting. A 

survey of existing finance staff has taken place to gauge staff perception of their current skills and knowledge areas. This is helping to inform the training 

requirements.  External training will be commissioned and delivered within the next few months.

Budget holders have received initial training linked to the budget holder role profile. Further training is required and the current plans are for this second 

phase to be delivered externally initially, with finance staff involvement and delivery of regular scheduled training internally going forwards. 

Second phase of training will be delivered in early 2023.

Actions already included in IP

Milestones updated at PC.F1

P
age 337



Grant 

Thornton
KLOE B6-25

Engagement 

with residents 

and the 

community

I25

The Council needs to ensure that it continues to better engage with 

residents and that this engagement supports greater corporate focus on 

service quality and customer outcomes.

Over 2022-23, work has taken place to conduct a residents' survey and budget consultation. The findings have been used to drive the business planning and 

budget process for 2023-2026. Additional focus group work has taken place, focusing on key priority areas, for example customer service. In addition, further 

detailed analysis of the results has been carried out to provde detailed breakdowns by ty town level and an indepth  analysis of social isolation and loneliness. 

This insight is being used to inform our priorities and approaches in these areas (including informing a scrutiny review on social isolation and loneliness).

A framework for Resident Consultation and Engagement has recently been agreed and this will lead to a regular residents' survey and budget consultation, and 

provide a platform for ongoing consultation.

This work is currently in procurement phase.

A Corporate Consultation and Engagement Working Group is in place to oversee and drive this work forward. The group are also developing a set of Corporate 

Standards around consultation and engagement which is being informed by EDI considerations. This will provide a framework for all consultation and 

engagement activities across the Council. 

Milestones for next phase to be included in IP 

(SD.E2.6-7)

Milestones added at SD.E2.6-7 : 

Procurement of Consultant to deliver 

regular residents' survey, budget 

consultation and Citizens' Space, and 

Consultation and Engagement 

Framework produced

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE 8

Governance 

and legal 

support to DPH

Should the Council find itself in a similar scenario in the future, it would be 

prudent to obtain external legal advice on the specific circumstances 

under consideration, before any final decision on an indemnity is made.

In relation to this case, legal advice around the substantive legal point had been obtained previously in relation to a different matter. That legal advice 

remained valid and was relied upon. As a result of the issues arising in this particular matter, further legal advice was sought (after the decision had been 

taken) which reaffirmed the original advice which had been acted on.

In light of the level of attention that this matter generated, in future, should similar scenarios occur, consideration will be given to taking advice on the specific 

circumstances. The council will consider all options taking into account the learning from this particular case, the legal advice provided, and the avoidance of 

incurring unneccessary cost.

Lessons learnt round the substantive legal 

point understood across LT

Not required

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE 8

Governance 

and legal 

support to DPH

We consider that the Council should make the following changes to its 

management arrangements. The Council should: 

•Ensure that senior Council officers in public roles who use social media 

frothier public role are aware oftherisks of using social media and their 

responsibilities in relation to the Council’s social media policy. We 

recommend that these senior officers liaise with and seek advice from the 

Council’s communications team in relation to their social media activity.

•Engage the Council’s communications team in a review of the social 

media policy to consider if any updates are required, for example, to 

reflect the changed circumstances brought about by increased home 

working, and whether the social media policy should stipulate that social 

media accounts being used by officers clearly state that these accounts 

relate to their Council role.

•Ensure that where the Council identifies use of social media that could be 

contentious or considered by others as inappropriate, that this is reviewed 

by management and appropriate action is taken.

•The decision to attend media interviews should be made jointly by the 

Chief Executive, Senior Officers, and Communications Team

•When establishing and implementing high profile and / or significant 

project or initiatives, a better record of the decision-making and 

supporting information and evidence must be kept.

•Establish a clear policy for working with local MPs to ensure that they are 

appropriately informed.

•Ensure that all relevant COVID-19 communications from local MPs and 

DHSC should be promptly forwarded to the DPH should it be evident that 

the DPH has not received them directly.

•Review the Emergency Plan to ensure that changes following the demise 

of PHE are reflected.

HR and the Communication Team will work together to review and update social media policy and create guidance/protocol for working with MPs that reflects 

our committment to working effectively together and containing good practice.

Action to review social media policy and 

create MP protocol will need to be added to 

IP (Organisational Culture: Internal 

Communications)

Action to be added. See OC.E2.7

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE 8

Governance 

and legal 

support to DPH

•Ensure that decisions made to introduce new services, or materially 

changing existing services, are properly reflected in the minutes of the 

body responsible for making such decisions

•Any future lessons learned reviews undertaken by the Council should be 

undertaken in a collaborative and transparent way with the key 

stakeholders concerned.

For decisions made at Committee Meetings, all decisions are appropriately minuted and recorded. Minutes of decision-making bodies are signed-off by the 

decision-making body at its next meeting. For decisions made under delegated authority, new templates and guidance are in place including the requirement 

for decisions to be published. Quality Assurance checks are in place to ensure that the process is being followed and to review the quality of information 

recorded. During 2023-34 Municipal Year, a review of the adherence to process and the quality of recording for Delegated Decisions will take place.

Recent lessons learnt activity includes a lessons learnt review of SEND Transport and the commencement of a review of the Asset Management System 

Implementation. Work over 2023-24 includes a focus on creating a lessons learnt framework which will set out corporate guidance around conducting lessons 

learnt, and approaches for sharing and embedding the learning. The framework will include the principle around conducting lessons learnt in a collaborative 

and transparent way with the key stakeholders concerned. 

Lessons learnt framework to be included in IP 

as part of the work on the continuous 

improvement framework including the 

principles of conducting lessons learned 

reviews in a transparent way with the key 

stakeholders concerne

Lessons learnt framework added at  

CO.B3.2

Grant 

Thornton
KLOE 8

Governance 

and legal 

support to DPH

The Council should review its processes and decision making arrangements 

following a change in government guidance or policy to ensure that local 

updates are made in a timely manner

The council has appropriate processes in place to ensure that any change in government guidance and policy can be implemented; whether that relate to an 

Executive function or Council-side function. These arrangements have been refreshed as part of the Constitutional Review to make sure that they remain fit 

for purpose.

The importance that changes are implemented and communicated to people in a timely way is acknowledged. The changes already made to the way that 

Leadership Team and Cabinet Members are working together, and the broader meetings between Leadership Team and Members help to ensure that the risk 

of any future delays is mitigated. 

Not required. 

Governance Review Phase 2 focuses on 

embedding the recent constitutional changes
Not required

LGA

Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic Direction

Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic 

Direction

There needs to be a stocktake around the level of available resource, pace 

and capacity going forward

The need for rapid change remains a challenge for the Council but this is being managed through regular consideration of priorities and resources.

In relation to work within the Improvement Plan, resources are reviewed and considered at monthly Improvement Plan Review Meetings and the risk is 

monitored through the Improvement Plan risk register. Additional capacity has been brought in to manage capacity gaps in key areas of work. Many of the 

projects within the Improvement Plan focus on building longer term infrastructure and capacity - for example, the implementation of Verto as a programme 

and project management tool will embed our corporate approach to programme and project management and enable better reporting and oversight.  

Governance is being established around Corporate Transformation and the Customer Journey programmes which will enable those priorities to be clearly 

managed and ensure resources are in place for their delivery. The Council is also progressing the establishment of a Corproate PMO aligned to the Corporate 

Transformation Team. 

Work around prioritisation has been taking place with a Wider Leadership Team away day held in December to share developing business plans and 

Directorate-level priorities. This has been further discussed at Leadership Team in January. Forthcoming business plans for 2023-2025 set out these 

Directorate priorities which will inform service level and team plans. 

Resources, pace and capacity will continue to be regularly considered by Leadership Team.

Processes in place within Improvement Plan 

Review Meeting to review resources, pace 

and capacity on a monthly basis and this will 

continue. 

Not required

LGA
Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic Direction

Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic 

Direction

Re PMF - the [golden] thread can be articulated at Director, Assistant 

Director and Service Manager level but not yet below that.

See response to K1 See K1

See K1

P
age 338



LGA
Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic Direction

Corporate 

Oversight / 

Strategic 

Direction

Establishing a clear shared understanding of the extent of the budget gap 

will be important and ensuring a corporate and cross-cutting

approach to addressing the financial challenge in focusing effort and 

attention and identifying and implementing a whole-council approach to 

solutions.

See response to I17 and below.

The transformational savings within the current MTFP are cross-directorate projects. Resolving the budget gap for 2023-24 was a collaborative approach 

across Leadership Team and has included the use of savings targets alongside the identified transformational savings. Working towards a whole-council 

approach will take time and we will continue to focus on cross-directorate transformational savings. Challenges to adopting this approach relate to the short-

term settlements.

Included within internal comms approach and 

transformational savings programme. Update 

to milestones. 
As at response to I17

LGA
Governance / 

Decision Making

Governance / 

Decision 

Making

There is an emerging risk around the organisational responsiveness to the 

customer and to casework issues brought forward by Elected Members. 

This needs to be avoided through on-going and intensive focus on the 

‘Ward and Casework Management’ element of the Improvement Plan and 

the work around the ‘customer journey’ that is being embarked upon

The risk around the organisational responsiveness to the customer and to casework issues brought forward by Elected Members is acknowledged. 

Changes brought about through the customer journey programme will bring overall improvements to the management of, and response to casework issues. 

Members are actively involved in shaping this work through, for example, scrutiny's focus on the Customer Journey Programme, and Cabinet priority focus 

sessions taking place around the Customer Experience Strategy.

A focus on the specific issues surrounding casework brought forward by Elected Members will be taken with plans being developed for a series of engagement 

activities with Members, which will lead to workable solutions being identified for the short and medium term. 

Included as an action within the Customer 

Journey Programme to ensure continued 

oversight of progress around ward and 

casework management specific issues. See 

CO.F5.4 

New actions included at CO.F5.4 and 

CO.F5.5 

LGA
Governance / 

Decision Making

Governance / 

Decision 

Making

The council is committed to reviewing the elected member development 

programme at regular intervals going forward. It will be important to 

ensure that the pace of delivery is made to feel sustainable, with some 

councillors the peer team spoke to reflecting an intensity to it in recent 

months that risks being too demanding in terms of their time

(See response to GT I19 above) See I19

See I19

LGA

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

The customer journey, Equalities Diversity and Inclusion, and 

organisational culture are major pieces of inter-related work that are 

fundamental to future success. They require a clear plan and sense of 

deliverability

The Customer Journey Programme is being managed within the transformation programme and has a programme board established with Terms of Reference. 

Work is currently underway to scope the individual workstreams and this will include shorter-term changes and considerations, along with the longer term 

aspiration. The workstreams are Customer Experience Strategy, Community Hubs and One Stop Shop, Telephony (including Contact Centres), and Technology.  

This approach will provide a clear plan for each component of the Customer Journey work.

The EDI and Organisational Culture Work are being managed outside of the transformation programme, but links between the areas of work will continue to 

be fostered. The Organisational Working Group includes key staff involved in progressing the EDI and Transformation agendas.  The workforce strategy, and 

"One Team Framework" which are key deliverables within the organisational culture work, are being developed to align with Customer Journey and EDI 

aspirations. 

The EDI Strategy clearly identifies the timeline to complete the work for the EDI strategy covering 18 months. The LGA are providing advice to benchmark the 

use of EDI consultants, and work has commenced to learn from other authorities. We are working to have the consultant in place by the end of February and 

work with them to analyse, design and implement the new EDI strategy.  

Update to milestones for Customer Journey, 

EDI, and Organisational Culture

Update milestones in customer journey 

(CO.F), EDI (SD.B) and organisational 

culture (OC.A)

LGA

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

At a more basic level, there needs to be a quickly established shared 

understanding regarding what the council’s service standards and 

timescales for responding are currently and/or will be going forward

Within the Customer Journey Programme, the workstream focusing on Customer Experience Strategy will involve mapping end to end customer processes. 

This will then lead to a service definition, service standard , an SLA and identification of a feedback loop (to drive continuous improvement).

Timescales will be identified as part of the workstream development.

Included within Customer Journey 

Programme. Update will be needed once 

workstream plan in place

New actions will be added once 

workstream plan in place

LGA

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

Cust Journey/ 

Organisational 

Culture

It is important now to cement the commitment that has been given [re 

customer journey]  and capitalise upon the enthusiasm that has been 

generated, by establishing clear leadership of the agenda

The Director of Regeneration and Growth is in place as the Senior Responsible Officer for the Customer Journey, following the departure of the Director of 

Business Strategy and Change. The Programme delivery is being supported by the Corporate Transformation Office. 

Workstream leads are in place and resources for each workstream are currently being identified.  

Update to milestones for Customer Journey 

Programme

Update milestones and SRO Confirm Programme Manager Position

LGA
Organisational 

Culture

Organisational 

Culture

Activity is already underway in relation to [organisational culture] ..... 

However, things feel very much at the outset in relation to this key strand 

of work and clarity is still required in key respects. This includes what the 

‘organisational culture’ change agenda in Sandwell will cover; how it links 

to the work on the ‘customer journey’ – given the inter-related nature of 

these two key strands of work; and the connection with the whole 

organisation transformation plan .... Driving forward the ‘One Council, One 

Team’ philosophy would logically form a key component of it that the 

council has indicated it intends to develop. Another strand might usefully 

relate to the ‘return to the office’ arrangements post-pandemic which 

require further focus and clarification of expectations. Whether workforce 

planning constitutes part of the organisational culture change programme 

also needs to be clarified.

The immediate activity within the organisational culture work programme includes the approval of the 'One Team Framework', which contains the values and 

behaviours that have resulted from a series of detailed engagement with the workforce, and a Workforce Strategy which will set out the key workforce issues 

for the council and the priorities and approach to be taken to strengthen the workforce and embed a positive culture. The strategy approval will lead to a 

medium-term delivery programme.

In relation to the 'return to the office' arrangements, this is built into the workforce strategy which will include a priority around our operating practices, 

including hybrid working. Conversations are underway around the hybrid working model.  

The organisational culture agenda has a strong inter-relationship with the  customer journey and EDI work and the council's current approach is set out in the 

response to other improvement points above.

Update to milestones for Organisational 

Culture to include roll out of One Team 

Framework

New action OC.A2.3

Need to check OC.A2.3 with VL and DS

LGA
Organisational 

Culture

Organisational 

Culture

The original corporate peer challenge report outlined the need for role 

titles and functions to better describe ‘what they say on the tin’ and a 

requirement for consistency in terminology and managerial spans of 

control and levels of responsibility. There remains a lack of clarity around 

this. 

There is an issue of succession planning to be addressed, linked to the age 

profile of the workforce

A project has been identified within the Corporate Transformation Programme to focus on the Target Operating Model for the Council. This will include 

consideration of managerial spans of control and levels of responsibility. Priority is currently being placed around delivery of the Customer Journey 

programme, and work on the TOM project will commence once resources are available. The initial work will be to determine the objectives and scope of the 

project.

The issue of succession planning is included within the workforce strategy which is due to be approved in May 2023 and is anticipated to be a 3 year delivery 

programme. The programme will include the creation of a talent framework and more career pathways, however the immediate workforce issues for the 

council are around recruitment and retention which will be the priority over 2023.

Already captured in 'spans and layers' project 

within Corporate Transformation Programme

 

P
age 339



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Improvement Plan Risk Register   
    

January 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1. Best start in 
life for children 

and young 
people 

     
2. People live 
well and age 

well 

3. Strong resilient 
communities 

4. Quality homes in 
thriving 

neighbourhoods 

5. A strong and 
inclusive 
economy 

6. A connected 
and accessible 

Sandwell 

      

Page 341



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

IP1 Improvement Plan objectives 
and member / officer 
engagement in those 
objectives 

If programme objectives are not 
clearly defined to ensure they 
are within scope, deliverable, 
understood and agreed then the 
programme will proceed with no 
clear direction and may become 
unmanageable and/or scope 
creep may take place. 

6 

(Green) 

6 

(Green) 

3   
(Green)  

 
 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Engagement as part of the development of the 
Improvement Plan - sharing themes and 
workstreams with staff and members 

• Communications Plan implemented for 
governance review, CPC and Statutory Notice 

• Communications Approach set out in Draft 
Improvement Plan 

• Objectives for each Theme within the 
Improvement Plan identified 

• Set of key messages for stakeholders in place 
and issued to all Directors 

• Council approval of Improvement Plan 

• All Member briefing held (incl. newly elected 
Members) 

• Regular informal reporting to Cabinet in place on 
IP progress 

• Regular Staff communications on progress of 
Improvement Plan 

• Reporting approach to ARAC and B&CSM 
agreed, with quarterly report in September 22 

• Change control approach agreed to ensure 
updates to plan are appropriate and in line with 
agreed objectives 

 

Further Actions 

• Communications Plan delivered 

• Staff and member engagement through 
Organisational Culture change programme 

 

 P
age 342



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

IP2 Programme management 
arrangements 

If appropriate programme 
management arrangements are 
not put in place then there is a 
risk that: 

• The project will not be 
delivered to scope 

• The required 
improvements will not 
be made within the 
necessary timescales 

• The government may 
lose confidence in the 
council's ability to 
improve and 
intervention may be 
extended 

• The borough's residents 
may lose confidence in 
the council ability to 
deliver effective 
services 

• Inefficient use of limited 
resources 

• Continued reputational 
damage 

8  
(Amber)  

 

8 

(Amber) 

4   
(green)  

 

 
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Improvement Plan approved by Council 07/06/22 

• PMO support being provided by existing 
experienced resources within Service 
Improvement 

• Processes around progress monitoring and 
change control established for Governance 
Improvement Plan 

• Risk register in place and will be reported to 
Leadership Team monthly and Cabinet quarterly 

• Establishment of PMO Teams Site for collation of 
programme documents and evidence 

• Exception reporting format confirmed via highlight 
report standard template 

• Terms of Reference for internal Improvement Plan 
Review Meeting updated to reflect government 
intervention, single Improvement Plan and 
assurance framework 

 

Further Actions 

• Establishment of dedicated Programme 
Management Office - dependent upon 
appointment of dedicated Corporate Performance 
Management posts 

 

IP3 Allocation of sufficient 
resources to project 
management and project 
delivery/ maintaining 
Business as Usual while 
delivering the Improvement 
plan 

If sufficient resources (capacity 
and capability) and where 

8 

(Amber) 

8 

(Amber) 

4   
(green)  

 

 
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• PMO support being provided by existing 
experienced resources within Service 
Improvement 

• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 
actions within the Improvement Plan have been 
identified 

 

P
age 343



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

necessary additional resources 
are not allocated to the 
management and delivery of the 
improvement plan then this may 
result in officer fatigue, loss of 
motivation and the programme 
will fail to deliver all of its 
objectives. 

• Council on 07/06/22 approved Use of 
Improvement & Capacity Reserve and 2021/22 
underspend allocated to Improvement Plan 
actions 

• Resource issues and risks associated with the 
Improvement Plan to reviewed monthly by 
Leadership Team and Register maintained 

• Appointment of interim corporate transformation 
capacity to establish programme and project 
management governance arrangements, as well 
as moving forward key transformational activity 

• Appointment of additional capacity to support 
delivery and implementation of key projects taken 
place in Asset Management, Finance, Service 
Improvement and Legal Services 

 

Further Actions 

• Establishment of dedicated Programme 
Management Office - dependent upon 
appointment of dedicated Corporate Performance 
Management posts. 

• LT work on prioritisation to conclude to ensure 
that the improvement priorities are clear and 
resources are available to manage risk of officer 
fatigue and loss of motivation. 

P
age 344



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

IP4 Project and risk governance 
assurance arrangements 

If a robust assurance framework 
is not put in place to in respect 
of project assurance, including 
detailing roles and 
responsibilities of various 
stakeholders (eg Cabinet, 
Scrutiny, ARAC, partners, IB, 
etc) then the council may be 
unable to effectively monitor 
and evidence the improvement 
required. 

 

6 

Green 

6 

Green 

3  
(green)  

 

 
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Terms of Reference for Improvement Plan Review 
Meeting in place 

• Governance approach included within Council 
report 07/06/22  

• Risk identification has taken place  

• Agreement for Grant Thornton, LGA and CIPFA to 
review progress regularly 

• Improvement Plan Risk Register in place 

• Terms of Reference for internal Improvement Plan 
Review Meeting updated to reflect government 
intervention, single Improvement Plan and 
assurance framework including role of Scrutiny 
and Audit Committees. 

• Roles of Cabinet, Scrutiny and Audit agreed with 
Chairs 

• Quarterly reports to Cabinet, Audit and Scrutiny 
presented in September 2022 and 
November/December 2022.  

• Scrutiny consideration of culture theme progress 
in Dec 22  

• Review visits from GT, LGA and CIPFA held 
Autumn 2022. Reports received from GT and LGA 
and presented to Cabinet. Review report from 
CIPFA received Jan 23 and presented to ARAC. 
Due to be presented to Cabinet and Scrutiny in 
March. 

 

Further Actions 

• Quarterly Reports to Scrutiny, Audit and Cabinet 
(next reports in March 2023) 

• CIPFA review report received  

• Scrutiny regular review on Culture Theme 
progress  

 P
age 345



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

• Update to Improvement Plan to reflect findings 
from GT, LGA, and CIPA follow-up reviews 

• Consideration of external review reports by 
Scrutiny and Audit 

• Agreement for ongoing external assurance activity 

 

IP5 Communication Strategy 

If a robust communications 
strategy is not put in place 
detailing how, when and what 
information is shared with the 
various internal and external 
stakeholders, then not everyone 
will be aware of their respective 
roles and responsibilities for 
delivering the improvement plan 
and effective service delivery. In 
addition, the DLUHC may lose 
confidence in the council's 
ability to improve resulting in 
extended/ additional 
intervention. 

8  

(Amber)  
8 

(Amber) 

4  

(green)   
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Communications Approach set out in 
Improvement Plan approved by Council 
07/06/22 

• Key messages document for stakeholders in 
place 

• Regular PMO/Communications meetings to 
ensure key messages are embedded within 
internal and external communications 

• Regular comms with stakeholders taking 
place as per comms plan including 
incorporation in all staff briefings 

 

Further Actions 

• Communication with stakeholders to share 
details of Improvement Plan 

• Recruitment to vacancy within comms 
structure 

• Communication with stakeholders to share 
details of transition between KBD and SL. 

 

 

P
age 346



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

IP6 Investment and Financial 
Resources 

If sufficient/ additional financial 
resources are not made 
available, and the IP is 
expected to be delivered from 
existing budgets then the IP 
may not be delivered within the 
necessary timescales or to 
scope. 

8 

(Amber)  

8 

(Amber) 

8  

(Amber)   
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 
actions within the Improvement Plan identified 

• Council on 07/06/22 approved use of 
Improvement & Capacity Reserve and 2021/22 
underspend allocated to Improvement Plan 
actions  

• Resource issues and risks associated with the 
Improvement Plan reviewed monthly by 
Leadership Team  

• Appointment of interim corporate transformation 
capacity to establish programme and project 
management governance arrangements, as well 
as moving forward key transformational activity 

• Regular monitoring of improvement plan is in 
place and key milestones are being delivered 

• Appointment of additional capacity to support 
delivery and implementation of key projects taken 
place in Asset Management, Finance, Service 
Improvement and Legal Services 

Further Actions 

• Review resource allocation to deliver the 
Improvement Plan and determine if there are any 
gaps 

• Identify additional resources or reprioritise activity 
following identification of resource gaps 

 

IP7 Organisational Culture 

If the organisational culture 
does not change including 
improvement of member and 
officer relationships and political 
relationships, then this will 
impact the delivery of the IP 
objectives and the timescales 
within which delivery is 
achieved and may result in 

8  

(Amber)  
8 

(Amber) 

4  

(green)   
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Specific theme in place within Improvement 
Plan 

• Corporate Governance Theme timescales 
revised to allow for additional engagement 
activity around Corporate Governance 
changes  

 

P
age 347



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

extended government 
intervention. 

• Regular meetings in place between senior 
members and officers to develop positive 
working relationships and information sharing 

• LGA training on officer/member relationships 
delivered in September 2022. 

• External consultant engaged to support 
development of desired values and 
behaviours, providing independent facilitation  

• Employee Engagement Survey results 
disseminated and discussed at DMTs and 
team meetings - action plans developed and 
monitored at LT. 

• External Reviews providing assurance that 
organisational culture change has started to 
change 

 

Further Actions 

• Actions agreed for organisational culture 
theme following outcome of staff listening 
groups 

IP8 Impact of Covid 19 on the 
Project Resources 

If there is a continued impact of 
Covid 19 on resource 
availability, then this will impact 
the programme delivery plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6  

(Green)  
6 

(Green) 

3  

(green)   
Current and Ongoing Controls  

• PMO resourcing in place from within Service 
Improvement 

• Resource gaps / pressures associated with 
actions within the Improvement Plan are 
being identified 

• Regular monitoring of improvement plan is in 
place and key milestones are being delivered 

 

Further Actions 

• Single dependencies to be identified within 
resourcing plan 

 

P
age 348



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

 

 

IP9 Constitutional Changes 
Closure and new risk IP13 
created 

If key governance documents 
and procedures (such as the 
Financial Regulations, Land and 
Asset Disposal Policy, 
Procurement and Contract 
Procedure Rules, Scheme of 
Delegation, Code of Corporate 
Governance, etc) are not 
reviewed and updated to reflect 
the changes required then 
foundations for change will not 
be in place and progress will be 
limited.  

 

9  

(Amber)  

3  

(green)  

3  

(green)  
 Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Key corporate Governance Documents are 
being reviewed and are scheduled for 
approval in July 2022 and Autumn 2022 

• Engagement with Constitutional Working 
Group established as part of changes to 
governance arrangements 

• Alignment of workstream with organisational 
culture theme through Officer participation 

• Land and Asset Disposal Policy, Procurement 
& Contract Procedure Rules and Key 
Decision Thresholds approved by Council in 
July 2022 

 

Further Actions 

• Continued engagement with Members around 
proposed changes 

• Risk description to be reviewed to cover the 
successful implementation of changes and re-
scored. 

 

IP10 Performance Management 
Framework (PMF) and Data 
Quality 

If a robust PMF is not put in 
place and appropriate quality 
data captured then the council 
will be unable to effectively 

12  

(Red)  
8 

(Amber) 

8  

(amber)  
 Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Performance Management Framework approved 
in April 2022 

• Evidence of success outlined within each of the 
Improvement Plan themes focusing on outcomes 
for each theme 

 

P
age 349



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

monitor and evidence 
improvement, delivery of the 
Improvement Plan and delivery 
of the Corporate Plan resulting 
in a failure to achieve the 
Council's objectives. 

• Improvement Plan Monitoring approach approved 
by Council and regular monitoring in place 

• Resources approved by Council to address 
staffing resources required to sustain PMF 

• 2022/23 Quarterly Corporate Performance Report 
presented to Cabinet and Scrutiny (Q1 Sept/Oct 
22, Q2 Dec 22/Jan 23)  

• Residents Survey and Budget Consultation 
exercise conducted in Summer 2022 to feed into 
PMF and 2023/24 service and financial planning 

• Process in place for monthly and quarterly 
monitoring at corporate level 

• Corporate approach to consultation and 
engagement with residents, including regular 
residents survey agreed by Leadership Team. 

• Assurance from LGA CPC Follow up Review 
around development of PMF 

Further Actions 

• Evidence framework to be produced to support IP 

• Recruitment to dedicated Corporate Performance 
Management posts 

• Development of customer experience metrics as 
part of Customer Journey Transformation 
Programme 

• Performance Management System options 
appraisal and procurement to provide capability 
for performance management 

IP11 Continued focus and 
resources allocated to 
historic issues 

If the council does not focus on 
the Improvement plan and 
corporate plan priorities and 
continues to focus and allocate 
resources on historic issues, 

8  

(Amber)  
4 

(Green) 

4  

(green)  
 Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Improvement Plan contains activity to be 
concluded, and lessons learnt embedding from 
historic issues 

• Cabinet and Leadership Team approach to 
historic issues 

 

P
age 350



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

then this will impact the timely 
delivery of both the 
Improvement Plan and 
Corporate Plan. 

• Regular monitoring of improvement plan is in 
place 

• Progress on GT recommendations specifically 
related to the proper functioning of Scrutiny and 
Audit Committees. 

• Grant Thornton follow up review of progress 
against historical issues 

 

Further Actions 

• Lessons learnt framework to be introduced as part 
of continuous improvement plan. Lessons learnt 
to be collated relating to historic issues and 
shared across organisation 

• Leader to confirm executive's position in relation 
to a further review in relation to Wragge/Cox 

IP12 Risk approach and progress 
monitoring (optimism bias):    

If the approach taken to risk 
scoring and/or progress 
monitoring against the delivery 
plans is unrealistic (e.g. being 
overly optimistic around 
progress and timescales or 
likelihood and severity of a risk) 
then there will be a failure to 
appropriately manage the 
programme and a loss of 
confidence in its delivery. 

9  

(Amber)  
6 

(Green) 

6  

(Green)  
 Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Corporate risk scoring definitions applied 

• Definition in place for progress monitoring 
Red/Amber/Green progress monitoring for 
Improvement Plan 

• Roles of Scrutiny and Audit confirmed 

• Reports to Scrutiny and Audit Committees 
presented in September 2022 

• PMO reviewed use of RAG ratings for consistency 
and to ensure that progress monitoring is 
presenting a realistic view and reflecting risk 
associated with actions as well as progress 
against plans (September 2022). 

• GT, LGA, and CIPFA follow up reviews provide 
assurance  

 

Further Actions 

• External Reviews to provide assurance 
 

 

P
age 351



 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
Risk 

Score 

(Oct 22) 

Current 
Risk 

Score 

(Jan 23) 

Target 
Risk 

Score   

 

Direction 

of 

Travel 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and  

further actions to be taken to manage risk) 

Key 
Sources of 
Assurance 

IP13 New risk added  

Constitutional Changes  

If key governance changes 
(agreed during 2022) are not 
embedded throughout the 
organisation and put into 
practice, then opportunities 
will be missed, progress will 
be limited, and there may be 
non-compliance with council 
processes. 

 

New 
Risk 

9 

(Red) 

6 
(Green) 

 Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Alignment of workstream with organisational 
culture theme through Officer participation 

• Revised set of guidance and templates in place to 
support the changes made around key decisions 

• First round of training delivered to budget holders 
and procurement card holders in relation to spend 
thresholds and procurements processes. 

• New Scrutiny Handbook launched 

• New EIA guidance issued for decision-making 

• Sub-delegation schemes developed with Directors 

 

Further Actions 

• Governance Review Phase 2 to be scoped and 
workstream plans created to embed the 
constitutional changes (Corporate Governance 
Development Programme) 

• Implement Phase 2 of Mod.Gov  

• Refresh the Member Development Plan 

• Develop a programme of learning for Officers 
around effective-decision making 

• Review decision-making arrangements (e.g. 
Forward Plan, report sign-off etc.) 

 

 

 

P
age 352



Jan-23  Change Control

Change 
Number

Change date 
from

Change date 
to

147
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.C1.8
New sub action: Corporate performace team 
in place

Director - Children & 
Education

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new sub action added

148
Organisational 
Culture

OC.D2.2 Effective decision-making training
Director-Law & 
Governance

12/02/2022
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Dec-22 May-23

2 sessions held 22/11 focusing on code of 
corporate governance. Training around 
constitutional changes approved in November will 
be scoped and arranged as part of continuous 
improvement and delivered as part of Member 
Development Programme.  Impact of training to 
date is evidenced by feedback on how Council 
meetings and Committee meetings are running 
and their improvement in effectiveness.

149 Decision Making DM.A1.0 Implement 4-yearly election cycle
Director-Law & 
Governance

12/02/2022 Closure of Main Action Closure of main action

150
Organisational 
Culture

OC.A1.2
Phase 2  Engagement: Determining 
Desired Culture 

Director-Business 
Strategy & Change

19/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Dec-22 Mar-23
Workforce Strategy approved – this will be subject 
to Change Control as sign off Cabinet will be May 
2023

151
Organisational 
Culture

OC.A1.3
Approval of document setting out the 
desired organisational culture 

Director-Business 
Strategy & Change

19/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Jan-23 Mar-23

Approval of document setting out the desired 
organisational culture  - This will be subject to 
Change control to reflect the Cabinet sign off date 
15 March 2023

152
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B2.1
Council approval of Improvement Plan 
Phase 2

Leadership team 19/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Mar-23 Jun-23
Date change to June. An update on current IP will 
go to Cabinet in March 2023 with responses to 
external reviews.

153
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.D3.3
Review of corporate debt recovery processes 
completed

Director-Finance 19/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Dec-22 Mar-23 Timescale change

154 Decision Making DM.B1.1 Effective Decision Making Training
Director-Law & 
Governance

19/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Dec-23
end of 

municipal 
year

end of municipal year

155
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.C2.3 Implementation 
Director-
Regenration & 
Growth

Change to action description
change title to : Implementation of Phase 2 Asset 
Management System

156
Organisational 
Culture

OC.A2.1 Workforce Strategy approved
Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

May-23
Scope and drafting has commenced. Many priority 
workstreams are already in progress. Working towards 
Cabinet sign off in May.

157
Organisational 
Culture

OC.C4.0 New action: Assurance Activity to sustain positive Officer and Member Relationship
Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Add- New Main Action new main action

158
Organisational 
Culture

OC.C4.1 Identify mechanisms for ongoing insight and assurance around the Officer and Member Relationship
Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new action

159
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B2.1 Council approval of Improvement Plan 
Phase 2

Leadership team 25/01/2023 Change to action description
Wording change to 'approval of Improvement Plan 
Phase 2' to reflect that Council approval unlikely to be 
required

160
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B3.1 Develop a Continuous Improvement Plan
Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Mar-23 Jun-23 Date change to June to time with IP Phase 3.

161
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.C1.4
Review Corporate KPIs for organisational 
health to reflect workforce strategy

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Apr-23 Jun-23 Aligned to  Workforce Strategy actions

To be completed by action owner

If date change is required 

Theme
 Change/ Impact of change (incl. any 
dependencies)/ Reason for change

Type of Change
Date 

Raised
OwnerAction Title

Action 
reference

P
age 353



162
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.F5.2  Workstream Plans agreed ( meline, cost and resource) for 5 workstreams (fix the backlog, fix the OSS, customer experience strategy, contact centre/community hubs approach, technology)
Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

tbc Feb-23 add Feb as delivery date

163
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.F5.3 Programme Board in place and regular mee ngs scheduled
Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Nov-23 Feb-23

Board members to be confirmed, future board 
dates to be scheduled (commencing Feb 2023) 
and circulated. PM to be confirmed prior to Feb 
board

164 Decision Making DM.C1.0 Refresh decision making-arrangements including the role of Scrutiny
Director- Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Closure of Main Action All sub actions complete

165 Decision Making DM.C.2.0 Implementation of Scrutiny Recommendations relating to key issues
Director- Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Closure of Main Action All sub actions complete

166
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.C2.3 Implementation (Implementation of Phase 2)
Director –
Regeneration &
Growth

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Mar-23 May-23 change of dates

167
Amend Director- Business strategy and 
Change - change of lead for all actions

Director-Business 
Strategy & Change

25/01/2023 Change of Delivery Lead(s) Change of lead required

168
Organisational 
Culture

OC.A2.2 Other actions as a result of engagement 
phases 

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

remove

169
Organisational 
Culture

OC.A2.3 New action: Roll out of One Team 
framework

Chief Exec 25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new sub action added

170
Organisational 
Culture

OC. B1.0
(close/Move) Design and deliver 
Corporate Governance Training for 
Officers

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.G1.0- New main action: Governance review 
Phase 2

171
Organisational 
Culture

OC.B1.2 Revision of Corporate Induction
Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.B3.1 -New action: Revision of Corporate Induction

172
Organisational 
Culture

OC.B1.3 (close/move) Effective decision-making 
training

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.G1.2- New sub action: Effective decision-
making training

173
Organisational 
Culture

OC.B1.5 (close/ move)Delivery of Corporate 
Governance Training

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.G1.3-New sub action: Delivery of Corporate 
Governance Development Programme

174
Organisational 
Culture

OC.B1.6 (close/move) Annual Refresher of 
Corporate Governance Training

Director – 
Business Strategy 
and Change 

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.G1.4-New sub action: Annual Refresher of 
Corporate Governance Training

175
Organisational 
Culture

OC.B1.7 Delivery of Directorships and Trusteeships 
Training

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

OC.G1.5-New action: Delivery of Directorships 
and Trusteeships Training

176
Organisational 
Culture

OC. B3.0 Officer Learning and Development
Director-Business 
Strategy & Change

25/01/2023 Add- New Main Action new main action added OC.B3.0

177
Organisational 
Culture

OC.C1.0
Continue regular weekly meetings 
between Cabinet Members and 
Leadership Team 

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Closure of Main Action
All sub actions complete within main action. 
Assurance activity will be identified and monitored 
within the IP monitoring tool

178
Organisational 
Culture

OC.C3.0

Engage LGA to support Officers and 
Members to develop the relationship 
going forward including continuation of 
LGA Cabinet Member mentoring 
programme 

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Closure of Main Action LGA mentoring programme is now ongoing

179
Organisational 
Culture

OC.D2.2 Effective decision-making training
Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

closure of OC.D2.2 as OC.G1.2- New sub 
action:Effective decision-making training has been 
added

180
Organisational 
Culture

OC.D5.0 Main action: Member development 
programme

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Add- New Main Action new action added

181
Organisational 
Culture

OC.D5.1
New sub action: Approval of next iteration 
of MDP that includes actions as a result of 
Member PDP analysis

Director - Law & 
Governance

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new action added

P
age 354



182
Organisational 
Culture

OC.E2.6
New sub action : Regular comms activity 
around the scale of financial activities and 
how the organisation is addressing them.

Director – Business 
Strategy and Change 
(Chief Executive)

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new action added

183
Organisational 
Culture

OC.E2.7
New sub action: Review social media 
policy and create guidance/ protocol for 
working with MPs

Director – Business 
Strategy and Change 
(Chief Executive)

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new action added

184
Organisational 
Culture

OC.E2.8 New sub action: regular comms activity 
around the golden thread

Director – Business 
Strategy and Change 
(Chief Executive)

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new action added

185
Organisational 
Culture

OC.F2.0 Recruitment of Chief Executive Commissioner 25/01/2023 Closure of Main Action closure of main action

186
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.E1.0
Programme and Project Management 
(change title to 'Corporate Transformation 
Programme')

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Director- 
Finance)

26/01/2023 Change to action description Change main action 'Corporate Transformation programme'

187
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B3.0 Continuous Improvement Plan

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Chief 
executive)

25/01/2023 Change to action description remove plan form title

188
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B3.1 Develop a Continuous Improvement Plan framework

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Chief 
executive)

25/01/2023 Change to action description change plan to framework

189
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.B3.2 Develop a lessons learnt framework Chief executive 25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

190
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.C1.6 New sub action: Review PMF and put in 
place plans to address data gaps

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Chief 
executive)

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

191
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.C1.7 Q4 SCT Contract Report to include 
overview of ITS activity.

Director - Children & 
Education

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

192
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.C2.6 New sub action: Embed financial 
benchmarking in budget planning

Director- Finance 25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

193
Strategic 
Decision

SD.D1.5 New sub action: Approval of updated 
MDFS

Director- Finance 25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

194
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.E1.0 Programme and Project Management 
(change title)

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Director- 
Finance)

25/01/2023 Change to action description
Change main action 'Corporate Transformation 
programme'

195
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.E1.4 Programme and Project Management 
System Implementation

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Director- 
Finance)

25/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Feb-23 Mar-23 change date for implementation

196
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.E1.5

New sub action: Corporate 
Transformation Board operational
-ToR finalised
-Membership confirmed
-Board dates in place

Director-
Business Strategy & 
Change (Director- 
Finance)

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

197
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.0 New main action: Strategic Planning 
framework

25/01/2023 Add- New Main Action add new main action

198
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.1 New sub action: Refresh of partnership 
wide vision 2030

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

P
age 355



199
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.2 New sub action: Finalise directorate 
business plans 2023-2026

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

200
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.3 New sub action: Refresh appraisal 
process

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

201
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.4 New sub action: Pilot an approach to 
service planning

25/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

202
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.F5.4
New sub action: Ward and Casework 
Management - Member Engagement held

Director-
Regeneration and 
Growth

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

203
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.F5.5
New sub action: Ward and Casework 
Management - Action plan in place

Director-
Regeneration and 
Growth

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions add new action

204
Strategic 
Decision

SD.A5.1 Commercial Strategy Approved Director- Finance 26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Jan-23 Mar-23
Strategy approved by LT but still awaiting Cabinet 
approval - planned for March. 

205
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.1
(close/move) Continue to embed Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) staff networks

Director- Law &
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 SD.B1.12"New sub action- Refresh staff network-
-Package of Corporate commitment
-Identify network chairs
-Established United Networks meeting"

206
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.2 (close/move) Establish Women’s network and Faith & Belief staff network
Director- Law &
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 SD.B1.12"New sub action- Refresh staff network-
-Package of Corporate commitment
-Identify network chairs
-Established United Networks meeting"

207
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.3 (close/move) Continue to deliver on Equalities Commission Board priorities
Director- Law &
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 SD.B1.13"New sub action-Refresh Equalities 
Commission Board Rename to  EDI commission
Renew  EDI commission  terms of reference"

208
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.7 (close/move) Approval of EDI Workforce plan
Director- Law &
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

close/remove

209
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.10 (close/move) Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy approved
Director- Law &
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 SD.B1.14New sub action-Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy developed

 SD.B1.15New sub action-Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy approved

210 Decision Making DM.B1.0 In-depth review and revision to Corporate Governance Documents
Director- Law & 
Governance

26/01/2023 Closure of Main Action
sub actions complete or moved to more suitable 
location

211 Decision Making DM.B1.1 (close/ move)Effective Decision Making 
Training

Director- Law & 
Governance

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 move action to here- OC.G1.2New sub action: 
Effective decision-making training

212 Decision Making PC.A3.0 Waste and Recycling Recovery Plan – 
completion and implementation

Director - Borough 
Economy

26/01/2023 Closure of Main Action closure of main action- all sub actions complete

213
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.B1.0

Plan in place to ensure new contract 
commences prior to expiry of current 
arrangements and appropriate records in 
place

Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Closure of Main Action
sub actions complete or moved to more suitable 
location

214
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.B1.6 Contract Monitoring Arrangements in 
Place

Director- Finance 26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 PC.B3.4new sub action: Contract Monitoring 
Arrangements in Place 

215
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.C2.0 Procurement of new asset management 
system

Director –
Regeneration &
Growth

26/01/2023 Closure of Main Action
sub actions complete or moved to more suitable 
location

216
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.C2.3 Implementation
Director –
Regeneration &
Growth

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

 PC.F1.1New sub action: Implementation of 
Phase 2 Tech Forge

217
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.F1.0 New main action: Asset Management
Director –
Regeneration &
Growth

26/01/2023 Add- New Main Action new main action

218
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.F1.2
New sub action: Corporate Asset 
Management Strategy delivery plan in 
place

Director-
Regeneration &
Growth

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new sub action

P
age 356



219
Partnership & 
Relationships

PR.C1.1

Partnership structures in relation to transition 
from children’s to adults in place
New action wording: Initiation of Project to 
review and remodel the pathway between 
children’s and adults’ services

Director - Children 
and Education

26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Dec-23 May-23
New action wording: Initiation of Project to review 
and remodel the pathway between children’s and 
adults’ services

220
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.A1.0 Implement Oracle Fusion Director- Finance 26/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Apr-22 change of date- due to old date still showing

221
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.A1.8
New sub action: Completion of discovery 
phase

Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions Feb-23 new sub action

222
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.A1.9
New sub action: completion of the modelling 
phase

Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions Jun-23 new sub action

223
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.A1.9 New sub action: Go live Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions Apr-23 new sub action

224
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.A1.11

New assurance action: Programme benefits 
will be defined during the duration of the 
programme and agreed with the programme 
board
-a process will be agreed for monitoring and 
reporting the benefits
-benefit realisation will take place post go live.

Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Add- New Assurance Action quarterly new assurance action added

225
Strategic 
Decision

SD.E1.0
Public Consultation to be carried out as part of 
budget process for 2023/24

Director- Finance 26/01/2023 Closure of Main Action close of main action 

226
Strategic 
Decision

SD.E2.6
New sub action: Procurement of Consultant to 
deliver regular residents' survey, budget 
consultation and Citizens' Space

Director - Business 
Strategy and 
Change (Chief 
Exec)

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new sub action

227
Strategic 
Decision

SD.E2.7
Consultation and Engagement Framework 
produced

Director - Business 
Strategy and 
Change (Chief 
Exec)

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions new sub action

228
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.E1.6 Add new action: Aquatic Centre Handover Director - Borough 
Economy

26/01/2023 Add - New Sub Actions Jul-23 new sub action

229
Organisational 
Culture

OC.G1.0 New workstream- Embedding Constitutional Changes
Director-Law & 
Governance

27/01/2023 Add- New Workstream new workstream

230
Corporate 
Oversight

CO.G1.0 Strategic Planning framework 27/01/2023 Add- New Workstream new workstream

231
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.F1.0 Asset Management
Director-
Regenration & 
Growth

27/01/2023 Add- New Workstream new workstream

232
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.0

New main action: Governance review 
Phase 2

Director - Law & 
Governance 31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

233
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.1

New sub action: Agree project plans 
relating to each of the changes within the 
constitution Director - Law & Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

234
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.2

New sub action: Effective decision-making 
training

Director - Law & 
Governance 31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

235
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.3

New sub action: Delivery of Corporate 
Governance Development Programme

Director - Law & 
Governance 31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

236
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.4

New sub action: Annual Refresher of 
Corporate Governance Training

Director - Law & 
Governance 31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

237
Organisational 
Culture OC.G1.5

New action: Delivery of Directorships and 
Trusteeships Training

Director - Law & 
Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

P
age 357



238
Organisational 
Culture OC.H1.0

New action: Assurance Activity to 
ensure effective contribution of 
Scrutiny and Audit is sustained

Director - Law & 
Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

239
Organisational 
Culture OC.H1.1

Confirm mechanisms for ongoing insight 
and assurance around the effectiveness 
of Scrutiny and Audit Director - Law & Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

240
Organisational 
Culture OC.H1.2

Quarterly survey of Member and Officers 
participating in Scrutiny and Audit meetings

Director - Law & 
Governance 31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

241
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.12

 "New sub action- Refresh staff network-
-Package of Corporate commitment
-Identify network chairs
-Established United Networks meeting"

Director - Law & 
Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

242
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.12

 "New sub action- Refresh staff network-
-Package of Corporate commitment
-Identify network chairs
-Established United Networks meeting"

Director - Law & 
Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action

23-Feb 23-Jul

replacement action

243
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.13

 "New sub action-Refresh Equalities 
Commission Board Rename to  EDI 
commission
Renew  EDI commission  terms of 
reference"

Director - Law & 
Governance

31/01/2023 Replacement action

23-Feb 23-Apr

replacement action

244
Strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.14
 New sub action-Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy developed Director - Law & 

Governance
31/01/2023 Replacement action

23-Feb 24-Jun
replacement action

245
strategic 
Decision

SD.B1.15 
New sub action-Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy approved

31/01/2023 Replacement action
24-Jun 24-Sep

replacement action

246
Organisational 
Culture

 OC.G1.2  New sub action: Effective decision-
making training

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

247
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.B3.4  new sub action: Contract Monitoring 
Arrangements in Place 

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

248
Procurement & 
Commercial

PC.F1.1  New sub action: Implementation of 
Phase 2 Tech Forge

31/01/2023 Replacement action replacement action

249
corporate 
Oversight CO.E1.0

Programme and Project Management- 
change to ‘Corporate Transformation’ 

31/01/2023 Add- New Workstream
Programme and Project Management- change to 
‘Corporate Transformation’ 

250
corporate 
Oversight CO.D2.3

Workforce development plan implemented 
for financial services section Director- Finance 31/01/2023

Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Nov-22
Mar-23

251
Strategic 
Decision SD.A5.2 Business Cases Presented for commercial workstreamsDirector- Finance 31/01/2023

Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Jan-23
Feb-23

Strategic Business Cases prepared and awaiting 
review by D of F and LT.

252
Procurement & 
Commercial PC.B1.6 Contract Monitoring Arrangements in Place Director- Finance

31/01/2023
Change to delivery timescales (actions 
and milestones) 

Jan-23
Feb-23

Resources being identified for contract 
management support pending the creation of a 
corporate CM team. 

P
age 358



External Assurance -External 
Reviews(Grant Thornton, LGA, 

CIPFA)

Audit and Risk Assurance 
Committee

Progress Review to assist work 
planning &Focus on Risk Register

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 
Management Board

Progress Review to assist work 
planning

Cabinet

Quarterly Progress & Risk 
Review, and Changes to 

Improvement Plan

Council 
6 monthly report to SoS 

(June & December)

Commissioners 
6 monthly report to SoS

(June & December)

Secretary of State for 
Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities

Monthly Improvement Plan Review Meeting 
(Directors and Commissioners)

Monthly Progress & Risk Review 
Quarterly Changes to Improvement Plan

Monthly Leader's Meeting
(Cabinet Members and Directors)
Monthly Progress & Risk Review

Council Improvement Plan Governance and Assurance

P
age 359



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 

Report to Budget & Corporate Scrutiny 
Management Board 
 
 

29 March 2023 
 
 

Subject: Performance Management Framework – Q3 
Monitoring 

Director: Chief Executive – Shokat Lal 

Contact Officer: Kate Ashley – Strategic Lead: Service 
Improvement  
Jane Alexander – Senior Lead: Service 
Improvement  
Rebecca Jenkins – Senior Lead: Service 
Improvement  
Sarah Sprung – Senior Lead: Service 
Improvement  
Narinder Phagura – Business Partner Audit 
Services 

 
 
1. Recommendations 

 
1.1 That the Board considers and comments upon the progress and further 

development of the Corporate Performance Management Framework 
and the Q3 monitoring reports. 

 
2 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
2.1 Council approved a corporate Performance Management Framework 

(PMF) on 12 April 2022, to address the recommendations of the 
Governance Value for Money Review by Grant Thornton and as a key 
element of the Council’s Improvement Plan. 

 

 

Page 361

Agenda Item 6



 

2.2 Since April, the corporate PMF has been further refined and built into 
business processes. Reporting on Q1 and Q2 were presented to this 
Committee in October 2022 and January 2034 respectively. The report 
on Q3 seeks to build on the intelligence gathered for Q1 and Q2 and 
offers the opportunity to assess in year progress.  

 
 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan? 
 

 

The corporate PMF includes measures under all 
strategic objectives in the Corporate Plan to monitor 
progress in these key areas. The PMF also includes 
elements that measure the council’s use of its 
resources to ensure delivery of the strategic objectives.  
 
The Strategic Risk Register details the key strategic 
risks that need to be manged to ensure that they do not 
negatively impact on the successful delivery of the 
Corporate Plan objectives. 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

4 Context and Key Issues  
4.1 An effective performance management framework facilitates increased 

accountability, learning and improvement. It also provides early warning 
signals and facilitates decision-making.  
 

4.2 On a quarterly basis, the Council gathers and analyses a wide range of 
data and information to understand how effectively its plans are being 
implemented and whether the strategic outcomes contained in the 
Corporate Plan are being achieved.  
 

4.3 The information collected is used to enable the Authority to better 
understand the impact of its work on local people, and where necessary, 
target actions and resources. 

Page 362



 

 
 

 
5 Corporate Performance Management Framework 
 
5.1 There are four key components to the Corporate PMF. Combined, 

these provide the oversight and intelligence the council needs to 
determine progress in delivering the Corporate Plan and how the 
organisation is performing in key areas. 

 
 

 
 
 
5.2 A suite of performance information was identified and agreed for each 

element of the PMF and this forms the basis of monitoring progress. 
The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of progress against each 
element of the PMF for Q3 of 2022/23. The detailed Q3 reports are 
included as appendices to this report.  

 
6 Financial Performance 
 
6.1 Budget Monitoring 
6.1.1 The Council’s financial position as at the end of December (Q3) was 

presented to Cabinet at its meeting in February 2023. In summary, the 
forecast outturn for the year for the General Fund is an underspend of 
£1.8m and the Housing Revenue Account is currently forecasting an 
underspend of approximately £1m. The General Fund position has 

Improvement 

•Corporate Plan Delivery

•Improvement Plan Progress

•Corporate Transformation Programmes

Customer Experience

•Customer Feedback

•Operational measures to show customer day-to-
day experience

Organisational Health

•Demographics of Workforce

•Availability of Resources

•Health & Safety

•Employee Engagement Survey

Financial Performance

•Budget Monitoring

•Key Contracts 

•Financial and Procurement measures

Performance 
Management 
Framework

Page 363



 

changed from an overspend position in Qtr 2 due to a change in 
methodology for repaying borrowing. This has helped to mitigate the 
inflationary pressures on the Council’s financial position during 
2022/23.  

 
6.1.2 Cabinet and Council agreed the General Fund, HRA and Capital 

Programme budget for 2023/24 in February 2023.  
 
6.1.3 The other key performance measures for finance relate to the collection 

of debt and processing of claims. See Appendix 1 – Q3 Finance report.  
 

6.1.4 Processing time for new Housing Benefit Claims continues to be at 19 
days, which is better than the national average of 21 days.  

 

6.1.5 A summary of KPIs that did not meet their performance target is as 
follows: 
o Collection rates for Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debt 

–  performance has improved throughout the year with all 
collection rates slightly below target performance at Q3.  

o Housing Benefit Change in Circumstances - At Q1 and Q2, the 
number of days taken to process did not met targets due to a 
backlog of work. There has been good progress in addressing the 
backlog and performance has improved at Q3 to 6 days against a 
target of 3 days. The national average is 9 days. 

o Adult Social Care Financial Assessments - performance at Q3 is 
significantly below target. This is due to staff focusing on the 
implementation of the revised non-residential charges policy.  

o Invoices paid on time – performance has improved over the year  
and at Q3 was at 86% against a target of 95%. A process review is 
due to commence. 

o Rent collected is slightly below target due to rising cost of living 
pressures. We are working with partners to provide information 
and advice to tenants to prevent them getting into arrears as far as 
possible, and identifying households who meet the criteria for the 
Household Support Fund. 

 
6.2 Key Contracts - Sandwell Children’s Trust  
6.2.1 Since April 2018, children's services have been delivered by Sandwell’s 

Children’s Trust on behalf of the Council. The contract sum for 2022/23 
was £70.47m. Following subsequent agreements to additional sums, 
that are related to pressures around staffing and placements, the total 
contract sum is £71.7m. 

Page 364



 

 
6.2.2 Sandwell Children’s Trust delivers the following range of services: 

• Children’s Social Care 

• Fostering 

• Targeted Early Help 
 
6.2.3 In May 2022, the Ofsted Inspection of Local Authority Children’s 

Services improved the rating from ‘inadequate’ to ‘requires improvement 
to be good’. 

 
6.2.4 The contract is managed through a well-established governance 

framework. There is a requirement to undertake a contract review after 
four years of operation and the review was presented to Cabinet in 
September 2022. Cabinet agreed that they do not recommend to the 
Secretary of State for Education that the break clause is invoked. As set 
out in the Service Delivery Contract, the Contract Review has been 
presented to the Operational Partnership Board and the Strategic 
Partnership Board, and has been sent to the Secretary of State. 

 
6.2.5 Performance is monitored through a monthly review of 15 KPIs within 

the contract, and a monthly review of performance within agreed 
tolerances. As part of the contract review, the Director of Children and 
Education has been authorised to agree with Sandwell Children’s Trust 
revised contractual key performance indicators, to commence on 1st 
April 2023.  

 
 

6.2.6 The Q3 Performance Report is attached at Appendix 2 and is 
summarised as follows: 

 

6.2.6.1 Recruitment and Retention of Social Workers:  

• There continues to be significant issues in recruiting and retaining 
social workers and the Trust has been working to ensure that no 
child remains unallocated for longer than 5 days. 

• Three project teams are in place providing interim capacity whilst 
the Trust continues to recruit to the workforce and in Q3 work has 
commenced to exit the project teams 

 
6.2.6.2 Numbers of Children in Care:  

• The total number of children in care, as of December 2022, is 816. 
This is a significant reduction against the March 2022 position 
when 844 children were in care. The target for March 2023 is 796. 

Page 365



 

 

• Sandwell’s position has significantly improved over the last 12 
months, whilst rates of children in care have increased across 
statistical neighbours. 

 
6.2.6.3 Report on the 15 Contract KPIs:  

• Improvement in performance against the KPIs since the last 
quarter, with 13 out of the 15 KPIs now green  

• The current red rated KPI is the vacancy rate of social workers. 
 
6.2.6.4 Finances: 

• The 2022/23 financial performance is being measured against the 
agreed 2022/23 Contract Sum as approved by Cabinet in February 
2022. 

• The high cost of placements, as well as recruitment and retention 
issues, means that SCT are forecasting a breakeven position which 
is an improved position from the projections at Q2.  

• The breakeven position means that the deficit from previous years 
will not be reduced.  

 
6.3 Key Contracts - Serco  
6.3.1 The Council’s contract with Serco was awarded in 2010 and runs until 

2035. It has a contract value in the region of £30m per annum. The 
contract covers services including waste and recycling collection, 
household recycling centre management, street cleansing and fleet 
management and renewal. 
 

6.3.2 The Council has been focusing on improving the overall performance of 
the Serco Contract and the management of this contract is a 
component of the Council’s Improvement Plan. Key achievements to 
date have been: 

• Agreement of the Contract Monitoring Framework  

• Agreement of standardised agendas for contract monitoring 
meetings 

• Implementation of the Waste and Recycling Recovery Plan  

• Approval of the Street Cleansing Recovery Plan (which has 
commenced in Q3) 

• Approval of and delivery of Fleet Replacement as per the agreed 
schedule 

• Contract initial review  

Page 366



 

• All required plans and schedules have been provided and 
accepted by Waste Board 

 
6.3.3 Q3 performance was reported to Leadership Team in February and 

included information around governance and contract management 
arrangements, quarterly contract performance, SMBC contract 
monitoring and penalties issued, HR issues, stakeholder management 
and improvement focus. 
 

6.3.4 Key points over quarter 3 were: 

• All contract meetings have taken place. 

• Street Cleansing Improvement Plan went live.  

• Missed bins: Over Q3 there has been improved service resilience 
following the Q2 position which reflected Summer disruptions  

• Autumn/Winter leaf clearance proceeded well with better reporting, 
scheduling and delivery. 

 
6.3.5 The current focus for improvement is across 3 key work streams: 

• Street cleansing improvements (Improvement Plan re-zoning) 

• Data / reporting / systems  

• Improved resident information (street cleansing, weed spraying, 
leaf clearance, highway sweeping) 

 
6.4 Key Contracts – Sandwell Leisure Trust  
 
6.4.1 Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) manages the following leisure centres in 

Sandwell: 

• Haden Hill Leisure Centre 

• Hadley Stadium 

• Harry Mitchell Leisure Centre 

• Langley Swimming Centre 

• Portway Lifestyle Centre 

• Smethwick Swimming Centre 

• Tipton Leisure Centre 

• Tipton Sports Academy 

• Wednesbury Leisure Centre 
 
6.4.2 As part of the Council’s resolution of the issues identified, Cabinet at 

their meeting 9 February 2022 terminated the Management Funding 
Agreement (MFA) with SLT; SLT will formally cease to deliver services 
on 2nd May 2023.  

Page 367



 

 
6.4.3 Cabinet at their meeting 22 June 2022 decided that SLT will be replaced 

by a Local Authority Trading Company (LATC). The formation of the 
LATC is ongoing.    

 
6.4.4 A key workstream in the preparation for the LATC is the development of 

a comprehensive services specification, which will govern how the LATC 
will operate, deliver services and interact with the Council. The 
specification will include a detailed framework for governance, contract 
and performance management.  

 
6.4.5 Interim contract management measures are in place which include:  

• Schedule of monthly contract review meetings in place 

• Series of meetings to support transition 

• Revised KPIs in place  
 

6.4.6 Q3 performance was reported to Leadership Team in February including 
the revised KPIs. In terms of operational performance, Memberships 
reduced in quarter which represented an increase on December 2021 
levels, but a decrease compared with pre-pandemic levels.  

 
6.4.7  The current improvement focus consists of 3 strands: 

• Trading - identifying how SLT’s post-Covid trading is rebounding in 
comparison to national and statistical comparators  

• Supporting the transition to LATC 

• Supporting the preparation for the public opening of Sandwell 
Aquatics Centre 

 
6.5 Key Contracts – Places for People Leisure  

 
6.5.1 A 25-year contract is in place with Places Leisure to operate West 

Bromwich Leisure Centre and an annual management fee of £20K is 
paid to the Council. It has a contract value of £18,500pa. 

 
6.5.2 Q3 performance was reported to Leadership Team in February and 

included performance information around governance performance, 
activity programming and sports development, participation, service 
planning delivery and control, building maintenance and housekeeping, 
customer feedback, health and safety, marketing overview, and 
corporate social responsibility). 

 

Page 368



 

6.5.3 All monthly operational reporting and quarterly Contract Management 
Meetings have been held. 

 
6.5.4 In terms of Q3 participation: 

• Total visits in Q3: 90,752 
• Participation to Date: 295,000 (up from 185,000 Dec 2021; down from 

335,000 Dec 2019) 

• Memberships Year to date: Fitness Live (increase from Sep 2019), 
Swimming (decrease from Sep 2019) 

 
7 Organisational Health  
7.1 The majority of organisational health indicators are reported annually 

and were included in the Q1 PMF report. Sickness absence is reported 
on a quarterly basis along with a set of 6-monthly indicators. Quarterly 
reports on Health and Safety are made to Leadership Team.  

 
7.2 In relation to employee engagement, the Q1 performance report 

included details of the Employee Engagement Survey that was 
completed in April 2022. Actions to respond to the survey have been 
embedded in the Improvement Plan and Directorate-level action plans 
which are being monitored on a quarterly basis. 

 
7.3 Sickness Absence 
7.3.1 Sickness absence is reported on a quarterly basis to Leadership Team 

and Directorate Management Teams.  
 

7.3.2 At Q3, an average of 8.28 working days per employee were lost due to 
sickness against a target of 6.21. An increase from previous quarters.   

 
7.3.3 One third of sickness absence was short-term, and two thirds long-

term. 
 

7.3.4 The largest cause of sickness absence is stress, depression and 
mental health, followed by infection and muscular-skeletal problems. 

 

7.3.5 A detailed review is being undertaken to analyse causes and trends in 
sickness absence, and to review sickness absence management 
processes. 
 

 
8 Improvement – Corporate Plan Delivery 
 

Page 369



 

8.1 Progress on Corporate Plan PMF 
8.2 Since the approval of the PMF at Council on 12 April 2022, progress has 

continued in developing the Corporate Plan PMF. There are 170 
measures across the seven strategic outcomes, owned across our nine 
directorates. Work has taken place with each directorate to further refine 
measures, to understand the intricacies of the measures and when data 
can be made available. A summary of the activity that has taken place is 
set out below:  

 
 
8.3 Achievements October to December 2022 

• We have conducted a lessons learned exercise and have 
embedded the learning from this into Q3. 

• We have continued to work with Research and Intelligence to 
develop the intelligence offer, particularly around the Corporate Plan 
PMF. 

• We have continued to strengthen our relationships with directorates 
and sought to put in place a more structured approach to Q3 that 
focuses on exception reporting. This will allow focus on elements of 
the Corporate Plan that might be experiencing slippage or other 
issues that require attention. 
 

 
8.4 Progress against the seven strategic outcomes of the Corporate 

Plan  
8.5 To provide assurance in our progress delivering the Corporate Plan each 

directorate has submitted a return outlining actions that have been taken 
during Q3 that contribute to Corporate Plan delivery. This intelligence 
together with those measures that are currently available for the 
Corporate Plan PMF have been brought together to provide corporate 
oversight of progress. 
 

8.6 In Q3 we continue to build upon our in-year intelligence. The table below 
shows that a higher proportion of our Corporate Plan actions are on 
track and actions that have significant slippage have reduced. 
 

Page 370



 

 
 

 
8.7 Summaries of progress for each of the seven strategic outcomes are set 

out below. Appendix 4 contains a more in-depth overview. 
 

8.8 Best Start in Life for Children and Young People 
➢ The Children’s Trust Contract Review is underway and scheduled 

to be completed in Q4. The contract sum negotiations is nearing 
completion and will be confirmed by the Cabinet in Q4 

➢ The Family Hubs programme continues to progress at pace and 
Sandwell’s plan has been agreed by the DfE 

➢ The directorate is championing school attendance to address 
boroughwide issues and to contribute to educational attainment 
levels across all phases of education 

➢ Ministerial approval for the Education and Priority Investment 
Area submission is expected in Q4 

➢ The Corporate Parenting Board is focussing on thematic reviews 
and deep dives across the partnership – accountability and 
ownership is pivotal 

➢ SEND Transport – SEND 3 procurement processes will commence 
in Q4 

➢ Workforce pressures across the entire children's sector is having 
significant impact on the delivery of core and statutory services.  

 
No actions have been RAG rated red across this strategic outcome. 

 
8.9 People live well and age well 

 
On the whole under people that live well and age well there has been 
progress in terms of putting the building blocks in place to help people 

 Q2  Q3 

Actions on Track 258  273 

Medium 
issues/risks/slippage 

90  101 

Significant 
issues/risks/slippage 

9  3 

No update available 53  33 

 

Page 371



 

to live healthily and  independently for longer and many of the key 
deliverables are on track, for example the Healthy Sandwell Advice and 
Referral Service is working well, work has advanced on establishing the 
LATC to take over SLT managed facilities and various operational 
reviews are on track. We have also gained national recognition for our 
work on mapping social isolation. 
 
Harvest View has been officially opened and work is underway to 
embed strength based practices across Adult Social Care, the Carers 
Strategy has been agreed and a review of all commissioned services is 
taking place to ensure they are fit for purpose. 

 

There has been some slippage under each theme, but actions are in 
place to address this.  
 
There are no red RAG rated actions in this strategic outcome.  

 
8.10 Strong Resilient Communities 

➢ Progress continues with the LED replacement programme for 
streetlights 

➢ Highways and road safety work have experienced some slippage 
in the main due to recruitment challenges 

➢ The potential archive and story-telling centre development is 
progressing to stage 2 feasibility 

➢ Tree strategy work has now incorporated a Cabinet workshop and 
scrutiny providing an adjusted timeline 

➢ Chargeable garden waste is due to be operational for the coming 
season 

➢ Serco fleet replacement programme continues with 42 electric 
street sweepers due for delivery in the coming quarter 

➢ The Annual plans including Street Cleansing plan have been 
signed off by Waste Board 

 
One action in this strategic outcome have been RAG rated red, this 
relates to the governance arrangements and budgets for grants to the 
voluntary sector. 

 
 

8.11 Quality Homes in Thriving Neighbourhoods 
 
➢ Plans to reduce backlogs in homelessness and housing allocations 

are being implemented with 39% reduction in backlog of 

Page 372



 

households awaiting triage for help on homelessness (178 to 108). 
Housing applications backlog reduced to 550, from 1,200. 

➢ Damp and Mould Team set up November 2022 and 125 category 1 
(highest priority) properties have had anti-fungal wash. Work 
ongoing to address all identified cases, involving holistic approach 
to tenant support and property improvement. 

➢ Housing Revenue Account Business Plan developed with targeted 
consultation and Scrutiny Board input. 

➢ Empty Homes Strategy launched and will be supported through re-
structure and increased capacity in this area. 

➢ New project designed to pilot 3 options for recycling in high 
rise blocks, to be rolled out February 2023. 

➢ New Assistant Director Asset Management appointed, and new 
post of AD Building Safety approved and being filled. 

 
There are no red RAG rated actions in this strategic outcome.  
 

 
8.12 A Strong Inclusive Economy 

 
➢ Business support – with the dissolution of the Local Enterprise 

Partnership business support activity in the Council will increase. The 
Business Growth Team will need to expand to support this. 

➢ Sandwell Anchor Network established and funded. We are working with 
the Centre for Economic Activity to drive Social Value and local 
employment. Business Ambassadors are very supportive of this 
initiative. 

➢ UKSPF funding secured to support development and growth of business 
start-ups. Start-up business school to be undertaken in Feb 23 to 
support 30 start-ups. Other start up initiatives being developed for 23/24 
and 24/25. An Enterprise Officer is in place. 

➢ Business Growth Team is working with WMCA Business Support 
Specialist Products for Decarbonisation. Programme scheduled to start 
in April 23. 

➢ Sandwell Local Plan – Following the halt of the Black Country Plan, in 
November, Cabinet took the decision to commence preparation of a 
Sandwell Local Plan. December Cabinet approved consultation on 
Issues and Options and opening call for sites exercise to take place in 
Feb and March 23. Forecast adoption date end of 2025/early 2026 and 
therefore, Sandwell’s Local Plan will be out of date for longer than 
originally anticipated through the Black Country Plan process (late 

Page 373



 

2024). A part time Programme Manager has been recruited to oversee 
the work. 
 
There are no red RAG rated actions in this strategic outcome.  

 
8.13 A Connected Accessible Sandwell  

➢ 5G full fibre connectivity –BT Openreach have a £40m programme 
to roll out in Sandwell which will be delivered by end 25/26. They 
have currently completed 39% of works. 

➢ 5G Infrastructure - the West Midlands is a test bed for 5G, led by 
WM5G (part of WMCA). 

➢ Walking and cycling infrastructure – there has been a substantial 
investment in our green infrastructure, there are many ‘part-routes’ 
in the borough, investment over the next 3 to 4 years will focus on 
connecting these areas so we have a connected active travel 
network, for example cycling from Birmingham New Street to the 
Midland Metropolitan Hospital. 

➢ The approval process for the Birchley Island Scheme has 
experienced some delays, this project is directly funded by the 
Department for Transport  

 
8.14 One Council, One Team 

Actions in relation to delivering Social Value, Oracle Fusion together 
with the review of democratic governance remain on track. 
 
Progress has also been made in implementing a corporate approach to 
resident consultation and engagement with a new framework agreed by 
Leadership Team in November 2022. 
 
There are some areas of slippage, for example in relation to the 
Commercial Strategy, the Corporate Asset Management System and 
the Draft ICT Strategy. Work has commenced in these areas and plans 
are in place to deliver. 
 
There are two red actions in this strategic outcome relating to the 
development of a corporate data strategy and the lean review of the 
Council’s payment processes. For both of these actions the resources 
to deliver have had to be dedicated to other areas of activity. 

 

9 Improvement Plan  
9.1 The Council’s Improvement Plan was agreed in June 2022 and 

responds to the Statutory Directions from the Secretary of State for 

Page 374



 

Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, and the findings of three 
external reviews. 

 
9.2 The Improvement Plan focuses on the governance arrangements of the 

council and areas of improvement across the organisation.  The 
deliverables set out in the Improvement Plan will achieve long-term 
sustainable improvements in how the council operates and is able to 
make effective decisions focused on improving outcomes for residents 
and experiences of service users. The underpinning objective of the 
Improvement Plan is to ensure that the council is able to deliver on the 
aims and priorities as set out in the Corporate Plan. 

 
9.3 Progress of the Improvement Plan is monitored monthly by Directors 

and Cabinet Members and is reported to Cabinet Quarterly. The next 
report to Cabinet will be made alongside this Q3 performance report.  

 
9.4 External assurance continues to play a part in our improvement journey. 

Grant Thornton, CIPFA and the LGA conducted follow-up reviews over 
Autumn 2022 to monitor our progress in addressing the 
recommendations in their reviews. The follow-up reviews found that the 
council had continued to build on the initial improvements recognised by 
the reviewers in their original reports, and has made significant progress. 
Actions to respond to the findings of the Grant Thornton and LGA 
reviews are included in the refresh of the Improvement Plan reported to 
Cabinet alongside this Q3 performance report. Actions to respond to the 
CIPFA financial management follow up review will be included in the 
next refresh of the Improvement Plan.   

 
10 Corporate Transformation 
 
10.1 Officers have now been realigned to the Corporate Transformation 

Office.  The Corporate Transformation Manager is working in partnership 

with Learning and Development to undertake a skills gap analysis to 

identify current and future training requirements for the newly formed 

team. Work continues to reset the Transformation Programme and 

develop the Programme and Project framework.  

  

 
11 Strategic Risk Register 
11.1 Effective risk management is a key element of good corporate 

governance, as noted in the council’s Code of Corporate Governance, 

Page 375

https://www.proceduresonline.com/sandwell/cs/user_controlled_lcms_area/uploaded_files/TX387%20Code%20of%20Corporate%20Governance%202017.pdf


 

and is essential to the overall performance of the council in meeting its 
corporate plan objectives. Good risk management will ensure that 
resources are used efficiently and effectively and that assets and 
resources are protected against risk in the most efficient way. 

 
11.2 The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee (ARAC) receive the Council’s 

Strategic Risk Register (SRR) on a regular basis for review and 
comment. The role of the ARAC is to provide assurance to the Council 
that it has a system of governance, risk management and internal control 
in place and that the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements 
continue to inform decision making 

 
11.3 The SRR does not include all of the risks faced by the Council. Other 

risks are captured within directorate, programme and project risk 
registers in line with the Council’s risk management framework. The 
SRR as at January 2023 is being presented to ARAC on 16 March 2023. 
The key changes to the SRR since last reported to Cabinet include: 

 

• A reduction in risks 27 and 27a -MTFS and Future Government 

Policies and Funding Sources, from 16 (red) to 8 (amber) as a result 

of the local government settlement which confirmed that business 

rates reset and fair funding would not happen in this Parliament, 

which was a big risk in the MTFS. Also, the adult social care reform 

has been deferred which was another key risk. 

• The risk assessment for risk 27b- Budget Monitoring and 

Management has been split into two. This is to reflect the fact that the 

council does have in place effective arrangements to monitor and 

manage the current year’s budget (assessment of amber). 

Nevertheless, the achievement of the planned savings and 

efficiencies to manage the budget and any overspends is likely to 

continue to remain a significant challenge for the council for the 

foreseeable future, hence an assessment of this element of the risk 

as red.   

• A review and update of risk 42a- Cyber Security with a focus on the 

risk being investment in cyber security. 

• A reduction in risk 53- Oracle e Business Suite from 12 (red) to 8 

(amber) as a result of the review and reset of this programme. 

• Removal of risk 54- SEND to the directorate register as a result of the 

completion of the procurement of the contracts in 2022. 

Page 376



 

• Removal of risk 57- New Operating Model, which focussed on 

embedding the hybrid and flexible working model and had been 

assessed as green for some time. 

• Escalation from the directorate register of risk 57b – Customer 

Journey, which is assessed as red, given the priority this has within 

the corporate plan and the transformation plan. 

• A reduction in risk 61- Partner Organisations Contract Service 

Delivery, from 12 (red) to 8 (amber) as a result of the work done in 

respect of the contract with the SCT and SLT and the progress being 

made on the Serco contract.   

• Escalation from the directorate register of risk 66- Borough Archives 

which is assessed as red. 

• Escalation from the directorate register of risk 67 – Elections Act, 

which is assessed as red as a result of the extensive work required to 

manage Voter ID process for the successful delivery of the May 2023 

elections. 

• Escalation from the directorate register of risk 68 – Sandwell Local 

Plan as a result of the halting of the Black Country Plan not being 

agreed. The work which has commenced to prepare the Sandwell 

Local Plan has enabled a reduction in the risk from 16 (red) to 8 

(amber).  

• Escalation from the directorate register of risk 69 – Adult Social Care 

Market Sustainability which is currently assessed as16 (red) due to 

the Fair Cost of Care exercise. 

• Escalation from the Improvement Plan risk register of risk 70 – 

Organisational culture which is assessed as amber. 

 

11.4 An update on these risks, including the measures in place to mitigate 
them are included within appendix 4.  

 

11.5 The ARAC has in place a programme to receive and comment upon 
directorate level risk registers also and has received the majority of 
these during the year.   

 
 
12 Customer Experience  

Page 377



 

12.1 Since Q1, work has taken place to establish a Customer Journey 
Programme which will be governed within the Corporate 
Transformation Programme. The programme will consist of 5 
workstreams as follows: Service Backlogs, Customer Experience 
Strategy, One Stop Shop/Community Hubs, Contact Centres, and 
Technology. 

 
12.2 The Q3 Customer Experience performance report is attached in 

Appendix 5 and summarised below.   
 
12.3 Channel Shift 
12.3.1 In terms of channel shift (the ways that customers choose to contact 

the council), Q3 performance has followed the trends from Q1 and Q2. 
In Q3 the majority of contact was made via MySandwell (49%) and by 
telephone (43%). The amount of contact across all channels was lower 
in Q3 than in Q2. 

 
12.4 Contact Centre Performance 
12.4.1 The Council operates three contact centres. Over Q3 the Adults 

Contact Centre and Revenues and Benefits Contact Centre improved 
performance on the Q2 position, performing at or close to target. All 
three contact centres experienced a reduction in the amount of contact 
over Q3 relating to the Christmas period. 

 
12.4.2 The Corporate Contact Centre, which receives general enquiries, 

housing and children’s safeguarding calls, experienced a further 
increase in the average wait times and abandonment rate related to 
staff vacancies and sickness in Q3. Recruitment is ongoing with an 
intake of new advisors starting in Q3 which will assist performance over 
Q4. 

 
12.5 Information Requests 
 
12.5.1 The number of Subject Access Requests (SARs) received has 

been reducing across quarters with 35 received during Q3. Compliance 
against timescales for responding is below the 95% target at 70% for 
Q3. However, the compliance rate has been improving across quarters. 
As reported at Q2, some system limitations had been identified which 
were impacting on data validity. A manual data analysis has now been 
completed and compliance rate updated for all quarters. Work is 
underway to identify a new system which will allow for improved 
reporting. 

Page 378



 

 
12.5.2 The number of FOIs received at Q3 is slightly higher than at Q2. A 

significant improvement has been made in the compliance against the 
statutory timescales for responding although this remains below the 95% 
target. Performance at Q3 was 82%, an improvement on Q1 and Q2 at 
66% and 68% respectively. Work concluded in Q2 to manage a backlog 
of FOIs within the system which is allowing officers to focus on keeping 
on top of incoming requests. Steps continue to be taken to bring 
performance in line with the target including regular meetings with 
Directorates and Directors to discuss performance, improved reporting, 
Governance Team Case Workers being allocated to Directorates to give 
more dedicated support, and training being provided across the Council. 
It is expected that these actions will continue to improve performance 
over Q4. 

 
12.6 Customer Feedback 
12.6.1 Q3 figures show a decrease in the number of complaints received since 

Q1 and Q2. There has been a slight rise in the % of stage 1 and stage 
2 upheld complaints in Q3. 192 Stage 1 complaints were upheld in Q3 
and 45 Stage 2 complaints.   

 
12.6.2 An analysis of complaints is taking place over Q4 to identify lessons 

learnt and further actions for improvement in how the council responds 
to complaints. 

 
12.6.3 The number of MP enquiries received has continued to reduce through 

this year with 495 received in Q3. Positive feedback has been received 
on the new MP process that was implemented last year and the quality 
of responses that are now being received. 

 
12.6.4 The number of compliments received has increased since Q2, rising 

closer to the Q1 performance. 92 compliments were received in Q3. 
  
 
13 Alternative Options  
13.1 The Directions issued by the Secretary of State, including the 

requirement to have a performance management framework in place, 
are a statutory requirement and the council has a legal obligation to 
respond appropriately. Failure to do so would likely result in further 
intervention measures. 
 

Page 379



 

13.2 The council had various options on what type of performance 
management framework to establish. Our approach has been developed 
through understanding the needs of the organisation and drawing on 
best practice from other local authorities. As we continue our 
improvement journey, the PMF will evolve to meet our changing 
requirements. 
 
 

14 Implications 
 

Resources: There are no direct financial implications to this report.  
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

A corporate performance management framework 
was identified as a key gap in the council’s 
governance arrangements by Grant Thornton in 2021. 
The establishment of the corporate performance 
management framework was a key action in the 
council’s Improvement Plan agreed by Council in 
January 2022 and updated in June 2022. The PMF 
will enable officer and political leadership to improve 
oversight and corporate grip of the council’s 
performance.  
 

Risk: Should the council not implement a robust 
performance management framework, then it will not 
have the corporate oversight and intelligence to 
inform decision making and effectively manage risks  
to achieving service delivery and the strategic 
objectives identified in the Corporate Plan. These 
risks and the associated mitigations are noted in the 
SRR.   
The corporate performance management framework 
is a key mechanism to report progress and 
performance to the Government appointed 
Commissioners.  
 

Equality: Equality measures are included in the PMF, including 
the Organisational Health workforce indicators and 
the progress of the Corporate Plan.  
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

The measures to track progress of the Corporate Plan 
include a series of health and wellbeing indicators. 

Page 380



 

This enables the council’s leadership to see at a high 
level the direction of travel of the borough’s health and 
wellbeing and seek to continue good practice or 
identify mitigating actions to address issues.  
 

Social Value Measures in the PMF include looking at percentage of 
spend in the local area.  
 

 
 
15 Appendices  

 
1. Finance Q3 Performance Report 
2. Sandwell Children’s Trust Q3 Performance Report 
3. Corporate Plan Q3 Monitoring Report 
4. Strategic Risk Register 
5. Customer Experience Q3 Performance Report 

 
16 Background papers  
16.1 Performance Management Framework - Q2 Monitoring - Report to 

Cabinet 7 December 2022 
Performance Management Framework - Q2 Monitoring - Report to 
Budget & Corporate SMB 12 January 2023 

 
16.2 Report to Council 21 April 2022: 

o Performance Management Framework for the Council 
o Appendix 1-3 – Organisational Health, Customer Experience and 

Finance & Contract Measures 
o Appendix 4 – Corporate Plan PMF 

 
16.3 Report to Cabinet 28 September 2022  
16.4 Report to Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 13 October 

2022 
 
 
 

Page 381

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12025/Performance%20Management%20Framework%20Q2%20Monitoring.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12025/Performance%20Management%20Framework%20Q2%20Monitoring.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12479/Q2%20Performance%20Framework.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12479/Q2%20Performance%20Framework.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6590/08%20-%20Corporate%20Performance%20Management%20Framework.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6591/08a%20-%20Appendix%201-3%20Organisational%20Health%20Customer%20Experience%20and%20Finance%20Contracts%20Measures.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6591/08a%20-%20Appendix%201-3%20Organisational%20Health%20Customer%20Experience%20and%20Finance%20Contracts%20Measures.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s6592/08b%20-%20Appendix%204%20-%20Corporate%20Plan%20PMF.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10781/15%20-%20Corporate%20Performance%20Management%20Framework.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10978/06%20-%20Final%20Scrutiny%20Report%20Oct%2022.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10978/06%20-%20Final%20Scrutiny%20Report%20Oct%2022.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Finance Performance Monitoring 2022 / 2023

Area Indicator

Reporting 

Frequenc

y

Data Owner
Data Collected 

By

2022-2023 Year 

End

Q1 

Target
Q1 Performance

Q1

Target Met

Q1 

Commentary

Financial 

Performance
Council Tax Collection Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 98% 28.81% 28.30% no

Collection is comparable to same time last 

year when it was 28.31%. 

Financial 

Performance
Business Rates Collection Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 98% 23.06% 32.87% yes

Compared to 22.56%, over 10% up which has 

been helped by the Covid additional reflief 

fund (CARF) payments being made to 

Financial 

Performance
Sundry Debt Collection Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 98% 65.89% 41.43% no

Some large invoices raised in schools has 

affected collection rate. Collection rates will 

improve in future months

Financial 

Performance
Prior year Council Tax collection Quarterly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 96% 93% 93.68% yes small improvement on May.

Financial 

Performance
Prior year Business Rates Collection Quarterly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 98% 95 96.36% yes Improvement on May.

Financial 

Performance
Prior year Sundry Debt Collection Quarterly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 97% 91% 91.91% yes Over 10% increase on May.

Financial 

Performance
Housing Benefit Overpayment Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley £1.4m 412K 322K no

The figure is lower than same point last year 

when it was £413k. This will vary based on 

overpayments being raised and payments 

being received

Financial 

Performance

Number of days taken to process Housing Benefit 

New Claims
Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 19 20 19 yes

This is the average number of days for the first 

quarter. The target figure is the DWP national 

average figure

Financial 

Performance

Number of days taken to process Housing Benefit

Changes in Circumstances
Monthly Ian Dunn Linda Tolley 5 3 11 no

This is the average number of days for the first 

quarter. The target figure is the DWP national 

average figure. Performance has been 

affected by the impact of dealing with 

Household support fund over winter 21/22 and 

catching up with work
Financial 

Performance
% of invoices paid on time Monthly Rebecca Maher Linda Tolley 95% 95% 77% n/a

Work is ongoing to identify delays in the 

process and implement quick-wins whilst 

Oracle Fusion is being implemented. 
Financial 

Performance
Variance from budget - General Fund Monthly Rebecca Maher Linda Tolley 0

within 1% of budget 

(<£2.5m)
£2.2m overspend Yes

Corrective action has been taken to mitigate 

inflationary pressures and this is a high risk 
Financial 

Performance
Variance from budget - Housing Revenue Account Monthly Rebecca Maher Linda Tolley 0

within 1% of budget 

(<£2m)
£0.8m underspend Yes

To be populated once Q1 budget monitoring 

report available

Financial 

Performance
% of spend in contract Quarterly Rebecca Maher Linda Tolley Under development

Financial 

Performance
% of spend spent locally Quarterly Fiona McLaughlin Linda Tolley n/a

n/a (to be 

determined)
44% n/a Under development

Financial 

Performance

% of ASC payments made on time in accordance with 

contract terms 
Monthly Kay Murphy Linda Tolley 100% 100% 86% No

Performance dipped due to SBS payment 

issues in May

Financial 

Performance

% of NRC Financial Assessments / re - assessments 

within 

3 weeks (21 days) of CPLI  approval

Monthly Kay Murphy Linda Tolley 100% 100% 75% No New measure - June figure provided

Financial 

Performance

% of Residential Financial Assessments within 

8 weeks (56 days) of CPLI approval
Monthly Kay Murphy Linda Tolley 100% 100% 88% No New measure - June figure provided

Financial 

Performance

 % of DP's with Financial review within the first 6 

months  
Monthly Kay Murphy Linda Tolley 100% 100% n/a n/a

n/a - Working on data collectoion 

methodology

Financial 

Performance
 % of DP's with annual Financial review Monthly Kay Murphy Linda Tolley 100% 100% n/a n/a

n/a - Working on data collectoion 

methodology

Financial 

Performance
SI66a - Rent collected as a % of rent due Monthly Manjit Rai Karen New 95.93% 95.30%.  95.21% no

Customers continue to be under financial 

pressures due to the increasing costs of living 

and this will  only increase during the financial 

year.  The recent service review will enhance 

service delivery and allow officers to support 

our most vulnerable tenants.     

Quarter 1

Page 383



 

Q2

Target

Q2

Performance

Q2

Target Met

Q2

Commentary

Q3 

Performance

Direction of  

travel from 

previous quarter 
Up arrow = 

improvement

Down arrow = 

reduced performance

Q3

Target

Q3

Target Met

Q3

Commentary

55.24% 56.16% Yes

Collection is up on this time 

last year when it was 54.74% 

however by awarding over 

£4m energy rebate 

payments onto CTAX a/c's in 

September (4% appx)this 

has contributed to increased 

collection. Some of these 

payments will be refunded

78.62% 80.57% No

DD payments for 28.12.22 and cash payments from 23.12.22 

did not go onto CTAX A/C's until January which affected 

collection rate

51.81% 60.06% yes

Finished paying out CARF 

(see Q1 note) which totalled 

£7.4m onto BR accounts 

81.67% 82.50% No
Collection is up on this time last year when it was 77.29% 

but down on our Q3 target

74.03% 76.40% Yes Collection up on last year 79.87% 80% No
Target just missed as invoices are raised throughout the 

year which affects collection rate

94% 94.06% Yes Collection increased 95% 95% Yes Target met

96% 96.86% Yes Collection increased 98% 97% Yes Target met

93% 95.54% Yes Collection increased 96% 94% Yes Target met

£777K £679k No

The figure is lower than 

same point last year when it 

was £777k. This will vary 

based on overpayments 

£1.010m  £1.1m No
No cash payments added from 23.12.22 to 31.12.22. These 

will be included in January's payments

20 19 Yes

As more customers move 

onto Universal Credit, we 

will be left with the more 

complex Housing Benefit 

19 19 days Yes On target

3 12 No

Performance affected as 

clearing the backlog of 

outstanding changes in 

circumstances which has 

affected performance figure

6 3 no

The number of days to process reported changes in 

circumstances has reduced from 12 days at Q2 to 6 days at 

Q3. As the backlog of work has been cleared this has helped 

to reduce the number of days it takes to deal with the 

changes

95% 78% 86% 95% No

within 1% of budget 

(<£2.5m)
£1.9m overspend Yes £1.8m underspend

within 1% of budget 

(<£2.5m)
Yes

within 1% of budget 

(<£2m)
£1.1m underspend Yes £1m underspend

within 1% of budget 

(<£2m)
Yes

Under Development n/a n/a n/a n/a Under Development

20%

We are reviewing the 

approach for capture of local 

spend and this will include 

looking at ways for the 

oracle system to capture 

suppliers with local bases 

rather than simply HQ 

offices i.e.local spend, local 

workforce and also 

widening the offer WMCA 

(west midlands combined 

authority) spend as  many 

sandwell residents could be 

employed in the local 

regions and therefore 

demonstrates our social 

value impacts. In addition 

we are reviewing the way 

we capture raw data across 

the various systems 

including Controc/Adult 

social care i.e. domicillary 

for inclusion in these figures

35% n/a n/a

We are reviewing the approach for capture of local spend 

and this will include looking at ways for the oracle system 

to capture suppliers with local bases rather than simply HQ 

offices i.e.local spend, local workforce and also widening 

the offer WMCA (west midlands combined authority) spend 

as  many sandwell residents could be employed in the local 

regions and therefore demonstrates our social value 

impacts. In addition we are reviewing the way we capture 

raw data across the various systems including Controc/Adult 

social care i.e. domicillary for inclusion in these figures

100% 92% No 95% 100% No Propose target revision to 95%

100% 57% No 34% 100% No
Performance adversley affected in November a all staff 

focussed on implementation of revised NRC policy

100% 86% No 33% 100% No
Performance adversley affected in November a all staff 

focussed on implementation of revised NRC policy

100% 60% No

New target - additional 

temporary resource 

appointed trained, 

improved results expected 

100% 100% Yes 2 Temporary audit officers appointed (May and Jun) 34/34 

completed in 6 months

100% 93% No

New target - additional 

temporary resource 

appointed trained, 

improved results expected 

in Q3

99% 100% No
 2 Temporary audit officers appointed (May and Jun) 

158/160 completed. Target missed by 1% (2 cases)

95.50% 95.16% No

The quarter 2 outturn at 

95.16% is below the profile 

target of 95.50%.  The 

rising cost of living, 

continues to place 

customers under 

unprecedented economic 

pressure.  To mitigate the 

impact the service is 

working closely with 

internal and external 

partners to provide 

information and advice to 

support those most in 

need.

94.51% 95.55% No

The outturn for Quarter 3 2022/23 at 94.51% is below the 

profile target of 95.55%.  The unprecedented economic 

crises continues to put household budgets under pressure 

due to the increasing costs of living.  To mitigate the impact 

the service is working closely with internal and external 

partners to provide information and advice to support those 

most in need.  Work is currently taking place to identify 

working households on low incomes who do not qualify for 

benefit support such as Housing Benefit, Universal Credit 

(Housing Element), Discretionary Housing Payment etc, 

financial support will be provided to those tenants who 

meet the set criteria for the Household Support Fund. 

Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Page 384



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 385



This page is intentionally left blank



SANDWELL CHILDREN’S TRUST – Q3 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE 

REPORT 

 

1. Performance 

1.1 Performance against the contract KPIs continues to improve. At the end of 

Q2 10 out of the 15 KPIs were green, this has now moved to 13 out of 15. 

There continue to be significant issues in recruiting and retaining social 

workers, with the Vacancy Rate indicator remaining red.   

 

1.2 The Trust has had three project teams, funded by the LA, in place to help 

alleviate the pressure linked to recruitment and retention. Work has now 

commenced to exit these project teams with one having already having 

ended its engagement.  

 

1.3 The total number of children in care, as of Dec 2022, is 816. This maintains 

the quarterly reduction in the overall number of children in care, with there 

being 818 at the end of quarter 2.  

 

1.4 The rate per 10,000 of children in care in Dec 2022 is 96.2. However, it must 

be noted that the December figure is based on updated population figures 

that show there has been an increase of 2,413 under 18s in Sandwell 

compared to the figure used previously to calculate rate per 10,000. 

 

1.5 The government published national data in December, using the updated 

population data for all Councils, that allows us to compare Sandwell’s 

performance for the last financial year against our statistical neighbours. 

*based on new population data 

 31 March 2021 31 March 2022* 

Sandwell Rate per 10,000 107.0 98.8 

Statistical Neighbour average  94.9 96.7 

Page 387



 

1.6 Even accounting for the change in base data used to calculate the rate per 

10,000 it can be seen that Sandwell has improved its position significantly 

over the last 12 months while at the same time the average for Statistical 

neighbours has increased. Even if the statistical neighbour average has 

been maintained since March 2022, based on current performance 

Sandwell would be out performing them. 

Page 388



    Ja
n

-2
2

 
  

Fe
b

-2
2

 
  

M
ar

-2
2

 
  

A
p

r 
- 

2
2

 

M
ay

 –
 2

2
 

Ju
n

e
 -

 2
2

 

Ju
l-

2
2

 

A
u

g-
2

2
 

Se
p

-2
2

 

O
ct

-2
2

 

N
o

v-
2

2
 

D
e

c-
2

2
 

PI.No DESCRIPTION OF KPI 

1 Percentage of contacts to MASH referral timeliness 78.7% 75.0% 81.9% 78.1% 77.6% 74.9% 67.5% 73.2% 81.9% 69.9% 61.6% 61.6% 

2 
Rate of Children on a Child Protection Plan per 10,000 
CYP population 

47.6 51.6 49.3 46.5 46.3 45.5 48.8 50.5 48.6 46.9 43.9 
45.8 

3 
Percentage of  Initial Child Protection Conference 
(ICPC) in 15 working days 

87.8% 94.0% 59.5% 33.3% 84.0% 59.1% 81.5% 72.0% 52.6% 73.8% 83.7% 
90.0% 

4 

Out of the total number of open Single Assessments, 
the percentage of assessments completed within 45 
working days 

59.70% 56.50% 69.40% 67.40% 68.30% 68.10% 62.30% 60.40% 66.90% 88.90% 95.16% 
87.20% 

5 

Number of Children in need, including LAC & Children 
on Child Protection plan who have been unallocated 
for longer than five working days 

4.0 57.0 20.0 0.0 112.0 258.0 215.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
0.0 

6a 
Percentage of young people with Child Protection 
Plans where 4 weekly visits have taken place 

85.80% 88.20% 84.60% 80.10% 74.00% 74.10% 66.70% 75.40% 82.38% 87.66% 85.10% 
90.20% 

7 
% CP Plans in place and completed within six monthly 
intervals 

97.00% 98.40% 100.00% 99.70% 97.90% 98.70% 99.80% 97.60% 94.30% 93.80% 98.90% 
98.20% 

8 
Percentage of 4 weekly supervisions on Child 
Protection cases 

47.80% 62.80% 60.60% 74.60% 69.80% 63.00% 67.70% 77.30% 83.10% 83.00% 73.30% 
75.10% 

9 
% of Missing children return interviews within 72 
hours 

81.8% 87.2% 100.0% 84.4% 81.3% 76.5% 75.6% 81.1% 91.8% 82.2% 73.1% 
78.4% 

10 % Children in Need Visited in the last 20 working days 57.6% 52.7% 60.4% 57.8% 61.1% 57.4% 42.8% 57.3% 80.3% 74.9% 73.6% 
82.4% 

11 
Percentage Looked After Children visited in timescale 
according to statutory requirements. 

83.1% 80.1% 86.1% 86.4% 89.2% 80.4% 84.7% 87.3% 86.4% 86.6% 82.4% 
90.9% 

12 % LAC reviews within timescales -  87.0% 86.4% 89.0% 93.6% 93.6% 91.8% 90.5% 87.0% 86.6% 84.4% 82.3% 
82.0% 

13 Vacancy rate of social workers  36.10% 37.90% 39.64% 42.30% 43.60% 45.05% 45.05% 44.02% 37.80% 38.50% 40.96% 
41.20% 

14 Average overall caseloads across Children’s Services 19.74 20.63 21.07 20.94 20.85 19.61 18.64 18.51 16.52 16.57 17.42 
17.82 

15 
Number of random monthly case file audits rated RI 
and above 

80.0% 100.0% 81.8% 77.8% 100.0% 100.0% 83.3% N/A 100.0% 83.3% 72.2% 
N/A 

P
age 389



2. Finances 

2.1 The 2022/23 financial performance is being measured against the agreed 

2022/23 Contract Sum as approved by Cabinet in February 2022.  

 

2.2 The financial position has improved compared to Q2. The expectation of 

SCT was to achieve a surplus of £1.9m in 2022/23, however they continue 

to experience pressures from exceptionally high cost placements and 

increased costs linked to staffing. SCT are projecting a breakeven position 

at the end of the financial year: this will mean that the deficit from earlier 

years will not be reduced this year.  

 

2.3 As per the timetable laid out in the Service Delivery Contract (SDC), 

discussions between the Council and SCT commenced in Sept 2022 to agree 

the contract sum for 2023/24. Upon the conclusion of the contract sum 

negotiation process, approval will be sought from Cabinet as per the annual 

budget setting process. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 390



3. Contractual Matters 

3.1 In line with the requirement in the SDC to undertake a contract review after 

four years of operation, separate reviews were undertaken by SCT and 

SMBC and presented to Cabinet on 28th September. The recommendations 

in the report that accompanied the reviews were agreed. As per the 

process laid out in the SDC the contract reviews were presented to the 

Operational Partnership Board and the Strategic Partnership Board, 

following which they were sent to the Secretary of State confirming the 

recommendation not to invoke the break clause.  

 

3.2 The composition of the Board of Sandwell Children’s Trust is laid out in the 

Articles of Association.  It includes a requirement to have non-executive 

directors (NEDs) who will provide independent challenge to the executive 

team but also offer advice and guidance based on their experience and 

knowledge. There are currently three independent and two Council 

appointed non-executive directors. When the independent NEDs were 

appointed they were given contracts that staggered their terms i.e. 2yrs, 

3yrs and 4yrs. On the expiry of each NED’s term they have been extended 

for a period of 2 years. The extended term for one of the independent NEDs 

is due to end in February 2023. The process to recruit a replacement has 

commenced. 

 

3.3 Discussion in respect of new KPIs are ongoing between the Trust and 

Council, a revised set of KPIs will be agreed to commence on 1st April 2023. 

 

 

 

Page 391



This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Plan

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 393



Overview

• Our Corporate Plan contains seven strategic outcomes that our nine 
directorates deliver on.

• This report details the progress made during quarter 3 (October to 
December2022) in delivering the actions that underpin our strategic 
outcomes.

• Each action in directorate business plans that contributes to a 
corporate plan action has been RAG rated using the following 
categories:

P
age 394



RAG Definitions

On Track

Progress against the action is good and there is 
i) a low level of risk and/or issues; and/or
ii) progress is in line with the delivery date with no/ minor slippage (e.g. less than 2 
months); and/or that
iii) there is no or minor concern around the measures of success being fulfilled.

Medium issues/risks/slippage

Progress on the action is being made but there is 
i) a medium level of risk and/or issues and/or
ii) slippage (actual / projected) of less than 3 months; and/or 
iii) there is a medium level of concern that the measures of success will not be achieved

Significant issues/risks/slippage
There is a significant level of risk, issues and/or slippage (e.g. more than 3 months)  or 
significant concern around the measures of success being fulfilled

P
age 395



Q2 > Q3 – Direction of Travel

 Q2  Q3 

Actions on Track 258  273 

Medium 
issues/risks/slippage 

90  101 

Significant 
issues/risks/slippage 

9  3 

No update available 53  33 

 

P
age 396



Headlines – Corporate Plan Monitoring Q3

() represents Q2 figures
()

Best Start in 

Life for 

Children & 

Young People

People who 

Live Well and 

Age Well

Strong 

Resilient 

Communities

Quality Homes in 

Thriving 

Neighbourhoods

A Strong 

and 

Inclusive 

Economy

A Connected 

& Accessible 

Sandwell

One Council 

One Team

Totals

No of 

Corporate Plan 

Actions

17 20 21 20 22 18 27 145

No of 

directorate 

actions 

contributing

46 127 63 33 41 28 72 410

On Track 38 (42) 91 (77) 44(40) 19 (20) 23 (24) 16 (15) 42 (40) 273 (258) 

Medium 

issues/ 

risks/slippage

5 (3) 34 (41) 11 (7) 9 (6) 7 (4) 7 (3) 28 (26) 101 (90)

Significant 

issues / risks/ 

slippage

0 (0) 0 (0) 1 (4) 0 (1) 0 (1) 0 (1) 2 (2) 3 (9)

No update 

available

3 (1) 2 (8) 7 (12) 5 (6) 11 (12) 5 (9) 0 (5) 33 (53)

P
age 397



DoT Red Actions – Corporate Plan Monitoring Q2 – Q3

P
age 398



Best Start in Life for Children and Young 
People

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 399



Headlines – Best Start in Life

No. of Corporate Plan Actions 17

No. of directorate actions contributing 46

On Track 38 Medium 
issues/risks

5 Significant 
issues/risks

0 No Update 3

P
age 400



Director Insight – Director of Children’s 
Services & Education

• The Children’s Trust Contract Review is underway and scheduled to be completed in Q4. The 
contract sum negotiations is nearing completion and will be confirmed by the Cabinet in Q4

• The Family Hubs programme continues to progress at pace and Sandwell’s plan has been 
agreed by the DfE

• The directorate is championing school attendance to address boroughwide issues and to 
contribute to educational attainment levels across all phases of education

• Ministerial approval for the Education and Priority Investment Area submission is expected 
in Q4

• The Corporate Parenting Board is focussing on thematic reviews and deep dives across the 
partnership – accountability and ownership is pivotal

• SEND Transport – SEND 3 procurement processes will commence in Q4

• Workforce pressures across the entire children's sector is having significant impact on the 
delivery of core and statutory services.

P
age 401



Summary - Green Actions – On Track
• As part of the community outreach programme we continue to recruit volunteers from the community to 

work with local teams, Q3 has seen an increase in the number of volunteers from 43 in Q2 to 48.

• The Parent Partnership team are aligning their programmes in line with the Sandwell Speech and Language 
Pathway. The Health Visiting team have also aligned the pathway by including a QR code in every child's red 
book. It directs parents to all the latest advice and guidance on the FIS website.

• Early Years Multi-Agency Professionals Group continue to meet regularly to discuss issues such as the 
development of the Family Hubs.

• Ofsted inspections, an improving picture for % of schools rated Good or better by Ofsted. Currently: Primary 
86%; Secondary 74%; Special & PRU 100%. 

• We have recently recommenced the work experience offer which takes places when staff supervise 
placements in the office

• Bump to Babies programme is now delivered with antenatal speech, language and communication guidance 
written into the delivery

• The National Literacy Trust have worked with the Sandwell team and practitioners to develop the First Words 
Together Programme into a bespoke model for Sandwell.

P
age 402



Summary - Green Actions – On Track
• Vulnerable children and young people continue to receive support around relationships and sex 

education through targeted one-to-one provision. Re-commissioning cycle started to ensure 
continuation of service at contract end

• Draft Prevention Of Violence Exploitation (PoVE) Plan and Strategy 2023-26 shared with partners – an 
update is scheduled in Q4

• 14 KPI's have been agreed between the Council and the Children’s Trust, the final KPI is being 
discussed. The aim is to sign off the new KPI's to commence monitoring against the new contract 
effective 1 April. The contract sum for 2023/24 has been agreed at officer level and will be presented 
to Cabinet for approval

• Investment and support of community mental health programmes continues. Videos are completed 
and being used for training sessions for teachers/professionals. On-line version of training is being 
created

• The Strategic Corporate Parenting Group continues to meet monthly. The group is currently reviewing 
the Corporate Parenting Action Plan, which logs and tracks actions from the Board meetings and 
contains a range of actions which are taking forward the Corporate Parenting Strategy (2020 – 2023)

• Between October and December 2022, the Corporate Parenting Board worked in partnership with the 
Local Government Association (LGA) to deliver four separate ‘LGA Corporate Parenting training’ 
sessions for Lead Members, Elected Members and Corporate Parenting Board officers inc young 
people.

P
age 403



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• New Birth Visits: Q2 22/23 (latest data) the total was 97.6%. 63% within 14 days and 34.6% after 
14 days. Performance has declined due to staffing pressures - 26% vacancy rate for Health 
Visitors. This is a national issue. 

• The School Nursing service are reporting a high number of vacancies and a steep increase in 
referrals. Referrals are triaged, which means that there is a longer waiting time than previously to 
deal with non-urgent cases

• A date for the second cohort of library staff to be trained in Play, Talk Read is being finalised. The 
library staff team have access to a Speech and Language Therapist to support in their knowledge 
and delivery of the Play, Talk Read programme. A project centred around library membership of 
the Under 5's called 'Sandy Bear' has seen a 222% increase in Under 5 membership across 
Sandwell

• Early Years have supported the Children's Trust with an appropriate offer of training that is still 
included in the Foster Carer training handbook, but is no longer mandatory. The EY training has 
now been mapped alongside the training and development standards for mainstream carers and 
connected carers

• The school appeals officer post has now been filled, which will allow focus to be placed on the 
delivery of an independent and impartial school appeals process.

P
age 404



People that Live Well and Age Well

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 405



Headlines

No. of Corporate Plan Actions 20

No. of directorate actions contributing 127

On Track 91 Medium issues/risks 34 Significant issues/risks 0 No Update 2

P
age 406



Director Insight – Director of Public Health

Research & Intelligence

• Our work on mapping social isolation in Sandwell has been completed.  The project has gained national 
commendation (eg: from Centre for Mental Health) and is currently acting as the basis for a Scrutiny Committee 
working group on social isolation and loneliness.

• We completed our LGBT+ health survey.  This will be published to coincide with LGBT+ History Month (alongside an 
announcement of a new Sandwell Public Health Challenge Fund aimed at improving support for our LGBT+ residents).

Cost of Living and Winter Health

• We funded and supported 30 additional warm spaces run by local voluntary and faith sector groups.

• We trained over 130 ‘Cost of Living Champions’ – embedding sources of reliable info into our local communities

• We distributed Winter Warmth bags to residents via community groups and warm spaces (very popular!)

• We co-produced a Winter Health Guide with NHS colleagues which was distributed to every home in Sandwell

P
age 407



Director Insight – Director of Public Health

Health Inequality

• An end-of-year Evaluation of Sandwell Health Inequalities Programme (SHIP) showed that is has already 
exceeded expectations –supporting 508 BAME residents on mental health & long term conditions.

• A study of our Sandwell Language Network (SLN) showed that it is having a significantly positive effect on 
people’s ability to access healthcare effectively, as well as reducing isolation.  These findings helped secure joint 
funding for the SLN from our NHS partners.

Health Protection

• We have successfully managed a number of outbreaks in local hotels accommodating asylum seekers.  These 
have included both diphtheria and scabies outbreaks.  The impact was limited by proactive IPC training for 
hotels in Q2 and Q3. 

P
age 408



Director Insight – Director of Adult Social 
Care

Following on from Q2 Performance Report:-

• Harvest View - officially opened on the 24th November 2022, to date we had supported 64 residents (by the 13 January). It 
remains at full capacity. Average duration of stay is 22 days.

• We are currently working with health colleagues to update the operating model to open the top floor to gain the full capacity of 80 
beds.

• 12 week pilot assessment -

• 7 Individuals to date have been referred in to the 12-week project Of the 7 individuals referred to date, 4 began their 12 weeks 
journey in January 23.

• The following outcomes are being highlighted; 2 people were existing users of our in-house services pre COVID both with 3 full 
days support, both females have now transitioned away from funded day opportunities and are accessing opportunities 
independently within their local communities which for one individual includes volunteering locally.

• One gentleman began the service at the beginning of January, he was referred from the CSWT and had previously attended an 
external provider for 5 days per week at a cost of £11,992.86 per year pre COVID. This gentleman is currently on a pathway to no
funded day opportunities support and is enjoying the opportunities to access his community independently

• SCIE –

• They are to commence working with the Principle SW on developing toolkits and imbedding Strength based practices into all 
aspects of ASC work

P
age 409



Director Insight – Director of Adult Social 
Care

During Q3

• We have no identified red ratings and work has continued to work on the cooperate plan objectives namely:-

• We have agreed the Carers Strategy and Delivery Plan for 2022 - 2026. We are completing a review of our commissioned services 
to ensure that they are fit for purpose and looking at the possibility and scope for a Carers Centre.

• 12 -week Assessment and Community Navigation

• We are recruiting into the vacant post, to gain full capacity to support up to 10 individuals per week through each 12-weeks block 
of the programme.

• Develop referral links with the Independent travel training team and specialist employment team, to support individuals into 
potential employment opportunities.

• Developing a resource directory, moving this to an online platform accessible to CSWT, enquiry and libraries enabling more 
individuals to be signposted to opportunities of interest which are tried and tested by people with lived experiences of disabilities.

• Define the pathways and joint working through SEND Operational and Strategic board to change the trajectory of the current 
predicted demand on long term services from Children’s teams.

• Working with the Community Catalysts and commissioning teams to support the development of the local offer for Sandwell.

P
age 410



Director Insight – Director of Adult Social 
Care

• Comprehensive workforce strategy to improve recruitment and retention –

• A recommendation was made for the implementation of a recruitment (Golden Hello) and Market Supplement (Retention) Payment 
Scheme for Social Work and Occupational Therapy services. In December 2022 this was agreed by the Cabinet member for ASC. Over the 
next quarter phase 2 will review of the professional roles within Social Work and Occupational Therapy in Adult Social Care. This is to 
assess whether these roles are aligned to expectations and/or whether any changes to the requirements of the role are necessary.

• We will also look towards addressing issues regarding to the recruitment to vacant posts a recruitment event is being held in early 
February 2023. The Workforce Strategy Group have devised work streams in relation to i.e. Leadership and Management, recruitment and 
retention, Learning and &development, Continuous Professional Development, Health and Wellbeing and Diversity and Inclusion.

• The majority of vacant posts are currently being backfilled by agency workers.

• In December 2022 the Hospital Team were allocated additional social work posts up to 31st March 2023, funded through the Discharge 
Grant, these posts are currently being filled by agency workers.

Adult Social Worker Vacancies 

Total No. of SW Staff Vacancies

Q2 120.16 39.5

Q3 123.16* 44

*increase in staffing numbers due to additional posts funded through external monies.

P
age 411



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Adult safeguarding improvements in practice and performance is on track, in that the decision support tool is going well and being piloted 
in the Safeguarding Team, seeking approval from DMT in February 2023 to roll it out to Adult Social Care. Working with Sandwell 
Safeguarding Adults Board for partners to utilise as part of the safeguarding pathways task and finish group.

• Embedding learning from Safeguarding adult reviews (SARS) and internal audits - regular social work forums continue to take place and 
embedding learning events planned. Currently working with performance team and area managers to embed risk assessment tool across 
Adult Social Care. Significant incident process has been reviewed and some amendments made - due to be signed off at DMT in February 
2023. In the process of introducing an auditing tool for safeguarding.

• Twelve Month (Fixed Term) Consultant Social Worker Post to aide practice in drug and alcohol dependency - continues to remain on track. 
Due to review the post holder’s work plan as new contract will commence February 2023. They will be working with the safeguarding team 
to improve knowledge/interventions in the area of Drug and Alcohol dependency. The Safer 6 event took place great uptake/feedback 
received. They have a number of other events and engagements sessions with Adult Social Care and partners arranged for 2023.

• Establish a programme of complete actions required for the transformation of social work and therapy - restructure project now closed by 
Human Resources, as agreed by JCC on 16.1.2023. Elements for completion by Adult Social Care is recruitment and filling of vacant posts. 
Planned start date for implementation of post restructure of teams is beginning of March 2023.

• Implement agreed Carers Strategy and Delivery Plan for 2022 - 2026. The implementation of the review of current commissioned 
services to ensure that they are fit for purpose and the agreement of the revised commissioning plan are ongoing. Commissioning Board 
gave in principle agreement to Carers Centre.

• Established service and Social care operating models - rightsizing across all Adult Social Care components of Discharge 2 Access process is 
ongoing. Additional money/posts for the intermediate social work provision has been received. Other focus is on increasing support for 
Joint Equipment Service and Community Alarms. For Joint Equipment Service additional staff/ additional equipment and storage space. The 
major risk is recruitment to vacant and additional posts.

P
age 412



Summary - Green Actions – On Track
• Review and refresh Carers Strategy yearly - to be implemented and then reviewed - inline with census data on carers published 

on the 19th January 2023. 

• Drug Misuse Services (to prevent, treat and sustain recovery from substance misuse) and Alcohol Misuse Services (to prevent, 
treat and sustain recovery from alcohol misuse) - new integrated Drug & Alcohol Adults service  to commence 1st Feb 2023.

• Weigh2go - on track and now live

• Healthy Sandwell advice and referral service  - average number of contacts per month is 1,676, which is well above the monthly 
target

• Investment and support of community mental health programmes  (including pre-and post-natal support groups; a parenting 
programme; an anti-bullying campaign) - projects are on-going and on-track. Videos are completed and being used for training 
sessions for teachers/professionals. On-line version of training being created.

• Stop smoking support (work with maternity units to facilitate referrals for pregnant women into the service) - NHS LTP
workstream underway in addition to community treatment service provision

• Stop smoking support (community-based service offering 12 weeks of quit support)  - service successfully retendered and live 
since 1st April

• Public Health marketing campaigns on track

• Inclusive cycling programme - 9 session delivered so far, gainning EOI's for spring and better weather

• Sandwell Stride programme (volunteer-led walking scheme) and digital app-based walking offer - Stride attendance Jul-dec 22 
3130 / sessions 185. Go Jauntly views 5609, user completing walk 57, Go Jauntly walks 64

P
age 413



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Greenspace utilisation (physical activity in parks and open spaces) - attendance as expected for 
this time of year, next review meeting Jan 2023

• Develop the Charter Mark framework and expand into the Voluntary and Community Sector 
(VCS) (a declaration of support for, and set of commitments to, the wellbeing and mental health 
of everyone working in VCS) - Pilots are on-going and on-track

• Relationship and Sex Education (targeted sessions in non-mainstream school settings and one-
to-one sessions for vulnerable young people) - vulnerable children and young people continue 
to receive support around relationships and sex education through targeted one-to-one provision. 
Re-commissioning cycle started to ensure continuation of service at contract end.

• Falls Prevention (service to improve strength and balance for older people) - BCF approved Yr 3 
funding (July 2023-24) 

• Air Quality (a variety of measures to improve the air quality in the borough, e.g. by encouraging 
use of public transport) - On track and A4031 Air Quality Modelling project in progress. 

P
age 414



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• The draft operating model is in place for the intermediate community social work team but some further amendments are required to 
finalise the model. Also the draft operating model for the integrated hub is in place but further amendments are needed and the clinical 
lead needs to be consulted 

• Harvest View – the draft operating model and staffing resource has been tested and changes identified. The operating model for the 
second floor has been amended because of difficulties recruiting sufficient nurses. The Board is working on an updated draft operating 
model for presentation to Leadership Team in February

• Joint equipment stores site development and relocation of community alarms – turbex washer has now been transferred to Doulton Way 
and needs to be commissioned and community alarms are to relocate to Doulton Way at the end of February

• Draft of new proposal for STAR operating model was presented to the Director of ASC in January. Final proposal to be discussed at the 
beginning of February.

• Review and option appraisal of in-house day service offer – the 12 week assessment pilot and recruitment is ongoing. The project is now 
active and taking referrals

• Comprehensive workforce strategy to improve recruitment and retention - outstanding issues i.e. recruitment to vacant posts ongoing are 
to be discussed. Workstream actions have been identified in relation to the Workforce Strategy i.e. Leadership and Management, 
recruitment and retention, Learning and &development, Continuous Professional Development, Health and Wellbeing and Diversity and 
Inclusion

• Walker Grange is continuing to operate and the upgrade approved. Meeting with UBDS on site at Walker Grange on the 10th January 2023. 
Works planned to complete refurbishment and upgrades to create dementia friendly environment, with addition of 2 further flats and two 
short term respite beds. Ongoing engagement with Tenants and local community group. Proposed start date for works to be advised 
following procurement of works.

P
age 415



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• Integrated sexual health services (e.g. contraception advice, distribution of 
condoms, HIV testing and management, STD testing) . Stepping up the 
awareness-raising interventions and using key events such as World AIDS Day and 
HIV Testing Week to do so. Also working closely with those working directly with 
vulnerable populations to normalise testing and highlighting the need for 
national funding to be expanded from 'very high'  to 'high' HIV prevalence areas 
(i.e. Sandwell) for testing in emergency departments. Staffing for the provision of 
Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) has returned to normal as has 
training. Seven Sandwell pharmacies have now signed up to a pilot providing 
ongoing oral contraception and three have gone 'live’. This will improve access.

P
age 416



Strong Resilient Communities

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 417



Headlines

No. of Corporate Plan Actions 21

No. of directorate actions contributing 63

On Track 44 Medium issues/risks 11 Significant issues/risks 1 No Update 7

P
age 418



Director Insight – Director of Borough 
Economy

• Progress continues with the LED replacement programme for streetlights
• Highways and road safety work have experienced some slippage in the 

main due to recruitment challenges
• The potential archive and story-telling centre development is progressing 

to stage 2 feasibility
• Tree strategy work has now incorporated a Cabinet workshop and scrutiny 

providing an adjusted timeline
• Chargeable garden waste is due to be operational for the coming season
• Serco fleet replacement programme continues with 42 electric street 

sweepers due for delivery in the coming quarter
• The Annual plans including Street Cleansing plan have been signed off by 

Waste Board

P
age 419



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Work is due to commence shortly on the review of committee structures and will capture the outputs 
from the Neighbourhoods review.

• A cross council team is reviewing enforcement activity and developing proposals to deliver better co-
ordinated enforcement across the council. First meeting in Q4.

• Investment and support of community mental health programmes - Videos are completed and being 
used for training sessions for teachers/professionals. On-line version of training being created

• Delivery of West Bromwich Quarter (Town Hall and Central Library) Project – received confirmation of 
successful grant funding from DLHUC and commenced start of building work procurement

• Library+ implementation on track. Strategy to follow.

• Common Wealth Games Physical Activity, Health & Wellbeing Legacy Plan -Draft complete – awaiting 
budget decision on community sport offer

• Phase 3 the project - Legacy Build - on track for planned completion date before 23rd June 2023.  

• Deliver a successful programme of cultural & events activities - Spring / Summer schedule of events in 
place for 2023; Successful delivery of nine Christmas light switch on events, and a programme of 
Christmas ticketed and free events; Fireworks and Illuminations weekend successfully delivered. 

P
age 420



Summary - Green Actions – On Track
• Serco to deliver the undertaking to roll out electric street cleansing vehicles by 2030 and HGV’s by 2035-

Commissioning consultancy for most efficient solution to EV charging at Shidas Lane. Initially 42 light vehicles 
(Transits, Tippers etc.)

• Transformation plan by Serco to improve standards of street cleansing across the Borough approved -
implementation being monitored.

• New Domestic Abuse Strategy 2021-24Strategy adopted and Implementation Plan being monitored via DASP. Q1 
2037 DA crimes / non crimes recorded / 238 cases at MARAC /  66% repeat rate - audit being undertaken in Q2 / 
247 training sessions attended 

• Community Safety Strategy 2022-26 in place outlining PoVE priorities. Meetings with all PoVE theme leads taking 
place to update plan and develop PoVE Strategy 

• Review existing policies in response to National Statutory Taxi and private hire vehicle standards adding 
greater focus on the powers to protect children and vulnerable adults - Policy changes approved by cabinet in April 
2022

• Implementation of Delivery Plan for New Burdens Funding for support in safe accommodation -Oversight via 
Implementation Group. Q2 update: 34 refuge spaces running at 99.8% . 64 new clients entered service. 34 already 
in service and 30 planned departures. complex needs worker supported 28 adults and 26 children. Family Support 
worker supported 21 families with transition to and from refuge. Empowerment and Engagement worker 
supported 44 adults and 51 children to help develop knowledge and confidence to live independently.  87% of all 
adults and 99.8% of children in service attended at least one activity. 

P
age 421



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• Delivery of Towns Investment Plans in West Bromwich, Smethwick and Rowley Regis, through 
£67.5m of Town Deal funding - The potential for Phases 2 and 3 will be reviewed going forward -
the proposals for a new Storytelling/Archive Centre are being further developed and a new 
location in Smethwick has been identified

• Replace 4,000 high energy street lighting lanterns with low energy LED lighting - Cabinet approved 
prudential borrowing in November. Risk of slippage due to delayed approval and winter working

• Youth facilities Review -Still awaiting outcome of Levelling Up Fund bid for a new purpose built 
youth facility - now anticipated end of Jan 23.  Report completed for purchasing 2 new youth 
buses to replace the existing 'ageing' buses. Safer Streets Funding secured to develop a Young 
Friends of Lightwoods park. Additional funding received from Violence Reduction Partnership to 
deliver a targeted programme for young people at Malthouse Outdoor Education Centre

• Long-term trees strategy  - Previous deadline moved to allow for Cabinet Member workshop and 
pre-decision Scrutiny session in Feb. Now scheduled for March Cabinet, after pre-decision 
scrutiny in Feb

• Work with partners to support the reduction in road traffic accidents - Progress constrained 
mainly by recruitment difficulties and delayed approval of the workforce plan.

P
age 422



Red Actions – Significant issues/risks

• Bring together governance arrangements and budgets to ensure VCS 
grants are aligned to corporate objectives - Team continues to 
support the commissioners with grant reviews as part of the council's 
2022/23 savings programme. No formal decision on implementing a 
centralised approach to grant management made. Team continues to 
operate at less than full capacity due to sickness absence.

P
age 423



Quality Homes in Thriving 
Neighbourhoods

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 424



Headlines
No. of Corporate Plan Actions 20

No. of directorate actions contributing 33

On Track 19 Medium issues/risks 9 Significant issues/risks 0 No Update 5

P
age 425



Director Insights – Director of Housing

• Plans to reduce backlogs in homelessness and housing allocations are being implemented with 
39% reduction in backlog of households awaiting triage for help on homelessness (178 to 108). 
Housing applications backlog reduced to 550, from 1,200.

• Damp and Mould Team set up November 2022 and 125 category 1 (highest priority) properties 
have had anti-fungal wash. Work ongoing to address all identified cases, involving holistic 
approach to tenant support and property improvement.

• Housing Revenue Account Business Plan developed with targeted consultation and Scrutiny Board 
input.

• Empty Homes Strategy launched and will be supported through re-structure and increased 
capacity in this area.

• New project designed to pilot 3 options for recycling in high rise blocks, to be rolled out February 
2023.

• New Assistant Director Asset Management appointed and new post of AD Building 
Safety approved and being filled.

P
age 426



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Review of accommodation needs and requirements for the future (accommodation strategy) -
Data/information continues to be collected on future housing, customer expectations and 
aspiration for people to be supported in their own home. Continue to explore digital innovations 
built into fabric of accommodation to support individuals in their own home. Visits to Coventry 
and Leamington Spa to discus this with builders and adopt principles in new and existing buildings

• Focus more of our ambitious house building programme on the needs of our children and 
young people who have complex needs or experience of care - Work continues on the Hallam 
Close scheme with St Basils and we are starting to scope out a future "Youth Hub" model to 
support young people at risk of or already homeless. The work to remove age designations on a 
number of properties continues with consultation complete and final notification to all affected 
tenants in early February 2023, with the intention of removing age designations in 40+ properties 
from 1 April 2023.  Work also continues to develop and enhance our support to tenants and 
landlords within the private rented sector and incentive scheme for private landlords to offer 
properties to people at risk of or already homeless

• Incorporate more renewable energy measures into the design of new build homes, including 
MMC and heating - The 24 Units that were delivered achieved a "B" rating.

P
age 427



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Bring forward a new Homelessness Strategy - Strategy in place and new delivery plan being developed with 
partners over 2022/23 to ensure that the strategy is delivered as a partnership agenda

• Modernise estate management based on early identification and interventions- Home Checks fully 
operational, over 2000 completed, work on damp and mould triggering more interventions. Consultation on 
new operating model completed and in final phase of implementation, with go live scheduled for April 24

• Upgrades to our stock including energy efficiency and alternative heating systems-Applications are being 
developed for the latest round in funding for energy efficient schemes and work continues on projects 
already in train for retrofit works and communal alternative heat sources.  Recruitment of specialist officers 
in this field needs to be progressed to give this initiative more focus 

• Increase the scope and impact of tenant engagement -Tenant and Leaseholder Scrutiny Panel fully up and 
running, Tenant Auditors (TA) are now fully established and have completed their first audit and an action 
plan has been agreed . TA have agreed to further face to face training to supplement online training taken in 
Summer 2022. They are due to embark upon their next audit Jan '23.  The TA have started to build 
relationships with the Tenant & Leaseholder Scrutiny Group (TSLG), and have had further joint sessions to 
network and share work plans. Tenant celebration took place in November, it was well received and tenant 
attending really appreciated it and valued their efforts being recognised. Support has been provided to the 
Resident Engagement Officer in Asset Management to develop resident engagement in building safety. SCIPS 
have continued to support the resident engagement framework, as well as support and development of 
current TRAs and residents wanting to set up a TRA.

P
age 428



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• We will deliver much needed new homes across the borough. We will help keyworkers to access affordable housing - 24 
Units have been delivered

• Willow Gardens fully operationally . Walker Grange is continuing to operate and upgrade approved. Works planned to 
complete refurbishment and upgrades to create dementia friendly environment, with addition of 2 further flats and two 
short term respite beds. Proposed start date for works to be advised following procurement of works

• Keep people independent in their own homes for as long as possible through best use of Disabled Facilities Grant -
Meetings have been held and arranged and are taking place with internal and external stakeholders with a view to 
finalising the policy. A draft policy to cover the provision of adaptations to council housing has been discussed. Consulting
on and finalising this document may delay the submission of the cabinet paper as it is anticipated that both policies will be
part of a single report to cabinet. The tender for the Major Adaptations and Renewal Work Framework has been 
advertised and submissions from interested parties are currently being evaluated. The new contract is scheduled to begin 
on 1st February 2023. Discussions regarding a new internal operating model are continuing.  Appointments to key posts in 
Asset Management remains outstanding.

• Bring empty homes in to use and raise standards in the private rented sector - Empty property strategy is now approved 
and will be visible on the website from 16/01/2023. 23 cases running with temp officer. Interviewing post restructure hope 
to start key work from April 2023.

• Become an official Borough of Sanctuary- Good progress is being made by the Project Officer who is collating evidence, 
involving relevant voluntary sector partners and developing a Borough of Sanctuary strategy.

P
age 429



A Strong and Inclusive Economy

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 430



Headlines
No. of Corporate Plan Actions 22

No. of directorate actions contributing 41

On Track 23 Medium issues/risks 7 Significant issues/risks 0 No Update 11

P
age 431



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Business support – with the dissolution of the Local Enterprise Partnership 
business support activity in the Council will increase. The Business Growth 
Team will need to expand to support this.

• Sandwell Anchor Network established and funded. We are working with 
the Centre for Economic Activity to drive Social Value and local 
employment. Business Ambassadors are very supportive of this initiative.

• UKSPF funding secured to support development and growth of business 
start ups. Start up business school to be undertaken in Feb 23 to support 
30 start ups. Other start up initiatives being developed for 23/24 and 
24/25. An Enterprise Officer is in place.

• Business Growth Team is working with WMCA Business Support Specialist 
Products for Decarbonisation. Programme scheduled to start in April 23.

P
age 432



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• Sandwell Local Plan – Following the halt of the Black Country Plan, in 
November, Cabinet took the decision to commence preparation of a 
Sandwell Local Plan. December Cabinet approved consultation on 
Issues and Options and opening call for sites exercise to take place in 
Feb and March 23. Forecast adoption date end of 2025/early 2026 
and therefore, Sandwell’s Local Plan will be out of date for longer 
than originally anticipated through the Black Country Plan process 
(late 2024). A part time Programme Manager has been recruited to 
oversee the work.

P
age 433



A Connected and Accessible Sandwell

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 434



Headlines
No. of Corporate Plan Actions 18

No. of directorate actions contributing 28

On Track 16 Medium issues/risks 7 Significant issues/risks 0 No Update 5

P
age 435



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• A4031 Air Quality Modelling project is in progress, this will support delivery of the 
walking and cycling infrastructure plan . There has been a substantial investment in our 
green infrastructure, there are many ‘part-routes’ in the borough, investment over the 
next 3 to 4 years will focus on connecting these areas so we have a connected active 
travel network, for example cycling from Birmingham New Street to the Midland 
Metropolitan Hospital

• Canal and River Trust connectivity projects are on track, works started in Q3 and are due 
to be completed by the end of April 2023.

• The possibility of reducing cash from kiosks and cash reduction in general is being 
investigated due to the staff resource this takes. Levels of cash payments have reduced 
significantly since pre Covid. Payment kiosks will be explored further as part of the 
community hub offer.

• Still promoting on line services, Direct Debit increase/promotion and looking at how we 
can use emails/MySandwell portal as part of corresponding with customers digitally 
rather via the post which is expensive and causes delays. On line live chat with residents 
will be introduced at the end of January,  in addition to the chatbot that is already live. 

P
age 436



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• 5G full fibre connectivity –BT Openreach have a £40m programme to 
roll out in Sandwell which will be delivered by end 25/26. They have 
currently completed 39% of works.

• The approval process for the Birchley Island Scheme has experienced 
some delays, this project is directly funded by the Department for 
Transport.

P
age 437



One Council One Team

Quarter 3 Progress

P
age 438



Headlines
No. of Corporate Plan Actions 27

No. of directorate actions contributing 73

On Track 42 Medium issues/risks 28 Significant issues/risks 2

P
age 439



Director Insights – Director of Finance
• Oracle Fusion ERP Project

• Cabinet approved implementation budget and benefits case in January
• Discovery Phase nearing completion – Programme Board due to sign-off gateway 

criteria on 14th Feb in line with milestones

• Finance Improvement Plan
• CIPFA Follow-Up Review – shows significant progress and an overall 3* rating has 

been achieved
• Improvement Plan will be updated to reflect any new recommendations
• Transactional Finance Process Review making good progress – on track to achieve 

milestone dates

• Commercial Strategy
• Strategic Business Cases drafted – due to be considered by Leadership Team on 7th 

February

P
age 440



Director Insights – Director of Law & Governance
• Gov Review – Next Steps: A Development Plan is being developed that captures all key actions associated 

with embedding the changes to the Council Constitution approved by Full Council. Steps and actions have 
already been taken to improve decision-making and understanding of important governance rules and 
procedures. The Development Plan however acknowledges that certain improvements will require time to 
deliver and officers and members need to be afforded the time to drive, embed and realise the 
improvements that the changes to the Constitution now helps facilitate and/or enable.

• A review of the Member Development Programme is underway which will address any specific issues 
emerging from Member PDPs and other avenues to ensure member development and training remains fit 
for purpose.

• Voter ID: A range of activities are being undertaken to ensure that residents are as well informed as possible 
with regards to Voter ID that comes into effective at the May Local elections. It is vital that we do all we can 
to encourage residents to engage in the democratic process.

• The Council’s Equality Objective is currently under review as required by the Equality Act 2010 and will be 
updated shortly.

• Officer and Member engagement sessions have been well received and more sessions are planned that 
builds on the emerging healthy working relationship between officers and members. 

• The first round of Group Leader, Chief whip and Statutory Officers meetings have taken place and positively 
received.

P
age 441



Management Insights – Business Strategy 
& Change

• Recognition of progress made on corporate oversight and organisational change by GT and LGA

• Future Talent Board established – cross-Directorate leadership with Children and 
Education. Focus on workforce development through apprenticeships, graduate placements, 
work placements, as well as inclusive internal talent development for progression

• Work on a corporate approach to resident consultation and engagement continues to gather 
momentum, Leadership Team agreed a new framework in Q3 including an annual resident survey 
and annual budget consultation as well as a platform for all engagement activity. Procurement 
taking place in Q4.

• Work is continuing on the Customer Journey Programme, a Cabinet Priority Focus session was 
held in December 2022 and a further session is planned for February 2023.

• A pilot project brief is being drafted to look at trialling a 'Community Hubs' model.

• Funding approach developed for key strategic areas to drive the council forward, built into MTFS 
from 2023/24, e.g. cyber security, resident consultation and engagement, workforce strategy

P
age 442



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Social Value - has been included in the revised Contract Regulations, further work is 
required to embed and ensure a consistency of approach.

• Oracle Fusion - Revised project plan, resource model and governance arrangements in 
place. Cabinet due to approve implementation budget and benefits case in January 2023. 

• Holistic review of democratic governance - complete, work underway to embed changes 
corporately. 

• Equality Policy - was approved by Cabinet. A benchmarking exercise is underway to 
engage an EDI consultant who has proven experience working with LAs and the LGA 
Equality Framework. 

• Upgraded business applications for the Legal and Assurance team and management of 
SARs and FOIs - Icasework case management system upgrade was implemented on 15th 
November 2022 which has provided improved management of files and billing together 
with providing an effective management tool for monitoring workloads/work types.

P
age 443



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Performance Management - Corporate Performance Manager recruited -
start date end Feb 2023. Implementation of PMF and establishment of 
improved corporate grip recognised by LGA and Grant Thornton in their 
follow up reviews Autumn 2022.

• Corporate approach to resident engagement and consultation - approved 
by Leadership Team in November 2022 - additional funding requirements 
built into 2023/24 budget for approval in Q4. Procurement documents 
being prepared in readiness for launch once budget agreed.

• Delivery of income generated from chargeable garden waste Option B 
through spend to save proposal - Approved by Cabinet Nov '22. Project 
underway and on-trach for launch of subscriptions and service delivery in 
Q4.

P
age 444



Summary - Green Actions – On Track

• Cyber Gap Analysis- Budget is targeted for approval at February's 
Cabinet. Once approved, a delivery programme can be published for 
approval

• New Windows 10 Deployment  - Overcome last remaining technical 
throughout December. On track for a pilot within ICT and begin wider 
deployment in the spring.

P
age 445



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• Finance - actions from first phase of Improvement Plan largely complete. Some areas of slippage due to 
capacity

• Commercial Strategy - approved by Leadership Team and draft Strategic Business Cases also completed. Due 
for Cabinet consideration in March.

• Corporate debt - fundamental review underway by C.co to understand a complete picture of debt across 
the Council and recovery processes with a view to having a corporate approach to debt recovery in place. 
Review due to be complete by end of February but recommendations may take some time to implement

• Corporate Asset Management System - Property modules implemented. Finance modules due to be 
implemented by end of March 2023.

• Draft ICT Strategy - Some slippage in taking forward the draft ICT Strategy for consultation. Following 
engagement activity aiming to put forward to Cabinet in June 2023.-

• Telephony - numerous discussions have taken place with neighbouring LA's, Microsoft & ICT and it has now 
been clarified that only the Contact Centre telephony will be replaced at this time. Therefore the Business 
Case has been changed to reflect this and it is scheduled to go to Capital & Asset Management Board on the 
6 February 2023.

P
age 446



Summary - Amber Actions – Medium 
issues/risks

• Comprehensive Corporate Governance Training - Initial training sessions have been undertaken 
but there is still a need to develop a comprehensive rolling programme for officers and members. 
This will be progressed in Q4 of 2022/23. 

• HR Policy - capacity approved and in place to support review of core policies and procedures.   
Values and behaviours work on track (Improvement Plan priority).  IIP assessment remains on 
hold.

• Workforce Strategy - to be agreed at Cabinet May 2023. this will include Future Talent actions 
including the re-instating of a graduate offer based upon the LGA National Graduate Scheme. A 
new governance board for future Talent has been created and the first meeting of this is to take 
place 18 January 2023, this board will drive forward the wider Talent agenda.

• ICT Multi Factor Authentication - Technical issues have been more complex that first anticipated.  
The problems largely exist around the enrolment of the service.  A solution has now been 
identified and is being trialled within ICT.  If this is successful, then a rollout and end date will be 
forecast and planned for spring.

P
age 447



Summary - Red Actions – Significant 
issues/risks

• Development of a Corporate Data Strategy – resources continue to 
be dedicated to delivering the Improvement Plan. Corporate 
Performance Manager to lead development when in post end 
February 2023

• Lean Review of the Councils payment processes - This will be part of 
the Business Process Review programme which is being developed. 
Although resources are in place they are being focused on the 
Customer Journey Programme which is a key corporate priority. 

P
age 448



 

 

Strategic Risk Register Summary @ January 2023      

Appendix 4  

 

 

 

 
1. Best start in 
life for children 

and young 
people 

     
2. People live 
well and age 

well 

3. Strong resilient 
communities 

4. Quality homes in 
thriving 

neighbourhoods 

5. A strong and 
inclusive 
economy 

6. A connected 
and accessible 

Sandwell 

      

Page 449



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

4 

07/12 

Children’s Social Care 

If the council does not put in place robust 
arrangements and receive appropriate 
assurances to ensure that the Sandwell 
Children’s Trust (SCT) addresses the areas of 
poor or inconsistent performance, as outlined by 
Ofsted (and as required by the Statutory 
Direction served on the council on 6 October 
2016), with rigour and pace, then the council will 
fail in its responsibilities to: 

• Safeguard vulnerable children 

• Promote and improve the outcomes of 
children in its care 

• Manage any adverse financial 
consequences arising from the failure to 
create favourable outcomes for children 
within the resources available to it  

• Continue on its progress to date and 
direction of travel to further improve the 
council’s reputation for children’s social care 
as currently demonstrated by the ILACS 
inspection. 

Risk Area – Children’s Services 

Risk Owners – Director of Children and 
Education 

Objectives impacted: 1 and 3 

8 

(amber) 

 

 8 

(amber) 

 

Requires 
Improvement 

 

 

4 

(green) 

 

Good  

Outcome of 
ILACS 

inspection by 
March 2025 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Performance and contract management against KPIs and the improvement plan. The 
KPIs have been reviewed (to take effect from 1 April 2023) as part of the contract review 
process and have taken into account the Ofsted findings, as well as any findings from the 
recent national review by Josh McAllister around early help, children’s social care and 
partner collaboration. 

• The most recent Ofsted inspection of the Fostering service rated all areas as ‘Good’. 

• Completion of case file audits and learning from the audit is used to ensure practice 
improvement.  

• Ongoing measures to improve staffing levels and recruitment via the development of a 
workforce strategy and market supplements. 

• The Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services (ILACS) took place in May 2022 
and reported a judgement of ‘Requires Improvement to be Good’ and continues to inform 
the risk score. 

• Contract review commenced in April 2022 resulting in a recommendation being made to 
the Secretary of State not to invoke the break clause within the Service Delivery Contract. 

Further actions 

• Embedment of the multi agency early help strategy which was launched in March 2022 
(ongoing).  

• Consideration of the impact of the government’s full response to the Josh McAllister Care 
Review once published which government stated would be later this year. 

The acute shortage of social care workers (which is the position locally and nationally) 
continues to impact this risk despite actions being taken as noted in risk 064 below. 

Operational Partnership and Strategic 
Partnership Boards 

Ofsted monitoring visits 

Improvement Board 

Sandwell Local Safeguarding Children’s 
Board Annual Report 

Grant Thornton – Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021 

Reports to Scrutiny  

ILACS Ofsted inspection July  

2022 

Independent Reviewing Officer function 

Rolling programme of audits of case 
files as part of the quality assurance 
framework 

Performance Management framework 
and Service Delivery Contract  

SCT business plan  

SCT external audit report 

Key Performance Indicators (including 
social worker vacancy rates) 

LG Futures benchmarking exercise 

Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 

Corporate Parenting Board 

6a 

10/07 

Emergency Planning 

If the council does not put in place effective 
arrangements to plan and mitigate against 
national, regional or local emergencies as 
defined by Part 1 of the Civil Contingencies Act 
2004 (CCA) then this will result in:   

• Actual or anticipated failure to adequately 
protect vulnerable persons 

• Failure to support the emergency services 

• Loss of public confidence in the council 

• Failure to fulfil Civil Contingencies Act 
responsibilities 

 

Risk Area – Neighbourhoods and Communities 

Risk owner – Director of Borough Economy 

Objectives impacted: All 

4 

(green) 

 4 

(green) 

4 

(green) 

 

Achieved 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Participation in the West Midlands Local Resilience Forum (LRF). 

• Contribution to the Community Risk Register (CRR) via the Risk Assessment Working 
Group. The CCR which is approved by the LRF, informs the capabilities and plans 
required of partners. 

• The council has plans in place for identified risks. These include the Sandwell Emergency 
Plan; Rest Centre Plan; Humanitarian Assistance Centre Plan; Sandwell Flood Plan; 
Reservoir Plan; Extreme Weather Plan; Black Country Excess Deaths Plan; h Evacuation 
Plan; media crisis plan; emergency mortuary Plan and the Emergency Transport Plan. 

• These plans are continually reviewed and a training, testing and exercise programme 
approved by the Leadership Team informs the current risk score.  

• The extreme weather plan was activated and no issues with the arrangements in place 
were identified. 

• Exercise Shelby took place to validate elements of the Solvay Solutions emergency plan, 
including testing of the new incident room activation and functionality.  

Further actions 

• An update of the civil contingencies legislation is due to be put forward in the current 
parliament. Once the legislation is published an update on the changes and what it 
means to the council will be undertaken. 

• Ongoing review, testing and exercise. 

• Our Guidance for Elected Members will be reviewed with an aim to conduct a Cabinet 
Workshop by March 2023. 

Community Risk Register 

 
Risk assessments 
 
Emergency Committee 
 
Post incident reports 
 
Test exercises 
 

P
age 450

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s10765/08%20-%20Sandwell%20Childrens%20Trust%20Contract%20Review.pdf
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?ID=157


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

 6b 

04/18 

Business Continuity Management (BCM) 

If the council does not develop, review, monitor 
and test plans and capabilities that seek to 
maintain the continuity of key functions in the 
event of an unplanned disruptive incident, then 
it will be unable to perform critical business 
functions which will impact the provision of 
council services and result in potential financial 
loss and loss of public confidence in the 
council. 

 

Risk Area – All Council services 

Risk owner – Director of Borough Economy 

Objectives impacted: All  

12 

(red) 

 

 12 

(red) 

 

 

 

8 

(amber) 

 

Mar 2023 

 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Business continuity plans are in place to mitigate the denial of staff (e.g. illness, industrial 
action), ICT (e.g. software failure, cyber attack), facilities (e.g. building closure), 
stakeholders (e.g. suppliers, partners). These plans identify the criticality of each council 
service and the arrangements in place to restore services in the event of an unplanned 
incident.  

• The pandemic has provided some assurance around the robustness and effectiveness of 
the continuity of key functions over the last few years, through a shift to working remotely. 

• Following the incident in the ICT suite in May 2022 the council continues to revisit its 
resilience arrangements- in particular in relation to its Oracle business system, to ensure 
robust measures are in place to reduce both the likelihood and impact of a similar risk 
materialising in the future. Details in respect of the actions taken were presented to the 
Committee in November 2022. 

Further actions 

• As noted in the briefing paper to ARAC in November 2022. 

• Procurement of a back up server. 

• All directorate are reviewing their Plans to incorporate any learning from the ICT incident 
noted above. Once completed and assurance has been sought, this will enable the risk 
assessment to be reduced (Mar 23). 

• Support from the cyber team to work with the resilience team to further improve all 
service area business continuity plans (ongoing).  
 

Emergency Committee 

 
Resilience team reports to Leadership 
Team 
 
Post incident reports 
 
Test exercises including cyber exercise  
 
Computer room incident report to ARAC 
Nov 2022 

21a 

06/15 

Compliance with the Data Protection Act 
2018 (DPA 2018), the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) and Freedom of 
Information Act 2000 (FOIA)  

If the council does not ensure it has a robust 
framework in place to comply with the DPA 2018 
(which includes GDPR) or FOIA then it faces 
significant external action from the Information 
Commissioner’s Office for failing to undertake its 
statutory duty.  Further, failing to comply could 
result in negative public reaction and 
reputational damage, significant monetary 
penalties, loss of confidential data and 
potentially legal action. 

 

Risk Area – Legal & Governance  

Risk Owner- Director of Law and Governance 

Objectives impacted: 3 

 

 

 

12 

(red) 

 

 12 

(red) 

 

 

8 

(amber) 

 

March 2023 

(officers) 

 

Dec 2023 

(members) 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• The Information Governance Board which is chaired by the Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) meets monthly to monitor progress of the information governance (IG) 
workplan. 

• IG framework sets out the council’s policies, requirements, standards and best practice 
that apply to the handling of information. 

• Information Asset Registers capture the information held by the council service areas. 

• Information champions disseminate, feedback, facilitate and co-ordinate IG activity.  

• Annual completion of and compliance with the NHS self- assessment toolkit -NHS Digital 
which demonstrates the council processes in place to meet the requirements of the 
NHS’s data protection standards and sharing arrangements. 

• Annual mandatory data protection and cyber security training for all staff. 

• Compliance with the council’s data retention policy. 

• Improved performance and monitoring arrangements for compliance with FOI and SAR 
responses. 

• Improved performance and monitoring arrangements for compliance with FOI and SAR 
responses. The Governance team report on performance to the IG Board and to 
Leadership Team on a quarterly basis. The latest statistics show that compliance is 
increasing gradually, with November 2022 performance reaching 88% for FOI compliance 
and 79% for SAR compliance.  

Further actions 

• A further programme of work to ensure compliance by elected members will also 
commence in early 2023, which will be completed by December 2023. 

• Procure and embed a new case management system for FOIs and SARs (Sept 2023)  

• Ensure continued improvement in response times of FOI requests, with a target of 95% 
compliance by March 2023 for the council.  

 

 

 

Information Governance Board 

 
Information Champions 
 
Data Protection Officer 
 
Information asset registers 
 
Information Commissioner’s Office 
 
Internal Audit reviews 
 
Information incident log 
 
Performance data on compliance with 
FOI and SAR responses to Leadership 
Team and directors 

P
age 451

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=157
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?ID=11525&OID=3067&OT=A&RPID=534858&BM=AI3067
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?ID=11525&OID=3067&OT=A&RPID=534858&BM=AI3067


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

27 

06/09 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and 
Resource Allocation 

Local Government continues to operate in an 
uncertain financial environment arising from 
reducing central government funding, increasing 
demand for services, Covid-19 and more 
recently the impact of the high levels of inflation 
being reported. If the council is unable to identify 
sufficient savings and put in place the necessary 
policies, processes and actions to manage 
pressures, inflation and manage its plans, then 
this will impact on the council’s financial 
resilience and its ability to effectively discharge 
its statutory responsibilities including the setting 
of  a balanced budget for future years. 

  

Risk Area – Finance & Resources  

Risk owner- Director of Finance 

Objectives impacted: All 

16 

(red) 

 

 8 

(amber) 

 

 

8 

(amber) 

Achieved 

 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Local government settlement announced for one year only. 

• A balanced budget for 2022/23 was approved by council on 1 March 2022 and includes 
savings totalling £14.6m. 

• Directorate and service business plans in place. 

• The review by CIPFA on the council’s financial management and governance 
arrangements, noted that the council is a progressive two-star (out of five) authority. The 
review also looked at financial resilience and concluded that the council is financially 
stable and in recent years has been able to contribute towards reserves through 
achieving a balanced budget or an underspend.  

• A fundamental review of the MTFP (in line with the CIPFA recommendations) has been 
completed, to ensure the council understands the challenges ahead and to ensure that 
the MTFP matches the ambitions of the corporate plan and regeneration plans for 
Sandwell. A further review will be undertaken following announcement of the local 
government settlement. The review includes an assessment of the impact the high levels 
of inflation currently being experienced and are forecast, are having on the MTFP and the 
mitigating measures being implemented. 

• Star chambers continue to be used to support budget setting.  

• The draft MTFP was presented to Cabinet in November. This showed that savings in the 
region of £15m were required for 2023/24 to ensure a balanced and sustainable budget 
could be set whilst maintaining a prudent level of reserves. Cabinet considered savings 
proposals in principle amounting to £16m, subject to appropriate consultation and 
Equality Impact Assessments, which left a budget surplus remaining of approx. £1.4m.  

• LG Futures have been commissioned to provide financial benchmarking data. 

• The local government finance settlement for 2023/24 has now been received and 
includes additional funding for Adult Social Care alongside confirmation that business 
rates reset will not happen in this Parliament. These factors were a significant risk for the 
MTFS and as such, the risk has enabled the risk to be reduced to amber. 

Further actions 

• Implementation of the action plan developed following the CIPFA review (as per the 
improvement plan timetable). 

• A further review of the MTFS is to be included in the budget report in February 2022 to 
reflect the settlement announcements and updated funding gap. 

• Use of benchmarking data to help identify opportunities for efficiencies, savings and 
service improvements. 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 

 
External Audit  
 
CIPFA financial management review 
 
LGA Corporate Peer Review 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 
 
LG Futures benchmarking data  

27a 

06/21 

Future Government Policies and Funding 
Sources 

If the government does not provide local 
authorities clarity over the future plans for health 
and social care reforms, the public health grant, 
Better Care Fund, future years funding and 
continuing, with one year funding settlements 
then this inhibits local authorities to effectively 
manage medium term/ three year plans and put 
in place the necessary processes and actions to 
manage future pressures. This will impact on the 
council’s ability to deliver sustainable services to 
the people of Sandwell and effectively discharge 
its statutory responsibility to set a balanced 
budget for future years 

 

Risk Area – Finance   

Risk owner- Chief Executive 

Objectives impacted: All 

16 

(red) 

 8 

(amber) 

 

8 

(amber) 

 

Achieved 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

The risk continues to be assessed as high due to the current economic environment. 
However, as a result of the matters noted above in risk 27 the risk has been slightly reduced.  
Due to the uncertainties that are currently prevalent around various central government 
funding sources, in addition to the national political uncertainties around economic growth 
and inflation, and whether this will be reflected in future funding policies,. 

Further actions 

The council continues to horizon scan and consider the impacts of potential government 
initiatives and policies on future funding sources and demand for council services. (Ongoing) 

 

 

P
age 452

https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80549?CId=143&MId=6235&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=140
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

27b 

10/21 

Budget Monitoring and Management 2022/23 

If the council does not put in place effective 
arrangements to monitor and manage the 
current year’s budget to ensure that planned 
savings are achieved and efficiencies realised, 
then it will result in overspends and the 
resilience of the council’s finances. 

 
Risk Area – Finance & Resources  

Risk owner- Director of Finance 

Objectives impacted: All 

12  

(red) 

 8 

(amber) 

 

Monitoring 
and 

management  

6 

(green) 

 

March 2023 

 

 

 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• The financial management and monthly budgetary control processes in place. 

• Regular reporting of financial performance to Budget Board, Scrutiny and Cabinet. 

• As noted above, a review by CIPFA on the council’s financial management and 
governance arrangements was completed and an action plan developed to address the 
recommendations made. This is being monitored by the Corporate Improvement Board. 

Further actions 

• The council reported its budgetary position in September 2022 which showed a forecast 
outturn position for 22/23 of a £2.129m overspend for the general fund, in large due to 
inflation and pay awards, and informs the current risk assessment.  

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 

 
CIPFA financial management review 
 
External Audit 
 
Annual Internal Audit review- budgetary 
control 
 
Management accounts  12 

(red) 

 

Budget 
position 

12 

(red) 

 

 

42a 

02/17 

Cyber Security 

The public sector continues to be the target of 
significant, sophisticated and increasingly 
frequent cyber-attack with these intent on 
causing service disruption or disclosure of 
sensitive data. If the council does not invest 
additional and sufficient financial resources into 
a cyber security resilience programme, then it 
will remain at significant exposure of receiving a 
successful cyber-attack. The consequences will 
be: 

• The inability of the council and SCT to 
deliver some or all services, particularly 
critical services for a significant period of 
time, ranging from days to months 

• The loss of corporate and sensitive personal 
data (including bank details)  

• Enforcement action 

• Significant financial loss  

• Employee stress and 

• Reputational damage 

 
Additionally, the council will be: 

• Unable to meet sector defined standards 
and compliance for cyber resilience 

• Unable to share and collaborate with partner 
organisations in a joined-up manner as the 
council will not be viewed as a trusted 
partner 

 

Risk Area – Information Governance and ICT 

Risk Owner – Director of Finance 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 

 12 

(red) 

 

 

8 

(amber) 

 

Mar 2023 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Participation in national cyber resilience programmes run by organisations such as 
DLUHC, LGA and the NCSC 

• Close collaboration between the ICT Service and the council’s Information Governance 
Team to develop a holistic approach to information protection 

• Appropriate technical controls to protect the council’s network perimeter and information 
assets 

• Updates and progress reports as requested to the Leadership Team and Corporate 
Scrutiny Board. 

• Training for all staff through the implementation of the meta-compliance annual training. 

• Regular communications continue to be sent to employees pertaining to protecting 
themselves and the council from emerging and new cyber security threats. 

• Attendance at national C-TAG forum, DLUHC cyber clinics and West Midlands Warning, 
Advice and Reporting Point (WARP) where members can receive and share up-to-date 
advice on information security threats, incidents and solutions. 

• Subscription to relevant cyber intelligence threat reports providing early warning of 
emerging threats, vulnerabilities and trends. 

• Use of the Active Cyber Defence and Early Warning tools provided by the National Cyber 
Security Centre. 

• An ongoing programme addressing the retirement and upgrade of obsolete and 
unsupported technology platforms 

• Annual ICT Health Check and Network Penetration Test 

Further actions  

• Re establish the Cyber Board to monitor progress against the cyber improvement 
programme.  

• Additional annual financial budget to be made available from April 2023 once new year 
council budget has been ratified (Mar 23) 

• Development and endorsement of Cyber Resilience Improvement Programme to 
implement additional tools and processes using the new cyber fund (May 23) 

• Adopt the NCSC Cyber Assessment Framework as a methodology across the public 
sector for demonstrating adequate and consistent cyber hygiene (June 23 – dependent 
on DLUHC) 

• Develop a PCI-DSS improvement programme to identify the gaps in compliance across 
all council credit and debit card payment channels (Sept 23) 

• Redefined governance structure to provide oversight of ongoing improvement programme 
following allocation of additional cyber funding (May 23) 

• Development and maintenance of incident playbooks to activate in response to adverse 
cyber activity (Oct 23) 

• Cyber 360 review (LGA availability dependent) 
  
 
 

Cyber Board 

 
LGA Cyber Assessment  
 
NHS Digital 
 
PSN certification 
 
Audit Committee risk reviews 
 
Self- assessment against cyber 
principles 

 

 

P
age 453

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6233&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

50 

01/18 

Sandwell Aquatic Centre 

If the council fails to deliver this project to scope, 
timescales and cost, then this will result in 
significant reputational damage to the council. 

 

Risk Area – Regeneration 

Risk Owner – Director of Regeneration and 
Growth 

 

Objectives impacted: 2, 5 and 6 

8 

(amber) 

 8 

(amber) 

4 

(green) 

 

Summer 
2023 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• The project is in the legacy phase which involves the work to provide local leisure 
facilities for Sandwell residents and is expected to be completed by summer 2023.  

• Project governance and management arrangements in place. 

• The Aquatics Facility to date is being delivered on time and on budget.  

Further actions 

• Completion of legacy phase (summer 2023).  

The project continues to be assessed as amber due to the impact of risks identified 
elsewhere in this report including:  
(a) Volatility in construction supply chains – there continues to be the ongoing risk of 

shortages in certain materials and this can lead to delays in construction. There are no 
significant issues currently identified, but this position can change. The construction 
partner does plan ahead to secure the necessary materials. 

(b) Increasing costs of utilities -The pools need to be kept to a minimum temperature and will 
cost more than originally planned due to significant increases in utility costs. All steps are 
being taken to minimise consumption. 

(c) It is critical that the LA Trading Company for Leisure Services is in place and operational 
in order that the Aquatics Centre can be transferred for operational use. This is a risk to 
the overall project until this entity is established. The Project team are working closely 
with Leisure Services to mitigate this risk. 

Project Board 

 

Internal audit review 2020/21 
 
Project risk register 

 

 

53 

04/18 

Oracle e-Business Suite  

If the appropriate project governance 
arrangements are not put in place to ensure that 
the project is delivered to time, scope and 
budget, then this may result in: 

• The council’s business system being 
unsupported 

• Inability to transform services that would 
enable processes to be more efficient  

• Non compliance/ misalignment with other 
council policies and projects such as 
Organisational development, the digital 
strategy, Work Place Vision and the IT 
transformation programme.  

 

Risk Area – Finance & Resources  

Risk Owners – Director of Finance   

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 8 

(amber) 

8 

(amber) 

 

April 2024 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• At its meeting on 13 April 2022, Cabinet approved renewal of the existing contract for 
Oracle business suite software until 30 April 2023. 

• Appointment of Infosys Limited as the council’s new Oracle Fusion implementation 
partner who have commenced contract delivery.  

• Revised project management and governance arrangements in place including a Project 
Board which meets weekly, new roles within the project team and a senior responsible 
officer (SRO).  

• A Business Design group meets fortnightly to monitor the outcomes and benefits from the 
programme. 

• A Business Readiness Group meets fortnightly which has oversight on the 
implementation plan activity. 

• An Implementation Board meets weekly to monitor progress on delivery of programme 
workstreams. 

• A Programme Management Office has been established and is utilising good practice 
programme management approaches.  

• Cross-cutting working groups on change management, reporting, data cleansing and 
migration, and implementation planning.  

• SOCITM have worked with the council to produce key programme documents. 

• Service engagement to better understand the new system. 

• Resource model and profiles developed setting out capacity and capability requirements. 

• A programme benefits framework has been produced and the strategic priorities for 
benefits have been agreed. 

• Completion and use of baselining exercise to identify cashable and non-cashable benefits 
that the new system will yield was reported to Cabinet on 18 January for approval.  

Further actions 

• Further work is required on organisational-wide engagement. Engagement events being 
planned for teams that will be affected by the changes. 

• Consideration of how the new system will support the performance appraisal process, 
leave booking, and the reporting of real time financial information. 

Project Board  

 

SOCITM 
 
Grant Thornton – Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 
 
SRO updates to Leadership Team 

P
age 454

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

56a 

06/22 

Towns Fund Programme (Delivery) 

If the council does not manage the programme 
to ensure that all projects are delivered to scope, 
time and budget ,then this could result in 
financial implications, the inability to regenerate 
our town centres, create sustainable economic 
growth and create long term economic 
prosperity, and also reputational harm to the 
council. 

 

Risk area- Regeneration and Growth 

Risk owner – Director of Regeneration and 
Growth 

Objectives impacted – 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 

6 

(green) 

 6 

(green) 

4 

(green) 

 

Programme 
completion 

of all 
projects 

and 
delivery of 
intended 
outcomes  

This risk sets out the next phase of the programme following the ministerial approvals 
received by the council for all 16 business cases that were submitted. 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• Robust governance in place to oversee the programme throughout the delivery phase 
including three Town Deal Boards (one per Town Deal Area), that have inherited 
Superboard roles and responsibilities. Revised governance arrangements for Delivery 
Phase were reviewed and approved by Cabinet in May 2022.  

• The council is the Accountable Body for the Town Deal funding. The Director of 
Regeneration and Growth chairs a Towns Fund Programme Board (which is also 
attended by the Director of Finance/ representative and officers from procurement and 
legal as well as all project leads) to review risks and provide a forum for resolution of 
issues, as well as seeking assurances on the management of risk.  

• Fortnightly engagement with advisors from DLUHC 

• Programme management arrangements in place including appointment of a permanent 
programme manager, programme support officer, dedicated monitoring officer resource, 
programme risk register and project risk registers for agreed business cases, which are 
updated quarterly. 

Further actions 

• Implement delivery phase of projects and programme plan. 

• Ongoing reviews of financial profiles to manage supply chain issues and implications of 
cost inflation. 

Town Deal Boards 

Department Of Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) 
 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
Deep Dive Jan 2022 
Scrutiny Reviews 
 
Monitoring and reporting of outcome 
indicators, with processes in place to 
manage changes and risks during 
delivery stage. 

 

 

 

57b Customer Journey 

One Stop Shop must meet the demand and 
needs of Customers, in order to avoid 
reputational damage to the Council. 

 

Risk area- Corporate Customer 

Risk owner – Director of Regeneration and 
Growth 

Objectives impacted - All 

12 

(red) 

 12 

(red) 

8 

(amber) 

 

Oct 2024 

Current and Ongoing Controls  

• New operating model for council employees is well embedded across all service areas. 

• Customer journey is one of the key priorities of the corporate transformation programme.  

• Regular discussions and focus sessions have taken place at Leadership Team to 
address concerns and issues. 

• Customer Journey Priority Focus Sessions are also being delivered to Cabinet. A 
Business Case has been developed for a new telephony system and this is being 
presented to Capital & Asset Management Board Feb 2023. 

• The MySandwell offer is continuously being developed. 

• Collection of Customer Satisfaction data is continuously being looked at and new 
methods trialled. 

• Customer Journey (CJ) is one of the key priorities of the corporate transformation 
programme.  

• The four main CJ Workstreams are:   
- Development of a Customer Experience Strategy 
- Review of Contact centres 
- Review of the One Stop Shop & exploration of a Community Hubs offer for face to 

face services in each Town.  

• Technology – review of all Customer related technology & identification of any gaps 

Further actions 

• Continued stakeholder engagement, in particular within the One Stop Shop (Ongoing). 

• Additional capacity and resources to be identified to meet current demand for face to face 
services. 

• Pilot local hub concept in two areas of the Borough (March 2024) 

• Ensure consistency of customer experience across the council and not just in some 
areas, as is currently the case (Oct 24). 

• Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board is looking at the customer journey as part of its 
current work programme (23/24). 

Customer satisfaction survey 

 

Customer compliments and complaints 
system 

 

Local Government Ombudsman report 

 

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Board 
Review 

 

Monitoring, reporting & governance 
through the Customer Journey 
Programme Board which will report in to 
the Corporate Transformation Office. 

P
age 455

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=175&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

58 

06/21 

Equalities 

If the council fails to meet its legal obligations in 
respect of the Equality Act 2010 and the Public 
Sector Equality Duty ensuring fairness is 
adhered to and is unable to demonstrate and 
evidence compliance with its obligations, then 
this will result in potential legal consequences 
for non compliance, reputational harm to the 
council as well as potential impact on 
recruitment and retention. 

Risk area- Legal 

Risk owner – Director of Law and Governance 

Objectives impacted - 5 

 

9 

(amber) 

 9 

(amber) 

6 

(green) 

 

March 2024 

When EDI 
strategy 
complete 

Current, Ongoing Controls and Further actions 

• An Equalities Commission has been set up with agreed Terms of Reference and Chair. 

• The Commission will report to the Leader of the council and the interim Chief Executive. 

• Four Stakeholder Groups, also with Terms of Reference have been set up including an 
Ethnic group; LGBT+ group, a Disabilities stakeholder group and a Women’s group. 

• Funding has been secured and posts recruited to.  

• Additional EDI support has been secured to help drive the EDI agenda further. 

• A review of the Equality policy has been completed and was launched in December 2022, 
following Cabinet approval. 

• New equality impact assessment toolkit and guidance has been issued and launched in 
December 2022 and drop in clinics taking place to ensure the council’s consultations and 
decision making will withstand scrutiny. 

• An action plan has been developed based on feedback provided by employees across 
the council along with gaps identified in the workforce diversity data as well as best 
practice put forward by other public-sector organisations.  

• A robust governance framework to help monitor and review the objectives and actions in 
the plan is also in place. 

• An Equalities Calendar has been developed and implemented that details many EDI 
events to raise awareness of the agenda. 

• Various events such as Black History Month, LGBTQ+ History Month have been 
successfully delivered leading to improved awareness and understanding. 

• The council continues to engage with WMCA in relation to its Race Equalities taskforce. 

• The LGA Equality Framework has been approved for use by Cabinet will be used to 
develop the council’s first EDI Single Framework Strategy. (Mar 24) 

• Refresh of the council’s Equality Objective (Mar 23) 

Employee Engagement Survey 2022 
 
Sandwell Equalities Commission 
 
LGA Peer Review 

59a 

02/22 

Council’s Improvement Plan 

If the council does not put in place and 
successfully implement an improvement plan  to 
address the concerns raised  by the Secretary of 
State in respect of the council’s best value duty 
and the recommendations made by the recent 
external reviews carried out by the council’s 
external auditors, Grant Thornton, CIPFA and 
the LGA Peer Review then this may result in a 
loss of confidence in the council’s corporate 
governance arrangements, government 
intervention, future audits providing a qualified 
opinion, a lack of trust in the council’s ability to 
deliver its corporate priorities and reputational 
harm to the council.  

Risk area- All services 

Risk owner – Chief Executive and 
Commissioners 

Objectives impacted - All 

8 

(amber) 

 8  

(amber) 

 

4 

(green) 

 

Once 
phase 2 of 
the plan 
agreed 

Current Controls  

This risk reflects and consolidates the government intervention as well as the findings and 
recommendations arising from previous reviews including the Grant Thornton – Audit 
Findings Report 2019/20, Grant Thornton - Value for Money Governance Review 2021, 
CIPFA Financial Management review and the LGA Peer review. 

• Two Commissioners have been appointed to oversee the improvement journey.  

• A performance management framework was approved by the council in April 2022 to help 
monitor performance and track progress on the delivery of the strategic outcomes in the 
Corporate Plan.  

• An improvement action plan is in place. Funding to implement the actions and deliver the 
improvement plan has been set aside.  

• The first improvement plan report of the Commissioners was submitted to the 
government in June 2022 but publication was delayed due to changes at ministerial level. 
The commissioners noted a number of achievements which showed that the council was 
improving, and noted a culture of renewal within the council, and one that is forward 
looking and positive. 

• A second detailed report on the further progress and improvement against the 
improvement plan was submitted to the Secretary of State in December 2022 and is 
expected to be published in due course. 

• Phases 1 and 2 of the Constitution Review have been completed and phase 3 (which 
oompletes and closes the Review under the Improvement Plan), was approved by full 
council at the end of December 2022. 

• The appointment of a permanent Chief Executive has been completed.  

Further actions 

• Ongoing implementation and monitoring of the progress made against the plans. 

 

 

 

Grant Thornton- Audit Findings Report 
2019/20 
 
Grant Thornton – Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021 
 
CIPFA Financial Management and 
Governance Review 2021 
 
LGA Peer Review 2022 
 
Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 
Government appointed Commissioners 
Six monthly reports by the 
Commissioners to the Secretary of State 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 

P
age 456

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?ID=514
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=6299&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

61 

10/21 

Partner Organisations / Contractors Service 
Delivery 

The council works closely with partners and 
contractors to provide services to its residents 
and businesses. 

In the event Partner organisations or contractors 
do not provide the required level of service to 
the public this may result in: 

• Efficient / good value for money / high 
quality services not being delivered  

• Enforcement action 

• Significant financial loss and 

• Reputational damage 

 

Risk Area – All Services 

Risk Owner – Chief Executive and Leadership 
Team 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 8 

(amber) 

4 

(green) 

 

Sept 2023 

Current Controls  

• Leadership Team is progressing a reporting structure for the council’s key contracts and 
partnership arrangements. 

• All actions from the recommendations of the Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment 
Scrutiny Board review (in Feb 22) of the performance and management of the waste 
partnership contract with Serco are being implemented and progress updated quarterly.  

• An annual report on Serco was reported to Cabinet in September 22.  

• Arrangements for scrutiny consideration of the council’s key contracts is in progress. 

• An annual review of the Serco key performance indicators has concluded that the 
indicators remain appropriate. 

• In respect of SCT, as noted above (in risk 4), the KPIs were reviewed as part of the 
contract review process and will commence on 1 April 2023. 

• In respect of SLT, as noted below (in risk 63a), the contract is due to end in May 2023. 

Further Actions 

• Establishment of consistent contract management for both significant capital and service 
contracts. 

• Review of the current arrangements in place for each key contractor to ensure they 
remain fit for purpose and that the partnership objectives are aligned to the refreshed 
corporate plan. 

Grant Thornton – Value for Money 
Governance Review 2021 

 
CIPFA Financial Management and 
Governance Review 2021 
 
LGA Peer Review 2022 
 
Economy, Skills, Transport And 
Environment Scrutiny Board review of 
the performance and management of 
the waste partnership contract - 11 
February 2022 
 
Reports to the Improvement Board 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 

62 

01/22 

Climate Change 

Failure to achieve the council’s commitments in 
relation to Climate Change, including the pledge 
to make council activities, buildings, housing, 
fleet, schools and street lighting) net-zero 
carbon by 2030 may result in: 

• reputational damage 

• financial impact 

• increased demand for council resources (in 
the event of extreme weather) and 

• a loss in public confidence. 
In addition, managing the effects of climate 
change will also have significant financial impact 
which the council will need to address. 

 

Risk Area – All Services 

Risk Owner – Director of Regeneration and 
Growth 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 12 

(red) 

8 

(amber) 

 

2030 

 

Current Controls  

• Climate Change strategy 2020- 2041 in place which sets out the 2030 target for the 
council.  

• Member steering group to oversee implementation of the climate change action plan. 

• Climate change champions in place (officer level) and a Cabinet Member and member 
advisor champions in place.   

• An action plan for implementing the strategy was approved by Cabinet in March 2022.  

• Establishment of programme governance arrangements, including the Cabinet approval 
to the appointment of cross party membership to the Climate Change Committee to 
monitor the implementation of the action plan, A Climate Change Programme Board 
(represented by service managers from across the council) is leading on measures within 
the action plan.  

Further Actions 

• Gap analysis to be conducted to assess the councils’ ability to implement the action plan, 
followed by a report on available options which will be addressed in 2023/24. 

• To undertake stock condition surveys to enhance our understanding of investment needs 
and costs to achieve net-zero targets in our social housing stock and to inform future 
revisions of the HRA business plan and opportunities to draw in external investment 

• Consideration of adapting works and activities to ensure that contractor selection, works 
methods and materials used are aligned and contribute to the climate change strategy. 

• Explore funding models for retrofit of Council and other homes in the Borough e.g. attend 
MIPIM investors conference / WMCA Devolution Deal with Government in negotiation. 

• To implement the Asset Management Strategy approved by Cabinet in November 2022 
which seeks to significantly rationalise the Councils buildings and assets 

• To establish EV charging infrastructure via ULEV programme (on street) and Council 
operational locations so that relevant Council fleet can transition to EV over the next 3 
years– in progress. 

• To develop a policy on Single Use Plastics that is consistent with the national emerging 
policy. 

• Roll out Carbon Literacy Training to all elected Members, relevant officers and Climate 
Change Champions 

• The delivery of the action plan is the key measure that determines the current risk 
assessment. The deliverability of the Plan is heavily dependent upon future government 
initiatives and the availability of financial resources which will be the key driver in 
achieving the council’s 2030 target. 

Climate Change Programme Board 
 
Member Steering Group 
Economy, Skills, Transport And 
Environment Scrutiny Board  
review – Climate Change 
Implementation- March 2021 

P
age 457

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=143&MId=6233&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?CId=143&MId=217&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?CId=143&MId=217&Ver=4
https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

63a 

07/22 

Establishment of a Local Authority Trading 
Company (LATC) for the Management of 
Nine of the Council’s Leisure Centres  

If the council does not manage the project to 
establish a LATC in a timely and effective 
manner, then there is a risk of:  

• value for money / high quality services not 
being delivered   

• Significant financial loss and 

• Reputational damage  
 
Risk Area – Leisure and Sport 

Risk Owner – Director of Borough Economy 
Objectives impacted: All 

8 

(amber) 

 

 

 8 

(amber) 

4 

(green) 
 

May 2023 

In June 2022, Cabinet agreed to the establishment of a LATC to provide leisure services in 
Sandwell and operate nine of its leisure centres from May 2023, when the current contract 
with Sandwell Leisure Trust ends. 
Current Controls   

• Project arrangements are in place which include, project board, project team, project 
sponsor, project plan and a risk register. 

• Project plan implementation has been in process since July 2022. 

• The project team involves representation from across the council including, Leisure 
Services, Finance, Legal, HR and external legal and HR advisors. 

• Partnership working with SLT around communications and transition planning,  

• Retained consultant support around legal and leisure support. 

• A detailed and full transition plan is in place.  

• Appointment of Chief Operating Officer completed. 
Further Actions  

• Progress transition planning and communications with SLT (This is in progress with 
regular meetings with SLT based on data requirements and delivery of the 
communication plan- ongoing to May 23). 

• Incorporation and finalisation of LATC governance arrangements (April 23). 

• Finalisation of a business plan (March 23). 

Project Board 
 
Bevan Brittan 
 
Trowers and Hamlin 
 
Grant Thornton Value for Money 
Governance Review - Follow Up- 
December 2022 

64 

08/22 

Workforce Recruitment and Retention 

The council is required to recruit and retain a 
skilled, qualified and experienced workforce in 
order to provide and deliver services to Sandwell 
residents.  If the council is unable to recruit and 
retain its workforce and deliver its statutory 
obligations to meet the needs of the community 
this could result in loss of reputation, penalties, 
litigation and in some cases imprisonment. 

 

Risk area – All council services 

Risk owner – Chief Executive and Head of HR 

Objectives impacted: All 

9 

(amber) 

 9 

(amber) 

6 

(green) 

 

March 2023 

 

 

This risk concerns issues that ae largely a reflection of the regional and national position also 
and not unique to the council, as supported by the LGA workforce survey completed in 2022.    

Current and ongoing controls: 

• Directorates to continue to undertake comprehensive workforce planning at least 
annually, as part of business planning processes, with a focus on creating and nurturing 
talent pipelines.  

• Cabinet workshop planned for development of a workforce strategy. 

• Recruitment and selection refresher training for hiring managers in order to share best 
practice in recruiting qualified and skilled employees. 

• Pre-employment checks are carried out in line with requirements for the job role including 
any statutory requirements. 

• Regular 121 meetings (supervision) and annual appraisal process is in place to ensure 
employees are engaged and can raise any concerns. 

• Regular employment engagement (full) and pulse surveys are undertaken and plans are 
developed and implemented to address any areas requiring further action. 

• Pay benchmarking to ensure the council is competitive relative to the relevant job market 
in sectors where there are specific and critical challenges to recruitment and retention. 

• Future Talent Strategy to be developed as part of the Organisational Development 
strategy – to build on current Apprenticeships and Graduates strategy and incorporate 
succession planning and talent development framework for all employees.  

• Renew participation in Job Fairs and regional job promotions to raise the council’s profile 
as an employer of choice.  

Further actions 

• Introduce and extend talent pools and open-ended recruitment campaigns to high 
turnover areas. 

• Review our recruitment branding and content to maximise the impact on candidate 
attraction. 

• Review and extend advertising, to include focus on attraction of diverse applicants. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Employee Engagement Survey 
 
Pulse surveys 
 
HR related KPIs and data 
 
Appraisal process 
 
Benchmarking analysis 
 
LGA Workforce Survey 2022  
 
 

P
age 458

https://childrenssocialcare.independent-review.uk/final-report/?CId=159&MId=6259&Ver=4
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/2022-local-government-workforce-survey


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

65 

08/22 

Inflation  

Risk that the high levels of inflation are having 
on the cost of living for residents and their 
financial wellbeing and the impact of this on the 
demand for council services and resources. 

 

Risk area – All council services 

Risk owner – Chief Executive 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 12 

(red) 

9 

(amber) 

 

March 2023 

Current and ongoing controls  

• The council continues to offer its residents and businesses essential support to the cost 
of living crisis, responding to emerging needs and issues to support financial wellbeing 
and resilience.  

• Continued distribution of government support packages and initiatives.  

• A Working Group is being established and continues to identify what further support can 
be offered to residents and businesses. 

• 29 warm spaces created across the borough which also provide support / signposting in 
respect of isolation, managing bills and help from local charities. 

• Supporting Sandwell information hub created online. 

• Local welfare provision in place. 

Resident survey 

 

Monitoring of relevant KPIs 

 

 

66 

04/22 

Borough Archives 

Failure to achieve the National Archives 
Accreditation could lead to withdrawal of ‘Place 
of Deposit Status’. This will cause reputational 
damage and incur costs as public records will be 
stored in another location, which accrues a cost 
to the council and creates difficulties around 
access to the records. Accreditation cannot be 
achieved without alternative accommodation 
that meets the required British Standard. 

 

 

Risk area – All council services 

Risk owner –Director of Borough Economy 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 

 12 

(red) 

8  

(amber) 

 

TBC 

Current and ongoing controls  

• Public records are stored at Dudley archives which meets the required standard (BS EN 
16893). However, this can only be a temporary measure, as Dudley’s own archives 
increase and they will require the space currently occupied by Sandwell. 

• A feasibility study has been completed and a replacement archive solution for Sandwell’s 
archives has been identified and was approved by Cabinet in November 2022. 

• A Qualified Archivist is now in place having completed training. 
• Discussions with The National Archives (TNA) around delaying an application for 

accreditation as it would fail. This is a temporary measure. 

Further Actions  

• Funding sources for cost of capital to build the archives needs to be identified and 
agreed. 

• Appointment of a consultant to deliver second stage of feasibility that includes design, 
specification, costs and development of a funding strategy. This will enable submissions 
to be made to external funders.  

• Some corporate capital will also need to be identified as part of the funding strategy. 

• A bid to Arts Council England to be considered for contribution to the cost of capital, once 
the funding strategy has been agreed. 

The National Archives 

 

Archive Service accreditation 

67 

05/22 

Elections Act  

If key policy details are not confirmed and 
secondary legislation not published in adequate 
time, the Returning Officer will be unable to 
implement the Elections Act 2022.  This could 
result in Voter ID not being successfully 
introduced and confusion about which postal 
votes can be included.  Some voters may be dis-
enfranchised leading to a lack of confidence in 
election results. 

 

Risk area – All council services 

Risk owner – Returning Officer 

Objectives impacted: All 

12 

(red) 

 12 

(red) 

4 

(green) 

May 2023 

Current and ongoing controls  

• There will be extra money from the Government for implementation, but this will not be 
ring fenced and will only cover costs associated with Voter ID not additional election 
costs. 

• A One Coventry approach is being taken in order that the wider council can provide 
necessary support.   

•  The Electoral Commission will undertake much of the Communication, but the Returning 
Officer needs to consider the demographics and harder to reach parts of the electorate 
and the support that they will require. 

• There is a review of polling stations to see which ones are suitable and unsuitable.   

• Robust and updated training programme will be in place for all polling inspectors and 
presiding officers. 

• Job roles for election staff are being updated to provide clarification on what is required 
and to assist in arriving at the correct fee. 

• The Electoral Services Manager is part of the Business Change Network facilitated by the 
Cabinet Office and consequently is very well informed. 

• Privacy ID booths will be provided to every station to reduce the need for a specific place. 
This will be private but still in the “voting room”  

• Awareness Campaign and media campaigns to promote Voter ID have begun to compliment the 
national campaign by the Electoral Commission (which includes use of the Herald, website, etc) 

• Regular briefings with members have commenced. 

• Regular networking meetings taking place by Director and Manager 

 

Electoral Commission 

 

Elections Returning Officer  

 

Elections Service Manager 

 

Polling station inspectors 

 

Electoral Commission 

P
age 459

https://sandwell.moderngov.co.uk/mgReasonsRestricted.aspx?CId=143&MId=6235&Ver=4


 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

68 

12/22 

Sandwell Local Plan 

Failure to prepare and adopt a Local Plan within 
the timescales required could result in 
Government intervention in the operation of the 
planning service and in the decision making 
process for planning applications resulting in a 
loss of local democratic oversight. 

 

Risk area- - Regeneration 

Risk Owner – Director of Regeneration and 
Growth 

Objectives impacted: All 

 

16 

(red) 

 8 

(amber) 

4 

(green) 

 

2025 

Having an up-to-date Local Plan is a statutory requirement. Following the halting of the Black 
Country Plan, Cabinet approved the preparation of the Sandwell local Plan on 16 November 
2022. The timetable envisages adoption in late 2025. The process to adoption involves 
several rounds of public consultation and political approvals as well as an independent 
Examination In Public. 

Conformity with an up-to-date Local Plan is often a prerequisite for Government regeneration 
funding.  

Current and ongoing controls  

• Members regularly briefed on key and up to date issues. Informing of facts and evidence 
based.  

• Project Manager recruited to lead on the delivery of the Sandwell Plan (fixed term post to 
Dec 2026).  

• Additional revenue budget secured to deliver the Sandwell Plan (Cabinet Report Dec 
2022).  

Further actions 

• Review of salaries allocated to technical disciplines within the organisation – Use of 
consultants if necessary. 

• Quarterly update reports to Leadership Team   

 

69 

08/22 

Adult Social Care Market Sustainability 
 
The Fair Cost of Care requirement for 
domiciliary care and older peoples residential 
and nursing home care & further requirement to 
produce a market sustainability plan will result in 
a significant financial pressure for the council in 
the region of 15 million pounds, although 
government funding is available for a 3-year 
period, it is not expected to cover these 
increased costs. There is then a further risk that 
the remaining elements of the care and support 
market currently excluded from the Fair Cost of 
Care exercise will not be sustainable without 
further significant investment, so a further 
internal cost of care exercise will need to be 
completed.  
 
A number of providers are approaching the 
council with requests for significant uplifts in 
their fees and notice to withdraw care and 
support to individuals.  Should this not be 
addressed the capacity in the market will be 
unable to meet the demand and the 
recommissioned costs will be significantly higher 
adding to the budget pressures.         
 

Risk Area – Social Care 

Risk Owner – Director of Adult Social Care 

Objectives impacted: 2 

16 

(red) 

 16 

(red) 

8 

(amber) 

 

April 2023 

 

Current and ongoing controls  

• Working with ARCC Ltd to complete the Fair Cost of Care exercise and Market 
Sustainability Plan. Draft document completed and submitted in October 2022.  

• Report presented to the Leader of the in October 2022 outlining the impact of the cost of 
care exercise and the options of how to support the market with the government 
allocations that have been made to date.      

• Ongoing dialogue with legal to ensure compliance with statutory Care Act duties and 
consideration of affordability. 

• Working with neighbouring authorities in the Black Country and the Integrated Care 
Board to agree a system response to provider demands. 

• Negotiating with individual providers regarding fee uplifts. 

• Commissioned independent provider to undertake reviews of individuals. 
 
Further Actions  

• Final Market Sustainability Plan to be submitted (March 23) 

• Report to Cabinet for Fair Cost of Care to seek approval for plans on how to sustain the 
market (February 23). 

• ARCC to scrutinise the data presented by the care homes regarding the validity of the 

data provided. 

• ARCC to support additional market engagement to scrutinise the data presented. 

• Plan work towards meeting cost of care once government allocations for 2023/24 and 

2024/25 have been confirmed. 

• Publish Annex B and then publish the final Market Sustainability Plan by the 31 March 

2023. 

 

 

 

 

Integrated Care Board 

 

Fair Cost of Care exercise 

 

ARCC Ltd 

 

 

 

 

70 

06/22 

Organisational culture 

If the council does not have an effective 
organisational culture, then this could result in: 

• Poor officer and member relationships 

• Negative impact on employee engagement 

8 

(amber) 

 8 

(amber) 

4 

(green) 

 

May 2023 

Current and ongoing controls  

• Regular meetings in place between senior members and officers to develop positive 
working relationships and information sharing. 

• LGA training on officer/member relationships delivered in September 2022. 

• External consultant engaged to support development of desired values and behaviours, 
providing independent facilitation. 

External Reviews (Grant Thornton and 
LGA) providing assurance that 
organisational culture change has 
started to occur. 

P
age 460



 

 

Risk 
Ref 

Risk Title and Description Previous 
score 

(Aug 2022) 

Moveme
nt in risk 

score 

Current risk 
score 

(Jan 2023) 

Target risk 
score and 

date 

Progress to Date  

(incl. current risk mitigating controls and further actions to be taken to manage risk 
and action date) 

Key Sources of Assurance 

• Inability to demonstrate effective people 
management,  

• Weak diversity and inclusion practices 

• Recruitment and retention issues 

• Negative impact on the delivery of the 
improvement plan and  

• Potential for extended government 
intervention 

• Failure to deliver the corporate plan  

• Reputational damage 

• Missed opportunities for continuous 
improvement 

 

Risk area – All council services 

Risk owner – Chief Executive 

Objectives impacted: All 

• Employee Engagement Survey results disseminated and discussed at Directorate 
Management Teams and team meetings - action plans developed and monitored at 
Leadership Team. 

Further Actions  

• Approval of One Team Framework (Values and Behaviour) (March 2023) 

• Approval of Workforce Strategy (May 2023). 

• Mechanisms to be identified for ongoing insight and assurance around health of Officer 
and Member Relationship (May 2023). 

• Management Development Programme Agreed (April 2023). 

 

P
age 461



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Customer Performance Monitoring 2022 / 2023

Area Indicator

Reporting 

Frequenc

y

Data Owner
Data Collected 

By

2021-2022 Year 

End

Q1

Performance

Direction of  

travel from 

previous quarter 
Up arrow = 

improvement

Down arrow = 

reduced performance

Q1 

Target

Q1

Target Met

(nb/ tolerances 

for RAG to be 

established)

Q1 

Commentary

Numbers of Contact by Channel Quarterly
Helen Green & Digital 

Transformation Team
Digital Team / BE

634,834 - Telephone

526,726 - MySandwell

25,895 - Face to Face

51,024 - E-mail

152,894 - Telephone

202,333 - MySandwell

15,656 - Face to Face

10,656 - E-mail

n/a n/a n/a

Contact Centre - 106,310,  Rents - 8379, Repairs OOH - 2648. The total 

figure for the CCC, includes calls taken by the Repairs Out of Hours 

(OOH)  and the Rents Team, both of which are not management / 

monitored by the Corporate Contact Centre

51.26% - Telephone 40.07% Telephone

42.53% - MySandwell 53.03% MySandwell

2.09% Face to Face 4.10% Face to Face

4.12% - Email 2.79% - Email

Adults Contact Centre Abandonment Rate Quarterly Charlotte Leadbeater Ross Bailey 1.57% (1205 Calls) 1.57% (325 Calls) 5% Yes

The previous quarter was 1.55%.

Performance exceeds expectations, 3.43% below our 5% target. 

This is an average of 5 calls per day.

Adults Contact Centre Average Wait Measure Quarterly Charlotte Leadbeater Ross Bailey
31 seconds

31 seconds 30 seconds 1 Second over

The previous quarter was 00:00:30.

We only just came in over our target by 1 second.

Adults Contact Centre Average Call Time Quarterly Charlotte Leadbeater Ross Bailey 530 seconds 532 Seconds 540 Seconds per call
8 Seconds below 

target

The previous quarter was 544.

Our agents have a target of 540 seconds (9mins) in which we measure 

talk time , hold time and wrap time to total to 540secs.we have done 

very well on this front coming in 8 seconds under.

Revs and Bens Contact Centre Abandonment Rate Quarterly Ian Dunn Theresa Shrigley 5.20% 19.20% 15.00% No

Council Tax recovery being re-introduced along with administering 

the energy rebate have contributed to the  huge change between the 

first quarter last year and this year.  RBCS are also running with long 

term sickness and 6 vacancies which in the last month has increased to 

8. We are currently in the process of recruitment.

Revs and Bens Contact Centre Average Wait Measure Quarterly Ian Dunn Theresa Shrigley
3mins 55seconds

14 mins n/a N/a

Target is Variable as our Stakeholder line does not come through 

Inform 360 so this knocks out our timings but the average wait we aim 

for is approximately 10 minutes. Council Tax recovery being re-

introduced along with administering the energy rebate have 

contributed to the  high change between the first quarter last year 

and this year. RBCS are also running with long term sickness and 6 

vacancies which in the last month has increased to 8. We are currently 

in the process of recruitment

Revs and Bens Contact Centre Average Call Time Quarterly Ian Dunn Theresa Shrigley 8mins 27seconds 9mins04seconds 8mins No

Council Tax recover being re-introduced along with administering the 

energy rebate have contributed to the  high change between the first 

quarter last year and this year.  RBCS are also running with long term 

sickness and 6 vacancies which in the last month has increased to 8. 

We are currently in the process of recruitment. Although the talk time 

is longer, this is expected due to the complexity of grants and funds 

we are currently awarding to Sandwell residents and the current 

economic climate.

Corporate Contact Centre Abandonment Rate Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 16.96% 5.96% 8% Yes

Contact Centre - 3.95%,  Rents - 32.16%, Repairs  OOH - 4.72%, The 

overall Abandoned rate includes Repairs Out of Hours (OOH)  and the 

Rents Team, both of which are not managed / monitored by the 

Corporate Contact Centre.  Performance remains positive in relation 

to AR and below the 8% target.

Corporate Contact Centre Average Wait Measure Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 6mins 19 seconds 2mins 37 seconds 2mins 30 seconds

7 seconds below 

target

Contact Centre - 00:02:14, Rents - 00:08:49, Repairs OOH - 00:02:14. The 

overall Average Wait measure includes the Repairs Out of Hours 

(OOH) and the Rents Team both of which are not managed / 

monitored by the Corporate Contact Centre.  Performance remains 

positive in relation to average wait times, and much improved on 

previous year's figures.  When only the Corporate CC figures are 

included, the Q1 target has been met.

Corporate Contact Centre Average Call Time Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 6mins 50 seconds 6mins 14 seconds n/a n/a

Contact Centre - 00:06:10, Rents - 00:07:57, Repairs OOH - 00:02:43

The overall Average Call Time includes calls taken by the Repairs Out 

of Hours (OOH) and the Rents Team both of which are not managed / 

monitored by the Corporate Contact Centre.  Performance in this area 

is positive and in line with expected call durations.  Staff Performance 

in relation to this and other indicators are monitored and reported on 

locally on a monthly basis.

Ombudsman Numbers Upheld Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 13 Upheld n/a n/a n/a n/a

Quarter 1 : Still awaiting outcome for 5 cases                            

Year End: 78 in total, awaiting outcome for 10 cases. Out of the 13 

Ombudsman cases upheld,  7 were investigated by the Local 

Government Ombudsman. 

The remaining 6 cases were investigated by the Housing Ombudsman. 

SARs volumes Quarterly Vanessa Mahersmith Dave Molineux 257 48 n/a n/a n/a
There are no performance targets against the number of SARs 

received as this can't be controlled.

SARs compliance with timescales Quarterly Vanessa Mahersmith Dave Molineux Unable to provide 75.00% n/a 95.00% No

The timescale for completing a SAR is one calendar month and this is a 

statutory timescale.

We have been unable to provide Year End figures due to system 

issues which have now been fixed but don't allow us to 

retrospectively report. 

Steps are being taken to bring performance in line with the target 

including improved reporting of performance, Governance Team Case 

workers being allocated to Directorates to give more dedicated 

support, and training being provided across the Council.

FOI volumes Quarterly Vanessa Mahersmith Dave Molineux 1050 298 n/a n/a n/a
There are no performance targets against the number of FOI requests  

received as this can't be controlled.

FOI compliance with timescales Quarterly Vanessa Mahersmith Dave Molineux Unable to provide 66.00% n/a 95.00% No

The timescale for completing a FoI request is 20 working days and this 

is a statutory timescale.

We have just completed a piece of work to ensure that there is now 

no back log of FoI requests within the system. Work will continue to 

ensure that a back log does not build up again however  this will 

require the continued support from all teams across the Council to 

ensure that timescales are met. 

Other steps are being taken to bring performance in line with the 

target including improved reporting, Governance Team Case Workers 

being allocated to Directorates to give more dedicated support, and 

training being provided across the Council. Together with the 

clearance of the backlog, it is expected that these actions will start to 

improve performance.

We have been unable to provide Year End figures due to system 

issues which have now been fixed but don't allow us to 

retrospectively report.

Numbers of complaints received Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith

2593 Stage 1 

Complaints, 135 Stage 

2 Complaints

951 Stage 1 Complaints, 

45 Stage 2 Complaints
n/a n/a

Qtr. 1 Figures show that there is an increase in complaints. Further 

investigation is required to understand the cause. 

Numbers of stage 1 and stage 2 Complaints upheld Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith

846 Stage 1 Upheld, 20 

Stage 2 Upheld 

374 Stage 1 Upheld, 4 

Stage 2 Upheld
n/a n/a

Qtr. 1 Figures show that there is an increase in stage 1 complaints 

upheld. Further investigation is required to understand the cause. 

Number of MP Enquiries received Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 2127 620 n/a n/a n/a

Numbers of compliments received Quarterly
Helen Green / Tracy 

Causer
Theresa Smith 382 111 n/a n/a n/a

Lessons learnt from Complaints Quarterly Tracy Causer Tracy Causer

Views from Residents' Panel / Survey Quarterly Kate Ashley tba

Channel Shift

This is currently being looked at by the customer feedback team ahead of Q4 reporting. 

Residents' Survey Reported separately on Q2 agenda

Contact Centre 

Performance

Information 

Requests

Quarter 1

Customer Feedback

n/a Increase in Face to Face % Contact since Year end % Contact by channel Quarterly
Helen Green & Digital 

Transformation Team
Digital Team / BE n/a n/a

Page 463



 

 

Q2

Performance

Direction of  

travel from 

previous quarter 
Up arrow = 

improvement

Down arrow = 

reduced performance

Q2

Target

Q2

Target Met

(nb/ tolerances 

for RAG to be 

established)

Q2

Commentary

Q3

Performance

Direction of  

travel from 

previous quarter 
Up arrow = 

improvement

Down arrow = 

reduced performance

Q3

Target

Q3

Target Met

(nb/ tolerances 

for RAG to be 

established)

Q3

Commentary

150,883- Telephone

193,787 - MySandwell

 14,428 - Face to Face

11,752 - E-mail

n/a n/a n/a

Contact Centre - 107,674,  Rents - 7,041, Repairs OOH - 2,559. The total 

figure for the CCC, includes calls taken by the Repairs Out of Hours 

(OOH)  and the Rents Team, both of which are not management / 

monitored by the Corporate Contact Centre

 154,097 - Telephone

176,258 - MySandwell

12,836 - Face to Face

11,245 - E-mail

n/a n/a n/a

Contact Centre - 109,353,  Rents - 9,694, Repairs OOH - 4,999. The total figure for the CCC, includes calls taken by 

the Repairs Out of Hours (OOH)  and the Rents Team, both of which are not management / monitored by the 

Corporate Contact Centre

40.69% Telephone n/a n/a n/a 43.48% Telephone n/a n/a n/a

52.25% MySandwell n/a n/a n/a 49.73% MySandwell n/a n/a n/a

3.89% Face to Face n/a n/a n/a 3.62% Face to Face n/a n/a n/a

3.17% - Email n/a n/a n/a 3.17% - Email n/a n/a n/a

3% (596 Calls) 5%

We remain within 

target of 5% however 

this has fallen from 

the previous quarters 

total of 1.57% to 

3.01%. This is an 

average of 9 calls per 

day. 

Long term absences have impacted consistently across this period in 

addition to 2.5 vacancies. Adverts have been placed with agency's 

however we are struggling to attract the caliber we require for a Contact 

Centre coupled with knowledge of Adult Social Care

3% (526 Calls) 5%

We again remain 

within target of 5% 

and this has 

remained consistent 

from the previous 

quarters 3%. This 

averages out to 8 

calls per day.

To follow on from the previous commentary. Long term absences remain an issue with an average of 2 agents off 

sick each day throughout the whole quarter. Vacancies have also risen to 3 and adverts have been placed with 

agency’s however we are struggling to attract the caliber we require for a Contact Centre coupled with 

knowledge of Adult Social Care. Requests have also been submitted to HR for agency staff as our current temp 

agent finished on 06/01/23. 

1 Minute 30 Seconds

We have exceeded 

our target of 30 

seconds. This has 

doubled from the 

previous quarter. 

In addition to the above there are ongoing ICT issues affecting our 

ability to collect Blue Badge payments over the phone which has 

resulted in customers repeat calling. 

49 Seconds 30 seconds

We have exceeded 

our target by 19 

seconds, but it has 

improved from the 

previous quarters 1 

minute.

Agents are reporting Internet issues affecting LAS and the Blue Badge system, in regards to the speed and when 

trying to key from tab to tab. This affects the agents overall time when trying to wrap up a call as they often have 

to restart either the application or on occasion the laptop.  The postal strike led to repeat calls from customers to 

query if we have received their paperwork.

573 Seconds 540 Seconds per call

We have exceeded 

our target of 540 

seconds by 33 

seconds, up by 41 

seconds from the 

first quarter

As above Agents have found they are holding customers on the line 

longer than normal to restart the Blue Badge Payment System to collect 

payments, advising they could have been trying 2 or 3 times before the 

payment would clear. 

553 Seconds 540 Seconds per Call

We have come in a 

lot closer this 

quarter; 13 seconds 

shy. A whole 20 

seconds higher than 

the previous quarter.

The Call Time measure has come in just shy of the 540 target. 

We have identified a number of calls/emails meant for other departments around the council (as a result of 

changes in customer facing services i.e. phone numbers/emails closed or directing to online services), a task is 

currently afoot to list to analyse these calls.

19.93 15 No

We continue to enforce recovery approximately 3000 accounts per week 

being chased.  We have recruited into some of our vacancies but lack of 

candidates with skill required means we still have 5 vacancies. New 

starters will be going into training on 1 November for 6 weeks so no real 

gain for the team until Jan2023. High demand around energy rebate and 

any other support available continues so more demand on resources we 

do have available.  School holidays in July August have further reduced 

resource and we have been unable to recruit any temporary staff with 

knowledge. We have also had to provide support for Oldbury reception 

which has further reduced the availability of agents to put on the  

phones and respond to Dash work

12.98 15% Yes

Energy rebate scheme has now been completed and monies added to all accounts. Refunds are still being raised 

for some customers but in the main these are now being administered by the operations team.  Postal strikes in 

November and December has had an effect on Customer receiving recover notices and therefore fewer call have 

been received to make arrangements to pay. December was also a short month due to the Christmas closure.  

Due to the lack of recovery we were able to commit more staff to responding to electronic correspondence which 

has also reduced the need for customer who use Dash to call us. Footfall for our  Front facing services have also 

reduced and therefore in these time the resource has been moved to DASH work again reducing the need for 

customers who have initially contacted us that way to have to contact by phone

00:14:52 n/a n/a

As above lack of resource and higher demand on the service as 

increased customer wait time.  However this does support that 

customers are willing to wait longer on the phones to have their enquiry 

dealt with in this way

00:09:42 n/a n/a

Wait times reduced over this quarter as the energy rebate enquiries had subsided and postal strikes affected the 

number of recovery documents that were able to be issued.  Customers were still however concerned with Cost 

of living crisis so additional enquiries relating to what was still available were being made

00:09:02 8 mins No

Call time continues to increase as our customer base request more 

support with household expenses. Energy rebate and household 

support information is being requested along with any possible 

additional support that customers may be entitled to in addition to 

Housing benefit and Council Tax reduction as the cost of living crisis 

continues. Customers are also making enquiries with the local authority 

for grants that are being paid by energy providers and reductions to 

water bills so more signposting is required. Agents are highly trained in 

a number of benefits and grants that although the customer does 

00:08:37 8 Minutes no

Energy rebate scheme has now been completed and monies added to all accounts. Most refunds have now been 

paid so not having to check additional systems had reduced call handling slightly.  Recovery has also been 

affected by postal strikes so most calls have been related to benefits/CTR with payment arrangements reduced 

therefore reducing the handling time for generic advisors.

10.52% 8% 2.5% difference

Contact Centre - 9.54%,  Rents - 27.16%, Repairs  OOH - 6.84%, The 

overall Abandoned rate includes Repairs Out of Hours (OOH)  and the 

Rents Team, both of which are not managed / monitored by the 

Corporate Contact Centre.  AR in qtr. 2 has slightly increased above the 

8% target.  This increase is growing due to a number of staff vacancies; 

sickness levels; back filling the OSS; training and problems with 

recruiting both permanent and agency staff.  This is continuing to be a 

problem and the performance for Q3 is expected to show a significant 

increase in the AR.

17:44% 8% 9.44% difference

Corporate Contact Centre 16.13% / Rents Team - 36.22% / Repairs OOH Team - 9.58%.  The overall Abandoned 

Rates  include the Rents Team and Repairs Out of Hours (OOH) both of which are not managed by the Corporate 

Contact Centre.  The AR increased and targets were missed due to continued staff vacancies and sickness in the 

Corporate Contact Centre.  Moving forward we are expecting to see an improvement as we have recently had 6 

new advisors join the team at the end of November beginning of December following the last recruitment drive.  

Training has been delivered and they are now taking calls on the busiest service area which has started to 

reduced call waiting times in late December.  Training will continue over the next few months on all other 

skillsets which should further reduce wait times and current abandoned rates.  Vacancies have also been filled at 

the One Stop Shop which has also reduced the number of advisors needed from the contact center to support 

face to face delivery of services at the council house. As not all vacancies were filled at the last round of 

interviews, an advert is currently out with a closing date of the 17th January.  Sickness still remains high which 

continues to impact on current performance. 

4 minutes 30 seconds 2mins 30 seconds 2mins over

Contact Centre - 00:04:22, Rents - 00:07:07, Repairs OOH - 00:02:36. The 

overall Average Wait measure includes the Repairs Out of Hours (OOH) 

and the Rents Team both of which are not managed / monitored by the 

Corporate Contact Centre.   Average wait times are increasing due to a 

number of staff vacancies; sickness levels; back filling the OSS; training 

and problems with recruiting both permanent and agency staff.  This is 

continuing to be a problem and the performance for Q3 is expected to 

show a significant increase in wait times.

8 minutes 29 seconds 2mins 30 seconds
5 minutes 59 seconds 

over

Corporate Contact Centre - 00:08:19 / Rents Team - 00:12:01 / Repairs OOH - 00:03:18. The overall Call Wait time  

includes Rents Team and Repairs OOH both of which are not managed by the Corporate Contact Centre.  Call Wait 

times have also increased in Q3, again due to Staff vacancies and increased sickness.  Staff vacancies currently 

include 7 posts, 5 Full Time and 2 Part Time.  Interviews will take place on the 25th & 26th January.

6mins 39 seconds n/a n/a

Contact Centre - 06:33  Rents - 08:38, Repairs OOH - 02:46

The overall Average Call Time includes calls taken by the Repairs Out of 

Hours (OOH) and the Rents Team both of which are not managed / 

monitored by the Corporate Contact Centre.  Average call times are 

within expected range.

7 minutes 36 seconds n/a n/a

Corporate Contact Centre - 00:07:38 / Rents Team - 00:08:32 / Repairs OOH - 00:03:06. The overall Average Talk 

Time  includes Rents Team and Repairs OOH both of which are not managed by the Corporate Contact Centre.  

Call Wait times are within expected range.

n/a n/a n/a
We currently have 9 cases with the LGO and 7 cases with the Housing 

Ombudsman, no decisions have yet been made on these cases.
n/a n/a n/a n/a

Q3 figures for Ombudsman show that 8 Ombudsman cases were logged (7 with LGO and 1 with HO) there are still 

olders cases open the majority of these awaiting further instructions from the Ombudsman or Directorates to 

deal with remedies that have just been issued from the Ombudsman

34 n/a n/a n/a

There are no performance targets against the number of SARs received 

as this can't be controlled.

The cumulative figure for Q1 and Q2 is 82.

40 n/a n/a n/a

There are no performance targets against the number of SARs received as this can't be controlled.

The cumulative figure for Q1, Q2 and Q3 is 122

41.00% 95.00% No

The timescale for completing a SAR is one calendar month and this is a 

statutory timescale.

The cumulative figure for Q1 and Q2 is 61%.

67.00% 95.00% No

The timescale for completing a SAR is one calendar month and this is a statutory timescale. It is possible to 

extend the timescale for a total of three calendar months, where a request is complex.  

The cumulative figure for Q1, Q2 and Q3 is 63 %

The figures from April 2022 have been produced using a manual method which has previously been discussed. 

This allows us to properly incorporate extended timescales and time lost awaiting clarification or I.D. As such we 

are able to produce a much more accurate figure.

229 n/a n/a n/a

There are no performance targets against the number of FOI requests  

received as this can't be controlled.

The cumulative figure for Q1 and Q2 is 527.

232 na na na

There are no performance targets against the number of FOI requests  received as this can't be controlled.

The cumulative figure for Q1, Q2 and Q3 is 758.

68.00% 95.00% NO

The timescale for completing a FoI request is 20 working days and this is 

a statutory timescale.

The cumulative figure for Q1 and Q2 is 67%.

Steps continue to be taken to bring performance in line with the target 

including regular meetings with Directorates and Directors to discuss 

performance, improved reporting, Governance Team Case Workers 

being allocated to Directorates to give more dedicated support, and 

training being provided across the Council. It is expected that these 

actions will continue to improve performance.

82.00% 95.00% No

The timescale for completing a FOI is 20 working days and this is a statutory timescale.

The cumulative figure for Q1, Q2 and Q3 (to end of November only due to statutory timescales) is 71 %.

We have seen an improvement in compliance with statutory timescales of 14% on Quarter 2. This is showing that 

the measures put in place by the Governance Team and Directorate across the Council are starting to work.

Actions to improve performance include regular meetings with Directorates and Directors to discuss 

performance, improved reporting, Governance Team Case Workers being allocated to Directorates to give more 

dedicated support, and training being provided across the Council.

864 Stage 1 Complaints, 

40 Stage 2 Complaints
n/a n/a

Q2 figures show a decrease in complaints compared to Q1, however, the 

total number of stage 1 is still an increase of 26% for the same quarter 

last year.  It is encouraging to see that around 95% of stage 1 complaints 

don't progress any further and are resolved at the stage 1 phase.  The 

CFT are currently undertaking a piece of work looking closer at types of 

complaints; trends & lessons learnt - this is specifically for Housing but if 

successful could be adapted for other areas if resource allowed.

653 Stage 1 Complaints                              

38 Stage 2 Complaints
n/a n/a n/a

Q3 figures show that there is a 31% decrease compared to Q1 and a 24% decrease compared to Q2 in Stage 1 

complaints, Stage 2 complaints also show a downward trend compared to the previous two Q’s down 15% and 5% 

respectively. 

236 Stage 1 Upheld, 

7 Stage 2 Upheld
n/a n/a

Q2 figures show a decrease in Stage 1 upheld complaints, but an 

increase in Stage 2 upheld complaints.  See above commnetary on work 

underway that will look more closely at some of this.

192 Stage 1 Complaints   

45 Stage 2 Complaints       
n/a n/a n/a

Q3 figures shows a slight rise (2%) in the percentage of Stage 1 and Stage 2 complaints that are upheld compared 

with Q2, however the figure for Stage 1’s upheld is 9% down compared with Q1

554 n/a n/a 495 n/a n/a

MP enquires that were dealt with within SLA – 266 (54%).  Top three Service Areas are Housing 259 / Borough 

Economy 126 / Childrens & Education – 33.  Lowest number of MP enquiries were Business Strategy and Change 1 

and Public Health 1

68 n/a n/a 92 n/a n/a
Top 3 Service Areas  who received the most Compliments are Repairs & Maintenance - 14 / Corporate Contact 

Centre - 12 / Adults Allocations Team - 10

This is currently being looked at by the customer feedback team ahead of Q4 reporting. This is currently being looked at by the customer feedback team ahead of Q4 reporting. 

Residents' Survey Reported separately on Q2 agenda Residents' Survey Reported separately on Q2 agenda

Quarter 2 Quarter 3

Page 464



 

Page 465



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 
 

Report to Budget and Corporate Scrutiny 
Management Board 
 
 

29 March 2023 
 
 

Subject: SEND Transport Performance Update  

Director: Director Children and Education Services  
Michael Jarrett  
 
Simone Hines 
Director of Finance / S151 Officer 

Contact Officer: Assistant Director Education Support Services  
Sue Moore 
sue_moore@sandwell/.gov.uk 
 
Interim Head of Procurement 
Fiona McLaughlin 
fiona_mcLaughlin@sandwell.gov.uk  

 
1 Recommendations 
 

 That, in connection with Home to School Transport for children 
and young people with SEND, the Board: 

 
1.1 considers and comments upon the SEND Transport Performance 

Update.  
 

1.2 note the increased budget and market challenges presented to the 
council in delivering against its statutory duty to provide the 
service. 

 
1.3 agrees to receive a future report for consideration and comment, 

outlining service options available to the council for the provision 

 

Page 467

Agenda Item 7

mailto:sue_moore@sandwell/.gov.uk
mailto:fiona_mcLaughlin@sandwell.gov.uk


 

of Home to School Transport to provide ongoing assistance and / 
or procure future transport arrangements to address the increasing 
budgetary pressure faced by the council.  

 
2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 The new ‘Framework for the provision of Passenger Transport 

 Services for Children and Young People with Special Educational 

Needs and Disabilities’ (Contract No. SMBC 22011), commenced 

1 September 2022 for a period of two years, and has been in 

operation for over 6 months.  Due to the significant financial 

resource required to maintain both the above Framework, and 

additional financial support to independent travellers, there is a 

need to report to the Board on performance to date. 

 

2.2 Details are provided within the report as to the additional financial 

pressures presented since the beginning of the current academic 

year. 

 

2.3 In order to ensure that Home to School Transport Arrangements 

through either assisted or independent travel assistance continue 

to provide value for money for the council, it is important to review 

and take into account a wide range of views from consultees as 

alternative options for service delivery are pursued.  The 

procurement timetable for renewal of the contract arrangements 

for SMBC 22011 will need to commence shortly. 

 
3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children and young people 
 
The Council is required to make arrangements for all children 
who cannot reasonably be expected to travel to school 
because of their mobility problems or because of associated 
health and safety issues related to their special educational 
needs or disability (SEND). 

Page 468



 

 

People live well and age well 
 
Sandwell now has a national reputation for getting things  
done, where all local partners are focused on what really 
matters in people’s lives and communities. 
 
Providing children and young people appropriate travel 
assistance to school and college enables opportunities to 
access life, social and educational skills to live well and 
prosper. 

 

A strong and inclusive economy 
 
Using local operators who employ local people to provide 
transport enables the local economy to thrive. 

 

A connected and accessible Sandwell  
 
Public transport is an important component of the system for 
organising travel to school.  Travel assistance training is 
made available to all children and young people who can 
benefit from independence in their travel to school. 
 

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 Under Section 35(b), Education Act 1996 the Local Authority has a 

duty and has powers to make travel arrangements for children with 
special educational needs and disabilities to facilitate their 
attendance at an appropriate education provision.  

 

 “To make arrangements for all children who cannot reasonably be 

expected to travel to school because of their mobility problems or 

because of associated health and safety issues related to their 

special educational needs or disability (SEND).  Eligibility, for such 

children should be assessed on an individual basis to identify their 

particular transport requirements.” 

 

4.2 Current Position 

 The baseline SEND Transport budget is £7.52m.  Based on 

current projections the expected final outturn cost for financial year 

Page 469



 

2022-23 is £11.2m which is a £3.7m budget pressure (inclusive of 

all travel assistance provided), a rise of £0.5m on Period 10 

budget monitoring due to additional passengers that has increased 

the overall costs.  Travel Assistance, includes Travel Training, 

Travel Passes, Parental Mileage, Personal Transport Budgets and 

Home to School Transport. 

  

Table 1 

£m 2022/23 2021/22 2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 

Baseline 
budget 

7.52 5.66 2.55 2.55 2.55 

Annual 
Expenditure 

11.22 7.55 5.76 5.18 3.53 

      

Variance (3.7) (1.89) (3.21) (2.63) (0.98) 

 

4.3  There are a number of factors that explain the budget pressure 

now experienced this academic year. 

 

4.4 A 51% increase in pupils with Education, Health and Care Plans 

(EHCP’s) since January 2019: 2,084 pupils in January 2019 rising 

to 3,150 in January 2023) as per reported statistics in the statutory 

data return (SEN2). 

 

4.5 As Table 2 below indicates, in January 2021 there were 818 pupils 

in receipt of Travel Assistance, of those 639 were being 

transported on transport arranged by the Local Authority.  At 

present there are 1,042 pupils in receipt of travel assistance, with 

848 transported, a 25% increase.  However, as can be seen from 

Table1 above, expenditure on SEND Transport has increased by 

49.3% over the same period.  The reasons for this are covered in 

the following paragraphs.  

 

 

 

Page 470



 

 

4.6 Personal Transport Budgets (PTB’s) were introduced during the 

pandemic to support families who did not want to use the transport 

provided, had no access to their own vehicle.  In recent months 

the number of PTB’s has reduced which has reduced the 

predicted impact of an overspend.  New applicants are offered 

Parental Mileage in the first instance as this is more cost effective 

than PTB’s, hence the reduction in numbers as pupils leave 

education.  

 

4.7 The number of Travel Passes has also reduced as more students 

are being assessed as not suitable for independent travel, due to 

their complex needs.  

 

4.8 Not only has there been an increase in the number of children who 

require transport, but their needs are increasingly becoming more 

complex which in turn impacts on transport: 

 

• More children are now travelling alone with a Passenger 

Assistant  

• Reduced capacity on multi-occupancy vehicles as 

wheelchairs increase in size  

• An increasing number of Passenger Assistants needed to 

support individual children  

 

Table 2 

 January 
2021 

January 
2023 

Home to School Transport Framework 
(Contract)  

639 848 

Parental Mileage 28 63 

Personal Transport Budgets  128 112 

Travel Passes 20 4 

Pupils Out of Borough  3 15 

Total 818 1,042 

Page 471



 

4.9 A reduced travel time from an hour to 50 minutes or less 

introduced within the Framework, which was prompted by the 

recommendation from Childrens Service’s and Education Strategy 

Scrutiny Board on the basis of improving the outcomes for children 

and young people and has led to an increase in the number of 

routes / vehicles required. 

 

4.10 The council’s commitment is to ensure that all Passenger 

Assistants, which traditionally is a low skilled role, are paid the 

current National Living Wage. 

 

4.11 The number of Out of Borough placements has also increased as 

a direct result of the pressure on the availability of specialist 

places in Sandwell as the Council ensures a child’s needs can be 

meet.  This can lead to additional individual journeys. To address 

this the Council is seeking to increase local provision through it’s 

Specialist Place Planning Strategy 2022. 

 

4.12 In accordance with the Children and Families Act 2014 provision 

for 16-19-year olds was extended to up to 25 years old and led to 

increased costs as transport is arranged to suit individual 

timetables.  Study programmes often are part-time based, and for 

an individual’s timetable this doesn’t always fit timing of a standard 

college day. 

 

4.13  It is important to acknowledge that this situation is not unique to 

Sandwell.  Feedback from a recent regional meeting with the 

Department for Education highlighted that many local authorities 

are struggling with the rising cost of home to school transport 

because of the increase in demand, accommodating more 

complex needs and a shortage of operators / drivers / passenger 

assistants.  Many LA’s have confirmed that the current position is 

no longer sustainable and are calling for a change in legislation. 

 

4.14 In comparison to comparative local authorities, since the early 

2000’s the council has taken a much more inclusive approach to 

Page 472



 

provision for pupils with SEND, that has led to a greater number of 

journeys taking place across the Borough.  

 

4.15 Other local authorities will have larger special schools with much 

larger vehicles transporting children and young people, however 

Sandwell’s approach to build specialist schools for pupils with the 

most complex needs and more pupils supported through 

mainstream schools in focus provision, increased the volumes of 

journeys to transport pupils. 

  
4.16 As the number of children with EHCP continues to rise it will 

inevitably impact on costs as demand for travel assistance 

increases.  It is expected that the pressure on the budget will 

continue in 2023/24 as a result a further review will be undertaken 

to identify potential cost savings such as travel times, multiple 

school’s routes to increase vehicle efficiency.  New specialist 

places will also help to address rising costs as the need for out of 

borough provision is reduced.  

 

5 Procurement  

5.1 The new procurement exercise sought to address the following 

recommendations from the Grant Thornton review in December 

2021, which identified that the council should: 
  

• Not lose the significant progress made on the contract 

specification’s focus on service quality. 

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the 

officer teams with responsibility for progressing the 

procurement. 

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective 

management and oversight of the personal transport market. 

• Record keeping, and declarations of interest are undertaken 

in line with Council policies and procedures. 

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in 

relation to inappropriate procurement decisions. 

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both 

suppliers to submit high quality bids, and the Council to 

Page 473



 

undertake appropriate evaluation, scrutiny and decision 

making.  This timescale should include appropriate time in 

advance of the procurement for the council to undertake the 

necessary strategic thinking and planning required and 

mitigate the risk of not making an award in the planned 

timescale. 

 

5.2 In developing the new framework officers also took into account 

recommendations from the Council’s own internal review, and the 

Childrens Services and Education Scrutiny Board supported the 

safeguarding of all children and young people and their journey 

experience, which included: reducing travel time for all passengers 

to 50 minutes: all drivers and passenger assistants to have 

undertaken basic first aid training: promoting awareness of travel 

training: and the continued application of the TAS Badging 

process for drivers and passenger assistants employed on council 

contracts. 

 

5.3 The new framework was developed to ensure delivery of the 

following key components:  

 

• Greater financial & market resilience 

• Transparency of process & decision making 

• Value for money  

• Improved contract compliance & monitoring 

• Effective communications: Operator & Parent / Carer 

Newsletters Briefing for Councillors 

• Utilising existing resources more effectively i.e. In-tend / Adult 

Social Care Fleet 

• Further competition opportunities 

• Option to extend Framework by 12 months 

• Capturing lessons learnt for future procurement exercises 

5.4 The key features of the new Framework are:  

• 13 Contracts over 3 Lots 

• Broader structure of Lots to support / encourage SME’s either 

directly or through sub-contracting arrangements 

Page 474



 

• Operators initially limited to the award of 1 contract per Lot  

• Evaluation thresholds for compliance, finance and quality 

reviewed and improved 

• Further opportunities for new contracts during life of 

Framework 

• Enhanced pricing structure for tender submissions 

• Service Specification for Operators: reviewed and updated 

• Improved compliance: operationally and contractually 

• Allows for effective use of Council resources 

• Adopting an appropriate evaluation matrix to manage the 

equitable award of contracts to individual operators 

• Selecting a wider range of operators to minimise the risk of 

service disruption through the failure of a single operator 

• Securing satisfactory evidence of the ongoing financial 

resilience of the operators admitted to the Framework 

• ensuring adequate contingency plans are in place to ensure 

continuity of service   

 

5.5 However, despite the robust measures in place the response of 

the market created additional challenges.  Initially 13 contracts 

within 3 Lots were awarded to 6 different operators.  Unfortunately, 

3 operators immediately declined offered work, and whilst the 

team were able to offer 2 contracts to the next lowest operators, 2 

remaining contracts had to be broken down into smaller contracts 

to reduce the risk of either no bids being received, or bids being 

artificially inflated. 

 

5.6 In August 2022, 17 contracts were awarded with a total value of 

£6.6m based on 692 pupils. 

 

5.7 From the period 1 April 2022, (when pupil schedules were finalised 

for tendering purposes) to date, 318 new applications for travel 

assistance have been received, of which 267 were eligible.  A 

significant increase in passenger numbers has led to increased 

costs and led to further disruption to pupils as a result of route and 

personnel changes. 

Page 475



 

  

5.8 The difference in contract value between contract award in July 

2022 and current costs for each of the contracts are indicated in 

Table 3 below: 

 

Table 3 

Contracts: 

No. School(s) / 
Area(s) 

Total 
annual 
value at 
contract 
award £ 

No. of 
passengers 
at point of 
award  

No. of 
Vehicles 
 
At point 
of 
award 

Revised 
total annual 
contract 
value 
(expend.) 

Revised 
No. of 
passengers 
as of 
10/03/23  

Revised 
No. of 
Vehicles 
As of 
10/03/2
3 

1 Meadows 961,400 141 26 1,364,986 150 33 

2 Orchard 570,000 111 14 698,660 108 18 

3 Westminster 549,100 149 15 549,100 143 15 

4 Shenstone & 
Brades 

416,100 14 3 822,851 45 24 

5 * Mainstream 
Primary - South 

658,160 
 

42 24 673,642 39 21 

6 Contract 
returned so re-
procured 

n/a - - - - - 

7 Mainstream 
Primary - North 

396,861 24 13 467,981 24 13 

8 Mainstream 
Secondary - 
South  

395,200 37 9 463,051 37 11 

9 High Point 
Academy  

114,000 22 3 452,999 44 8 

10 Out of Borough 
- Birmingham 

1,086,800 61 32 2,521,522 
 

98 53 

11 ** Out of 
Borough – 
Others 

585,580 22 14 1,276,001 24 22 

12 Contract re-
procured as 14 
& 15 

n/a - - - - - 

13 The Primrose 114,000 18 3 356,583 18 9 

14 West Bromwich  115,900 6 5 833,990 21 15 

15 Wednesbury / 
Tipton 

159,600 18 4 420,946 26 9 

16 Dudley  151,050 8 5 947,288 26 20 

17 Walsall 161,416 
 

6 6 230,400 
 

6 6 

Page 476



 

18 Wolverhampton 107,730 
 

6 6 165,880 9 6 

19 Dudley Port 
School  

53,010 7 2 247,327 10 6 

20 + Elm Tree 
Primary  

n/a  - - 83,391 
 

10 2 

 Totals  6,595,907   12,220,015   

 

  + Following the decision by Adult Social Care Fleet, Contract 20 

‘Elm Tree Primary Academy’ was awarded through a new contract 

on 5 January 2023 

 ++ The Primrose Centre is excluded from total expenditure as this 

cost is met directly by the school 

 

5.9 In April 2022 it was agreed that the Adult Social Care Fleet would 

undertake the contract for the new special school, Elm Tree 

Primary Academy, which opened in September 2022.  The service 

was initially one minibus for 7 children.  The plan was for contract 

to expand with demand over the course of the next 6 years as the 

school moved to full occupancy, giving the Fleet time to resource 

the increased provision.  Unfortunately, ASC confirmed in 

December 2022 that they were unable to continue with the contact 

after 31 December 2022 due to the re-set and recovery of 

community venues and the need to transport adults each day.  

The cost of awarding this contract for the remainder of the 

financial year is £27k, or £53k for the whole academic year. 

 

5.10 Both passenger numbers and vehicles numbers have been 

provided in Table 3 to indicate examples of where additional 

numbers of passengers can disproportionately increase the 

number of vehicles now required, together with the associated 

additional costs.  E.g., Contract 1, The Meadows.  Whilst only 9 

additional passengers by end January 2023, 7 additional vehicles 

are now in use. 

 

5.11 Other significant changes can be seen within contracts 5 and 11. 

 

Page 477



 

 * Contract 5, serving mainstream primary schools in the south of 

the borough has experienced various changes in the number of 

passengers: the additional cost for each new passenger: a larger 

vehicle required in one instance to accommodate a larger 

wheelchair in use: induction to a new school is often conducted on 

a part-time basis, requiring the operator to undertake additional 

journeys to pick up and drop off. 

 

 ** Contract 11 – covers outreaching schools with much longer 

travel distances: resulting in a higher than average cost for each 

extra vehicle required, with an additional Driver and Passenger 

Assistant: 3 new schools were added to the contract since tender 

award: one school is now operating a Saturday school 

necessitating additional journey’s. 

 

5.12 Grant Thornton confirmed in their ‘Value for Money Governance 

Review’ in December 2022, that previous concerns raised around 

SEND Transport had now been resolved with improved 

governance in place, and that the Council must ensure lessons 

learnt are shared across other Council Services so that learning 

becomes embedded across the Council.  

 

5.13  The council has also undertaken a lessons learnt exercise of 

SEND 2 procurement to support future council wide procurement 

projects.  The lessons learnt review was to capture good practice 

and reflect areas for continuous improvement which was not 

specific to SEND Transport.  It focused on Officer perspectives of 

the project.  The four main themes of the review focussed on:  

 

• Corporate Oversight & Resources 

• Communication and Engagement 

• Governance and Project Management 

• Organisational Culture 

 

 

 

Page 478



 

5.14 Key lessons learnt included that: 

- The timescale for SEND 2 was very challenging – delivering 
the SEND 2 procurement on time was a major achievement 

- The issues, challenges and requirements from SEND 1 
(Reviews by Audit, Scrutiny and Grant Thornton) were 
addressed in SEND 2 and their recommendations were 
incorporated into the process 

- Project governance, specialist procurement support and a 
cross-council project team were in place and this provided 
corporate grip 

- Communication around the process, timescales and project 
outcomes took place with Members 

- Officers and Directors involved demonstrated commitment 
to deliver SEND 2 and the project was a good example of 
cross-council working. 

- The market was a challenging environment to engage with 
and work will be undertaken with SEND 3 to support them 
on expectations in future procurements. 

 
5.15 Areas for continuous improvement are being embedded in plans. 

  These include: 

- Ensuring resources are in place, and sufficient delivery time 
is factored in for procurement projects from the outset 

- Providing clear guidance to Officers for major and high-risk 
procurement projects  

- Ensuring that pre-market engagement takes place before 
procurement commences 

- Strengthening the project management approach for major 
and high-risk procurement projects 

- Extend procurement training to elected members to support 
the key role they play in the approval process  

 

6 Next Steps 

 The timetable to commence the next procurement exercise, SEND 

3 will commence this Spring to ensure sufficient time to complete 

the task, incorporate the lessons learnt from SEND 2, and 

consider the following:  

 

Page 479



 

1. A selection of, or all future contracts are changed at the end of 

the Spring Term (Easter) to ensure there is: 

• Less disruption for children and their families.  

Traditionally there are a significant number of new 

pupils starting, and pupil leaving travel assistance at the 

start of the new academic year.  Changing contracts at 

the same time leads to significant and unnecessary 

disruption to children and their families as routes and 

collection / drop off times change which was very 

evident during September 2022. 

• Greater cost certainty at outset of new contracts, with 

passenger schedules a reflection of current demand 

operators are then being asked to tender upon   
2. As part of this approach varying contract lengths will also be 

considered to encourage and support a more competitive 

market, with an increased frequency of new opportunities 

Improve SEND Pupil Forecasting to better predict future 

budget pressures. 

3. Capacity to increase service provision through the Framework 

to accommodate the continued growth of both new special 

schools, High Point Academy (Secondary) and Elm Tree 

Primary Academy as they move towards full occupancy in 

2024 and 2025 respectively.  

4. Changes in occupancy rates of multi occupancy vehicles: the 

change in needs of children and young people are increasing, 

which will cause occupancy levels to reduce, increasing the 

number of vehicles required to undertake larger school 

contracts. 

5. That all future council contracts support the Council’s Climate 

Change targets of being Carbon Neutral by 2030. 

6. Introduction of collection points for passengers using large 

occupancy vehicles for some schools / pupils to reduce the 

number of routes and vehicles used and promote a degree of 

independence for the young person. 

7. Further improvements to the customer experience, e.g. 

improving the meet and greet process when a new passenger 

joins the service, or a new Framework Supplier is used, and 

Page 480



 

real time updates on journeys for parents / carers, children and 

young people, educational establishments and the council.  

8. Route planning being undertaken by the council rather than 

operators.  The task would require introduction of specialist 

software and likely to impact upon staffing levels. 

9. Future procurement strategy to address supply and demand: 

as demand continues to increase, the market is getting smaller 

and prices are rising. 

10. Investment in software to support contract management to 

manage increasing demand and impact on budgets. 
11. External contract monitoring support: explore the option to use 

external contract monitoring support of the Framework, in 

tandem with the ongoing operational contract monitoring, will 

improve the overall service provided to the council, and also 

enable the opportunity to upskill existing staff to reduce cost of 

engaging external support. 
12. Repeat credit checks.  For SEND 2, credit checks for all 

Framework suppliers are currently being repeated. 
13. Pre-market engagement with the supplier market.  
14. Pre-procurement consultation with parents and key 

stakeholders.  

 
7 Alternative Options 

7.1 The Council either needs to keep or review how Travel Assistance 

is awarded in the future, or consider how it may be delivered 

differently to ensure the most efficient and cost-effective solution is 

maintained. 

 

7.2 Whichever option for SEND 3 is implemented, the council will 

need to ensure it continues to fulfil its statutory duty to make 

arrangements for all children who cannot reasonably be expected 

to travel to school because of their mobility problems or because 

of associated health and safety issues related to their special 

educational needs or disability (SEND).   

 

7.3 Alternative options may include one of the following that will be 

explored further and be subject to further reports to the Board, and 

Page 481



 

Cabinet for any policy changes that alternative provision may 

present: 

 

• Although likely to be very unpopular for families of children and 

young people with SEND, a review of policy and practice 

changes to manage budget expenditure more effectively.  For 

example, all Sandwell parents make their own travel 

arrangements using a personal budget. 

• Explore the option for the council to deliver its own home to 

school transport service, either through establishing its own 

fleet, or potentially through an arm’s length company.  Both 

options have the potential to generate additional income by 

undertaking non-Council work.  The proposal could be piloted 

by maximising the use of the existing Adult Social Care Fleet to 

test its viability, as several factors will need to be addressed 

before committing to significant investment.  

7.4 The current contracts undertaken under Contract No. SMBC 

22011 use in excess of 300 vehicles with operators using cars, 

Hackney Cabs, and 7-15 seater mini buses, many of which will 

have a tail lift to enable access for wheelchair users. 

 

7.5 A number of significant questions and issues would be raised with 

this option:  

• Efficiency of vehicle usage: use of vehicles for only 4 

journeys a day will not be cost efficient  

• Sufficient capacity with built in contingency, variety of 

vehicles to meet demand, passenger needs and 

changing circumstances 
• Recruitment and retention of Drivers and Passenger 

Assistants  
• Secure storage for vehicles   
• Council’s commitment to being carbon neutral by 2030, 

will require an Electric Fleet, with sufficient capacity for 

charging  
• Increased infrastructure required to manage the fleet 

including maintenance, training for staff, daily operational  

Page 482



 

oversight, increased insurance costs 
• Significant expansion of existing council staffing levels to 

provide a transport service 
 

8 Implications 
 

Resources: Service provision, including Home to School 
Transport assistance, and direct support to families is 
currently provided from within existing resources.  
However as is the basis of this report, the projected 
expenditure for 2022/23 financial year is expected to 
be significantly in excess of the baseline budget of 
£7.5m. 
 

Legal and 
Governance: 

Under Section 35(b), Education Act 1996 the Local 
Authority has a duty and has powers to make travel 
arrangements for children with special educational 
needs and disabilities to facilitate their attendance at 
an appropriate education provision. 
 
Governance: monthly meetings of the  
SEND Transport Procurement & Governance 
Programme Board are held (membership: Children 
and Education Services: Director of Finance / S151 
Officer: Director of Law and Governance & Monitoring 
Officer) 
 

Risk: As the options detailed in the report are fully explored 
the risks will be captured within the risk register for 
procurement. 
 

Equality: An Equality Impact Assessment was undertaken for 
the purpose of completing the procurement exercise 
through the new Framework arrangements (Contract 
No. 22011) and kept under review during this 
operational stage.  
 
Children and young people with special educational 
needs and disabilities (SEND) have protected 
characteristics under the Equality Act 2010.  The 

Page 483



 

Local Authority has a duty and has powers to make 
particular travel arrangements for children with SEND 
to facilitate their attendance at an appropriate 
education provision. 
 
Local authorities must publish details of school 
transport for children and young people with SEND in 
their local offer.  This is set out in the Special 
Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 – 
schedule 2 paragraph 14.  
 
Children who cannot reasonably be expected to walk 
to school because of SEND, disability or mobility 
difficulty are eligible for transport under section 508B 
and schedule 35B (2) of the Education Act 1996. The 
policy should explain how a child with SEND meets 
the criterion for school transport. 
 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

Health and Wellbeing cuts across all travel assistance 
areas subject to the report.  Travel assistance is 
provided for our most vulnerable children and young 
people to enable them to access appropriate 
educational settings that support their health and 
wellbeing.   
 
For those pupils transported through the Framework 
arrangements operators are required to both 
acknowledge, and also arrange training for staff, to 
support the health and wellbeing of passengers, e.g., 
all operators are required to arrange Basic First Aid 
training for staff. 
 

Social Value: Contracts awarded under the new Framework require 
suppliers to demonstrate how they will be responsive 
to Social, Environmental and Local Economic 
prospects, and how they will construct and operate 
their works to deliver a positive impact on the local 
economic, social and environmental well-being of the 
local area. 
 

Page 484



 

Primarily operators are locally based employing staff 
from the local area. 
 

Climate 
Change: 

All decisions on future parental support and 
transportation will have to take full account of the 
council’s Climate Change Strategy and the ambitious 
targets to work towards a net zero / carbon neutral 
society. 
 
Throughout the operation of the current Framework 
(SEND 2), and procurement and operation of SEND 
3, whichever option is taken forward for future service 
provision, reduction of carbon emissions, minimising 
the total number of vehicles, routes and journeys 
passengers take will remain paramount. 
 
Contract procurement will require consideration and 
engagement with potential suppliers to model a 
business solution for both the council and the market 
that will afford the opportunity for petrol / diesel 
vehicles to be replaced with hybrid and full electric 
models. 
 

Corporate 
Parenting: 

All decisions, contract arrangements and operational 
tasks centre around the corporate parenting role and 
responsibilities all staff and contractors hold whilst 
children and young people are in our care. 

 
 
9 Appendices 
 

Grant Thornton.  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council: Value 
for Money Governance Review – follow up dated 2 December 
2022 

 
10. Background Papers 
 

 Grant Thornton.  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council: Value 
for Money Governance Review – follow up dated 2 December 
2022 

Page 485



This page is intentionally left blank



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

Sandwell Metropolitan Borough 

Council: Value for Money Governance 

Review – follow up

Year ended 31 March 2022

2 December 2022

P
age 487



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Key Findings 6

3. Detailed Findings 15

Appendix

A. The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money arrangements                                                              55

B. Improvement Recommendations 56

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of completing

our work under the NAO Code and related guidance. Our audit is not designed to test all arrangements in respect of value for money. However, where, as part of our testing, we

identify significant weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all irregularities, or to include all possible improvements in

arrangements that a more extensive special examination might identify. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting

on the basis of the content of this report, as this report was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members

is available from our registered office. Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant

Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents

of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 

team members are:

Mark Stocks

Audit Partner

T: 0121 232 5437

E: mark.c.stocks@uk.gt.com

Guy Clifton

Director

020 7728 2903
E: guy.clifton@uk.gt.com

P
age 488



P
age 489



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

4

On 22 March 2022 the Secretary of State for DLUHC issued statutory directions under

section 15(5) and (6) of the Local Government Act 1999. These directions appointed

two Commissioners who will oversee all functions associated with the governance and

scrutiny of strategic decision making by the Council. The directions will be in force until

March 2024, unless the Secretary of State considers it appropriate to amend or revoke

them at an earlier date. These directions are in addition to the ones that led to the

creation of Sandwell Children’s Trust.

The Council has expanded its Improvement Plan developed in response to our

December 2021 governance report to incorporate its response to the findings of the

CIPFA and LGA reviews. Both the Commissioners and the Council provide updates on

progress on delivering the Implementation Plan to the Secretary of State for DLUHC

every six months.

The purpose of our follow up review, which relates to our 2021/22 VfM audit, has been

to draw conclusions on the progress made by the Council against the recommendations

set out in our 3 December 2021 report. This does not represent a review of the

Council’s Improvement Plan which as already noted draws on a wider set of actions

than those relating to the recommendations set out in our December 2021 report.

This review, along with other VfM related activity, has been undertaken in order for us to

consider whether there are any significant weaknesses in the Council's arrangements.

Our overall VfM conclusions for 2021/22 will be set out in a separate Annual Auditor’s

Report.

Our approach

Our work in relation to this review  was undertaken between September and October 

2022.

Stage 1 – Review of key documents

We submitted an information request for key documents and then undertook a desk top 

review to reach an initial conclusion on the nature of further work required.

Stage 2 – Further Analysis and Clarifications

We then undertook interviews with key stakeholders in relation to each recommendation 

to clarity issues identified during stage one and to undertake more detailed analysis A 

total of 33 stakeholders have been met during this follow up review. 

Context to our VFM approach

Sections 20 and 21 of the Local Audit and Accountably Act 2014 (the Act)  require auditors 

to be satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as the Value for Money 

(VFM) conclusion. 

Our VfM work is carried out in line with the Code of Audit Practice (the Code) which is 

prepared  by the National Audit Office (NAO) under the Act, and its supporting statutory 

guidance: Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03).

A revised Code came into force on 1 April 2020, after being approved by Parliament. The 

Code requires auditors to structure their VfM commentary on arrangements under three 

specified reporting criteria: 

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the Council uses information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its 

services;

• Governance: how the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly 

manages its risks; and

• Financial sustainability: how the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it 

can continue to deliver its services.

Background to this review

On the 3 December 2021 we published our report setting out the findings of our review of 

the Council’s governance arrangements, which formed part of our 2020/21 VfM audit. 

Our report set out significant weaknesses in the Council’s governance arrangements, and 

was presented to full Council on 18 January 2022, along with the Council’s Improvement 

Plan which set out the Council’s response to our recommendations. The Grant Thornton 

report and the Improvement Plan were approved by the Council at this meeting. On the 

same day the then Local Government Minister at the Department for Levelling Up, Homes 

and Communities (DLUHC) announced the government was mindful to intervene in the 

Council because of the findings set out in our governance report.

The Council commissioned the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

(CIPFA) to undertake a review of the Council’s financial management and governance 

arrangements using the CIPFA Financial Management Model. CIPFA reported their 

findings and recommendations in January 2022. In addition, the Local Government 

Association (LGA) undertook a Corporate Peer Challenge review for the Council, reporting 

its findings and recommendations in February 2022. 

Context, background and scope of the review

P
age 490



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

5

.

Context, background and scope of the review (Cont’d)

Our Approach (Cont’d)

Our approach is designed to assess:

• Governance arrangements in place in relation to our scope;

• Council performance against these arrangements; and

• Identify any significant weaknesses and risks.

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance 

provided by council officers, council members, and external stakeholders with whom we 

have engaged during the course of our review.

Additional VfM Code Work

We have identified governance arrangements as an audit risk. This requires additional work 

to inform our auditor’s judgement on VfM. 

The work has been undertaken in line with the requirements of the Code and associated 

auditor guidance. This review helps us discharge our responsibilities under the Code and will 

include the reporting of any significant weaknesses in arrangements and other points for 

improvement identified during the review. 

Any fee variation is subject to approval from Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) 

which is responsible for appointing auditors and setting audit fees for relevant authorities 

that have chosen to opt into its national scheme of auditor appointments.

P
age 491



P
age 492



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

7

Overview

Introduction

A range of different recommendations can be raised by a council’s auditors as follows: 

• Statutory Recommendations:  written recommendations to the Council under 

Section 24 (Schedule 7) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. A 

recommendation under schedule 7 requires the Council to discuss and respond 

publicly to the report.
• Key Recommendations: the NAO Code of Audit Practice requires that where 

auditors identify significant weaknesses as part of their arrangements to secure value 
for money they should make recommendations setting out the actions that should be 
taken by the Council. We have defined these recommendations as ‘key 
recommendations’.

• Improvement Recommendations: these recommendations, if implemented should 
improve the arrangements in place at the Council, but are not a result of identifying 
significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements.

Further detail on the scope of auditor’s work on VfM arrangements  can be found at 
Appendix A.

Our December 2021 report included the following:

• 3 statutory recommendations,

• 5 key recommendations, and

• 37 improvement recommendations.

In this section we summarise our key findings on the Council’s progress. 

Our detailed findings relating to each Key Line of Enquiry are set out in a separate 

section.

Key Lines of Enquiry

The scope of our original review covered 17 Key Lines of Enquiry (KLOEs):

Our findings in relation to KLOE A8 were not included in our December 2021 report and 

have not formed part of this follow up review. 

As part of this follow up review we have also considered how the Council engages with 

residents and community stakeholders (KLOE B8).

P
age 493



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

8

Key Findings

The Council has a greater corporate grip over improvement, performance and decision 

making. It has demonstrated progress on a number of areas such as children’s  social 

care and leisure services. The Council’s leadership has taken shared responsibility for 

the oversight of the delivery of the Improvement Plan, and for cascading the plan 

through the organisation.

The introduction of a Performance Management Framework (PMF) provides an 

opportunity to improve evidenced based decision making, and sets out accountabilities 

to drive the delivery of the Corporate Plan. The Council needs to continue to refine how 

data is used to support the monitoring of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). 

Cabinet is demonstrating a commitment to making the tough decisions that are required, 

such as decisions made in relation to SLT, Lion Farm and SEND Transport. The 

Leadership Team has made good progress in its corporate approach to managing the 

operational issues and challenges raised in our previous report, with significant progress 

made in many areas.  There is more to do and this operational focus needs to continue, 

for example, on waste services, and also needs to expand into other areas, for example, 

medium-term financial planning and financial statement production. 

Skills and capacity gaps in relation to Serco and the ERP System implementation have 

been recognised and steps taken to manage them, including the use of interim and 

external resources. There has been a restructure of the Finance Team to better reflect 

the capacity and skill requirements needed to support the wider organisation. Work has 

been undertaken to better clarify roles and responsibilities, for example in relation to the 

ERP System implementation. 

Key Findings

There is evidence of greater senior officer involvement in areas of key service 

challenges.  A corporate Programme Management Office (PMO) has been created 

which will co-ordinate key change and transformation projects. These changes are 

welcome and necessary but it will take time to evidence their effectiveness. The Council 

needs to ensure there is a structured approach to knowledge transfer when using 

external specialists and that the capacity, skills and resourcing levels of the PMO and of 

key projects remain appropriate,  that the PMO is able to effectively monitor the delivery 

of the Implementation Plan, and the PMO  integrates all transformation and change 

activity being undertaken across the Council.

Key Findings

There is clear evidence that the Council is making better procurement and commercial 

decisions. The SEND Transport procurement approach was reviewed, revised and re-

run and has been successfully concluded. SLaP has been dissolved, and Lion Farm and 

Providence Place are now being managed through to a resolution. Notice has been 

served on SLT with plans to create a new local authority trading company for leisure 

services. The most recent Ofsted inspection of children’s services has seen the rating 

move from inadequate to requires improvement to be good. This represents significant 

improvement.

Significant progress has been made on the ERP systems replacement, including the 

procurement of a new implementation partner. Due to the poor way these had previously 

been managed the Council has faced delays and incurred unnecessary costs. For 

example, in relation to ERP the Council has incurred additional costs of at least £2.2m, 

however we acknowledge that the Council is seeking to mitigate this loss. 

This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

Statutory Recommendation 1: It is imperative that senior officers and 

senior members take effective corporate grip of long-standing service 

issues highlighted by the findings in this report: (including SLT, SCT, the 

waste service, the ERP system, and Lion Farm) and prioritise corporate 

effort in managing the issues identified, and embed the solutions into the 

Council.

Statutory Recommendation 2: The Council must ensure that the learning 

in relation to commercial decisions, procurement and contract 

management  highlighted in this report are understood through the 

organisation.

P
age 494



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

9

Key Findings: Statutory Recommendation 2 (Cont’d)

The lessons learned from both poor past practice, and the improved practice put in 

place to expedite failings must continue to be used to ensure that future large scale 

procurements and decision making follow good practice. The Council has not yet 

developed and agreed a commercial strategy which remains a key action to resolved 

and ensure there is understanding of the strategy across the organisation.

The Council has reviewed and updated its Contract and Procurement Procedures, 

financial decision thresholds, and the Protocol for the Disposal of Council Owned Land 

and Buildings, which were approved in July 2022.

There is evidence of improved corporate ownership and working relationships between 

the Council and SCT and Serco, helped by greater levels of senior officer 

engagement. Service quality and outcomes have been a feature of improvements made 

in relation to the SEND Transport procurement and form part of ongoing discussions in 

relation to the waste management contract.

As already noted, there remain challenges to progress in some areas, in particular in 

relation to waste services. 

Key Findings

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, and 

the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well both collectively and via 

their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  Hybrid working provides challenges for 

the Council’s leadership,  but there is evidence these changes are starting to be 

recognised across the wider organisation.

Key Findings (Cont’d)
This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

Statutory Recommendation 3: Senior leadership, both officers and 

members,  must demonstrate that they can continue to work together 

effectively, that they operate in line with the Council’s values, codes, 

policies and procedures, and that there is zero tolerance to inappropriate 

behaviours.  This includes changing the organisational culture in relation to 

complaints so that they restore balance and proportionality.

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across different 

Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is conducted 

by these committees.  The Leader has an inclusive leadership style, and is working well 

with other Cabinet members and the chairs of key committees, who in turn recognise the 

need for change and are demonstrating their commitment to the Council’s improvement 

journey. 

By taking a grip of many long-standing operational challenges the leadership of the 

Council is starting to create time and space to better consider the long-term. There is 

evidence that the Council is moving away from its insularity with improved focus and 

engagement with regional and national bodies. Changes to financial decision thresholds 

provides an opportunity for Cabinet agendas to focus on issues of strategic priority.

The Performance Management Framework provides the Council leadership with the 

mechanism to monitor progress against Corporate Plan objectives. Further work is 

required for the Council to demonstrate the necessary organisational and cultural 

change, including the introduction of the Phase 2 Improvement Plan, and having in 

place appropriate data to monitor all KPIs.

Budget monitoring and financial benchmarking have been introduced, but further work is 

required before they are being used appropriately by all services. 

The Council approved new financial decision thresholds in July 2022, with an updated 

scheme of delegation approved by the Council on 8 November 2022. These changes 

will need to become embedded so that officers are empowered and decision making 

becomes more agile.

The Current Position

The themes set out  our December 2021 report illustrated how the Council’s recent 

behaviours and legacy issues were impacting on good governance and decision 

making. Our previous report noted that the Council’s leadership had started to make 

some necessary changes and that “green shoots”  were in place to deliver the 

widespread transformation and changes required.   

P
age 495



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

10

Key Findings (Cont’d)

The Current Position (Cont’d)

The Council’s Improvement Plan has been key for creating and maintaining a focus on 

the required improvements, and the Council has made significant progress on many of 

the recommendations made in our previous report, supported by the creation of 

additional capacity in some key areas. The Council has put in place the foundations to 

delver the sustainable improvements that are needed, and significant improvements are 

already being made. Finalising and then delivering the phase 2 Implementation Plan, 

which will focus on organisational culture, values and behaviours required to deliver 

change, will be crucial for ensuring sustainable improvement.

The Council retains a challenging agenda of delivering business as usual alongside 

improvement and transformation and it must maintain the pace of change so that 

progress does not plateau or fall backwards. The Council must not become dependent 

on the Government intervention and the role of the Commissioners and be clear that the 

improvement journey is the responsibility of the Council leadership, both senior 

members and senior officers. In addition, the external environment for all councils 

remains highly uncertain, including the level of future Government funding and potential 

policy changes, alongside the impact of the cost of living crisis on businesses and 

communities and generationally significant levels of inflation.

The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that there is 

clarity on its medium-term financial position including how any funding gaps will be 

managed. The Council must also used the improvement building blocks now in place to 

bring a greater focus on service user responsiveness and outcomes. Once all the 

planned revisions to the Constitution have been agreed, the Council will need to embed 

theses changes and demonstrate sustainable improvements in governance and scrutiny 

of decision making.

Improvement is also needed in the Council's financial processes and its processes for 

the production of its financial statements. At the date of this report the Council has not 

completed the audit of its 2020/21 financial statements. This needs addressing as a 

matter of urgency.

This section provides a summary update of the Council’s progress in relation to the key findings and statutory and key recommendations in our 

December 2021 report.

The interim Chief Executive has continued to be central to the improvements that have 

been made to date. The appointment of a new permanent Chief Executive was 

confirmed by the Council on 8 November 2022, with their start date confirmed as 6 

February 2023. The success of this appointment remains critical for the Council’s 

improvement journey.

Recommendations and detailed findings

We now set out the summary of our findings for each KLOE followed by our key 

recommendations.

The detailed findings in relation to each individual KLOE are set out in the following 

section. We have also identified various improvement recommendations, which are 

summarised at Appendix B. 

We consider that these matters represent significant weaknesses in the Council's 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

P
age 496



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

11

KLOEs: Summary Findings 

KLOE Summary Findings

A1: The Children’s 

Trust

The Council has improved its relationships and contract management arrangements with SCT and the most recent Ofsted rating is evidence 

that positive steps have been taken on the Trust’s improvement journey. The Council should continue to work with SCT to ensure there is 

sustainability of continued progress. In particular, it will need to support SCT to mitigate workforce challenges and will need to monitor SCT’s 

ambitious financial plans, including efficiencies and demand management savings.

A2: Sandwell Leisure 

Trust

The Council has taken decisive steps to manage the contractual arrangements with SLT and is making changes to improve the provision of leisure 

services. The Council needs to successfully progress its plans for the local authority trading company.

A3: Providence Place This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place. We note that the Council’s previous 

management of this issue incurred a significant loss

A4: SEND Transport This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place. The Council must ensure that the lessons 

learned are shared across other council services so that this learning becomes embedded across the organisation.

A5: SLaP This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place.

A6: MADE Festival This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements in place.

A7: Waste Service The Council has made progress in its management of the Serco contract including improving the governance arrangements and introducing 

greater control to the management of the contract. The Council and Serco are moving from what was an adversarial contract management 

relationship towards a more constructive and collaborative partnership approach. There is greater engagement at most levels between the Council 

and Serco and relationships have improved to those being experienced during the time of our previous review. However, many changes now in 

train need to be completed and the more collaborative approach needs to become fully embedded and progress is still required including to finalise 

all associated plans and schedules, and formally agree the  replacement timescales for the waste fleet and  the financing of replacement costs and 

supplier lead in times with Serco. Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in relation to the Council’s accounts.

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 497



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

12

KLOEs: Summary Findings (Cont’d)

KLOE Summary Findings

A9: Lion Farm The Council has taken all possible actions to resolve this matter and has a clear way forward, although we note that the process is by its nature 

slow. The Council has also improved arrangements with the updated protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings.

A10: Introduction of 

new ERP System

The Council has taken significant steps to correct what was a floundering system implementation and undertaken a significant amount of work 

since our previous review.  The Council has introduced more robust and appropriate governance arrangements, appointed a new implementation 

partner, scaled up the resources to implement the programme, introduced a programme management approach, engaged specialist external 

support and capacity, and corrected skills and experience gaps. The programme is now on a much more sound footing and the Council leadership 

now recognises that the introduction of a new ERP System is an enabler for transformation and has moved from a “lift and shift” approach to 

managing the implementation as a change programme.  The increase in costs to manage the implementation more effectively should increase the 

chances of a successful implementation and for the Council to realise the planned benefits. However, the way the original implementation was 

managed has incurred significant and unnecessary costs and delays for the Council, which remains a key learning reference point for future large-

scale change projects and programmes.

B1: Chief Officers Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. 

B2: Senior Leadership Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The success of the appointment of the new permanent Chief Executive  remains critical for the Council if it is to 

successfully continue on its improvement journey.

B3: Complaints Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. 

B4: Office and Member 

Relationships

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, and the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly 

well both collectively and via their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  This is being recognised across the wider organisation. There is a 

more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming 

across different Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is conducted by these committees. The introduction of 

a PMF is evidence of an improvement in consolidated reporting and provides the Council’s leadership with an opportunity for improved evidenced 

based decision making and monitoring the delivery of the Corporate Plan and Improvement Plan. The Council recognises that the PMF approach 

requires ongoing refinement to improve how key indicators can be effectively measured. 

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 498



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22 

Commercial in confidence

13

KLOEs: Summary Findings (Cont’d)

KLOE Summary Findings

B5: Standards 

Committee

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The Council must ensure that the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to monitor and take prompt 

action whenever inappropriate behaviour is identified.

B6: Audit Committee Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. A final decision needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered formally closed.

B7: Financial Reporting The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy 

issues from prior years, dating back to the previous accounts, that are undermining the quality of the financial statements. We consider that this 

needs to be an area of priority for the Council. Until these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over the Council's financial 

position.

The other improvements that are in train will take time to embed, and improvements are not likely to be seen until the production of the 2021/22 

accounts. The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to timescale, ensure all key finance roles have 

permanent appointments, and prioritise the recruitment to, and the training and development of, the Finance Team so that the role and 

behaviour changes planned become embedded.

B8: Engagement with 

Residents and 

Community Groups

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and 

properly manages its risks. The Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this engagement supports improved 

corporate focus on service quality and customer outcomes.

This section provides a summary of the key findings on each KLOE.

P
age 499



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2021/22 - DRAFT

Commercial in confidence

14

Key recommendations

Improvement recommendations are made throughout this report and these are summarised in Appendix B.   Our key recommendations are summarised below. 

# Key Recommendation

1. The Council must conclude the design of Phase 2 of the Improvement Plan, which will focus on organisational culture, values and behaviours required to deliver 

change,  and introduce a “golden thread” aligning corporate KPIs to individuals performance objectives, so that planned improvements and changes become 

embedded across the organisation. The Council must also use the improvement building blocks now in place to bring a greater focus on service user 

responsiveness and outcomes.

2. The Council needs to ensure that the new corporate PMO remains appropriately resourced, integrates all transformation and change activity being undertaken 

across the Council, and has access to appropriate data sources to be able to effectively monitor the delivery.

3. The Council should progress and finalise outstanding actions relating to our previous recommendations, in particular introducing a commercial strategy and an asset 

management strategy and conclude the service based actions arising from our previous recommendations, including improvements in the management of the waste 

contract and the creation of the new leisure services company. The Leadership Team needs to ensure there is appropriate corporate focus on medium term 

financial planning and financial statement production.

4. Once all the planned revisions to the Constitution have been agreed, the Council will need to embed theses changes and demonstrate sustainable improvements in 

governance and scrutiny of decision making.

Management responses to these and the improvement recommendations are included in a separate Council report.

P
age 500



P
age 501



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

16

Governance Review

The Council has instigated a review of its governance arrangements  following issues 

identified by our original VfM governance review, the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge 

review and the CIPFA Financial Management review. These reviews identified the need 

for the Council to address underlying constitutional and procedural deficiencies that 

directly and indirectly undermine or hinder the Council’s governance arrangements, 

decision making ability and key working relationships.

The Governance Review has been established to refresh the Council’s decision-making 

mechanisms and update constitutional arrangements to enable the achievement of the 

Council’s strategic direction and ambition. In particular: 

• efficient and effective decision-making; 

• a more open, transparent and accountable Council; 

• greater engagement with residents, communities and stakeholders in relation to 

democratic functions; 

• more effective support to elected members to enable them to be confident and 

successful in their various roles;

• corporate governance documentation, policies and procedures to be updated and 

revised so that they are consistent with national guidance, align to best practice and 

are fit for purpose;

• strong and healthy relationships between elected members and officers.

An Officer Governance Project Team was established to help coordinate and oversee 

the delivery of the Governance Review. Support has also been provided by the LGA, the  

Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS), CIPFA, and the Government appointed 

Commissioners. 

On 27 May 2022 the Governance and Constitution Review Committee established a 

cross-party Member Working Group to oversee the coordination of constitution revisions 

and proposals. The Working Group has considered a series of draft constitution 

proposals and worked with other committees, boards and groups to ensure proposed 

change are joined up, for example, any development and training needs are being fed 

into the Member Development Programme as training and development needs are 

identified.

Key Corporate Actions 

The review has been designed to be delivered in three phases:

• Phase 1:  Revisions to the Contract and Procurement Procedure, financial decision 

thresholds, and Protocol for the Disposal of Council Owned Land and Buildings. 

These were approved by the Council in July 2022. 

• Phase 2:  Revisions  were agreed by full Council on 8 November 2022 in relation to: 

the Scheme of Delegation to Officers, Council Procedure Rules, Executive 

Procedure Rules, Access to Information Rules,  Officer Employment Procedure 

Rules, Protocol Member and Employee Relations, and Officers’ Code of Conduct. 

• Phase 3: Proposed changes are due to be presented to full Council on 13 December 

2022 in relation to: Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, Financial 

Regulations and Procedure Rules, Remaining Articles, and Responsibility for 

Functions.

An annual review of the Constitution has been agreed following the conclusion of the 

current review. 

We refer, where appropriate, to this governance review during the detailed findings set 

out in this report.

Improvement Plan

The Council developed an improvement plan in response to our original VfM 

Governance review which, as already noted, has been expanded to incorporate the 

recommendations from the LGA Corporate Peer Challenge review and the CIPFA 

Financial Management review. It has also been developed in line with the Secretary of 

State for DLUHC’s Statutory Direction. This single Improvement Plan was agreed by full 

Council on 7 June 2022 and structured around the following six themes: 

• Organisational Culture

• Corporate Oversight 

• Strategic Direction

• Decision Making

• Procurement and Commercial

• Partnership and Relationships

Each theme has a clear set of deliverables, milestones and responsibilities which will be 

used to track our progress against expected timescales

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 502



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

17

The Improvement Plan (Cont’d)

In developing the Improvement Plan staff and elected members were engaged including 

via a co-production staff network and a staff panel. The Plan was also discussed with 

local MPs.  

The Council recognises that the June 2022 version of the Improvement Plan as phase 1, 

with an updated Improvement Plan to include any additional areas of improvement that 

are identified during phase 1 activity. 

Further staff and member engagement is planned through June to December 2022 to 

help shape the development of phase 2, which is due to go to Cabinet in January 2023. 

This engagement is due to focus on organisational change and to determine the desired 

culture of the Council.  

In his Directions to the Council, the Secretary of State for DLUHC appointed  two 

Commissioners with powers to make sure that the Council “has made sufficient 

improvement within the next two years to be able to comply with its best value duty on a 

sustainable basis”. These roles are:

• Managing Director Commissioner:  whose responsibilities include giving direction 

and leadership to deliver improvements that the Council is required to take; and

• Assistant Commissioner: one of whose responsibilities is overseeing the cultural 

change necessary at the Council.

The Commissioners will be providing six-monthly reports to the Secretary of State on the 

Council’s progress in addressing the matters highlighted by the external reviews. The 

first of these was made in June 2022 and at the time of our review there had not been a 

response from the Secretary of State. The next Commissioner report will be made in 

December 2022.

There are several factors that will inform any decision by the Secretary of State to end 

the period of Government intervention at the Council, and this decision will be based on 

reports received from the Commissioners. Some of these factors include:

• That the council can demonstrate sustainable improvements in governance and 

scrutiny of decision making.

• That a permanent Chief Executive has been successfully appointed.

• The Council has reached a decision on implementing a four-yearly election cycle.

Progress on the Implementation Plan is monitored by Leadership Team on a monthly 

basis using RAG ratings and exception reporting.   

Key Corporate Actions (Cont’d)

Terms of reference have been agreed and the Managing Director Commissioner will 

chair this meeting, with the Assistant Commissioner in attendance as an observer.

Members will have oversight of progress through monthly informal reporting and formal 

reporting to Cabinet quarterly. Progress is reported to the Audit and Risk Assurance 

Committee and the Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. 

Monitoring will continue until all actions have been completed and Government 

intervention has been lifted. Member-led committees will be used for decision making 

and to maintain oversight of implementation of the actions within the Improvement Plan. 

These will include Governance and & Constitution Review Committee, Audit & Risk 

Assurance Committee and Scrutiny Committees.

The Council already has in place an existing Statutory Direction from the Department for 

Education (DfE) in relation to Children’s Social Care. This Statutory Direction included 

the establishment of an  independently chaired Improvement Board and these 

arrangements will continue to run alongside the council-wide interventions. There will be 

scheduled updates between Sandwell Children’s Trust and the Commissioners through 

quarterly meetings with the independently appointed Chair of the Trust Improvement 

Board.

A dedicated team has been established to manage the development and delivery of the 

Implementation Plan via a programme management office (PMO). The PMO will identify 

variances to the agreed deliverables and work with lead officers to ensure mitigating 

action is designed and implemented as appropriate. The PMO aims to draw on key skills 

and expertise available across the Council as necessary, such as communications, 

organisational development, employee engagement, risk management, democratic 

services, financial management and internal audit. 

We refer, where appropriate, to the Improvement Plan during the detailed findings set 

out in this report.

Review of the Council’s election cycle

At its meeting on 26 July 2022, the Council approved arrangements for a public 

consultation in connection with the possible change of the election cycle from the current 

system of ‘election by thirds’ to ‘whole council elections’ occurring once every four years. 

This followed Directions by the Secretary of State for DLUHC that the Council reviews 

its current elections cycle. The Council undertook public consultation during August and 

September 2022. Of the total number of consultation responses received, 69% voted to 

retain the current electoral cycle of electing “by thirds”. At  full Council on 8 November 

2022 the decision was taken to maintain  the current cycle of elections “by thirds”.

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 503



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

18

Key Corporate Actions (Cont’d)

Performance Management Framework

The Council approved a refreshed Corporate Plan (Vision 2030) in October 2021 

which did not include any corporate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). Through the 

development of directorate business plans during Autumn and Winter 2021/22 key 

metrics were identified to track progress and measures the success of the Council’s 

actions towards the delivery of the Corporate Plan.

On 12 April 2022  the Council approved  a Corporate Performance Management 

Framework (PMF) to monitor delivery of the Corporate Plan. The PMF is designed to:

• Track progress on delivering strategic outcomes in the Corporate Plan.

• Develop collective responsibility for delivering the Corporate Plan, across elected 

members, the Leadership Team and Council staff. 

• Help improve services and outcomes by identifying poor performance and sharing 

good practice.

• Motivate staff by having clear objectives and targets, and hot staff accountable for 

delivery whilst providing cross-council support to address issues and achieve 

priorities.

• Celebrate the achievements of the Council whilst also identifying risks to achieving 

strategic outcomes and enable the Leadership Team and elected members to put 

in place mitigations in a timely manner.

• Provide a strong evidence based for improved decision making and the efficient 

use of resources.

The PMF is structured across four components as set out in Figure 1 on the right. A 

series of KPIs have been agreed for each area of the framework.  Performance 

information has been identified to support each KPI  be used to monitor progress, 

including benchmarking information where available. 

The Council has developed a service planning framework that seeks to understand the 

needs of communities, identified priorities and sets out actions to deliver and measure 

progress and impact. This sets out the purpose of and relationship between the 

following plans: 

• The Corporate plan sets out the strategic priorities and ambition for the borough

• The Improvement Plan sets out actions to respond to the Grant Thornton 

Governance Review, the LGA Peer Review and the CIPFA FM Review.  

Figure 1: Summary of the Performance Management Framework 

• The Corporate Plan and Improvement Plan set the priorities for directorate and 

service level plans.

• The Corporate Plan, Improvement Plan and Directorate Plans feed into the 

development of the Corporate Transformation Plan.

• The Corporate Transformation Plan is to ensure service improvements and 

transformation projects are delivered in line with the Corporate Plan and Medium-

Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).

We refer, where appropriate, to the PMF as part of our detailed findings set out in this 

report. 

Before setting out our findings on each KLOE we set out our findings on key corporate actions taken by the Council since our previous review.P
age 504



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

19

Background

The Service Delivery Contract (SDC) between the Council and Sandwell Children’s 

Trust (SCT) went live on 1 April 2018. The total contract period was for 10 years with an 

option to exercise a break after 5 years of operation.

Our December 2021 report recommended the following:

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – should prioritise corporate 

effort and develop a clear strategy for working with SCT to ensure it remains on its 

improvement trajectory. This should include:

• working with SCT to progress a multi-agency early intervention and prevention 

strategy.

• ensuring SCT has an appropriately resourced and skilled placements team in place 

to effectively manage the care market.

• conducting a review of KPIs to ensure they are effective for current circumstances.

• undertaking financial benchmarking in relation to children’s social care, and take a 

realistic and pragmatic view on the level of funding required.

• reviewing the governance roles of officers and members in relation to SCT so that 

they are clear on their responsibilities, avoid duplication, ensure effective 

communication and that there is a collective understanding of the performance of 

SCT and how risks and issues are being managed.

KEY FINDINGS

Ofsted inspection

In May 2022 Ofsted undertook their latest inspection of Children’s Services at Sandwell. 

The report, which was published on 5 July 2022, rated services as 'require improvement 

to be good'. The previous inspection by Ofsted, conducted in November 2017, rated 

services as inadequate. This previous inspection led to the creation of SCT in April 

2018.

Ofsted reported that the pace and trajectory of improvement had increased over the 

year preceding the inspection, underpinned by stronger strategic leadership and 

changes to service delivery such as the move to a locality model, the introduction of an 

early help strategy, a social work career pathway and high quality specialist services. 

Ofsted also noted effective collaboration by social workers with partners in other 

services.

However, Ofsted also reported that not all children experience effective social work 

practice due to staff turnover, workload pressures and variation in management 

oversight and support and effectiveness of partnership working.

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

Children’s Services in Sandwell have been rated inadequate for over a decade, so this 

latest inspection reflects a positive direction of travel. However, Ofsted noted that 

COVID-19 had slowed the improvement journey and there is still much more to do for 

services to be consistently good.

When a service comes out of inadequate the Department for Education (DfE) will take a 

measured judgement on any changes to their terms of intervention. The current 

statutory direction will remain in place until DfE is assured on the long term  trajectory of 

sustainable improvement. However, following the most recent Ofsted inspection results 

the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State for Children and Families acknowledged the 

improvements that Sandwell has made and advised that Sandwell will now  enter a 

period of ‘transition from intervention’. There will continue to be ongoing support and 

supervision from the DfE until it is clear there is a ‘sustainability of continued progress’.

The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this 

improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including sharing good 

practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

Muti-agency early intervention and prevention strategy

The Council, working with SCT and the voluntary and community sector, has developed 

a multi-agency early help strategy, which focuses on early intervention and prevention 

across the early help system. It was launched on 17 March 2022 and there have been a 

number of  events with partner organisations, such as the police and schools, to 

promote the strategy. The strategy seeks to ensure that needs are identified at the 

earliest possible point and early interventions prevent needs from escalating, reducing 

the need for more costly service provision. 

The Council has approved invest to save funding for a strategic lead  to drive the 

implementation of the strategy.  Whilst the strategy is now being implemented it will take 

time to embed across all the organisations involved, and will require cultural, behaviour 

and practice change from the organisations involved to be successful. 

The SCT Improvement Board monitors progress on the implementation of the strategy 

and the Children and Families Strategic Partnership has refreshed its strategic priorities 

to include early help and this body along with the Safeguarding Board provides system-

wide governance for the new strategy.  

It is envisaged that the strategy will take 18 months to embed across the early help 

system, and the Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of 

the early help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised.

P
age 505



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

20

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)

SCT Workforce challenges

Workforce challenges, relating to recruitment and retention remain a significant issue for 

SCT, with 25% of roles unfilled or covered by agency staff significantly impacting on 

capacity.  The Council and SCT have a clear understanding of how this impacts on 

performance and SCT has developed a workforce strategy. There is a Key Performance 

Indicator (KPI) in place on social worker vacancy rates which is regularly monitored  by 

the Operational Partnership Board (OPB), which has been in contract failure zone for last 

six months.

Social care is facing significant workforce pressures across the West Midlands, and 

indeed nationally,  with the reputation of Sandwell considered a contributory factor to 

current challenges, alongside a number of councils in the region actively competing with 

each other for scarce resources. SCT has been using the recent improved Ofsted rating 

as part of recruitment messaging to try and address any labour market perceptions.

In 2018 SCT in consultation with the Council introduced a market supplement to be paid 

to social workers of £2.5k with a total value of £150k included in the 208/19 contract sum 

and to be retained for the following three years of the contract. 

In March 2022 SCT’s remuneration committee undertook a benchmarking exercise 

comparing the pay of children’s social workers in Sandwell and the 13 West Midlands 

councils and identified that some roles at SCT provided competitive pay rates. However, 

a number of West Midlands councils have introduced financial incentives such as “golden 

handshakes” of between £2k and £10k. 

When comparing SCT’s social worker pay to the benchmarked group, SCT’s pay 

bandings were generally lower than half the other councils. In March 2022 the Council’s 

Cabinet agreed to continue the market supplement of £2.5k per annum which equates to 

£582k for 2022/23, of which £150k is already included in the contract sum. This is a 

maximum cost based on all 168 social worker posts being permanently employed. If this 

were the case the reduction in the cost of agency staff would offset the cost of the market 

supplement.  

The Council have taken positive actions in supporting SCT manage its operational and 

financial challenges. The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce 

the level of vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated 

KPI  does not lead to contract failure.

Placement costs

The average cost of residential placements for Sandwell has been increasing since April 

2018, with seven placements costing over £6k per week during 2021/22. The rise in 

placement costs is offset by the lower than average number of children in residential care 

(6% in Sandwell compared to the England average of 14%). This relatively low number of 

children in residential care suggests that SCT has been able to support children with high 

needs in foster placements. The children in care peaked at 56 in December 2018 and 

had reduced to 51 in February 2022. 

The Head of Strategic Commissioning, an invest to save role, provides additional 

capacity and expertise to increase the potential for joint commissioning and ensure 

stronger strategic planning at an individual case level with key partners including the NHS 

and schools.  The Head of Strategic Commissioning also provides challenge to children’s 

placement activity including costs and the appropriateness of placements for the child, to 

support the drive for efficiencies. A saving of £87k has been reported during 2022/23 

relating to complex placements.  Nonetheless, the Council is forecasting an overspend 

during 2022/23 of £750k due to SCT needing to bring in managed social work teams to 

cover vacancies. The Council also has a £500k contingency for high cost replacements. 

SCT has a board led by SCT’s Director of Resources which monitors placements. At the 

time of our review a number of market events were planned with providers. The 

sufficiency of placements is discussed regularly at management and contract 

management meetings between the Council and SCT and by the SCT Improvement 

Board. 

Invest to Save

The contract between the Council and SCT allows SCT to make invest to save proposals 

to increase the contract sum in the short term, to be paid back to the Council via a 

reduction in a future contract sum. SCT has submitted two invest to save proposals which 

the Council approved in September 2021. 

These related to Early Help and Strategic Commissioning and total £287.5k investment in 

2021/22 and 2022/23 with this amount being returned to the council  by SCT in 2023/24 

and 2024/25 by a reduction in the contract sum.

The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to save 

activities to ensure that SCT is able to meet its financial plans and  generate the 

ambitious savings and efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced. 

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.P
age 506



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

21

Contract review

The SDC includes a requirement for SCT to produce an annual review  and a contract 

review at the end of year four of operation. There is a joint requirement on the Council to 

also review the contract at the end of its first four contract years (April 2018 to March 

2022). Unlike the annual review, the contact review is undertaken by both parties and 

the SDC sets out what this review should cover.

On the completion of the contract review process a recommendation must be made to 

the Secretary of State on whether a break notice should be served, and children’s social 

care functions brought back under the direct management of the Council. The Secretary 

of State will make the final decision on the serving of the break notice, considering the 

recommendations of both the Council and SCT.

At its meeting on 28 September 2022 the Council’s Cabinet agreed to not recommend to 

the Secretary of State that the break clause be invoked.

The funding provided by the Council to SCT during 2022/23 will be £71.7m and was 

determined by the contract sum negotiation process and change controls agreed by 

Cabinet. This amount is higher than the annual budget when the Trust was set up in 

2018.  There have been several financial pressures on the Trust linked to demand, the 

cost of placements and significant staff recruitment and retention issues that have 

underpinned the need for additional funding. SCT has detailed how it will reduce the 

total spend on service provision, through efficiencies and demand management, so that 

by 2024/25 the annual budget will be, after inflation and pay awards, over £2m a year 

lower than the 2021/22 budget.

The expectation when SCT was set up was that services would move from being 

‘inadequate’ to ‘good’ within four years. The Council has accepted that the impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the delivery of children’s services 

and Cabinet agreed at its meeting on 28 September 2022  to revise the timeline for 

achieving a judgement of ‘Good’ to March 2025, which also recognised that the next 

Ofsted inspection is likely to take place in three years. 

SCT overspent their budget by £6.567m in 2018/19 and the Council allocated £5m 

towards this deficit from reserves. SCT overspent by £4.332m in 2019/20 but did not 

request additional funding, instead agreeing that this overspend would be recovered by 

the end of 2020/21. SCT had a cumulative deficit by the end of 2020/21 but is expected 

to recover their position by the end of 2023/24, based on information provided to the 

Council as part of the 2022/23 contract negotiations. 

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

The service delivery contract between the Council and SCT sets out 15 Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) agreed in July 2018. These were based on key areas of 

service improvement against areas identified by Ofsted, and are monitored by OPB and 

the Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). We note that the SCT Board uses a performance 

management framework that is broader than these 15 contractual KPIs. 

The Council and SCT agreed to review the contractual KPIs to ensure they are 

appropriate for current circumstances, with the new set of KPIs to be used from 1 April 

2023 contract period. This review of KPIs was ongoing at the time of our review. 

Benchmarking

The Council commissioned LG Futures to undertake financial benchmarking including   

analysis of children’s social care in Sandwell. Children’s social care spend in Sandwell 

based on  head of population was lower than the average spend of statistical nearest 

neighbours over the period 2018/19 to 2020/21. The Council’s Cabinet is aware that 

SCT does not represent above average unit costs when compared to the benchmarking 

group, and the Council  has taken this into account as part of their contract negotiations 

including savings options for 2022/23 and 2023/24. This benchmarking analysis 

indicates a challenging context  for SCT to achieve the efficiencies and demand 

management savings that are planned for the contract sum to be reduced.

SCT’s Director of Finance has regular dialogue with the Council’s senior finance officers 

and DCS, and SCT’s financial plan is scrutinised by the Trust’s Board.  

Review of governance roles

The Council appointed a new Lead Member for Children’s Services in May 2022, who 

had been in this role at the time that SCT was established. 

Formal governance arrangements between the Council and SCT have not been 

changed. The Director of Children’s Services, together with Council senior officers from 

finance and legal services, and the Chief Executive of the Trust meet on at least a 

monthly basis to consider performance and operational matters OPB. The Council’s 

Lead Member for Children and Education and Director of Children’s Services meet 

quarterly with the Chair of the Trust Board and the Chief Executive of the Trust, at a 

Strategic Partnership Board (SPB). SPB is chaired by the Chief Executive of the Council 

and considers risks and issues escalated by OPB, such as workforce challenges. The 

Improvement Board of the Trust is chaired by an independent consultant appointed by 

DfE. 

P
age 507



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

22

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider actions undertaken by the Council to secure improvement in children’s social care outcomes.

Review of governance arrangements (Cont’d)

The main governance related change since our previous review is that there is more 

regular informal meetings between senior representatives of the Council and SCT, 

including the Chair and Chief Executive of SCT and the Director of Children’s Services 

and the Lead Member for Children and Education, as well as meetings including the  

Director of Finance of the Council. There are also regular meetings between the Chief 

Executive and Director of Finance of the Trust and the Director of Finance and Director 

of Children’s Services of the Council.

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council has improved its relationships and contract management arrangements 

with SCT and the most recent Ofsted rating  is evidence that  positive steps have been 

taken on the Trust’s improvement journey. We have identified the following improvement 

recommendations:

• The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this 

improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including sharing good 

practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

• The Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of the early 

help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised.

• The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce the level of 

vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated KPI  does 

not lead to contract failure.

• The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to 

save activities to ensure that SCT is able to meet its financial plans and generate the 

ambitious savings and efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced

P
age 508



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

23

Background

Sandwell Leisure Trust (SLT) was formed by the Council in 2004 due to underperformance 

of the in-house leisure service. SLT was contracted via a Management and Funding 

Agreement (MFA) for a 30-year period: 2004 to 2034.

Our December 2021 report recommended  that the Senior Leadership of the Council  - both 

officer and member - must take ownership and prioritise corporate effort  and take urgent 

steps to either resolve the current position with SLT or consider the options for alternative 

provision should either party decide to terminate the current contract, to ensure the 

continuity of future leisure service provision and associated reputational impacts. 

KEY FINDINGS

Contingency planning

As at  2022 there were 12 years left to run on the Council’s  leisure contract with SLT, under 

which the Council agrees a rolling three-year business plan with SLT each year.  The 

Council continued to be unable to agree a business plan and management fee with SLT for 

the next three-year period (2021-2024). The key issues for the Council related to the 

sustainability and value for money of SLT’s  business plan including the legacy operation of 

the Sandwell Aquatics Centre from June 2023, and the sharing of financial and key 

performance information. 

The Council undertook contingency planning to ensure continuity of service which included 

commissioning Continuum Leisure to undertake an options appraisal for the future 

management of leisure services.  Eight options were considered and the results of the 

appraisal were reported to Cabinet on 9 February 2022. Two options were identified by the 

consultants should agreement with SLT on their business plan not be reached:

• the creation of a local authority controlled trading company (LATC) or

• the outsourcing of the services.

Both of these options are projected to generate management fee savings when compared to 

the projected costs of the SLT contract based on SLT’s most recent business plan and also 

when compared to  bringing the services back in house.

The Senior Leadership Team were asked to undertake further detailed appraisal of these 

two options plus in-house provision.

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust 
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

At the same February 2022 meeting Cabinet agreed to serve reasonable notice of 

termination of the contract with SLT due to the Council and SLT not being able to agree a 

business plan and payment for 2021-2024,  with SLT ceasing to deliver services by 2 May 

2023.

Local Authority Trading Company

Detailed consideration of the three options for the future management of SLT’s  portfolio of 

leisure facilities was undertaken, including the changes planned  in 2023 with the opening of 

the Sandwell Aquatic Centre and associated closure of Smethwick and Langley facilities.

The findings from this options appraisal were set out in a report to Cabinet on 22 June 2022 

which focussed on the delivery model for 9 of the Council’s 10 leisure centres (one  is 

operated by Places Leisure and was not part of the scope of the options appraisal). Cabinet 

agreed to progress  the LATC option. 

The Council tested the market for a step-in provider, should SLT have decided to not work to 

the Council’s transition timescales, but a step-in provider has not been required, with SLT 

demonstrating that they want to work with the Council to support an appropriate handover to 

the new LATC. This includes SLT’s Chair attending the Council’s monthly operational 

meetings on the transition of the service and supporting the planned TUPE process of SLT 

staff to the new company. 

The Council has no recent experience of setting up a LATC and have engaged various 

suppliers to support the process. The Council is managing the transition to the new delivery 

model and is being supported by Bevan Brittan providing legal advice on the  structure of the 

LATC, Trowers and Hamlin advising on TUPE,  Strategic Leisure drafting the service 

specification, and Penna are being engaged to help recruit the Chief Operating Officer of the 

new company. The Council is drawing on Sport England models of performance 

management for leisure services, and researching good practice from the local government 

sector on leisure services LATCs, to utilise and adapt notable practice. 

The Council plans to use this change in delivery model to improve service quality, such as 

opening hours and expanding the service offering with a greater focus on wellbeing. At the 

time of our review the LATC had not been incorporated and the  governance arrangements 

had not been finalised, including whether Non Executive Directors (NEDs) will be recruited 

to sit on the new company board. 

P
age 509



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

24

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust (Cont’d) 
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the contract with SLT and to understand the impact of recent industrial 

action.

Local Authority Trading Company (Cont’d)

Whatever the legal structure of the new LATC, it will be a subsidiary to the Council who will 

retain the trading and operating risks of the new company and the Council will need to:

• ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so that there is a clear 

financial case for the commercial viability of the new arms length company.

• be clear how it  effectively discharges its role whilst allowing the company the freedoms 

and flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial and service benefits.

Sandwell Aquatics Centre

Following the hosting of the Commonwealth Games during the Summer of 2022, the Council 

is responsible for adapting the Aquatics Centre before it is transferred to the new LATC in 

June 2023 when it will become open to public use. This forms part of the Commonwealth 

Games legacy arrangements. 

The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so that it is 

operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear business case which sets out 

how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and provide financial returns 

to the Council as part of the leisure LATC arrangements.  

The Council is in the process of developing a commercial strategy to set out how the Council 

will identify, manage, and maximise new commercial opportunities.  The new LATC will seek 

to generate income and provide the Council as sole shareholder a dividend and as such will 

form part of the commercial strategy.  

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council has taken decisive steps to manage the contractual arrangements with SLT and 

is  making changes to improve the provision of leisure services.  The Council needs to 

successfully progress its plans for alternate delivery arrangements and we have identified 

the following improvement recommendations: 

• The Council will need ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so 

that there is a clear financial case for the commercial viability of the new arms length 

company

• The Council will need to be clear how it  effectively discharges its shareholder role in 

relation to the planned leisure LATC whilst allowing the company the freedoms and 

flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial and service benefits.

• The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so 

that it is operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear business case 

which sets out how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and 

provide financial returns to the Council as part of the leisure LATC arrangements. 

P
age 510



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

25

Background

Our original review considered issues arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.

In our December 2021 report we recommended:

• Where the Council considers similar transactions (to Providence Place) in future, those 

charged with making decisions must satisfy themselves that they fully understand the 

detail of the options being proposed. Council officers and their advisors have a 

responsibility to ensure that members making decisions do so having fully understood 

these complexities and risks.

• The Council should ensure that all future property or land acquisitions and disposals 

are clearly aligned with relevant Council property related strategies.

KEY FINDINGS

Protocol for the Disposal of Land and Buildings

The Council has updated its protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings 

which forms part of the Council’s Financial Regulations. It applies to all property interests 

owned by the Council, and applies to every Member and officer of the Council and anyone 

acting on the Council’s behalf.

The new protocol was approved by the Cabinet in July 2022 and clearly sets out the roles 

and responsibilities of individuals and bodies within the Council, and the scheme of 

delegation for approving asset disposals.

The protocol also sets out the risks and mitigations in relation to options agreements 

(such as used for Lion Farm) where the Council choses to encourage and promote 

property development in order to promote regeneration and renewal, or to contribute to 

strategic targets such as housing numbers.

The Council has been undertaking a review of its asset portfolio to identify any surplus 

assets. This work had not concluded at the time of our follow up review. Once concluded 

the new protocol will be applied should there be agreement on any asset disposals. 

Whilst the Council has not seen the circumstances to yet apply the new protocol, we have 

been advised that it has been used to provide a framework in relation to the acquisition of 

a shopping centre in West Bromwich town centre. 

KLOE A3: Providence Place
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the potential loss to the Council arising from the proposed sale of Providence Place.  

Asset Management Strategy

The Council has been developing an asset management strategy with a report due to go 

to Cabinet in October 2022.  This is expected to identify assets to rationalise and reduce 

asset related costs. The Council has also appointed Technology Forge to support the 

development of a new asset management database. 

The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy and 

asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio including asset 

disposals.

The Future of Providence Place

On 23 December 2021 the Council agreed to the disposed of the Providence Place site to 

the Department for Education.

The Council’s Planning Committee on 10 January 2022 approved the change of use of 

the Providence Place site from an office block to education, with external alterations and 

the erection of an associated school sports building and hard surfaced sports court.

On 30 March 2022 the Council’s Planning Committee approved planning permission for 

the creation of an 870 place secondary school with sixth form (Shireland Collegiate 

Academy Trust) on the site of Providence Place. The school will operate in partnership 

with the City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra, with the school  due to open in 

September 2023.

The Council signed a pre-emption agreement with the Department for Levelling Up, 

Housing and Communities (DLUHC) on 8 July 2022. This agreement allows the Council to 

buy the property should DLUHC decide to dispose of it during the period of the 

agreement, with the pre-emption period ending on 8 July 2047.

Conclusion and recommendations

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance 

arrangements in place. We note that the Council’s previous management of this issue 

incurred a significant loss. We have identified the following improvement 

recommendation:

• The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy 

and asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio including asset 

disposals.

P
age 511



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

26

Background

The Council’s Special Education Needs and Disabilities Passenger Transport (SEND 

Transport) contract expired at the end of August 2021 and the decision on the new contract 

award was deferred by the Council’s Cabinet at its meeting on 16 June 2021.

Our December 2021 report recommended that the Council’s senior leadership – both 

officers and members – must place priority on agreeing the outcome of the SEND Transport 

procurement exercise to ensure a further contract extension is not required. This should 

include:

• Not losing the significant progress made on the contract specification’s focus on service 

quality.

• Greater support, involvement, dialogue and oversight with the officer teams with 

responsibility for progressing the procurement.

• Ensuring the contract provides the Council with effective management and oversight of 

the personal transport market.

For the conclusion of the SEND Transport procurement and for all future major 

procurements, the Council should ensure that:

• Record keeping and declarations of interest are undertaken in line with Council policies 

and procedures.

• Decision making does not create real or perceived risks in relation to inappropriate 

procurement decisions.

• Procurement timescales provide adequate time for both suppliers to submit high quality 

bids, and the Council to undertake appropriate evaluation, scrutiny and decision making. 

This timescale should include appropriate time in advance of the procurement for the 

council to undertake the necessary strategic thinking and planning required, and mitigate 

the risk of not making an award in the planned timescale.

KEY FINDINGS

SEND Transport procurement

Following the Cabinet’s decision on 16 June 2021 to defer a decision on the outcome of the 

Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) procurement, the Council extended the exiting SEND 

transport contract until the February 2022 half term.

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

At its meeting of 12 January 2022 the Cabinet agreed to abandon the DPS approach to 

procurement and extended existing contracts until 21 July 2022 to ensure continuity of 

service was maintained whilst an alternate procurement was undertaken, with the outcome 

of this new procurement to provide new SEND Transport provision from September 2022.

The Cabinet agreed  that an alternate procurement approach be developed to reflect the 

findings and recommendations of the Internal audit review of the DPS procurement, the 

Grant Thornton governance review and the review undertaken by the Council’s Childrens 

Services and Education Scrutiny Board. In particular an approach that increased the number 

of lots, improved the quality of provision, encouraged greater competition and provide 

resilience in service delivery. 

A Programme Board was established comprising the Director of Children’s Services, 

Monitoring Officer and Director of Finance, to provide Director oversight of the procurement.  

A separate Implementation Group was established to develop and manage the procurement 

process, with this group including representatives from procurement, finance, legal, internal 

audit and the education support team. The Council appointed Bevan Brittan to provide legal 

advice and brought in two interim procurement staff to provide additional capacity and 

experience. 

A project plan was agreed which included key delivery milestones to ensure that the 

procurement timescale was clear and that there was adequate time for suppliers and for the 

Council to manage the procurement process  for the new service to go live on 1 September 

2022.  Delivery against the plan was scrutinised by the Programme Board. 

The new procurement framework was structured to encourage smaller operators to bid and 

to create resilience of supply. The framework consisted of 13 lots with operators limited to 

the award of 1 contract per lot.  The evaluation approach for compliance, finance and quality 

were reviewed and enhanced as was the pricing structure for tender submissions. 

The service specification for operators was also reviewed and updated to ensure service 

quality requirements were met. Steps were included in the procurement to mitigate the risk 

of operators colluding.  We have been advised that a new procurement template was 

created which included a link to the Council’s declarations of interest form, which had to be 

completed by all people involved in the procurement exercise. 

P
age 512



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

27

SEND Transport procurement (Cont’d)

19 operators responded to the invitation to tender. Following evaluation 9 operators were 

appointed to the new framework, with others failing the technical or quality part of the 

evaluation. The Council then ran a mini competition for those operators appointed to the 

framework based on price. 6 operators were offered between 1 and 3 contracts each. 

The budget for SEND Transport is  £7.521m and contracts awarded total £7m resulting in an 

underspend in contract costs at the time of our review.

Post procurement activity

The new contracts went live on 1 September 2022.  During the first week of the new contract 

an operator pulled out due to not having sufficient drivers available and were unable to meet 

the contract quality standards. The structure of the new framework meant that the Council 

was able to allocate an alternate operator – the next lowest priced tender - the same day to 

ensure continuity of service.

Contract monitoring arrangements for the new contracts include quarterly reviews with all 

operators to review their performance. These meetings are due to include senior officers of 

the Council. At the time of our review the Council was in the process of collecting 

performance information from operators. 

Also at the time of our review the Council were undertaking a lessons learned review of the 

procurement, and exploring procurement approaches used by other councils,  as part of a 

continuous improvement approach The results of this work are due to be shared to support 

other similar Council procurement exercises, for example by providing a checklist of key 

considerations,  including the next SEND Transport procurement. The procurement for 

SEND Transport contracts which will commence in September 2024 is due to start in Spring 

2023. The lessons learned outcomes will be included in an update to the Scrutiny Board.

Conclusion and recommendations

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements 

in place, 

The Council must ensure that the lessons learned from the SEND Transport procurement 

are shared across other council services so that this learning becomes embedded across 

the organisation. 

KLOE A4: SEND Transport (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the circumstances relating to the recent procurement of SEND Transport and the Council’s current 

approach to concluding the procurement. 

P
age 513



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

28

Background

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) was incorporated on 14 January 2011 as a limited 

company, and was established by the Council as a vehicle for protecting the freehold of the 

Council’s schools and related sites. The Council was in the process of winding up the 

company at the time of our previous review. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should ensure that when considering establishing an arm’s length company 

in the future there is a clear purpose for doing so and that those officers / members of the 

Council in company director roles are clear of their role and responsibilities in relation to 

that company.

• Where arms length companies already exist the Council should gain assurances that 

company directors fully understand their company roles and responsibilities, that the 

company administration is properly resourced and appropriate training is provided to 

company directors. The purpose of the company should be revisited on a regular basis to 

determine whether the company continues to be of benefit to the Council.

KEY FINDINGS

Sandwell Land and Property (SLaP) has been dissolved and  no longer exists as a 

company.

A review of arms length companies has been undertaken, which reported to the Council’s 

Leadership Team on 1 August 2022, concluding that only one body, Sandwell Children’s 

Trust, met the relevant criteria for an arms length company (as defined by the Local 

Government Act 1989), due to being a subsidiary of the Council and the Council being the 

sole subscriber.  Due to the Trust being well established with reporting and governance 

arrangements already in place, no changes were recommended. 

This review considered the following bodies, concluding that they didn’t meet the relevant 

criteria:

• SIPS Education: the Council does not  have direct control over the society. 

• Sandwell Leisure Trust: the Council has a contractual relationship with SLT. 

As noted in section KLOE A2 of this report, a leisure services LATC is being created, and 

the Council is obtaining external legal advice on the appointment of the company directors, 

board members, and representatives of the planned shareholder committee,  their roles and 

responsibilities and training requirements. 

KLOE A5: Sandwell Land and Property

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to the establishment of the company, actions undertaken by the Council to ensure the 

company complies with legislation, and delays to winding down the company.

This will be informed by lessons learned in relation to SLaP and SCT. 

Conclusion

This matter has now been actioned and resolved with improved governance arrangements 

in place, 

We have made an improvement recommendation in relation to the planned leisure 

company in the section on KLOE A2 of this report.

P
age 514



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

29

Background 

Our original review considered the governance arrangements and decision making relating 

to hosting the MADE Festival. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• As part of the planned review of the scheme of delegation the Council should ensure that 

there is clarity of decision making on hosting events, and that the governance 

arrangements relating to such decisions are effective and clearly communicated.

KEY FINDINGS

Events Governance Framework

The Council has developed an Events Governance Framework, which was reported to the 

Leadership Team on 23 February 2022. This followed a review of how the Council manages 

events. The Framework includes:

• Defines events as activities that take place on Council owned land or property.

• Set out responsibilities for managing events and event decision making categories.

• Classification of event types and event organisers and associated fees to be charged by 

the Council.

• Event decision making process and decision making thresholds including delegated 

authorities

• Measures to ensure adequate consideration of resident impacts of an event.

• The purpose and  role of the Safety Advisory Group in the events governance process

• A revised event booking process, decision making timescales and document 

requirements.

• Event marketing and promotion.

• Criteria for banned events. 

The Event Governance Framework draws on  what other local authorities are doing in 

relation to event governance and management, incorporating feedback received from the 

Local Authority Event Organising Group (LAEOG) the association of events organisers 

working for local authorities in the UK.

Following Cabinet Portfolio Holder approval the Framework went live on 28 February 2022 

and will  be reviewed annually by the Director of Borough Economy.

KLOE A6: MADE Festival

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the governance arrangements and decision making relating to the Council hosting this festival. 

Other Findings

The new framework has been communicated internally to all Senior Managers and other 

relevant officers and an events page has been created on the Council’s intranet.

The new framework has been communicated externally to event bookers to provide an 

update on changes made. The Council’s external website has new content:

• Event Governance Framework

• Event Application Information for Event Providers and Organisers

• Event funding opportunities (to sign post event organisers to external funding for their 

events) 

• ‘What’s on’ list of approved events 

• Resident Impact Assessment Form

• Resources and support (inc. FAQs) for event organisers / applications

In addition the Council has procured Event software that it is now using on the external 

website and is the channel for all internal and external event bookings to be made. An initial  

review has been undertaken of the app  and content has been enhanced in relation to traffic 

management plans for public park venues.

Events management responsibility has been consolidated with the management of the Parks 

Service and a range of training has been provided to the events team. 

New protocols have been created for the Council’s work with friends of park groups, 

clarifying event booking arrangements, including holding a workshop with these groups on 

the new ways of working. 

Quarterly reviews of event performance and lessons learned will be undertaken by the 

events manager, service manager, Director of Borough of Economy, and other internal 

stakeholders, depending on the nature of the event.  

Events during 2022 have included those relating the Platinum Jubilee and the Summer 2022 

events programme including events relating the Commonwealth Games such as the baton 

relay.  The Council was undertaking a review of events managed by the Council at the time 

of this review.  

Conclusion

This matter has been resolved and improved governance arrangements are now in place.

P
age 515



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

30

Background

The waste and street cleansing contract was awarded to Serco in November 2010 for a 

period of 25 years. The  Council’s current net expenditure on the contract is £29.5m per 

annum. Contract standards are performance based and measured against 34 Key Outcome 

Targets (KOTs). 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should prioritise corporate effort to ensure that the recovery plans are 

approved and appropriate senior management oversight is given to monitoring their 

effective delivery.

• The Council should ensure robust contract management arrangements are in place, and 

review the Key Output Targets (KOTs) and work with Serco to ensure they are line with 

Council expectations and the data is available to allow effective monitoring of contract 

outcomes

• The Council should ensure that the investments specified in the contract with Serco are 

made, such as a new vehicle fleet.

KEY FINDINGS

Annual plans

A review of the Serco contract was undertaken by the Council in December 2021, and a 

refreshed approach was developed to ensure contractual requirements are being met.  Prior 

to January 2022 the Council had not been pro-active in requesting the delivery plans 

required within the contract with Serco. Arrangements have now been put in place to request  

these plans for the Council to review and adopt.  Delivery against plans now forms part of 

the Council’s monitoring approach. The 2022/23 Quarter 1 update on plans was as follows:

• Service Delivery Plan:  not yet approved

• Communication Plan – approved in May 2022

• Education Plan – draft received June 2022

• Fleet Replacement Plan – approved in April 2022

• Street Cleansing Plan – being redrafted by Serco

• Weed Spraying Schedule – approved in May 2022

• Leaf Collection Schedule – Serco to provide in August 2022

KLOE A7: Waste service
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

In addition a waste and recycling recovery plan has been agreed. 

A six-month street cleansing recovery plan was agreed between the Council and Serco 

which resulted in Serco investing in deep street cleansing activity across all wards. Serco 

have been redesigning street cleansing improvement plans, including a programme to 

replace aging street cleansing sweeper vehicles and equipment. At the time of our review 

the revised plan had not been finalised and agreed. 

An annual review of Serco’s Service Delivery Plan (SDP) forms part of the output 

specification of the contract between the Council and Serco. In March 2022 Serco submitted 

their draft SDP to the Council for the period April 2022 to March 2023.  

The Council reviewed the SDP and other plans received and raised a number of issues with 

Serco focussing on the need for greater transformation and improvement in relation to street 

cleansing, waste collection and bin replacement, improvement of recycling and food waste 

collection rates, alignment of fleet replacement with the Council’s green agenda, and 

improvements to the education plan. A revised deadline of the end of October 2022 was 

informally agreed to finalise the SDP, and  the revised SDP was approved at the Waste 

Partnership Board on 19 October 2022.

The Council must work with Serco to finalise all associated plans and schedules.

Governance Arrangements

The governance arrangements for the monitoring of the Serco contract with the Council is 

managed by the following groups:

• Waste Partnership Board. Council representatives are the Leader, Portfolio Holder for 

the Environment, Director of Borough Economy and Head of Service for Waste, Street 

Cleansing and Fleet. Serco representatives are their Contract Manager, Operations 

Manager and Transformation Manager. The Board meets monthly and provides the 

principal level of oversight on contract performance and improvement plans.

• Senior Contract Management Group. This meeting is attended by the Director of 

Borough Economy and the Waste and Fleet Service Manager from the Council,  and the 

Regional Director, Senior Contract and Contract Manager from Serco. The group 

oversee performance targets, health and safety, key projects, contract milestones, 

staff/union issues, finance, improvement areas, and any outstanding issues from the 

operational performance meeting. The group meets monthly. 

P
age 516



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

31

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Governance Arrangements (cont’d)

• Operational Management Group. This meeting is attended by the Waste Client Team 

from the Council and the Contract Manager, Street Cleaning Manager & Waste 

Collection Manager from Serco. The purpose of the group is to review customer 

complaints, street cleansing performance, waste collection performance, IT 

configurations and their applicability, KOT performance data and investigate detailed 

problem areas. It meets fortnightly. 

• Fleet Management Group. This group is attended by the Assistant Director (Contracts, 

Strategy and Policy), the Fleet Manger and Fleet Officer from the Council.  Serco 

attendees are the Director of Fleet, Regional Fleet Manager, Senior Contract Manager 

and Contract Manager. The purpose of this group is to ensure the fleet replacement 

programme is reviewed / considered / updated, replacement vehicles are ordered in a 

timely manner, vehicles are fit for purpose on the contract and there is oversight and 

review of the contractual maintenance requirements. It meets monthly. 

Governance arrangements were reviewed during Spring 2022 which resulted in updates to 

the terms of reference of the Waste Board, updates of the data provided by Serco to the 

Waste Board, a refresh of standard agendas and action logs for all meetings. 

Contract Monitoring

A review of the Performance and Management of the Waste Partnership Contract was

undertaken by the Council’s Economy, Skills, Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board 

which completed in December 2021, making 14 recommendations which were reported to 

Cabinet on 23rd February 2022.

The Council commissioned Frith Consulting to undertake an independent review of the 

waste and street cleaning contract to consider quality, performance and VfM. The final report 

was not available at the time of our review. At the time of our review Internal Audit were 

undertaking a review of the Council’s contract monitoring arrangements of the Serco 

contract. 

The Council has introduced the Intend module on contract management to improve the 

sharing of contract monitoring information between Serco and the Council.

A new framework for monitoring the Serco contract was introduced in April 2022 which 

set out the different Council bodies with a monitoring role, what each body should 

monitor, the frequency of monitoring and associated responsibilities. The Council has 

undertaken wider research into ssupplier relationship management and the monitoring of 

large contracts, including application of contract management tools such as those 

recommended by the Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply (CIPS) contract 

management tools.  The monitoring framework for the Serco contract may be further 

refined following the conclusion of this wider review.

A refreshed approach to the management of stakeholders has been developed including 

an associated communication plan. 

Due to continued concerns and issues with the delivery and quality of street cleansing 

and recognised capacity challenges in the Council team, the Council has increased its 

monitoring of street cleansing to include three additional Performance Officers being 

retained on temporary fixed term contracts to ensure that there is daily monitoring and 

where the standard is short of what is required the issuing of rectification notices. 

The Council’s contract management role has seen changes in personnel during 2022, 

including an Interim Service Manager (Waste and Fleet) and a new Assistant Director 

joining in early October 2022 with responsibility for waste service contract management. 

The Council has reviewed the need for a contract manager role for the waste service, and 

has restructured the senior management team in Borough Economy to establish the role 

of Assistant Director Borough Economy (Contracts, strategy, policy) with responsibility for 

the waste contract. 

The Council’s Director for Borough Economy meets the Serco Managing Director 

responsible for Environmental Services and Serco Regional Director each quarter, 

providing an opportunity to discuss escalated performance issues  relating to the contract

The Council has reviewed the information used to monitor KOTs and other Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) and ensure that contract rectification is improved so that it 

is more clearly aligned to the Council’s service and contract requirements. New KPIs are 

being considered for contract monitoring to provide a focus to areas of concern, for 

example missed assisted bin collections and gulley cleaning. 

As part of the new corporate Performance Management Framework there is a quarterly 

report to the Councils Leadership Team and Cabinet on major contracts, including the 

Serco contract. 

P
age 517



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

32

Contractual Investments

The Fleet Management Group monitors progress on Serco’s fleet replacement plan to 

improve the reliability of the fleet. The plan has been developed to provide oversight to 

the Council following delays by Serco in meeting contractual obligations to replace 

vehicles when over eight years old. Delays in replacement timescales have been 

compounded by disagreement between the Council and Serco on the financing of 

replacement costs and supplier lead in times to provide new vehicles, which need to be 

formally agreed.  There is a lack of clarity as to whether previous capital payments 

have been used to replace the fleet and whether the Council is able to recover these 

payments (due to poor contract management in prior years).

The first 18 vehicles were replaced in January 2022, with a phased replacement plan 

during 2022 and for future years, with other new vehicles on order to replace the oldest 

vehicles in the fleet.

Following the reintroduced food waste collection, Serco are utilising food waste trucks. 

More generally the make up of the fleet needs to align to the Council’s policy on 

collections. Serco has modelled potential changes and expressed the need for certainty 

on whether the Council will alter collection policy (for example introducing alternative 

weekly collection for waste and recycling) leading to delays in the progress to aspects 

of the fleet replacement plan. The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be 

changes to the waste and recycling or garden waste collection policies.

Serco are replacing diesel street tipper vans with electric vehicles and the Council have 

agreed to fund the provision of electric vehicle charging points at the Serco depot, to 

support the Council’s carbon neutral agenda. Updates on Serco fleet replacement are 

made to the Council’s Climate Change Programme Board.

The Council is responsible for the maintenance of the Serco fleet at its Waterfall Lane 

workshop, with Serco paying approximately £1.2m per annum to the Council for this 

service as part of contract arrangements. Serco would like greater transparency on the 

pricing approach used by the Council, and the Council should take steps to 

demonstrate to Serco how the service provides value for money.

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Contract performance

The waste and recycling recover plan saw an improvement in the number of missed 

collections during 2022 until July and August, which saw an increase in late and missed 

collections. Reasons given by Serco included high levels of COVID-19 related absences, 

high turnover of agency staff, mismanagement of leave, impact of pay negotiations on 

employee engagement, high levels of emergency and annual leave, reduced desire to do 

overtime due to good weather. In addition the fleet suffered as a result of hot weather with 

two vehicle fires and case of vehicles overheating and parts failing with an average of 15 

vehicles not available each day in July and 13 a day in August (out of 62 vehicles).

Recycling performance has been improving but is still significantly below the contract target 

of 60.5%. A re-invigorated drive to improve food waste participation (currently at 4.5%)  is 

planned to improve Serco’s recycling performance.

Contractual penalty points are accrued for failing to achieve the specific KOT and each KOT 

has a different weighted penalty point deduction. Some KOTs from the original contract with 

Serco appear unachievable,  such as the recycling rate which specifies recycling of 60.5% 

per annum. However this rate has never been higher than the 45%, which has resulted in a 

financial penalty of between £500k and £1m per annum. This income to the Council is 

allocated to a waste reserve which totalled £3.8m as at March 2022.  The financial penalty 

for 2021/22 was £974k.

There are 126,0000 properties in Sandwell and only approximately 5,000 households have 

signed up to food waste collection, impacting on Serco’s ability to meet the recycling target. 

Due to Serco being unable to achieve the recycling rates they have been  in default of the 

contract. In 2014 the Council provided a letter of comfort to Serco, which gave Serco 

indemnity against default for failing to achieve the recycling rates and discounts to the 

recycling rate to enable them to close the gap on the actual recycling rate. This letter expired 

in March 2021 and the Council had verbally agreed to extend the letter for a further year 

pending a joint review the contract conditions, but due to management changes on both 

sides and a continual performance issue the review did not take place in this timescale.  A 

further letter of comfort was then provided by the Council to Serco dated 5 August  2022 and 

the Council concluded its review of Serco’s recycling performance, confirming financial 

penalties in relation to 2020/21 and 2021/22 annual recycling targets on 15 September 

2022.

P
age 518



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

33

Industrial Relations

For the period of the Commonwealth Games in the Summer of 2022 the Council 

contracted with a Ramora, via a separate tender process, to undertake street cleaning 

around the site of the Aquatics Centre to mitigate industrial relations risks at Serco and 

reflecting the additional street cleaning required during the period of the Games. Costs 

were met via the Games budget.  In the eventuality there was no strike action called by 

the Serco workforce. 

During 2022 Serco management have undertaken pay negotiations and reached 

agreement with their workforce. Serco changed bank holiday working arrangements as 

part of these pay negotiations and as already noted saw a high level of absences 

during July and August, but no strike action has taken place.  The Council have sought 

assurances from Serco that bin collections will not be impacted in a similar way during 

the Christmas 2022 or Summer 2023 holiday periods.

Other findings

The Council is working with Serco to improve transparency and engagement with 

residents and businesses via improved investment in IT. This includes:

• Serco using their new software for gulley cleansing and obtaining a licence so that 

the gulley cleansing schedule can be viewed on-line by the public.  

• Serco are making changes to their back-office system (White Space) and are 

considering moving introducing a texts service to residents, and are also 

considering the introduction of a residents app. 

• Serco are introducing electronic monitory of bin conditions via waste collection 

operative phones. 

The Council has recently established an Enforcement Liaison Group, with officers 

represented from services including public protection, planning, highways, waste and 

housing. This group will develop waste related policies – that are not currently in place 

– to have clarity on what residents need to do such as managing bins left on streets. 

Once agreed the Council will communicate these policies to residents and community 

leaders. The Council is considering in-sourcing the waste enforcement officers 

currently employed via the Serco contract to enforce these new policies. 

KLOE A7: Waste service (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the  performance of the waste service, the Council’s management of the contract with Serco, and understand the 

impact of recent industrial relations issues.

Conclusions and Recommendations

The Council has made progress in its management of the Serco contract including improving 

the governance arrangements and introducing greater control to the management of the 

contract.

The Council and Serco are moving from what was an adversarial contract management 

relationship towards a more constructive and collaborative partnership approach. There is 

greater engagement at most levels between the Council and Serco and relationships have 

improved to those being experienced during the time of our previous review. However, many 

changes now in train need to be completed and the more collaborative approach needs to 

become fully embedded.

Progress is still required and  we have the following improvement recommendations:

• The Council must work with Serco to all associated plans and schedules.

• The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be changes to the waste and 

recycling or garden waste collection policies.

• The Council should resolve the delays and formally agree replacement timescales for the 

waste fleet and the financing of replacement costs and supplier lead in times with Serco. 

Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in the relation to the 

Council’s accounts.

• The Council should take steps to demonstrate to Serco how the fleet maintenance 

service provides value for money.

P
age 519



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

34

Background 

Our original review considered the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making 

in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council must ensure that the recent re-engagement with the developer results in 

agreeing a clear way forward, including an action plan and timescale so there is clarity 

on the responsibilities for the Council and developer in order to progress the finalisation 

of the secondary option agreement, or to be clear on the legal process for both parties 

extricating themselves from the agreement and the associated terms.

• The Council must ensure that it has taken all necessary steps to ensure that 

arrangements are in place so that all the issues identified in the external review are 

appropriately mitigated and managed.

• The Council should review its procurement regulations and consider updating them to 

include land sales, including options agreements, to ensure that best value can be 

achieved.

KEY FINDINGS

Developer secondary option

The Council was unable to reach agreement with the developer on a clear way forward in 

relation the secondary option agreement.  The Council’s Cabinet agreed  at its meeting on 

11 January 2022 to give notice to the developer that the Council would refer the issue for 

determination by an expert, in line with the appropriate clause in the original options 

agreement between the Council and the developer dated 21 May 2013.  Notice to the 

developer was made on 13 January 2022. 

On 24 January 2022 the developer and Council agreed the expert to be a partner from CMS 

Cameron McKenna Nabarro Olswang LLP.  The terms of the expert’s appointment were 

then agreed by the Council and the developer, as well as agreeing the procedure to follow.

The Council has engaged a QC  and Trowers and Hamlin to support them during the 

determination process. 

The Council drafted a Statement of Agreed Facts in June 2022 and at the time of our review 

was seeking to agree this Statement with the developer  Once agreed the Statement will be 

shared with the expert for the expert to make their determination.

There have been some delays to the expected timescale including working through potential 

conflicts of interest of the proposed expert and in agreeing the Statement of Agreed Facts

KLOE A9: Lion Farm

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s governance arrangements and decision making in relation to the Lion Farm development. 

The Council has taken external legal advice on unilaterally proceeding but the referral is 

preferable to be made jointly.

Once the Statement has been agreed and provided to the expert the Council will have no 

influence over the timescale but hopes that the determination on the secondary agreement 

will be confirmed by December 2022.

Once a determination has been made and should it release the Council from the developer 

agreement, the Council will need to consider the options for re-marketing the site and 

engaging with commercial developers.

Other findings

As already noted in the section of this report on KLOE A3, the Council has updated its 

protocol for the disposal of Council owned land and buildings and forms part of the Council’s 

Financial Regulations. The new protocol was approved by Cabinet in July 2022. The 

protocol applies to all property interests owned by the Council and applies to every Member 

and officer of the Council and anyone acting on its behalf.

The protocol clearly sets out the roles and responsibilities of individuals and bodies within 

the Council, and the scheme of delegation for approving asset disposals. It also introduces a 

requirement that the value of any asset being proposed for disposal or acquisition is set out 

in reports to members.

The protocol also sets out the approach in relation to complex contractual arrangements, 

which are defined as contracts which commit the Council to dispose of land but where the 

receipt of purchase monies is delayed and/or is conditional on a future event. Such 

arrangements include option agreements which give a developer the right to acquire land at 

a future date, either at a pre-agreed price, a price to be fixed by a formula (such as a 

development appraisal) or a price to be fixed by independent valuation.

The protocol sets out the circumstances in which options agreements or conditional 

contracts are appropriate, and sets out the risks the Council should avoid when entering into

such contracts and how these should be mitigated.

The protocol seeks to manage any potential confusion that previously existed on the 

difference between the sale of a property and the purchase of services.

Conclusion

The Council has taken all possible actions to resolve this matter and has a clear way 

forward, although we note that the process is by its nature is slow. The Council has also 

improved arrangements with the updated protocol for the disposal of Council owned land 

and buildings.

P
age 520



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

35

Background 

The Council is replacing its main Enterprise and Resource Planning (ERP) system. The 

current ERP is Oracle E-Business Suite (EBS) which is being replaced by Oracle Fusion. 

There have been significant delays to the implementation and go live date for the 

introduction of the new system. 

Our December 2021 report recommended:

The Council must prioritise corporate effort to: 

• ensure that temporary support is agreed with Oracle for EBS continuity.

• have an honest and frank discussion with Inoapps and urgently agree a clear resolution 

on the way forward.

• review governance arrangements so that good practice (such as Managing Successful 

Programmes) is in place and embedded, including clarity on the SRO role and approach 

to risk management.

• review the resourcing and scope of the implementation to ensure that it is realistic, given 

current circumstances, focuses on outcomes as well as costs, and there is organisation 

wide engagement and ownership of the programme.

• confirm a realistic and achievable go live date.

• ensure for future major projects a full business case is developed and approved.

KEY FINDINGS

EBS Continuity

The Council has agreed with Oracle to extend licences and associated support by twelve 

months for EBS due to the delays in implementing Oracle Fusion and to ensure business 

continuity.  There are two separate licence agreements in place, one has been extended to 

December 2022 and another until April 2023. They will need to be extended again given the 

current Oracle Fusion implementation timescale. 

Implementation Support

The Council’s Leadership Team at its meeting held on 27 October 2021 reaffirmed the 

Council’s commitment to migrate to Oracle Fusion confirming that all of the organisational 

benefits identified in the original report to Cabinet, 9 October 2019 were still valid.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

The Council engaged Evosys and Version One to review the current status of the 

implementation of the new system.

On 15 December 2021 the Council’s Cabinet considered an options appraisal in relation to 

the new ERP system including:

• The Council terminates the contract with Inoapps and revert to using EBS, the current 

system.

• The Council terminate the contract with Inoapps and look to use a new system (Oracle 

Fusion).

• The Council continues to implement the new system (Oracle Fusion) with Inoapps.

• The Council continues to implement the new system (Oracle Fusion) with an alternate 

implementation partner.

The Cabinet agreed to serve notice of termination of the implementation partner contract 

being delivered by Inoapps. Inoapps remain a support partner to the Council for the existing 

system.

The report to Cabinet on 9 October 2019 identified an ear-marked reserve to the value of 

£2.6m which at the time was deemed sufficient to fund all estimated costs of the 

implementation of the new system, and included more than 10% contingency. The additional 

costs incurred through extending the scope of the project and delays to the project has 

resulted in costs exceeding the ear-marked reserve.

These implementation costs included those relating to the implementation partner. The 

original contract sum with Inoapps to implement Oracle Fusion was £1.2m. Several change 

requests were agreed to incorporate work outside of the original scope of the project and to 

accommodate delays in the project, revising the contract sum to £1.6m.

At its meeting of 15 December 2021 Cabinet were advised that implementation costs 

needed to increase by £2.2m whether the Council remained with Inoapps or procured an 

alternative implementation partner.

P
age 521



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

36

Implementation support (Cont’d)

The additional costs incurred through extending the scope of the project and delays to the 

project exceed the ear-marked reserve.

The total budget for the new ERP was revised to £5m, reflecting the increase in resources 

required to implement the new system effectively, requiring the use of £4.3m from reserves. 

At the time of our review the Council was engaged in steps to mitigate its loss.

On 12 August 2022 the Director of Finance, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 

Finance and Resources, agreed to the appointment of Infosys Limited as the Council’s new 

Oracle Fusion implementation partner.  This decision was taken under delegated authority 

agreed by the Cabinet at its meeting of 15 December 2021 following a competitive 

procurement process, via an appropriate Crown Commercial Service’s Framework which 

was undertaken during May and June 2022.

The contract duration will be 18 months, with an option to extend up to a further 12 months.  

The maximum contract value over the full contract period will be £2.37 million. At the time of 

our review Infosys were mobilising to commence  contract delivery.  

Governance Arrangements

The Council commissioned the Society for Innovation, Technology and Modernisation 

(SOCITM) in March 2022 to support an assurance review of the governance and resource 

arrangements for the ERP system implementation. SOCITM were appointed due to their  

experience working with a number of other councils implementing Oracle Fusion.

There have been significant changes and improvements made to the governance 

arrangements:

• The Programme Board meets weekly to monitor progress, with the Director of Finance 

now being the Senior Responsible Officer (SRO).

• A Business Design group meets fortnightly to monitor the outcomes and benefits from 

the programme

• A Business Readiness Group meets fortnightly which has oversight on the 

implementation plan activity

• An Implementation Board meets weekly to monitor progress on delivery of programme 

workstreams

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

• Four work stream groups meet weekly focusing on HR and Payroll, Finance and 

Procurement, IT and Technical, and Commercial. 

• A Programme Management Office has been established and is utilising good practice 

programme management approaches. 

• There are also cross-cutting working groups on change management, reporting, data 

cleansing and migration, and implementation planning. 

The membership and roles the Board and each group have been defined.

SOCITM have worked with the Council to produce key programme documents which were 

not previously in place,  including a programme vision, programme scope, programme 

change management strategy, programme benefits framework and programme design 

principles.  A change readiness assessment and review of benefits realisation was 

concluding at the time of our review. SOCITM have also provided the Council with advice on 

the procurement of the new implementation partner and implementation process. 

A risk escalation process has been established, and at the time of our review work was 

ongoing to confirm key risk decision makers and risk tolerances, and defining and agreeing 

change control processes. 

Also at the time of our review the  corporate PMO  was in the process of being established 

and a review of programme documentation and reporting tools was in progress. 

The SRO provides regular updates to the Council’s Leadership Team. There are weekly 

programme and project board meetings and a fortnightly business design board. 

Engagement sessions with wider Council stakeholders have also been introduced for 

example on the design principles of the new system. 

Organisation engagement

A programme narrative has been created to share  consistent messages across the Council 

to effectively communicate what is planned and the benefits to be realised. Services directly 

impacted by the change such as finance, HR and payroll have been engaged to better 

understand how the new system will create process efficiencies. 

A programme communications manager role has been created and resourced.

The Council recognises that more work is required on organisational-wide engagement and 

is planning more engagement events for people who will be affected by the change

P
age 522



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

37

Resourcing and Implementation Timescale

SOICITM have provided the Council with a good practice resource planning approach. An 

organisation matrix has been develop that clearly sets out all internal and external resource 

involved in the implementation and governance of the programme.  A resource model has 

been developed setting out inputs, roles and timescales for each individual role involved in 

the programme. Resource profiles have been developed that set out what is required from a 

capacity and capability perspective. 

By moving to treat the system implementation as a change programme the Council has 

recognised the need for additional resource roles such as in relation to change 

management, business analysis and communication.  The Council has recently appointed 

an interim Transformation Director who has recent experience of implementing Oracle 

Fusion at another council. In addition, SOCITIM have provided the Council with interim pre-

implementation programme management resource. 

Infosys, the new implementation support partner,  in their tender submission indicated a go 

live date of October 2023 for the new system, other than payroll which would go live in 

December 2023 or January 2024. These timescales are aligned to SOCITM’s advice to the 

Council. The Council was in the process of confirming go live dates with Infosys at the time 

of our review. 

In September 2022 the Council agreed to extend the contract with SOCITM to continue to 

provide support until the new system goes live. This includes involvement in programme 

management, change management and test management.

Benefits realisation

A programme benefits framework has been produced and the strategic priorities for benefits 

have been agreed. 

The Council is revisiting the original “business case” and baselining existing and known 

future costs on business support staff across the Council as well as relevant third party 

spend. This baseline will then be used to identify  cashable and non-cashable benefits that 

should be created by introducing the new system. This had not concluded at the time of our 

review.  The Council has approached Oracle to determine if Oracle can provide a value 

proposition assessment to support the Council’s benefits planning. 

The Council has commissioned C.Co (a consulting company owned by CIPFA) to review 

business support functions to identify any areas of activity that can be consolidated 

alongside system implementation.  DXE have been commissioned by the Council to review 

supplier spend.

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

Further consideration is required by the Council on how the new system can support the 

Council’s performance appraisal process, leave booking, and reporting real time financial 

information. 

The Council must ensure that all expected benefits are defined, and that governance 

arrangements, including assigning accountabilities, are in place to ensure benefits are 

realised.

Future Major projects

The introduction of Oracle Fusion will support improved management information including 

data that can be used to support the KPIs in the Performance Management Framework, 

such as vacancy levels and sickness absence.

The Capital Asset Management Board, which oversees  projects which include capital 

expenditure, has adapted its programme templates and governance arrangements, learning 

from the ERP systems implementation. 

The Council is procuring a corporate Programme and Project Management (PPM) System 

and at the time the specification for this new system had not been finalised, with the Council 

working through an understanding of the requirements of different services. Market testing 

had been initiated. 

The ERP system implementation programme as reconstituted and resourced (a blend of 

council officers and external providers) provides an opportunity for the Council to develop it’s 

in-house transformation capacity. To do this there will need to be knowledge transfer from 

external providers such as SCOCITM which it can then use of wider transformation and 

change activity. 

A new central team is being established to manage the Council’s Corporate Transformation 

Plan, At the time of our review this new team was finalising governance arrangements and 

associated guidance, including requirements for business case approval for all new change 

projects. The Council should ensure that the central transformation team is appropriately 

resourced and integrates all transformation and change activity being undertaken across the 

Council. 

Furthermore, the Council must ensure that the ERP System implementation programme 

becomes aligned to other improvement and change initiatives being undertaken or planned 

by the Council, so that synergies and economies in delivery can be identified and duplication 

removed. 

.

P
age 523



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

38

Conclusion and recommendations

It is acknowledged by the Council that its governance of this project has been poor. We 

estimate that the minimum additional cost to the Council due to its poor oversight is £2.2m.

The Council has taken significant steps to correct what was a floundering system 

implementation and undertaken a significant amount of work since our previous review. 

The Council has introduced more robust and appropriate governance arrangements, 

appointed a new implementation partner, scaled up the resources to implement the 

programme, introduced a programme management approach, engaged specialist external

support and capacity, and corrected skills and experience gaps. 

The programme is now on a much more sound footing and the Council leadership now 

recognises that the introduction of a new ERP System is an enabler for transformation and 

has moved from a “lift and shift” approach to managing the implementation as a change 

programme.  

The increase in costs to manage the implementation more effectively should increase the 

chances of a successful implementation and for the Council to realise the planned benefits. 

However, the way the original implementation was managed has incurred significant and 

unnecessary costs and delays for the Council, which remains a key learning reference point 

for future large-scale change projects and programmes.

The Council must ensure that: 

• all expected benefits are defined, and that governance arrangements, including 

assigning accountabilities, are in place to ensure benefits are realised.

• the central transformation team is appropriately resourced and integrates all 

transformation and change activity being undertaken across the Council

• the ERP System implementation programme becomes aligned to other improvement and 

change initiatives being undertaken or planned by the Council, so that synergies and 

economies in delivery can be identified and duplication removed. 

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s management of the introduction of Oracle Fusion and understanding implementation delays 

and their impact. 

P
age 524



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

39

Background

Our original review considered the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to 

the departure of certain chief officers. Our December 2021 report recommended:

• The Council should ensure that at the very least, appropriate internal and external 

advice is sought should the departure of a chief officer by mutual consent is agreed.

KEY FINDINGS

There have been no chief officer departures since our 2021 review. 

Following our original review the Council engaged Eversheds to undertake a retrospective 

review of the most recent chief officer departures (the former Chief Executive and Director 

of Resources) which were the focus of our original review. This legal advice determined 

that the Council followed model statutory procedures. 

As part of the Council’s ongoing review of its constitution, the Council’s legal and 

democratic services teams are reviewing employment procedure rules to ensure they 

appropriately reference statutory procedures relating to the dismissal of chief officers. At 

the time of our review updates were being drafted but had not been approved. 

The Council’s Chief Offer Terms and Conditions Committee will have a clearly defined role 

where statutory procedures are required to be followed in relation to the departure of a 

chief officer.  

The Council has advised that they would take legal advice in advance of any future 

decision relating to unplanned departure of a chief officer.

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

KLOE B1: Chief Officers

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s compliance with JNC guidance in relation to the recent departure of certain chief officers. P
age 525



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

40

Background 

Our original review considered the background to senior leadership changes and the impact 

of interim officers in place.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

Critical to this sustainable change will be the appointment of the right permanent Chief 

Executive, and the Council must ensure an effective recruitment process, including 

maximising the chances of attracting a pool of appropriate candidates. Should the 

appointment of a permanent Chief Executive not be successful the Council should seek to 

retain the current interim Chief Executive and move this to a full-time contract

KEY FINDINGS

The Council’s most recent restructure created ten senior leadership roles. The eight director 

roles all had a permanent appointment in role by November 2021. The Chief Executive and 

Deputy Chief Executive roles remain vacant.  In addition, a Director of HR role has been 

approved as a permanent role and was filled in March 2022. 

The Council’s Interim Chief Executive has agreed with the Council to continue in role until 

approximately six months after the appointment of a permanent Chief Executive. 

The interim Chief Executive was appointed by the Secretary of State for DLUHC as the 

Managing Director Commissioner in March 2022, one of two Commissioners appointed to 

oversee the Council’s Improvement Plan as part of the government’s intervention in the 

Council. This dual role is uncommon in local government, with one current other example, 

until recently, at Slough Borough Council. We consider that in the circumstances  the 

decision was appropriate.  

At the time of our review the Council was in the process of recruiting to the permanent role 

of Chief Executive. The Council has appointed Penna, via a competitive tender process, to 

support this recruitment. 

The Council’s Chief Officer Terms and Conditions Committee have agreed the recruitment 

process and timescales for the new Chief Executive.  The closing date for the advert was 12 

September 2022, and 17 applications were received. The Chief Executive of the LGA has 

been supporting the candidate technical assessment process. 

The Council approved the appointment of a new permanent Chief Executive on 8 November 

2022, with their start date confirmed as 6 February 2023. 

KLOE B2: Senior leadership

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the background to senior leadership changes and the impact of  interim officers in place.

The new permanent Chief Executive will have nine Directors reporting to them, and as 

with many Chief Executives new to role may consider changes to the Council’s 

organisational structure. It will be important that any changes made do not adversely 

impact on organisational stability, or on the pace and success of the Council’s ongoing 

improvement journey.

Conclusion and recommendations

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. 

The success of the appointment of the new permanent Chief Executive  remains critical 

for the Council if it is to successfully continue on its improvement journey.

P
age 526



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

41

Background

Our original review considered the appropriateness of complaints made against senior 

officers and members and the responses to these complaints.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

The Council’s senior leadership – both officer and member – must act to change the culture 

and organisational ethos in relation to complaints, and to restore balance and proportionality.

KEY FINDINGS

A new Chair was appointed to the Ethical Standards and Member Development Committee 

in May 2022 and an agreed work programme is in place for the Committee’s meetings in 

June, November and December 2022 and in March 2023. An update on complaints is 

programmed for each of these meetings.

The Committee received an update on complaints at its most meeting on 21 June 2022. Six 

complaints were reported, with these complaints having been received between 22 October 

2021 and 12 April 2022. Three complaints were from members of the public, two from 

officers and one from an elected member. All alleged breaches of the member code of 

conduct.

Five of the complaints were reported as having been resolved: two via member training, one 

via a written apology and two were judged to have had insufficient evidence to be a breach 

of the member code of conduct. Of the six only one was referred for investigation, the 

conclusion of which had not been reported at the time of our review.

At the equivalent meeting of the Committee in June 2021 there were twelve complaints 

reported, indicating a reduction in the level of complaints received to a more manageable 

level. This can be seen as a proxy measure for wider improvements in the culture and 

governance of the Council.

The revised Member Code of Conduct, approved in March 2021, is still in place. The Code is 

reviewed via alternating annual light touch and in-depth reviews. A light touch review is 

planned for the end of 2022.

Arrangements for dealing with complaints, which forms part of the Council’s ethical 

framework, is also reviewed annually, following the same approach as the Member Code of 

Conduct.

KLOE B3: Complaints

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of complaints made against senior officers and the responses to these complaints.

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks. 

P
age 527



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

42

• The recent introduction of financial benchmarking will need to be sustained to 

create a culture of curiosity in services in how nearest statistical neighbours are 

performing, to support savings identification and to drive improvements

• The Council should continue its more outward looking approach is sustained and 

develop key local and sub-regional relationships.

• When investing in the communications team, the Council should also use this as an 

opportunity to ensure more effective internal communications, including with back-

bench members. 

• There is a need to ensure that members of scrutiny and audit committees are 

aware of their governance roles including how to interrogate reports and ask the 

right questions. 

Due to the nature of the recommendations arising from our original review we have 

structured the key findings from our follow up review as follows:

• KLOE 4a: Member and officer relationships

• KLOE Bb: Performance management and other matters.

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Background

Our original review considered the relationships between senior officers and senior 

members and whether they were appropriate in supporting good governance.

Our December 2021 report made a series of recommendations relating to senior 

officers and members and related recommended

• Embedding the changes that have been made by the Leadership Team and those 

that are planned will be critical if the Council is to realise its strategic ambition and 

provide effective governance.

• Enhancement of the induction programme to new members of Cabinet, including 

on local government finance and their governance roles is recommended.

• The Council should ensure that corporate KPIs are agreed so that the 

implementation of the Corporate Plan can be effectively monitored.

• The forward plan of the Cabinet should be shared with the Audit Committee and 

Scrutiny Board to help structure their agenda planning.

• The Leadership Team should agree key medium-term financial objectives and 

principles. There should be effective ownership of the principles that underpin the 

budget setting process, for example the Council’s approach to reserves, 

contingency and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).
• Senior officers and senior members must lead by example to ensure that the “tone 

from the top” consistently reflects these values and behaviours. This is critical in 

ensuring that the wider organisation recognises that changes have been made and 

that all people are confident in adopting these values and behaviours. This should 

build on recently introduced staff briefings to include a programme of staff 

engagement including “pulse” checks to benchmark and monitor progress on the 

organisation’s wellbeing.

• The Council should ensure that the review of the member development programme 

is appropriate. In particular, thought should be given to how members with special 

responsibility roles are developed and supported. This should include succession 

planning for these roles.

• Further work is required to establish a formal performance management framework 

and agree a set of key corporate indicators for the Leadership Team to collectively 

manage,  receive appropriate management information to monitor progress, and 

set out clear lines of accountability, responsibility, and delegated authority. 

P
age 528



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

43

Two sessions have been planned for members and two for officers. The training 

programme was in the process of being delivered at the time of our review and we 

have been advised that  there has been positive feedback from those who have so far 

participated. The LGA  will provide the Council with a summary of their experiences of 

delivering the programme following the final session which is due in November 2022.

The Director of Finance is providing training for the Cabinet and members of the 

Opposition on budget setting and local government finance, to support the 2023/24 

budget setting process.  

Member induction

The LGA has also been engaged to deliver a development programme for new 

members of the Cabinet, as well as training for the Cabinet collectively. This 

programme was ongoing at the time of our review. 

The Council also delivered a training programme during May and June 2022 for all 

newly elected members.  This included the Code of Member Conduct, Internal Audit, 

Counter Fraud and Risk Management, the scrutiny function,  local government finance, 

and planning. 

Forward Plan

A forward plan of Cabinet business has been made available to all members to 

improve awareness and transparency. The changes to the Council’s scheme of 

delegation, approved by Cabinet in July 2022, is expected to see a reduction in the 

number of reports to Cabinet making agenda planning more straightforward and 

allowing Cabinet a greater focus on strategic priorities and issues. 

Work is underway to extend the forward plan from four to twelve months, and to work 

with Scrutiny Boards and Audit and Risk Assurance Committee to use the forward plan 

to inform their work programmes. 

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Review of member development programme

The Member Development Programme (MDP) has been reviewed and introduced for 

2022/23. The programme covers preparing candidates who may become newly 

elected members, new member induction and then a programme of development for 

all members. The programme includes planned  monitoring, evaluation and review to 

ensure candidates, newly elected members and established members receive 

appropriate and targeted learning and support matched to their current and future 

needs.

This revised MDP will build on what has been learned over the past four years plans to  

develop members who are in positions of special responsibility or are aspiring to be.  

Personal Development Plans (PDPs) will be created for all members to ensure their 

development is bespoke to their individual needs. The development of PDPs 

commenced in July 2022  and are due to be reviewed at the end of the current 

municipal year. 

The member development programme has been augmented with additional training 

sessions being delivered by the LGA, as already noted. An update on progress is due 

to be reported to the Standards Committee at its October 2022 meeting.  The MDP 

was being delivered at the time of our review and includes training on public speaking 

and chairing meetings and has received positive feedback from participating members.

There have been a number of changes to the chairing arrangements of some 

committees and boards for the 2022/23 municipal year. Initial conversations have 

taken place with the Council Leader on succession planning and the criteria used to 

identify individual members for Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) roles, but this 

work has not yet concluded. 

The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development and 

conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member PDPs and take 

further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in SRA 

roles.

New training programmes

The Council has engaged the Local Government Association (LGA) to provide training 

on effective officer and member relationships.  The training is designed to improve 

understanding of respective roles and what good relationships look like. 

P
age 529



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

44

ionImproved outward looking approach

The Cabinet and senior officers, have been proactive in reconnecting with regional and 

national bodies, such as the West Midlands Combined Authority and the Local 

Enterprise Partnership (LEP). 

The Leaders Office is being restructured to better support the Leader and Cabinet in 

attending external meetings and their associated external responsibilities.  

TThe Council must continue its proactive approach in working with regional and national 

bodies, and obtain structured evidence of progress being made and identify where 

further engagement supports the Corporate Plan.

Tone from the top and internal communication

The Council has introduced a number of initiatives to try and improve communication 

between senior officers and the rest of the organisation, in the context of post 

pandemic hybrid working arrangements.  These include:

• The trialling of video updates and sessions with the leadership team, alongside the 

staff briefings that had already been in place.

• Listening champions are being introduced so that senior officers can obtain a 

“bottom up” view from the organisation. 

• A Co-Production Network of officers has been used to help develop the 

Improvement Plan.

• An employee engagement survey was undertaken in Spring 2022, which had a 

61% response rate.  This was the first such survey since 2018. The results have 

been widely shared, including via the listening champions. The results are being 

used to inform discussions and thinking at directorate and team levels. Regular 

“pulse” surveys are planned. 

The LGA’s  Peer Review follow up visit in October 2022 reported that Council staff are 

feeling much better communicated with from the corporate level,

Member briefings take place approximately every three months where key issues and 

topics are discussed, based on members declared areas of interest. These sessions 

provide back bench members with an opportunity to ask senior officers questions. 

A new Head of Communications has been appointed with the brief to increase the 

level of internal and external communications. A Communications Strategy was agreed 

by the Leadership Team on 20 September 2022. 

KLOE B4a: Officer and member relationships (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Scrutiny Board and Audit Committee Governance Roles

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across the 

different committees.

In May 2022 new Chairs were appointed to the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee 

and the Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board. For both committees 

relationships have been reset and improvements made. 

Scrutiny training and development for members and officers was introduced in June 

2022, alongside improvements in relation to scrutiny work programming.  A Scrutiny 

Improvement Plan has been developed which sets out a longer-term training plan for 

scrutiny members and greater clarity on roles and protocols for scrutiny committees 

and protocols on how scrutiny works with the Executive and Chief Officers, which were 

approved by full Council on 8 November 2022. 

Improvements have already been introduced by the Scrutiny Board Chair including 

formal pre-meetings, forward plans have been reviewed to improve agenda setting, 

and  Chairs and Vice Chairs have agenda setting meetings for all scrutiny committees.

The Scrutiny Improvement Plan includes further actions including: an annual report of 

the impact of scrutiny to full Council, peer support and mentoring from the LGA and 

Centre for Governance and Scrutiny, creation of job roles for scrutiny members, the 

introduction of a protocol clarifying the relationship between scrutiny and the 

Executive, and the introduction of feedback to support continuous improvement. 

Training has been provided to members on the Audit Committee and more generally 

all  members are participating in the MDP previously discussed.  

The Council had its first scrutiny call-in for 13 years, which was in relation to the future 

of the Brandhall Golf Course site, which is an indication of the progress being made. 

Following the meeting the Chair has asked officers to consider examples of call-in 

approaches from other councils to identify any improvements that can be made by the 

Council.

Overall, positive progress has been made to improve the culture and professionalism 

of key Council committees, with the scrutiny function making particular  progress. The 

Scrutiny Improvement Plan must be approved so that this positive direction of travel is 

maintained. 

P
age 530



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

45

KLOE B4b: Performance management and other matters
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good governance.

Performance Management Framework and Corporate KPIs 

The Improvement Plan and MPF, alongside the refreshed Corporate Plan provides the 

Council with an opportunity to improve evidenced based decision making. Accountability 

has been improved with objectives aligned to Directors, Associate Directors and Service 

Managers, but  not below this level.

At the time of our review Quarter 1 performance monitoring had been undertaken, and 

reported to Cabinet on 28 September 2022. The report included updates on:

• Budget monitoring

• KPIs for key contracts (SCT and Serco)

• Organisational health

• Workforce composition (Equality, Diversity and Inclusion)

• Sickness absence

• Employee engagement

• Health and safety

• Corporate Plan delivery

• Improvement Plan delivery

• Strategic risk register

• Customer experience

This reporting framework represents a major step forward in providing the Leadership 

Team and Cabinet with a consolidated approach to performance and risk reporting. Due 

to the approach being recently introduced the Council plans to undertake  reviews of the 

MPF and reporting approach, We note the following:

• KPIs selected for the PMF include data that is available quarterly, annually, biannually 

and in some cases termly. This provides a challenge for the quarter 1 report because 

not all data is available for this period. Quarter 1 reporting was therefore partial, with 

the expectation that additional data will be available for future quarterly reports.

• Organisational health indicators do not currently include targets.

• Data quality is expected to improve to support some indicators once Oracle Fusion 

has been implemented, in particular workforce data.

• Further work is required to ensure there are clearly defined customer outcomes to 

better measure data in relation to customer experience (channel shift, call centre 

performance and complaints).

The Council needs to ensure that the Corporate Plan, Improvement Plan and MPF and 

how they inter-relate are clearly communicated across the whole organisation to avoid 

potential confusion impacting on the delivery of these plans, and support the planned work 

on phase 2 of the Improvement Plan on organisational culture and behaviours.   The 

Council should consider aligning individual performance objectives of staff to these Plans 

to create a  “golden thread” throughout the organisation, as part of the Council’s annual 

performance appraisal process.

The quarter 2 performance report, covering the period July to September 2022, and due to 

be presented to Cabinet on 7 December 2022,  summarised key Corporate Plan actions as 

follows:

• 258 on track (252 in quarter 1)

• 91 medium issues/risks/slippage (85 in quarter 1)

• 9 significant issues/risks/slippage (7 in quarter 1)

• 53 no data available (66 in quarter 1).

Significant issues reported were: 

• Alignment of governance arrangements and budgets of the VCS grants programme to 

corporate objectives.

• Strategic Plan to feed into the Black Country Plan, review of the Black Country Plan 

policy base.

• Deliver 2022/23 capital programme of annual maintenance for highways

• Refresh the Council’s storage area network

• Development of the Corporate Data Strategy to define and deliver approach to 

business intelligence.

• Delivery of income generated from chargeable garden waste

• Replacing high energy street lighting.

It is positive that the Council is now able to monitor Corporate Plan progress, but we note 

that delays to the Corporate Data Strategy, due to organisational capacity. The Council 

should ensure appropriate capacity is in place so that data gaps relating to KPIs can 

be resolved. 

P
age 531



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

46

KLOE B4b: Performance management and other matters (Cont’d)
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good governance.

Medium term financial objectives and principles 

The Council’s Leadership Team have more regular discussions on budget related 

issues including a dedicated leadership team session, led by the Director of Finance, 

on budget setting.  The Leadership Team is seen to have greater corporate ownership 

of financial issues but there is further work to do before all Directors take a collegiate 

and strategic view at all times, rather than a departmental perspective. This will be 

supported by the Leadership Team agreeing key financial objectives and principles, 

which has not yet been concluded.

Star chambers continue to be used to support budget setting and more progress is 

required for this to generate innovative and transformational proposals. There is an 

absence of a whole organisation view of the scale of the financial challenge facing the 

Council for 2023/24 and in the medium-term, and how these challenges will be 

addressed

The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and 

principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions and ensure that 

there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the 

Council in the medium term and how these are going to be addressed.

Financial benchmarking

LG Futures have been commissioned by the Council to provide financial benchmarking 

data which is shared by Finance Team with Directorates.  

Because there hadn’t been a culture of using financial benchmarking in recent years, 

developing an understanding in services of factors such as unit costs and how they 

compare to statistical nearest neighbours remains a work in progress. The use of 

benchmarking has been variable across services.

It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data to 

support the service and financial planning process, in particular to help identify 

opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

P
age 532



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

47

KLOE B4: Conclusions and recommendations
The purpose of this KLOE was to consider whether relationships between senior officers and senior members are appropriate in supporting good 

governance.

Conclusions and recommendations

Much greater stability can now be seen, both politically and at a senior officer level, 

and the Cabinet and Leadership Team are working increasingly well both collectively 

and via their individual Director and Portfolio Lead roles.  This is being recognised 

across the wider organisation.

There is a more mature engagement between the Leader, Cabinet, Committee Chairs 

and senior officers, supporting good planning and work programming across different 

Council committees and a greater level of professionalism in how business is 

conducted by these committees. 

The introduction of a PMF is evidence of an improvement in consolidated reporting 

and provides the Council’s leadership with an opportunity for improved evidenced 

based decision making and monitoring the delivery of the Corporate Plan and 

Improvement Plan. The Council recognises that the PMF approach requires ongoing 

refinement to improve how key indicators can be effectively measured and must 

ensure capacity is created to resolved KPI data gaps. 

The Leadership Team  has progressed in its corporate approach to managing key 

issues and challenges but on medium-term financial planning there remains work to 

do.

Whilst positive progress has been made, the Council remains on an improvement 

journey and we have identified the following improvement recommendations:

• The Council should consider creating a “golden thread” throughout the 

organisation, linking the Corporate Plan  and other Plan objectives, through to the 

objectives set for each individual member of staff, as part of the Council’s annual 

performance appraisal process.

• The Council should  ensure that capacity is in place to  resolve KPI data gaps.. 

• The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and 

principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions and ensure that 

there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the 

Council in the medium term and how these are going to be addressed.

• The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development 

and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member PDPs and 

take further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in 

SRA roles.

• It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data 

to support the service and financial planning process, in particular to help identify 

opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

P
age 533



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

48

Background 

Our original review considered the appropriateness of the work undertaken by the Ethical 

Standards and Development Committee. Our December 2021 report recommended:

• Member training and development programme must play a key role in ensuring members 

fully understand the expectations and standards relating to their role

• Meetings between senior officers, political group leaders and chief whips should take 

place to ensure that these stakeholders are able  to discuss emerging issues and trends, 

recognise good behaviours and discuss how to manage behaviours not in line with the 

Code

KEY FINDINGS

An update on the review of the Member Development Programme (MDP) has been provided 

in our key findings in relation to KLOE B4.

The MDP which is being delivered during 2022 includes  content relating to the role of 

members on committees and the role of these committees.

The Monitoring Officer, the interim Chief Executive and the Leader were introducing at the 

time of our review arrangements to meet the political group leaders and chief whips to create 

a safe space to discuss any behavioural issues that are not in line with the Code of Member 

Conduct that have been identified. 

This arrangement is being put in place to identify emerging issues and trends and agree any 

actions required to manage inappropriate behaviours. These meetings are also seen as an 

opportunity to recognise positive examples of member behaviours. 

Conclusion and recommendations

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks. 

The Council must ensure that  the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to 

monitor and take prompt action whenever inappropriate behaviour is identified.

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the appropriateness of  the work undertaken by the Standards Committee. P
age 534



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

49

Background

Our original review considered the long-standing issues relating to the Wragge and Cox 

reports.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

Now that the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee has agreed the actions to bring this long-

standing matter to resolution, it will be important that – as the Audit and Governance Panel 

recognised - the Council manages its position so that the matter does not resurface, so that 

it can move on and focus on its corporate objectives.

KEY FINDINGS

The Audit and Risk Assurance Committee, at its March 2022 meeting, resolved to refer to 

the Council’s Executive the decision on whether a further review was required into the 

Wragge report or Cox report. A new Chair of the Audit and Risk Assurance Committee was 

appointed in May 2022 at the start of the new municipal year. We understand that the new 

Chair of the Committee’s position is that they do not seek to re-open the matter. At the 

meetings of the Committee in May and June the issue of the Wragge or Cox report did not 

get raised and is not the subject of further review by the Committee.

The Audit Committee has continued to operate throughout the year in an operate manner 

focussing on significant governance matters.

The Council’s Improvement Plan includes actions, such as member training, which have 

been progressing during 2022, which include content on appropriate behaviour of elected 

members, their roles and responsibilities.

The Council’s Leader will confirm the Executive’s position on any further review by the end 

of December 2022.

Conclusion and recommendation

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s arrangements 

for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

A final decision needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered 

formally closed.

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the actions undertaken by the Audit Committee during 2021  in relation to the review into the Wragge report. P
age 535



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

50

Background

Our original review considered the Council’s responses to recommendations raised in our 

2019/20 Audit Findings Report (AFR) and further issues identified by our governance review.

Our December 2021 report recommended:

• Management should ensure that the AFR action plan sets out actions and completion 

dates in relation to all recommendations. It should also identify where the new ERP 

system implementation and the planned asset management system could cause delays 

or impacts on planned actions

• Management should ensure that the changes in relation to budget setting and budget 

management recently introduced are sustained, and take steps to manage any 

weaknesses not yet addressed.

• Management should ensure the Finance team has appropriate skills and capacity to 

manage the Council’s financial reporting responsibilities.

KEY FINDINGS

Financial statement audit

The audit of the 2020/21 financial statements is still in progress as at November 2022. The 

audit has been significantly delayed due to the quality of the financial statements and 

working papers presented for audit. The audit is drawing to a conclusion and a draft report 

will be issued to the Council in December 2022. Issues include:

• material errors in the valuation of property plant and equipment and pension fund

• material errors in cash balances and other areas of the financial statements

• uncertainty with regard to credit loss allowances, recognition of payables, and assets and 

liabilities relating to the SERCO waste contract.

We have not been able to draw a conclusion on a number of these areas and it is uncertain 

whether they will impact on the reserves available to the Council. It is possible that we will 

issue a modified opinion on the 2020/21 financial statements.

We have been unable to commence the audit of the 2021/22 financial statements due to the 

delays in the 2020/21 audit.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. 

Financial systems and finance team

The Council is introducing a new corporate asset management system which is expected 

to improve fixed asset accounting and therefore mitigate issues relating to the closure 

of accounts. The new system is due to be in place by the time of the 2022/23 closure 

of accounts. Additional technical accountant resources have been brought in to support 

the accounts backlog.

The Finance Team has been restructured with the new structure going live in August 

2022. This restructure has been undertaken to provide greater focus on finance 

business partnering by introducing more finance business partners so that each Director 

has their own business partner supported by an assistant business partner. Business 

partners should provide improved focus in supporting departmental and service change 

and transformation.

There have been some changes in personnel, in particular the financial reporting team 

and a new post has been created relating to fixed assets. Not all new posts have 

permanent appointments, for example the new head of technical finance is being filled via 

an interim, who started in September 2022.

Training for members of the Finance Team was undertaken in February and March 

2022, prior to the restructure with a focus on accounts closedown. A skills gap analysis 

was being undertaken at the time of our review to identify the training needs of members 

of the restructured Finance Team. 

The actions taken so far will take time to complete and successfully embed the necessary 

changes.

Budget setting and monitoring

The Council’s Leadership Team continues to receive a monthly budget morning report. 

The Cabinet and Scrutiny Board receive budget monitoring reports each quarter.

The star chamber approach introduced during Autumn 2021 for 2022/23 budget setting is 

being retained for 2023/24 budget setting. Star chambers are to be held for each 

Directorate with the Director of Resources, the relevant finance business partner, the 

relevant service director and one of the Commissioners providing challenge on budget 

pressures and savings proposals. 

P
age 536



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

51

Budget setting and monitoring (Cont’d)

Financial benchmarking continues to be used and the Council has engaged LG Futures to 

provide ongoing support in this area. In addition, Grant Thornton have provided 

some financial benchmarking from the CFO Insight benchmarking tool.

The Council’s Cabinet continues to be engaged with a number of budget planning sessions 

having taken place by the time of our review, with plans in place to provide a session for the 

Labour Group.

The Council commissioned Eventure Research to undertake a public consultation exercise 

on the Council’s budget. The results, which were based on a survey completed by 1,070 

residents, were reported in September 2022. This was the first such consultation exercise 

for several years. The consultation has provided the Council with representative views on 

areas such as: the most valued services, options for closing the budget gap, service 

provision, the level of Council Tax, and access to services on-line. The results of this 

exercise are being used as part of the 2023/24 budget setting process.

Conclusion and recommendations

The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant 

improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy issues from prior 

years that continue to have an impact on the timeliness and accuracy of the accounts and 

are undermining the quality of the financial statements. Whilst we note that actions have 

been taken over the past twelve months to address these issues, improvements are not 

likely to start to be seen until the 2021/22 accounts. We consider that this needs to be an 

area of priority for the Council, including managing the recruitment challenges that have 

been experienced. Until these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over 

the Council's financial position.

The other improvements that are in train will take time to embed, reflecting the lack of 

a corporate asset management system and an appropriately resourced and skilled 

finance team, which had not received appropriate development and training in prior years.

The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to 

timescale, ensure all key finance roles have permanent appointments, and prioritise the 

recruitment to, and  training and development of ,the Finance Team so that the role and 

behaviour changes planned become embedded.

KLOE B7: Financial reporting (Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider the Council’s response to recommendations raised in our 2019/20 audit findings report. P
age 537



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

52

Background

Whilst not a key line of enquiry for our original review we have agreed with the Council’s 

management to consider how the Council engages with residents and community groups to 

supplement our understanding of the Council’s improvement journey. 

This has included a sample of two community consultations:

• West Bromwich Masterplan.

• Walker Grange, an extra care facility owned by the Council. 

We have also considered wider resident engagement surveys.

KEY FINDINGS

Resident engagement

The Council has introduced an annual residents survey and are considering additional 

mechanisms to improve resident engagement, such as resident panels and focus groups.  

Eventure Research were commissioned by the Council to undertake a resident and 

wellbeing survey. A survey was conducted with 1,062 respondents throughout the borough, 

with quotas set on age group, gender, disability, ethnic group and area of the borough. The 

survey was conducted in July and August 2022. Some of the questions are also asked by 

the LGA in their national tracker survey, allowing national comparisons. The results included:

• 78% of respondents are satisfied with their local area as a place to live.

• Just over a quarter (27%) of respondents had been in contact with Sandwell Council 

recently. 

• Housing, missed bin collections, reporting anti-social behaviour, and council tax queries 

are the most common reasons for contacting the Council.

• Satisfaction with the Council is slightly higher than the national average (66% compared 

to 62%),

• Three in five (60%) think Sandwell Council acts on the concerns of local residents, 

compared with 52% nationally. 

• Three in five (60%) think Sandwell Council keeps residents informed about services and 

benefits it provides, compared with 57% nationally 

• Trust in the Council is higher amongst Sandwell residents than nationally (67% and 58% 

respectively) 

KLOE B8: Engagement with residents and community stakeholders

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider how the Council engages with residents and community stakeholders. 

• Council services receiving higher than national satisfaction ratings were waste, street 

cleaning, road and pavement maintenance, sport and leisure services and services to 

support children and young people. 

• Services where satisfaction is lower than national satisfaction ratings are library 

services, services to support older people and parks and open spaces.

• Respondents are most concerned about the cost of living increases and inflation, NHS 

waiting lists and having a family that is healthy.

The Council  also commissioned Eventure Research to undertake a public consultation 

exercise on the Council’s budget, which is discussed in the section on KLOE B7. The 

Council has also undertaken a public consultation on the electoral cycle.

Undertaking this resident engagement survey is a positive step for the Council, and the 

results will need to be used to inform service and financial planning.  The changes being 

made via the  Improvement Plan and the corporate Performance Management Framework 

the Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this 

engagement supports  greater corporate focus on service quality and customer outcomes. 

Community consultation: West Bromwich Masterplan

The 5 February 2020 Cabinet approved the development of the masterplan to provide a 

vision for the future of the town centre, including the need for public consultation to support 

the masterplaninng process.  In November 2020 the Council commissioned Savills as the 

lead consultant which included a community consultation role. Mott MacDonald were 

engaged to undertake viability work, and Benoy to lead on the design.  

In March 2020 the Council discussed their vision for West Bromwich with the Government’s 

High Street Task Force, which identified the need  for more effective community 

engagement.

A consultation and engagement plan was developed in April 2021, to support the Towns 

Fund deal for West Bromwich, and this was used for the masterplan consultation.

P
age 538



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council Value for Money  Governance Review Follow Up |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

53

Community consultation: West Bromwich Masterplan (Cont’d)

Consultation was then undertaken with various groups and organisations including  regional 

stakeholders such as the LEP, West Midlands Combined Authority,  the West Midlands 

Growth Company, West Midlands Police, West Bromwich Town Members Board, West 

Bromwich Town Deal Board, Sandwell College and Lyng Primary School.

Workshops were then held with the Council’s Cabinet in June 2021 to discuss findings 

before a four-week public consultation exercise was undertaken with residents, local 

businesses and landowners during July and August 2021. This included physical events and 

virtual events, and the use of the website questionnaire. 

The consultation responses were fed back to the external consultants in a consultation 

outcome plan which was also reported to Cabinet on 9 February 2022. The Cabinet 

approved  the West Bromwich Interim Planning Statement and West Bromwich Masterplan 

at this meeting.  Consultation feedback was used to inform changes to the masterplan and 

these changes were highlighted in the Cabinet report. Some issues raised by the 

consultation could not be met by the masterplan, such as crime and anti-social behaviour 

and these responses were shared with the police. 

This in an example of a well-structured approach to community consultation. The Council 

believe that the consultation process has significantly improved and strengthened 

relationships with local business and community groups.  

Community Consultation: Walker Grange

Walker Grange is an extra care supported housing accommodation for people aged 55 

years or above who require care and/or support to live independently. The facility, which has  

capacity for 39 residents, is owned by the Council and was built in the 1980s. It  was proving 

unsuitable to meet the changing care and support needs of some individuals and the Council 

was considering its closure and the transfer of residents to other extra care accommodation 

in the borough.

On 1 September 2021 the Council’s Cabinet agreed to a consultation exercise in advance of 

taking  decision on the future of the facility. A twelve-week consultation period was approved 

for consultation with stakeholders including tenants, their families and carers, day care 

users, staff of the facility and trade unions

KLOE B8: Engagement with residents and community stakeholders 
(Cont’d)

.

The purpose of this KLOE was to consider how the Council engages with residents and community stakeholders. 

The consultation received a lot of interest locally, on social media and from ward 

councillors and local MPs, in part due to a view that the Council had already taken a 

decision to close the facility. 

From the consultation, a clear message from tenants, their families and staff were that they 

valued and wanted Walker Grange to continue to provide services to the current cohort of 

people and potentially develop and promote the service further. During the consultation 

period it became clear that further investment, rather than purely maintenance, could 

potentially provide the Council with a resource to provide additional support to vulnerable 

adults through extra care provision. 

The Cabinet considered the consultation outcomes at its meeting on 18 November 2021 

alongside three options for the future of Walker Grange:

• Do nothing: continue to provide Extra Care Housing at Walker Grange. 

• Look at the closure of Walker Grange & the transfer of Tenants to other suitable Extra 

Care Housing provision

• look at upgrading Walker Grange building to ensure it is fit for purpose to provide Extra 

Care Housing.

The Cabinet agreed to the third option of investing in the current facility to ensure that it is 

fit for purpose.  This is an example of where the Council has engaged with and listened to 

the views of local residents and stakeholders to improve its decision making. 

Conclusion

Overall, we found no evidence of any significant weaknesses in the Council’s 

arrangements for ensuring that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its 

risks. We have identified one improvement recommendation: 

• The Council needs to ensure that it continues to engage with residents and that this 

engagement supports greater corporate focus on service quality and customer 

outcomes. 

. 

P
age 539



Appendices

P
age 540



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

55

Appendix A: The scope of the auditor’s work on value for money 
arrangements 

Revised approach to value for money

work for 2020/21 onwards

•

•

•

•

•

•

P
age 541



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

56

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations 
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A1: Sandwell Children’s Trust

1 The Council will need to ensure that the SCT accelerates its progress on this improvement trajectory so that the position does not plateau, including 

sharing good practice on case work across the various SCT social work teams. 

22

2 The Council will need to continue to closely monitor the implementation of the early help strategy to ensure planned objectives and outcomes are realised. 22

3 The Council must continue to work with SCT to mitigate and reduce the level of vacancies and use of agency staff and take steps to ensure the associated 

KPI  does not lead to contract failure.

22

4 The Council should continue to monitor the progress of SCT against these invest to save activities to ensure that SCT is able to generate the savings and 

efficiencies required for the contract sum to be reduced. 

22

KLOE A2: Sandwell Leisure Trust

5 The Council will need to:

• ensure a business case is produced for the new leisure LATC so that there is a clear financial case for the commercial viabil ity of the new arms length 

company.

• be clear how it  effectively discharges its role whilst allowing the company the freedoms and flexibilities to operate and to deliver the planned financial 

and service benefits.

24

6 The Council will need to effectively manage the transition of the Aquatics Centre so that it is operational to the planned timescale and that there is a clear 

business case which sets out how the centre will be managed to become commercially viable and provide financial returns to the Council as part of the 
leisure LATC arrangements. 

24

P
age 542



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

57

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page  

#

KLOE A3: Providence Place

7 The Council will need to conclude the finalisation of its asset management strategy and asset management database to better manage its asset portfolio 

including asset disposals.

25

KLOE A4: SEND Transport

8 The Council must ensure that the lessons learned from the SEND Transport procurement are shared across other council services so that this learning 

becomes embedded across the organisation. 

27

KLOE A A7: Waste Service

9 The Council must work with Serco to urgently finalise all associated plans and schedules which remain outstanding. 33

10 The Council should confirm with Serco if there will be changes to the waste and recycling  or garden waste collection  policies. 33

11 The Council should resolve the delays and formally agree replacement timescales for the waste fleet and the financing of replacement costs and supplier 

lead in times with SERCO. Clarity should be sought over the use of previous capital payments in relation to the Council’s accounts.

33

12 The Council should take steps to demonstrate to Serco how the fleet maintenance service provides value for money. 33

P
age 543



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

58

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE A10: Introduction of new ERP System

13 The Council must ensure that all expected benefits are defined, and that governance arrangements, including assigning accountabilities, are in place to 

ensure benefits are realised.

38

14 The Council must ensure that the central transformation team is appropriately resourced and integrates all transformation and change activity being 

undertaken across the Council.

38

15 The Council must ensure that the ERP System implementation programme becomes aligned to other improvement and change initiatives being 

undertaken or planned by the Council, so that synergies and economies in delivery can be identified and duplication removed. 

38

KLOE B4: Officer and member relationships

16 The Council should consider creating a “golden thread” throughout the organisation, linking the Corporate Plan  and other Plan objectives, through to the 

objectives set for each individual member of staff, as part of the Council’s annual performance appraisal process.

47

17 The Council’s Leadership Team must agree  medium-term financial objectives and principles to provide a framework for financial planning discussions 

and ensure that there is a whole organization view of the scale of the financial challenges facing the Council in the medium term and how these are going 

to be addressed.

47

18 The Council should  ensure that capacity is in place to  resolve KPI data gaps. 47

19 The Council needs to build on the progress being made on member development and conclude the 2022/23 programme including the review of member 

PDPs and take further steps to finalise arrangements on succession planning for members in SRA roles.

47

20 It remains important for the Council to utilise financial benchmarking tools and data to support the service and financial planning process, in particular to 

help identify opportunities for efficiencies, savings and service improvements.

47

P
age 544



© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  VfM Governance Review Follow Up  for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council |  2021/22

Commercial in confidence

59

Appendix B: Improvement recommendations (cont’d)
This appendix summarises our improvement recommendations by KLOE.

# Improvement recommendations Page 

#

KLOE B5: Standards Committee

21 The Council must ensure that  the new arrangements now in place are used effectively to monitor and take prompt action whenever inappropriate 

behaviour is identified.

48

KLOE B6: Audit Committee

22 A final decision on the Cox report needs to be made by the Leader before this matter can be considered formally closed. 49

KLOE B7: Financial Reporting

23 The Council's procedures for the production of its financial statements require significant improvement. We note that there are a number of legacy issues 

from prior years that are undermining the quality of the financial statements. We consider that this needs to be an area of priority for the Council. Until 

these matters are resolved there will remain some uncertainty over the Council's financial position

51

24 The Council must successfully implement the new corporate asset management system to timescale, ensure all key finance roles have permanent 

appointments, and prioritise the training and development of the Finance Team so that the role and behaviour changes planned become embedded. 

51

KLOE B6: Engagement with residents and the community

25 The Council needs to ensure that it continues to better engage with residents and that this engagement supports greater corporate focus on service quality 

and customer outcomes. 

53

P
age 545



© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council  |  2019/20

Commercial in confidence

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 

firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 

separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 

another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 546



 

 

 
 

 
 

Budget & Corporate Scrutiny Management  
Board 
 

29 March 2023 
 

Subject: Tracking and Monitoring of Scrutiny Recommendations 

Director: Law and Governance 
Surjit Tour 
Surjir_tour@sandwell.gov.uk 

Contact Officer: Suky Suthi-Nagra 
Democratic & Member Services Manager 
Suky_suthinagra@ sandwell.gov.uk 
 

 
1 Recommendations 
 
1.1 That the Board notes the responses from the 

Executive/Directors/Partners on recommendations referred since the 
Board’s last meeting, as set out in the Appendix. 
 

1.2 That the Board notes the progress on implementation of those 
recommendations approved by the Executive/Directors/Partners, as set 
out in the Appendix.        
 

1.3 That the Board identifies any recommendations where progress is 
unsatisfactory and determines what action it wishes to take. 
 

1.4 That the Board determines which recommendations no longer require 
monitoring. 
 

  

 

Page 547

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 
 

2 Reasons for Recommendations  
 

2.1 To facilitate the effective monitoring of progress on responses to and 
press with implementation of recommendations made by the Board and 
identify where further action is required. 

 
2.2 Effective monitoring of recommendations facilitates the evaluation of the 

impact of the scrutiny function overall. 
 

3 How does this deliver objectives of the Corporate Plan?  
 

 

Best start in life for children 
and young people 
 

The scrutiny function supports 
all of the objectives of the 
Corporate Plan by seeking to 
improve services for the people 
of Sandwell.  It does this by 
influencing the policies and 
decisions made by the Council 
and other organisations 
involved in delivering public 
services. 
 
Effective monitoring of 
recommendations made 
supports this and allows 
scrutiny to evaluate is impact. 

 

People live well and age 
well 
 

 

Strong resilient 
communities 
 

 

Quality homes in thriving 
neighbourhoods 
 

 

A strong and inclusive 
economy 
 

 

A connected and 
accessible Sandwell  
 

 
4 Context and Key Issues 
 
4.1 The attached Appendix details the responses to and progress on the 

implementation of recommendations made by the scrutiny function. 
  

Page 548



 

 

 
5 Implications 
 

Resources: The recommendations made by Scrutiny may have 
cost implications associated with it which will need to 
be considered by Cabinet/Directors/Partners.  

Legal and 
Governance: 

The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out 
in Part 1A Section 9 of the Local Government Act 
2000.   
 
The Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 places a duty on the Executive to 
respond to Scrutiny recommendations within two 
months of receiving them. 

 

Risk: Any risk implications have been considered with the 
relevant Officer/Director/Cabinet Member/Risk Owner 
at the time the recommendations were referred to 
them by the Board.   
 
Any specific risks for the Board’s attention are 
detailed in the Appendix. 

Equality: Any equality implications have been considered with 
the relevant Officer/Director/Cabinet Member/Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Team at the time the 
recommendations were referred to them by the Board.   
 
Any specific equality implications for the Board’s 
attention are detailed in the Appendix. 

Health and 
Wellbeing: 

Any health and wellbeing implications have been 
considered with the relevant Officer/Director/Cabinet 
Member/Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Team at the 
time the recommendations were referred to them by 
the Board.   
 
Any specific health and wellbeing implications for the 
Board’s attention are detailed in the Appendix. 

Social Value: The recommendations made by Scrutiny may have 
social value implications associated with it which will 
need to be considered by Cabinet/Directors/Partners. 
 

Page 549



 

 

Climate 
Change: 

The recommendations made by Scrutiny may have 
climate change implications associated with it which 
will need to be considered by 
Cabinet/Directors/Partners. 

Corporate 
Parenting:  

The recommendations made by Scrutiny may have 
corporate parenting implications associated with it 
which will need to be considered by 
Cabinet/Directors/Partners. 

 
6 Appendices 
 
 Appendix 1 – Monitoring Table  
 
7. Background Papers 
 
 None. 
 

Page 550



 

 

Tracking and Monitoring of Actions and Recommendations of Scrutiny Boards  
 

Scrutiny 
Board 
Date 

Agenda Item 
Title 

Action/Recommendation 
 

Responsible 
Director 
/Body 

Activity Log  

Budget and Corporate Scrutiny Management Board 21/22 

1 March 

2023 

Quarter 3 
Budget 
Monitoring  

To set up a spotlight session for 
members of the Board to consider: 
 

• current outstanding section 106 
spend, including details of deadline 
for spend and how ward members 
are consulted; 
 

Surjit Tour 
 
 
Simone 
Hines 
 
 
 

Meeting to be set up  

• Meeting with the Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Services to 
understand the high cost 
associated with Sandwell 
Children’s Trust.   

 

Cabinet 
Member for 
Children’s 
SMB Chair 
and Scrutiny 
Chair of 
Children’s 
Scrutiny 

 

1 March 
2023 

Quarter 3 
Budget 
Monitoring  

Submit a report to Cabinet 
recommending: 
 
1.1 that Directors review and 

update any pages they hold on 

the Council’s website, in 

particular, the webpage where 

the Council have 

facilities/offices to rent.  

 

 

Surjit Tour 
 
 
All Directors  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Report to be considered by Cabinet in June 2023. 

P
age 551



 

 

1.2 the introduction of additional 

financial controls on general 

spend, in particular, matters 

relating to recruitment and day 

to day spend where necessary. 

 

Simone 
Hines 
Cllr Piper 
 

 

1.3 to explore the feasibility of 

providing in house care for 

young people in care, SEND 

placements and adult social 

care placements.   

 

Simone 
Hines, 
Michael 
Jarrett, 
Rashpal 
Bishop 
Cabinet 
Members 

 

     

Children's Services and Education Scrutiny Board 21/22 

     

     

Economy Skills Transport and Environment Scrutiny Board 21/22 

11 FEB 22 
Scrutiny Review 
of the 
Performance 
and 
Management of 
the Waste 
Partnership 
Contract 

1.1 That Serco sets out within its Service 
Delivery Plan 2022/23 how it will increase 
recycling rates, including options for recycling in 
communal living areas. 

Alice Davey Agenda item at Senior Management Meeting 28 April, 26 
May and 21 June 2022. 
Update from Serco 28 June 2022: The Service Delivery 
Plan is being developed and will be ready no later than w/c 
11 July 2022 (in readiness for the Partnership Board on  
14 July). 
Update from Serco further time is required following SMBC 
comments due date revised to 1 September 2022 for 
SMBC review.  Due to Waste Partnership Board therefore 
19 October 2022. 
 

1.2 a) That Serco provides a contractually 
compliant communication and engagement plan 
and that this is aligned to the Council’s 
functions; 

Alice Davey Initial plan received in February, revisions requested, 
agreed through SMBC Communications and Waste Client 
Team. 
 

P
age 552



 

 

b) that the plan is monitored through the agreed 
governance structures for the monitoring of the 
contract, including the Waste Partnership 
Board. 

Progress report received following Senior Contract 
Meeting in June, plan to be submitted to next Waste 
Partnership Board in July 2022, with progress update. 
Update from Serco 28 June 2022: the progress against 
plan will be ready for 14 July and the partnership Board. 
Progress is reviewed at Contract Senior Management 
Meetings. 

1.3 That arrangements for the reintroduction of 
food waste collections in 2022 be shared and 
agreed with the Authorised Officer by end of 
March 2022. 

Alice Davey Food waste restarted in March 2022.  Further Scrutiny 
Session on this topic held 23 June 2022. 

1.4 That Serco works with the Director of 
Borough Economy to develop a plan for the 
promotion of re-use options (i.e. for furniture), 
including working with voluntary sector 
partners. 

Alice Davey This forms a part of the education annual plan from Serco, 
agenda item at Senior Management Meetings 28 April,  26 
May.  
 
Update from Serco: 28 June 2022: The charity collection 
from the HRC is ongoing but clearly needs more 
promotion. There is also work underway for a “tip shop” 
development.   

1.5 a) That Serco reviews its approach to street 
cleansing, and submits a Street Cleansing 
Improvement Plan to the Director of Borough 
Economy by end March 2022, setting out a 
revised approach that moves away from the 
current and ineffective zone based approach 
and takes into account population density, 
seasonality and data on areas of highest need; 
 
 
 
 
 
b) that the Plan is monitored and improvement 
progress/delivery/KPIs is reported and 

Alice Davey a) Serco provided a transformation plan on 31 March, 

officers have requested further detail, final plan in 

place awaiting Serco launch date. Update from 

Serco 28 June 2022: As discussed in the Senior 

Leadership Meeting on 21 June there is a review of 

frequencies in progress ahead of rezoning. The 

rezoning launch is expected to happen late summer 

2022 after holiday season. 

Update from Serco further time is required following 

SMBC comments due date revised to 1 September 

2022 for SMBC review. Due to Waste Partnership 

Board therefore 19 October 2022. 

P
age 553



 

 

monitored through the agreed governance 
structures for the monitoring of the contract, 
including the Waste Partnership Board. 

 
b) Monitoring through the Senior Partnership Meeting 
 Monthly.  KPIs are in place. 
 Pending sign off of the Street Cleansing Plan as 
 above. 

1.6 a) That Serco completes an audit of 
Sandwell’s street litter bin stock and its 
condition by end of March 2022; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
b) that Serco submits plans for consideration of 
a pilot scheme to implement smart technology 
linked to suitable locations for street bins; 

Alice Davey a) Audit complete, however not to the quality required, 

further work is underway to enable mapping of bins 

by Mid-July 2022.  Bins are recorded on 

Whitespace system now, recording of location work 

is ongoing. 

Action signed off as the audit is technically 

complete. 

1 September 1st update from Serco:  New phones 

are in place which will support an enhanced level of 

data and fully support GIS mapping of Litter Bins 

and enable SMBC to develop policy around public 

litter bins. 

 

b) Pilot scheme in place, funded through SMBC 1 bin 
 has been trialled in each Town Centre 

1.7 a) That the progress made with the Fleet 
Replacement Programme is maintained and 
that Serco submits the delayed Fleet 
Replacement Programme, which should be 
aligned with operational requirements and the 
Street Cleansing Improvement Plan, and 
include options for a more sustainable fleet, to 
the Director of Borough Economy by end of 
April 2022 
b) that the delivery of the Fleet Replacement 
Programme is monitored through the agreed 
governance structures for the monitoring of the 

Alice Davey a) Replacement Programme agreed, including short 

term sustainable fleet options. 

b) Highlight report from the fleet replacement board 

will feed into the Waste Partnership Board. 

P
age 554



 

 

contract, including the Waste Partnership 
Board. 

1.8 That both Serco and the Council consider 
reviewing the resources and funding provided 
to Litter Watch, with a view to increasing these 
if possible. 

Alice Davey Serco has retained the relationship with Litterwatch. 

1.9 That Serco informs the Authorised Officer of 
any changes to its senior management teams, 
in connection with the contract, within 10 days 
of the new post-holder’s start date. 

Alice Davey On Agenda of Senior Management Meetings Monthly. 

1.10 a) That Serco provides an update to the 
Scrutiny Board, in six months, on the progress 
made to improve morale and resolve workforce 
issues, including the establishment of the joint 
internal working group referred to in evidence 
gathering; 
b) That the Director Borough Economy ensures 
that Serco is carrying out its contractual 
requirements in relation to undertaking regular 
staff surveys and that the results of such 
surveys are acted upon appropriately. 
c) That the Director of Law and Governance 
ensures that the Joint Consultative meets 
regularly (e.g. quarterly) to enable any staffing 
issues in relation to the contract to be 
addressed in a timely manner. 

Alice Davey a) Serco is aware of this request and will attend upon 

request. 

b) Ongoing – in place and reported through the Senior 

Management Meeting monthly 

c) Serco manages the employees and has regular 

meetings with all TU reps. 

1.11 That the constitution and terms of 
reference of the Waste Partnership Strategic 
Board are reviewed, and consideration is given 
to including the relevant scrutiny Chair as a 
member of the Board. 

Alice Davey Completed 

1.12 a) That the Governance and Constitution 
Review Committee is asked to recommend to 
the Council that an additional scrutiny board is 

Alice Davey 
Democratic 
Services 

a) Director of Legal Services has advised that there is 
more robust scrutiny being undertaken. We are 
improving scrutiny which includes holding better perf 

P
age 555



 

 

established, with effect from the 2022/23 
municipal year, to monitor the management and 
performance of the Council’s contracts with 
Serco, Sandwell Children’s Trust and Sandwell 
Leisure Trust; 
b) That the new board considers how 
stakeholders and the public can contribute to its 
work and monitoring processes. 

management of key contractors. We have 
undergone a Scrutiny Review and the Scrutiny 
Committee structure will be reviewed towards the 
end of the Municipal Year 2022/23 so that the 
changes to Scrutiny that have already been made 
(and having a positive impact) can be further 
embedded which will help better inform any change 
to the Scrutiny Board structure. 

b) This will be addressed once a final decision is made 
about the any new Scrutiny Board being required. 
(refer to 12a) 

1.13 That the Director of Borough Economy 
reviews the structure of the Waste Client Team 
to ensure that it is sufficiently resourced to 
support a higher level of oversight and contract 
monitoring. 

Alice Davey 3 temporary performance officers are being recruited for a 
1-year fixed term period.  New Assistant Director role is 
being advertised in June 2022.  The client team will report 
to this role.  No planned leavers approved.  
Assistant Director started in role 3 October 2022 

1.15 That a review is undertaken and a process 
established, within 12 months, to ensure that 
there is clarity between the Council and Serco 
in terms of ownership and responsibility in the 
public realm. 

Alice Davey Serco annual plans being further developed for publication 
on SMBC website and My Sandwell App. 
 
The Contract provides clarity in relation to this any areas 
identified requiring clarification are resolved through liaison 
with the parks/grounds team.  Work is ongoing in relation 
to relevant green spaces. 

  

P
age 556



 

 

Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Board  

14 
MAR
CH 
22 
(202
1/22) 

Community 
Diagnostic 
Centres 
Update 

That the Cabinet Member be asked to 
endorse the letter to Secretary of State for 
Health and Social Care asking for long-
term revenue funding for CDC to be 
confirmed  
 

Cabinet / 
SWBHT 
 

A response was received from the Minister was reported to 
the Board at its meeting on 21 November 2022.  
 
Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust has submitted 
a formal business case to NHSE/I Regional team for 
consideration of funding for a Community Diagnostic 
Centre Hub and Spoke model to serve the population of 
Sandwell and West Birmingham. This case has been 
supported as part of the CDC Strategy through the Black 
Country ICB. 
  
The case included £8.64m Capital to be spent in 22/23-
24/5 and £23.31m Revenue to be spent in 22/3-24/25 
period. This reflects the 3 year period that CDCs are 
currently nationally funded for. The Regional Team has 
sought some clarification on the business case so it has 
not yet been approved.  
 

Safer Neighbourhoods and Active Communities 22/23 
01 
NOV 
22 

Working with 
the Voluntary 
and 
Community 
Sector to 
Tackle the 
Cost of Living 
Crisis. 

that the Cabinet Member for Children and 
Education be asked to conduct a review of 
demand and funding pressures on Youth 
Services across the borough. 
 

Cllr Hackett  

01 
NOV 
22  

Working with 
the Voluntary 
and 
Community 
Sector to 
Tackle the 
Cost of Living 
Crisis. 

that the Directors of Borough Economy and 
Regeneration and Growth investigate the 
options for working with the Six Towns Credit 
Union to relocate into an empty property in 
West Bromwich, more central to the town 
centre and transport links. 

Alice Davey/ 
Tony 
McGovern 

 

P
age 557



 

 

01 
NOV 
22 

Working with 
the Voluntary 
and 
Community 
Sector to 
Tackle the 
Cost of Living 
Crisis. 

that the Chair of the Safer Neighbourhoods and 
Active Communities Scrutiny Board hold 
discussions with representatives from the 
Directorate of Public Health to discuss period 
poverty and access to sanitary products. 

Lisa McNally/ 
Liann 
Brookes 
Smith 

 

24 
NOV 
22 

Draft Housing 
Strategy 
2023- 2028 

that the Director of Housing explores the 
feasibility of a standardised response time for 
complaints. 

Gillian 
Douglas 

 

24 
NOV 
22 

Report of the 
Tenant and 
Leaseholder 
Scrutiny 
Group – 
Housing Hub 
Review. 

The Director of Housing investigate methods to 
reduce the cost of telephone calls to the 
Housing Hub for council housing stock tenants. 

Gillian 
Douglas 

 

10 
JAN 
23 

Housing 
Revenue 
Account 30 
Year 
Business 
Plan 

That the Director’s of Housing and 
Regeneration and Growth investigate the 
feasibility of turning Council owned non- 
residential properties into residential units 

Gillian 
Douglas 

 

 

P
age 558


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5 Improvement Plan Progress, Phase 2 Refresh and External Follow-up Reviews
	Appendix 1 - Improvement Plan Monitoring January 23
	Appendix 2 - IP Theme Progress Summary January
	Appendix 3 - GT Statutory Recommendations Reporting January 23
	Appendix 4 - Scrutiny Recommendations Reporting January
	Appendix 5 - Summary of External Follow up reviews
	Appendix 5a - Sandwell MBC Governance Review
	Appendix 5b - Sandwell MBC VfM Governance Review Follow Up
	Appendix 5c - Final Corporate Peer Challenge Report Nov 22
	Appendix 5d CIPFA  FM Model Review Follow Up Review
	Appendix 6. Response to GT and LGA Follow up Reviews
	Appendix 7 - Improvement Plan Risk Register January 2023
	Appendix 8 - Change Control January 2023
	Appendix 9 - IP Governance Diagram
	Drawing7
	Page-1



	6 Performance Management Framework - Q3 Monitoring
	Appendix 1 - Finance Q3
	Appendix 2 - Q3 SCT Report
	Appendix 3 - Q3 Corporate Plan Progress
	Appendix 4 - Strategic Risk Register
	Appendix 5 - Customer Experience Q3 Performance

	7 SEND Transport Performance Update
	Appendix 1 - Sandwell MBC VfM Governance Review Follow Up

	8 Tracking and Monitoring of Scrutiny Recommendations
	Appendix 1 - Scrutiny Recommendations TRACKER


